LIPID SIGNALING IN T CELL DEVELOPMENT AND FUNCTION

EDITED BY: Karsten Sauer and Klaus Okkenhaug PUBLISHED IN: Frontiers in Immunology







Frontiers Copyright Statement

© Copyright 2007-2015 Frontiers Media SA. All rights reserved.

All content included on this site, such as text, graphics, logos, button icons, images, video/audio clips, downloads, data compilations and software, is the property of or is licensed to Frontiers Media SA ("Frontiers") or its licensees and/or subcontractors. The copyright in the text of individual articles is the property of their respective authors, subject to a license granted to Frontiers.

The compilation of articles constituting this e-book, wherever published, as well as the compilation of all other content on this site, is the exclusive property of Frontiers. For the conditions for downloading and copying of e-books from Frontiers' website, please see the Terms for Website Use. If purchasing Frontiers e-books from other websites or sources, the conditions of the website concerned apply.

Images and graphics not forming part of user-contributed materials may not be downloaded or copied without permission.

Individual articles may be downloaded and reproduced in accordance with the principles of the CC-BY licence subject to any copyright or other notices. They may not be re-sold as an e-book.

As author or other contributor you grant a CC-BY licence to others to reproduce your articles, including any graphics and third-party materials supplied by you, in accordance with the Conditions for Website Use and subject to any copyright notices which you include in connection with your articles and materials.

> All copyright, and all rights therein, are protected by national and international copyright laws.

> The above represents a summary only. For the full conditions see the Conditions for Authors and the Conditions for Website Use.

ISSN 1664-8714 ISBN 978-2-88919-697-5 DOI 10.3389/978-2-88919-697-5

About Frontiers

Frontiers is more than just an open-access publisher of scholarly articles: it is a pioneering approach to the world of academia, radically improving the way scholarly research is managed. The grand vision of Frontiers is a world where all people have an equal opportunity to seek, share and generate knowledge. Frontiers provides immediate and permanent online open access to all its publications, but this alone is not enough to realize our grand goals.

Frontiers Journal Series

The Frontiers Journal Series is a multi-tier and interdisciplinary set of open-access, online journals, promising a paradigm shift from the current review, selection and dissemination processes in academic publishing. All Frontiers journals are driven by researchers for researchers; therefore, they constitute a service to the scholarly community. At the same time, the Frontiers Journal Series operates on a revolutionary invention, the tiered publishing system, initially addressing specific communities of scholars, and gradually climbing up to broader public understanding, thus serving the interests of the lay society, too.

Dedication to quality

Each Frontiers article is a landmark of the highest quality, thanks to genuinely collaborative interactions between authors and review editors, who include some of the world's best academicians. Research must be certified by peers before entering a stream of knowledge that may eventually reach the public - and shape society; therefore, Frontiers only applies the most rigorous and unbiased reviews.

Frontiers revolutionizes research publishing by freely delivering the most outstanding research, evaluated with no bias from both the academic and social point of view. By applying the most advanced information technologies, Frontiers is catapulting scholarly publishing into a new generation.

What are Frontiers Research Topics?

Frontiers Research Topics are very popular trademarks of the Frontiers Journals Series: they are collections of at least ten articles, all centered on a particular subject. With their unique mix of varied contributions from Original Research to Review Articles, Frontiers Research Topics unify the most influential researchers, the latest key findings and historical advances in a hot research area! Find out more on how to host your own Frontiers Research Topic or contribute to one as an author by contacting the Frontiers Editorial Office: **researchtopics@frontiersin.org**

LIPID SIGNALING IN T CELL DEVELOPMENT AND FUNCTION

Topic Editors:

Karsten Sauer, The Scripps Research Institute, USA Klaus Okkenhaug, Babraham Institute, UK

Lipids are best known as energy storing molecules and core-components of cellular membranes, but can also act as mediators of cellular signaling. This is most prominently illustrated by the paramount importance of the phospholipase C (PLC) and phosphoinositide 3-kinase (PI3K) signaling pathways in many cells, including T cells and cancer cells. Both of these enzymes use the lipid phosphatidylinositol(4,5)bisphosphate (PIP2) as their substrate. PLCs produce the lipid product diacylglycerol (DAG) and soluble inositol(1,4,5)trisphosphate (IP3). DAG acts as a membrane tether for protein kinase C and RasGRP proteins. IP3 is released into the cytosol and controls calcium release from internal stores. The PI3K lipid product phosphatidylinositol(3,4,5)trisphosphate (PIP3) controls signaling by binding and recruiting effector proteins such as Akt and Itk to cellular membranes. Recent research has unveiled important signaling roles for many additional phosphoinositides and other lipids. The articles in this volume highlight how multiple different lipids govern T cell development and function through diverse mechanisms and effectors. In T cells, lipids can orchestrate signaling by organizing membrane topology in rafts or microdomains, direct protein function through covalent lipid-modification or non-covalent lipid binding, act as intracellular or extracellular messenger molecules, or govern T cell function at the level of metabolic regulation. The cellular activity of certain lipid messengers is moreover controlled by soluble counterparts, exemplified by symmetric PIP3/inositol(1,3,4,5)tetrakisphosphate (IP4) signaling in developing T cells. Not surprisingly, lipid producing and metabolizing enzymes have gained attention as potential therapeutic targets for immune disorders, leukemias and lymphomas.

Citation: Sauer, K., Okkenhaug, K., eds. (2015). Lipid Signaling in T cell development and function. Lausanne: Frontiers Media. doi: 10.3389/978-2-88919-697-5

Table of Contents

04	Editorial: Lipid signaling in T cell development and function		
	Karsten Sauer and Klaus Okkenhaug		
07	Regulation of PI-3-kinase and Akt signaling in T lymphocytes and other cells by TNFR family molecules		
	Takanori So and Michael Croft		
18	Lipid and protein co-regulation of PI3K effectors Akt and Itk in lymphocytes		
	Xinxin Wang, Leonard Benjamin Hills and Yina Hsing Huang		
29	Role of inositol poly-phosphatases and their targets in T cell biology		
	Neetu Srivastava, Raki Sudan and William Garrow Kerr		
41	An emerging role for PI5P in T cell biology		
	Jacques A. Nunès and Geoffrey Guittard		
48	The glycerophosphoinositols: from lipid metabolites to modulators of T-cell signaling		
	Laura Patrussi, Stefania Mariggiò, Daniela Corda and Cosima T. Baldari		
54	Regulation of Ras exchange factors and cellular localization of Ras activation by lipid messengers in T cells		
	Jesse E. Jun, Ignacio Rubio and Jeroen P. Roose		
75	Regulation of lipid signaling by diacylglycerol kinases during T cell development and function		
	Sruti Krishna and Xiao-Ping Zhong		
<i>89</i>	Polyunsaturated fatty acid-derived lipid mediators and T cell function		
	Anna Nicolaou, Claudio Mauro, Paula Urquhart and Federica Marelli-Berg		
104	Proinflammatory and immunoregulatory roles of eicosanoids in T cells		
	Anna Mari Lone and Kjetil Taskén		
119	The vitamin D receptor and T cell function		
	Martin Kongsbak, Trine B. Levring, Carsten Geisler and Marina Rode von Essen		
129	Role of adipokines signaling in the modulation of T cells function		
	Claudio Procaccini, Veronica De Rosa, Mario Galgani, Fortunata Carbone, Claudia La Rocca, Luigi Formisano and Giuseppe Matarese		



Editorial: Lipid signaling in T cell development and function

Karsten Sauer^{1,2*} and Klaus Okkenhaug³

¹ Department of Immunology and Microbial Science, The Scripps Research Institute, La Jolla, CA, USA, ² Department of Cell and Molecular Biology, The Scripps Research Institute, La Jolla, CA, USA, ³ Laboratory of Lymphocyte Signalling and Development, Babraham Institute, Cambridge, UK

Keywords: lipid, PI3K, T cell, inositol, eicosanoid, vitamin D₃, adipokine, TNF

Best known as energy storing molecules and core-components of cellular membranes, lipids are also important regulators of cell signaling. They can compartmentalize signaling by organizing membrane-topology into specialized sub-domains in the plasma membrane or into intracellular microvesicles (1, 2). Covalent lipid-modification of proteins can direct their localization to particular membrane compartments. Non-covalent membrane lipid interactions control the mechanics of T cell receptor (TCR) signal transduction (3, 4). Membrane lipids can also act as secondmessengers, as exemplified by the phosphoinositide-3-kinase (PI3K) lipid-product phosphatidylinositol(3,4,5)trisphosphate (PIP₃) in lymphocytes, the topic of several reviews here, and of a recent dedicated Research Topic in *Frontiers in Immunology* (5). Other lipids can also act as intracellular messengers, or govern cell function at the level of metabolism. Not surprisingly, lipid producing and metabolizing enzymes and lipid downstream-effectors have gained considerable attention as potential therapeutic targets for immune disorders, blood cancer, and even aging (5, 6) (and this Research Topic), and certain lipids are being used as therapeutics (7).

The 11 reviews in this Research Topic highlight some of the most important, or most recently discovered lipid functions in T cells. So and Croft review evidence that besides the TCR and costimulatory CD28, members of the Tumor-Necrosis-Factor (TNFR) superfamily contribute to sustained PI3K-pathway activation in T cells and beyond (8). Based on their studies of the TNFR OX40, the authors suggest a model where ligand-induced TNFR oligomerization concentrates PI3K and Akt close to TCR/CD28 signalosomes. This may contribute to the well-established TNFRrequirements for T cell clonal expansion, survival, and memory. The authors also review evidence for TNFR-mediated PI3K control in other cells and discuss important open questions, such as which precise molecular interactions link TNFRs to PI3K/Akt. Wang and colleagues review the components and mechanisms of PI3K-signaling in lymphocytes (9). They discuss how PI3Ks are activated to produce PIP₃, the mechanisms limiting PIP₃ production, and the role of PIP₃ removal by lipid-phosphatases. Next, the authors discuss how PIP₃ specifically binds to effector proteins such as Akt and Tec-kinases via their PH domains to control lymphocyte biology. They also discuss a less well-appreciated mechanism of how soluble inositol-phosphates can control PI3K-signaling by acting as PIP₃-analogs. An increasing number of studies suggest that this non-canonical way of controlling PI3K-function has broad importance in hematopoiesis (9-11). The authors conclude by reviewing how protein-ligands of PIP₃-binding domains provide yet another level of control as exemplified by their recent work on calmodulin-PH domain interactions. A complementing review by Srivastava and colleagues focuses on PIP_3 metabolizing lipid-phosphatases in T cells (12). The paramount tumor suppressor function of PTEN, critical functions in effector and regulatory T cells, and recent efforts to target them pharmacologically underscore the importance of PIP₃ removal by lipid-phosphatases. Among them, PTEN reverses the PI3K-reaction, whereas SHIP1/2 also control signaling by producing $PI(3,4)P_2$, which recruits and controls effector proteins additional to Akt and Tec-family kinases.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited and reviewed by: Rene De Waal Malefyt, Merck Research Laboratories, USA

> ***Correspondence:** Karsten Sauer ksauer@scripps.edu

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to T Cell Biology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

> **Received:** 15 July 2015 **Accepted:** 27 July 2015 **Published:** 10 August 2015

Citation:

Sauer K and Okkenhaug K (2015) Editorial: Lipid signaling in T cell development and function. Front. Immunol. 6:410. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2015.00410

4

But PIP₃ and its immediate derivatives are not the only important phosphoinositides in immune cells. Nunès and Guittard discuss recent evidence for functions of PI5P in TCR signaling (13). They introduce the enzymes governing PI5P metabolism, review PI5P-binding domains in effector proteins such as Dok, and discuss potential PI5P functions in T cells. While inositol-phosphates are produced through hydrolysis of the phosphodiester-bond between the glycerol and inositol-phosphate moieties of phosphatidylinositols, phosphatidylinositol-deacylation by phospholipase A generates glycerophosphoinositols. Containing both glycerol- and phosphoinositol-moieties, glycerophosphoinositols are soluble and may have intracellular signaling roles. They can also be excreted to potentially exert paracrine functions. Patrussi et al. discuss metabolism and potential immunomodulatory roles for these little-studied messengers (14). In particular, glycerophosphoinositol(4)phosphate can augment TCR and CXCR4 chemokine receptor signaling in T cells. Unknown cellular receptors for, and physiological relevance of glycerophosphoinositols indicate exciting research opportunities in this young field.

Other phosphoinositide derivatives with important functions in T cells are the PI3K-substrate phosphatidylinositol(4,5)bisphosphate (PIP₂), diacylglycerol (DAG) and phosphatidic acid (PA). Jun and colleagues review how these lipids orchestrate intricate interactions of Ras guanine-nucleotide-exchangefactors, Ca²⁺, adaptor- and effector proteins to control both kinetics and topology of Ras-activation in T cells (15). The authors discuss the roles of allosteric and feedback mechanisms, Rasacylation, and complex interactions between the Ras- and PI3Kpathways. A complementing review by Krishna and Zhong discusses how diacylglycerol-kinases (DGK) phosphorylate DAG into PA to control T cell development and function, in particular to maintain self-tolerance (16). The authors review roles for known DAG-effectors and little-understood PA-effectors in T cells, potential contributions of DAG or PA metabolism, and DGK functions in other immune cells. Improved antiviral and antitumor activities of DGK-deficient T cells might indicate potential translational relevance, but as the authors point out, more studies are needed.

Moving beyond phosphoinositides, Nicolaou and colleagues (7) and Lone and colleagues (17) review the diverse functions of polyunsaturated fatty acid (PUFA)-derivatives in T cells. PUFA-lipids can modulate membrane-associated signalosomes by altering membrane composition, or act as precursors of secreted signaling-lipids. Both reviews first discuss biosynthesis and metabolism of eicosanoids, including prostanoids, leukotrienes, fatty acid epoxides, and endocannabinoids, and then review their diverse and often complex functions in T cell biology

References

- 1. Dustin ML, Depoil D. New insights into the T cell synapse from single molecule techniques. *Nat Rev Immunol* (2011) **11**:672–84. doi:10.1038/nri3066
- Choudhuri K, Llodra J, Roth EW, Tsai J, Gordo S, Wucherpfennig KW, et al. Polarized release of T-cell-receptor-enriched microvesicles at the immunological synapse. *Nature* (2014) 507:118–23. doi:10.1038/nature12951
- van der Merwe PA, Dushek O. Mechanisms for T cell receptor triggering. Nat Rev Immunol (2011) 11:47–55. doi:10.1038/nri2887

and disease. They further discuss the therapeutic potential of PUFA, a particularly interesting topic given the exploration of dietary PUFA as antiinflammatory agents, and the interest in targeting the prostanoid PGE₂ to improve immunotherapies for cancer or infections (7, 18).

Another lipid-derived messenger with important immuneregulatory functions is the cholesterol-derivative vitamin D_3 . Kongsbak and colleagues review how its binding to the transcription-factor vitamin-D-receptor (VDR) controls T cell development, differentiation, and function (19). They describe the mechanisms controlling VDR expression and activity, and discuss roles for VDR downregulation in promoting autoimmune diseases or in dampening innate immunity during certain infections. Autoimmune disease-reversal by VDR-agonist/antibiotic combinations suggests translational relevance and possible contributions to the long-known but ill-understood links between microbial infections and the etiology of autoimmunity. Available as nutrients, vitamin D_3 , the lipid-related vitamin A, and short-chain fatty acids (20) all are potential lead-agents for therapeutic immunomodulation.

Finally, Procaccini and colleagues discusses how adipokinehormones – produced by fat tissue and best known to influence energy-homeostasis and neuroendocrine function – may link metabolism with immunity (21). This area has recently gained increasing attention because of reported links between obesity, chronic inflammation, and various diseases, including cancer. The authors introduce the cellular and molecular components linking fat tissue and immune system and then review the often controversial, potential immunoregulatory roles of leptins, adiponectins, and other adipokines.

Altogether, the reviews in this Research Topic highlight how recent progress has profoundly altered and expanded our understanding of lipid functions in T cell biology but also raised many interesting questions. Rather than merely acting as membrane components and energy stores, lipids have emerged as important and multifaceted signaling molecules both inside and outside of T cells. We believe that this *Frontiers in Immunology* Research Topic provides its readers with a broad and stimulating basis to follow these important developments. In this sense, we thank all the authors for their outstanding contributions.

Acknowledgments

This work was supported by NIH grant GM100785 and The Leukemia & Lymphoma Society Scholar Award 1440-11 to KS. KO is funded by the Biotechnology and Biological Sciences Research Council BBS/E/B/000C0409.

- 4. Wu W, Yan C, Shi X, Li L, Liu W, Xu C. Lipid in T-cell receptor transmembrane signaling. *Prog Biophys Mol Biol* (2015). doi:10.1016/j.pbiomolbio.2015.04.004
- 5. Okkenhaug K, Turner M, Gold MR. PI3K signalling in B cell and T cell biology. Front Immunol (2014) 5:557. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2014.00557
- 6. Blagosklonny MV. Rejuvenating immunity: "anti-aging drug today" eight years later. *Oncotarget* (2015).
- Nicolaou A, Mauro C, Urquhart P, Marelli-Berg F. Polyunsaturated fatty acidderived lipid mediators and T cell function. *Front Immunol* (2014) 5:75. doi:10. 3389/fimmu.2014.00075

- So T, Croft M. Regulation of PI-3-kinase and Akt signaling in T lymphocytes and other cells by TNFR family molecules. *Front Immunol* (2013) 4:139. doi:10. 3389/fimmu.2013.00139
- Wang X, Hills LB, Huang YH. Lipid and protein co-regulation of PI3K effectors Akt and Itk in lymphocytes. *Front Immunol* (2015) 6:117. doi:10.3389/fimmu. 2015.00117
- Sauer K, Cooke MP. Regulation of immune cell development through soluble inositol-1,3,4,5-tetrakisphosphate. *Nat Rev Immunol* (2010) 10:257–71. doi:10. 1038/nri2745
- Siegemund S, Rigaud S, Conche C, Broaten B, Schaffer L, Westernberg L, et al. IP3 3-kinase B controls hematopoietic stem cell homeostasis and prevents lethal hematopoietic failure in mice. *Blood* (2015) 125:2786–97. doi:10.1182/blood-2014-06-583187
- Srivastava N, Sudan R, Kerr WG. Role of inositol poly-phosphatases and their targets in T cell biology. *Front Immunol* (2013) 4:288. doi:10.3389/fimmu.2013. 00288
- Nunès JA, Guittard G. An emerging role for PI5P in T cell biology. Front Immunol (2013) 4:80. doi:10.3389/fimmu.2013.00080
- Patrussi L, Mariggiò S, Corda D, Baldari CT. The glycerophosphoinositols: from lipid metabolites to modulators of T-cell signaling. *Front Immunol* (2013) 4:213. doi:10.3389/fimmu.2013.00213
- Jun JE, Rubio I, Roose JP. Regulation of Ras exchange factors and cellular localization of Ras activation by lipid messengers in T cells. *Front Immunol* (2013) 4:239. doi:10.3389/fimmu.2013.00239
- Krishna S, Zhong XP. Regulation of lipid signaling by diacylglycerol kinases during T cell development and function. *Front Immunol* (2013) 4:178. doi:10. 3389/fimmu.2013.00178

- Lone AM, Taskén K. Proinflammatory and immunoregulatory role of eicosanoids in T cells. Front Immunol (2013) 4:130. doi:10.3389/fimmu.2013. 00130
- Chen JH, Perry CJ, Tsui YC, Staron MM, Parish IA, Dominguez CX, et al. Prostaglandin E2 and programmed cell death 1 signaling coordinately impair CTL function and survival during chronic viral infection. *Nat Med* (2015) 21:327–34. doi:10.1038/nm.3831
- Kongsbak M, Levring TB, Geisler C, Von Essen MR. The vitamin D receptor and T cell function. *Front Immunol* (2013) 4:148. doi:10.3389/fimmu.2013. 00148
- Veldhoen M, Ferreira C. Influence of nutrient-derived metabolites on lymphocyte immunity. Nat Med (2015) 21(7):709–18. doi:10.1038/nm.3894
- Procaccini C, De Rosa V, Galgani M, Carbone F, La Rocca C, Formisano L, et al. Role of adipokines signaling in the modulation of T cells function. *Front Immunol* (2013) 4:332. doi:10.3389/fimmu.2013.00332

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2015 Sauer and Okkenhaug. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.



Regulation of PI-3-kinase and Akt signaling in T lymphocytes and other cells by TNFR family molecules

Takanori So¹* and Michael Croft²*

¹ Department of Microbiology and Immunology, Tohoku University Graduate School of Medicine, Sendai, Japan

² Division of Immune Regulation, La Jolla Institute for Allergy and Immunology, La Jolla, CA, USA

Edited by:

Karsten Sauer, The Scripps Research Institute, USA

Reviewed by:

Nick Gascoigne, Scripps Research Institute, USA Robert Rickert, Sanford-Burnham Medical Research Institute, USA Nikolai Petrovsky, Flinders Medical Centre, Australia

*Correspondence:

Takanori So, Department of Microbiology and Immunology, Tohoku University Graduate School of Medicine, 2-1 Seiryo-machi, Aobaku, Sendai 980-8578, Japan e-mail: tso@med.tohoku.ac.jp; Michael Croft, Division of Immune Regulation, La Jolla Institute for Allergy and Immunology, 9420 Athena Circle, La Jolla, CA 92037, USA e-mail: mick@liai.org Activation of phosphoinositide 3-kinase (PI3K) and Akt (protein kinase B) is a common response triggered by a range of membrane-bound receptors on many cell types. In T lymphocytes, the PI3K-Akt pathway promotes clonal expansion, differentiation, and survival of effector cells and suppresses the generation of regulatory T cells. PI3K activation is tightly controlled by signals through the T cell receptor (TCR) and the co-stimulatory receptor CD28, however sustained and periodic signals from additional co-receptors are now being recognized as critical contributors to the activation of this pathway. Accumulating evidence suggests that many members of the Tumor Necrosis Factor receptor (TNFR) superfamily, TNFR2 (TNFRSF1B), OX40 (TNFRSF4), 4-1BB (TNFRSF9), HVEM (TNFRSF14), and DR3 (TNFRSF25), that are constitutive or inducible on T cells, can directly or indirectly promote activity in the PI3K-Akt pathway. We discuss recent data which suggests that ligation of one TNFR family molecule organizes a signalosome, via TNFR-associated factor (TRAF) adapter proteins in T cell membrane lipid microdomains, that results in the subsequent accumulation of highly concentrated depots of PI3K and Akt in close proximity to TCR signaling units. We propose this may be a generalizable mechanism applicable to other TNFR family molecules that will result in a quantitative contribution of these signalosomes to enhancing and sustaining PI3K and Akt activation triggered by the TCR. We also review data that other TNFR molecules, such as CD40 (TNFRSF5), RANK (TNFRSF11A), FN14 (TNFRSF12A), TACI (TNFRSF13B), BAFFR (TNFRSF13C), and NGFR (TNFRSF16), contribute to the activation of this pathway in diverse cell types through a similar ability to recruit PI3K or Akt into their signaling complexes.

Keywords: PI3K, AKT, TNFSF, TNFRSF, TRAF, signalosome

INTRODUCTION

The response of T lymphocytes to extrinsic stimuli has been known for many years to involve activation of phosphoinositide 3-kinase (PI3K) that results in a sustained rise in the lipid second messenger phosphatidylinositol (3,4,5)-trisphosphate (PIP₃ or PI(3,4,5)P₃), produced from phosphatidylinositol (4,5)-bisphosphate (PIP₂ or $PI(4,5)P_2$), and translocation of a subset of proteins containing pleckstrin homology (PH) domains to the plasma membrane, such as Akt (protein kinase B) and phosphoinositide-dependent kinase 1 (PDK1). Akt activity is regulated by the binding of PIP₃ or phosphatidylinositol (3,4)-bisphosphate (PI(3,4)P₂) to its PH domain, and by phosphorylation on threonine 308 by PDK1 and on serine 473 by the mammalian target of rapamycin complex 2 (mTORC2). Although PDK1 and mTORC2 may be central to Akt function, they likely have activities unrelated to Akt. For example, PDK1 also phosphorylates and activates other AGC protein kinases without binding to PIP₃, such as 70 kDa ribosomal protein S6 kinases (S6Ks), 90 kDa ribosomal protein S6 kinases (RSKs), serum/glucocorticoid-regulated kinases (SGKs), and protein kinase Cs (PKCs) (Finlay and Cantrell, 2011). Importantly, the signaling network regulated by PI3K and Akt plays an integral role in promoting T cell activation, differentiation, and survival, and

also participates in suppressing the induction of Foxp3-expressing regulatory T cells (T_{reg}) that otherwise would limit the T cell response (Fruman and Bismuth, 2009; Huang and Sauer, 2010; Josefowicz et al., 2012; Okkenhaug, 2013). Activated Akt potentially regulates many downstream molecules, directly or indirectly through phosphorylation, that contribute to maximizing the T cell response. These include blocking the activity of forkhead box O (Foxo) transcription factors such as Foxo1 that promote differentiation of inducible T_{reg} , suppressing the activity or expression of pro-apoptotic molecules such as Bad and Bim, antagonizing the expression of cell cycle inhibitor proteins, and promoting T cell functionality and survival by increasing glucose uptake and glycolysis, and through augmenting IkB Kinase and NF-kB activity.

The range of membrane receptors that participate in triggering this PI3K/Akt axis in T cells may have been underappreciated. Recognition of antigen by the T cell receptor (TCR) in the context of signaling from the co-stimulatory receptor CD28 has long been known to promote PI3K activity. CD28 is constitutively expressed on T cells, and engagement by B7 molecules (CD80 and CD86) directly recruits the p85 regulatory subunit of PI3K (p85 PI3K) through a pYMNM (phospho-Tyr-Met-Asn-Met) motif located in CD28's cytoplasmic tail (Pages et al., 1994). The overall signaling activity of CD28, including through the PI3K and Akt pathway, participates in the initial activation and division of T cells in many situations, although extensive studies have also suggested that the interaction with p85 is dispensable for many functions of CD28 in naïve T cells (Fruman and Bismuth, 2009). As well as CD28 and related molecules like ICOS, many additional receptors on T cells may contribute to PI3K and Akt activity. Sustained and periodic signaling from these receptors over time is increasingly being recognized as vital for continued T cell differentiation and survival, further suppression of T_{reg} development, the generation of memory, and the reactivation of memory T cells. Members of the tumor necrosis factor receptor (TNFR) superfamily constitute many of these receptors (Croft, 2003, 2009; Watts, 2005; So et al., 2006). Although all of the TNFR family members discussed in this review are strong activators of NF- κ B, and NF- κ B certainly plays a role in many of the functional consequences of triggering these receptors, increasing evidence suggests that their ability to also target PI3K and Akt may be integral to their function. In T cells, these receptors include TNFR2 (TNFRSF1B), OX40 (TNFRSF4), 4-1BB (TNFRSF9), HVEM (TNFRSF14), and DR3 (TNFRSF25), which are either constitutively expressed or induced after activation (**Figure 1**). There are several other TNFR molecules that control T cell function, such as CD27 (TNFRSF7), CD30 (TNFRSF8), and GITR (TNFRSF18), that have yet to be described to promote activation of PI3K or Akt, however it is highly likely that they also have the ability to target this pathway (**Figure 1**). This review summarizes recent findings on the potential importance of TNFR family signaling in stimulating the PI3K-Akt pathway in T cells as well as in other cell types, and



FIGURE 1 |Tumor necrosis factor receptor family molecules that possibly activate the PI3K-Akt pathway in T cells. Molecular interactions between TNF receptor superfamily (TNFRSF) members and TNF ligand superfamily (TNFSF) members: TNFR2 (TNFRSF1B) and TNF (TNFSF2) or LT α (TNFSF1); OX40 (TNFRSF4) and OX40L (TNFSF4); CD27 (TNFRSF7) and CD70 (TNFSF7); CD30 (TNFRSF8) and CD30L (TNFSF8); 4-1BB (TNFRSF9) and 4-1BBL

(TNFSF9); HVEM (TNFRSF14) and LIGHT (TNFSF14); GITR (TNFRSF18) and GITRL (TNFSF18); DR3 (TNFRSF25) and TL1A (TNFSF15). Interactions between TNFR-associated factors (TRAFs) and TNFRSF molecules are indicated in the inner circle. CD27, CD30, and GITR have yet to be described to promote activation of PI3K or Akt, but this is likely given their overlapping TRAF-binding capacity.

discusses the likely mechanism of how TNFR family molecules organize signalosomes on the membrane to sustain lipid signaling. The initial sections will present a brief overview of reported activities of TNFR family members on T cells that have been described to augment PI3K or Akt activity. We will then discuss the potential molecular connections that allow these molecules to link to PI3K or Akt, and lastly review PI3K and Akt related activation by other TNFR family members in non-T cells.

REGULATION OF T CELL CO-SIGNALING BY TNFRSF MEMBERS: TNFR2, 0X40, 4-1BB, HVEM, AND DR3 TNFR2 (TNFRSF1B)

TNFR2 is mainly expressed in cells of the immune system including T cells. The ligand TNF (TNFSF2) is produced by activated macrophages, T cells, and many other cell types, and exists as a transmembrane trimer whose proteolysis also leads to a soluble form. TNFR2 is more efficiently triggered by transmembrane TNF than by soluble TNF (Grell et al., 1995; Faustman and Davis, 2010). TNFR2 is constitutively expressed on T cells and increases its expression after T cell activation. Interaction of TNF with TNFR2 is co-stimulatory to TCR-mediated T cell activation and effector T cell differentiation (Kim and Teh, 2001, 2004; Aspalter et al., 2003; Kim et al., 2006) and TNFR2-deficient T cells possess a defect in survival during the early phase of clonal expansion that correlates with a defect in survivin, Bcl-2, and Bcl-XL expression (Kim and Teh, 2004; Kim et al., 2006). Importantly, TNFR2 was found to sustain Akt activity in T cells stimulated through the TCR and CD28. Given the described activities of PI3K-Akt in promoting expression of the aforementioned anti-apoptotic and cell cycle related molecules in various cell types including T cells, this data suggested that TNFR2 triggered Akt signaling may have participated in regulating expansion and survival of these effector-type T cells (Kim and Teh, 2004). The differentiation of effector T cells from a naïve population is counter to the differentiation of regulatory T cells (iT_{reg}), and activation of PI3K and Akt has been shown to block induction of Foxp3 and iTreg development (Haxhinasto et al., 2008; Sauer et al., 2008). In line with this, neutralization of TNF has also recently been found to enhance development of iT_{reg} cells (Zhang et al., 2013). TGF-β-induced Smad3 phosphorylation directs transcription of Foxp3 and formation of iT_{reg}, and phosphorylation of Akt through TNF-TNFR2 interaction was described to facilitate Akt-Smad3 interaction and suppress Foxp3 expression, potentially explaining in part why TNF would block iT_{reg} differentiation (Zhang et al., 2013).

Substantiating that Akt is a general target of TNF signaling, Akt phosphorylation has also been shown to be enhanced through TNFR1 and/or TNFR2 in various cell types, such as HEK293 cells (Ozes et al., 1999), HeLa cells (Ozes et al., 1999; Pastorino et al., 1999), HepG2 cells (Reddy et al., 2000), U937 cells (Reddy et al., 2000), endothelial cells (Zhang et al., 2003a), fibroblasts (Hanna et al., 1999; Zhang et al., 2001), myocytes (Hiraoka et al., 2001), cortical neurons (Marchetti et al., 2004), and hepatocytes (Osawa et al., 2001).

OX40 (TNFRSF4)

OX40 is induced on activated T cells while its ligand, OX40L (TNFSF4), is inducible on professional antigen-presenting cells

(APCs). OX40-OX40L interactions positively regulate conventional T cell responses and can negatively affect T_{reg} differentiation (So et al., 2008; Croft et al., 2009; Croft, 2010; Ishii et al., 2010). OX40 functions later than CD28, and potentially later than TNFR2, providing signals to promote continued division and survival, and hence clonal expansion of effector and memory T cells (Gramaglia et al., 2000). OX40 signaling was shown to augment and sustain PI3K-Akt activity when antigen was presented to T cells, again correlating with its ability to promote continued expression of molecules that control cell cycle progression as well as anti-apoptotic Bcl-2 family members (Rogers et al., 2001; Song et al., 2004, 2005). Importantly, a dominant-negative version of Akt reproduced many of the defects associated with a lack of OX40 expression, and introduction of a constitutively active version of Akt into T cells that lacked OX40 almost fully reversed the defect in clonal expansion and survival exhibited by these T cells (Rogers et al., 2001; Song et al., 2004, 2005). OX40 signaling also antagonizes the differentiation of Foxp3+ or IL-10+ iT_{reg} (Ito et al., 2006; So and Croft, 2007; Vu et al., 2007). No formal proof has been provided that OX40 inhibition of Foxp3 and iT_{reg} development is mediated in part by Akt activation, but again this is likely.

4-1BB (TNFRSF9)

4-1BB is another inducible molecule on activated T cells that can be triggered by 4-1BBL (TNFSF9) expressed on activated APCs (So et al., 2008; Snell et al., 2011; Vinay and Kwon, 2012). 4-1BB ligation can again promote T cell clonal expansion, differentiation, and expression of cytokines, and can enhance the survival of effector and memory T cells through upregulation of Bcl-XL. 4-1BB signaling also has the ability to inhibit TGF-β-driven conversion of naïve CD4⁺ T cells into iT_{reg} either through direct activity or indirectly via upregulation of IFNy production (Madireddi et al., 2012). 4-1BB was found to promote phosphorylation of Akt in T cells, and proliferative responses mediated by 4-1BB were blocked by a PI3K inhibitor, coincident with suppressing cyclin expression and promoting the cell cycle regulatory molecules p27kip1 (Lee et al., 2002, 2003). Some studies suggested that 4-1BB induced the anti-apoptotic Bcl-2 family molecules, Bcl-2 and Bcl-xL, in murine T cells in a PI3K-Akt independent manner (Lee et al., 2002, 2003). However, suppression of apoptosis and induction of c-FLIP_{short} and Bcl-XL by 4-1BB in human peripheral blood T cells was blocked by targeting PI3K or Akt (Starck et al., 2005).

HVEM (TNFRSF14)

HVEM can interact with a number of different ligands, however its primary activating ligand in the TNF family is LIGHT (TNFSF14). HVEM is widely expressed on many cell types, including being constitutive on T cells. LIGHT in contrast is inducible on T cells as well as certain APCs such as DC and B cells upon activation (Steinberg et al., 2011; Ware and Sedy, 2011). Ligation of HVEM by LIGHT provides stimulatory signals that additionally can impact activation, differentiation, or survival of T cells. In line with HVEM controlling Akt activation at later stages of T cell responses, HVEM-deficient T cells were shown to display reduced Akt activity at the peak of the effector response that correlated with defective expression of Bcl-2 and reduced T cell survival. Furthermore, the defect in T cell survival was rescued by ectopic expression of an active form of Akt (Soroosh et al., 2011).

Substantiating Akt as a downstream target of HVEM, the ability of LIGHT to induce macrophage migration and vascular smooth muscle cell proliferation also correlated with activation of PI3K and Akt (Wei et al., 2006), and LIGHT was found to promote PI3K-Akt phosphorylation in osteoclast precursor cells, supporting osteoclast differentiation (Hemingway et al., 2013).

DR3 (TNFRSF25)

DR3 is constitutively expressed by T cells and is upregulated following T cell activation, while TL1A (TNFSF15), the ligand for DR3, is induced in APCs (Meylan et al., 2011). Interaction of TL1A with DR3 also provides costimulatory signals to T cells in concert with antigen/TCR signaling and this can contribute to enhanced production of pro-inflammatory cytokines, and increased clonal expansion and differentiation of T cells. Although no studies have been conducted as yet on conventional T cells, ligation of DR3 was shown to promote T_{reg} proliferation that was blocked by an Akt inhibitor (Schreiber et al., 2010). Stimulation of DR3-expressing human acute monocytic leukemia THP-1 cells with TL1A, or anti-DR3 antibodies, also induced phosphorylation of Akt concomitant with upregulation of expression of β ig-h3, an extracellular matrix protein. This was blocked by an inhibitor of PI3K and inhibitors of PKC, suggesting that PKC activation by DR3 may be involved in PI3K-Akt activation via this receptor in this cell type (Lee et al., 2010). Lastly, E-selectin (CD62E) has been suggested to be an alternate ligand for DR3, and E-selectin was found to activate the PI3K-Akt pathway via DR3 in HT29 colon carcinoma cells (Porquet et al., 2011).

TNF RECEPTOR OLIGOMERIZATION, MEMBRANE LIPID MICRODOMAINS, AND THE T CELL TNFR SIGNALOSOME

Although the studies described above show that TNFR2, OX40, 4-1BB, HVEM, and DR3 can enhance PI3K and Akt activation in T cells or other cell types, a primary question is whether this is a direct activity, or indirect through modulating or enhancing signaling through other non-TNFR molecules including the TCR or CD28. Moreover, as these TNFR molecules do not have obvious PI3K-binding motifs, similar to the pYMNM motif of CD28, it is not clear how they would directly link to PI3K or Akt or how the connection with the lipid mediators is facilitated.

TNF family ligands share the TNF homology domain (THD), which binds to cysteine-rich domains (CRDs) of the TNF family receptors. TNF ligands are synthesized as either membrane-bound or soluble trimeric proteins. Many biochemical and functional studies show that the transmembrane ligands can robustly activate receptors whereas the soluble trimeric ligands differ in their ability to be activating molecules. Some TNFR molecules, such as TNFR1 and CD40, are thought to be pre-clustered at the cell surface in the absence of their cognate TNF ligand (Chan, 2007), which likely aids their ability to respond to the soluble ligand. This is exemplified by TNF, which is highly active in soluble form when recognizing TNFR1. In contrast, studies of trimers of molecules such as OX40L and 4-1BBL have suggested they do not have functional effects when soluble, implying their receptors are not pre-assembled into

clusters. However, artificially generated oligomerized versions of soluble trimeric ligands, including OX40L, 4-1BBL, and GITRL work as highly efficient agonists in T cells and other cell types (Haswell et al., 2001; Zhang, 2004; Stone et al., 2006; Muller et al., 2008; Zhou et al., 2008; Wyzgol et al., 2009). Other variants on this theme are molecules like APRIL whose soluble form can be oligomerized naturally through interaction with polysaccharide side chains of heparin sulfate proteoglycans, allowing effective signals through its receptors TACI or BCMA (Ingold et al., 2005; Kimberley et al., 2009); or BAFF that also binds to TACI, and is unable to activate this receptor as a single trimer, but can assemble as an ordered structure comprising 20 trimers (60-mer) and then gains the ability to be a strong TACI agonist (Liu et al., 2002; Bossen et al., 2008). In sum, these results suggest that oligomerization of most TNFR molecules, beyond the basic trimer complex that would be formed after ligation of a single trimeric ligand, is a prerequisite for efficient recruitment and activation of signaling moieties.

All TNFR family molecules also promote intracellular kinase activation at least in part through adaptor proteins called TNFR-associated factors (TRAFs). For example, TNFR2 has the potential ability to recruit and/or directly bind TRAFs 1 and 2 (Rothe et al., 1994); OX40: TRAFs 1, 2, 3, and 5 (Kawamata et al., 1998); 4-1BB: TRAFs 1, 2, and 3 (Jang et al., 1998); HVEM: TRAFs 1, 2, 3, and 5 (Marsters et al., 1997); and DR3: TRAF2 (Chinnaiyan et al., 1996). TRAF proteins already can exist as trimers in the cytosol before binding to the cytoplasmic tails of TNF receptors (Park et al., 1999), suggesting that oligomerization of the receptors will then additionally result in oligomerized scaffolds of at least one, but more likely multiple, TRAF molecules.

Another facet that might be important to the ability of TNFR family molecules to link to PI3K and Akt directly is the regulated movement of TNFR oligomers into detergentinsoluble cholesterol- and sphingolipid-rich plasma membrane microdomains (DIM or lipid rafts). Here the spatiotemporal regulation of protein-protein interactions and dynamic protein networks may orchestrate to allow any biological outcome (Dykstra et al., 2003; Viola and Gupta, 2007). DIM are estimated as <20 nm diameter in a living cell (Eggeling et al., 2009), indicating that molecules that translocate into DIM are likely condensed into a small area. Although not investigated for many TNFR molecules to date, particularly in T cells, several members of the family have been visualized to concentrate in DIM after stimulation by their ligands including OX40 (So et al., 2011a,b) and 4-1BB (Nam et al., 2005). Therefore, translocation into lipidrich microdomains might be a common and important feature of the TNFR family. Moreover, TRAF2 can interact with Filamin-A, which functions as a scaffold for DIM formation (Leonardi et al., 2000; Arron et al., 2002), and with Caveolin-1, which is a component of DIM (Feng et al., 2001), suggesting that recruitment of this molecule might promote or maintain localization of TNFR molecules in these lipid-rich areas. TRAF2 binding is shared by all TNFR family molecules that have been described to co-stimulate T cells (Figure 1), including those shown to date to promote PI3K and Akt activation (see above), implying TRAF2 may be a critical link to PI3K and/or Akt. Perhaps of equal significance, PIP₂ is enriched and constitutively associated with DIM, and at least

in T cells, a proportion of total cellular PI3K and PDK1 are constitutively associated with detergent-insoluble fractions (Pike and Casey, 1996; Dykstra et al., 2003; So et al., 2011a). Therefore, it is reasonable to suggest that these lipid-rich microdomains are likely to play a critical role in triggering PI3K-Akt signaling by facilitating the localization of oligomerized TNFR and TRAF molecules with PI3K, PIP₂, and PDK1 (Lasserre et al., 2008). This would enhance the likelihood of PIP₃ production, and membrane recruitment and phosphorylation of Akt, assuming PI3K can be activated.

Only studies of one molecule to date have shown a direct link of a TNFR family molecule to PI3K and Akt in T cells. However, there is strong rationale that the findings will be generalizable. We clearly demonstrated in several studies that OX40 signaling strongly synergizes with antigen signals to augment Akt activity in recently activated or effector T cells (Song et al., 2004; So et al., 2011a,b). After interaction of OX40 with transmembrane OX40L, OX40 moved into DIM and immunoprecipitation experiments revealed that it organized a signalosome containing many molecules including TRAF2, the IKK complex, and PKC0 and the CARMA1-BCL10-MALT1 complex, that regulate NF-KB1 activation, and also including p85 PI3K and Akt (So et al., 2011a,b). The formation of this complete OX40 signalosome in T cells was dependent on TRAF2 and on translocation of OX40 into DIM, but independent of antigen/TCR stimulation (So et al., 2011a,b). Moreover, in the absence of TRAF2 or by disrupting DIM, OX40 could not complex with either PI3K or Akt. Interestingly, OX40 was unable to induce significant cellular phosphorylation of PI3K, PIP₃ accumulation, or Akt activation, unless antigen was presented to the T cells, even though antigen/TCR signaling had no obvious impact on recruitment of PI3K or Akt to the OX40 signalosome. The explanation for this was not clear, but we only found a moderate amount of PDK1 associated with the OX40 complex suggesting that this might in part contribute to the inability of OX40 ligation in isolation to lead to phosphorylation of Akt, and why antigen recognition was essential. However, more recent data have shown that OX40 associates with an E3 ligase that appears to limit its ability to activate Akt in T cells (Croft, unpublished). This then suggests that OX40 does possess the capacity to activate Akt independently of other receptors, but regulatory elements may keep this ability in check in T cells providing control over this aspect of OX40 biology to the TCR. Importantly, these data then imply that OX40 functions in T cells by quantitatively enhancing the amount of PI3K and Akt that is available to be activated in the lipid-rich microdomain environment. We hypothesize that the higher ordered oligomerized TNFR-ligand modules that are organized in DIM of T cells essentially offer functional hot spots of concentrated PI3K and Akt in the vicinity of the TCR/CD28 signalosome (Figure 2). These data also highlight that TRAF adaptors are likely to play critical roles in linking the TNFR family to PI3K and Akt in T cells. Our studies show that TRAF2 is important for OX40 to recruit both PI3K and Akt into its signaling complex, but whether TRAF2 directly binds one or both molecules is not yet clear. Other TRAFs, particularly TRAF6, may be also critical as described below in non-T cells, although how much this might vary from a T cell to another cell type is also not clear.

REGULATION OF PI3K AND AKT BY TNFRSF MEMBERS IN NON-T CELLS: CD40, RANK, FN14, TACI/BAFFR, AND NGFR CD40 (TNFRSF5)

Signaling through CD40 after ligation by CD40L (TNFSF5) is important for promoting the activation, division, and maturation of APCs, and isotype switching of B cells (Graham et al., 2010; Gommerman and Summers deLuca, 2011). CD40 can directly bind to TRAFs 1, 2, 3, 5, and 6 (Pullen et al., 1998) and CD40 engagement leads minimally to translocation of CD40, TRAF2, TRAF3, and TRAF6 into DIM where CD40 activates downstream signaling cascades (Hostager et al., 2000; Vidalain et al., 2000; Arron et al., 2001). Cross-linking CD40 has been found to activate PI3K in the Daudi human B lymphoblastoid line (Ren et al., 1994), and promote Akt phosphorylation, downregulation of p27^{kip1}, and upregulation of Bcl-_{XL}, in primary murine B cells that was blocked by a PI3K inhibitor (Andjelic et al., 2000). CD40-induced proliferation and survival of B cells deficient in a negative regulatory adaptor molecule was also suppressed by introduction of dominant-negative Akt (Aiba et al., 2006). After triggering CD40 on murine bone marrow-derived DCs, p85 PI3K was furthermore found to be recruited to CD40 correlating with enhanced Akt activation (Arron et al., 2001). Similarly, CD40L induced Akt phosphorylation and survival in human monocytederived DCs that was blocked with a PI3K inhibitor (Yu et al., 2004). In other cells, stimulation of CD40 on human microvascular endothelial cells also induced PI3K and Akt phosphorylation, concomitant with an increase in cell survival and proliferation, and these functional activities were suppressed by PI3K inhibitors and a dominant-negative version of Akt (Deregibus et al., 2003).

Although the adaptors required for CD40 to connect to PI3K and Akt have not been investigated in every situation, several pieces of evidence suggest TRAF6 and/or TRAF2 are crucial. For example, CD40 was shown to block apoptosis induced by the Fas death receptor in a PI3K and Akt dependent manner, and this was abrogated in B cells that were deficient in TRAF6 (Benson et al., 2006). A CD40 signalosome containing TRAF2, TRAF6, and p85 PI3K was also visualized in endothelial cells (Deregibus et al., 2003) and a signalosome of TRAF6 and PI3K in DCs (Arron et al., 2001). Lastly, fibroblasts lacking TRAF2 or TRAF6 displayed impaired Akt phosphorylation that was triggered by CD40 engagement (Davies et al., 2005).

RANK (TNFRSF11A)

RANK interactions with RANKL (TNFSF11) regulate bone remodeling, lymph node formation, establishment of the thymic microenvironment, and mammary gland development during pregnancy (Leibbrandt and Penninger, 2008). RANK has the potential to recruit TRAFs 1, 2, 3, 5, and 6 (Wong et al., 1998; Darnay et al., 1999) and triggering of RANK with RANKL has been shown to promote activation of the PI3K-Akt pathway in osteoclasts and DCs. Similar to CD40, RANK was visualized to induce a signalosome containing TRAF6 and p85 PI3K in these cell types. PP1, an inhibitor for Src family kinases, inhibited Akt phosphorylation mediated by RANK, indicting that c-Src is an upstream regulator of PI3K. In accordance, the kinase activity of c-Src was upregulated in the RANK signalosome and RANK was



FIGURE 2 | Model of synergy between TCR/CD28 and TNFR

signalosomes for activation of the PI3K-Akt pathway in T cells. T cells are activated firstly by recognition of antigen by the T cell receptor (TCR)/CD3 complex when it is displayed by the major histocompatibility complex (MHC) on antigen-presenting cells (APCs). The second co-stimulatory signal is delivered through CD28 by interaction with its ligands CD80 and/or CD86. These combined signals can activate phosphoinositide 3-kinase (PI3K), which leads to conversion of PIP₂ into PIP₃ at the plasma membrane. The pleckstrin homology (PH) domain containing proteins, Akt (protein kinase B) and phosphoinositide-dependent kinase 1 (PDK1), are recruited to the membrane PIP₃, and then Akt is phosphorylated by PDK1 and by the mammalian target of rapamycin complex 2 (mTORC2). This promotes translocation of Akt from membrane to cytosol, thereby allowing regulation of downstream pathways through phosphorylation of target molecules, such as glycogen synthase kinase β (GSK3 β), forkhead box O (Foxo), and IkB kinase (IKK). Akt phosphorylates and inactivates two negative regulators of mTORC1, tuberous

found unable to activate Akt without the enzymatic activity of c-Src (Wong et al., 1999; Arron et al., 2001; Xing et al., 2001).

TRAF6 again may be critical for the ability of RANK to target the PI3K-Akt pathway, and certain elements might also limit Akt activation. Upon stimulation of RANK in the RAW264.7 monocyte/macrophage cell line, phosphorylation of PI3K and Akt was upregulated and this was further amplified by introduction of dominant-negative SHP-1. TRAF6 was found to interact

sclerosis complex 2 (TSC2) and proline-rich Akt substrate of 40 kDa (PRAS40), which results in activation of mTORC1. Akt contributes to NF-KB activation through phosphorylation of IKK and interaction with protein kinase C θ (PKC θ) or caspase-recruitment domain (CARD)-membrane-associated guanylate kinase (MAGUK) protein 1 (CARMA1). After recognition of trimeric TNF ligand superfamily (TNFSF) molecules on APCs, TNF receptor superfamily (TNFRSF) molecules on T cells are trimerized and oligomerized and recruit trimeric TNFR-associated factors (TRAFs) to their cytoplasmic TRAF-binding motifs. The TNFSF-TNFRSF complex then translocates into detergent-insoluble membrane lipid microdomains (DIM). The TNFRSF-TRAF superclusters recruit and allow the efficient accumulation of PI3K and Akt in concentrated depots in close proximity to the TCR/CD28 signalosome, which results in a quantitative contribution of TNFR signalosomes to enhancing and sustaining PI3K and Akt activation triggered by the TCR/CD28 signalosome. The TNFR signalosomes also can promote activation of NF-kB irrespective of TCR/CD28 signaling. Red lines show activating signals, blue lines show inhibitory signals.

with RANK and SHP-1, and SHP-1 antagonized the association between RANK and TRAF6 (Zhang et al., 2003b). Similar to other TNFR molecules, RANK may also function in the context of DIM. After engagement by RANKL in osteoclasts, TRAF6 was shown to translocate into DIM where c-Src is constitutively resident, and disruption of DIM reduced Akt activation and concomitantly blocked osteoclast differentiation, survival, and bone resorption activity (Ha et al., 2003).

FN14 (TNFRSF12A)

FN14 is another TNFR molecule. It is expressed on epithelial cells, endothelial cells, and other non-hematopoietic cells and engages TWEAK (TNFSF12) and promotes a number of differentiation activities depending on the cell type. Stimulation of FN14 on mouse osteoblastic MC3T3-E1 cells induced Akt phosphorylation and RANTES production in a PI3K-dependent manner (Ando et al., 2006). TWEAK also promoted expression of ICAM-1 and VCAM-1 on human gingival fibroblasts that was blocked with an inhibitor of PI3K (Hosokawa et al., 2006), and Akt phosphorylation and matrix metalloprotease-9 (MMP-9) expression in mouse C2C12 myotubes was suppressed by targeting PI3K or introducing a dominant-negative version of Akt (Kumar et al., 2009). Similar results were also reported with TWEAK activation of FN14 on: renal tubular epithelium cells where PI3K inhibitors prevented upregulation of cyclin D1 and cell proliferation (Sanz et al., 2009); cardiomyocytes where FN14-mediated proliferation was also blocked by interfering with PI3K activity (Novoyatleva et al., 2010); and human gingival fibroblasts where the PI3K-Akt pathway contributed to induction of CCL20 (Hosokawa et al., 2012). FN14 has the potential to directly recruit and bind TRAFs 1, 2, 3, and 5 (Brown et al., 2003) but no studies to date have attempted to link a specific TRAF to the ability of FN14 to phosphorylate and activate PI3K or Akt.

TACI (TNFRSF13B)/BAFFR (TNFRSF13C)/BCMA (TNFRSF17)

TACI, BAFFR, and BCMA are mainly expressed on B cells and play critical roles in survival of B cells at distinct stages of development by engaging APRIL (TNFSF13) and/or BAFF (TNFSF13B) (Rickert et al., 2011). BAFFR can activate the PI3K-Akt pathway in mature B cells (Patke et al., 2006; Otipoby et al., 2008; Woodland et al., 2008) and BAFF-mediated proliferative and survival responses were defective in B cells lacking p1108 PI3K (Henley et al., 2008). PKC β was found to interact and directly phosphorylate Akt on serine 473 after ligation of BAFFR, with Akt phosphorylation being greatly reduced in PKC β -deficient B cells (Patke et al., 2006). Follicular lymphoma B cells were additionally found to respond to APRIL-TACI stimulation by phosphorylating p85 PI3K, Akt, mTOR, 4E-BP1, and p70S6K, and PI3K inhibitors blocked these APRIL-induced activities and cellular proliferation (Gupta et al., 2009).

Stimulation of human myeloma cells expressing TACI, BAFFR, and BCMA with BAFF or APRIL has also been shown to activate the PI3K-Akt pathway concomitant with protection against apoptosis (Moreaux et al., 2004); and lastly human adiposederived stem cells additionally phosphorylated Akt after exposure to APRIL or BAFF (Zonca et al., 2012). Similar to other TNFR family members, TACI, BAFFR, and BCMA may directly recruit and bind TRAFs 2, 5, and 6 (Xia et al., 2000), TRAFs 2 and 3 (Xu and Shu, 2002), and TRAFs 1, 2, 3, 5, and 6 (Hatzoglou et al., 2000; Shu and Johnson, 2000), respectively, suggesting that TRAF2 and/or 6 may again mediate PI3K-Akt signaling, although no studies have addressed this as yet.

NGFR (TNFRSF16, p75^{NTR})

Lastly, NGFR that is mainly expressed on neurons and glia during development of the central nervous system, and is induced after

many types of nervous system injury, also appears to utilize PI3K and Akt for certain activities. NGFR only binds neurotrophins [nerve growth factor (NGF); brain-derived neurotrophic factor (BNDF); and neurotrophin-3 and -4 (NT-3 and -4)]. NGFR may primarily work as a co-receptor and cooperates with the Trk receptor tyrosine kinase family (Trk-A, -B, and -C), Sortilin-family receptors, and Nogo receptor/Lingo-1 (Ibanez and Simi, 2012). Many studies (e.g., refs Soltoff et al., 1992; Yao and Cooper, 1995; Jackson et al., 1996; Vaillant et al., 1999; Takano et al., 2000) have shown that NGF activates PI3K and induces PIP₃ production, and that the Akt pathway works as a key regulator of neurotrophininduced neuronal survival. NGFR signaling is initiated in caveolae, which are a special type of DIM and serve as signaling platforms (Bilderback et al., 1999; Huang et al., 1999), but the contribution of individual TRAF molecules to activation of PI3K and Akt has not yet been reported. NGFR can directly bind TRAFs 2 and 6 (Khursigara et al., 1999; Ye et al., 1999), and TRAF6 recruitment has been suggested to be essential for signal transduction activity (Vilar et al., 2009), again implying this receptor may connect to the PI3K-Akt pathway via similar TRAF adaptors as other members of the TNFR family.

CONCLUSION

In conclusion, many stimulatory TNFR family members have been reported to augment PI3K and Akt activation in diverse cell types, suggesting that this pathway can be a major contributor to the functional effects mediated by these molecules. After interaction with their transmembrane, and in some cases soluble, TNF family ligands, TNFR molecules oligomerize and organize signalosomes in membrane lipid microdomains. The cytoplasmic domain of TNFR family members does not have the consensus motif that can directly bind PI3K. Rather, TNFR molecules bind to overlapping but distinct subsets of TRAF adaptor proteins, and these adaptors initiate many of the signals delivered by the receptors. Increasing evidence suggests that TRAF2 and/or TRAF6 are required for recruitment of PI3K or Akt into TNFR signalosomes, but whether these TRAF molecules directly bind to PI3K or Akt is not clear. In overexpression studies, and in MEFs stimulated with IGF-1 or IL-1, TRAF6 was precipitated with Akt, and furthermore TRAF6 induced K63-linked ubiquitination and membrane localization of Akt (Yang et al., 2009). Thus it is possible that this is also a primary activity when TRAF6 is recruited to a TNFR molecule. However, not all TNFR family members that have been reported to promote PI3K and Akt activation appear to bind or recruit TRAF6, but they may all interact with TRAF2. This implies that TRAF2 could be the crucial adaptor in some cases, but whether TRAF2 possesses the same activity as TRAF6 in being able to complex with, and ubiquitinate, Akt is presently unknown.

In T cells, TNFR family molecules are crucial for clonal expansion and survival, and for the generation of T cell memory, and increasing evidence suggests these functional effects are in part mediated by enhancing antigen-initiated PI3K and Akt activity. Some TNFR family molecules in non-T cells appear to have the capacity to activate PI3K and Akt without signaling from other receptors, suggesting they may directly phosphorylate PI3K and/or recruit other kinases that can perform this function, and they may also recruit kinases such as PDK1 that phosphorylate Akt. In contrast, most evidence suggests that in T cells the ability of TNFR molecules to promote phosphorylation of PI3K and Akt is restricted unless the TCR recognizes antigen. This makes sense as T cells are governed by many checkpoints that limit their response in an attempt to control autoreactivity. Thus, it is likely that the higher-order TNFR-TRAF superclusters induced within lipid-rich microdomains of T cells then allow the efficient accumulation of PI3K and Akt in concentrated depots in close proximity to the TCR signalosome, and the function of this would be to either

REFERENCES

- Aiba, Y., Yamazaki, T., Okada, T., Gotoh, K., Sanjo, H., Ogata, M., et al. (2006). BANK negatively regulates Akt activation and subsequent B cell responses. *Immunity* 24, 259–268. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2006.01.002
- Andjelic, S., Hsia, C., Suzuki, H., Kadowaki, T., Koyasu, S., and Liou, H. C. (2000). Phosphatidylinositol 3kinase and NF-kappa B/Rel are at the divergence of CD40-mediated proliferation and survival pathways. J. Immunol. 165, 3860–3867.
- Ando, T., Ichikawa, J., Wako, M., Hatsushika, K., Watanabe, Y., Sakuma, M., et al. (2006). TWEAK/Fn14 interaction regulates RANTES production, BMP-2-induced differentiation, and RANKL expression in mouse osteoblastic MC3T3-E1 cells. Arthritis Res. Ther. 8, R146. doi:10.1186/ar2038
- Arron, J. R., Pewzner-Jung, Y., Walsh, M. C., Kobayashi, T., and Choi, Y. (2002). Regulation of the subcellular localization of tumor necrosis factor receptor-associated factor (TRAF)2 by TRAF1 reveals mechanisms of TRAF2 signaling. *J. Exp. Med.* 196, 923–934. doi:10.1084/jem.20020774
- Arron, J. R., Vologodskaia, M., Wong, B. R., Naramura, M., Kim, N., Gu, H., et al. (2001). A positive regulatory role for Cbl family proteins in tumor necrosis factor-related activationinduced cytokine (trance) and CD40L-mediated Akt activation. *J. Biol. Chem.* 276, 30011–30017. doi:10.1074/jbc.M100414200
- Aspalter, R. M., Eibl, M. M., and Wolf, H. M. (2003). Regulation of TCRmediated T cell activation by TNF-RII. J. Leukoc. Biol. 74, 572–582. doi:10.1189/jlb.0303112
- Benson, R. J., Hostager, B. S., and Bishop, G. A. (2006). Rapid CD40-mediated rescue from CD95-induced apoptosis requires TNFR-associated factor-6 and PI3K. *Eur. J. Immunol.* 36, 2535–2543. doi:10.1002/eji.200535483
- Bilderback, T. R., Gazula, V. R., Lisanti, M. P., and Dobrowsky, R. T. (1999). Caveolin interacts with

Trk A and p75(NTR) and regulates neurotrophin signaling pathways. *J. Biol. Chem.* 274, 257–263. doi:10.1074/jbc.274.1.257

- Bossen, C., Cachero, T. G., Tardivel, A., Ingold, K., Willen, L., Dobles, M., et al. (2008). TACI, unlike BAFF-R, is solely activated by oligomeric BAFF and APRIL to support survival of activated B cells and plasmablasts. *Blood* 111, 1004–1012. doi:10.1182/blood-2007-09-11 0874
- Brown, S. A., Richards, C. M., Hanscom, H. N., Feng, S. L., and Winkles, J. A. (2003). The Fn14 cytoplasmic tail binds tumour-necrosis-factorreceptor-associated factors 1, 2, 3 and 5 and mediates nuclear factorkappaB activation. *Biochem. J.* 371, 395–403. doi:10.1042/BJ20021730
- Chan, F. K. (2007). Three is better than one: pre-ligand receptor assembly in the regulation of TNF receptor signaling. *Cytokine* 37, 101–107. doi:10.1016/j.cyto.2007.03.005
- Chinnaiyan, A. M., O'Rourke, K., Yu, G. L., Lyons, R. H., Garg, M., Duan, D. R., et al. (1996). Signal transduction by DR3, a death domain-containing receptor related to TNFR-1 and CD95. Science 274, 990–992. doi:10.1126/science.274.5289.990
- Croft, M. (2003). Co-stimulatory members of the TNFR family: keys to effective T-cell immunity? *Nat. Rev. Immunol.* 3, 609–620. doi:10.1038/nri1148
- Croft, M. (2009). The role of TNF superfamily members in T-cell function and diseases. *Nat. Rev. Immunol.* 9, 271–285. doi:10.1038/nri2526
- Croft, M. (2010). Control of immunity by the TNFR-related molecule OX40 (CD134). Annu. Rev. Immunol. 28, 57–78. doi:10.1146/annurevimmunol-030409-101243
- Croft, M., So, T., Duan, W., and Soroosh, P. (2009). The significance of OX40 and OX40L to T-cell biology and immune disease. *Immunol. Rev.* 229, 173–191. doi:10.1111/j.1600-065X.2009.00766.x
- Darnay, B. G., Ni, J., Moore, P. A., and Aggarwal, B. B. (1999). Activation

relieve a molecular checkpoint that limits Akt phosphorylation, or would be to simply provide more molecules of Akt available to the TCR. Further work in this area is required to fully understand the nature of TNFR signalosomes and how they may differ from molecule to molecule and in T cells versus other cell types.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

Michael Croft is supported by NIH grants CA91837, AI49453, AI089624, AI100905, and AI070535.

of NF-kappaB by RANK requires tumor necrosis factor receptorassociated factor (TRAF) 6 and NFkappaB-inducing kinase. Identification of a novel TRAF6 interaction motif. *J. Biol. Chem.* 274, 7724–7731. doi:10.1074/jbc.274.12.7724

- Davies, C. C., Mak, T. W., Young, L. S., and Eliopoulos, A. G. (2005). TRAF6 is required for TRAF2-dependent CD40 signal transduction in nonhemopoietic cells. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 25, 9806–9819. doi:10.1128/MCB.25.22.9806-9819.2005
- Deregibus, M. C., Buttiglieri, S., Russo, S., Bussolati, B., and Camussi, G. (2003). CD40-dependent activation of phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase/Akt pathway mediates endothelial cell survival and in vitro angiogenesis. J. Biol. Chem. 278, 18008–18014. doi:10.1074/jbc.M300711200
- Dykstra, M., Cherukuri, A., Sohn, H. W., Tzeng, S. J., and Pierce, S. K. (2003). Location is everything: lipid rafts and immune cell signaling. *Annu. Rev. Immunol.* 21, 457–481. doi:10.1146/annurev.immunol.21. 120601.141021
- Eggeling, C., Ringemann, C., Medda, R., Schwarzmann, G., Sandhoff, K., Polyakova, S., et al. (2009). Direct observation of the nanoscale dynamics of membrane lipids in a living cell. *Nature* 457, 1159–1162. doi:10.1038/nature07596
- Faustman, D., and Davis, M. (2010). TNF receptor 2 pathway: drug target for autoimmune diseases. *Nat. Rev. Drug Discov.* 9, 482–493. doi:10.1038/nrd3030
- Feng, X., Gaeta, M. L., Madge, L. A., Yang, J. H., Bradley, J. R., and Pober, J. S. (2001). Caveolin-1 associates with TRAF2 to form a complex that is recruited to tumor necrosis factor receptors. J. Biol. Chem. 276, 8341–8349. doi:10.1074/jbc.M007116200
- Finlay, D., and Cantrell, D. (2011). The coordination of T-cell function by serine/threonine kinases. *Cold Spring Harb.*

Perspect. Biol. 3, a002261. doi:10.1101/cshperspect.a002261

- Fruman, D. A., and Bismuth, G. (2009). Fine tuning the immune response with PI3K. *Immunol. Rev.* 228, 253–272. doi:10.1111/j.1600-065X.2008.00750.x
- Gommerman, J. L., and Summers deLuca, L. (2011). LTbetaR and CD40: working together in dendritic cells to optimize immune responses. *Immunol. Rev.* 244, 85–98. doi:10.1111/j.1600-065X.2011.01056.x
- Graham, J. P., Arcipowski, K. M., and Bishop, G. A. (2010). Differential B-lymphocyte regulation by CD40 and its viral mimic, latent membrane protein 1. *Immunol. Rev.* 237, 226–248. doi:10.1111/j.1600-065X.2010.00932.x
- Gramaglia, I., Jember, A., Pippig, S. D., Weinberg, A. D., Killeen, N., and Croft, M. (2000). The OX40 costimulatory receptor determines the development of CD4 memory by regulating primary clonal expansion. *J. Immunol.* 165, 3043–3050.
- Grell, M., Douni, E., Wajant, H., Lohden, M., Clauss, M., Maxeiner, B., et al. (1995). The transmembrane form of tumor necrosis factor is the prime activating ligand of the 80 kDa tumor necrosis factor receptor. *Cell* 83, 793–802. doi:10.1016/0092-8674(95)90192-2
- Gupta, M., Dillon, S. R., Ziesmer, S. C., Feldman, A. L., Witzig, T. E., Ansell, S. M., et al. (2009). A proliferationinducing ligand mediates follicular lymphoma B-cell proliferation and cyclin D1 expression through phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase-regulated mammalian target of rapamycin activation. *Blood* 113, 5206–5216. doi:10.1182/blood-2008-09-179762
- Ha, H., Kwak, H. B., Lee, S. K., Na, D. S., Rudd, C. E., Lee, Z. H., et al. (2003). Membrane rafts play a crucial role in receptor activator of nuclear factor kappaB signaling and osteoclast function. *J. Biol. Chem.* 278, 18573–18580. doi:10.1074/jbc.M212626200

- Hanna, A. N., Chan, E. Y., Xu, J., Stone, J. C., and Brindley, D. N. (1999). A novel pathway for tumor necrosis factor-alpha and ceramide signaling involving sequential activation of tyrosine kinase, p21(ras), and phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase. J. Biol. Chem. 274, 12722–12729. doi:10.1074/jbc.274.18.12722
- Haswell, L. E., Glennie, M. J., and Al-Shamkhani, A. (2001). Analysis of the oligomeric requirement for signaling by CD40 using soluble multimeric forms of its ligand, CD154. *Eur. J. Immunol.* 31, 3094–3100. doi:10.1002/1521-4141(2001010)31:10<3094::AID-IMMU3094>3.0.CO:2-F
- Hatzoglou, A., Roussel, J., Bourgeade, M. F., Rogier, E., Madry, C., Inoue, J., et al. (2000). TNF receptor family member BCMA (B cell maturation) associates with TNF receptorassociated factor (TRAF) 1, TRAF2, and TRAF3 and activates NF-kappa B, elk-1, c-Jun N-terminal kinase, and p38 mitogen-activated protein kinase. J. Immunol. 165, 1322–1330.
- Haxhinasto, J. Mathis, D., and Benoist, C. (2008). The AKTmTOR axis regulates de novo differentiation of CD4+Foxp3+ cells. J. Exp. Med. 205, 565–574. doi:10.1084/jem.20071477
- Hemingway, F., Kashima, T. G., Knowles, H. J., and Athanasou, N. A. (2013). Investigation of osteoclastogenic signalling of the RANKL substitute LIGHT. *Exp. Mol. Pathol.* 94, 380–385. doi:10.1016/j.yexmp.2013.01.003
- Henley, T., Kovesti, D., and Turner, M. (2008). B-cell responses to B-cell activation factor of the TNF family (BAFF) are impaired in the absence of PI3K delta. *Eur. J. Immunol.* 38, 3543–3548. doi:10.1002/eji.200838618
- Hiraoka, E., Kawashima, S., Takahashi, T., Rikitake, Y., Kitamura, T., Ogawa, W., et al. (2001). TNF-alpha induces protein synthesis through PI3-kinase-Akt/PKB pathway in cardiac myocytes. *Am. J. Physiol. Heart Circ. Physiol.* 280, H1861–H1868.
- Hosokawa, Y., Hosokawa, I., Ozaki, K., Nakae, H., and Matsuo, T. (2006).
 Proinflammatory effects of tumour necrosis factor-like weak inducer of apoptosis (TWEAK) on human gingival fibroblasts. *Clin. Exp. Immunol.* 146, 540–549. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2249.2006.03233.x
- Hosokawa, Y., Hosokawa, I., Shindo, S., Ozaki, K., Nakae, H., and Matsuo, T. (2012). Tumor necrosis factor-like weak inducer of apoptosis increases CC chemokine ligand 20 production

in interleukin 1beta-stimulated human gingival fibroblasts. *Hum. Immunol.* 73, 470–473. doi:10.1016/j.humimm.2012.02. 021

- Hostager, B. S., Catlett, I. M., and Bishop, G. A. (2000). Recruitment of CD40 and tumor necrosis factor receptor-associated factors 2 and 3 to membrane microdomains during CD40 signaling. *J. Biol. Chem.* 275, 15392–15398. doi:10.1074/jbc.M909520199
- Huang, C. S., Zhou, J., Feng, A. K., Lynch, C. C., Klumperman, J., Dearmond, S. J., et al. (1999). Nerve growth factor signaling in caveolae-like domains at the plasma membrane. *J. Biol. Chem.* 274, 36707–36714. doi:10.1074/jbc.274.51.36707
- Huang, Y. H., and Sauer, K. (2010). Lipid signaling in T-cell development and function. *Cold Spring Harb. Perspect. Biol.* 2, a002428. doi:10.1101/cshperspect.a002428
- Ibanez, C. F., and Simi, A. (2012). p75 Neurotrophin receptor signaling in nervous system injury and degeneration: paradox and opportunity. *Trends Neurosci.* 35, 431–440. doi:10.1016/j.tins.2012.03.007
- Ingold, K., Zumsteg, A., Tardivel, A., Huard, B., Steiner, Q. G., Cachero, T. G., et al. (2005). Identification of proteoglycans as the APRIL-specific binding partners. J. Exp. Med. 201, 1375–1383. doi:10.1084/jem.20042309
- Ishii, N., Takahashi, T., Soroosh, P., and Sugamura, K. (2010). OX40-OX40 ligand interaction in T-cell-mediated immunity and immunopathology. *Adv. Immunol.* 105, 63–98. doi:10.1016/S0065-2776(10)05003-0
- Ito, T., Wang, Y. H., Duramad, O., Hanabuchi, S., Perng, O. A., Gilliet, M., et al. (2006). OX40 ligand shuts down IL-10-producing regulatory T cells. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 103, 13138–13143. doi:10.1073/pnas.0603107103
- Jackson, T. R., Blader, I. J., Hammonds-Odie, L. P., Burga, C. R., Cooke, F., Hawkins, P. T., et al. (1996). Initiation and maintenance of NGF-stimulated neurite outgrowth requires activation of a phosphoinositide 3-kinase. J. Cell Sci. 109(Pt 2), 289–300.
- Jang, I. K., Lee, Z. H., Kim, Y. J., Kim, S. H., and Kwon, B. S. (1998). Human 4-1BB (CD137) signals are mediated by TRAF2 and activate nuclear factor-kappa B. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* 242, 613–620. doi:10.1006/bbrc.1997.8016

- Josefowicz, S. Z., Lu, L. F., and Rudensky, A. Y. (2012). Regulatory T cells: mechanisms of differentiation and function. *Annu. Rev. Immunol.* 30, 531–564. doi:10.1146/annurev.immunol.25.02 2106.141623
- Kawamata, S., Hori, T., Imura, A., Takaori-Kondo, A., and Uchiyama, T. (1998). Activation of OX40 signal transduction pathways leads to tumor necrosis factor receptor-associated factor (TRAF) 2- and TRAF5mediated NF-kappaB activation. J. Biol. Chem. 273, 5808–5814. doi:10.1074/jbc.273.10.5808
- Khursigara, G., Orlinick, J. R., and Chao, M. V. (1999). Association of the p75 neurotrophin receptor with TRAF6. *J. Biol. Chem.* 274, 2597–2600. doi:10.1074/jbc.274.5.2597
- Kim, E. Y., Priatel, J. J., Teh, S. J., and Teh, H. S. (2006). TNF receptor type 2 (p75) functions as a costimulator for antigen-driven T cell responses in vivo. *J. Immunol.* 176, 1026–1035.
- Kim, E. Y., and Teh, H. S. (2001). TNF type 2 receptor (p75) lowers the threshold of T cell activation. *J. Immunol.* 167, 6812–6820.
- Kim, E. Y., and Teh, H. S. (2004). Critical role of TNF receptor type-2 (p75) as a costimulator for IL-2 induction and T cell survival: a functional link to CD28. *J. Immunol.* 173, 4500–4509.
- Kimberley, F. C., Van Bostelen, L., Cameron, K., Hardenberg, G., Marquart, J. A., Hahne, M., et al. (2009).
 The proteoglycan (heparan sulfate proteoglycan) binding domain of APRIL serves as a platform for ligand multimerization and crosslinking. *FASEB J.* 23, 1584–1595. doi:10.1096/fj.08-124669
- Kumar, M., Makonchuk, D. Y., Li, H., Mittal, A., and Kumar, A. (2009). TNF-like weak inducer of apoptosis (TWEAK) activates proinflammatory signaling pathways and gene expression through the activation of TGF-beta-activated kinase 1. J. Immunol. 182, 2439–2448. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.0803357
- Lasserre, R., Guo, X. J., Conchonaud, F., Hamon, Y., Hawchar, O., Bernard, A. M., et al. (2008). Raft nanodomains contribute to Akt/PKB plasma membrane recruitment and activation. *Nat. Chem. Biol.* 4, 538–547. doi:10.1038/nchembio.103
- Lee, H. W., Nam, K. O., Park, S. J., and Kwon, B. S. (2003). 4-1BB enhances CD8+ T cell expansion by regulating cell cycle progression through changes in expression

of cyclins D and E and cyclindependent kinase inhibitor p27kip1. *Eur. J. Immunol.* 33, 2133–2141. doi:10.1002/eji.200323996

- Lee, H. W., Park, S. J., Choi, B. K., Kim, H. H., Nam, K. O., and Kwon, B. S. (2002). 4-1BB promotes the survival of CD8+ T lymphocytes by increasing expression of Bcl-xL and Bfl-1. *J. Immunol.* 169, 4882–4888.
- Lee, S. H., Kim, E. J., Suk, K., Kim, I. S., and Lee, W. H. (2010). TL1A induces the expression of TGF-beta-inducible gene h3 (betaig-h3) through PKC, PI3K, and ERK in THP-1 cells. *Cell. Immunol.* 266, 61–66. doi:10.1016/j.cellimm.2010.08.013
- Leibbrandt, A., and Penninger, J. M. (2008). RANK/RANKL: regulators of immune responses and bone physiology. Ann. N. Y. Acad. Sci. 1143, 123–150. doi:10.1196/annals.1443.016
- Leonardi, A., Ellinger-Ziegelbauer, H., Franzoso, G., Brown, K., and Siebenlist, U. (2000). Physical and functional interaction of filamin (actinbinding protein-280) and tumor necrosis factor receptor-associated factor 2. J. Biol. Chem. 275, 271–278. doi:10.1074/jbc.275.1.271
- Liu, Y., Xu, L., Opalka, N., Kappler, J., Shu, H. B., and Zhang, G. (2002). Crystal structure of sTALL-1 reveals a virus-like assembly of TNF family ligands. *Cell* 108, 383–394. doi:10.1016/S0092-8674(02)00631-1
- Madireddi, S., Schabowsky, R. H., Srivastava, A. K., Sharma, R. K., Yolcu,
 E. S., and Shirwan, H. (2012).
 SA-4-1BBL costimulation inhibits conversion of conventional CD4+
 T cells into CD4+ FoxP3+ T regulatory cells by production of IFN-gamma. *PLoS ONE* 7:e42459. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0042459
- Marchetti, L., Klein, M., Schlett, K., Pfizenmaier, K., and Eisel, U. L. (2004). Tumor necrosis factor (TNF)-mediated neuroprotection against glutamate-induced excitotoxicity is enhanced by N-methyl-D-aspartate recentor activation. Essential role of a TNF receptor 2-mediated phosphatidylinositol 3-kinasedependent NF-kappa B pathway. J. Biol. Chem. 279, 32869-32881. doi:10.1074/jbc.M311766200
- Marsters, S. A., Ayres, T. M., Skubatch, M., Gray, C. L., Rothe, M., and Ashkenazi, A. (1997). Herpesvirus entry mediator, a member of the tumor necrosis factor receptor (TNFR) family, interacts with members of the TNFR-associated factor

family and activates the transcription factors NF-kappaB and AP-1. *J. Biol. Chem.* 272, 14029–14032. doi:10.1074/jbc.272.22.14029

- Meylan, F., Richard, A. C., and Siegel, R. M. (2011). TL1A and DR3, a TNF family ligand-receptor pair that promotes lymphocyte costimulation, mucosal hyperplasia, and autoimmune inflammation. *Immunol. Rev.* 244, 188–196. doi:10.1111/j.1600-065X.2011.01068.x
- Moreaux, J., Legouffe, E., Jourdan, E., Quittet, P., Reme, T., Lugagne, C., et al. (2004). BAFF and APRIL protect myeloma cells from apoptosis induced by interleukin 6 deprivation and dexamethasone. *Blood* 103, 3148–3157. doi:10.1182/blood-2003-06-1984
- Muller, N., Wyzgol, A., Munkel, S., Pfizenmaier, K., and Wajant, H. (2008). Activity of soluble OX40 ligand is enhanced by oligomerization and cell surface immobilization. *FEBS J.* 275, 2296–2304. doi:10.1111/j.1742-4658.2008.06382.x
- Nam, K. O., Kang, H., Shin, S. M., Cho, K. H., Kwon, B., Kwon, B. S., et al. (2005). Cross-linking of 4-1BB activates TCR-signaling pathways in CD8+ T lymphocytes. *J. Immunol.* 174, 1898–1905.
- Novoyatleva, T., Diehl, F., Van Amerongen, M. J., Patra, C., Ferrazzi, F., Bellazzi, R., et al. (2010). TWEAK is a positive regulator of cardiomyocyte proliferation. *Cardiovasc. Res.* 85, 681–690. doi:10.1093/cvr/cvp360
- Okkenhaug, K. (2013). Signaling by the phosphoinositide 3-kinase family in immune cells. *Annu. Rev. Immunol.* 31, 675–704. doi:10.1146/annurevimmunol-032712-095946
- Osawa, Y., Banno, Y., Nagaki, M., Brenner, D. A., Naiki, T., Nozawa, Y., et al. (2001). TNFalpha-induced sphingosine 1-phosphate inhibits apoptosis through a phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase/Akt pathway in human hepatocytes. J. Immunol. 167, 173–180.
- Otipoby, K. L., Sasaki, Y., Schmidt-Supprian, M., Patke, A., Gareus, R., Pasparakis, M., et al. (2008). BAFF activates Akt and Erk through BAFF-R in an IKK1-dependent manner in primary mouse B cells. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 105, 12435–12438. doi:10.1073/pnas.08054 60105
- Ozes, O. N., Mayo, L. D., Gustin, J. A., Pfeffer, S. R., Pfeffer, L. M., and Donner, D. B. (1999). NF-kappaB activation by tumour necrosis factor requires the Akt

Frontiers in Immunology |T Cell Biology

serine-threonine kinase. *Nature* 401, 82–85. doi:10.1038/43466

- Pages, F., Ragueneau, M., Rottapel, R., Truneh, A., Nunes, J., Imbert, J., et al. (1994). Binding of phosphatidylinositol-3-OH kinase to CD28 is required for T-cell signalling. *Nature* 369, 327–329. doi:10.1038/369327a0
- Park, Y. C., Burkitt, V., Villa, A. R., Tong, L., and Wu, H. (1999). Structural basis for self-association and receptor recognition of human TRAF2. *Nature* 398, 533–538. doi:10.1038/19110
- Pastorino, J. G., Tafani, M., and Farber, J. L. (1999). Tumor necrosis factor induces phosphorylation and translocation of BAD through a phosphatidylinositide-3-OH kinase-dependent pathway. J. Biol. Chem. 274, 19411–19416. doi:10.1074/jbc.274.27.19411
- Patke, A., Mecklenbrauker, I., Erdjument-Bromage, H., Tempst, P., and Tarakhovsky, A. (2006). BAFF controls B cell metabolic fitness through a PKC betaand Akt-dependent mechanism. J. Exp. Med. 203, 2551–2562. doi:10.1084/jem.20060990
- Pike, L. J., and Casey, L. (1996). Localization and turnover of phosphatidylinositol 4,5bisphosphate in caveolin-enriched membrane domains. J. Biol. Chem. 271, 26453–26456. doi:10.1074/jbc.271.43.26453
- Porquet, N., Poirier, A., Houle, F., Pin, A. L., Gout, S., Tremblay, P. L., et al. (2011). Survival advantages conferred to colon cancer cells by Eselectin-induced activation of the PI3K-NFkappaB survival axis downstream of Death receptor-3. BMC Cancer 11:285. doi:10.1186/1471-2407-11-285
- Pullen, S. S., Miller, H. G., Everdeen, D. S., Dang, T. T., Crute, J. J., and Kehry, M. R. (1998). CD40-tumor necrosis factor receptor-associated factor (TRAF) interactions: regulation of CD40 signaling through multiple TRAF binding sites and TRAF hetero-oligomerization. *Biochemistry* 37, 11836–11845. doi:10.1021/bi981067q
- Reddy, S. A., Huang, J. H., and Liao, W. S. (2000). Phosphatidylinositol 3kinase as a mediator of TNF-induced NF-kappa B activation. J. Immunol. 164, 1355–1363.
- Ren, C. L., Morio, T., Fu, S. M., and Geha, R. S. (1994). Signal transduction via CD40 involves activation of lyn kinase and phosphatidylinositol-3-kinase, and phosphorylation of phospholipase

C gamma 2. J. Exp. Med. 179, 673-680. doi:10.1084/jem.179.2.673

- Rickert, R. C., Jellusova, J., and Miletic, A. V. (2011). Signaling by the tumor necrosis factor receptor superfamily in B-cell biology and disease. *Immunol. Rev.* 244, 115–133. doi:10.1111/j.1600-065X.2011.01067.x
- Rogers, P. R., Song, J., Gramaglia, I., Killeen, N., and Croft, M. (2001). OX40 promotes BclxL and Bcl-2 expression and is essential for long-term survival of CD4 T cells. *Immunity* 15, 445–455. doi:10.1016/S1074-7613 (01)00191-1
- Rothe, M., Wong, S. C., Henzel, W. J., and Goeddel, D. V. (1994). A novel family of putative signal transducers associated with the cytoplasmic domain of the 75 kDa tumor necrosis factor receptor. *Cell* 78, 681–692. doi:10.1016/0092-8674(94)90532-0
- Sanz, A. B., Sanchez-Nino, M. D., Izquierdo, M. C., Jakubowski, A., Justo, P., Blanco-Colio, L. M., et al. (2009). Tweak induces proliferation in renal tubular epithelium: a role in uninephrectomy induced renal hyperplasia. *J. Cell. Mol. Med.* 13, 3329–3342. doi:10.1111/j.1582-4934.2009.00766.x
- Sauer, S., Bruno, L., Hertweck, A., Finlay, D., Leleu, M., Spivakov, M., et al. (2008). T cell receptor signaling controls Foxp3 expression via PI3K, Akt, and mTOR. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 105, 7797–7802. doi:10.1073/pnas.0800928105
- Schreiber, T. H., Wolf, D., Tsai, M. S., Chirinos, J., Deyev, V. V., Gonzalez, L., et al. (2010). Therapeutic Treg expansion in mice by TNFRSF25 prevents allergic lung inflammation. J. Clin. Invest. 120, 3629–3640. doi:10.1172/JCI42933
- Shu, H. B., and Johnson, H. (2000). B cell maturation protein is a receptor for the tumor necrosis factor family member TALL-1. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 97, 9156–9161. doi:10.1073/pnas.160213497
- Snell, L. M., Lin, G. H., McPherson, A. J., Moraes, T. J., and Watts, T. H. (2011). T-cell intrinsic effects of GITR and 4-1BB during viral infection and cancer immunotherapy. *Immunol. Rev.* 244, 197–217. doi:10.1111/j.1600-065X.2011.01063.x
- So, T., Choi, H., and Croft, M. (2011a). OX40 complexes with phosphoinositide 3-kinase and protein kinase B (PKB) to augment TCR-dependent PKB signaling. J. Immunol. 186, 3547–3555. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1003156

- So, T., Soroosh, P., Eun, S. Y., Altman, A., and Croft, M. (2011b). Antigen-independent signalosome of CARMA1, PKCtheta, and TNF receptor-associated factor 2 (TRAF2) determines NF-kappaB signaling in T cells. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 108, 2903–2908. doi:10.1073/pnas.1008765108
- So, T., and Croft, M. (2007). Cutting edge: OX40 inhibits TGF-beta- and antigen-driven conversion of naive CD4 T cells into CD25+Foxp3+ T cells. *J. Immunol.* 179, 1427–1430.
- So, T., Lee, S. W., and Croft, M. (2006). Tumor necrosis factor/tumor necrosis factor receptor family members that positively regulate immunity. *Int. J. Hematol.* 83, 1–11. doi:10.1532/IJH97.05120
- So, T., Lee, S. W., and Croft, M. (2008). Immune regulation and control of regulatory T cells by OX40 and 4-1BB. *Cytokine Growth Factor Rev.* 19, 253–262. doi:10.1016/j.cytogfr.2008.04.003
- Soltoff, S. P., Rabin, S. L., Cantley, L. C., and Kaplan, D. R. (1992). Nerve growth factor promotes the activation of phosphatidylinositol 3kinase and its association with the trk tyrosine kinase. *J. Biol. Chem.* 267, 17472–17477.
- Song, J., Salek-Ardakani, S., Rogers, P. R., Cheng, M., Van Parijs, L., and Croft, M. (2004). The costimulation-regulated duration of PKB activation controls T cell longevity. *Nat. Immunol.* 5, 150–158. doi:10.1038/ni1030
- Song, J., So, T., Cheng, M., Tang, X., and Croft, M. (2005). Sustained survivin expression from OX40 costimulatory signals drives T cell clonal expansion. *Immunity* 22, 621–631. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2005.03.012
- Soroosh, P., Doherty, T. A., So, T., Mehta, A. K., Khorram, N., Norris, P. S., et al. (2011). Herpesvirus entry mediator (TNFRSF14) regulates the persistence of T helper memory cell populations. J. Exp. Med. 208, 797–809. doi:10.1084/jem.20101562
- Starck, L., Scholz, C., Dorken, B., and Daniel, P. T. (2005). Costimulation by CD137/4-1BB inhibits T cell apoptosis and induces Bcl-xL and c-FLIP(short) via phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase and AKT/protein kinase B. *Eur. J. Immunol.* 35, 1257–1266. doi:10.1002/eji.200425686
- Steinberg, M. W., Cheung, T. C., and Ware, C. F. (2011). The signaling networks of the herpesvirus entry mediator (TNFRSF14) in immune regulation. *Immunol. Rev.* 244, 169–187. doi:10.1111/j.1600-065X.2011.01064.x

- Stone, G. W., Barzee, S., Snarsky, V., Kee, K., Spina, C. A., Yu, X. F., et al. (2006). Multimeric soluble CD40 ligand and GITR ligand as adjuvants for human immunodeficiency virus DNA vaccines. J. Virol. 80, 1762–1772. doi:10.1128/ JVI.80.4.1762-1772.2006
- Takano, R., Hisahara, S., Namikawa, K., Kiyama, H., Okano, H., and Miura, M. (2000). Nerve growth factor protects oligodendrocytes from tumor necrosis factor-alpha-induced injury through Akt-mediated signaling mechanisms. *J. Biol. Chem.* 275, 16360–16365. doi:10.1074/jbc.M910419199
- Vaillant, A. R., Mazzoni, I., Tudan, C., Boudreau, M., Kaplan, D. R., and Miller, F. D. (1999). Depolarization and neurotrophins converge on the phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase-Akt pathway to synergistically regulate neuronal survival. J. Cell Biol. 146, 955–966. doi:10.1083/jcb.146.5.955
- Vidalain, P. O., Azocar, O., Servet-Delprat, C., Rabourdin-Combe, C., Gerlier, D., and Manie, S. (2000). CD40 signaling in human dendritic cells is initiated within membrane rafts. *EMBO J.* 19, 3304–3313. doi:10.1093/emboj/19.13.3304
- Vilar, M., Charalampopoulos, I., Kenchappa, R. S., Simi, A., Karaca, E., Reversi, A., et al. (2009). Activation of the p75 neurotrophin receptor through conformational rearrangement of disulphide-linked receptor dimers. *Neuron* 62, 72–83. doi:10.1016/j.neuron.2009.02.020
- Vinay, D. S., and Kwon, B. S. (2012). Immunotherapy of cancer with 4-1BB. *Mol. Cancer Ther.* 11, 1062–1070. doi:10.1158/1535-7163.MCT-11-0677
- Viola, A., and Gupta, N. (2007). Tether and trap: regulation of membraneraft dynamics by actin-binding proteins. *Nat. Rev. Immunol.* 7, 889–896. doi:10.1038/nri2193
- Vu, M. D., Xiao, X., Gao, W., Degauque, N., Chen, M., Kroemer, A., et al. (2007). OX40 costimulation turns off Foxp3+ Tregs. *Blood* 110, 2501–2510. doi:10.1182/blood-2007-01-070748
- Ware, C. F., and Sedy, J. R. (2011). TNF Superfamily Networks: bidirectional and interference pathways of the herpesvirus entry mediator (TNFSF14). Curr.

Opin. Immunol. 23, 627–631. doi:10.1016/j.coi.2011.08.008

- Watts, T. H. (2005). TNF/TNFR family members in costimulation of T cell responses. *Annu. Rev. Immunol.* 23, 23–68. doi:10.1146/annurev.immunol.23. 021704.115839
- Wei, C. Y., Chou, Y. H., Ho, F. M., Hsieh, S. L., and Lin, W. W. (2006). Signaling pathways of LIGHT induced macrophage migration and vascular smooth muscle cell proliferation. J. Cell. Physiol. 209, 735–743. doi:10.1002/jcp.20742
- Wong, B. R., Besser, D., Kim, N., Arron, J. R., Vologodskaia, M., Hanafusa, H., et al. (1999). TRANCE, a TNF family member, activates Akt/PKB through a signaling complex involving TRAF6 and c-Src. *Mol. Cell* 4, 1041–1049. doi:10.1016/S1097-2765(00)80232-4
- Wong, B. R., Josien, R., Lee, S. Y., Vologodskaia, M., Steinman, R. M., and Choi, Y. (1998). The TRAF family of signal transducers mediates NF-kappaB activation by the TRANCE receptor. *J. Biol. Chem.* 273, 28355–28359. doi:10.1074/jbc.273.43.28355
- Woodland, R. T., Fox, C. J., Schmidt, M. R., Hammerman, P. S., Opferman, J. T., Korsmeyer, S. J., et al. (2008). Multiple signaling pathways promote B lymphocyte stimulator dependent B-cell growth and survival. *Blood* 111, 750–760. doi:10.1182/blood-2007-03-077222
- Wyzgol, A., Muller, N., Fick, A., Munkel, S., Grigoleit, G. U., Pfizenmaier, K., et al. (2009). Trimer stabilization, oligomerization, and antibody-mediated cell surface immobilization improve the activity of soluble trimers of CD27L, CD40L, 41BBL, and glucocorticoidinduced TNF receptor ligand. *J. Immunol.* 183, 1851–1861. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.0802597
- Xia, X. Z., Treanor, J., Senaldi, G., Khare, S. D., Boone, T., Kelley, M., et al. (2000). TACI is a TRAF-interacting receptor for TALL-1, a tumor necrosis factor family member involved in B cell regulation. *J. Exp. Med.* 192, 137–143. doi:10.1084/jem.192.1.137
- Xing, L., Venegas, A. M., Chen, A., Garrett-Beal, L., Boyce, B. F., Varmus, H. E., et al. (2001). Genetic evidence for a role for Src family kinases in TNF family receptor signaling and

cell survival. *Genes Dev.* 15, 241–253. doi:10.1101/gad.840301

- Xu, L. G., and Shu, H. B. (2002). TNFRassociated factor-3 is associated with BAFF-R and negatively regulates BAFF-R-mediated NF-kappa B activation and IL-10 production. *J. Immunol.* 169, 6883–6889.
- Yang, W. L., Wang, J., Chan, C. H., Lee, S. W., Campos, A. D., Lamothe, B., et al. (2009). The E3 ligase TRAF6 regulates Akt ubiquitination and activation. *Science* 325, 1134–1138. doi:10.1126/science.1175065
- Yao, R., and Cooper, G. M (1995). Requirement for phosphatidylinositol-3 kinase in the prevention of apoptosis by nerve growth factor. 267, 2003-2006. Science doi:10.1126/science.7701324
- Ye, X., Mehlen, P., Rabizadeh, S., Vanarsdale, T., Zhang, H., Shin, H., et al. (1999). TRAF family proteins interact with the common neurotrophin receptor and modulate apoptosis induction. J. Biol. Chem. 274, 30202–30208. doi:10.1074/jbc.274.42.30202
- Yu, Q., Kovacs, C., Yue, F. Y., and Ostrowski, M. A. (2004). The role of the p38 mitogen-activated protein kinase, extracellular signal-regulated kinase and phosphoinositide-3-OH kinase signal transduction pathways in CD40 ligand-induced dendritic cell activation and expansion of virus-specific CD8+ T cell memory responses. J. Immunol. 172, 6047–6056.
- Zhang, G. (2004). Tumor necrosis factor family ligand-receptor binding. *Curr. Opin. Struct. Biol.* 14, 154–160. doi:10.1016/j.sbi.2004.03.003
- Zhang, H. G., Wang, Y., Xie, J. F., Liang, X., Liu, D., Yang, P., et al. (2001). Regulation of tumor necrosis factor alpha-mediated apoptosis of rheumatoid arthritis synovial fibroblasts by the protein kinase Akt. Arthritis Rheum. 44, 1555–1567. doi:10.1002/1529-0131(200107)44:7<1555::AID-ART279>3.0.CO;2-M
- Zhang, Q., Cui, F., Fang, L., Hong, J., Zheng, B., and Zhang, J. Z. (2013). TNF-alpha impairs differentiation and function of TGF-beta-induced Treg cells in autoimmune diseases through Akt and Smad3 signaling pathway. J. Mol. Cell Biol. 5, 85–98. doi:10.1093/jmcb/mjs063

- Zhang, R., Xu, Y., Ekman, N., Wu, Z., Wu, J., Alitalo, K., et al. (2003a). Etk/Bmx transactivates vascular endothelial growth factor 2 and recruits phosphatidylinositol 3kinase to mediate the tumor necrosis factor-induced angiogenic pathway. J. Biol. Chem. 278, 51267–51276. doi:10.1074/jbc.M310678200
- Zhang, Z., Jimi, E., and Bothwell, A. L. (2003b). Receptor activator of NFkappa B ligand stimulates recruitment of SHP-1 to the complex containing TNFR-associated factor 6 that regulates osteoclastogenesis. J. Immunol. 171, 3620–3626.
- Zhou, Z., Song, X., Berezov, A., Zhang, G., Li, Y., Zhang, H., et al. (2008).
 Human glucocorticoid-induced TNF receptor ligand regulates its signaling activity through multiple oligomerization states. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 105, 5465–5470. doi:10.1073/pnas.0711350105
- Zonca, M., Mancheno-Corvo, P., Delarosa, O., Manes, S., Buscher, D., Lombardo, E., et al. (2012). APRIL and BAFF proteins increase proliferation of human adipose-derived stem cells through activation of Erk1/2 MAP kinase. *Tissue Eng. Part A* 18, 852–859. doi:10.1089/ten.tea.2011.0316

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Received: 04 April 2013; paper pending published: 06 May 2013; accepted: 25 May 2013; published online: 07 June 2013.

Citation: So T and Croft M (2013) Regulation of PI-3-kinase and Akt signaling in T lymphocytes and other cells by TNFR family molecules. Front. Immunol. 4:139. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2013.00139

This article was submitted to Frontiers in T Cell Biology, a specialty of Frontiers in Immunology.

Copyright © 2013 So and Croft. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License, which permits use, distribution and reproduction in other forums, provided the original authors and source are credited and subject to any copyright notices concerning any third-party graphics etc.

Lipid and protein co-regulation of PI3K effectors Akt and Itk in lymphocytes

Xinxin Wang¹, Leonard Benjamin Hills² and Yina Hsing Huang^{2,3}*

¹ California Institute for Biomedical Research, La Jolla, CA, USA

- ² Department of Microbiology and Immunology, Geisel School of Medicine at Dartmouth, Lebanon, NH, USA
- ³ Department of Pathology, Geisel School of Medicine at Dartmouth, Lebanon, NH, USA

Edited by:

Klaus Okkenhaug, Babraham Institute, UK

Reviewed by:

M. Suresh, University of Wisconsin Madison, USA Leslie J. Berg, University of Massachusetts Medical School, USA Cosima T. Baldari, University of Siena, Italy

*Correspondence:

Yina Hsing Huang, Departments of Pathology and Microbiology and Immunology, The Geisel School of Medicine at Dartmouth, HB 7600, Borwell 650E, One Medical Center Drive, Lebanon, NH 03756, USA e-mail: yina.h.huang@dartmouth.edu The phosphoinositide 3-kinase (PI 3-kinase, PI3K) pathway transduces signals critical for lymphocyte function. PI3K generates the phospholipid PIP₃ at the plasma membrane to recruit proteins that contain pleckstrin homology (PH) domains – a conserved domain found in hundreds of mammalian proteins. PH domain–PIP₃ interactions allow for rapid signal propagation and confer a spatial component to these signals. The kinases Akt and Itk are key PI3K effectors that bind PIP₃ via their PH domains and mediate vital processes – such as survival, activation, and differentiation – in lymphocytes. Here, we review the roles and regulation of PI3K signaling in lymphocytes with a specific emphasis on Akt and Itk. We also discuss these and other PH domain-containing proteins as they relate more broadly to immune cell function. Finally, we highlight the emerging view of PH domains as multifunctional protein domains that often bind both lipid and protein substrates to exert their effects.

Keywords: PI3K, lymphocyte activation, pleckstrin homology domain, Akt signaling, Itk signaling

LYMPHOCYTE ACTIVATION RECEPTORS SIGNAL THROUGH CLASS I PI3Ks

Phosphoinositide 3-kinase (PI3K) activation is important for lymphocyte survival, activation, differentiation, and migration. Many lymphocyte surface receptors activate class 1 PI3Ks, which phosphorylate phosphatidyl inositol 4,5-bisphosphate $[PI(4,5)P_2,$ PIP₂] at the D-3 hydroxyl group of the myo-inositol ring to generate phosphatidyl inositol 3,4,5-trisphosphate [PI(3,4,5)P₃, PIP₃]. Two subclasses, 1A and 1B, are activated by distinct receptor types (Figure 1). Receptors or signaling adapters that are phosphorylated at YxxM sequence motifs signal though class IA PI3K, which includes p85 α and p85 β regulatory subunits and p110 α , p110 β , and p1108 catalytic subunits. These receptors include CD19, CD28, and ICOS co-receptors; IL-2, IL-7, IL-3, IL-15, and GM-CSF cytokine receptors (1-6); and receptors coupled to TRIM, DAP10, and MyD88 adapter proteins (7–11). Receptor ligation leads to tyrosine phosphorylation at the YxxM motif and subsequent recruitment of PI3K regulatory subunits through one or both Src homology 2 (SH2) domains. Regulatory subunits are then phosphorylated by Syk or Jak family tyrosine kinases to trigger activation of their constitutively associated catalytic subunits (3).

G-protein-coupled receptors (GPCRs) signal through Class 1B PI3K, which includes p101 regulatory and p110 γ catalytic subunits (12). These classic, seven transmembrane domain receptors include chemokine receptors and signal through heterotrimeric G proteins, G α and G $\beta\gamma$ to promote cell migration. GPCR ligation dissociates the G $\beta\gamma$ dimer, allowing its binding to p101 regulatory subunits and subsequent activation of associated p110 γ catalytic subunits. Activation of p110 γ catalytic activity can also be induced by Ras activation (Ras-GTP) to promote migration of neutrophils (13).

Although many receptors activate class 1 PI3K, the magnitude and kinetics of PI3K activation differs greatly among receptors, depending on ligand binding kinetics and feedback circuitry that can either amplify or dampen PI3K signaling (14). Additionally, co-ligation of receptors, such as the T cell receptor (TCR) and the CD28 co-receptor, can cooperate to potentiate and sustain PI3K activation and PIP₃ generation.

PIP₃ ASSOCIATION WITH PLECKSTRIN HOMOLOGY DOMAINS

PI3K activation induces PIP₃ accumulation, which comprises less than 5% of PIP₂ levels and less than 1% of total membrane lipids (15). Despite its low overall abundance, super-resolution microscopy has revealed ~100 nm membrane clusters of PIP₃ that create high local PIP₃ concentrations (16). High affinity and specificity binding between PIP₃ and pleckstrin homology (PH) domains of PI3K effectors helps to recruit and activate these effectors at the plasma membrane (**Figure 2**). Like protein–protein interactions that are induced by phosphorylation, PIP₃ interactions with PH domains allow rapid transduction of downstream signals without new protein synthesis.

The PH domain is an evolutionarily conserved structural fold found in proteins expressed in organisms ranging from yeast to mammals (17). The core of the PH domain is a seven-strand β -barrel that is encoded by approximately 120 amino acids and is composed of two anti-parallel β sheets and a C-terminal α helix (**Figure 3**). The mammalian genome contains roughly



FIGURE 1 | Activation of class I PI3Ks by YxxM signaling subunits and GPCRs. Membrane receptors that activate PI3K include CD19, CD28, and NKG2D co-receptors, cytokine receptors (e.g., IL-2R), G-protein-coupled receptors (chemokine receptors), and Fcy receptor I and III. Class IA PI3Ks

are recruited to the plasma membrane through SH2 domain interactions with phosphorylated YxxM motifs. Class IB PI3Ks are recruited and activated by direct interaction with the G $\beta\gamma$ subunit following GPCR activation. Activated PI3K phosphorylates the membrane lipid PI(4,5)P₂ to form PI(3,4,5)P₃.



phasma memorane and regulates diverse central responses. Fisk phosphorylates $PI(4,5)P_2$ to form $PI(3,4,5)P_3$, which recruits PH domain-containing signaling proteins to the plasma membrane. PH

domain-containing proteins are activated at the plasma membrane and mediate important cellular responses such as cytoskeleton rearrangement, cell growth, proliferation, and survival. PM, plasma membrane; GEF, guanine nucleotide exchange factor.

300 PH domains found in proteins that perform diverse functions including cellular activation, cytoskeletal reorganization, vesicular trafficking, and cell cycle control. Approximately, 15% of PH domains, including Akt and Itk, bind to phosphoinositides with high specificity and affinity (K_d : nanomolar – low micromolar

range). PH domains generally interact with phosphoinositides through positively charged lysine and arginine residues within the basic motif KXn(K/R)XR (18). However, not all PH domains bind to PIP₃. Several PH domains interact with phosphoinositides that are selectively enriched in other membrane compartments,



such as PI4P within the Golgi membrane (19) or PIP₂ at the resting plasma membrane (17). Thus, conveying lipid specificity to PH domains constitutes a key mechanism for spatially sequestering distinct effector proteins within cells. Regulating the abundance of lipids either in resting or activated cells controls basal and induced effector activity. Additionally, regulated production of lipid ligands such as PIP₃ within specific membrane nano-domains can induce polarized activation of downstream effectors in a robust but transient manner. This is because PIP₃ abundance is not only spatial restricted but also finely controlled by receptor-induced PI3K-dependent PIP₃ generation and by phosphatase and tensin homolog deleted on chromosome 10 (PTEN) and SH2 domain-containing inositol 5'-phosphatase (SHIP) phosphatase-dependent PIP₃ metabolism.

PROTEIN PHOSPHATASES INHIBIT PI3K ACTIVATION WHILE INOSITOL PHOSPHATASES REDUCE PIP₃ LEVELS

PI3K signaling is negatively regulated at distinct steps in its signaling cascade by both protein and lipid phosphatases. Protein tyrosine phosphatases SHP-1 and SHP-2 inhibit PI3K activation by preventing early receptor signaling and by directly downregulating PI3K activity, the latter of which is accomplished by de-phosphorylation of phospho-tyrosine residues within signal adapter proteins and PI3K regulatory subunits (71). Inhibitory receptors that restrict lymphocyte activation through SHP-1 or SHP-2 include inhibitory killer-cell immunoglobulin-like receptors (KIR) on NK cells (72), CD22 on B cells (73), and CTLA-4 and PD-1 on T cells (74, 75). Phosphorylated immunoreceptor tyrosine-based inhibition motifs (ITIM) within the cytoplasmic domains of KIRs, CD22, and CTLA-4 recruit SHP-1 and SHP-2 to prevent activating signals at the plasma membrane (72, 74, 75). Persistent T cell activation signals can also be inhibited by SHP-1 and SHP-2 recruitment to the immunoreceptor tyrosine-based switch motif (ITSM) in PD-1, an inhibitory receptor expressed on chronically stimulated T cells (76, 77). For a detailed discussion regarding the requirements of SHP-1 and SHP-2 in T cell development, differentiation, and effector function, refer to Ref. (78).

In T cells, CTLA-4 can also directly repress Akt signaling by recruiting the Ser/Thr phosphatase PP2A (77), which dephosphorylates the T308 (79, 80) and possibly S473 (79), residues required for Akt activity. Thus, CTLA-4 utilizes a dual approach to antagonize CD28 and PI3K signaling: SHP-2-dependent inhibition of TCR signaling by CD3 ϵ de-phosphorylation and PP2A-dependent de-phosphorylation of Akt (74, 77, 81).

Lipid and inositol phosphatases also prevent PI3K effector activation. PTEN and SHIP both dephosphorvlate membrane PIP₃. However, while PTEN converts PIP₃ back to its lipid precursor PI(4,5)P₂ to prevent further activation of PI3K effectors, SHIP converts PIP₃ into PI(3,4)P₂, a lipid that retains the ability to bind the Akt PH domain (82). In the latter case, subsequent de-phosphorylation of $PI(3,4)P_2$ into PI(3)P by the inositol phosphatase, INPP4B is required to "turn off" Akt membrane recruitment (83). Inhibitory receptors including FcyIIB on B cells and mast cells and Ly49A and Ly49C on NK cells contain ITIM motifs that recruit SHIP through its SH2 domain (84, 85). Membrane receptors with cytosolic PDZ domains recruit PTEN to control PIP₃ levels. Although the functional significance of PDZ domaincontaining receptors on lymphocyte activation requires additional investigation, maintaining appropriate PTEN levels is crucial for the control of immune cell homeostasis and function (86).

GENERAL AND CELL TYPE-SPECIFIC Akt FUNCTIONS

Akt belongs to the AGC family of Serine/Threonine kinases. The three Akt isoforms are differentially expressed in various cell types but are 77-83% sequence identical. Akt activity prevents apoptosis, promotes protein expression, and regulates cellular metabolism (20-23). Akt mediates these general cellular functions through direct phosphorylation of RxRxxS*/T* motifs (24) found in a plethora of cellular targets including forkhead box transcription factors, TSC2, GSK3, and BAD, which are discussed in detail elsewhere (20). A somatic mutation in Akt that replaces glutamate with lysine at residue 17 (hereafter referred to as E17K) leads to cellular transformation and has been identified in human breast, colorectal, and ovarian cancer (25, 26). The E17K mutation is located in the lipid binding pocket of Akt's PH domain and dramatically increases its affinity for membrane lipids, causing constitutive Akt signaling (27). Ectopic expression of E17K in hematopoietic stem cells is sufficient to induce development of lymphoblastic T cell lymphoma within 6-8 weeks following transfer into recipient mice (28). Similarly, conditional deletion of the Akt targets Foxo1/3/4 in mice leads to development of the same type of lymphomas 15–25 weeks after induction of Foxo deletion (29).

In lymphocytes, Foxo proteins regulate the gene expression of Rag recombinases, Ikaros, CCR7, IL-7R, TCF7, Eomes, and Foxp3, which are critical for controlling lymphocyte development, trafficking, and differentiation (30–37). Akt phosphorylation of Foxo1 and Foxo3 leads to their degradation and down-regulates Foxo-dependent gene expression (31, 38). Genetic ablation of both Foxo1 and Foxo3 causes a multi-focal autoimmune disease due to defective Foxp3 expression and T regulatory (Treg) cell specification and function (34). Similarly, retroviral expression of constitutively active myristoylated Akt (myrAkt) in $CD4^-CD8^-$ thymocytes impairs Treg development *in vivo* following intrathymic transfer. Importantly, the inhibitory effect of myrAkt is on *de novo* but not established Foxp3 expression (39). In contrast, broad expression of myrAkt as a transgene under the control of the CD2 promoter leads to increased regulatory T cell numbers *in vivo* and enhanced suppressive activity (40). Interestingly, conventional CD4⁺ T cells expressing transgenic myrAkt are less responsive to TGF β suppression and fail to differentiate into the Th17 lineage in response to TGF β and IL-6 *in vitro* (40).

A proper balance of Akt activity is also required for appropriate CD8⁺ T cell maturation, effector function, and memory development (41). Uzel and colleagues recently published a study on patients with somatic dominant active p1108 (a catalytic subunit of PI3K) expression (42). T cell blasts from these patients have increased phosphorylation of AKT at T308 and S473, a decline in Foxo1, increased S6 activation, and glucose uptake. This hyperactive Akt/mTORC1 axis causes CD8 T cells to proliferate more vigorously, differentiate more readily into effector cells, and undergo cellular senescence. Sustained Akt activity in these patients also impairs development of CD8 memory T cells, which require a metabolic "switch" from glycolysis to fatty acid oxidation (41, 43). Furthermore, defective CD8 responses result in recurrent sinopulmonary infections and chronic viremia due to Epstein-Barr virus (EBV) and/or cytomegalovirus (CMV) infection (42). Cantrell and coworkers published a surprising finding demonstrating distinct roles for PDK1 and Akt in promoting cellular metabolism and effector responses of CD8 T cells, respectively (44). T cells expressing a catalytically inactive p1108 or treated with an Akt inhibitor are defective for Akt T308 phosphorylation. Akt-defective CD8 T cells proliferate normally in response to IL-2 but are unable to express proper lymphoid homing receptors and cytotoxic effector proteins (44). In contrast, conditional deletion of PDK1, the upstream activator of Akt, leads to defective glucose uptake and metabolism, resulting in reduced CD8 T cell proliferation. This indicates that PDK1 promotes proliferation in an Akt-independent manner (44). It remains to be determined whether PDK1 and Akt have distinct roles in cell types in which multiple functions have been attributed to Akt activity.

TEC FAMILY KINASES REGULATE IMMUNE CELL DEVELOPMENT AND FUNCTION

The Tec family of non-receptor tyrosine kinases, including Tec, Btk, Itk/Emt/Tsk, Rlk/Txk, and Bmx/Etk, are differentially expressed in immune cells. Each Tec family member contains an N-terminal PIP₃-binding PH domain except Rlk, which contains a cysteine-string motif that results in Rlk palmitoylation. In general, Tec kinases activate PLC γ to trigger Ca²⁺ and diacylglycerol (DAG) signaling. Mimicking Ca²⁺ and DAG activation with the addition of calcium ionophores and phorbol myristate acetate (PMA) is sufficient to induce many aspects of lymphocyte activation, differentiation, and effector responses *in vitro*. The requirement for Tec kinases in immune functions is apparent from the profound defects observed in human patients carrying mutations in Tec

kinases and in mouse models of single and combined Tec kinase deficiencies.

In 1993, Btk was first identified in patients with X-linked agammaglobulinemia (XLA), an inherited immunodeficiency disease characterized by profound hypogammaglobulinemia due to severely decreased B cell numbers (45). XLA patients carry Btk mutations that prevent the maturation of pro-B cells into pre-B cells. Pre-B-cell receptor signaling at the pro-B to pre-B transition requires Btk activation by the Src kinase Lyn (46-48). A Btk mutation database generated from approximately 400 XLA patients indicates that the majority of missense mutations in the Btk PH domain are in the putative PIP₃-binding pocket (49– 51). The XLA missense mutants F25S, R28H, T33P, V64F, and V113D dramatically reduce Btk binding to PIP3 in vitro and disrupt Btk activation in B cells (52, 53). A similar mutation in mice, R28C also abolishes Btk binding to PIP₃ and results in murine X-linked immunodeficiency (Xid) disease (53). These findings demonstrate the importance of PI3K-dependent PIP₃ generation for the membrane recruitment and activation of Btk in promoting B cell receptor signaling during maturation and humoral immune responses.

While disruption of PIP₃ association causes hypo-B-cell responses, enhanced PIP₃ association also leads to B cell dysfunction. The Btk E41K mutant significantly increases Btk PH domain affinity for phosphoinositides and results in constitutive membrane localization when expressed ectopically in COS-7 cells (52, 53). Btk E41K expression allows cytokine-independent growth of the pro-B-cell line Y16 (54), demonstrating its gain-of-function activity. However, mice expressing a Btk E41K transgene controlled by the MHC class II locus are more severely B cell-deficient than even Xid mice (55). Lack of IgM^{high} cells in the bone marrow suggest that constitutive Btk E41K activation leads to inappropriate deletion of immature B cells by mimicking strong BCR signals that promote apoptosis of auto-reactive B cells (55). Thus, appropriate levels of Btk activation are critical for developmental progression of B cells, productive B cell activation and differentiation, as well as deletion of auto-reactive cells.

The first patients identified with Itk mutations were initially diagnosed with Hodgkin's lymphoma but subsequently characterized to have an underlying immunodeficiency disease that prevents control of EBV-induced B cell proliferation (56). Itk-deficient patients have decreased T cells (57), which are required to control EBV infection and prevent viral reactivation from latently infected B cells (58). Detailed characterization of Itk-deficient mice reveals multiple requirements for Itk during T cell development, differentiation, and function (59, 60). Like Btk in B cells, Itk participates in proximal antigen receptor signaling and is directly phosphorylated by a Src family kinase, in this case Lck (61). Activated Itk phosphorylates PLCy1, which induces IP3-dependent increased intracellular Ca²⁺ levels as well as DAG-mediated signaling (59, 62, 63). Itk is required for efficient CD4⁺ T cell differentiation toward the Th2 and Th17 lineages (59). Itk-deficient mice cannot generate protective Th2 responses in multiple infection models, including Leishmania major, Nippostrongylus brasiliensis, and Schistosoma mansoni (59, 64). Defective Th2 differentiation is accompanied by substantially reduced production of the Th2 cytokines IL-4, IL-5, and IL-13 by Itk-deficient T cells (65, 66). Itk is also required

for optimal production of the Th17 cytokine, IL-17A but not IL-17F (67). The selective requirement for Itk in IL-17A production is mechanistically linked to a requirement for the transcription factor nuclear factor of activated T cells (NFAT) in IL-17A transcription (64, 67, 68). Prolonged Itk activation maintains cytosolic Ca^{2+} levels to promote sustained calcineurin-dependent NFAT nuclear translocation. Itk deficiency or suboptimal TCR signaling restricts autoimmunity by biasing T cell differentiation from the Th17 toward the regulatory T cell lineage (69). In addition, autoimmune organ destruction can be limited by Itk-dependent control of transendothelial migration and tissue infiltration of effector T cells (70). Thus, mechanisms that regulate the magnitude and kinetics of Itk activity in T cells are important for induction of effector functions, specification of appropriate T cell lineages, and control of T cell trafficking.

SOLUBLE ANALOGS OF PIP₃ DIFFERENTIALLY REGULATE PIP₃ EFFECTORS

Some PIP₃-binding PH domains can associate with soluble PIP₃ analogs. These include the cytosolic inositol phosphates $Ins(1,3,4,5)P_4$ (IP₄), $Ins(1,2,3,4,5,6)P_6$ (IP₆), and 5-PP-I(1,2,3,4,6)P₅ (IP₇) that are generated inducibly or constitutively by distinct inositol kinases (82). The effect of IP₄, IP₆, and IP₇ binding is distinct for different PH domains and cell types (**Figure 4**).

The inositol kinases IP₃ kinase (Itpk) isoforms A, B, and C, and inositol polyphosphate multikinase (IPMK) can each generate IP₄ by phosphorylating $Ins(1,4,5)P_3$ (IP₃) at the D-3 hydroxyl group [reviewed in Ref. (87)]. However, mice deficient in the ubiquitously expressed ItpkC or IPMK isoforms or in the neuronally enriched ItpkA isoform have no detectable immune abnormalities. In contrast, ItpkB expression is selectively enriched in hematopoietic cells and catalytically activated by the Ca²⁺-sensing protein calmodulin (CaM) following antigen receptor signaling. Analysis of ItpkB-deficient mice revealed a non-redundant requirement for ItpkB in lymphocyte development and activation (88-92). ItpkB deficiency results in severely reduced peripheral T cell numbers due to an absolute block in positive selection of CD4+CD8+ thymocytes (88). Defective activation of the Ras/MAP kinase pathway contributes to the T cell developmental defect (88, 89, 93). However, ItpkB-deficient CD4⁺CD8⁺ thymocytes are also defective in activation of Itk and its downstream effector PLC y1 in response to TCR engagement (93). Itk fails to localize to the plasma membrane or assemble with the adapter protein LAT in the TCR signalosome of ItpkB-deficient thymocytes, indicating a requirement for IP₄ in promoting Itk interactions (93). Interestingly, addition of IP4 increases binding of recombinant Itk PH domain to PIP3coated beads in vitro, suggesting that IP4 may alter Itk PH domain conformation to enhance PIP₃ accessibility (93).

Distinct from its effect on Itk, IP₄ suppresses Akt activity by directly competing with PIP₃ for binding to the Akt PH domain (94). ItpkB-deficient mice develop profound alterations in neutrophil and NK cell functions due to enhanced Akt activity during their development and activation (94, 95). Addition of membrane permeable IP₄, but not an isomer, to the myeloid cell line HL-60 disrupts membrane localization of an Akt PH domain fused to GFP (94). In ItpkB-deficient neutrophils, Akt phosphorylation is enhanced in response to the bacterial peptide Formyl–Methionyl–Leucyl–Phenylalanine (fMLP). Enhanced Akt signaling in ItpkB-deficient neutrophils contributes to augmented anti-microbial and chemotaxis responses (94). The magnitude and kinetics of Akt phosphorylation are also increased in ItpkB-deficient NK cells



(95). Elevated IFN γ secretion, granule exocytosis, and tumor cell lysis by ItpkB-deficient NK cells can be suppressed by Akt inhibition (95). Together, these studies indicate that IP₄ dampens Akt activity in neutrophils and NK cells to restrict effector functions. Whether this occurs to shut-off innate functions during the resolution phase of an immune response or as a check to limit inflammatory damage remains unclear.

Similar to IP₄, IP₇ also competes with PIP₃ for binding to the Akt PH domain and negatively regulates its activity (96). IP7 is generated by pyro-phosphorylation of IP₆ at the 5-phosphate group by IP₆ family kinases, IP6Ks (97, 98). While the importance of IP6K1 in lymphocyte function remains to be determined, analysis of IP6K1-deficient neutrophils demonstrates similar functional defects as ItpkB-deficient neutrophils. Both deficiencies result in enhanced fMLP-induced chemotaxis, superoxide production, and bacterial killing (94, 99). Akt membrane localization and activation are significantly increased in IP6K1-deficient neutrophils (99). Interestingly, IP7 is readily detectable in resting HL-60 cells but rapidly decreases upon fMLP stimulation (99). This suggests that IP₇ may act to suppress initial Akt activation while IP₄ regulates subsequent Akt activity following its induced production. Precise regulation of basal and induced IP₄ and IP₇ levels may act together to control the magnitude and kinetics of Akt activation in these innate immune cells. Future studies are required to determine the functional effects of IP4 and IP7 on Akt-dependent regulation of lymphocyte differentiation and effector responses. It also remains to be determined whether IP7 acts on other PIP3 effectors in immune cells as it does in Dictyostelium discoideum (100) or whether selective IP7 binding allows regulation of a particular subset of PIP₃ effectors.

Recently, biochemical and structural analyses of Btk identified a new activating function for the inositol phosphate, IP₆ (101). As with PIP₃-containing liposomes, addition of soluble IP₆ induces Btk trans-phosphorylation and activation. However, IP₆ promotes Btk activation by an unconventional mechanism that is independent of the PIP₃-binding pocket and membrane recruitment. Analysis of the co-crystal structure of IP₆ with the Btk PH domain reveals an additional peripheral IP₆ binding site sandwiched between two PH modules, termed the Saraste dimer. Molecular dynamics simulations suggest that IP₆ neutralizes electrostatic forces in the monomer that oppose dimer formation. Mutation of the IP₆ peripheral binding site disrupts transient dimerization and significantly abrogates IP6-dependent Btk transphosphorylation (101). IP₆-induced Btk activation in solution represents a new PI3K-independent mechanism for controlling Btk activity. Considering that IP₆ levels are basally high in lymphocytes, it will be important in future studies to determine whether IP₆ contributes to tonic or B cell receptor-induced Btk function.

PROTEINS INTERACT WITH AND REGULATE THE ACTIVITY OF PH DOMAIN-CONTAINING PROTEINS

Although the Akt and Itk PH domains specifically bind to PIP_3 with (nanomolar) affinities, only ~40 mammalian PH domains appear to be PIP_3 -regulated according to Teruel and colleagues, who developed a prediction algorithm based on experimental analyses of 130 mouse PH domains (102). The majority of PH

domains do not interact with lipids or bind lipids promiscuously or with low affinity ($K_d \ge 10 \,\mu$ M). Furthermore, a growing number of PH domains have been reported to participate in interand/or intra-molecular protein interactions (discussed below). These findings support a revised view of PH domains as diverse, multifunctional domains that bind lipids, proteins, or both to regulate the activity of their parent proteins.

T and B cells induce Ca²⁺ and DAG-mediated signaling through PLCy1- and PLCy2-mediated cleavage of PIP₂ (103, 104). T cell-specific ablation of PLCy1 causes defects in thymocyte selection during T cell development, reduced T cell proliferation and cytokine secretion, and the development of autoimmunity resulting from defective regulatory T cells (104). PLCy2 plays important roles in regulating B cells, neutrophils, mast cells, and dendritic cells (105-107). PLCv1 and PLCv2 both contain two PH domains. The conventional, N-terminal PH domain associates with PIP₃ (108); however, the C-terminal PH domain is interrupted by an intervening amino acid sequence comprising two tandem SH2 domains and an SH3 domain (109, 110). This split PH domain is also critical for substrate binding (111). The C-terminal half of the PLCy1 split PH domain associates with a partial PH domain in TRPC3 (112, 113), a Ca²⁺ channel that can mediate Ca²⁺ entry in T cells. The formation of this inter-molecular PH-like domain allows PLCy1 to bind to its substrate PIP2 and is critical for TRPC3 membrane targeting and surface expression (113). Conversely, the split PH domain of PLCy2 interacts with the small GTPase Rac2, which mediates PLCy2 activation and localization to the plasma membrane (114-116).

Pleckstrin homology domains also participate in intramolecular interactions. In resting cells, the Akt PH domain associates with the kinase domain (KD) to maintain a closed conformation in which the activation loop is blocked (117, 118). PIP₃ binding to the Akt PH domain exposes the activation loop, allowing T308 and S473 to be accessed and phosphorylated by PDK1 and mTORC2, respectively (119). Phosphorylation of T308 and S473 fully activates Akt and keeps the activation loop "open" for substrate docking (117–119). PH domain mutations that disrupt PH–KD interaction (e.g., L52R and Q79K) result in constitutive Akt activation (119).

The Dbl family RhoGEF Vav is also regulated by lipid and intramolecular interactions involving its PH domain (Figure 5). Vav plays crucial roles during T cell and B cell development (120, 121) and T cell, B cell, neutrophil, and NK cell activation (9, 107, 120-123). Vav contains a Dbl homology (DH) domain that promotes the activation of the small GTPase Rac in response to PI3K activation (124, 125). In quiescent cells, Vav1 adopts an auto-inhibitory conformation, which is stabilized by interactions between its PH, acidic (Ac), and calponin homology (CH) domains (126, 127). A truncation mutation of the Vav N-terminal CH domain was shown to have oncogenic potential (128), highlighting the importance of these intra-molecular interactions in limiting Vav activity. During T cell activation, Lck phosphorylates tyrosine residues within the Ac domain to release Vav1 from auto-inhibition (127). PIP₃ binding to the PH domain significantly enhances Lck-dependent Vav1 phosphorylation in vitro (129) and promotes GEF activity (124, 129, 130) likely through the release of auto-inhibition (131). Interestingly, PIP₂ binding to the Vav1 PH domain inhibits GEF



FIGURE 5 | PH domain interactions stabilize Vav1 auto-inhibition in basal state. In the basal state, Vav1 adopts an auto-inhibitory conformation in which the substrate-docking site within the DH domain is blocked by interactions with a helix region from the Ac domain. The interactions between CH, PH, and Ac domains greatly strengthen the auto-inhibitory conformation (left). During T cell activation, phosphorylation of the Ac domain by Lck releases the substrate-docking site and allows GTPase binding (right).



and IP₃, which binds IP₃ receptors on the ER. The IP₃ receptor is a ligand-gated Ca²⁺ channel, and its activation increases Ca²⁺ levels in the cytosol. Increased cytosolic Ca²⁺ activates CaM, which has at least two effects on T cell activation: (1) Ca²⁺/CaM binds to Itk's PH domain, enhancing

activity (129). Thus, distinct lipids bind to the Vav1 PH domain to promote conformational changes that either reinforce or relieve its auto-inhibitory state.

Pleckstrin homology domains can also participate in intermolecular interactions with other proteins. The PH domain of Dbs, a Cdc42/RhoGEF, associates with Cdc42 through the $\beta 3/\beta 4$

endoplasmic reticulum; Itk, IL-2-inducible tyrosine/T cell kinase; PLCy1,

T cells; IP₃R, IP₃ receptor.

phospholipase C gamma 1; CaM, calmodulin; NFAT, nuclear factor of activated

loop of its PH domain to improve substrate docking and catalysis (132). Interestingly, we recently identified the $\beta 3/\beta 4$ loop of the Itk PH domain as an important binding site for the ubiquitous Ca²⁺-sensing protein CaM (133). The CaM C-terminal EF hands bind to the $\beta 3/\beta 4$ loop of the Itk PH domain at basal intracellular Ca^{2+} levels while the CaM N-terminal EF hands engage the $\beta 5/\beta 6$ loop upon an increase in Ca²⁺ levels. CaM and PIP₃ (but not IP₄) reciprocally enhance binding of one another to the Itk PH domain in vitro, suggesting that CaM and PIP₃ cooperate to regulate Itk signaling at the plasma membrane. Pharmacological inhibition of Ca²⁺/CaM activity or mutation of the CaM-binding $\beta 3/\beta 4$ loop disrupts Itk-dependent activation of PLCy1 and downstream Ca^{2+} responses (133), indicating that CaM participates in a positive feedback loop whereby binding of CaM to the Itk PH domain enhances further Itk activation and downstream Ca²⁺ responses. Importantly, this positive feedback is required for optimal TCRinduced, NFAT-dependent production of the pro-inflammatory cytokine, IL-17A (133). Thus, CaM represents a novel proteinbinding partner for the Itk PH domain that serves an important function in potentiating T cell pro-inflammatory responses (Figure 6). It remains to be determined how CaM, PIP₃, and IP₄ coordinate to regulate the kinetics and magnitude of Itk activation and whether they differentially participate in Itk-dependent T cell activation, differentiation, and effector responses.

Calmodulin has also been reported by Dong and colleagues to bind the PH domain of Akt family kinases (134). Using short peptide fragments of Akt1 in a pulldown assay, this interaction was further mapped to the first 42 residues of the Akt1 PH domain. Although CaM did not directly alter Akt kinase activity, CaM was reported to reduce the ability of PIP₃ to co-precipitate Akt (134), suggesting that CaM competes with PIP₃ to dampen Akt activity. However, this finding is inconsistent with other published data demonstrating a requirement for CaM in optimal Akt phosphorylation at T308 and S473 (135, 136). Thus, further investigation is warranted to clarify the functional significance of CaM binding to the AKT PH domain and to determine the precise role of this interaction in lymphocytes.

CONCLUSION

The studies discussed herein highlight the essential yet complex functions of PH domain-containing proteins in lymphocytes and other immune cells. It is well established that a subset of PH domains modulate the function of their parent proteins by binding to membrane-bound lipids as well as soluble lipid analogs. Furthermore, proteins regulated in this manner, such as the PI3K effector kinases Akt and Itk, are indispensable for immune cell function. Indeed, mutations that disrupt the lipid-binding capacity of PH domains are known to result in human disease, a phenomenon perhaps best demonstrated by the immunologic defects associated with mutations in Tec family kinases. Analogous and unique pathological processes observed in animal models and in vitro experiments reinforce the critical role of PH domain-containing proteins in the immune system. However, evidence increasingly shows that PH domains also interact with non-lipid substrates, and these interactions can be cooperative, antagonistic, or completely independent of lipid-binding capacity. The breadth of these interactions must be elucidated in order to fully understand role of PH domain-containing proteins in immune cell function. Thus, future work should investigate the capacity of PH domains to interact with multiple substrates, including both lipids and proteins, and should include careful evaluation of how binding of each substrate affects the binding of others.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

This work was supported by NIH grant AI089805 to YH.

REFERENCES

- Gadina M, Sudarshan C, Visconti R, Zhou YJ, Gu H, Neel BG, et al. The docking molecule gab2 is induced by lymphocyte activation and is involved in signaling by interleukin-2 and interleukin-15 but not other common gamma chain-using cytokines. J Biol Chem (2000) 275:26959–66. doi:10.1074/jbc.M004021200
- Ward SG, Cantrell DA. Phosphoinositide 3-kinases in T lymphocyte activation. Curr Opin Immunol (2001) 13:332–8. doi:10.1016/S0952-7915(00)00223-5
- Koyasu S. The role of PI3K in immune cells. Nat Immunol (2003) 4:313–9. doi:10.1038/ni0403-313
- Guthridge MA, Lopez AF. Phosphotyrosine/phosphoserine binary switches: a new paradigm for the regulation of PI3K signalling and growth factor pleiotropy? *Biochem Soc Trans* (2007) 35:250–2. doi:10.1042/BST0350250
- Swainson L, Kinet S, Mongellaz C, Sourisseau M, Henriques T, Taylor N. IL-7-induced proliferation of recent thymic emigrants requires activation of the PI3K pathway. *Blood* (2007) 109:1034–42. doi:10.1182/blood-2006-06-027912
- Okkenhaug K. Signaling by the phosphoinositide 3-kinase family in immune cells. Annu Rev Immunol (2013) 31:675–704. doi:10.1146/annurev-immunol-032712-095946
- Billadeau DD, Upshaw JL, Schoon RA, Dick CJ, Leibson PJ. NKG2D-DAP10 triggers human NK cell-mediated killing via a Syk-independent regulatory pathway. *Nat Immunol* (2003) 4:557–64. doi:10.1038/ni929
- Kolsch U, Arndt B, Reinhold D, Lindquist JA, Juling N, Kliche S, et al. Normal T cell development and immune functions in TRIM-deficient mice. *Mol Cell Biol* (2006) 26:3639–48. doi:10.1128/MCB.26.9.3639-3648.2006
- Upshaw JL, Arneson LN, Schoon RA, Dick CJ, Billadeau DD, Leibson PJ. NKG2D-mediated signaling requires a DAP10-bound Grb2-Vav1 intermediate and phosphatidylinositol-3-kinase in human natural killer cells. *Nat Immunol* (2006) 7:524–32. doi:10.1038/ni1325
- Koelsch U, Schraven B, Simeoni L. SIT and TRIM determine T cell fate in the thymus. *J Immunol* (2008) 181:5930–9. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.181.9.5930
- Laird MH, Rhee SH, Perkins DJ, Medvedev AE, Piao W, Fenton MJ, et al. TLR4/MyD88/PI3K interactions regulate TLR4 signaling. *J Leukoc Biol* (2009) 85:966–77. doi:10.1189/jlb.1208763
- Vanhaesebroeck B, Guillermet-Guibert J, Graupera M, Bilanges B. The emerging mechanisms of isoform-specific PI3K signalling. *Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol* (2010) 11:329–41. doi:10.1038/nrm2882
- Andrews S, Stephens LR, Hawkins PT. PI3K class IB pathway in neutrophils. Sci STKE (2007) 2007:cm3. doi:10.1126/stke.4072007cm2
- Carracedo A, Pandolfi PP. The PTEN-PI3K pathway: of feedbacks and crosstalks. Oncogene (2008) 27:5527–41. doi:10.1038/onc.2008.247
- Insall RH, Weiner OD. PIP3, PIP2, and cell movement similar messages, different meanings? *Dev Cell* (2001) 1:743–7. doi:10.1016/S1534-5807(01)00086-7
- Wang J, Richards DA. Segregation of PIP2 and PIP3 into distinct nanoscale regions within the plasma membrane. *Biol Open* (2012) 1:857–62. doi:10.1242/ bio.20122071
- Lemmon MA. Membrane recognition by phospholipid-binding domains. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol (2008) 9:99–111. doi:10.1038/nrm2328
- Isakoff SJ, Cardozo T, Andreev J, Li Z, Ferguson KM, Abagyan R, et al. Identification and analysis of PH domain-containing targets of phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase using a novel in vivo assay in yeast. *EMBO J* (1998) 17:5374–87. doi:10.1093/emboj/17.18.5374
- De Matteis MA, Di Campli A, Godi A. The role of the phosphoinositides at the golgi complex. *Biochim Biophys Acta* (2005) 1744:396–405. doi:10.1016/j. bbamcr.2005.04.013
- Manning BD, Cantley LC. AKT/PKB signaling: navigating downstream. Cell (2007) 129:1261–74. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2007.06.009
- Gonzalez E, McGraw TE. The Akt kinases: isoform specificity in metabolism and cancer. Cell Cycle (2009) 8:2502–8. doi:10.4161/cc.8.16.9335

- Hemmings BA, Restuccia DF. PI3K-PKB/Akt pathway. Cold Spring Harb Perspect Biol (2012) 4:a011189. doi:10.1101/cshperspect.a011189
- Limon JJ, Fruman DA. Akt and mTOR in B cell activation and differentiation. *Front Immunol* (2012) 3:228. doi:10.3389/fimmu.2012.00228
- Obata T, Yaffe MB, Leparc GG, Piro ET, Maegawa H, Kashiwag A, et al. Peptide and protein library screening defines optimal substrate motifs for AKT/PKB. *J Biol Chem* (2000) 285:36108–15. doi:10.1074/jbc.M005497200
- Carpten JD, Faber AL, Horn C, Donoho GP, Briggs SL, Robbins CM, et al. A transforming mutation in the pleckstrin homology domain of AKT1 in cancer. *Nature* (2007) 448:439–44. doi:10.1038/nature05933
- Banerji S, Cibulskis K, Rangel-Escareno C, Brown KK, Carter SL, Frederick AM, et al. Sequence analysis of mutations and translocations across breast cancer subtypes. *Nature* (2012) 486:405–9. doi:10.1038/nature11154
- Landgraf KE, Pilling C, Falke JJ. Molecular mechanism of an oncogenic mutation that alters membrane targeting: glu17lys modifies the PIP lipid specificity of the AKT1 PH domain. *Biochemistry* (2008) 47:12260–9. doi:10.1021/ bi801683k
- Kharas MG, Okabe R, Ganis JJ, Gozo M, Khandan T, Paktinat M, et al. Constitutively active AKT depletes hematopoietic stem cells and induces leukemia in mice. *Blood* (2010) 115:1406–15. doi:10.1182/blood-2009-06-229443
- Paik JH, Kollipara R, Chu G, Ji H, Xiao Y, Ding Z, et al. FoxOs are lineagerestricted redundant tumor suppressors and regulate endothelial cell homeostasis. *Cell* (2007) 128:309–23. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2006.12.029
- Fabre S, Carrette F, Chen J, Lang V, Semichon M, Denoyelle C, et al. FOXO1 regulates L-selectin and a network of human T cell homing molecules downstream of phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase. *J Immunol* (2008) 181:2980–9. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.181.5.2980
- 31. Kerdiles YM, Beisner DR, Tinoco R, Dejean AS, Castrillon DH, Depinho RA, et al. Foxo1 links homing and survival of naive T cells by regulating L-selectin, CCR7 and interleukin 7 receptor. *Nat Immunol* (2009) 10:176–84. doi:10.1038/ni.1689
- Ouyang W, Beckett O, Flavell RA, Li MO. An essential role of the forkheadbox transcription factor Foxo1 in control of T cell homeostasis and tolerance. *Immunity* (2009) 30:358–71. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2009.02.003
- Merkenschlager M, von Boehmer H. PI3 kinase signalling blocks Foxp3 expression by sequestering foxo factors. J Exp Med (2010) 207:1347–50. doi:10.1084/jem.20101156
- Ouyang W, Beckett O, Ma Q, Paik JH, Depinho RA, Li MO. Foxo proteins cooperatively control the differentiation of Foxp3+ regulatory T cells. *Nat Immunol* (2010) 11:618–27. doi:10.1038/ni.1884
- Alkhatib A, Werner M, Hug E, Herzog S, Eschbach C, Faraidun H, et al. FoxO1 induces Ikaros splicing to promote immunoglobulin gene recombination. *J Exp Med* (2012) 209:395–406. doi:10.1084/jem.20110216
- 36. Rao RR, Li Q, Gubbels Bupp MR, Shrikant PA. Transcription factor Foxo1 represses T-bet-mediated effector functions and promotes memory CD8(+) T cell differentiation. *Immunity* (2012) 36:374–87. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2012. 01.015
- Michelini RH, Doedens AL, Goldrath AW, Hedrick SM. Differentiation of CD8 memory T cells depends on Foxo1. J Exp Med (2013) 210:1189–200. doi:10.1084/jem.20130392
- Hedrick SM. The cunning little vixen: foxo and the cycle of life and death. Nat Immunol (2009) 10:1057–63. doi:10.1038/ni.1784
- Haxhinasto S, Mathis D, Benoist C. The AKT-mTOR axis regulates de novo differentiation of CD4+Foxp3+ cells. J Exp Med (2008) 205:565–74. doi:10.1084/jem.20071477
- 40. Pierau M, Engelmann S, Reinhold D, Lapp T, Schraven B, Bommhardt UH. Protein kinase B/Akt signals impair Th17 differentiation and support natural regulatory T cell function and induced regulatory T cell formation. *J Immunol* (2009) 183:6124–34. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.0900246
- Kim EH, Sullivan JA, Plisch EH, Tejera MM, Jatzek A, Choi KY, et al. Signal integration by Akt regulates CD8 T cell effector and memory differentiation. *J Immunol* (2012) 188:4305–14. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1103568
- 42. Lucas CL, Kuehn HS, Zhao F, Niemela JE, Deenick EK, Palendira U, et al. Dominant-activating germline mutations in the gene encoding the PI(3)K catalytic subunit p110delta result in T cell senescence and human immunodeficiency. *Nat Immunol* (2014) 15:88–97. doi:10.1038/ni.2771
- Sukumar M, Liu J, Ji Y, Subramanian M, Crompton JG, Yu Z, et al. Inhibiting glycolytic metabolism enhances CD8+ T cell memory and antitumor function. *J Clin Invest* (2013) 123:4479–88. doi:10.1172/JCI69589

- 44. Macintyre AN, Finlay D, Preston G, Sinclair LV, Waugh CM, Tamas P, et al. Protein kinase B controls transcriptional programs that direct cytotoxic T cell fate but is dispensable for T cell metabolism. *Immunity* (2011) 34:224–36. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2011.01.012
- 45. Tsukada S, Saffran DC, Rawlings DJ, Parolini O, Allen RC, Klisak I, et al. Deficient expression of a B cell cytoplasmic tyrosine kinase in human X-linked agammaglobulinemia. *Cell* (1993) 72:279–90. doi:10.1016/0092-8674(93)90667-F
- 46. Afar DE, Park H, Howell BW, Rawlings DJ, Cooper J, Witte ON. Regulation of Btk by Src family tyrosine kinases. *Mol Cell Biol* (1996) **16**:3465–71.
- Rawlings DJ, Scharenberg AM, Park H, Wahl MI, Lin S, Kato RM, et al. Activation of BTK by a phosphorylation mechanism initiated by SRC family kinases. *Science* (1996) 271:822–5. doi:10.1126/science.271.5250.822
- Niiro H, Clark EA. Regulation of B cell fate by antigen-receptor signals. Nat Rev Immunol (2002) 2:945–56. doi:10.1038/nri955
- Vihinen M, Brandau O, Branden LJ, Kwan SP, Lappalainen I, Lester T, et al. BTKbase, mutation database for X-linked agammaglobulinemia (XLA). *Nucleic Acids Res* (1998) 26:242–7. doi:10.1093/nar/26.1.242
- 50. Vihinen M, Kwan S-P, Lester T, Ochs HD, Resnick I, Väliaho J, et al. Mutations of the human BTK gene coding for Bruton tyrosine kinase in X-linked agammaglobulinemia. *Hum Mutat* (1999) 13:280–5. doi:10.1002/(SICI)1098-1004(1999)13:4<280::AID-HUMU3>3.0.CO;2-L
- 51. Nomura K, Kanegane H, Karasuyama H, Tsukada S, Agematsu K, Murakami G, et al. Genetic defect in human X-linked agammaglobulinemia impedes a maturational evolution of pro-B cells into a later stage of pre-B cells in the B cell differentiation pathway. *Blood* (2000) **96**:610–7.
- Fukuda M, Kojima T, Kabayama H, Mikoshiba K. Mutation of the pleckstrin homology domain of Bruton's tyrosine kinase in immunodeficiency impaired inositol 1,3,4,5-tetrakisphosphate binding capacity. J Biol Chem (1996) 271:30303–6. doi:10.1074/jbc.271.48.30303
- Varnai P, Rother KI, Balla T. Phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase-dependent membrane association of the Bruton's tyrosine kinase pleckstrin homology domain visualized in single living cells. J Biol Chem (1999) 274:10983–9. doi:10.1074/ jbc.274.16.10983
- 54. Li T, Tsukada S, Satterthwaite A, Havlik MH, Park H, Takatsu K, et al. Activation of Bruton's tyrosine kinase (BTK) by a point mutation in its pleckstrin homology (PH) domain. *Immunity* (1995) 2:451–60. doi:10.1016/1074-7613(95)90026-8
- 55. Maas A, Dingjan GM, Grosveld F, Hendriks RW. Early arrest in B cell development in transgenic mice that express the E41K Bruton's tyrosine kinase mutant under the control of the CD19 promoter region. *J Immunol* (1999) 162:6526–33.
- Huck K, Feyen O, Niehues T, Rüschendorf F, Hübner N, Laws H-J, et al. Girls homozygous for an IL-2–inducible T cell kinase mutation that leads to protein deficiency develop fatal EBV-associated lymphoproliferation. *J Clin Invest* (2009) 119:1350–8. doi:10.1172/JCI37901
- 57. Serwas NK, Cagdas D, Ban SA, Bienemann K, Salzer E, Tezcan I, et al. Identification of ITK deficiency as a novel genetic cause of idiopathic CD4+ T cell lymphopenia. *Blood* (2014) **124**:655–7. doi:10.1182/blood-2014-03-564930
- Barton E, Mandal P, Speck SH. Pathogenesis and host control of gammaherpesviruses: lessons from the mouse. *Annu Rev Immunol* (2011) 29:351–97. doi:10.1146/annurev-immunol-072710-081639
- Andreotti AH, Schwartzberg PL, Joseph RE, Berg LJ. T cell signaling regulated by the Tec family kinase, Itk. *Cold Spring Harb Perspect Biol* (2010) 2:a002287. doi:10.1101/cshperspect.a002287
- Grasis JA, Tsoukas CD. Itk: the rheostat of the T cell response. J Signal Transduct (2011) 2011:297868. doi:10.1155/2011/297868
- Heyeck SD, Wilcox HM, Bunnell SC, Berg LJ. Lck phosphorylates the activation loop tyrosine of the Itk kinase domain and activates Itk kinase activity. J Biol Chem (1997) 272:25401–8. doi:10.1074/jbc.272.40.25401
- 62. Perez-Villar JJ, Kanner SB. Regulated association between the tyrosine kinase Emt/Itk/Tsk and phospholipase-C gamma 1 in human T lymphocytes. *J Immunol* (1999) **163**:6435–41.
- Takesono A, Finkelstein LD, Schwartzberg PL. Beyond calcium: new signaling pathways for Tec family kinases. J Cell Sci (2002) 115:3039–48.
- Fowell DJ, Shinkai K, Liao XC, Beebe AM, Coffman RL, Littman DR, et al. Impaired NFATc translocation and failure of Th2 development in Itk-deficient CD4+ T cells. *Immunity* (1999) 11:399–409. doi:10.1016/S1074-7613(00) 80115-6

- Miller AT, Wilcox HM, Lai Z, Berg LJ. Signaling through Itk promotes T helper 2 differentiation via negative regulation of T-bet. *Immunity* (2004) 21:67–80. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2004.06.009
- 66. Au-Yeung BB, Katzman SD, Fowell DJ. Cutting edge: Itk-dependent signals required for CD4+ T cells to exert, but not gain, Th2 effector function. *J Immunol* (2006) 176:3895–9. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.176.7.3895
- 67. Gomez-Rodriguez J, Sahu N, Handon R, Davidson TS, Anderson SM, Kirby MR, et al. Differential expression of interleukin-17A and -17F is coupled to T cell receptor signaling via inducible T cell kinase. *Immunity* (2009) **31**:587–97. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2009.07.009
- Liao XC, Littman DR. Altered T cell receptor signaling and disrupted T cell development in mice lacking Itk. *Immunity* (1995) 3:757–69. doi:10.1016/ 1074-7613(95)90065-9
- Gomez-Rodriguez J, Wohlfert EA, Handon R, Meylan F, Wu JZ, Anderson SM, et al. Itk-mediated integration of T cell receptor and cytokine signaling regulates the balance between Th17 and regulatory T cells. *J Exp Med* (2014) 211(3):529–43. doi:10.1084/jem.20131459
- 70. Jain N, Miu B, Jiang JK, Mckinstry KK, Prince A, Swain SL, et al. CD28 and ITK signals regulate autoreactive T cell trafficking. *Nat Med* (2013) 19:1632–7. doi:10.1038/nm.3393
- Cuevas B, Lu Y, Watt S, Kumar R, Zhang J, Siminovitch KA, et al. SHP-1 regulates Lck-induced phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase phosphorylation and activity. *J Biol Chem* (1999) 274:27583–9. doi:10.1074/jbc.274.39.27583
- Bryceson YT, Ljunggren HG. Arrestin NK cell cytotoxicity. Nat Immunol (2008) 9:835–6. doi:10.1038/ni0808-835
- Cornall RJ, Cyster JG, Hibbs ML, Dunn AR, Otipoby KL, Clark EA, et al. Polygenic autoimmune traits: Lyn, CD22, and SHP-1 are limiting elements of a biochemical pathway regulating BCR signaling and selection. *Immunity* (1998) 8:497–508. doi:10.1016/S1074-7613(00)80554-3
- Alegre ML, Frauwirth KA, Thompson CB. T cell regulation by CD28 and CTLA-4. Nat Rev Immunol (2001) 1:220–8. doi:10.1038/35105024
- Okazaki T, Chikuma S, Iwai Y, Fagarasan S, Honjo T. A rheostat for immune responses: the unique properties of PD-1 and their advantages for clinical application. *Nat Immunol* (2013) 14:1212–8. doi:10.1038/ni.2762
- 76. Chemnitz JM, Parry RV, Nichols KE, June CH, Riley JL. SHP-1 and SHP-2 associate with immunoreceptor tyrosine-based switch motif of programmed death 1 upon primary human T cell stimulation, but only receptor ligation prevents T cell activation. *J Immunol* (2004) **173**:945–54. doi:10.4049/ jimmunol.173.2.945
- Parry RV, Chemnitz JM, Frauwirth KA, Lanfranco AR, Braunstein I, Kobayashi SV, et al. CTLA-4 and PD-1 receptors inhibit T cell activation by distinct mechanisms. *Mol Cell Biol* (2005) 25:9543–53. doi:10.1128/MCB.25.21.9543-9553. 2005
- Lorenz U. SHP-1 and SHP-2 in T cells: two phosphatases functioning at many levels. *Immunol Rev* (2009) 228:342–59. doi:10.1111/j.1600-065X.2008. 00760.x
- 79. Ugi S, Imamura T, Maegawa H, Egawa K, Yoshizaki T, Shi K, et al. Protein phosphatase 2A negatively regulates insulin's metabolic signaling pathway by inhibiting Akt (protein kinase B) activity in 3T3-L1 adipocytes. *Mol Cell Biol* (2004) 24:8778–89. doi:10.1128/MCB.24.19.8778-8789.2004
- Kuo YC, Huang KY, Yang CH, Yang YS, Lee WY, Chiang CW. Regulation of phosphorylation of Thr-308 of Akt, cell proliferation, and survival by the B55alpha regulatory subunit targeting of the protein phosphatase 2A holoenzyme to Akt. *J Biol Chem* (2008) 283:1882–92. doi:10.1074/jbc.M709585200
- Lee KM, Chuang E, Griffin M, Khattri R, Hong DK, Zhang W, et al. Molecular basis of T cell inactivation by CTLA-4. *Science* (1998) 282:2263–6. doi:10.1126/science.282.5397.2263
- Huang YH, Sauer K. Lipid signaling in T cell development and function. Cold Spring Harb Perspect Biol (2010) 2:a002428. doi:10.1101/cshperspect.a002428
- 83. Fedele CG, Ooms LM, Ho M, Vieusseux J, O'toole SA, Millar EK, et al. Inositol polyphosphate 4-phosphatase II regulates PI3K/Akt signaling and is lost in human basal-like breast cancers. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2010) 107:22231–6. doi:10.1073/pnas.1015245107
- Ono M, Bolland S, Tempst P, Ravetch JV. Role of the inositol phosphatase SHIP in negative regulation of the immune system by the receptor Fc(gamma)RIIB. *Nature* (1996) 383:263–6. doi:10.1038/383263a0
- Wang JW, Howson JM, Ghansah T, Desponts C, Ninos JM, May SL, et al. Influence of SHIP on the NK repertoire and allogeneic bone marrow transplantation. *Science* (2002) 295:2094–7. doi:10.1126/science.1068438

- Newton RH, Turka LA. Regulation of T cell homeostasis and responses by pten. Front Immunol (2012) 3:151. doi:10.3389/fimmu.2012.00151
- Sauer K, Cooke MP. Regulation of immune cell development through soluble inositol-1,3,4,5-tetrakisphosphate. Nat Rev Immunol (2010) 10:257–71. doi:10.1038/nri2745
- Pouillon V, Hascakova-Bartova R, Pajak B, Adam E, Bex F, Dewaste V, et al. Inositol 1,3,4,5-tetrakisphosphate is essential for T lymphocyte development. *Nat Immunol* (2003) 4:1136–43. doi:10.1038/ni980
- 89. Wen BG, Pletcher MT, Warashina M, Choe SH, Ziaee N, Wiltshire T, et al. Inositol (1,4,5) trisphosphate 3 kinase B controls positive selection of T cells and modulates Erk activity. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2004) 101:5604–9. doi:10.1073/pnas.0306907101
- Marechal Y, Pesesse X, Jia Y, Pouillon V, Perez-Morga D, Daniel J, et al. Inositol 1,3,4,5-tetrakisphosphate controls proapoptotic Bim gene expression and survival in B cells. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2007) 104:13978–83. doi:10.1073/pnas.0704312104
- Miller AT, Sandberg M, Huang YH, Young M, Sutton S, Sauer K, et al. Production of Ins(1,3,4,5)P4 mediated by the kinase Itpkb inhibits store-operated calcium channels and regulates B cell selection and activation. *Nat Immunol* (2007) 8:514–21. doi:10.1038/ni1458
- Miller AT, Beisner DR, Liu D, Cooke MP. Inositol 1,4,5-trisphosphate 3-kinase B is a negative regulator of BCR signaling that controls B cell selection and tolerance induction. *J Immunol* (2009) 182:4696–704. doi:10.4049/jimmunol. 0802850
- 93. Huang YH, Grasis JA, Miller AT, Xu R, Soonthornvacharin S, Andreotti AH, et al. Positive regulation of Itk PH domain function by soluble IP4. *Science* (2007) **316**:886–9. doi:10.1126/science.1138684
- 94. Jia Y, Subramanian KK, Erneux C, Pouillon V, Hattori H, Jo H, et al. Inositol 1,3,4,5-tetrakisphosphate negatively regulates phosphatidylinositol-3,4,5trisphosphate signaling in neutrophils. *Immunity* (2007) 27:453–67. doi:10. 1016/j.immuni.2007.07.016
- Sauer K, Park E, Siegemund S, French AR, Wahle JA, Sternberg L, et al. Inositol tetrakisphosphate limits NK cell effector functions by controlling PI3K signaling. *Blood* (2013) 121:286–97. doi:10.1182/blood-2012-05-429241
- Chakraborty A, Koldobskiy MA, Bello NT, Maxwell M, Potter JJ, Juluri KR, et al. Inositol pyrophosphates inhibit Akt signaling, thereby regulating insulin sensitivity and weight gain. *Cell* (2010) 143:897–910. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2010.11.032
- Saiardi A, Erdjument-Bromage H, Snowman AM, Tempst P, Snyder SH. Synthesis of diphosphoinositol pentakisphosphate by a newly identified family of higher inositol polyphosphate kinases. *Curr Biol* (1999) 9:1323–6. doi:10.1016/S0960-9822(00)80055-X
- Manning BD. Insulin signaling: inositol phosphates get into the Akt. Cell (2010) 143:861–3. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2010.11.040
- Prasad A, Jia Y, Chakraborty A, Li Y, Jain SK, Zhong J, et al. Inositol hexakisphosphate kinase 1 regulates neutrophil function in innate immunity by inhibiting phosphatidylinositol-(3,4,5)-trisphosphate signaling. *Nat Immunol* (2011) 12:752–60. doi:10.1038/ni.2052
- 100. Luo HR, Huang YE, Chen JC, Saiardi A, Iijima M, Ye K, et al. Inositol pyrophosphates mediate chemotaxis in dictyostelium via pleckstrin homology domain-PtdIns(3,4,5)P3 interactions. *Cell* (2003) **114**:559–72. doi:10.1016/ S0092-8674(03)00640-8
- 101. Wang Q, Vogan EM, Nocka LM, Rosen CE, Zorn JA, Harrison SC, et al. Autoinhibition of Bruton's tyrosine kinase (Btk) and activation by soluble inositol hexakisphosphate. *Elife* (2015). doi:10.7554/eLife.06074
- 102. Park WS, Heo WD, Whalen JH, O'rourke NA, Bryan HM, Meyer T, et al. Comprehensive identification of PIP3-regulated PH domains from *C. elegans* to *H. sapiens* by model prediction and live imaging. *Mol Cell* (2008) **30**:381–92. doi:10.1016/j.molcel.2008.04.008
- Feske S. Calcium signalling in lymphocyte activation and disease. Nat Rev Immunol (2007) 7:690–702. doi:10.1038/nri2152
- 104. Fu G, Chen Y, Yu M, Podd A, Schuman J, He Y, et al. Phospholipase C{gamma}1 is essential for T cell development, activation, and tolerance. *J Exp Med* (2010) 207:309–18. doi:10.1084/jem.20090880
- 105. Wang D, Feng J, Wen R, Marine JC, Sangster MY, Parganas E, et al. Phospholipase Cgamma2 is essential in the functions of B cell and several Fc receptors. *Immunity* (2000) 13:25–35. doi:10.1016/S1074-7613(00)00005-4
- 106. Wen R, Jou ST, Chen Y, Hoffmeyer A, Wang D. Phospholipase C gamma 2 is essential for specific functions of Fc epsilon R and Fc gamma R. J Immunol (2002) 169:6743–52. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.169.12.6743

- 107. Graham DB, Robertson CM, Bautista J, Mascarenhas F, Diacovo MJ, Montgrain V, et al. Neutrophil-mediated oxidative burst and host defense are controlled by a Vav-PLCgamma2 signaling axis in mice. *J Clin Invest* (2007) 117:3445–52. doi:10.1172/JCI32729
- 108. Falasca M, Logan SK, Lehto VP, Baccante G, Lemmon MA, Schlessinger J. Activation of phospholipase C gamma by PI 3-kinase-induced PH domainmediated membrane targeting. *EMBO J* (1998) 17:414–22. doi:10.1093/emboj/ 17.2.414
- 109. Rhee SG, Bae YS. Regulation of phosphoinositide-specific phospholipase C isozymes. J Biol Chem (1997) 272:15045–8. doi:10.1074/jbc.272.24.15045
- Rhee SG. Regulation of phosphoinositide-specific phospholipase C. Annu Rev Biochem (2001) 70:281–312. doi:10.1146/annurev.biochem.70.1.281
- 111. Kim SK, Wee SM, Chang JS, Kwon TK, Min DS, Lee YH, et al. Point mutations in the split PLC-gamma1 PH domain modulate phosphoinositide binding. *J Biochem Mol Biol* (2004) **37**:720–5. doi:10.5483/BMBRep.2004.37.6.720
- Lemmon MA. Pleckstrin homology domains: two halves make a hole? *Cell* (2005) 120:574–6. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2005.02.023
- 113. van Rossum DB, Patterson RL, Sharma S, Barrow RK, Kornberg M, Gill DL, et al. Phospholipase Cgammal controls surface expression of TRPC3 through an intermolecular PH domain. *Nature* (2005) **434**:99–104. doi:10. 1038/nature03340
- 114. Piechulek T, Rehlen T, Walliser C, Vatter P, Moepps B, Gierschik P. Isozymespecific stimulation of phospholipase C-gamma2 by Rac GTPases. *J Biol Chem* (2005) 280:38923–31. doi:10.1074/jbc.M509396200
- 115. Walliser C, Retlich M, Harris R, Everett KL, Josephs MB, Vatter P, et al. Rac regulates its effector phospholipase Cgamma2 through interaction with a split pleckstrin homology domain. J Biol Chem (2008) 283:30351–62. doi:10.1074/jbc.M803316200
- 116. Everett KL, Buehler A, Bunney TD, Margineanu A, Baxendale RW, Vatter P, et al. Membrane environment exerts an important influence on Rac-mediated activation of phospholipase Cgamma2. *Mol Cell Biol* (2011) **31**:1240–51. doi:10.1128/MCB.01408-10
- 117. Calleja V, Laguerre M, Parker PJ, Larijani B. Role of a novel PH-kinase domain interface in PKB/Akt regulation: structural mechanism for allosteric inhibition. *PLoS Biol* (2009) 7:e17. doi:10.1371/journal.pbio.1000017
- 118. Wu WI, Voegtli WC, Sturgis HL, Dizon FP, Vigers GP, Brandhuber BJ. Crystal structure of human AKT1 with an allosteric inhibitor reveals a new mode of kinase inhibition. *PLoS One* (2010) 5:e12913. doi:10.1371/journal.pone. 0012913
- 119. Parikh C, Janakiraman V, Wu WI, Foo CK, Kljavin NM, Chaudhuri S, et al. Disruption of PH-kinase domain interactions leads to oncogenic activation of AKT in human cancers. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2012) **109**:19368–73. doi:10.1073/pnas.1204384109
- 120. Fischer KD, Zmuldzinas A, Gardner S, Barbacid M, Bernstein A, Guidos C. Defective T cell receptor signalling and positive selection of Vav-deficient CD4+ CD8+ thymocytes. *Nature* (1995) **374**:474–7. doi:10.1038/374474a0
- 121. Tedford K, Nitschke L, Girkontaite I, Charlesworth A, Chan G, Sakk V, et al. Compensation between Vav-1 and Vav-2 in B cell development and antigen receptor signaling. *Nat Immunol* (2001) 2:548–55. doi:10.1038/88756
- 122. Turner M, Billadeau DD. VAV proteins as signal integrators for multisubunit immune-recognition receptors. *Nat Rev Immunol* (2002) 2:476–86. doi:10.1038/nri840
- 123. Hall AB, Gakidis MA, Glogauer M, Wilsbacher JL, Gao S, Swat W, et al. Requirements for Vav guanine nucleotide exchange factors and Rho GTPases in FcgammaR- and complement-mediated phagocytosis. *Immunity* (2006) 24:305–16. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2006.02.005
- 124. Han J, Luby-Phelps K, Das B, Shu X, Xia Y, Mosteller RD, et al. Role of substrates and products of PI 3-kinase in regulating activation of Rac-related guanosine triphosphatases by Vav. *Science* (1998) **279**:558–60. doi:10.1126/science.279. 5350.558

- 125. Ma AD, Metjian A, Bagrodia S, Taylor S, Abrams CS. Cytoskeletal reorganization by G protein-coupled receptors is dependent on phosphoinositide 3kinase gamma, a Rac guanosine exchange factor, and Rac. *Mol Cell Biol* (1998) 18:4744–51.
- 126. Li P, Martins IR, Amarasinghe GK, Rosen MK. Internal dynamics control activation and activity of the autoinhibited Vav DH domain. *Nat Struct Mol Biol* (2008) 15:613–8. doi:10.1038/nsmb.1428
- 127. Yu B, Martins IR, Li P, Amarasinghe GK, Umetani J, Fernandez-Zapico ME, et al. Structural and energetic mechanisms of cooperative autoinhibition and activation of Vav1. *Cell* (2010) 140:246–56. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2009. 12.033
- 128. Kranewitter WJ, Gimona M. N-terminally truncated Vav induces the formation of depolymerization-resistant actin filaments in NIH 3T3 cells. *FEBS Lett* (1999) 455:123–9. doi:10.1016/S0014-5793(99)00857-1
- 129. Das B, Shu X, Day GJ, Han J, Krishna UM, Falck JR, et al. Control of intramolecular interactions between the pleckstrin homology and Dbl homology domains of Vav and Sos1 regulates Rac binding. J Biol Chem (2000) 275:15074–81. doi:10.1074/jbc.M907269199
- Rossman KL, Der CJ, Sondek J. GEF means go: turning on RHO GTPases with guanine nucleotide-exchange factors. *Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol* (2005) 6:167–80. doi:10.1038/nrm1587
- 131. Aghazadeh B, Lowry WE, Huang X-Y, Rosen MK. Structural basis for relief of autoinhibition of the Dbl homology domain of proto-oncogene Vav by tyrosine phosphorylation. *Cell* (2000) **102**:625–33. doi:10.1016/S0092-8674(00) 00085-4
- 132. Rossman KL, Worthylake DK, Snyder JT, Siderovski DP, Campbell SL, Sondek J. A crystallographic view of interactions between Dbs and Cdc42: pH domain-assisted guanine nucleotide exchange. *EMBO J* (2002) 21:1315–26. doi:10.1093/emboj/21.6.1315
- 133. Wang X, Boyken SE, Hu J, Xu X, Rimer RP, Shea MA, et al. Calmodulin and PI(3,4,5)P(3) cooperatively bind to the Itk pleckstrin homology domain to promote efficient calcium signaling and IL-17A production. *Sci Signal* (2014) 7:ra74. doi:10.1126/scisignal.2005147
- Dong B, Valencia CA, Liu R. Ca(2+)/calmodulin directly interacts with the pleckstrin homology domain of AKT1. J Biol Chem (2007) 282:25131–40. doi:10.1074/jbc.M702123200
- 135. Deb TB, Coticchia CM, Dickson RB. Calmodulin-mediated activation of Akt regulates survival of c-Myc-overexpressing mouse mammary carcinoma cells. *J Biol Chem* (2004) 279:38903–11. doi:10.1074/jbc.M405314200
- 136. Coticchia CM, Revankar CM, Deb TB, Dickson RB, Johnson MD. Calmodulin modulates Akt activity in human breast cancer cell lines. *Breast Cancer Res Treat* (2009) 115:545–60. doi:10.1007/s10549-008-0097-z

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Received: 12 January 2015; accepted: 02 March 2015; published online: 13 March 2015. Citation: Wang X, Hills LB and Huang YH (2015) Lipid and protein coregulation of PI3K effectors Akt and Itk in lymphocytes. Front. Immunol. **6**:117. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2015.00117

This article was submitted to T Cell Biology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology.

Copyright © 2015 Wang, Hills and Huang. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.



Role of inositol poly-phosphatases and their targets in T cell biology

Neetu Srivastava^{1†}, Raki Sudan^{1†} and William Garrow Kerr^{1,2,3,4}*

¹ Department of Microbiology and Immunology, SUNY Upstate Medical University, Syracuse, NY, USA

² Department of Pediatrics, SUNY Upstate Medical University, Syracuse, NY, USA

³ Department of Biochemistry and Molecular Biology, SUNY Upstate Medical University, Syracuse, NY, USA

⁴ Department of Chemistry, Syracuse University, Syracuse, NY, USA

Edited by:

Karsten Sauer, The Scripps Research Institute, USA

Reviewed by:

Klaus Okkenhaug, Babraham Institute, UK David A. Fruman, University of California Irvine, USA

*Correspondence:

William Garrow Kerr, SUNY Upstate Medical University, 750 East Adams Street, 2204 Weiskotten Hall, Syracuse, NY 13210, USA e-mail: kerrw@upstate.edu

⁺Neetu Srivastava and Raki Sudan have contributed equally to this work. T lymphocytes play a critical role in host defense in all anatomical sites including mucosal surfaces. This not only includes the effector arm of the immune system, but also requlation of immune responses in order to prevent autoimmunity. Genetic targeting of PI3K isoforms suggests that generation of PI(3,4,5)P₃ by PI3K plays a critical role in promoting effector T cell responses. Consequently, the 5'- and 3'-inositol poly-phosphatases SHIP1, SHIP2, and phosphatase and tensin homolog capable of targeting PI(3,4,5)P3 are potential genetic determinants of T cell effector functions in vivo. In addition, the 5'-inositol poly-phosphatases SHIP1 and 2 can shunt $PI(3,4,5)P_3$ to the rare but potent signaling phosphoinositide species PI(3,4)P2 and thus these SHIP1/2, and the INPP4A/B enzymes that deplete PI(3,4)P2 may have precise roles in T cell biology to amplify or inhibit effectors of PI3K signaling that are selectively recruited to and activated by PI(3,4)P₂. Here we summarize recent genetic and chemical evidence that indicates the inositol poly-phosphatases have important roles in both the effector and regulatory functions of the T cell compartment. In addition, we will discuss future genetic studies that might be undertaken to further elaborate the role of these enzymes in T cell biology as well as potential pharmaceutical manipulation of these enzymes for therapeutic purposes in disease settings where T cell function is a key in vivo target.

Keywords: SHIP1, SHIP2, T cells, T lymphocytes, adoptive T cell transfer, INPP4, PTEN, PI3K

INTRODUCTION

Inositol phospholipid signaling pathway plays an integral role in development, proliferation, differentiation, and survival of lymphocytes (1-4). The principal second messenger of the PI3K pathway PtdIns(3,4,5)P₃ is generated by phosphorylation of the 3'hydroxyl group of PtdIns(4,5)P2 by PI3Ks. PI3Ks are grouped into three categories, Class I, II, and III on the basis of substrate specificity and structure. Only class I PI3Ks can use PtdIns(4,5)P2 to generate PtdIns(3,4,5)P3 at the inner leaflet of plasma membrane (5). PtdIns(3,4,5)P₃ acts as binding site for several intracellular signaling molecules that containing a Pleckstrin-homology domain (PH-domain) and thus facilitates their recruitment to the plasma membrane. AKT/PKB is the most important PH-domain containing kinase required for cell growth, survival, and proliferation in most cell types and appropriately its PH-domain can bind PtdIns(3,4,5)P₃ (6, 7). In addition to AKT, the PH-domain containing Tec family tyrosine kinases ITK (IL-2-inducible T cell kinase) and BTK (Bruton agammaglobulinemia tyrosine kinase) also have specificity for PtdIns(3,4,5)P3 and are important mediators of PI3K signaling pathway in T and B cells, respectively (Figure 1). Based on genetic models both class IA ($p110\alpha$, $p110\beta$, and p1108) and class IB PI3K (p110y) play roles in thymocyte development. p110y-knockout mice have increased apoptosis of DP thymocytes and double knockout $p110\delta/\gamma$ mice have significantly reduced number of thymocytes, a profound T cell

lymphopenia and multiple organ inflammation (8–12). In addition to that mice with a knock-in point mutation of p1108 (p110deltaD910A/D910A) have severe defects in T cell receptor signaling and impaired Treg cell function (13–15). The T cell specific class IA PI3K deficient mice do not have defects in thymocyte and in peripheral T cell development, but they do exhibit defective TCR signaling, *in vitro* proliferation and cytokine production (16, 17). Altogether these findings demonstrate that the PI3K signaling pathway responsible for generation of PtdIns(3,4,5)P₃ plays an important role in T cell development and activation and suggest that inositol poly-phosphatases like phosphatase and tensin homolog (PTEN), SHIP1, SHIP2, and INPP4A/B may have an opposing, or in some cases, a facilitating role downstream of PI3K in T lymphocytes.

The cellular pool of inositol phospholipids is determined in part by inositol phosphatases that by dephosphorylation of PtdIns(3,4,5)P₃, can regulate PI3K-mediated signaling pathway. Three important phosphatases, which dephosphorylate PtdIns(3,4,5)P₃ are PTEN, SHIP1, and SHIP2. PTEN is 3' polyphosphatase that converts PtdIns(3,4,5)P₃ to PtdIns(4,5)P₂ while the SHIP family phosphatases, SHIP1 and SHIP2, are 5' polyphosphatases, which convert PtdIns(3,4,5)P₃ to PtdIns(3,4,)P₂ (18, 19). The importance of these phosphatases in immune cell signaling was revealed by the demonstration that SHIP1 deficiency leads to severe myeloproliferative disorder and impaired NK cell



FIGURE 1 | Phosphoinositide signaling and its regulation by phosphatases. PI3K converts PI(4,5)P₂ to a key secondary messenger PI(3,4,5)P₃. Phosphatases like PTEN and SHIP1/2 regulate cellular levels of PI(3,4,5)P₃ by hydrolyzing it to PI(4,5)P₂ and PI (3,4)P₂ respectively. PLC γ converts PI(4,5)P₂ to IP₃ and DAG. IP₃ a soluble inositol phosphate is required for Ca²⁺ mobilization while DAG can activate the Ras-Raf-ERK1/2 pathway. IP₃ 3-Kinases convert IP₃ to IP₄, another important soluble inositol poly-phosphate that either positively or negatively regulates the binding of PI(3,4,5)P₃ to PH-domain containing proteins. The SHIP1/2 product PI(3,4)P2 is hydrolyzed by INPP4A/B into

function while mice with a conditional deletion of PTEN have impaired T cell immune responses (20–22). The present review focuses on the role of these inositol phosphatases in T cell biology.

SHIP1 IN T CELL BIOLOGY

SHIP1 (Src homology 2-containing inositol phosphatase) is a 5'inositol poly-phosphatase that removes the 5' phosphate from PtdIns(3,4,5)P₃ and Ins(1,3,4,5)P₄, thereby regulating PI3K signaling pathway (23). SHIP1 is expressed in hematopoietic cells, mesenchymal stem cells, and osteoblasts (24) as a 145/150 kDa doublet. SHIP1 contains an N-terminal SH2 domain, a central phosphatase domain, a C-terminal NPXY motifs, a Serine residue that can be phosphorylated by PKA, proline rich sequences as well as domains adjacent to the phosphatase domain that can recognize either its substrate or its product (23). The SH2 domain mediates binding of SHIP1 to ITAM and ITIM motifs in receptor tails such as the CD3 chains that associate with the TCR (25, 26) or with various adaptor proteins (27, 28). By virtue of its enzymatic as well as its non-enzymatic functions, SHIP1 is implicated in various signaling pathways related to proliferation, apoptosis, cytokine signaling in lymphocytes and myeloid cells (23). Germline SHIP1 $^{-\bar{l}-}$ mice although viable after weaning develop profound infiltration of myeloid cells in the lungs and severe inflammation in the terminal ileum of the gut resembling human Crohn's disease (29) which leads to their early demise (20, 30). SHIP1^{-/-} mice have increased PI(3)P by removal of the phosphate at the 4-position of the inositol ring. PI(3,4,5)P₃ and/or PI(3,4)P₂ enable recruitment to the plasma membrane of several PH-domain containing proteins including PDK1, AKT, BTK, ITK, and thus regulate pivotal cellular processes including activation, proliferation, and survival. PH-domain containing adaptor proteins (GABs, SKAPs, Bam32, and TAPP) can also bind to phosphoinositides and regulate cell signaling (indicated as green boxes). AKT, Protein Kinase B; PDK1, phosphoinositide-dependent kinase-1, PLC_Y phospholipase C_Y; ITK, Ll-2-inducible T cell kinase) and BTK, Bruton agammaglobulinemia tyrosine kinase.

number of myeloid cells in most of tissues, but are lymphopenic (20) and have a profound deficit of T cells in the gut (29) indicating diverse functions for SHIP1 signaling in myeloid cells and T lymphocytes.

SHIP1 IN T CELL SIGNALING

First demonstration of involvement SHIP1 in T cells came from the observation that ligation of CD3 or CD28 on T cells results in SHIP1 tyrosine phosphorylation and membrane re-localization (31). SHIP1 is thought to be a component of a signaling complex that includes LAT (linker for activation of T cells), Grb2, Dok (downstream of tyrosine kinase) 1, and Dok2 that negatively regulate TCR signaling (32). SHIP1 functions as an adaptor that is required for tyrosine phosphorylation of Dok1 and Dok2 and thus enables Dok1/2 anchoring to LAT to negatively regulate the Zap-70 and AKT kinases thus attenuating TCR signaling (32). Consistent with the proposed negative regulation of TCR signaling, SHIP1 together with adaptor Dok1 and Dok2 has also been shown to be associated with the CD4-mediated inhibitory signaling (33). SHIP1 can also negatively regulate activation and membrane localization of Tec Kinase, which plays an essential role in PLCy activation upon TCR stimulation (34, 35). However, despite these biochemical studies suggesting SHIP1 limits TCR signaling splenic T cells isolated from germline SHIP1^{-/-} mice have defective TCR signaling as shown by their poor proliferation in response

to TCR stimulation. In addition, SHIP1^{-/-} T cells fail to induce IL-2 and IFNy upon PMA/ionomycin stimulation although they have elevated levels of CD69 and CD25 and dramatically reduced expression CD62L and CD45RB expression (36). However a T cellrestrictive deletion of SHIP1 (CD4CreSHIP^{∆IPflox}) that deletes SHIP1 at double positive thymocyte stage does not exhibit the same T cell phenotype observed in the germline SHIP1^{-/-} mice (37). SHIP1 deleted T cells in these mice do not regulate TCR signal strength and no difference in the phosphorylation status of AKT, ERK, Zap-70, PLCy, or calcium influx was observed between SHIP1^{-/-} and WT T cells. Also, in contrast to the poor proliferation of T cells from germline deficient mice, T cells from CD4CreSHIP^{∆IPflox} mice proliferate normally in response to TCR stimulation. The authors argued that the observed phenotype of T cells in germline SHIP1^{-/-} mice is due to pleiotropic effect of dysregulated immune system as a consequence of SHIP1-deficient environment (37, 38). However, we and others have found that the in-frame deletion strategy utilized still allows substantial expression of a near full-length version of SHIP1 that only lacks the enzyme domain (39). Because of SHIP1's ability to function in cell signaling by masking binding sites on receptor tails for other regulatory kinases and phosphatases (40, 41) confounds interpretation of results from SHIP Δ IPflox strain difficult.

SHIP1 IN T CELL DEVELOPMENT

SHIP1 alone does not affect T cell development as no deficiencies in the development of T cells in the thymus was observed in either germline SHIP1^{-/-} deficient mice or in CD4CreSHIP^{Δ IPflox}mice (20, 36, 37). However, a double knockout of SHIP1 and adaptor protein Dok1 plays an important role in T cell development since mice with combined deficiency of SHIP1 and Dok1 have significantly reduced total thymocyte numbers, percentage of CD4⁺ CD8⁺ double positive T cells and increased CD4⁻CD8⁻ double negative T cells (36).

SHIP1 has been shown to be required for both CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T cell survival homeostasis at mucosal sites (29, 42). SHIP1^{-/-} mice develop spontaneous intestinal inflammation, the disease is highly demarcated and confined to the terminal ileum, which resembles classical human Crohn's disease (29). The disease is characterized by severe reduction in CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T cells in the lamina propria of SHIP1-/- mice suggesting that SHIP1 is required for effector T cell persistence in the small intestine. Because T cells play an important role in normal immune surveillance to both commensal microorganism and pathogens, in their absence SHIP1-deficient Neutrophils and other myeloid cells over-respond resulting in lethal inflammation in SHIP1^{-/-} mice (29). The mechanism of selective loss of T cells in mucosal tissues is currently under investigation. T cell-restrictive SHIP1deficient CD4CreSHIP^{ΔIPflox} reported by Tarasenko et al. have apparently no defect in T cell activation or T cell numbers in periphery; however, mucosal T cells were not examined in their report (37). Interestingly T cells from CD4CreSHIP^{Δ IPflox} mice show biased toward Th1 skewing and have defective production of Th2 cytokines IL-4, IL-5, and IL-13. Consistent with this T cells from CD4CreSHIP^{Δ IPflox} mice respond poorly to *in vivo* challenge to Schistosoma mansoni eggs, which normally induce a Th2 response. These cells also express elevated levels of T-bet

which has been shown to regulate CD8 T cell function. Consistent with that CD8 T cells from CD4CreSHIP Δ IPflox mice that also delete SHIP1 in CD8 T cells were more efficient in a cytotoxicity assay as compared to WT controls (37).

REGULATION OF Tregs AND TH17 CELLS BY SHIP1

SHIP1 has been shown to limit expansion both myeloid and T lymphoid immune-regulatory cell (30, 36, 43-46). Peripheral T cells from SHIP1^{-/-} mice have significantly increased numbers of CD4⁺CD25⁺FoxP3⁺ conventional regulatory T cells (36, 45). They exhibit significantly higher levels of CD103, GITR, OX40, and FcRyII/III, which is associated with their regulatory function (45). SHIP1^{-/-} regulatory T cells are equally suppressive both in vitro and in vivo when compared to SHIP1-competent T regulatory cells (45). In addition to conventional regulatory T cells, SHIP1 deficiency also promotes the accumulation of CD4⁺CD25⁻ iTreg cells that express FoxP3 in the periphery that have suppressive function (45). Although SHIP1 deficiency seems to promote regulatory T cell expansion, the inflammatory environment brought about by SHIP1-deficient myeloid cells may also play a role in Treg cell development. An elegant study by Collazo et al. demonstrated that SHIP1 regulates Treg cell development and iTreg formation in both a T cell intrinsic and extrinsic manner. Both T cell specific deletion of SHIP1 in LckCreSHIP^{flox/flox} or myeloid cell-specific deletion in LysCreSHIP^{flox/flox} mice increased the peripheral pool of CD4⁺CD25⁺FoxP3⁺ regulatory T cells and CD4⁺CD25⁻ iTreg cells expressing FoxP3 (44). These results indicate that SHIP1 exerts both T cell intrinsic and extrinsic control over peripheral Treg cell development and conversion in the periphery. In contrast to this, Tarasenko et al. in the CD4CreSHIP^{∆IPflox} model reported that SHIP1 deletion had no effect on Treg cell development. However, the concern noted above regarding residual expression of a near full-length SHIP1 mutant in SHIP^{ΔIPflox} mice hampers interpretation of this negative finding. Locke et al. also reported T cell-intrinsic function of SHIP1 in iTreg development. They showed that the ability of SHIP1^{-/-} CD4+CD25-CD45RB^{high} T cells to develop into Foxp3⁺ cells *in vitro* in presence of TGFβ alone or in combination with retinoic acid (RA) was much higher compared to WT T cells (47). Interestingly, FoxP3 can enhance the expression of miR-155 by binding to an intron within the DNA sequence of the miR-155 precursor RNA suggesting that FoxP3 could potentially maintain Treg numbers by suppressing SHIP1 expression through induction of miR-155 (48-50). Altogether the above studies suggest a potent role for SHIP1 in T cell-intrinsic control of native Treg development and iTreg formation in the periphery. In contrast to SHIP1's function in limiting Treg numbers, it has been shown to required for Th17 development. SHIP1^{-/-} T cells fail to differentiate into Th17 cells and this deficiency was accompanied by reduced IL-6 mediated phosphorylation STAT3 (47). SHIP1^{-/-} T cells have high basal level of T-bet, a transcription factor known to negatively regulate Th17 differentiation and lower levels of RORyt mRNA, and thus it is likely that the altered T cell differentiation are regulated by SHIP1 via its control of these transcription factors at the molecular level. Table 1 summarizes the function SHIP1 in T cells in different genetic mouse models.

Table 1 T cell phenotypes of inositol	poly-phosphatase mutant mice.
--	-------------------------------

No.	ко	Gene deletion	T cell phenotype	Reference
1	SHIP-/-	Germline SHIP1 deletion	Poor proliferation of T cells Elevated levels of CD69, CD25 on T cells, and reduced levels of CD69L, CD45RB Increased CD4 ⁺ CD25 ⁺ FoxP3 ⁺ Tregs Increased CD4 ⁺ CD25 ⁻ FoxP3 ⁺ iTregs Reduced CD4 ⁺ and CD8 ⁺ T cells in the gut	Helgason et al. (20), Kerr et al. (29), Kashiwada et al. (36), Collazo et al.(45)
2	SHIP-/-DOK1-/-	Germline SHIP1 and DOK1 deletion	Reduced thymocytes Reduced CD+CD8+T cells in thymus Reduced CD8 ⁺ T cells in the spleen Altered CD4:CD8 ratio Increased CD4 ⁺ CD25 ⁺ FoxP3 ⁺ Tregs	Kashiwada et al. (36)
3	CD4CreSHIP ^{f/f}	SHIP1 deletion in T cells	Normal T cell development No defect in T cell activation Reduced levels of TH2 cytokines IL-4, IL-5, and IL-13 CD8 ⁺ T cells are more cytotoxic	Tarasenko et al. (37)
4	LckCreSHIP ^{f/f}	SHIP1 deletion in T cells	Increased CD4 ⁺ CD25 ⁺ FoxP3 ⁺ Tregs Increased CD4 ⁺ CD25 ⁻ FoxP3 ⁺ iTregs	Collazo et al. (44)
5	LysCreSHIP ^{f/f}	SHIP1 deletion in myeloid cells	Increased CD4+CD25+FoxP3+ Tregs Increased CD4+CD25-FoxP3+ iTregs	Collazo et al. (44)
6	PTEN-/+	Heterozygous deletion of PTEN	Increased proliferation of T cells Reduced AICD	Di Cristofano et al. (51)
7	LckCre-PTEN ^{flox/}	PTEN deletion in T cells/heterozygous deletion of PTEN other tissues	CD4 ⁺ T cell lymphoma Defect in thymic negative selection Increased TH1/TH2 cytokines T cells are resistant to apoptosis	Suzuki et al. (22)
8	LckCre-PTEN ^{f/f}	PTEN deletion in T cells	T cells are hyper-responsive to TCR stimulation Refracted to anergy induction Reduced expansion of Tregs Increased TH2 cytokine	Hagenbeek et al.(52), Walsh et al.(53)
9	OX40 ^{cre} PTEN ^{flox}	PTEN deletion in mature CD4 ⁺ T cells	T cells are hyper-proliferative Secrete more cytokine T cells are super-helper with enhanced inflammatory antibacterial and anti-tumor responses	Soond et al. (54)

SHIP1 IN T CELL MIGRATION

PI3K-associated pathways have been implicated in regulation of chemokine signaling and migration of cell toward chemokine gradient (55, 56). In a polarized plasma membrane PI3K accumulates at the leading edge of the migratory cells leading to localized production of PI(3,4,5)P₃ and thereby regulating cell migration. Because SHIP1 regulates levels of PI(3,4,5)P₃ at PI3K signaling complexes it stands to reason that it may then regulate chemotaxis. Nishio et al. demonstrated that SHIP1-deficient neutrophils fail to polarize PI(3,4,5)P₃ at the leading edge of migrating cells resulting in the inefficient migration of neutrophils and reduced polarity in response to chemoattractants (57). In T cells enhanced chemotaxis in response to stromal cell-derived factor-1 (SDF1) has been reported with SHIP1^{-/-} thymocytes and splenic CD4⁺ T cells (58). Consistent with this enforced overexpression of SHIP1 in Jurkat T cells abrogated CXCL12 mediated chemotaxis by this cell line (59). However it was also shown that the chemotaxis of $SHIP1^{-/-}$ lymphocytes with other chemokines was comparable with that of WT lymphocytes indicating that SHIP1 involvement in regulating chemotaxis may be chemokine specific (58). More recently Harris et al. by using a lentivirally expressed SHIP1-specific shRNA in human CD4⁺ T cells showed that although the directional chemotaxis toward CXCL11 was unaffected, the overall basic motility and morphology of T cells was impaired in SHIP1 knockdown (KD) primary human T cells (60). SHIP1 KD T cells exhibited increased actin polymerization and loss of microvilli projection upon stimulation with CXCL11. Formation of microvilli involves phosphorylation of ezrin/radixin/moesin (ERM) proteins and once the cell is activated microvilli are frequently lost due to Rac-mediated dephosphorylation of ERM

proteins (61). SHIP1 seems to negatively regulate Rac activation and/or ERM phosphorylation through a non-catalytic function as pretreatment with the PI3K inhibitor Ly294002 fails to rescue microvilli disassembly (60). However, a partial rescue in ERM phosphorylation by a Rac inhibitor in SHIP1 KD T cells indicates that Rac independent pathways are also involved. Additionally, the PH-domain containing adaptor protein Bam32, that can bind to both PI(3,4,5)P₃ and PI(3,4)P₂, the SHIP1 substrate and product, respectively, is required for Rac1 activation and efficient BCRinduced cell adhesion (62). Thus, it is possible that both SHIP1 catalytic and non-catalytic functions are required for chemotaxis and cytoskeletal rearrangement; however, mechanistic studies in T cell conditional SHIP1 mutants are required to better define specific functions of SHIP1 in regulating these processes in an *in vivo* setting.

SHIP1 IN T CELL APOPTOSIS

The PI3K pathway is largely associated with cellular survival and proliferation as its product PI(3,4,5)P3 is known to activate molecules required for cell survival and proliferation. Because SHIP1 degrades PI(3,4,5)P₃, it is primarily considered a negative regulator of PI3K-mediated cell survival. Indeed, SHIP1 plays a proapoptotic function in myeloid, erythroid, and in some instances B cells (63-66). However, it appears to play an opposite function in T cells. For instance SHIP1 limits Fas-induced apoptosis in human primary T cells ex vivo and a leukemic T cell line (67). Jurkat T cells, which do not express SHIP1 at normal levels are very sensitive to FasL mediated apoptosis; however, when SHIP1 is over-expressed in Jurkat T cells they become resistant to H₂O₂ and FasL mediated apoptosis (67, 68). It is also reported that SHIP1 attenuates FcyRIIB mediated apoptosis in B cells and that the failure to recruit SHIP1 to the receptor results in enhanced apoptosis (69, 70). Importantly SHIP1^{-/-} mice are lymphopenic, and have profound deficiency of both CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T cells in the gut indicating that SHIP1 might be required for T cell survival (20, 29). A selective deficiency of effector T cells at these sites might result in recruitment of myeloid cells, which subsequently leads to the lethal mucosal inflammation in both the lungs and gut of SHIP1^{-/-} mice (23, 29). Interestingly reconstitution of sublethally irradiated SHIP1^{-/-} mice with SHIP1-competent T cell graft protects them from mucosal inflammation and prolongs their survival. Moreover, SHIP1 is required for persistence of mature T cells in the periphery and at mucosal surfaces as $SHIP1^{-/-}$ T cells are impaired for survival when forced to compete with SHIP1^{+/+} T cells for representation in the peripheral T cell pool of either immunocompetent or SCID hosts. Our preliminary studies indicate that SHIP1 mediated protection of T cell death at mucosal surfaces involves Fas-FasL death receptor pathway (42). Unlike myeloid cells in which SHIP1 appears to promote cell death, T cells require SHIP1 for their survival and persistence. A growing body of evidence implicates PI(3,4)P₂, the SHIP1 product, in cell survival as it can more efficiently recruit and activate Akt (71, 72) and protects cancer cells from apoptosis induced by SHIP1 selective (43) and pan-SHIP1/2 inhibitors (73). Consistent with this role of PI(3,4)P2 and SHIP1/2 in promoting cell survival, increased levels of PI(3,4)P2 in INPP4A and INPP4B mutant mice promote cell transformation and tumorigenicity (74, 75). SHIP1 and SHIP2

should not only be considered terminators of PI3K-mediated survival pathway, but paradoxically also facilitators of such survival signaling. With the growing evidence of its anti-apoptotic role in T cells, and in various cancer cells, it is important to understand when and how SHIP1 promotes pro-apoptotic vs. anti-apoptotic signaling. Here both cell types and the involved receptor(s) are likely critical determinants of this positive vs. negative role for SHIP1 and SHIP2 in apoptosis.

SHIP1 AND PHOSPHOINOSITIDE-BINDING PH-DOMAIN CONTAINING ADAPTOR PROTEINS

SHIP1's role as a positive regulator of PI3K signaling pathway can also be attributed to the ability of $PI(3,4)P_2$, the SHIP1 product to mediate recruitment of PH-domain containing adaptor proteins including SKAP adaptors (SKAP55 and SKAP-hom), Bam32 (also known as DAPP1), TAPP1, and TAPP2 (76). These adaptor proteins have differential ability to bind phosphoinositides, $\text{PI}(3,\!4,\!5)\text{P}_3$ vs. $\text{PI}(3,\!4)\text{P}_2$ (Figure 1) and also exhibit differential expression across immune cell types. For instance SKAP55 expression is relatively more restricted to T cells while SKAP-hom is more widely expressed in immune cells. Although Bam32 is restricted to hematopoietic cells, it is more abundant in B cells and expressed in lower levels in T cells, dendritic cells, and macrophages. TAPP proteins are widely expressed in all the tissues; however TAPP2 is more abundant in immune cells (76). TAPP1 and TAPP2 stand out among the adaptor proteins as they can only bind to $PI(3,4)P_2(27,$ 77), while SKAP adaptors and Bam32 can bind to both PI(3,4,5)P₃ vs. $PI(3,4)P_2$ with equal affinity (76). Mice deficient in SKAP55, which predominantly functions in T cells have impaired TCR induced adhesion to integrin ligands suggesting a role of SKAP in PI3K-mediated integrin activation in lymphocytes (78). Bam32 has been implicated in BCR signaling of B cells as Bam32^{-/-} mice have defects in various aspects of B cell activation. Bam32^{-/-} B cells have impaired BCR-induced proliferation and defective Tindependent antibody responses (62). Bam32 has also shown to be required for germinal center progression and antibody affinity maturation (79). Bam32^{-/-} B cells are defective in cell spreading presumably due impaired cytoskeleton rearrangement (76). In T cells Bam32 is required for TCR mediated ERK activation (80, 81). Thus, SHIP1 through hydrolysis of PI(3,4,5)P3 to PI(3,4)P₂ could differentially regulate the recruitment of SKAP and Bam32 adaptors and thereby impact T cell signaling. This question merits further study in SHIP mutant T cells and in the mice mutants for these adaptor proteins.

SHIP1 has been shown to enhance membrane recruitment of TAPP1 and TAPP2, the only adaptor proteins known to exclusively bind PI(3,4)P₂ (82). Recently a knock-in mouse model that express normal endogenous level of mutant TAPP1 and TAPP2 which are incapable of binding to PI(3,4)P₃ has been made to understand their physiological functions (83). Interestingly, the defects observed in the B cells of TAPP KI mice showed remarkable similarities with that of SHIP1^{-/-} mice (84). TAPP KI mice have elevated levels of serum immunoglobulin, autoantibody production, and they show a lupus-like phenotype. Importantly AKT phosphorylation was significantly increased upon BCR cross linking in B cells purified from these mice enhancing their proliferation (84). This indicates that in the absence of TAPP adaptor proteins, the

PI(3,4)P₂ is available to promote AKT recruitment and resulting in increased proliferation and survival, consistent with the proposed positive function of SHIP1 in survival and proliferation (23). The precise role(s) of TAPP as adaptor proteins in T cells is relatively uncharacterized; however, TAPP can bind to PTPL1 which, has been shown to inhibit cytokine-induced TH1/TH2 differentiation (85). Therefore TAPP may potentially play a role in cytokine signaling in T lymphocytes by promoting membrane localization or activity of PTPL1. Although much is known about Bam32 and TAPP's function in B cells, it remains to determine whether there is a physiological function for the adapters proteins that involves T cell signaling.

SHIP1 AND SOLUBLE INOSITOL PHOSPHATE IP4

In addition to hydrolysis of PI(3,4,5)P₃, SHIP1 can also dephosphorylate soluble inositol-1,3,4,5 tetrakisphosphate (IP₄) in vitro (18, 86). IP₄ is generated by phosphorylation of $Ins(1,4,5)P_3$ (IP₃) at its 3-position by IP₃ 3-Kinases (IP₃3K) (Figure 1). Mammals express four IP3Ks; ItpkA/B/C and IPMK (IP multikinase). Lymphocytes predominantly express two Iptks, IptkB, and Iptkc, while IptkC is expressed in many tissues, expression of IptkB is restricted to hematopoietic cells and brain (2, 87). IP4 is required for T cell development as *Itpkb^{-/-}* mice, are severely immunocompromised and lack mature T cells because of a block at the CD4⁺CD8⁺ DP stage due to impaired positive selection in the thymus (88, 89). Interestingly, PLCy mediated DAG-induced ERK activation which is essential for positive selection is profoundly impaired in $Itpkb^{-/-}$ mice (90). IP₄ strongly resembles the phosphate headgroup of PI(3,4,5)P₃ and therefore it can bind to PH-domain containing proteins that also bind to $PI(3,4,5)P_3$ (e.g., ITK, AKT) and perhaps several others (2). In T cells IP4 functions as a second messenger and regulates Itk membrane recruitment and activation upon TCR stimulation and therefore it is essential for full activation of ITK and its effector PLCy (90). At physiological concentrations of IP4 in TCR stimulated T cells it promotes ITK binding to PI(3,4,5)P₃, whereas at high IP4 concentrations it competes with $PI(3,4,5)P_3$ for PH-domain binding (2). Because of the essential role of IP4 in T cell development and function it would be intriguing to know whether IP4 turnover at in primary T cells is regulated by SHIP1 5'phosphatase activity. This might be investigated by determining the measuring IP4 levels in SHIP1-deficient T cells (vs. WT) to provide evidence of negative regulation of IP4 by SHIP1 in vivo. If this appears to be the case, then it would then be interesting to test whether the increased IP4 concentration in SHIP1^{-/-} T cells results in diminished PI(3,4,5)P₃ binding of PH-domain signaling proteins recruited to $PI(3,4,5)P_3$ (e.g., ItK or AKT) to regulate T cell function.

SHIP2

A close homolog of SHIP1 is the ubiquitously expressed 150 kDa protein SHIP2. Unlike SHIP1, whose expression is confined to hematolymphoid cells, osteoblasts (24), and mesenchymal stem cells (91). SHIP2 is expressed broadly in both hematopoietic and non-hematopoietic tissues such as brain, skeletal muscle, heart, liver, and kidney (92, 93). SHIP2 hydrolyzes the 5' phosphate of $PI(3,4,5)P_3$ *in vitro* and *in vivo* and has also been shown to dephosphorylate $PI(4,5)P_2$ *in vitro* (94, 95). Thus, it may not be restricted

to hydrolysis of the 5'PO₄ groups on 3' PO₄-containing polyphosphates, PI(3,4,5)P3 and I(1,3,4,5)P4, like its close homolog SHIP1. SHIP2 is tyrosine phosphorylated upon stimulation with stem cell factor (SCF), interleukin-3 (IL-3), and granulocytemacrophage colony-stimulating factor (GM-CSF), which results in its association with SHC (src homologous and collagen gene). Suggesting that SHIP2, similarly to SHIP1, is linked to downstream signaling events after activation of hematopoietic growth factor receptors. SHIP2 plays a major role in negatively regulating insulin signaling in non-immune cells (93). Bruyns et al. reported that both SHIP1 and SHIP2 are expressed in human T lymphocytes with only SHIP2 protein levels increased after long-term stimulation of the TCR (96). SHIP2 has also been shown to associate with the SH3 domain of Tec kinase and inhibit Tec-mediated TCR signaling (35). However, a physiological role for SHIP2 in T cell biology and function remains to be demonstrated and defined.

In addition to SHIP1 and SHIP2, eight other 5' phosphatases have been reported; OCRL1 (oculocerebrorenal syndrome of Lowe), synaptojanin1, synaptojanin 2, proline rich inositol poly-phosphate 5-phosphatase (PIPP), 72-5ptase/Type IV/Inpp5e, SKIP, INPP5B, and 5-phosphatase1. With the exception of 5-phosphatase1 that hydrolyzes only the soluble inositol phosphates Ins(1,4,5)P₃ and Ins(1,3,4,5)P₄, other phosphatases can dephosphorylate 5-phosphorylated phosphoinositides including PtdIns(4,5)P₂, PtdIns(3,4,5)P₃, PtdIns(3,5)P₂, and soluble inositol phosphates although with variable efficiency (95). Some of these phosphatases are implicated in human diseases, for instance OCRL1 mutations are associated with Lowe's syndrome and Dent 2 disease (95, 97), SKIP and 72-5ptase/Type IV/Inpp5e are implicated in insulin signaling and glucose homeostasis while Synaptogenin1 in mice is required for neuronal function. Overlapping functions for some of the 5'phosphatases have been reported for example OCRL1^{-/-} mice do not develop Lowe's disease since loss of OCRL1 was compensated by a highly homologous protein Inpp5b (98). Thus far no immune phenotype has been reported in any mouse mutant of these other 5' inositol phosphatases. However, further studies are merited to rigorously exclude a specific role in T cell signaling.

PHOSPHATASE AND TENSIN HOMOLOG (PTEN)

Phosphatase and tensin homolog deleted on chromosome 10 was originally identified as a tumor suppressor gene, which negatively regulates cell survival and proliferation and is mutated in several cancers (99, 100). PTEN germline mutations are associated with several hereditary disorders characterized by hamartomas and increased cancer risk such as Cowden syndrome, Bannayan-Riley-Ruvalcaba syndrome, Proteus syndrome, and Proteus-like syndrome, collectively classified as PTEN hamartoma tumor syndrome (PHTS) (101). PTEN predominantly acts as a 3' lipid phosphatase to oppose PI3K signaling by dephosphorylating PI(3,4,5)P₃, a product of PI3K, at its 3' hydroxyl position to yield $PI(4,5)P_2$ (102). Other than its 3' lipid phosphatase activity, PTEN also possess protein phosphatase activity and has been reported to dephosphorylate focal adhesion kinase (FAK) by direct binding (103). Homozygous PTEN^{-/-} knockout mice die early during embryogenesis, precluding analysis of PTEN role in various adult tissues and organs in germline mutant mice. However a wide range of information has been collected from studies using mice heterozygous for PTEN or lacking PTEN in various tissues using Cre-loxP models (21). **Table 1** summarizes the function PTEN in T cells in different genetic mouse models.

Phosphatase and tensin homolog heterozygous mice show high tumor incidence, impaired Fas mediated cell death, and develop autoimmune disorders. T cells from these mice show increased proliferation, reduced activation induced cell death suggesting an important role of PTEN in T cell survival and activation (51). Studies from mice lacking PTEN in T cells revealed an important role for PTEN in T cell development, function, and homeostasis (22). Mice lacking PTEN in T cells (LckCre-PTEN^{flox/-}) die prematurely due to CD4⁺ T cell lymphomas and develop symptoms of autoimmunity like autoantibody production and hypergammaglobulinemia. These mice show defective lineage commitment, altered thymic selection, and impaired peripheral tolerance. T cells from these mice were hyper-proliferative, secreted increased levels of Th1/Th2 cytokines, and were autoreactive. Resistance to apoptosis, increased AKT and ERK phosphorylation, and increased Bcl-X_I expression were observed in these T cells suggesting a vital role PTEN in regulation of T cell survival and apoptosis signaling (22). Hagenbeek et al. further confirmed the role of PTEN in T cell survival and development by analyzing LckCre-PTEN^{flox/flox} mice. They showed that in the absence of PTEN there is a diminished requirement for both IL-7R and pre-TCR signaling in T cell development and proliferation (52). PTEN deficient CD4⁺ T cells show hyper-responsiveness to TCR stimulation without requirement for co-stimulation signals and are refractory to anergy induction. Moreover, PTEN^{-/-} T cells show increased AKT and GSK3B phosphorylation and enhanced IL-2 production upon TCR stimulation. This suggests that by negatively regulating TCR signaling, PTEN sets a threshold for T cell activation and imposes a requirement for co-stimulation and thus regulates T cell anergy (104). PTEN regulates the response of Tregs to IL-2 and plays a negative role in IL-2R signaling in Tregs, which normally do not expand in response to IL-2 alone. However, when Treg cells are deficient in PTEN they can proliferate upon IL-2 stimulation without the requirement for TCR stimulation (53). PTEN deficient CD4 T cells also produce more Th2 cytokines (IL-4, IL-10) in response to TCR stimulation alone or in combination with CD28 suggesting a role of PTEN in regulation Th2 cytokine production (105). Thus PTEN negatively regulates the TCR signaling and the induction of key cytokines. Thus, efficient and sustained TCR signaling and cytokine responses by T cells requires down-modulation of PTEN which occurs following TCR stimulation (106). Further Cbl-b has been shown to regulate down-modulation of PTEN in response to TCR/CD28 stimulation by inhibiting PTEN association with Nedd4, which targets PTEN K13 for K63-linked polyubiquitination suggesting that multiple pathways may regulate PTEN in the context to TCR/CD28 stimulation (107).

Studies from various knockout models showed clearly that PTEN plays an important role as a tumor and autoimmunity suppressor. However, the mechanistic insights into the relationship of these two functions of PTEN in T cells revealed that these two functions of PTEN are distinct, context dependent and are mediated in T cells at different developmental stages. By using mice with deletion of PTEN in T cells (CD4CrePten^{fl/fl}), Liu et al. demonstrated that T cell lymphomas arise in the thymus whereas autoimmunity was mediated by mature peripheral T cells (108). Subsequently Soond et al. studied the role of PTEN in mature CD4 T_H cells by using OX40CrePten^{flox} mice. Contrary to models of thymocyte-specific PTEN deletion OX40CrePten^{flox} mice did not develop lymphomas and autoimmunity even at an advanced age suggesting that PTEN does not act as a tumor suppressor or repressor of autoimmunity in mature T cells. In fact, PTEN deficient CD4 T_H cells produced increased concentrations of cytokines and were hyper-proliferative. The authors postulated that enhanced cytokine production turned PTEN deficient T_H cells into "super-helpers" as enhanced inflammatory, antibacterial, and anti-tumor responses were observed in OX40^{cre}Pten^{flox} mice (54). Thus contrary to the prevalent view PTEN does not essentially always function as a tumor suppressor or immune-suppressor and can also, like SHIP1, have varied functions depending on cell type, developmental stage of cell, and biological context. This was further confirmed by a recent study by Locke et al. by employing a model where PTEN is deleted in post-thymic T cells. They observed enhanced cytokine production, proliferation, and activation of post-thymic PTEN deleted T cells. As observed earlier, these effects were associated with increased AKT activity. However, CD28 independence and anergy resistance were not observed (109). Enhanced cytokine production, antibacterial, and anti-tumor responses of PTEN deficient T cells argue that therapeutic strategies targeting pharmacological inhibition of PTEN may prove attractive in immunotherapeutic strategies that require enhanced T effector function. Recently small molecule inhibitors of PTEN has been identified and used in vivo without causing prominent toxicity (110, 111). However, further studies are required to assess the role of these inhibitors on T cell effector and regulatory functions before considering their use in immunotherapeutic approaches.

INOSITOL POLY-PHOSPHATE 4-PHOSPHATASE (INPP4)

Inositol poly-phosphate 4-phosphatases are a class of enzymes that has two isoforms INPP4A and INPP4B, that selectively remove the phosphate group at position 4 on the inositol ring to convert $PI(3,4)P_2$ to PI(3)P (112). In contrast to INPP4A, which is predominantly expressed in brain, INPP4B is highly expressed in skeletal muscle, heart, brain, and pancreas, epithelial cells of the breast, and prostate glands (113). INPP4A has been shown to regulate neuroexcitatory cell death whereas INPP4B has emerged as potent tumor suppressor in breast cancer (114, 115). The function of the INPP4A and INPP4B phosphatases in immune cells has not been investigated, although a prominent role for INPP4B in myeloid-derived osteoclast function and bone remodeling has been shown (116). Thus, further investigation of these 4'-phosphatases appears merited and particularly in cell types and immune contexts where SHIP1 has a positive signaling role (e.g., T cell survival the gut). Function of inositol phosphatases in T cells is summarized is Figure 2.

CONCLUDING REMARKS

Consistent with studies implicating class I PI3K in T cell biology, the inositol phosphatases, SHIP1 and PTEN, have been documented to be important regulators of PI3K signaling pathway in T cells. Although SHIP1 and PTEN by dephosphorylating the PI(3,4,5)P₃ negatively regulate PI3K signaling, their *in vivo*


PI3K is activated and recruited to the membrane through its SH2 domain where it phosphorylates its substrate $PI(4,5)P_2$ converting it to $PI(3,4,5)P_3$. $PI(3,4,5)P_3$ is bound by PH-domain containing proteins such as AKT, PDK1, BTK, ITK, Vav, and PLC γ triggering secondary signaling cascades and thus T cell activation, proliferation, survival, and cytokine production. PI3K signaling is tightly regulated by inositol phosphatases. $PI(3,4,5)P_3$ is a substrate for three inositol phosphatases, SHIP1/2 and PTEN which hydrolyze $PI(3,4,5)P_3$ to

functions in this signaling pathway, as reveled by genetic analysis, diverge significantly. SHIP1 appears to be required for the survival of T cells *in vivo*, and particularly in the lamina propria, while PTEN inhibits T cell proliferation and prevents from lymphoproliferative syndromes. Therefore these phosphatases at the cellular level provide a fine balance of PI3K signaling necessary for the proper activation and development of T cells in order to avoid immunopathology. As SHIP1 deficiency has been shown to promote T cell apoptosis there is a significant potential for SHIP1 inhibitors, which have already shown promising results in cancer (43, 73), to be used to target autoreactive T cells in IBD conditions. Although PTEN has been shown to regulate CD4 T cell function and tolerance little is known about its role in other T cell subtypes. Further studies are therefore required to dissect PTEN signaling in T cells before therapeutic application of

 $\begin{array}{l} {\sf PI}(3,4,){\sf P}_2 \text{ and }{\sf PI}(4,5){\sf P}_2, \text{ respectively. By limiting the cellular pool of the}\\ {\sf second messenger }{\sf PI}(3,4,5){\sf P}_3, {\sf PTEN} \text{ and }{\sf SHIP} \text{ play important functions in T}\\ {\sf cell development, proliferation, and activation. The SHIP1 product }{\sf PI}(3,4){\sf P}_2\\ {\sf which can also recruit and activate }{\sf AKT} \text{ is dephosphorylated by INPP4.}\\ {\sf However the role of these 4-phosphatases in T cell biology has yet to be}\\ {\sf determined. }{\sf AKT, Protein Kinase B; PDK1, phosphoinositide-dependent}\\ {\sf kinase-1, PLC\gamma phospholipase }{\sf C\gamma; ITK, IL-2-inducible T cell kinase} \text{ and } {\sf BTK,}\\ {\sf Bruton agammaglobulinemia tyrosine kinase.} \end{array}$

PTEN inhibitors in immunotherapy for cancer could be considered. In addition, the role of other lipid phosphatases SHIP2 and INNP4, which regulate the cellular pools of PtdIns $(3,4,5)P_3$ and PI $(3,4)P_2$, respectively, merit examination *in vivo* in the coming years using sophisticated genetic models that enable conditional and/or inducible ablation of their expression in specific T cell populations.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

This work was supported in part by grants from the NIH (RO1 HL72523, R01 HL085580, R01 HL107127) and the Paige Arnold Butterfly Run. William Garrow Kerr is the Murphy Family Professor of Children's Oncology Research, an Empire Scholar of the State University of NY and a Senior Scholar of the Crohn's and Colitis Foundation.

REFERENCES

- Fayard E, Moncayo G, Hemmings BA, Hollander GA. Phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase signaling in thymocytes: the need for stringent control. *Sci Signal* (2010) 3:re5. doi:10.1126/scisignal.3135re5
- Huang YH, Sauer K. Lipid signaling in T-cell development and function. *Cold Spring Harb Perspect Biol* (2010) 2:a002428. doi:10. 1101/cshperspect.a002428
- Okkenhaug K, Vanhaesebroeck B. PI3K in lymphocyte development, differentiation and activation. Nat Rev Immunol (2003) 3:317–30. doi:10.1038/nr11056
- 4. So L, Fruman DA. PI3K signalling in B- and Tlymphocytes: new developments and therapeutic advances. *Biochem J* (2012) 442:465–81. doi:10.1042/BJ20112092
- Lemmon MA. Membrane recognition by phospholipid-binding domains. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol (2008) 9:99–111. doi:10.1038/ nrm2328
- 6. Fayard E, Xue G, Parcellier A, Bozulic L, Hemmings BA. Protein kinase B (PKB/Akt), a key mediator of the PI3K signaling pathway. *Curr Top Microbiol Immunol* (2010) **346**:31–56. doi: 10.1007/82_2010_58
- Fruman DA. Phosphoinositide 3kinase and its targets in B-cell and T-cell signaling. *Curr Opin Immunol* (2004) 16:314–20. doi: 10.1016/j.coi.2004.03.014
- Janas ML, Varano G, Gudmundsson K, Noda M, Nagasawa T, Turner M. Thymic development beyond beta-selection requires phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase activation by CXCR4. J Exp Med (2010) 207:247–61. doi:10.1084/ jem.20091430
- 9. Ji H, Rintelen F, Waltzinger C, Bertschy Meier D, Bilancio A, Pearce W, et al. Inactivation of PI3Kgamma and PI3Kdelta distorts T-cell development and causes multiple organ inflammation. *Blood* (2007) **110**:2940–7. doi:10.1182/blood-2007-04-086751
- Shiroki F, Matsuda S, Doi T, Fujiwara M, Mochizuki Y, Kadowaki T, et al. The p85alpha regulatory subunit of class IA phosphoinositide 3-kinase regulates beta-selection in thymocyte development. *J Immunol* (2007) 178:1349–56.
- 11. Swat W, Montgrain V, Doggett TA, Douangpanya J, Puri K, Vermi W, et al. Essential role of PI3Kdelta

and PI3Kgamma in thymocyte survival. *Blood* (2006) **107**:2415–22. doi:10.1182/blood-2005-08-3300

- 12. Webb LM, Vigorito E, Wymann MP, Hirsch E, Turner M. Cutting edge: T cell development requires the combined activities of the p110gamma and p110delta catalytic isoforms of phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase. *J Immunol* (2005) **175**:2783–7.
- Okkenhaug K, Patton DT, Bilancio A, Garcon F, Rowan WC, Vanhaesebroeck B. The p110delta isoform of phosphoinositide 3-kinase controls clonal expansion and differentiation of Th cells. *J Immunol* (2006) 177:5122–8.
- 14. Patton DT, Garden OA, Pearce WP, Clough LE, Monk CR, Leung E, et al. Cutting edge: the phosphoinositide 3-kinase p110 delta is critical for the function of CD4+CD25+Foxp3+ regulatory T cells. *J Immunol* (2006) 177:6598–602.
- Patton DT, Wilson MD, Rowan WC, Soond DR, Okkenhaug K. The PI3K p110delta regulates expression of CD38 on regulatory T cells. *PLoS One* (2011) 6:e17359. doi:10. 1371/journal.pone.0017359
- Deane JA, Kharas MG, Oak JS, Stiles LN, Luo J, Moore TI, et al. T-cell function is partially maintained in the absence of class IA phosphoinositide 3kinase signaling. *Blood* (2007) 109:2894–902.
- 17. Oak JS, Deane JA, Kharas MG, Luo J, Lane TE, Cantley LC, et al. Sjogren's syndrome-like disease in mice with T cells lacking class 1A phosphoinositide-3kinase. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A (2006) 103:16882–7. doi:10.1073/ pnas.0607984103
- Damen JE, Liu L, Rosten P, Humphries RK, Jefferson AB, Majerus PW, et al. The 145-kDa protein induced to associate with Shc by multiple cytokines is an inositol tetraphosphate and phosphatidylinositol 3,4,5-triphosphate 5phosphatase. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (1996) **93**:1689–93. doi:10.1073/pnas.93.4.1689
- Di Cristofano A, Pesce B, Cordon-Cardo C, Pandolfi PP. Pten is essential for embryonic development and tumour suppression. *Nat Genet* (1998) 19:348–55. doi: 10.1038/1235
- Helgason CD, Damen JE, Rosten P, Grewal R, Sorensen P, Chappel SM, et al. Targeted disruption of SHIP leads to hemopoietic

perturbations, lung pathology, and a shortened life span. *Genes Dev* (1998) **12**:1610–20.

- 21. Suzuki A, Nakano T, Mak TW, Sasaki T. Portrait of PTEN: messages from mutant mice. *Cancer Sci* (2008) **99**:209–13. doi:10.1111/ j.1349-7006.2007.00670.x
- 22. Suzuki A, Yamaguchi MT, Ohteki T, Sasaki T, Kaisho T, Kimura Y, et al. T cell-specific loss of Pten leads to defects in central and peripheral tolerance. *Immunity* (2001) **14**:523–34. doi:10. 1016/S1074-7613(01)00134-0
- 23. Kerr WG. Inhibitor and activator: dual functions for SHIP in immunity and cancer. *Ann N Y Acad Sci* (2011) **1217**:1–17. doi:10.1111/ j.1749-6632.2010.05869.x
- 24. Hazen AL, Smith MJ, Desponts C, Winter O, Moser K, Kerr WG. SHIP is required for a functional hematopoietic stem cell niche. *Blood* (2009) 113:2924–33. doi:10. 1182/blood-2008-02-138008
- 25. Osborne MA, Zenner G, Lubinus M, Zhang X, Songyang Z, Cantley LC, et al. The inositol 5'-phosphatase SHIP binds to immunoreceptor signaling motifs and responds to high affinity IgE receptor aggregation. J Biol Chem (1996) 271:29271–8. doi:10.1074/ jbc.271.46.29271
- 26. Pesesse X, Backers K, Moreau C, Zhang J, Blero D, Paternotte N, et al. SHIP1/2 interaction with tyrosine phosphorylated peptides mimicking an immunoreceptor signalling motif. *Adv Enzyme Regul* (2006) **46**:142–53. doi:10.1016/j. advenzreg.2006.01.013
- Dowler S, Currie RA, Campbell DG, Deak M, Kular G, Downes CP, et al. Identification of pleckstrin-homology-domain-containing proteins with novel phosphoinositide-binding specificities. *Biochem J* (2000) 351:19–31. doi:10.1042/0264-6021:3510019
- Lemmon MA, Ferguson KM. Signal-dependent membrane targeting by pleckstrin homology (PH) domains. *Biochem J* (2000) **350**(Pt 1):1–18. doi:10.1042/0264-6021:3500001
- Kerr WG, Park MY, Maubert M, Engelman RW. SHIP deficiency causes Crohn's disease-like ileitis. *Gut* (2011) 60:177–88. doi:10. 1136/gut.2009.202283
- 30. Ghansah T, Paraiso KH, Highfill S, Desponts C, May S, McIntosh JK, et al. Expansion of myeloid suppressor cells in SHIPdeficient mice represses allogeneic

T cell responses. *J Immunol* (2004) **173**:7324–30.

- 31. Edmunds C, Parry RV, Burgess SJ, Reaves B, Ward SG. CD28 stimulates tyrosine phosphorylation, cellular redistribution and catalytic activity of the inositol lipid 5-phosphatase SHIP. Eur J Immunol (1999) 29:3507–15. doi:10.1002/(SICI) 1521-4141(199911)29:11<3507: :AID-IMMU3507>3.0.CO;2-9
- 32. Dong S, Corre B, Foulon E, Dufour E, Veillette A, Acuto O, et al. T cell receptor for antigen induces linker for activation of T celldependent activation of a negative signaling complex involving Dok-2, SHIP-1, and Grb-2. J Exp Med (2006) 203:2509–18. doi:10.1084/ jem.20060650
- 33. Waterman PM, Marschner S, Brandl E, Cambier JC. The inositol 5-phosphatase SHIP-1 and adaptors Dok-1 and 2 play central roles in CD4-mediated inhibitory signaling. *Immunol Lett* (2012) 143:122–30. doi:10.1016/j. imlet.2012.02.009
- 34. Scharenberg AM, El-Hillal O, Fruman DA, Beitz LO, Li Z, Lin S, et al. Phosphatidylinositol-3,4,5-trisphosphate (PtdIns-3,4,5-P3)/Tec kinase-dependent calcium signaling pathway: a target for SHIP-mediated inhibitory signals. *EMBO J* (1998) 17:1961–72. doi: 10.1093/emboj/17.7.1961
- 35. Tomlinson MG, Heath VL, Turck CW, Watson SP, Weiss A. SHIP family inositol phosphatases interact with and negatively regulate the Tec tyrosine kinase. J Biol Chem (2004) 279:55089–96. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M408141200
- 36. Kashiwada M, Cattoretti G, McKeag L, Rouse T, Showalter BM, Al-Alem U, et al. Downstream of tyrosine kinases-1 and Src homology 2-containing inositol 5'-phosphatase are required for regulation of CD4+CD25+ T cell development. J Immunol (2006) 176:3958–65.
- 37. Tarasenko T, Kole HK, Chi AW, Mentink-Kane MM, Wynn TA, Bolland S. T cell-specific deletion of the inositol phosphatase SHIP reveals its role in regulating Th1/Th2 and cytotoxic responses. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2007) 104:11382–7. doi:10.1073/ pnas.0704853104
- Leung WH, Tarasenko T, Bolland S. Differential roles for the inositol phosphatase SHIP in the regulation of macrophages and lymphocytes. *Immunol Res*

(2009) **43:**243–51. doi:10.1007/ s12026-008-8078-1

- 39. Maxwell MJ, Duan M, Armes JE, Anderson GP, Tarlinton DM, Hibbs ML. Genetic segregation of inflammatory lung disease and autoimmune disease severity in SHIP-1-/- mice. J Immunol (2011) 186:7164–75. doi:10.4049/ jimmunol.1004185
- 40. Peng Q, Malhotra S, Torchia JA, Kerr WG, Coggeshall KM, Humphrey MB. TREM2- and DAP12-dependent activation of PI3K requires DAP10 and is inhibited by SHIP1. Sci Signal (2010) 3:ra38. doi:10.1126/ scisignal.2000500
- 41. Wahle JA, Paraiso KH, Kendig RD, Lawrence HR, Chen L, Wu J, et al. Inappropriate recruitment and activity by the Src homology region 2 domain-containing phosphatase 1 (SHP1) is responsible for receptor dominance in the SHIP-deficient NK cell. *J Immunol* (2007) **179**:8009–15.
- 42. Fernandes S, Iyer S, Kerr WG. Role of SHIP1 in cancer and mucosal inflammation. *Ann N Y Acad Sci* (2013) **1280**:6–10. doi:10. 1111/nyas.12038
- 43. Brooks R, Fuhler GM, Iyer S, Smith MJ, Park MY, Paraiso KH, et al. SHIP1 inhibition increases immunoregulatory capacity and triggers apoptosis of hematopoietic cancer cells. J Immunol (2010) 184:3582–9. doi:10.4049/ jimmunol.0902844
- 44. Collazo MM, Paraiso KH, Park MY, Hazen AL, Kerr WG. Lineage extrinsic and intrinsic control of immunoregulatory cell numbers by SHIP. Eur J Immunol (2012) 42:1785–95. doi:10.1002/ eji.201142092
- 45. Collazo MM, Wood D, Paraiso KH, Lund E, Engelman RW, Le CT, et al. SHIP limits immunoregulatory capacity in the T-cell compartment. *Blood* (2009) **113**:2934–44. doi:10.1182/blood-2008-09-181164
- 46. Paraiso KH, Ghansah T, Costello A, Engelman RW, Kerr WG. Induced SHIP deficiency expands myeloid regulatory cells and abrogates graft-versus-host disease. J Immunol (2007) 178:2893–900.
- 47. Locke NR, Patterson SJ, Hamilton MJ, Sly LM, Krystal G, Levings MK. SHIP regulates the reciprocal development of T regulatory and Th17 cells. *J Immunol* (2009) 183:975–83. doi:10.4049/ jimmunol.0803749

- 48. O'Connell RM, Chaudhuri AA, Rao DS, Baltimore D. Inositol phosphatase SHIP1 is a primary target of miR-155. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2009) **106**:7113–8. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0902636106
- 49. Marson A, Kretschmer K, Frampton GM, Jacobsen ES, Polansky JK, MacIsaac KD, et al. Foxp3 occupancy and regulation of key target genes during T-cell stimulation. *Nature* (2007) **445**:931–5. doi:10. 1038/nature05478
- 50. Zheng Y, Josefowicz SZ, Kas A, Chu TT, Gavin MA, Rudensky AY. Genome-wide analysis of Foxp3 target genes in developing and mature regulatory T cells. *Nature* (2007) 445:936–40. doi:10.1038/ nature05563
- 51. Di Cristofano A, Kotsi P, Peng YF, Cordon-Cardo C, Elkon KB, Pandolfi PP. Impaired Fas response and autoimmunity in Pten± mice. *Science* (1999) 285:2122–5. doi:10. 1126/science.285.5436.2122
- Hagenbeek TJ, Naspetti M, Malergue F, Garcon F, Nunes JA, Cleutjens KB, et al. The loss of PTEN allows TCR alphabeta lineage thymocytes to bypass IL-7 and Pre-TCR-mediated signaling. J Exp Med (2004) 200:883–94. doi:10. 1084/jem.20040495
- Walsh PT, Buckler JL, Zhang J, Gelman AE, Dalton NM, Taylor DK, et al. PTEN inhibits IL-2 receptor-mediated expansion of CD4+ CD25+ Tregs. J Clin Invest (2006) 116:2521-31.
- 54. Soond DR, Garcon F, Patton DT, Rolf J, Turner M, Scudamore C, et al. Pten loss in CD4 T cells enhances their helper function but does not lead to autoimmunity or lymphoma. J Immunol (2012) 188:5935–43. doi:10.4049/ jimmunol.1102116
- 55. Afonso PV, Parent CA. PI3K and chemotaxis: a priming issue? *Sci Signal* (2011) **4**:e22. doi:10.1126/ scisignal.2002019
- Ward SG. Do phosphoinositide 3-kinases direct lymphocyte navigation? *Trends Immunol* (2004) 25:67–74. doi:10.1016/j.it.2003.12. 003
- 57. Nishio M, Watanabe K, Sasaki J, Taya C, Takasuga S, Iizuka R, et al. Control of cell polarity and motility by the PtdIns(3,4,5)P3 phosphatase SHIP1. Nat Cell Biol (2007) 9:36–44. doi:10.1038/ ncb1515
- 58. Kim CH, Hangoc G, Cooper S, Helgason CD, Yew S, Humphries RK, et al. Altered responsiveness to chemokines due to targeted

disruption of SHIP. *J Clin Invest* (1999) **104**:1751–9. doi:10.1172/ JCI7310

- Wain CM, Westwick J, Ward SG. Heterologous regulation of chemokine receptor signaling by the lipid phosphatase SHIP in lymphocytes. *Cell Signal* (2005) 17:1194–202. doi:10.1016/j.cellsig. 2004.12.009
- 60. Harris SJ, Parry RV, Foster JG, Blunt MD, Wang A, Marelli-Berg F, et al. Evidence that the lipid phosphatase SHIP-1 regulates T lymphocyte morphology and motility. *J Immunol* (2011) 186:4936–45. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1002350
- Nijhara R, van Hennik PB, Gignac ML, Kruhlak MJ, Hordijk PL, Delon J, et al. Rac1 mediates collapse of microvilli on chemokine-activated T lymphocytes. *J Immunol* (2004) 173:4985–93.
- 62. Al-Alwan M, Hou S, Zhang TT, Makondo K, Marshall AJ. Bam32/DAPP1 promotes B cell adhesion and formation of polarized conjugates with T cells. J Immunol (2010) 184:6961–9. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.0904176
- Boer AK, Drayer AL, Vellenga E. Effects of overexpression of the SH2-containing inositol phosphatase SHIP on proliferation and apoptosis of erythroid AS-E2 cells. *Leukemia* (2001) 15:1750–7. doi: 10.1038/sj.leu.2402261
- 64. Brauweiler A, Tamir I, Dal Porto J, Benschop RJ, Helgason CD, Humphries RK, et al. Differential regulation of B cell development, activation, and death by the src homology 2 domain-containing 5' inositol phosphatase (SHIP). J Exp Med (2000) **191**:1545–54. doi:10. 1084/jem.191.9.1545
- 65. Gardai S, Whitlock BB, Helgason C, Ambruso D, Fadok V, Bratton D, et al. Activation of SHIP by NADPH oxidase-stimulated Lyn leads to enhanced apoptosis in neutrophils. J Biol Chem (2002) 277:5236–46. doi:10.1074/ jbc.M110005200
- 66. Valderrama-Carvajal H, Cocolakis E, Lacerte A, Lee EH, Krystal G, Ali S, et al. Activin/TGFbeta induce apoptosis through Smad-dependent expression of the lipid phosphatase SHIP. *Nat Cell Biol* (2002) **4**:963–9. doi:10.1038/ ncb885
- 67. Charlier E, Conde C, Zhang J, Deneubourg L, Di Valentin E, Rahmouni S, et al. SHIP-1 inhibits CD95/APO-1/Fas-induced apoptosis in primary T lymphocytes

and T leukemic cells by promoting CD95 glycosylation independently of its phosphatase activity. *Leukemia* (2010) **24**:821–32. doi: 10.1038/leu.2010.9

- 68. Gloire G, Charlier E, Rahmouni S, Volanti C, Chariot A, Erneux C, et al. Restoration of SHIP-1 activity in human leukemic cells modifies NF-kappaB activation pathway and cellular survival upon oxidative stress. *Oncogene* (2006) 25:5485–94. doi:10.1038/sj. onc.1209542
- 69. Ono M, Okada H, Bolland S, Yanagi S, Kurosaki T, Ravetch JV. Deletion of SHIP or SHP-1 reveals two distinct pathways for inhibitory signaling. *Cell* (1997) **90**:293–301. doi:10.1016/ S0092-8674(00)80337-2
- Pearse RN, Kawabe T, Bolland S, Guinamard R, Kurosaki T, Ravetch JV. SHIP recruitment attenuates Fc gamma RIIB-induced B cell apoptosis. *Immunity* (1999) 10:753–60. doi:10.1016/S1074-7613(00)80074-6
- 71. Franke TF, Kaplan DR, Cantley LC, Toker A. Direct regulation of the Akt proto-oncogene product by phosphatidylinositol-3,4-bisphosphate [see comments]. *Science* (1997) 275:665–8. doi:10.1126/science. 275.5300.665
- 72. Ma K, Cheung SM, Marshall AJ, Duronio V. PI(3,4,5)P3 and PI(3,4)P2 levels correlate with PKB/akt phosphorylation at Thr308 and Ser473, respectively; PI(3,4)P2 levels determine PKB activity. *Cell Signal* (2008) 20:684–94. doi:10.1016/j.cellsig.2007.12.004
- 73. Fuhler GM, Brooks R, Toms B, Iyer S, Gengo EA, Park MY, et al. Therapeutic potential of SH2 domain-containing inositol-5'-phosphatase 1 (SHIP1) and SHIP2 inhibition in cancer. *Mol Med* (2012) 18:65–75. doi:10. 2119/molmed.2011.00178
- 74. Gewinner C, Wang ZC, Richardson A, Teruya-Feldstein J, Etemad-moghadam D, Bowtell D, et al. Evidence that inositol polyphosphate 4-phosphatase type II is a tumor suppressor that inhibits PI3K signaling. *Cancer Cell* (2009) 16:115–25. doi:10.1016/j.ccr.2009. 06.006
- 75. Ivetac I, Gurung R, Hakim S, Horan KA, Sheffield DA, Binge LC, et al. Regulation of PI(3)K/Akt signalling and cellular transformation by inositol polyphosphate 4-phosphatase-1. EMBO Rep

(2009) **10**:487–93. doi:10.1038/ embor.2009.28

- 76. Zhang TT, Li H, Cheung SM, Costantini JL, Hou S, Al-Alwan M, et al. Phosphoinositide 3kinase-regulated adapters in lymphocyte activation. *Immunol Rev* (2009) 232:255–72. doi:10.1111/j. 1600-065X.2009.00838.x
- 77. Marshall AJ, Krahn AK, Ma K, Duronio V, Hou S. TAPP1 and TAPP2 are targets of phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase signaling in B cells: sustained plasma membrane recruitment triggered by the B-cell antigen receptor. *Mol Cell Biol* (2002) 22:5479–91. doi:10. 1128/MCB.22.15.5479-5491.2002
- 78. Kliche S, Breitling D, Togni M, Pusch R, Heuer K, Wang X, et al. The ADAP/SKAP55 signaling module regulates T-cell receptor-mediated integrin activation through plasma membrane targeting of Rap1. *Mol Cell Biol* (2006) 26:7130–44. doi:10.1128/ MCB.00331-06
- 79. Zhang TT, Al-Alwan M, Marshall AJ. The pleckstrin homology domain adaptor protein Bam32/DAPP1 is required for germinal center progression. J Immunol (2010) 184:164–72. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.0902505
- Rouquette-Jazdanian AK, Sommers CL, Kortum RL, Morrison DK, Samelson LE. LAT-independent Erk activation via Bam32-PLC-gamma1-Pak1 complexes: GTPase-independent Pak1 activation. *Mol Cell* (2012) 48:298–312. doi:10.1016/j.molcel.2012.08.011
- Sommers CL, Gurson JM, Surana R, Barda-Saad M, Lee J, Kishor A, et al. Bam32: a novel mediator of Erk activation in T cells. *Int Immunol* (2008) 20:811–8. doi:10. 1093/intimm/dxn039
- 82. Krahn AK, Ma K, Hou S, Duronio V, Marshall AJ. Two distinct waves of membrane-proximal B cell antigen receptor signaling differentially regulated by Src homology 2containing inositol polyphosphate 5-phosphatase. J Immunol (2004) 172:331–9.
- Wullschleger S, Wasserman DH, Gray A, Sakamoto K, Alessi DR. Role of TAPP1 and TAPP2 adaptor binding to PtdIns(3,4)P2 in regulating insulin sensitivity defined by knock-in analysis. *Biochem J* (2011) 434:265–74. doi:10.1042/ BJ20102012
- Landego I, Jayachandran N, Wullschleger S, Zhang TT, Gibson IW, Miller A, et al.

Interaction of TAPP adapter proteins with phosphatidylinositol (3,4)-bisphosphate regulates B-cell activation and autoantibody production. *Eur J Immunol* (2012) **42**:2760–70. doi:10.1002/eji.201242371

- 85. Kimber WA, Deak M, Prescott AR, Alessi DR. Interaction of the protein tyrosine phosphatase PTPL1 with the PtdIns(3,4)P2-binding adaptor protein TAPP1. *Biochem J* (2003) **376**:525–35. doi:10.1042/ BJ20031154
- Lioubin MN, Algate PA, Tsai S, Carlberg K, Aebersold A, Rohrschneider LR. p150Ship, a signal transduction molecule with inositol polyphosphate-5-phosphatase activity. *Genes Dev* (1996) 10:1084–95. doi:10.1101/gad.10.9.1084
- Sauer K, Cooke MP. Regulation of immune cell development through soluble inositol-1,3,4,5-tetrakisphosphate. *Nat Rev Immunol* (2010) 10:257–71. doi: 10.1038/nri2745
- Pouillon V, Hascakova-Bartova R, Pajak B, Adam E, Bex F, Dewaste V, et al. Inositol 1,3,4,5tetrakisphosphate is essential for T lymphocyte development. *Nat Immunol* (2003) 4:1136–43. doi: 10.1038/ni980
- 89. Wen BG, Pletcher MT, Warashina M, Choe SH, Ziaee N, Wiltshire T, et al. Inositol (1,4,5) trisphosphate 3 kinase B controls positive selection of T cells and modulates Erk activity. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2004) **101**:5604–9. doi:10.1073/ pnas.0306907101
- 90. Huang YH, Grasis JA, Miller AT, Xu R, Soonthornvacharin S, Andreotti AH, et al. Positive regulation of Itk PH domain function by soluble IP4. *Science* (2007) **316**:886–9. doi:10.1126/science.1138684
- 91. Iyer S, Margulies BS, Kerr WG. Role of SHIP1 in bone biology. Ann N Y Acad Sci (2013) 1280:11–4. doi:10.1111/nyas.12091
- 92. Muraille E, Pesesse X, Kuntz C, Erneux C. Distribution of the srchomology-2-domain-containing inositol 5-phosphatase SHIP-2 in both non-haemopoietic and haemopoietic cells and possible involvement of SHIP-2 in negative signalling of B-cells. *Biochem* J (1999) **342**(Pt 3):697–705. doi:10.1042/0264-6021:3420697
- Wisniewski D, Strife A, Swendeman S, Erdjument-Bromage H, Geromanos S, Kavanaugh WM, et al. A novel SH2containing phosphatidylinositol

3,4,5-trisphosphate 5-phosphatase (SHIP2) is constitutively tyrosine phosphorylated and associated with src homologous and collagen gene (SHC) in chronic myelogenous leukemia progenitor cells. *Blood* (1999) **93**:2707–20.

- 94. Nakatsu F, Perera RM, Lucast L, Zoncu R, Domin J, Gertler FB, et al. The inositol 5-phosphatase SHIP2 regulates endocytic clathrin-coated pit dynamics. *J Cell Biol* (2010) **190**:307–15. doi:10.1083/jcb.201005018
- 95. Ooms LM, Horan KA, Rahman P, Seaton G, Gurung R, Kethesparan DS, et al. The role of the inositol polyphosphate 5-phosphatases in cellular function and human disease. *Biochem J* (2009) **419**:29–49. doi:10.1042/BJ20081673
- 96. Bruyns C, Pesesse X, Moreau C, Blero D, Erneux C. The two SH2-domain-containing inositol 5-phosphatases SHIP1 and SHIP2 are coexpressed in human T lymphocytes. *Biol Chem* (1999) 380:969–74. doi:10.1515/BC.1999. 120
- 97. Attree O, Olivos IM, Okabe I, Bailey LC, Nelson DL, Lewis RA, et al. The Lowe's oculocerebrorenal syndrome gene encodes a protein highly homologous to inositol polyphosphate-5-phosphatase. *Nature* (1992) **358**:239–42. doi:10. 1038/358239a0
- 98. Janne PA, Suchy SF, Bernard D, MacDonald M, Crawley J, Grinberg A, et al. Functional overlap between murine Inpp5b and Ocrl1 may explain why deficiency of the murine ortholog for OCRL1 does not cause Lowe syndrome in mice. *J Clin Invest* (1998) **101**:2042–53. doi:10.1172/JCI2414
- 99. Li J, Yen C, Liaw D, Podsypanina K, Bose S, Wang SI, et al. PTEN, a putative protein tyrosine phosphatase gene mutated in human brain, breast, and prostate cancer. *Science* (1997) **275**:1943–7. doi:10. 1126/science.275.5308.1943
- 100. Steck PA, Pershouse MA, Jasser SA, Yung WK, Lin H, Ligon AH, et al. Identification of a candidate tumour suppressor gene, MMAC1, at chromosome 10q23.3 that is mutated in multiple advanced cancers. *Nat Genet* (1997) 15:356–62. doi:10.1038/ng0497-356
- 101. Hobert JA, Eng C. PTEN hamartoma tumor syndrome: an overview. *Genet Med* (2009)
 11:687–94. doi:10.1097/GIM. 0b013e3181ac9aea
- 102. Maehama T, Dixon JE. The tumor suppressor, PTEN/MMAC1,

dephosphorylates the lipid second messenger, phosphatidylinositol 3,4,5-trisphosphate. *J Biol Chem* (1998) **273**:13375–8. doi:10.1074/jbc.273.22.13375

- 103. Tamura M, Gu J, Danen EH, Takino T, Miyamoto S, Yamada KM. PTEN interactions with focal adhesion kinase and suppression of the extracellular matrixdependent phosphatidylinositol 3kinase/Akt cell survival pathway. J Biol Chem (1999) 274:20693–703. doi:10.1074/jbc.274.29.20693
- 104. Buckler JL, Walsh PT, Porrett PM, Choi Y, Turka LA. Cutting edge: T cell requirement for CD28 costimulation is due to negative regulation of TCR signals by PTEN. J Immunol (2006) 177:4262–6.
- 105. Buckler JL, Liu X, Turka LA. Regulation of T-cell responses by PTEN. *Immunol Rev* (2008) 224:239–48. doi:10.1111/j.1600-065X.2008.00650.x
- 106. Bensinger SJ, Walsh PT, Zhang J, Carroll M, Parsons R, Rathmell JC, et al. Distinct IL-2 receptor signaling pattern in CD4+CD25+ regulatory T cells. *J Immunol* (2004) 172:5287–96.
- 107. Guo H, Qiao G, Ying H, Li Z, Zhao Y, Liang Y, et al. E3 ubiquitin ligase Cbl-b regulates Pten via Nedd4 in T cells independently of its ubiquitin ligase activity. *Cell Rep* (2012) 1:472–82. doi:10.1016/ j.celrep.2012.04.008
- Liu X, Karnell JL, Yin B, Zhang R, Zhang J, Li P, et al. Distinct roles for PTEN in prevention of T cell lymphoma and autoimmunity in mice. *J Clin Invest* (2010) 120:2497–507. doi:10.1172/JCI42382
- 109. Locke FL, Zha YY, Zheng Y, Driessens G, Gajewski TF. Conditional deletion of PTEN in peripheral T cells augments TCRmediated activation but does not abrogate CD28 dependency or prevent anergy induction. *J Immunol* (2013) **191**:1677–85. doi:10.4049/ jimmunol.1202018
- 110. Li Y, Prasad A, Jia Y, Roy SG, Loison F, Mondal S, et al. Pretreatment with phosphatase and tensin homolog deleted on chromosome 10 (PTEN) inhibitor SF1670 augments the efficacy of granulocyte transfusion in a clinically relevant mouse model. *Blood* (2011) 117:6702–13. doi:10.1182/blood-2010-09-309864
- 111. Rosivatz E, Matthews JG, McDonald NQ, Mulet X, Ho KK, Lossi N, et al. A small molecule inhibitor for phosphatase and tensin homologue deleted on chromosome 10

(PTEN). ACS Chem Biol (2006) 1:780-90. doi:10.1021/cb600352f

- 112. Hakim S, Bertucci MC, Conduit SE, Vuong DL, Mitchell CA. Inositol polyphosphate phosphatases in human disease. *Curr Top Microbiol Immunol* (2012) 362:247–314. doi: 10.1007/978-94-007-5025-8_12
- 113. Agoulnik IU, Hodgson MC, Bowden WA, Ittmann MM. INPP4B: the new kid on the PI3K block. *Oncotarget* (2011) 2:321–8.
- 114. Fedele CG, Ooms LM, Ho M, Vieusseux J, O'Toole SA, Millar EK, et al. Inositol polyphosphate 4-phosphatase II regulates PI3K/Akt signaling and is lost

in human basal-like breast cancers. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2010) **107**:22231–6. doi:10.1073/ pnas.1015245107

- 115. Sasaki J, Kofuji S, Itoh R, Momiyama T, Takayama K, Murakami H, et al. The PtdIns(3,4)P(2) phosphatase INPP4A is a suppressor of excitotoxic neuronal death. *Nature* (2010) **465**:497–501. doi:10.1038/nature09023
- 116. Ferron M, Wei J, Yoshizawa T, Del Fattore A, DePinho RA, Teti A, et al. Insulin signaling in osteoblasts integrates bone remodeling and energy metabolism. *Cell*

(2010) **142**:296–308. doi:10.1016/ j.cell.2010.06.003

Conflict of Interest Statement: William Garrow Kerr has patents pending and issues concerning the modulation and detection of SHIP activity in disease. The other authors have no conflicts to disclose.

Received: 30 June 2013; accepted: 03 September 2013; published online: 23 September 2013.

Citation: Srivastava N, Sudan R and Kerr WG (2013) Role of inositol polyphosphatases and their targets in T cell biology. Front. Immunol. **4**:288. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2013.00288

This article was submitted to T Cell Biology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology.

Copyright © 2013 Srivastava, Sudan and Kerr. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.



An emerging role for PI5P in T cell biology

Jacques A. Nunès 1,2,3,4 * and Geoffrey Guittard⁵

¹ Immunology and Cancer, UMR7258, CNRS, Centre de Recherche en Cancerologie de Marseille, Marseille, France

² Immunology and Cancer, U1068, INSERM, Centre de Recherche en Cancerologie de Marseille, Marseille, France

³ Immunology and Cancer, Institut Paoli-Calmettes, Marseille, France

⁴ Centre de Recherche en Cancerologie de Marseille, Aix-Marseille University, Marseille, France

⁵ Laboratory of Cellular and Molecular Biology, Center for Cancer Research, National Cancer Institute, Bethesda, MD, USA

Edited by:

Klaus Okkenhaug, Babraham Institute, UK

Reviewed by:

Balbino Alarcon, Consejo Superior de Investigaciones Científicas, Spain Koji Yasutomo, University of Tokushima, Japan

*Correspondence:

Jacques A. Nunès, Centre de Recherche en Cancérologie, BP30059, 27 Bd Leï Roure, 13273 Marseille Cedex 09, France. e-mail: jacques.nunes@inserm.fr Phosphoinositides are critical regulators in cell biology. Phosphatidylinositol 4,5bisphosphate, also known as PI(4,5)P₂ or PIP₂, was the first variety of phosphoinositide to enter in the T cell signaling scene. Phosphatidylinositol bis-phosphates are the substrates for different types of enzymes such as phospholipases C (β and γ isoforms) and phosphoinositide 3-kinases (PI3K class IA and IB) that are largely involved in signal transduction. However until recently, only a few studies highlighted phosphatidylinositol monophosphates as signaling molecules. This was mostly due to the difficulty of detection of some of these phosphoinositides, such as phosphatidylinositol 5-phosphate, also known as PI5P. Some compelling evidence argues for a role of PI5P in cell signaling and/or cell trafficking. Recently, we reported the detection of a PI5P increase upon TCR triggering. Here, we describe the current knowledge of the role of PI5P in T cell signaling. The future challenges that will be important to achieve in order to fully characterize the role of PI5P in T cell biology, will be discussed.

Keywords: PI5P, PtdIns5P, phosphoinositide, T cell signaling, Dok proteins

INTRODUCTION

Phosphoinositides (PIs) are well known regulators of cell biology processes. Their polar inositol head group can be reversely phosphorylated on three different positions on the inositol ring (D3, D4, and D5). This can give rise to seven different phosphoinositides from the unphosphorylated one (PI) to the famous PI(3,4,5)P₃ or PIP₃. Phosphoinositides are anchored to cell membranes *via* two fatty acid chains inserted to the lipid bilayer. The membrane localization of phosphoinositides allows them to play a very important role in controlling protein localization within the cell, making them important players in cell signaling pathways.

From the 1950s to early 1980s, several research teams contributed to identify $PI(4,5)P_2$ cleavage by the phospholipase C gamma (PLC γ) into Diacylglycerol (DAG) and Inositol triphosphate (IP₃) (Berridge and Irvine, 1984). Subsequently these products lead to the activation of protein kinases C (PKC) and the release of Ca²⁺. These studies provided the first evidence that PIs could be of great importance for cell signaling. Later, the detection of increased level of PI(3,4,5)P₃ upon oncogenic transformation and receptor tyrosine kinase (RTK) engagement led to the identification of the phosphoinositide 3 kinase (PI3K) enzymes. This introduced poly-phosphoinositides into many cell signaling pathways and identified a new common signaling pathway, PI3K/AKT, that is still under intense investigation (Whitman et al., 1988; Courtney et al., 2010; So and Fruman, 2012).

Until recently only few studies highlighted mono-PIs as signaling molecules in cell biology. This is mostly due to the difficult nature of detecting them (Pendaries et al., 2005). But several recent compelling studies argue for an important role of these mono-PIs in cell signaling. Among these mono-PIs, the phosphatidylinositol

5-phosphate PI5P has been the most recently identified PIs. Its late identification is mainly due to the difficulty in separating it from its close isomer PI4P in High-Performance-Liquid-Chromatography (HPLC) (Rameh et al., 1997; Sarkes and Rameh, 2010). Since then, several studies highlighted PI5P as a new potential important signaling molecule that could influence cell signaling pathways in epithelial cells after their activation (Pendaries et al., 2005; Wilcox and Hinchliffe, 2008; Grainger et al., 2012). Cell invasion by bacterial pathogens such as Shigella and Salmonella induce a high level of cellular PI5P. This increase is due to the Phosphoinositide 4-phosphatase activity of the virulence factors IpgD (Shigella flexneri) (Niebuhr et al., 2002) or SigD/SopB (Salmonella spp.) (Mason et al., 2007). PI5P has been localized in different subcellular compartments such as the plasma membrane, endoplasmic reticulum, Golgi apparatus, and the nucleus (Jones et al., 2006; Coronas et al., 2007; Sarkes and Rameh, 2010). PI5P was detected in T cells following ectopic expression of a PI(3,5)P₂ 3phosphatase, myotubularin-1 (MTM1) (Tronchere et al., 2004). MTM1 expression in Jurkat T cells induces a high level of cellular PI5P as detected by PI5P mass assay. Using similar methods, we were also able to detect a PI5P increase upon TCR triggering in the Hut-78 T cell line (Guittard et al., 2009). Recently, direct detection of PI5P by HPLC has been described (Sarkes and Rameh, 2010). These assays require expertise in analysis of lipids; thus these approaches are difficult to apply in cell signaling teams more familiar with protein biochemical analysis.

Here, we will discuss of the potent effects of PI5P in T cell signaling and the nature of the enzymes that could generate PI5P. We discuss identification of some direct PI5P partners (Guittard et al., 2009, 2010), and speculate about different protein domains that bind PI5P in order to dissect the potential functional role of PI5P and to design some potential probes for PI5P as has been done for PI(3,4,5)P₃ detection with the Akt Pleckstrin Homology (PH) domain. Finally, increase in PI5P levels could be involved; not only in T cell signaling and gene transcription, but also in T cell chemotaxis (Konradt et al., 2011) and/or other cellular processes such as vesicular trafficking and chromatin rearrangement.

PI5P SYNTHESIS DURING T CELL ACTIVATION

Measuring PIs levels requires a large amount of cellular material. Thus, most of these experiments are performed in cell lines. Indeed, many T cell lines harbor mutations in the PTEN gene, which induces a high level of cellular $PI(3,4,5)P_3$ that can induce a bias when studying other PIs species (Astoul et al., 2001). To detect PI5P levels in T cells, we used a wild-type PTEN human T cell line, HUT-78. By stimulating this cell line with an anti-CD3 mAb, a nearly fourfold PI5P increase was detected using a lipid mass assay (Guittard et al., 2009). This fold increase is in accordance with other reported results in response to insulin stimulation in other cell types (Sbrissa et al., 2004; Sarkes and Rameh, 2010). As TCRinduced PI5P elevations appear to be rapid (peaks at 2 min) and transient (Guittard et al., 2009), we suggest that there is a rapid recruitment of a specific lipid kinase/phosphatase to the plasma membrane upon TCR engagement, as observed previously for the class IA PI3K (Fabre et al., 2005). The enzyme or the enzymatic complex involved in the PI5P increase in T cells is still unknown.

 $PI(4,5)P_2$ is found at high levels at the plasma membrane. Thus, it represents a potent substrate for a $PI(4,5)P_2$ 4-phosphatase resulting in PI5P synthesis. IpgD *S. flexneri* virulence factor, has been clearly identified to be a $PI(4,5)P_2$ 4-phosphatase (Niebuhr et al., 2002). Ectopic IpgD expression has been used in several studies to access the role of PI5P in eukaryotic cells (Pendaries et al., 2006; Guittard et al., 2009, 2010; Sarkes and Rameh, 2010; Ramel et al., 2011; Oppelt et al., 2012). So far no eukaryotic enzyme has been identified that synthesizes only PI5P. Next we will discuss enzymes that can lead to production of PI5P that are expressed in T cells and may be involved in early TCR signaling. As summarized in **Figure 1**, there are three different possible routes to synthesize PI5P: the 5-kinases (PIKfyve), 3-phosphatases (MTMs family members), and type I/II PI(4,5)P_2 4-phosphatases.

PHOSPHOINOSITIDE 5-KINASE, PIKfyve/PIPKIII

The simplest way to produce PI5P would be a direct phosphorylation of PI by a phosphoinositide 5-kinase. So far, only PIKfyve



has been suggested to play such a role (Sbrissa et al., 1999, 2002). PIKfyve is a lipid 5-kinase that bears a FYVE domain that recognizes PI3P species. PIKfyve can act on two substrates, PI and PI3P to generate PI5P and PI(3,5)P₂, respectively. So far, this is the only kinase proposed to directly produce PI5P from PI in vitro. Moreover, PIKfyve shRNAs decrease the PI5P pool in fibroblasts from a hypomorphic gene-trap mouse mutant (Zolov et al., 2012). Interestingly, their observation of the early thymus degeneration in these mice suggests a possible role for PIKfyve in T cell development. A role in peripheral T cell functions could be possible as PIKfyve is expressed in spleen (Zolov et al., 2012). However, it is still difficult to understand if the thymic degeneration result from PI5P and/or PI(3,5)P2 loss. Recently a new PIKfyve inhibitor, YM201636, has been identified. Unexpectedly, at low doses (10-25 nM), it inhibited preferentially PI5P rather than PI(3,5)P2 production in vitro, whereas at higher doses, the generation of the two lipid products were similarly inhibited. YM201636 or potential second generation molecules may represent a possible avenue for discriminating biologic effects observed consequent to PI5P loss versus PI(3,5)P2 loss (Sbrissa et al., 2012).

PI5P synthesis in different cell types occurs mainly at the plasma membrane (Sarkes and Rameh, 2010). Our observations of a rapid PI5P increase upon TCR engagement (Guittard et al., 2009) prompted us to postulate that PI5P pools are produced at the plasma membrane. However, PIKfyve is essentially located at intracellular organelles where it plays a key role in vesicular transport (Sbrissa et al., 2012). Therefore other enzymes should be considered to regulate the PI5P level at the plasma membrane.

PHOSPHOINOSITIDE 3-PHOSPHATASES, MTM1, AND MYOTUBULARIN-RELATED PROTEINS

Enzymes from the myotubularin family are 3-phosphatases that can regulate PI3P and PI(3,5)P₂ pools (Tronchere et al., 2004). These enzymes are ubiquitously expressed (Laporte et al., 1996, 1998) and are able to generate PI5P from PI(3,5)P₂ *in vitro* (Schaletzky et al., 2003; Vaccari et al., 2011). They were the first identified eukaryotic phosphatases able to produce PI5P *in vivo* (Tronchere et al., 2004). However, here again, PI(3,5)P₂ is thought to be mainly localized at late endosomal membranes (De Matteis and Godi, 2004). Thus, it would be difficult to consider that MTMs enzymes are responsible for early PI5P synthesis at the plasma membrane upon TCR stimulation.

TYPE I/II PI(4,5)P2 4-PHOSPHATASES

Two human PI(4,5)P₂ 4-phosphatases (type I and type II isoforms) have been identified (Ungewickell et al., 2005; Zou et al., 2007). They share a CX₅R phosphatase motif with the IpgD prokaryotic PI(4,5)P₂ 4-phosphatase (Ungewickell et al., 2005). *In vitro*, these eukaryotic phosphatases are also able to convert PI(4,5)P₂ to PI5P. Both enzymes are ubiquitously expressed and localize to late endosomal/lysosomal membranes in epithelial cells (Ungewickell et al., 2005). Again this makes them less likely to be involved in early signaling from the T cell receptor. Moreover type I phosphatase has been shown to be translocated to the nucleus where it can increase PI5P levels following genotoxic stress (Zou et al., 2007). Thus, this raises the possibility that these enzymes play a role in transcriptional activity.

In conclusion, based on the claimed cellular localizations of these enzymes or their substrates (**Table 1**), it is hard to imagine a scheme inducing a major PI5P synthesis at the plasma membrane. However, some of these enzymes have a role in T cells. For example, MTMR6 could down-regulate calcium receptor KCa3.1 expressed in T and B cells, in a PI3P-dependent manner (Srivastava et al., 2005). One cannot exclude a transient and local recruitment of enzymatic complexes able to produce PI5P at the plasma membrane. Further investigations in T cell biology studying these proteins could define some new functions for PI5P especially in endosomal compartments and/or in the nucleus.

PI5P BINDING DOMAINS

As mentioned above, PIs are organized into specific subcellular compartments in order to recruit protein to a specific organelle (McCrea and De Camilli, 2009). As summarized in **Table 2**, some studies have been conducted to identify potential partners of PI5P and, therefore, to suggest potential functions for this phospholipid.

THE PHD MOTIFS OF NUCLEAR PROTEINS, ING2 AND ATX-1

The plant homeo-domain (PHD) motif is a conserved Cys4-HisCys3 orphan zinc finger domain present throughout eukaryotic proteomes. A large number of chromatin regulatory factors contain PHD fingers, including the ING family of putative tumor suppressors (Feng et al., 2002; Fyodorov and Kadonaga, 2002; Kalkhoven et al., 2002). In 2003, the PHD of ING2 protein became the first identified PI5P-binding domain. It was identified by three

different in vitro experimental approaches by PIP-beads binding assay, by fat-blotting, and by surface plasmon resonance (SPR) analysis (Gozani et al., 2003). However, although binding to PI5P, a significant binding to other mono-PIs such as PI3P could not be excluded from this study. To strengthen this PHD motif binding affinity, a 3X PHD motif has been generated and shows a stronger PI5P binding. This 3X PHD ING2 construct has been used as a tool for PI5P investigations (Pendaries et al., 2006; Guittard et al., 2009, 2010; Ramel et al., 2011). A similar PHD motif was identified in plants. The Arabidopsis homolog of trithorax-1 (ATX-1) binds PI5P using its PHD domain (Alvarez-Venegas et al., 2006). Authors are suggesting a role for PI5P in inhibiting ATX-1 protein by delocalizing it from the nucleus where it can repress gene expression. Nuclear PI5P localization has been reported and PI5P can modify the function of some PHD motif containing proteins (Gozani et al., 2003; Alvarez-Venegas et al., 2006; Jones et al., 2006). A role for nuclear PI5P in regulating nuclear protein function has not yet been assessed in T cell biology.

THE PH DOMAIN OF DOK FAMILY MEMBERS

Only 10% of known PH domains bind PIs with high specificity (Lemmon, 2008). The first identified PH domain harboring some PI5P binding properties was the PH domain of the p62 subunit of the transcription factor IIH (TFIIH) (Di Lello et al., 2005). This observation is really close to what has been reported for the PI5P binding PHD domains, suggesting again a potential role for PI5P in cell transcriptional activity.

Table 1 | Enzyme expression, localization, and functions in lymphoid cells.

Enzymes	Substrates <i>in vitro</i>	Lymphoid tissues expression	Localization	Immune function	Reference
РІРК					
PIPKI/PI4P 5-kinase (α, β, γ)	PI4P, PI	Spl., LNs	Nu (α), PM (γ), PNu (β)	PIPKIγ in NK, Blast cells T cells, PIPKIγ 90 is negative regulator of T cell activation, adhesion, and proliferation	Doughman et al. (2003), Micucci et al. (2008), Bolomini-Vittori et al. (2009), Vasudevan et al. (2009), Wernimont et al. (2010)
PIPKIII/Pykfyve (5-kinase)	PI, PI3P	Spl., Thy	LE	KO: early degeneration of Thymus, role in T cell development?	Zolov et al. (2012)
3-PHOSPHATASE	:				
MTM1	PI3P, PI(3,5)P ₂	LN, Spl., Thy	Cyt., PM?	Overexpression enhance PI5P pool in Jurkat T cells	Laporte et al. (1996), Tronchere et al. (2004)
MTMR2, 3, 6	PI3P, PI(3,5)P ₂	Ubiquitous	Cyt., PM?	Not tested, but MTMR6 down-regulate KCa3.1 Ca2+ rec. expressed on B, T cells	Laporte et al. (1998), Walker et al. (2001), Berger et al. (2002), Schaletzky et al. (2003), Srivastava et al. (2005), Lorenzo et al. (2006), Vaccari et al. (2011)
4-PHOSPHATASE	:				
Type I, II/PI(4,5)P ₂ phosphatase (IpgD homolog)	PI(4,5)P ₂	Spl., BM, Thy., PBL	LE, Ly, Nu	Not tested	Ungewickell et al. (2005), Zou et al. (2007
5-PHOSPHATASE					
PLIP/PTPM T1	PI5P?	Spl., LNs, BM	G	Not tested	Merlot et al. (2003), Pagliarini et al. (2004) Zhang et al. (2011)

Nu, nucleus; PM, plasma membrane; C, cytosol; PNu, peri-nuclear; LE, late endosomes; Ly, lysosomes; G, Golgi; Spl, spleen; BM, bone marrow; Thy, thymus; PBL, peripheral blood leukocytes.

Table 2 | Some cellular proteins containing a lipid/protein interaction domain were identified as PI5P binding partners.

Binding domain	Pl binding	Experiment used	Protein role	Reference				
CYTOSOL, PLASMA MEMBRANE								
PH Dok-1/Dok-2	PI4P, PI5P	Fat blot, SPR	Negative regulation T cell signaling	Guittard et al. (2009)				
PH-Dok-4	PI5P > Mono-PIs	Fat blot, SPR	Negative/positive regulation T cell signaling	Guittard et al. (2010)				
PH Dok-5	PI5P+++	Fat blot, SPR	Cardiomyocyte differentiation PI3K depdt	Guittard et al. (2010)				
BIN1	PI5P, PI3P	SPR	Tubular invaginations of membranes,	Nicot et al. (2007),				
			biogenesis of muscle T tubules	Fugier et al. (2011)				
NUCLEUS								
ATX-1-PHD	PI5P+++	Fat blot	Plant (Arapidopsis thaliana) chromatin	Alvarez-Venegas et al.				
			modification stress induced	(2006)				
ING2 PHD	PI5P+, PI3P	Fat blot, SPR, PIP-beads	Nucleus cellular stress response	Gozani et al. (2003)				
Sap30L/Sap 30	PI5P > PI3P > PI4	Fat blot	Chromatin remodeling, transcription	Viiri et al. (2009)				
PH-tfb1 TFII subunit	PI5P, PI3P	Fat blot	Transcription factor	Di Lello et al. (2005)				

Different experimental approaches were used to characterize this PI5P binding. These proteins are expressed in different subcellular compartments and are involved in different cell functions. PH, Pleckstrin homology domain; PHD, plant homeo-domain; SPR, surface plasmon resonance.

Dok (for downstream of kinase) proteins are adaptor proteins that are expressed in lymphocytes (Favre et al., 2003). Upon T cell stimulation, these PH domain-containing proteins are recruited to (or are in the vicinity of) the plasma membrane (Boulay et al., 2005; Gerard et al., 2009). Dok-1 and Dok-2 PH domains were shown to bind PI5P and PI4P in SPR analysis (Guittard et al., 2009). But using different enzymatic approaches, PI5P appeared to be essential for Dok proteins tyrosine phosphorylation. Moreover, PI5P binding domain expression (Dok-1 PH domain or 3X PHD ING2) block PI5P-induced Dok phosphorylation.

Among Dok family PH domains (Favre et al., 2003), the PH domain of Dok-5 revealed the highest PI5P binding affinity in SPR experiments (Guittard et al., 2009, 2010). Dok-5 PH domain expression reduced IpgD-induced IL-2 promoter activity in T cells by sequestering PI5P within the cell (Guittard et al., 2010). These observations highlighted PI5P as a newly identified actor in T cell signaling that acts by regulating cytosolic Dok proteins.

A ROLE FOR PI5P IN T CELL SIGNALING

Stimulation of membrane receptors such as the TCR on T cells induces the activation of protein tyrosine kinases (PTKs) and subsequently the phosphorylation of substrates, which contributes to the formation of a cytoplasmic multiprotein network (Smith-Garvin et al., 2009). TCR leads to the activation of several physically separated protein modules (**Figure 2**). First, Src-family protein tyrosine kinases (SFK) Lck/Fyn are activated by a yet not fully known mechanism. SFK activation is followed by tyrosine phosphorylation of TCR and CD3 chains leading to the recruitment of ZAP-70 PTK. Finally, cytoplasmic protein networks are established based on interactions with numerous adaptor proteins including LAT (Acuto et al., 2008).

Dok-5 PH expression selectively reduces some TCR-induced signaling events such as SFK activation (Lck/Fyn) and Akt phosphorylation (AKT is a PI3K effector) (Guittard et al., 2010). Independently of TCR engagement, ectopic expression of IpgD

induces the phosphorylation of SFK family members and Akt (Guittard et al., 2010). Thus, PI5P could be a part of membrane signaling TCR-containing modules, such as the SFK regulation module (Acuto et al., 2008; Nika et al., 2010).

These SFKs are controlled by membrane lipid content (lipid rafts). The presence of Csk and CD45 protein tyrosine phosphatase (PTP) is involved in maintaining a balance between active and inactive SFK forms (Acuto et al., 2008). The selective inhibition of Csk activates this early SFK signaling module leading to Dok-1 tyrosine phosphorylation. This suggests that PI5P could be involved in SFK-containing lipid rafts, perhaps by modulating the dynamics of these plasma membrane structures (Schoenborn et al., 2011). Involvement of a PH containing molecule, such as SKAP-55, could also bring CD45 in close proximity to the SFK signaling module leading to its activation (Wu et al., 2002).

It has long been known that PI3K signaling is activated upon TCR triggering (Ward et al., 1992). However, it is always difficult to draw a general connection map of proximal TCR signaling pathways that integrates the PI3K/Akt pathway (Acuto et al., 2008; Smith-Garvin et al., 2009). A possible explanation would be that the PI3K/Akt signaling module is also physically independent of other proximal TCR signaling modules (Acuto et al., 2008). The full activation of Akt is dependent upon its presence in some membrane structures corresponding to lipid raft nanodomains (Lasserre et al., 2008). Several reports described PI5P acting upstream of the PI3K/Akt pathway (Carricaburu et al., 2003; Pendaries et al., 2006; Grainger et al., 2012). For instance, IpgD-produced PI5P persistently activates PI3K/Akt signaling in epithelial cells (Pendaries et al., 2006). In this condition, PI5P at the plasma membrane at the early stages of S. flexneri infection is rapidly enriched in endosomes and alters growth factor receptor signaling by impairing lysosomal degradation, a property used by the pathogen to favor survival of host cells. Thus far, there is no direct link between PI5P generation and PI3K activation in T cells. As it is the case for the SFK regulation module, we can hypothesize



that PI5P could participate in lipid raft nanodomains dynamics where PI3K/Akt activation would take place. This potential PI3K/Akt module could also explain why PI5P elevation provokes a Dok protein tyrosine phosphorylation (Guittard et al., 2009), as the PTK Tec, a PI3K effector in T cells, phosphorylates the Dok-1

and Dok-2 proteins (Yang et al., 2001; Gerard et al., 2004). It has been reported that PI5P and other PIs interact with high affinity to a TCR ζ basic-rich stretch (DeFord-Watts et al., 2011). The elimination of PIs-binding regions significantly impaired the ability of TCR ζ chains to be stably expressed at the plasma membrane (DeFord-Watts et al., 2011). Taken together, a role for PI5P in T cell signaling should be further investigated in these potentially physically independent modules, for instance via experiments evaluating membrane fluidity and dynamics (Lasserre et al., 2008).

OTHER PERSPECTIVES FOR A ROLE OF PI5P IN T CELL BIOLOGY

Cell fractionation has revealed that a major fraction of PI5P is in the plasma membrane (Sarkes and Rameh, 2010). As discussed above, membrane PI5P is involved in T cell signaling (Guittard et al., 2009, 2010). This lipid could also be involved in the control of T cell migration. Indeed, S. flexneri is able to infect activated T cells and IpgD [converting PI(4,5)P2 into PI5P] inhibits chemokineinduced T cell migration (Konradt et al., 2011). In this study, the authors concluded that the T cell chemotaxis block was due to a $PI(4,5)P_2$ breakdown. But they could not exclude a role for PI5P increase in this process. However, in other cell types, PI5P increases appear to induce cell migration (Oppelt et al., 2012). These apparent discrepancies likely result from differences between lymphoid cells and other cell types in their cell migration. For instance, many cell types use a PI3K-dependent pathway in inducing cell migration, but T cell chemotaxis seems to be independent of a PI3K signaling pathway (Asperti-Boursin et al., 2007). The Rac small GTPase, probably regulated by DOCK2 RacGEF, could drive this T cell migration (Fukui et al., 2001). One exiting hypothesis would be that PI5P is involved in a Rac-dependent pathway and/or participates in the connection between plasma membrane and the cytoskeleton dynamics.

In skeletal muscle, the bridging integrator-1 (BIN1) proteins bind to membrane PI5P and is involved in tubular invaginations of membranes and is required for the biogenesis of muscle T tubules (Nicot et al., 2007; Fugier et al., 2011). PI5P can be detected in endosomes (Sarkes and Rameh, 2010) and can favor RTK signaling prolongation in early endosomes (Ramel et al., 2011). Furthermore IpgD expression induces a striking amount of IL-2 promoter activity in T cells (Guittard et al., 2010). These results could be due to sustained T cell signaling at the plasma membrane or in intracellular compartments. Thus, the role of PI5P in vesicular trafficking in T cells should be considered.

In summary, PI5P is now taking its place in T cell biology. As in other mammalian cell types, the localization of basal and inducible PI5P should be characterized by cell fractionation followed by lipid composition analysis. PI5P-specific probes should be improved to visualize phospholipid dynamics upon T cell activation. Further investigations should be performed to assess the exact role of PI5P at the plasma membrane (for T cell signaling and migration), but also in vesicular trafficking and nuclear function.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We thank Connie Sommers (Center for Cancer Research, Bethesda) for thoughtful reading of the manuscript and Claire Hivroz (Institut Curie, Paris), for helpful discussions. We are grateful to Bernard Payrastre (Institut des Maladies Métaboliques et Cardiovasculaires, Toulouse) for sharing his expertise in the research field of the phospholipids.

REFERENCES

- Acuto, O., Bartolo, V. D., and Michel, F. (2008). Tailoring T-cell receptor signals by proximal negative feedback mechanisms. *Nat. Rev. Immunol.* 8, 699–712.
- Alvarez-Venegas, R., Sadder, M., Hlavacka, A., Baluska, F., Xia, Y., Lu, G., et al. (2006). The Arabidopsis homolog of trithorax, ATX1, binds phosphatidylinositol 5-phosphate, and the two regulate a common set of target genes. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 103, 6049–6054.
- Asperti-Boursin, F., Real, E., Bismuth, G., Trautmann, A., and Donnadieu, E. (2007). CCR7 ligands control basal T cell motility within lymph node slices in a phosphoinositide 3kinase-independent manner. J. Exp. Med. 204, 1167–1179.
- Astoul, E., Edmunds, C., Cantrell, D. A., and Ward, S. G. (2001). PI 3-K and T-cell activation: limitations of T-leukemic cell lines as signaling models. *Trends Immunol.* 22, 490–496.
- Berger, P., Bonneick, S., Willi, S., Wymann, M., and Suter, U. (2002). Loss of phosphatase activity in myotubularin-related protein 2 is associated with Charcot-Marie-Tooth disease type 4B1. *Hum. Mol. Genet.* 11, 1569–1579.
- Berridge, M. J., and Irvine, R. F. (1984). Inositol trisphosphate, a novel second messenger in cellular signal transduction. *Nature* 312, 315–321.
- Bolomini-Vittori, M., Montresor, A., Giagulli, C., Staunton, D., Rossi, B., Martinello, M., et al. (2009). Regulation of conformer-specific activation of the integrin LFA-1 by a chemokine-triggered Rho signaling module. *Nat. Immunol.* 10, 185–194.
- Boulay, I., Nemorin, J. G., and Duplay, P. (2005). Phosphotyrosine bindingmediated oligomerization of downstream of tyrosine kinase (Dok)-1 and Dok-2 is involved in CD2induced Dok phosphorylation. J. Immunol. 175, 4483–4489.
- Carricaburu, V., Lamia, K. A., Lo, E., Favereaux, L., Payrastre, B., Cantley, L. C., et al. (2003). The phosphatidylinositol (PI)-5phosphate 4-kinase type II enzyme controls insulin signaling by regulating PI-3,4,5-trisphosphate degradation. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 100, 9867–9872.
- Coronas, S., Ramel, D., Pendaries, C., Gaits-Iacovoni, F., Tronchere, H., and Payrastre, B. (2007). PtdIns5P: a little phosphoinositide with big functions? *Biochem. Soc. Symp.* 74, 117–128.

- Courtney, K. D., Corcoran, R. B., and Engelman, J. A. (2010). The PI3K pathway as drug target in human cancer. J. Clin. Oncol. 28, 1075–1083.
- De Matteis, M. A., and Godi, A. (2004). PI-loting membrane traffic. *Nat. Cell Biol.* 6, 487–492.
- DeFord-Watts, L. M., Dougall, D. S., Belkaya, S., Johnson, B. A., Eitson, J. L., Roybal, K. T., et al. (2011). The CD3 zeta subunit contains a phosphoinositide-binding motif that is required for the stable accumulation of TCR-CD3 complex at the immunological synapse. J. Immunol. 186, 6839–6847.
- Di Lello, P., Nguyen, B. D., Jones, T. N., Potempa, K., Kobor, M. S., Legault, P., et al. (2005). NMR structure of the amino-terminal domain from the Tfb1 subunit of TFIIH and characterization of its phosphoinositide and VP16 binding sites. *Biochemistry* 44, 7678–7686.
- Doughman, R. L., Firestone, A. J., and Anderson, R. A. (2003). Phosphatidylinositol phosphate kinases put PI4,5P(2) in its place. *J. Membr. Biol.* 194, 77–89.
- Fabre, S., Lang, V., Harriague, J., Jobart, A., Unterman, T. G., Trautmann, A., et al. (2005). Stable activation of phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase in the T cell immunological synapse stimulates Akt signaling to FoxO1 nuclear exclusion and cell growth control. J. Immunol. 174, 4161–4171.
- Favre, C., Gerard, A., Clauzier, E., Pontarotti, P., Olive, D., and Nunes, J. A. (2003). DOK4 and DOK5: new Dok-related genes expressed in human T cells. *Genes Immun.* 4, 40–45.
- Feng, X., Hara, Y., and Riabowol, K. (2002). Different HATS of the ING1 gene family. *Trends Cell Biol.* 12, 532–538.
- Fugier, C., Klein, A. F., Hammer, C., Vassilopoulos, S., Ivarsson, Y., Toussaint, A., et al. (2011). Misregulated alternative splicing of BIN1 is associated with T tubule alterations and muscle weakness in myotonic dystrophy. *Nat. Med.* 17, 720–725.
- Fukui, Y., Hashimoto, O., Sanui, T., Oono, T., Koga, H., Abe, M., et al. (2001). Haematopoietic cell-specific CDM family protein DOCK2 is essential for lymphocyte migration. *Nature* 412, 826–831.
- Fyodorov, D. V., and Kadonaga, J. T. (2002). Dynamics of ATPdependent chromatin assembly by ACF. Nature 418, 897–900.
- Gerard, A., Favre, C., Garcon, F., Nemorin, J. G., Duplay, P., Pastor, S., et al. (2004). Functional interaction of RasGAP-binding proteins

Dok-1 and Dok-2 with the Tec protein tyrosine kinase. *Oncogene* 23, 1594–1598.

- Gerard, A., Ghiotto, M., Fos, C., Guittard, G., Compagno, D., Galy, A., et al. (2009). Dok-4 is a novel negative regulator of T cell activation. *J. Immunol.* 182, 7681–7689.
- Gozani, O., Karuman, P., Jones, D. R., Ivanov, D., Cha, J., Lugovskoy, A. A., et al. (2003). The PHD finger of the chromatin-associated protein ING2 functions as a nuclear phosphoinositide receptor. *Cell* 114, 99–111.
- Grainger, D. L., Tavelis, C., Ryan, A. J., and Hinchliffe, K. A. (2012). The emerging role of PtdIns5P: another signalling phosphoinositide takes its place. *Biochem. Soc. Trans.* 40, 257–261.
- Guittard, G., Gerard, A., Dupuis-Coronas, S., Tronchere, H., Mortier, E., Favre, C., et al. (2009). Cutting edge: Dok-1 and Dok-2 adaptor molecules are regulated by phosphatidylinositol 5-phosphate production in T cells. *J. Immunol.* 182, 3974–3978.
- Guittard, G., Mortier, E., Tronchere, H., Firaguay, G., Gerard, A., Zimmermann, P., et al. (2010). Evidence for a positive role of PtdIns5P in T-cell signal transduction pathways. *FEBS Lett.* 584, 2455–2460.
- Jones, D. R., Bultsma, Y., Keune, W. J., Halstead, J. R., Elouarrat, D., Mohammed, S., et al. (2006). Nuclear PtdIns5P as a transducer of stress signaling: an in vivo role for PIP4Kbeta. *Mol. Cell* 23, 685–695.
- Kalkhoven, E., Teunissen, H., Houweling, A., Verrijzer, C. P., and Zantema, A. (2002). The PHD type zinc finger is an integral part of the CBP acetyltransferase domain. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 22, 1961–1970.
- Konradt, C., Frigimelica, E., Nothelfer, K., Puhar, A., Salgado-Pabon, W., Di Bartolo, V., et al. (2011). The Shigella flexneri type three secretion system effector IpgD inhibits T cell migration by manipulating host phosphoinositide metabolism. Cell Host Microbe 9, 263–272.
- Laporte, J., Blondeau, F., Buj-Bello, A., Tentler, D., Kretz, C., Dahl, N., et al. (1998). Characterization of the myotubularin dual specificity phosphatase gene family from yeast to human. *Hum. Mol. Genet.* 7, 1703–1712.
- Laporte, J., Hu, L. J., Kretz, C., Mandel, J. L., Kioschis, P., Coy, J. F., et al. (1996). A gene mutated in X-linked myotubular myopathy defines a new putative tyrosine phosphatase family conserved in yeast. *Nat. Genet.* 13, 175–182.

- Lasserre, R., Guo, X. J., Conchonaud, F., Hamon, Y., Hawchar, O., Bernard, A. M., et al. (2008). Raft nanodomains contribute to Akt/PKB plasma membrane recruitment and activation. *Nat. Chem. Biol.* 4, 538–547.
- Lemmon, M. A. (2008). Membrane recognition by phospholipidbinding domains. Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell Biol. 9, 99–111.
- Lorenzo, O., Urbe, S., and Clague, M. J. (2006). Systematic analysis of myotubularins: heteromeric interactions, subcellular localisation and endosome related functions. J. Cell Sci. 119, 2953–2959.
- Mason, D., Mallo, G. V., Terebiznik, M. R., Payrastre, B., Finlay, B. B., Brumell, J. H., et al. (2007).
 Alteration of epithelial structure and function associated with PtdIns(4,5)P2 degradation by a bacterial phosphatase. *J. Gen. Physiol.* 129, 267–283.
- McCrea, H. J., and De Camilli, P. (2009). Mutations in phosphoinositide metabolizing enzymes and human disease. *Physiology* (*Bethesda*) 24, 8–16.
- Merlot, S., Meili, R., Pagliarini, D. J., Maehama, T., Dixon, J. E., and Firtel, R. A. (2003). A PTEN-related 5-phosphatidylinositol phosphatase localized in the Golgi. J. Biol. Chem. 278, 39866–39873.
- Micucci, F., Capuano, C., Marchetti, E., Piccoli, M., Frati, L., Santoni, A., et al. (2008). PI5KI-dependent signals are critical regulators of the cytolytic secretory pathway. *Blood* 111, 4165–4172.
- Nicot, A. S., Toussaint, A., Tosch, V., Kretz, C., Wallgren-Pettersson, C., Iwarsson, E., et al. (2007). Mutations in amphiphysin 2 (BIN1) disrupt interaction with dynamin 2 and cause autosomal recessive centronuclear myopathy. *Nat. Genet.* 39, 1134–1139.
- Niebuhr, K., Giuriato, S., Pedron, T., Philpott, D. J., Gaits, F., Sable, J., et al. (2002). Conversion of PtdIns(4,5)P(2) into PtdIns(5)P by the *S. flexneri* effector IpgD reorganizes host cell morphology. *EMBO J.* 21, 5069–5078.
- Nika, K., Soldani, C., Salek, M., Paster, W., Gray, A., Etzensperger, R., et al. (2010). Constitutively active Lck kinase in T cells drives antigen receptor signal transduction. *Immunity* 32, 766–777.
- Oppelt, A., Lobert, V. H., Haglund, K., Mackey, A. M., Rameh, L. E., Liestol, K., et al. (2012). Production of phosphatidylinositol 5-phosphate via PIKfyve and MTMR3 regulates

cell migration. EMBO Rep. 14, 57–64.

- Pagliarini, D. J., Worby, C. A., and Dixon, J. E. (2004). A PTENlike phosphatase with a novel substrate specificity. J. Biol. Chem. 279, 38590–38596.
- Pendaries, C., Tronchere, H., Arbibe, L., Mounier, J., Gozani, O., Cantley, L., et al. (2006). PtdIns5P activates the host cell PI3-kinase/Akt pathway during *Shigella flexneri* infection. *EMBO J.* 25, 1024–1034.
- Pendaries, C., Tronchere, H., Racaud-Sultan, C., Gaits-Iacovoni, F., Coronas, S., Manenti, S., et al. (2005). Emerging roles of phosphatidylinositol monophosphates in cellular signaling and trafficking. *Adv. Enzyme Regul.* 45, 201–214.
- Rameh, L. E., Tolias, K. F., Duckworth, B. C., and Cantley, L. C. (1997). A new pathway for synthesis of phosphatidylinositol-4,5-bisphosphate. *Nature* 390, 192–196.
- Ramel, D., Lagarrigue, F., Pons, V., Mounier, J., Dupuis-Coronas, S., Chicanne, G., et al. (2011). Shigella flexneri infection generates the lipid PI5P to alter endocytosis and prevent termination of EGFR signaling. Sci. Signal. 4, ra61.
- Sarkes, D., and Rameh, L. E. (2010). A novel HPLC-based approach makes possible the spatial characterization of cellular PtdIns5P and other phosphoinositides. *Biochem. J.* 428, 375–384.
- Sbrissa, D., Ikonomov, O. C., Deeb, R., and Shisheva, A. (2002). Phosphatidylinositol 5-phosphate biosynthesis is linked to PIKfyve and is involved in osmotic response pathway in mammalian cells. J. Biol. Chem. 277, 47276–47284.
- Sbrissa, D., Ikonomov, O. C., Filios, C., Delvecchio, K., and Shisheva, A. (2012). Functional dissociation between PIKfyve-synthesized PtdIns5P and PtdIns(3,5)P2 by means of the PIKfyve inhibitor YM201636. Am. J. Physiol. Cell Physiol. 303, C436–446.
- Sbrissa, D., Ikonomov, O. C., and Shisheva, A. (1999). PIKfyve, a mammalian ortholog of yeast

Fab1p lipid kinase, synthesizes 5phosphoinositides. Effect of insulin. *J. Biol. Chem.* 274, 21589–21597.

- Sbrissa, D., Ikonomov, O. C., Strakova, J., and Shisheva, A. (2004). Role for a novel signaling intermediate, phosphatidylinositol 5-phosphate, in insulin-regulated F-actin stress fiber breakdown and GLUT4 translocation. *Endocrinology* 145, 4853–4865.
- Schaletzky, J., Dove, S. K., Short, B., Lorenzo, O., Clague, M. J., and Barr, F. A. (2003). Phosphatidylinositol-5-phosphate activation and conserved substrate specificity of the myotubularin phosphatidylinositol 3-phosphatases. *Curr. Biol.* 13, 504–509.
- Schoenborn, J. R., Tan, Y. X., Zhang, C., Shokat, K. M., and Weiss, A. (2011). Feedback circuits monitor and adjust basal Lck-dependent events in T cell receptor signaling. *Sci. Signal.* 4, ra59.
- Smith-Garvin, J. E., Koretzky, G. A., and Jordan, M. S. (2009). T cell activation. Annu. Rev. Immunol. 27, 591–619.
- So, L., and Fruman, D. A. (2012). PI3K signalling in B- and T-lymphocytes: new developments and therapeutic advances. *Biochem. J.* 442, 465–481.
- Srivastava, S., Li, Z., Lin, L., Liu, G., Ko, K., Coetzee, W. A., et al. (2005). The phosphatidylinositol 3-phosphate phosphatase myotubularin-related protein 6 (MTMR6) is a negative regulator of the Ca2+-activated K+ channel KCa3.1. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 25, 3630–3638.
- Tronchere, H., Laporte, J., Pendaries, C., Chaussade, C., Liaubet, L., Pirola, L., et al. (2004). Production of phosphatidylinositol 5phosphate by the phosphoinositide 3-phosphatase myotubularin in mammalian cells. J. Biol. Chem. 279, 7304–7312.
- Ungewickell, A., Hugge, C., Kisseleva, M., Chang, S. C., Zou, J., Feng, Y., et al. (2005). The identification and characterization of two phosphatidylinositol-4,5bisphosphate 4-phosphatases. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 102, 18854–18859.

- Vaccari, I., Dina, G., Tronchere, H., Kaufman, E., Chicanne, G., Cerri, F., et al. (2011). Genetic interaction between MTMR2 and FIG4 phospholipid phosphatases involved in Charcot-Marie-Tooth neuropathies. *PLoS Genet.* 7:e1002319. doi:10.1371/journal.pgen.1002319
- Vasudevan, L., Jeromin, A., Volpicelli-Daley, L., De Camilli, P., Holowka, D., and Baird, B. (2009). The betaand gamma-isoforms of type I PIP5K regulate distinct stages of Ca2+ signaling in mast cells. J. Cell Sci. 122, 2567–2574.
- Viiri, K. M., Janis, J., Siggers, T., Heinonen, T. Y., Valjakka, J., Bulyk, M. L., et al. (2009). DNA-binding and -bending activities of SAP30L and SAP30 are mediated by a zincdependent module and monophosphoinositides. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 29, 342–356.
- Walker, D. M., Urbe, S., Dove, S. K., Tenza, D., Raposo, G., and Clague, M. J. (2001). Characterization of MTMR3. an inositol lipid 3-phosphatase with novel substrate specificity. *Curr. Biol.* 11, 1600–1605.
- Ward, S. G., Ley, S. C., Macphee, C., and Cantrell, D. A. (1992). Regulation of D-3 phosphoinositides during T cell activation via the T cell antigen receptor/CD3 complex and CD2 antigens. *Eur. J. Immunol.* 22, 45–49.
- Wernimont, S. A., Legate, K. R., Simonson, W. T., Fassler, R., and Huttenlocher, A. (2010). PIPKI gamma 90 negatively regulates LFA-1-mediated adhesion and activation in antigeninduced CD4+ T cells. J. Immunol. 185, 4714–4723.
- Whitman, M., Downes, C. P., Keeler, M., Keller, T., and Cantley, L. (1988). Type I phosphatidylinositol kinase makes a novel inositol phospholipid, phosphatidylinositol-3-phosphate. *Nature* 332, 644–646.
- Wilcox, A., and Hinchliffe, K. A. (2008). Regulation of extranuclear PtdIns5P production by phosphatidylinositol phosphate 4-kinase 2alpha. FEBS Lett. 582, 1391–1394.
- Wu, L., Yu, Z., and Shen, S. H. (2002). SKAP55 recruits to lipid rafts and positively mediates the

MAPK pathway upon T cell receptor activation. *J. Biol. Chem.* 277, 40420–40427.

- Yang, W. C., Ching, K. A., Tsoukas, C. D., and Berg, L. J. (2001). Tec kinase signaling in T cells is regulated by phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase and the Tec Pleckstrin homology domain. J. Immunol. 166, 387–395.
- Zhang, J., Guan, Z., Murphy, A. N., Wiley, S. E., Perkins, G. A., Worby, C. A., et al. (2011). Mitochondrial phosphatase PTPMT1 is essential for cardiolipin biosynthesis. *Cell Metab.* 13, 690–700.
- Zolov, S. N., Bridges, D., Zhang, Y., Lee, W. W., Riehle, E., Verma, R., et al. (2012). In vivo, Pikfyve generates PI(3,5)P2, which serves as both a signaling lipid and the major precursor for PI5P. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 109, 17472–17477.
- Zou, J., Marjanovic, J., Kisseleva, M. V., Wilson, M., and Majerus, P. W. (2007). Type I phosphatidylinositol-4,5-bisphosphate 4-phosphatase regulates stress-induced apoptosis. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 104, 16834–16839.

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Received: 18 February 2013; paper pending published: 13 March 2013; accepted: 15 March 2013; published online: 02 April 2013.

Citation: Nunès JA and Guittard G (2013) An emerging role for PI5P in T cell biology. Front. Immunol. 4:80. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2013.00080

This article was submitted to Frontiers in T Cell Biology, a specialty of Frontiers in Immunology.

Copyright © 2013 Nunès and Guittard. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License, which permits use, distribution and reproduction in other forums, provided the original authors and source are credited and subject to any copyright notices concerning any third-party graphics etc.



The glycerophosphoinositols: from lipid metabolites to modulators of T-cell signaling

Laura Patrussi¹*, Stefania Mariggiò²*, Daniela Corda² and Cosima T. Baldari¹

¹ Department of Life Sciences, University of Siena, Siena, Italy

² Institute of Protein Biochemistry, National Research Council, Naples, Italy

Edited by:

Klaus Okkenhaug, Babraham Institute, UK

Reviewed by:

Sho Yamasaki, Kyushu University, Japan Karsten Sauer, The Scripps Research Institute, USA

*Correspondence:

Laura Patrussi, Department of Life Sciences, University of Siena, Via Aldo Moro 2, 53100 Siena, Italy e-mail: patrussi2@unisi.it; Stefania Mariggiò, Institute of Protein Biochemistry, National Research Council, Via Pietro Castellino 111, 80131 Naples, Italy e-mail: s.mariggio@ibp.cnr.it Glycerophosphoinositols (GPIs) are bioactive, diffusible phosphoinositide metabolites of phospholipase A₂ that act both intracellularly and in a paracrine fashion following their uptake by specific transporters. The most representative compound, glycerophosphoinositol (GroPIns), is a ubiquitous component of eukaryotic cells that participates in central processes, including cell proliferation and survival. Moreover, glycerophosphoinositol 4-phosphate (GroPIns4*P*) controls actin dynamics in several cell systems by regulating Rho GTPases. Recently, immune cells have emerged as targets of the biological activities of the GPIs. We have shown that exogenous GroPIns4*P* enhances CXCL12-induced T-cell chemotaxis through activation of the kinase Lck in a cAMP/PKA-dependent manner. While highlighting the potential of GroPIns4*P* as an immunomodulator, this finding raises questions on the role of endogenously produced GroPIns4*P* as well as of other GPIs in the regulation of the adaptive immune responses under homeostatic and pathological settings. Here we will summarize our current understanding of the biological activities of the GPIs, with a focus on lymphocytes, highlighting open questions and potential developments in this promising new area.

Keywords: glycerophosphoinositol, T-cell chemotaxis, CXCL12, Lck

The glycerophosphoinositols (GPIs) are ubiquitous water-soluble phosphoinositide metabolites produced by all eukaryotic cells (1–3). Not surprisingly considering their central role in the orchestration of signaling cascades, among the phosphoinositides it is the inositol phosphates that have monopolized the scene. Accumulating evidence has however highlighted a role for the GPIs as modulators of important biological functions in a number of cell types, including T-lymphocytes, in both physiological and pathological settings. Here we will summarize our current understanding of the metabolic pathways that regulate GPI production and discuss their biological activities, focusing on T-cells.

BIOSYNTHESIS, TRANSPORT AND DEGRADATION OF GPIs

The GPIs, which include glycerophosphoinositol (GroPIns) and its phosphorylated derivatives glycerophosphoinositol 4-phosphate (GroPIns4*P*) and glycerophosphoinositol 4,5-bisphosphate (GroPIns4,5*P*₂), are generated from membrane phosphoinositides through two sequential deacylation reactions that are carried out by a phospholipase A₂ (PLA₂) and a lysophospholipase (2). Studies on the most abundant of these metabolites, GroPIns, have provided evidence that both of these reactions can be catalyzed by the same enzyme, which has been identified in thyroid cells and macrophages as the α isoform of group IV PLA₂ (PLA₂IV α) [(4, 5); **Figure 1**]. We have recently shown that the same enzymatic pathway is responsible for GroPIns4*P* production in macrophages upon treatment with a pro-inflammatory stimulus (unpublished results; **Figure 1**).

Glycerophosphoinositols can interact with intracellular targets and/or be released into the extracellular medium through specific

membrane transporters, following their chemical gradient. The GroPIns transporter, which is responsible for the bidirectional transfer of GroPIns, was initially identified in yeast (6), and its human ortholog is the Glut2 permease (7). Reasonably, Glut2 represents only one of the mammalian GroPIns transporters, as it has cell-specific expression patterns, while GroPIns membrane permeation appears to be a general process. There is also evidence of GroPIns4*P* membrane transport. Although no specific transporter for GroPIns4*P* has been identified to date, several GroPIns4*P*-mediated activities show biochemical features that indicate specific, transporter-mediated mechanisms (8).

The half-life of GPIs is relatively short both inside the cell and in the extracellular milieu. This applies in particular to the phosphorylated, biologically active derivative, GroPIns4*P* which is rapidly metabolized within the cell, undergoing dephosphorylation to GroPIns through a Ca²⁺-dependent and GroPIns4*P*-selective activity associated with the cell membrane fraction (**Figure 1**). Alternatively, a Ca²⁺-insensitive activity leads to the phosphorylation of GroPIns4*P* to GroPIns4,5*P*₂ (8). GroPIns can be reacylated to phosphatidylinositol (PtdIns) both in whole cells and in membrane fractions. At variance, no detectable reacylation of GroPIns4*P* has been documented to date (8).

The glycerophosphodiesterases GDE1 and GDE3, both of which are membrane-bound ectoenzymes, catalyze the hydrolysis of extracellular GroPIns (9, 10). GDE1 is ubiquitously expressed and hydrolyzes GroPIns to produce inositol and glycerol phosphate (9). GDE1 activity is regulated by G-protein-coupled receptors, and it is stimulated by β -adrenergic receptor agonists but inhibited by α -adrenergic receptor agonists and lysophosphatidic



acid, thus providing a further level of modulation of GroPIns metabolism (9). GDE3 is a marker of osteoblast differentiation, and is predominantly expressed in mature osteocytes (11). GDE3 hydrolyzes GroPIns with a different type of attack of the phosphodiester bond, which produces inositol phosphate and glycerol (10). GroPIns4*P* is not substrate of GDE1 or GDE3, but it can compete with GroPIns for its hydrolysis by these glycerophosphodiesterases (9, 10).

GPI PRODUCTION IN IMMUNE CELLS

GroPins IS PRODUCED BY MACROPHAGES IN RESPONSE TO PRO-INFLAMMATORY STIMULI

A number of pharmacological and pro-inflammatory stimuli have been shown to trigger phosphoinositide hydrolysis in macrophages (2). Similar to other cell types, GroPIns production in these cells is regulated by a Ca²⁺-dependent pathway involving the PLA₂-catalyzed deacylation of PtdIns (2). Studies on macrophages treated with cholera or pertussis toxin provided evidence that PLA₂ is activated downstream of G proteins, catalyzing the hydrolysis of PtdIns and leading to the production of arachidonic acid derivatives and GroPIns (12). A similar pathway was identified in Kupffer cells, the resident macrophages of the liver, following stimulation with inflammatory mediators produced upon bacterial endotoxin challenge (13, 14). A concerted activation of the arachidonate pathway and production of GroPIns has been reported in several other cell types (2).

PLA₂IV α , which had been identified as the specific, Ca²⁺dependent PLA₂ responsible for GroPIns production in thyroid cells (4), has been recently demonstrated to carry out this function also in macrophages. Zizza and colleagues (5) showed that PLA₂IVa, which is abundantly expressed in macrophages, is phosphorylated by the MAP kinases Erk1/2 and by the stress-activated kinases p38 and JNK and translocates to the membrane of nascent phagosomes during Fc-Receptor (FcR)-mediated phagocytosis. A selective PLA₂IVa activation was observed to also occur upon LPS treatment which, similar to FcR engagement, triggers arachidonic acid release (5). Moreover, pharmacological inhibition of PLA2IVa completely abolished both LPS- and phagocytosismediated GroPIns production. Interestingly, a time course analysis of GroPIns production during FcR-mediated phagocytosis revealed a persistent increase in the levels of intracellular GroPIns over time, which was paralleled by GroPIns release into the extracellular medium (our unpublished observations). This suggests that GroPIns may participate in the inflammatory responses of macrophages by acting not only in an autocrine manner, but also as a paracrine factor.

The intracellular levels of the GPIs have also been measured in T-cells. Mass spectrometry data showed that Jurkat T-cells are among the cell lines with low intracellular levels of GroPIns (45 \pm 1 μ M) (15, 16). Moreover, these basal levels are not increased by known pharmacological activators of PLA₂IVa, such as Ca²⁺ ionophores, or by chemotactic stimuli, such as CXCL12, which suggests that a Ca²⁺-independent enzyme is involved in GroPIns production in these cells. Alternatively, the concentrations of arachidonoyl-substituted PtdIns, the GPI precursor, may not be sufficient to produce significant increases in the levels of intracellular GroPIns.

MODULATION OF GroPins PRODUCTION DURING IMMUNE CELL DIFFERENTIATION

Phospholipase A₂ activation is not only triggered by plasmamembrane receptors but also occurs during cell differentiation (17-19). Mountford and colleagues provided evidence that the levels of phosphoinositides change during the differentiation of both myeloid and lymphoid cells (20-22). Using HL60 promyelocytic cells, which can differentiate either to neutrophils in response to all-trans retinoic acid and granulocyte-colony-stimulating factor or to monocytes in response to 1α -25-dihydroxyvitamin D₃, they showed that the intracellular GroPIns levels increased in the early stages of differentiation to either lineages, eventually doubling in fully differentiated cells. Consistent with these findings, GroPIns levels increased in neutrophils that spontaneously differentiated in culture, as compared to the initial blasts (22). Similar experiments, carried out on paired cell lines representative of immature and mature states of B-lymphocytes (Ba/F3 and NSI cells) and T-lymphocytes (S49 and C8166 cells) showed substantial increases in GroPIns levels in the cells representative of the mature states (22). Although more accurate methods to quantitate GroPIns as well as more physiological differentiation conditions will be required to validate these data, the changes in the concentrations of intracellular GroPIns suggest a role for this metabolite in the regulation of both myeloid and lymphoid cell differentiation.

GroPIns4P PRODUCTION BY MACROPHAGES

In addition to GroPIns, its monophosphorylated derivative, GroPIns4P, has been detected in several cell types, including macrophages [(2); our unpublished observations)]. PLA₂IV α , is responsible for the production of both GPIs (i.e., GroPIns and GroPIns4P), based on the relative availability of the respective lipid precursors (PtdIns and PtdIns4P, respectively) [(4, 5); our unpublished observations]. A conundrum in these studies are the technical limitations in the accurate measurement of these metabolites. For example, the relatively high levels of GroPIns make the detection of small increases more difficult, which might explain why increases in GroPIns4P (which generally represents <3% of the total GPIs) do not always appear to be paralleled by increases in GroPIns. The rapid metabolism of GroPIns4P is a further drawback for precise determinations of its levels, although this was partially overcome by performing GroPIns4P measurements in the presence of orthovanadate, a general phosphatase inhibitor (2), which made it possible to monitor GroPIns4P increases in macrophages exposed to LPS (our unpublished observation). At variance with macrophages, no detectable production of GroPIns4P can be observed in T-cells (16).

THE GPIS AS MODULATORS OF T-CELL FUNCTIONS: FACTS AND HYPOTHESES

GroPins4P PROMOTES ACTIN POLYMERIZATION IN T-LYMPHOCYTES

Cortical actin rearrangements, which are regulated by the Rho family of small GTPases (23), are crucial for a number of processes that orchestrate T-lymphocyte activation and motility (24, 25). Exogenous administration of GroPIns4*P* to fibroblasts induces the formation of actin ruffles and stress fibers by modulating the activity of Rac and Rho (26, 27), suggesting a potential role for this phosphoinositide derivative in the regulation of the actin cytoskeleton in other cell types. Treatment of both Jurkat T-cells and peripheral blood lymphocytes from healthy donors with GroPIns4*P* induces indeed actin polymerization (16), suggesting that the processes involving F-actin dynamics, including redistribution of components associated with lymphocyte motility and immune synapse assembly might be modulated by GroPIns4*P*.

The ability of GroPIns4*P* to promote actin polymerization in T-cells stems, at least in part, from its ability to induce the phosphorylation of the GDP/GTP exchanger Vav (16), which controls the activation of Rac and Cdc42 in hematopoietic cells (28). These data are consistent with the finding that GroPIns4*P* triggers a signaling cascade in fibroblasts that leads to plasma-membrane translocation of Tiam1, a Rac-specific GDP/GTP exchanger in these cells (27). This activity provides a mechanistic explanation of the agonistic effects of GroPIns4*P* on the actin cytoskeleton dynamics.

The ability of GroPIns4*P* to promote Vav activation suggests the possibility that it may also modulate gene expression. Vav initiates indeed a pathway involving recruitment to active Rac of the serine/threonine kinase Pak1, which triggers the activation of p38 and JNK that directly or indirectly activate a number of transcription factors (29). Consistent with this notion, T-cell treatment with GroPIns4*P* resulted in activation of both p38 and JNK, with a similar time course as Vav (16).

VAV ACTIVATION BY GroPIns4P REQUIRES LCK

Tyrosine phosphorylation of Vav is mediated by the cooperative activity of Syk and Src family protein tyrosine kinases (PTKs) (28). We have shown that treatment of T-cells with GroPIns4P results in enhanced Lck activity [(16); Figure 2]. Although other mechanisms may account for Vav activation, this event is likely to be causal to the agonistic activity of GroPIns4P on Vav activation and the resulting actin cytoskeleton rearrangements. GroPIns4P fails indeed to trigger Vav phosphorylation in the Lck-deficient Jurkat T-cell variant JCaM.1 (16, 30). Moreover, GroPIns4P triggers Src phosphorylation in fibroblasts, which is required for plasma-membrane translocation of Tiam1 (27). Lck activation, as well as Src activation, is not a direct effect of GroPIns4P, at least as assessed in vitro (16). Unfortunately, while these studies have restricted the field, no final mechanism of action for the GPIs can be postulated, until a proteomic approach to identify direct interactors can be completed.

GroPIns4P TARGETS LCK-DEPENDENT SIGNALING BY MODULATING cAMP

In quiescent T-cells Lck is kept in an inactive state by the inhibitory kinase Csk, which becomes phosphorylated and activated by the cAMP-dependent serine/threonine protein kinase A (PKA) (31).



FIGURE 2 | Convergence of signals by CXCL12 and GroPIns4P on adenylate cyclase activity. CXCL12 binding to its cognate receptor CXCR4 leads to activation of Lck, which stably interacts with the receptor. Lck in turn phosphorylates multiple tyrosine residues in the cytosolic tails of the TCR/CD3 complex, thereby triggering a signaling cascade involving Vav activation and eventually actin cytoskeletal rearrangements. Lck activity is further potentiated by CXCR4-dependent stimulation of Gi protein which, by inhibiting adenylate cyclase, lowers the levels of intracellular cAMP, resulting in decreased PKA-dependent activation of Csk, a negative regulator of Lck. GroPIns4P potentiates migratory signaling by CXCL12 by blocking the activity of Gs protein, thereby further lowering adenylate cyclase activity and hence the intracellular cAMP levels and contributing to Lck activation. Phosphorylation states and events are shown as small blue circles.

We showed that treatment of Jurkat T-cells with GroPIns4*P* results in a decrease in the levels of cAMP, leading to impaired PKA activation and Csk phosphorylation. Hence the agonistic activity of GroPIns4*P* on Lck activation and downstream signaling results from its ability to inhibit cAMP production (16). These results are consistent with the finding that GroPIns4*P* (but not GroPIns or GroPIns4,5*P*₂) inhibits adenylate cyclase activity in other cell types (32, 33). It is noteworthy that cAMP/PKA-mediated modulation of molecules downstream of Lck may also contribute to its effects on F-actin dynamics in T-cells (34), including Rho itself, which is phosphorylated by PKA on an inhibitory residue (35, 36).

The ability of GroPIns4*P* to activate Lck, which is responsible for initiation of the T-cell receptor (TCR) signaling cascade, strongly suggests that other signaling events, in addition to the Vav/p38/JNK pathway, might be triggered by GroPIns4*P*. One of the key targets of Lck both in TCR (37) and chemokine receptor signaling (38) is the PTK ZAP-70, which couples these receptors to multiple signaling pathways, including the Ras/MAP kinase pathway (39). GroPIns4*P* induces indeed the activation of ZAP-70 and the adaptor Shc (16), which interacts with, and becomes phosphorylated by ZAP-70 in response to TCR engagement and contributes to Ras activation by recruiting the Grb2/Sos complex (40). Consistent with its ability to promote Shc phosphorylation, GroPIns4*P* activates Erk1/2. These effects of GroPIns4*P* are crucially dependent on Lck, as they fail to occur in JCaM.1 cells (16).

GroPIns4P ENHANCES CXCR4 SIGNALING

The ability of GroPIns4*P* to promote actin polymerization in T-cells profoundly influences their responses to chemokines.

GroPIns4*P* (but not the other GPIs) enhances indeed CXCR4dependent chemotaxis toward CXCL12 (16), a chemokine that regulates lymphocyte homing to secondary lymphoid organs under homeostatic conditions (39). Interestingly, the two signals may converge, at least in part, on adenylate cyclase. In fact, CXCL12-mediated activation of CXCR4 promotes the release of the α -subunit of heterotrimeric inhibitory G protein (G_i), thereby inhibiting adenylate cyclase activity (39). Moreover, in Jurkat Tcells GroPIns4*P* reverses the cAMP-elevating activity of cholera toxin, which ADP-ribosylates the α -subunit of stimulatory G proteins (G_s) resulting in their persistent activation. This indicates that GroPIns4*P* is able to decrease cAMP production and cAMP/PKA-dependent Csk activation by inhibiting G_s. These mechanisms can account for the additive effect of CXCL12 and GroPIns4*P* on Lck activation [(16); **Figure 2**].

Recent evidence supports a crosstalk between the TCR and CXCR4. The TCR is indeed transactivated by CXCR4 which then uses the TCR machinery to elicit and potentiate downstream signaling (38, 41). Similar to other G-protein-coupled receptors, CXCR4 directly interacts with and activates Lck. The association of CXCR4 with the TCR at the cell surface allows Lck to localize in close contact with the intracellular domains of the TCR/CD3 complex and phosphorylate CD3ζ, thereby triggering downstream signaling (39). By promoting Lck activation GroPIns4*P* might potentiate the ability of CXCR4 to transactivate the TCR and hence enhance the signaling cascades leading to T-cell chemotaxis, including the pathway leading to the Lck-dependent recruitment of Shc to the CXCR4/TCR dimer.

GroPins4P PRODUCTION BY BYSTANDER CELLS: A POTENTIAL MECHANISM TO CONTROL T-CELL RESPONSES IN THE LOCAL MICROENVIRONMENT

How can the evidence obtained using exogenously added GroPIns4P be related to the physiological context of T-cell trafficking? Measurements of the GPI levels in Jurkat T-cells using a quantitative mass spectrometry approach revealed that these cells are among those with the lowest intracellular levels of GroPIns (15). At variance with T-cells, macrophages produce large amounts of GPIs in response to pro-inflammatory stimuli (2, 5), generating a gradient for their transporter-mediated release into the extracellular medium (2, 15, 42). We propose that these macrophage-derived GPIs may act as paracrine factors for lymphocytes. In this scenario, GPIs produced at the site of infection would enhance effector T-cell recruitment, and thereby contribute to bacterial clearance. Interestingly, among the highest GPI producers are certain tumor cells (2, 43). The release of these metabolites, combined with chemotactic signals provided by the tumor microenvironment (44), could be hypothesized to promote T-cell infiltration and activation of anti-tumor immunity.

GPIs AND T-CELL FATE: A WORKING HYPOTHESIS

By promoting the activation of Lck, exogenous administration of GroPIns4*P* to T-lymphocytes triggers a Rho-family dependent pathway that is integrated with chemokine receptor signaling to potentiate T-cell chemotaxis (16). Given the central role of Lck as the initiator kinase in TCR signaling (37), it can be hypothesized that GroPIns4*P* has the ability to modulate T-cell activation.

Lck has also been implicated in the regulation of T-cell apoptosis induced by a wide range of stimuli, including prolonged TCR stimulation (45) and treatment with sphingosine (46), and it is also an essential component of the signaling pathways that control Ca^{2+} mediated T-cell apoptosis, which involve both the conformational activation of Bax and the expression of proapoptotic Bcl-2 family members (47). How TCR engagement can lead to cell fates as diverse as activation, anergy, and apoptosis is one of the fundamental and as yet open questions in immunology. Investigating the effects of GroPIns4*P*, as well as of the other GPIs, on these processes, may provide valuable information on how TCR signaling is fine-tuned by these phosphoinositide metabolites to elicit different biological outcomes.

CONCLUSION

The interesting scenarios opened by the studies outlined in this review using exogenously added GPIs underscore the need to address the physiological function of endogenous GPIs in the modulation of immune cell function. It has however to be underlined that the results summarized in the present review, while in part validated on normal peripheral T-cells, have been largely obtained by exogenous administration of GroPIns4*P* to Jurkat T-cells, which are known to be defective in the activity of enzymes

REFERENCES

- Berrie CP, Dragani LK, van der Kaay J, Iurisci C, Brancaccio A, Rotilio D, et al., Maintenance of PtdIns45P2 pools under limiting inositol conditions, as assessed by liquid chromatographytandem mass spectrometry and PtdIns45P2 mass evaluation in Ras-transformed cells. Eur J Cancer (2002) 38:2463–75. doi:10.1016/ S0959-8049(02)00485-9
- Corda D, Iurisci C, Berrie CP. Biological activities and metabolism of the lysophosphoinositides and glycerophosphoinositols. *Biochim Biophys Acta* (2002) 1582:52–69. doi: 10.1016/S1388-1981(02)00137-3
- Dragani LK, Berrie CP, Corda D, Rotilio D. Analysis of glycerophosphoinositol by liquid chromatography-electrospray ionisation tandem mass spectrometry using a beta-cyclodextrinbonded column. J Chromatogr B Analyt Technol Biomed Life Sci (2004) 802:283–9. doi: 10.1016/j.jchromb.2003.12.002
- Mariggio S, Sebastia J, Filippi BM, Iurisci C, Volonte C, Amadio S, et al., A novel pathway of cell growth regulation mediated by a PLA2alphaderived phosphoinositide metabolite. *FASEB J* (2006) 20:2567–9. doi: 10.1096/fj.05-5397fje
- Zizza P, Iurisci C, Bonazzi M, Cossart P, Leslie CC, Corda D, et al., Phospholipase A2IValpha regulates phagocytosis independent of its enzymatic activity. J Biol Chem

(2012) **287**:16849–59. doi:10.1074/ jbc.M111.309419

- Patton-Vogt JL, Henry SA. GIT1, a gene encoding a novel transporter for glycerophosphoinositol in *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*. *Genetics* (1998) 149:1707–15.
- Mariggio S, Iurisci C, Sebastia J, Patton-Vogt J, Corda D. Molecular characterization of a glycerophosphoinositol transporter in mammalian cells. *FEBS Lett* (2006) 580:6789–96. doi:10.1016/j.febslet. 2006.11.039
- Berrie CP, Iurisci C, Corda D. Membrane transport and in vitro metabolism of the Ras cascade messenger, glycerophosphoinositol 4-phosphate. *Eur J Biochem* (1999) **266**:413–9. doi: 10.1046/j.1432-1327.1999.00870.x
- Zheng B, Berrie CP, Corda D, Farquhar MG. GDE1/MIR16 is a glycerophosphoinositol phosphodiesterase regulated by stimulation of G protein-coupled receptors. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2003) **100**:1745–50. doi:10.1073/ pnas.0337605100
- Corda D, Kudo T, Zizza P, Iurisci C, Kawai E, Kato N, et al., The developmentally regulated osteoblast phosphodiesterase GDE3 is glycerophosphoinositol-specific and modulates cell growth. J Biol Chem (2009) 284:24848–56. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M109.035444
- Yanaka N. Mammalian glycerophosphodiester phosphodiesterases. *Biosci Biotechnol*

critically involved in lipid signaling, such as PTEN (48). We have therefore to take into account a possible impact of this defect on global lipid signaling, which might also involve GPI metabolism. Since, among immune cells, the major producers of GPIs are macrophages, it will be interesting to assess the impact of this physiological source of exogenous GPIs on normal T-cells in co-culture experiments. Unfortunately the study of immune modulation by GPIs in vivo, which in principle could be approached using PLA₂IV $\alpha^{-/-}$ mice, is prevented by lack of effect of PLA₂IV α deficiency on GPI synthesis, at least in this model. This finding is likely to be accounted for by the fact that in PLA₂IV $\alpha^{-/-}$ cells GPI synthesis is taken over by the calcium-independent PLA₂VI, suggesting that a compensatory mechanism is activated under these conditions (15). A way to circumvent this problem in the future could be to generate an inducible knockout mouse lacking PLA₂IVa expression in macrophages and/or T-cells, or alternatively to modulate the expression of the specific GDEs.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

Part of the data discussed in this review was obtained with the generous support of the Italian Association for Cancer Research (AIRC) and of the Italian Ministry of Economy and Finance to the CNR for the Project "FaReBio di Qualità".

Biochem (2007) **71**:1811–8. doi: 10.1271/bbb.70062

- Burch RM, Jelsema C, Axelrod J. Cholera toxin and pertussis toxin stimulate prostaglandin E₂ synthesis in a murine macrophage cell line. *J Pharmacol Exp Ther* (1988) 244:765–73.
- Gandhi CR, Hanahan DJ, Olson MS. Two distinct pathways of platelet-activating factor-induced hydrolysis of phosphoinositides in primary cultures of rat Kupffer cells. J Biol Chem (1990) 265: 18234–41.
- 14. Gandhi CR, Stephenson K, Olson MS. A comparative study of endothelin- and platelet-activatingfactor-mediated signal transduction and prostaglandin synthesis in rat Kupffer cells. *Biochem J* (1992) 281(Pt 2):485–92.
- Corda D, Zizza P, Varone A, Filippi BM, Mariggio S. The glycerophosphoinositols: cellular metabolism and biological functions. *Cell Mol Life Sci* (2009) 66:3449–67. doi:10. 1007/s00018-009-0113-4
- 16. Patrussi L, Mariggio S, Paccani SR, Capitani N, Zizza P, Corda D, et al., Glycerophosphoinositol-4phosphate enhances SDF-1alphastimulated T-cell chemotaxis through PTK-dependent activation of Vav. Cell Signal (2007) 19:2351–60. doi: 10.1016/j.cellsig.2007.07.014
- 17. Bonser RW, Siegel MI, McConnell RT, Cuatrecasas P. The appearance of phospholipase

and cyclo-oxygenase activities in the human promyelocytic leukemia cell line HL60 during dimethyl sulfoxide-induced differentiation. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* (1981) **98**:614–20. doi:10.1016/0006-291X(81)91158-X

- Kharbanda S, Nakamura T, Datta R, Sherman ML, Kufe D. Induction of monocytic differentiation by tumor necrosis factor in phorbol ester-resistant KG-1a cells. *Cancer Commun* (1990) 2:327–32.
- Falasca M, Marino M, Carvelli A, Iurisci C, Leoni S, Corda D. Changes in the levels of glycerophosphoinositols during differentiation of hepatic and neuronal cells. *Eur J Biochem* (1996) 241: 386–92. doi:10.1111/j.1432-1033.1996.00386.x
- 20. French PJ, Bunce CM, Stephens LR, Lord JM, McConnell FM, Brown G, et al., Changes in the levels of inositol lipids and phosphates during the differentiation of HL60 promyelocytic cells towards neutrophils or monocytes. *Proc Biol Sci* (1991) **245**:193–201. doi:10.1098/ rspb.1991.0109
- 21. Bunce CM, French PJ, Patton WN, Turnell AS, Scott SA, Michell RH, et al., Levels of inositol metabolites within normal myeloid blast cells and changes during their differentiation towards monocytes. *Proc Biol Sci* (1992) 247:27–33. doi: 10.1098/rspb.1992.0005

- 22. Mountford JC, Bunce CM, French PJ, Michell RH, Brown G. Intracellular concentrations of inositol, glycerophosphoinositol and inositol pentakisphosphate increase during hematopoietic cell differentiation. *Biochim Biophys Acta* (1994) **1222**:101–8. doi:10.1016/ 0167-4889(94)90030-2
- 23. Cantrell DA. GTPases and T cell activation. *Immunol Rev* (2003) **192**:122–30. doi: 10.1034/j.1600-065X.2003.00028.x
- 24. Samstag Y, Eibert SM, Klemke M, Wabnitz GH. Actin cytoskeletal dynamics in T lymphocyte activation and migration. *J Leukoc Biol* (2003) **73**:30–48. doi:10.1189/jlb. 0602272
- Huang Y, Burkhardt JK. Tcell-receptor-dependent actin regulatory mechanisms. J Cell Sci (2007) 120:723–30. doi: 10.1242/jcs.000786
- Mancini R, Piccolo E, Mariggio S, Filippi BM, Iurisci C, Pertile P, et al., Reorganization of actin cytoskeleton by the phosphoinositide metabolite glycerophosphoinositol 4-phosphate. *Mol Biol Cell* (2003) 14:503–15. doi:10.1091/ mbc.E02-04-0179
- Filippi BM, Mariggio S, Pulvirenti T, Corda D. SRC-dependent signalling regulates actin ruffle formation induced by glycerophosphoinositol 4-phosphate. *Biochim Biophys Acta* (2008) **1783**: 2311–22. doi:10.1016/j.bbamcr. 2008.07.021
- Bustelo XR. Vav proteins, adaptors and cell signaling. Oncogene (2001) 20:6372–81. doi:10.1038/sj. onc.1204780
- Bokoch GM. Biology of the p21-activated kinases. Annu Rev Biochem (2003) 72:743–81. doi: 10.1146/annurev.biochem.72. 121801.161742
- Straus DB, Weiss A. Genetic evidence for the involvement of the lck tyrosine kinase in signal transduction through

the T cell antigen receptor. Cell (1992) **70**:585–93. doi: 10.1016/0092-8674(92)90428-F

- Mosenden R, Tasken K. Cyclic AMP-mediated immune regulation – overview of mechanisms of action in T cells. *Cell Signal* (2011) 23:1009–16. doi:10.1016/j. cellsig.2010.11.018
- 32. Iacovelli L, Falasca M, Valitutti S, D'Arcangelo D, Corda D. Glycerophosphoinositol 4-phosphate, a putative endogenous inhibitor of adenylylcyclase. *J Biol Chem* (1993) 268:20402–7.
- 33. Falasca M, Carvelli A, Iurisci C, Qiu RG, Symons MH, Corda D. Fast receptor-induced formation of glycerophosphoinositol-4phosphate, a putative novel intracellular messenger in the Ras pathway. *Mol Biol Cell* (1997) 8:443–53.
- 34. Howe AK. Regulation of actin-based cell migration by cAMP/PKA. Biochim Biophys Acta (2004) 1692:159–74. doi: 10.1016/j.bbamcr.2004.03.005
- 35. Dong JM, Leung T, Manser E, Lim L. cAMP-induced morphological changes are counteracted by the activated RhoA small GTPase and the Rho kinase ROKalpha. J Biol Chem (1998) 273:22554–62. doi: 10.1074/jbc.273.35.22554
- Ellerbroek SM, Wennerberg K, Burridge K. Serine phosphorylation negatively regulates RhoA in vivo. *J Biol Chem* (2003) 278:19023–31. doi:10.1074/jbc.M213066200
- 37. Salmond RJ, Filby A, Qureshi I, Caserta S, Zamoyska R. T-cell receptor proximal signaling via the Src-family kinases, Lck and Fyn, influences T-cell activation, differentiation, and tolerance. *Immunol Rev* (2009) 228: 9–22. doi:10.1111/j.1600-065X.2008.00745.x
- Patrussi L, Ulivieri C, Lucherini OM, Paccani SR, Gamberucci A, Lanfrancone L, et al., p52Shc

is required for CXCR4-dependent signaling and chemotaxis in T cells. *Blood* (2007) **110**:1730–8. doi:10. 1182/blood-2007-01-068411

- Patrussi L, Baldari CT. Intracellular mediators of CXCR4-dependent signaling in T cells. *Immunol Lett* (2008) 115:75–82. doi:10.1016/j. imlet.2007.10.012
- Finetti F, Savino MT, Baldari CT. Positive and negative regulation of antigen receptor signaling by the Shc family of protein adapters. *Immunol Rev* (2009) 232:115–34. doi:10.1111/j. 1600-065X.2009.00826.x
- 41. Kumar A, Humphreys TD, Kremer KN, Bramati PS, Bradfield L, Edgar CE, et al., CXCR4 physically associates with the T cell receptor to signal in T cells. *Immunity* (2006) 25:213–24. doi:10.1016/ j.immuni.2006.06.015
- Corda D, Zizza P, Varone A, Bruzik KS, Mariggio S. The glycerophosphoinositols and their cellular functions. *Biochem Soc Trans* (2012) 40:101–7. doi: 10.1042/BST20110679
- 43. Valitutti S, Cucchi P, Colletta G, Di Filippo C, Corda D. Transformation by the k-ras oncogene correlates with increases in phospholipase A2 activity, glycerophosphoinositol production and phosphoinositide synthesis in thyroid cells. *Cell Signal* (1991) 3:321–32. doi:10.1016/0898-6568(91)90061-X
- 44. Vicari AP, Caux C. Chemokines in cancer. *Cytokine Growth Factor Rev* (2002) 13:143–54. doi:10.1016/ S1359-6101(01)00033-8
- 45. Yu XZ, Levin SD, Madrenas J, Anasetti C. Lck is required for activation-induced T cell death after TCR ligation with partial agonists. *J Immunol* (2004) 172:1437–43.
- 46. Kim MJ, Park MT, Yoon CH, Byun JY, Lee SJ. Activation of Lck is critically required for sphingosineinduced conformational activation of Bak and mitochondrial cell death.

Biochem Biophys Res Commun (2008) **370**:353–8. doi:10.1016/j. bbrc.2008.03.084

- Patrussi L, Giommoni N, Pellegrini M, Gamberucci A, Baldari CT. p66Shc-dependent apoptosis requires Lck and CamKII activity. *Apoptosis* (2012) 17:174–86. doi:10. 1007/s10495-011-0663-4
- 48. Shan X, Czar MJ, Bunnell SC, Liu P, Liu Y, Schwartzberg PL, et al. Deficiency of PTEN in Jurkat T cells causes constitutive localization of Itk to the plasma membrane and hyperresponsiveness to CD3 stimulation. *Mol Cell Biol* (2000) 20:6945–57. doi:10.1128/MCB.20. 18.6945-6957.2000
- Leslie CC. Regulation of arachidonic acid availability for eicosanoid production. *Biochem Cell Biol* (2004) 82:1–17. doi: 10.1139/o03-080

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Received: 29 March 2013; paper pending published: 24 April 2013; accepted: 11 July 2013; published online: 29 July 2013. Citation: Patrussi L, Mariggiò S, Corda D and Baldari CT (2013) The glycerophosphoinositols: from lipid metabolites to modulators of T-cell signaling. Front. Immunol. 4:213. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2013.00213

This article was submitted to Frontiers in T Cell Biology, a specialty of Frontiers in Immunology.

Copyright © 2013 Patrussi, Mariggiò, Corda and Baldari. This is an openaccess article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License, which permits use, distribution and reproduction in other forums, provided the original authors and source are credited and subject to any copyright notices concerning any third-party graphics etc.



Regulation of Ras exchange factors and cellular localization of Ras activation by lipid messengers in T cells

Jesse E. Jun¹, Ignacio Rubio² and Jeroen P. Roose¹*

¹ Department of Anatomy, University of California San Francisco, San Francisco, CA, USA

² Institute for Molecular Cell Biology, Center for Sepsis Control and Care (CSCC), University Hospital, Friedrich-Schiller-University, Jena, Germany

Edited by:

Karsten Sauer, The Scripps Research Institute, USA

Reviewed by:

Kjetil Taskén, University of Oslo, Norway Balbino Alarcon, Consejo Superior de Investigaciones Científicas, Spain

*Correspondence:

Jeroen P. Roose, Department of Anatomy, University of California San Francisco, 513 Parnassus Avenue, Room HSW-1326, San Francisco, CA 94143-0452, USA e-mail: jeroen.roose@ucsf.edu The Ras-MAPK signaling pathway is highly conserved throughout evolution and is activated downstream of a wide range of receptor stimuli. Ras guanine nucleotide exchange factors (RasGEFs) catalyze GTP loading of Ras and play a pivotal role in regulating receptorligand induced Ras activity. In T cells, three families of functionally important RasGEFs are expressed: RasGRF, RasGRP, and Son of Sevenless (SOS)-family GEFs. Early on it was recognized that Ras activation is critical for T cell development and that the RasGEFs play an important role herein. More recent work has revealed that nuances in Ras activation appear to significantly impact T cell development and selection. These nuances include distinct biochemical patterns of analog versus digital Ras activation, differences in cellular localization of Ras activation, and intricate interplays between the RasGEFs during distinct T cell developmental stages as revealed by various new mouse models. In many instances, the exact nature of these nuances in Ras activation or how these may result from fine-tuning of the RasGEFs is not understood. One large group of biomolecules critically involved in the control of RasGEFs functions are lipid second messengers. Multiple, yet distinct lipid products are generated following T cell receptor (TCR) stimulation and bind to different domains in the RasGRP and SOS RasGEFs to facilitate the activation of the membrane-anchored Ras GTPases. In this review we highlight how different lipid-based elements are generated by various enzymes downstream of the TCR and other receptors and how these dynamic and interrelated lipid products may fine-tune Ras activation by RasGEFs in developing T cells.

Keywords: T cell, signaling, lipids, Ras, SOS, RasGRP, LAT, P38

NON-ONCOGENIC Ras ACTIVATION FIRST OBSERVED IN T LYMPHOCYTES

Ras is a membrane-bound small GTPase that plays a pivotal role in transducing responses to diverse extracellular signals that impact various cellular processes, prominently cell proliferation, differentiation, apoptosis (1). Ras cycles between a GTP-associated active state (Ras·GTP) and GDP-bound inactive state (Ras·GDP). In both the Ras·GDP and Ras·GTP states the nucleotide is very tightly bound (2–4) and for Ras activation to occur Ras guanine nucleotide exchange factors (RasGEFs) need to loosen the grip of Ras on the bound nucleotide, stabilizing nucleotide-free Ras that stochastically but preferentially associates with GTP, because GTP is present in the cell in higher concentrations than GDP (5). Reciprocally, GTP hydrolysis is critical for inactivation from Ras·GTP to Ras·GDP and Ras' modest intrinsic rate of GTP hydrolysis requires the hydrolysis-augmenting action of RasGAPs (Ras GTPase activating proteins) (**Figure 1**).

The physiological importance of Ras' GTPase activity was recognized in the late 80s through the detection and biochemical characterization of GTPase impairing Ras mutations commonly found in various human tumor tissues (6). Ras-GTP is a potent signaling hub, connecting to many downstream effector molecules like RAF, PI3K, and RalGDS. The best-characterized signaling cascade is the Ras-GTP-RAF-MEK-ERK pathway (4, 7, 8). In cells without mutations in Ras only a small portion of the total amount of Ras is GTP-loaded following receptor stimuli, which makes detection more challenging. In the early 90s Doreen Cantrell's group first showed Ras activation (or Ras-GTP loading) in normal T lymphocytes that were stimulated with the interleukin 2 (IL2) cytokine or a phorbol ester, agents that were known to induce lymphocyte proliferation (9, 10). The physiological significance of biochemical signals transduced by an intact Ras-RAF-MEK-ERK pathway in lymphocytes was subsequently shown through transgenic expression of mutant Ras- and MEK-alleles in thymocytes; for example, expression of dominant-negative H-Ras^{S17N} under the control of *lck* promoter or catalytically inactive MEK-1 perturbs positive selection of developing thymocytes (11, 12).

Research over the past two decades has revealed many intricate ways of regulated Ras activation, not only in lymphocytes but also in other cell types. In this review we will discuss the role of lipid messengers in regulating the Son of Sevenless (SOS) and Ras-GRP RasGEF families. We will focus on recent findings related to lipid-RasGEF regulation, recent insights from novel mouse models, as well as on the ongoing debate of the cellular compartment or location of Ras activation. For additional information on the RasGEF family of exchange factors we refer to previous review articles (8, 13–15).



THE PLAYERS; THREE FAMILIES OF Ras GUANINE NUCLEOTIDE EXCHANGE FACTORS

The earlier-mentioned dominant-negative Ras approach established a critical role for Ras in lymphocytes. Data from numerous laboratories have meanwhile demonstrated that dominantnegative Ras^{S17N} exerts its blocking action mainly by usurping and blocking RasGEFs [although other features of Ras^{S17N} probably contribute to its inhibitory action (16, 17)]. Thus, the ability of dominant-negative Ras^{S17N} to affect lymphocyte biology not only highlights the importance of Ras but points also to a critical role of GEFs.

If we fast-forward roughly two decades, we now know that lymphocytes can simultaneously express three types of RasGEF proteins (**Figure 2**). The overlapping expression profiles create the impression of seemingly redundant and unnecessary complex mechanisms to couple antigen receptor stimulation to Ras activation. However, distinct lymphocyte developmental defects in mice deficient for unique RasGEFs argue for specialized functions for each RasGEF (18–20). We will cover the mouse phenotypes in more detail in subsequent paragraphs and will first focus on the different protein domains in the three RasGEF families [also reviewed in Ref. (5, 8)].

SON OF SEVENLESS

There are two members in SOS-family RasGEFs, SOS1 and SOS2. Structurally, the SOS protein is composed of six domains that have distinct functional importance: starting from the N-terminus, the histone-like fold (HF), the Dbl homology domain (DH), the Pleckstrin homology (PH) domain, the Ras exchange motif (REM), the Cdc25 homology domain, and the proline-rich (PR) domain (**Figures 2** and **3**). The naming of HF comes from structural resemblance to histone 2 dimer H2a-H2b, and HF mediates lipid interaction with phosphatidylinositol 4,5-bis phosphate [PI(4,5)P₂,



expressed in T cells. Cartoon highlighting the general protein domains in the three families of RasGEFs: SOS, RasGRP, and RasGRF. Cdc25, Cdc25 homology domain; DH, Dbl homology domain; HF, N-terminal histone-like fold; PH, Pleckstrin homology domain; PR, C-terminal PR domain; REM, Ras exchange motif; EF, Ca²⁺-binding EF hand; C1, DAG-binding C1 domain; CC-IQ, coiled coil – ilimaquinone domain. Protein size is drawn to approximate scale based on SOS1, RasGRP1, and RasGRF1 (53).

hereafter PIP₂] or phosphatidic acid (PA) (21). The DH domain is a functional domain commonly found in Rho family GEFs, suggesting SOS may also have Rho-specific GEF function in addition to the more established RasGEF activity (22, 23). PH domains are lipid/protein-interacting domains (24). The PH domain of SOS has an auto-inhibitory function, that is regulated by interaction with membrane lipids such as PIP₂ or PA (25-29). REM-Cdc25 domains make up the RasGEF catalytic core of SOS and all other RasGEFs. Unique to SOS, its catalytic core contains two distinct Ras-binding sites: one for GDP/GTP exchange and the other for allosteric regulation of SOS by Ras (30, 31). The C-terminal PR domain is the only segment of SOS that remains to be structured for analysis. Functionally, the PR domain contains multiple PR motifs that can bind SH3 domain-containing proteins such as the SH2-SH3-SH2 adapter Grb2 (32, 33), the p85 subunit of PI3kinase (34), PLCy1 (35-38), and Avi1/E3b1 (39). In addition, the PR domain contains multiple documented phosphorylation sites of ERK and probably other kinases (40-44), spiked in between the PR stretches that are, at least in part, postulated to play a role in feedback control of SOS activity.

RAS GUANINE NUCLEOTIDE RELEASING PROTEINS

Much less is known about the function of the domains or even the identity of domains in the RasGRP RasGEFs. To date, there is no RasGRP structure and we are therefore limited to make predictions based on amino acid sequence. There are four RasGRP proteins, RasGRP-1 through RasGRP-4, with specific expression profiles and nuances in biochemical function. All RasGRP's contain a central catalytic core consisting of the catalytic REM-Cdc25 cassette. Sequence divergency between the RasGRP and SOS REM-Cdc25 cores predicts that RasGRPs are not regulated through an allosteric activation mechanism. Although RasGRP2 contains the REM-Cdc25 core and early studies indicated RasGEF activity (45), it is generally accepted that RasGRP2 functions as a GEF for the small GTPase Rap (46). Analogously, all four proteins are predicted to have a C1 domain positioned C-terminal of the catalytic core, but





again, RasGRP2 appears to be most divergent in that its C1 domain does not bind diacylglycerol (DAG) (47) and RasGRP2 protein does not translocate to the membrane when cells are stimulated with DAG analogs (48). A third shared domain in all RasGRP proteins is the pair of EF hands that occupies an interesting position in the protein, sandwiched between the catalytic core and the C1 domain (Figures 2 and 4). EF hands typically come in pairs with each hand binding one calcium ion (49, 50). However, not all EF hands bind calcium. For instance, RasGRP1 with two predicted EF hands based on the amino acid sequence can only bind one calcium ion with one EF hand, not with both (51). Close examination of the sequence similarities and divergence in the EF hand domains of all RasGRP proteins (not shown) tells us that there are likely going to be substantial differences in the ways that the different RasGRP's are regulated by calcium. Thus, the four RasGRP proteins demonstrate specific biochemical regulatory mechanisms and activities that have likely evolved over time to establish their individual exchange functions in the specific cell types where they are expressed. In this review we will not cover the differences between the RasGRPs in much more detail, instead we refer you to an excellent review by Stone (15) and one on cancer (52).

RAS GUANINE NUCLEOTIDE RELEASING FACTOR

More closely related to SOS than RasGRP are RasGRF's; RasGRF-1 and RasGRF-2 make up this family of proteins with multiple domains [reviewed in Ref. (53)]. Similar to the two other RasGEF family proteins, RasGRF proteins contain a REM-CDC25 catalytic core domain. Uniquely, RasGRFs contain two PH domains; one at the N-terminus (PH1) and the other PH in tandem with the DH domain (PH2), similar to the configuration of the DH-PH domain of SOS-family proteins (Figure 2). PH1 cooperates to promote stimulation-dependent membrane localization of RasGRF in fibroblasts, probably through interaction with membrane lipid (53-55). The coiled-coil (CC) domain is known to mediate protein oligomerization (56), whereas the ilimaguinone (IQ) domain mediates calmodulin binding (57). In cooperation with the PH1 domain, CC and IQ domains notably mediate the interaction with a MAPK p38 scaffold protein IB2/JIP2 in COS7 cells (58), which is interesting because the DH-PH domain of RasGRF has GEF activity toward Rac (59, 60) indicating that RasGRF may efficiently link Rac to the p38 pathway through the IB2/JIP2 scaffold protein (58).

EXPRESSION PATTERNS OF THE EIGHT RASGEF GENES

The RasGRP and RasGRF families of exchange factors have tissuespecific expression patterns whereas SOS proteins are ubiquitously expressed (15). For instance, RasGRP1 is expressed in dynamic patterns in developing T cells (20, 61), in the brain (46), and in primary keratinocytes (62). RasGRF1 and RasGRF2 are predominantly expressed in the central nervous system (63). In addition, RasGRF2, but not RasGRF1, is expressed in T cells (64). Analyses of *rasgrf2*-deficient mice revealed that this RasGEF play a critical role in the activation of NFAT target genes in T cells (64). However, T cell development is normal in *Rasgrf2^{-/-}* mice, and Rasgrf2 appears to have only limited activity toward Ras-ERK in T cells (64). We will therefore limit ourselves to the regulation of SOS and RasGRP here. Significantly, these two distinct types of Ras-GEFs cooperate to establish robust yet controlled activation of Ras



FIGURE 4 | Activation of RasGRP. (A) Depiction of RasGRP with its protein domains BasGRPs must be controlled to prevent spurious Bas activation but the exact mechanism of auto-inhibition is unknown. Roles for various domains C-terminal of the Cdc25 domain to limit membrane recruitment of RasGRP have been proposed. (B) DAG-regulated membrane recruitment of RasGRP. Receptor-induced generation of diacylglycerol (DAG) results in efficient membrane recruitment on RasGRP1, RasGRP3, and RasGRP4 where these RasGEFs can encounter Ras-GDP to activate it to Ras-GTP. RasGRP1 and RasGRP3 are known to be phosphorylated on a conserved threonine residue at the very start of the Cdc25 domain, which enhances their catalytic activity through an unknown mechanism. RasGRP2 does not efficiently bind DAG and must have a different membrane-recruiting mechanism. (C) Other regulatory mechanisms for RasGRP. Amino acid sequence homologies predict that RasGRPs lack and allosteric Ras-binding pocket as the one observed for SOS. RasGRP proteins contain EF hands, structure that can often bind calcium. Calcium has been implicated in the recruitment of RasGRP1 to the membrane but nuances appear to exist in different cell types. It is not known if other lipid moieties such as PIP2 can regulate the activity or residence time of RasGRP1 at the membrane.

and Ras' RAF-MEK-ERK effector pathway (65, 66). In response to T cell receptor (TCR) stimulation, both RasGRP1 and SOS are recruited to the membrane where they encounter membraneanchored Ras and both convert Ras-GDP to Ras-GTP. Why is it then that knockout mouse models for SOS1 and RasGRP1 show different impairments in terms of thymocyte selection and T cell development (20, 61, 67)?

AUTO-INHIBITION OF SOS RasGEFs

Ample structural and cellular studies indicate that catalytic activity of SOS1 is self-limited by an intramolecular auto-inhibitory mechanism which involves multiple internal protein domains. Autoinhibition can be relieved by membrane signals from proteins and lipid species. The physiological relevance of auto-inhibition of SOS1 is highlighted by a clinical condition called Noonan syndrome (NS). NS is a relatively common autosomal developmental abnormality and RASopathy, a disease that is caused by germline mutations in molecules leading to modestly increased Ras signaling (68, 69). NS is genetically heterogeneous: the majority of mutations are associated with PTPN11, K-Ras, N-Ras, SOS1, B-Raf, Raf-1, SHOC1, and CBL (69). Among eight NS-associated genes, missense mutations in SOS1 are identified in about 10% of NS cases (69-73). Most NS-associated SOS1 mutations are predicted to relieve auto-inhibiting structural constraints within SOS1, allowing increased signal output through the Ras pathway. Indeed, several NS-associated SOS1 mutant alleles (R552G, E108K, W729L, and E846K) have been experimentally characterized in vivo, showing increased Ras GTP accumulation and ERK activation at basal state or upon stimulation (70, 71, 74, 75). These findings visibly illustrate that normal SOS1 function is tightly regulated and highlight the clinical relevance of such regulation (Figure 3A). These observed defects in fine-tuning of Ras activity control in NS cells are also likely to impact on the patient's immune biology, because patients with gain-of-function mutations in Ras proteins are at a higher risk of developing autoimmune disorders (76-79). In the following few sections, we will review the literature on normal SOS regulatory mechanisms and how membrane-based signals from proteins and phospholipids influence the activation status of SOS.

MEMBRANE RECRUITMENT OF SOS BY Grb2: INITIAL STEP IN SOS ACTIVATION

T cell receptor stimulation leads to rapid activation of Src family kinases and the Syk family kinase ZAP70. ZAP70 phosphorylates the adapter LAT, a key scaffold to which various downstream signal transducers are assembled, including molecules that are coupled to Ras-MAPK pathway activation (80). Prior to cell stimulation, most SOS is found in the cytoplasmic compartment, constitutively bound to the SH3-SH2-SH3 domain-containing adapter Grb2. Upon stimulation, SOS rapidly localizes to the plasma membrane (PM) (32, 33, 81, 82). SOS1 membrane targeting is an essential event for SOS-Ras activation and is mediated by binding of the SH2 domain of Grb2 (with SOS1) to phosphorylated tyrosine residues of LAT (82). A truncated SOS1 variant incapable of Grb2 binding is still functional as a RasGEF but can activate Ras only if targeted elsewise to the membrane, indicating that membrane recruitment is an essential step in ligand-dependent activation of SOS (83). Unlike Ras, lipid modification of SOS was never been reported.

Therefore, Grb2-mediated membrane anchorage has been viewed as the key regulatory mechanism of SOS GEF signal output.

However, the traditional view that Grb2 association is dominant or even essential for SOS1 membrane targeting has also been challenged. Expression of C-terminally truncated SOS1 incapable of Grb2 binding has been documented to have comparable or even better Ras-ERK signal responses compared to full-length SOS1 (84–86). Similarly, SOS^{ΔC}, a C-terminally truncated SOS mutant lacking residues 1050-1333 becomes recruited to the membrane in response to serum stimulation, indicating that Grb2 is not the only mechanism for ligand-dependent SOS1 membrane targeting (29). These studies may collectively imply that Grb2 is a redundant mechanism for stimulation-dependent SOS membrane localization and subsequent SOS activation. However, little attention is given to the physiological relevance of the protein levels of the C-terminal truncated SOS1 variant examined in these studies and time kinetics of Ras-ERK response. It is very plausible that Grb2 is important and a major membrane anchorage mechanism when physiological levels of SOS1 are available to the activated ligand. Supporting this notion, structural studies and recent mouse embryonic stem cell (mESC) study demonstrate that, besides Grb2-mediated membrane recruitment, the SOS1 activity is determined by summation of weak to moderate membrane protein and lipid interactions mediated by multiple protein domains of SOS1 (87).

ALLOSTERIC ACTIVATION OF SOS; A POSITIVE FEEDBACK LOOP

The SOS1-mediated nucleotide exchange rate on Ras is 500-fold higher when Ras is membrane-bound compared to when Ras activation is measured in solution (88), supporting a view that ligand-dependent membrane recruitment of SOS1 not only exists to promote the chance of substrate encounter but is also instrumental to enhance SOS1 enzymatic activity. One hint for the existence and identity of additional membrane signals regulating SOS1 came from structural studies by the Bar-Sagi and Kuriyan groups. Unexpectedly SOS1 was found to be associated with two discrete Ras molecules, forming a 2:1 ternary complex between two Ras molecules and one SOS1 molecule. One Ras molecule serves as a substrate and is bound at its catalytic pocket within the Cdc25 domain, while the second non-substrate Ras occupies the allosteric site in the REM domain (31). Occupation of the allosteric site by Ras-GTP results in conformational change stabilizing SOS1 catalytic pocket and stimulates in vitro nucleotide exchange activity by ~75-fold (89, 90). In support of this notion, a SOS1 mutant unable to bind to Ras at allosteric site (W729E) shows reduced affinity for Ras at the catalytic site and has low in vitro activity (89). The allosteric Ras-binding pocket shows 10-fold higher affinity for GTP-loaded Ras than Ras GDP. This preferential affinity for Ras-GTP endows SOS1 to sense the activation status of Ras at the membrane and establishes a positive feedback regulation (Figure 3B) (31, 91). Ectopic expression studies provided in vivo evidence of allosteric regulation of SOS1 in COS-1 cells (89, 91) or Jurkat cells (65, 66). Recently, allosteric mutant-SOS1 reconstitution into SOS-deficient mESC (87) and DT40 B cells (92) provided more definitive proof of allosteric SOS1 activation regulating the output through the Ras-ERK pathway. In addition to enhancing catalytic activity of SOS, allosteric Ras-GTP binding could potentially affect SOS residence time at the PM by providing an additional membrane anchor for SOS1 other than Grb2 binding.

REGULATION OF SOS BY MEMBRANE LIPIDS

Current evidence argues that allosteric Ras binding to SOS1 is such a pivotal step that SOS stays inactive unless Ras-GTP is bound at the allosteric site (93). Then, how has SOS1 evolved to limit spontaneous signaling yet allow for controlled allosteric activation near the membrane interface? In this regard, N-terminal SOS domains play a critical role in regulating SOS1 activation in the context of membrane proximity by sensing membrane lipids.

One membrane lipid sensing N-terminal regulatory unit is the tandem DH and PH domain. In vitro and in vivo studies identified DH-PH domain being important for membrane-proximal SOS regulation (29, 84, 87, 93). DH domain is commonly found with GTP exchange factors (discussed later). In SOS, the DH domain serves as a gatekeeper preventing promiscuous access to the allosteric Ras-binding pocket. In its auto-inhibited state, SOS1 DH domain blocks the allosteric pocket from Ras binding, which has a critical impact on SOS1's catalytic pocket. Without allosteric activation the catalytic pocket is not fully receptive to accommodate Ras-GDP and the helical hairpin of SOS1 is not in the correct orientation to dislodge GDP from Ras (89, 93). PH domain is generally known for protein or lipid interactions (55). The PH domain of SOS1 was shown to have affinity for PIP_2 (25–28) or PA (29). The auto-inhibiting DH domain can be released by electrostatic interaction of membrane PIP₂ or PA with positively charged residues within the PH domain (29, 93). Therefore, lipid-DH-PH interactions facilitate re-orientation of SOS1 at the membrane interface, allowing allosteric Ras binding (Figure 3C). In support, addition of cell-permeable PA to COS-1 cells is sufficient to induce GTP loading of Ras, and charge-inversion mutations of H475E and R479E in SOS1 abolish PA interaction and PA-induced Ras-GTP loading response (29). Similarly, two different basic residues (K456 and R459) within the PH domain interact with PIP₂ (93). The biological significance of PIP2-PH domain interaction during mESC differentiation was elegantly demonstrated in a recent report from Tony Pawson's group (87).

Located upstream of DH-PH domains, the HF is an evolutionarily conserved segment (residue 1-191) resembling dimerized histone (21). Based on structural studies, this HF docks itself into the helical linker region of SOS1, located between DH-PH domains and catalytic segment (REM-Cdc25), ensuring SOS autoinhibition by blocking allosteric activation and by stabilizing a closed conformation of SOS (88, 94). HF interacts with membrane lipids such as PA and PIP2, and HF-lipid interaction reverses autoinhibitory docking, allowing allosteric and catalytic Ras binding at distal and proximal Ras-binding sites (75, 88). Electrostatic charge distribution at the phospholipid-interacting interface of HF appears to be finely tuned by charge neutralization, e.g., the negatively charged residue E108 is surrounded by patches of basic residues (75). Disturbing charge balance by offsetting positive charges leads to reduced Ras-ERK activation in COS-1 and mouse ES cells (75, 87). Additionally, a negative charge neutralization mutation (E108K) is found to be associated with a hyperactive SOS1 allele of human NS (71, 75).

There are some inconsistencies in the lipid species recognized by SOS1's N-terminal regulatory domains (29, 75, 88, 93). This discrepancy might arise from the variability in the presence of regulatory domains or post-translational modifications of the SOS1 proteins investigated. Perhaps more significant, membrane lipids are also dynamically regulated during cell activation processes (reviewed in Krishna and Zhong (95) in this Research Topic and by Sauer and Cooke (96)). Perhaps, the reported discrepancies regarding the role of lipid species may reflect heterogeneous lipid patterns in distinct cellular backgrounds and the involvement of different lipids at different stage of SOS1 activation.

Taken together, studies *in vitro* and *in vivo* support the view that N-terminal HF and DH-PH domains serve as membrane lipid sensing regulatory segments. On one hand, lipid mediated regulation of SOS1 leads to juxtaposition of SOS1 to substrate/effector. On the other hand, the regulatory domains also contribute to prevent spontaneous activation of SOS1. In this regard, it is worth noting that the second class of human NS-associated SOS1 mutations target N-terminal regulatory domains and often implicate enhanced membrane recruitment of the mutant SOS protein (73).

RasGRP AUTO-INHIBITION?

RasGRP proteins have been studied most extensively in T- and B-lymphocytes. In these lymphocytes, RasGRP1 and RasGRP3 activate Ras in a manner that is non-redundant with SOS (18, 65, 97–101). More recently, RasGRP proteins, particularly Ras-GRP1, have also been associated with human diseases such as autoimmune disease and cancer.

Single nucleotide variants near *RASGRP1* are associated with susceptibility to autoimmune (Type 1) diabetes and to thyroid autoantibodies in Graves disease (102, 103). At this point it is not known what effect these variants in non-coding regions of the *RasGRP1* gene have, but possible mechanisms include altered expression or RasGRP1. *RASGRP1* splice variants have been documented for patients with systemic lupus erythematosus (SLE) (104). Several of these RasGRP1 mRNA splice variants are predicted to miss portions of RasGRP1's EF hands, which may have an important regulatory role (see below). In addition, it also appeared that many splice variants resulted in lower proteins expression levels of RasGRP1 (104).

RasGRP4 was originally isolated as a Ras activator in acute myeloid leukemia (AML) (105). RasGRP3 plays a role in human melanoma (106) and in prostate cancer (107) that are distinct from those of SOS. When overexpressed from transgenes, Ras-GRP1 promotes the development of squamous cell carcinoma and melanoma in mouse models in conjunction with skin wounding or carcinogen painting of the skin (108–110). Transgenic over-expression of RasGRP1 in developing T lymphocytes causes thymic lymphomas in mice (111) and several unbiased mouse model screens for leukemia genes have identified the RasGRP1 locus as a hot-spot for leukemia virus integrations driving blood cancer (112–114). The molecular basis of these viral integrations is that these cause leukemia through the dysregulated expression of the target gene, typically through overexpression. Significantly, Oki and colleagues as well as our own group have recently shown that elevated RasGRP1 expression also occurs in T cell leukemia patients (115, 116). For more detailed reading on RasGRP1's role in cancer we refer you to a different review (52). Needless to say these studies collectively indicate that RasGRP1 requires tight regulation. Regulation occurs most definitely at the level of RasGRP1 expression since dysregulated expression of a wild-type RasGRP1 form results in leukemia (116). Extrapolating from our knowledge of SOS1, we propose that RasGRP1 also possesses an auto-inhibited state (**Figure 4A**) to prevent spurious activation and to balance the activating mechanisms of molecules like DAG, which we will discuss next.

DIACYLGLYCEROL AS A RasGRP1 ACTIVATOR

Phorbol esters such as PMA (a synthetic DAG analog produced out of the plant-derived compound phorbol) had long been known as potent stimulators of Ras activation, but it was not until 1998 when Stone and colleagues cloned the *RasGRP1* gene, that the biochemical connection between DAG and Ras activation was established (51).

In T lymphocytes that receive a TCR stimulus, PLCy1 is recruited to the membrane and activated so that it cleaves PIP₂ into inositol-3-phosphate (IP₃) and DAG. IP3 couples to the calcium pathway (117) and we will come back to this in a moment. The increase of DAG levels in the membrane results in recruitment of RasGRP1 through its C1 domain to the membrane where is can activate Ras (Figure 4B) (19, 51). There is a second, indirect route from DAG to RasGRP1 and RasGRP3, which involves PKC-mediated phosphorylation of these two RasGEFs. RasGRP1 is phosphorylated on threonine 184 (T184) in TCR-stimulated T cells whereas RasGRP3 is phosphorylated on the analogous site, T133, in BCR-stimulated B cells (97, 100, 118). Mutations of T184 or T133 into alanine residues results in impaired, but not absent, stimulus-dependent Ras activation (97, 118) and incubation of cells with PKC inhibitors blocks the phosphorylation of RasGRP1 on T184 (65, 97, 100), providing a rationale for the long established observation that PKC inhibition inhibits the output through the Ras-ERK pathway in lymphocytes. How the phosphorylation of RasGRP1 and RasGRP3 enhances their RasGEF activity is not known.

Because of DAG's prominent role in RasGRP1 and RasGRP3 activation in T- and B-lymphocytes, generation of DAG by PLCy enzymes, and turnover by DAG kinases (DGKs) should be considered. In agreement with a PLCy1-DAG-RasGRP1 signaling axis (Figure 5), conditional PLCy1 knockout mice and RasGRP1deficient mice share a similar defect in positive selection of thymocytes and ERK activation (18, 119). On the other side of the cycle, DGK's convert DAG to PA, which is interesting because this would dampen DAG-RasGRP signals but perhaps promote PA-SOS signals. In agreement with a critical role for DGK in dampening RasGRP activity (as well as the activity of other proteins containing DAG-binding C1 domains), deletion of DGKα and DGKγ results in increased incidence of T cell lymphoma (120). In normal T cells, DGK enzymes play a critical role in controlling the balance between activation and anergy or unresponsiveness (121, 122). For a complete review of DAG metabolism and the role of DGK enzymes we refer to Krishna and Zhong (95) in this Research Topic. The role of DAG in RasGRP1 regulation is obvious but may not be



exclusive. Non-antigen receptor triggered pathways that are typically not associated with DAG production have been implicated in RasGRP1 membrane localization. Specifically, RasGRP1 but not RasGRP3 signals downstream of the CXCR4 chemokine receptor in thymocytes (123) and a heterodimer of TCR/CXCR4 has been described to recruit the PLC enzymes essential in this pathway (124). How different receptor systems couple to DAG and Ras-GRP and may be able to synergistically trigger this pathway is an interesting concept for future research.

Whereas RasGRP1 is expressed in various cell lineages (20, 46, 61, 62), it is most abundant in developing thymocytes, which perhaps offers an explanation for the fairly specific thymocyte developmental defect that is observed in RasGRP1-deficient animals (18). Reciprocally, RasGRP3 abundance is high in B lymphocytes and RasGRP3 deficient mice demonstrate B cell defects (99), although there is a role for RasGRP1 in this lineage as well, at least in early B cell subsets (101, 125). The developmental defects in thymocytes lacking RasGRP1 are a consequence of severely impaired positive selection of these cells and biochemically visible through the impaired activation of the ERK kinases (61). A causative link between the impaired RasGRP1-Ras-ERK signaling and defective positive selection has been very nicely provided through the analyses of ERK-1 and ERK-2 doubly deficient mice in which the thymocytes also show a positive selection defect (126). Perhaps surprisingly, other RasGEFs, be it of the RasGRP-, Rasgrf-, or SOS-type, do not effectively compensate for the loss of RasGRP1 in thymocytes. The fact that there is only minimal compensation for loss of RasGRP1 coming from RasGRP3 or RasGRP4 (123, 127) makes one wonder about the underlying mechanism.

Is it purely the relative abundance of RasGRP1 that bestows its unique function in thymocytes and would expression of RasGRP3 from the RasGRP1 promoter be able to compensate for the loss of RasGRP1? Or, are there unique biochemical properties in the RasGRP1 protein that are lacking in other RasGEFs?

ADDITIONAL MECHANISMS OF RasGRP1 REGULATION

Only a small portion of protein flanks RasGRP1's catalytic REM-Cdc25 core on the N-terminal side (**Figure 2**). There is no predicted protein domain in this N-terminal part, but this stretch is either only 9 or 57 amino acids long, depending on the use of an alternative internal start codon in *RasGRP1* or its most N-terminal ATG codon (128). The C-terminus appears far more interesting. Not only does it contain the DAG-binding C1 domain, there are also a pair of EF hands sandwiched between the Cdc25 and C1 domains and a roughly 200-amino acid long C-terminal tail without clear domains except for a leucine zipper motif (51, 129, 130). Significantly, genetic deletion of this 200-amino acid long C-terminal tail reduces the formation of mature thymocytes in RasGRP1^{d/d} mice (131), thus there are critical regulatory functions encoded on RasGRP1's C-terminus that are relevant for thymocyte function.

Not all EF hands bind calcium, but RasGRP1 has been reported to bind calcium *in vitro* (51) and the position of the pair of EF hands between the catalytic core and the membrane-recruitment C1 unit is an interesting one. EF hands usually come in pairs and are structures consisting of two α -helices connected by a loop that contain residues such as aspartic acid, which are critical for binding and positioning of a calcium ion. The calcium-binding event induces protein conformational changes through the alteration of the directional vectors of the α -helices (50). It is very possible that calcium binding alters the structural conformation of Ras-GRP1 and other RasGRP family members. Deducting from cell biological assays, it appears that calcium orchestrates membrane recruitment of RasGRP together with DAG although this may vary from cell to cell type.

Kay and colleagues reported that in a chicken DT40 B cell line, the first EF hand pair enables the recruitment function of a Cterminal PT domain (PM targeting domain), which contains the leucine zipper motif (132). Mutation of the characteristic triplet of negatively charged aspartic acids in the first EF hand results in impaired enrichment of this RasGRP1-EF1µ molecule to the PM, following either BCR or G-protein coupled receptor stimuli. Whereas both of RasGRP1's EF hands contain very similar triplets of aspartic acids, mutation of these into serine in the second EF hand does not impact the membrane recruitment of the RasGRP1-EF2µ molecule (132). Intriguingly, the contribution of the PT domain toward membrane recruitment appears to differ from cell to cell type; it is substantial in BCR-stimulated B cell lines, very modest in T cell lines, and negligible in fibroblasts (129). It should also be noted that these studies relied on ectopic expression of RasGRP1 that was N-terminally tagged with GFP and that the T and B cells tested in this manner also express endogenous Ras-GRP1. We will discuss the relevance of overexpression of molecules in the Ras signaling pathway later. The concern of co-expressing a tagged (and mutated) RasGRP1 together with endogenous Ras-GRP1 is appropriate in light of the predicted leucine zipper. It is possible that the C-terminal leucine zipper motif functions as a RasGRP1 dimerization interface, which would make analysis of the individual contribution of introduced- versus endogenous-RasGRP1 molecules complex. Regardless, the Kay group studies clearly revealed for the first time that calcium-dependent regulation, while incompletely understood, plays an important role in RasGRP1 signaling (Figure 4C). Consistent with the notion of calcium-dependent RasGRP1 regulation, the calcium chelator BAPTA-AM and a calcium channel blocker prevented the appearance of Ras. GTP at the Golgi of activated T-cells in imaging experiments (133) (see below for spatial considerations of Ras activation). In biochemical studies, removal of all free calcium by chelators had only a modest effect on TCR-driven Ras activation (134) and RasGRP1 can activate Ras in T-cells in the absence of free calcium (19), although it is difficult to asses the efficiency of calcium chelation or to determine how much cellular calcium would be needed to couple to RasGRP1. In addition, there is an enrichment of calcium ions near the negatively charged polar headgroups of phospholipids in the PM (135), the localization to which RasGRP1 is recruited via DAG. Perhaps it is the membrane-localized calcium that is most relevant to enhance Ras-GRP1 function. With these biochemical and cellular experiments in mind, it is interesting to speculate on how the regulation of various of the Lupus-associated RasGRP1 mRNA splice variants that lack portions of the EF hands may be altered (104).

Are there additional mechanisms of RasGRP membrane recruitment or retention that may rely on protein-protein interactions or phospholipids other than DAG? RasGRP1 can interact with a kinase dead version of PKC θ in transfected cells (100). Similarly, RasGRP1 appears to make contacts with DGK (136). It is not clear at this point if these results reflect the common intersection point of DAG or if these are true (perhaps transient) protein-protein interactions between RasGRP1 and PKC0 or DGKζ and what the biological implications of these may be for lymphocytes. SKAPP-55 is a multi-domain adapter molecule that interacts with RasGRP1 in a resting T cell line and SKAPP-55/RasGRP1 interactions become more abundant upon TCR or integrin stimulation (137). The immunological implication of SKAPP55 function and its interaction with RasGRP1 are unclear, both a positive role (138) and a negative role (137) have been proposed. Besides a C-terminal SH3 domain, SKAP-55 contains an N-terminal PH domain (just like SOS). It is highly speculative but interesting to consider that both SOS and RasGRP1 may be regulated by phospholipids like PIP₂ and PA interacting with PH domains, but that this occurs in an indirect manner for RasGRP1 through its interaction with SKAP-55. Lastly, Cornell and colleagues demonstrated that RasGRP1's PT domain harbors a basic/hydrophobic cluster of amino acids that is conserved among species and that a protein-purified PT domain can bind to phosphoinositide-containing vesicles (130). Thus, it appears that there will be multiple mechanisms of RasGRP activation and regulation, some perhaps surprisingly similar as for SOS RasGEFs.

BIOCHEMICAL SYNERGY BETWEEN SOS1 AND RasGRP1

When SOS and RasGRP's are co-expressed in a T cell, TCR stimulation can take two routes to Ras-ERK activation; one through RasGRP and the other through SOS (Figure 5). However, genetic studies in cell lines and mice indicate that RasGRP plays a more dominant role in antigen receptor-stimulated Ras-ERK activation (18, 61, 66, 67, 92, 139). A recent study also reports that SOS1/2 maybe inhibitory for TCR-induced ERK activation in human peripheral T cells (140), although this finding is inconsistent with several other studies showing a positive contribution of SOS in antigen receptor-stimulated ERK activation, both in lymphocyte cell lines and primary mouse and human lymphocytes (20, 65-67, 92). Reduction of SOS expression leads to moderate but consistent ERK activation impairment in human peripheral T cells, mouse DP thymocytes, and DT40 B cell line (20, 66, 67, 92, 139). Furthermore, the ERK activation defect in SOS1-2- DT40 cells is most noticeable at low and physiological levels of antigen receptor stimulation, indicating that ranges of stimuli across multiple time points are required to conclusively analyze ERK activation defects (66, 92, 139).

Interestingly, flow cytometry-based examination of ERK activation for single cells within a population revealed that not only the quantity but also quality of phosphorylated ERK (pERK) output differs depending on RasGEFs connecting stimulated antigen receptor to Ras (66). In the DT40 model B-cell system, the pERK pattern in BCR-stimulated wild-type DT40 cells (co-expressing RasGRP1/3 and SOS1/2) demonstrates a highly thresholded and bimodal/digital pERK pattern. RasGRP1/3 double-deficiency in DT40 cells results in poor pERK response consistent with near abolished ERK activation in RasGRP1-deficient mouse lymphocytes, indicating that RasGRP play a dominant role in ERK regulation (66). In the absence of SOS1/2, RasGRP1/3 can still activate ERK downstream of BCR, albeit at reduced level. More

significantly, these flow-based assays show that RasGRP1/3-driven ERK activation gradually increases over time and displays analog/unimodal pERK patterns, but does not yield a bimodal pattern (**Figure 6**).

Multiple models at different levels of Ras/MAPK signal transduction explain the shaping of digital/bimodal ERK activation, such as Ras nano-clusters (141), dual negative feedback control by SHP-1 (142) or scaffold-mediated signal quality change (143), and subcellular location of cascade activity (144). But, none of pre-existing models explain the change in ERK activation pattern depending on the RasGEFs availability. Based on computer modeling analysis, we hypothesized that the optimal Ras-ERK response observed in wild-type cells co-expressing SOS and Ras-GRP involved allosteric activation of SOS primed by Ras-GTP produced by RasGRP. To test this hypothesis, we uncoupled the potential positive feedback loop between two RasGEFs by introducing W729E mutation that prevents Ras GTP binding at the SOS1 allosteric pocket (66, 89, 92). Whereas RasGRP1 is comparably activated (measured by T184 phosphorylation), BCR-induced Ras-ERK response in cells expressing W729E mutant-SOS1 resembles that of SOS1/2-deficient cells [unpublished data (92)]. Which RasGEF generates an initial flux of Ras-GTP priming full activation of SOS? Theoretically, allosteric activating Ras-GTP can come from self (SOS) or from RasGRP. Indeed, HeLa cervix carcinoma cells that do not express RasGRP1 (Roose lab, data not shown) are able to engage the SOS-Ras-GTP-SOS loop in response to EGFR stimulation (91). However, both lymphocyte cell lines and primary lymphocytes lacking RasGRP poorly respond in terms of Ras-ERK activation, indicating that RasGRP plays an essential role in ERK activation by signaling to Ras-ERK but also to Ras-SOS, via an early surge of Ras-GTP allosterically activating SOS (18, 61, 65–67, 92, 139).

NOVEL INSIGHTS AND PUZZLES FOR THYMOCYTE SELECTION SIGNALS FROM MOUSE MODELS DEFICIENT FOR RasGEFs

In the cellular context where two RasGEFs co-exist, biochemical activation of RasGRP appears temporally ahead of activation of SOS (Roose lab, data not shown). Moreover, whereas SOS requires allosteric activation by Ras-GTP and therefore in a sense relies on RasGRP1 (65), the reverse relationship does not exist: Ras-GRP1 does not appear to require SOS. These relationships between RasGRP/SOS lead to the hypothesis that the differential fate of thymocytes undergoing selection might be determined by how two RasGEFs are differentially activated upon TCR stimulation (145). This hypothesis was also founded by the observation that positively selected DP thymocytes demonstrate graded (or analog) ERK activation (146, 147). In this model, weak TCR stimulation of positively selected thymocytes sub-optimally phosphorylates LAT, enough to activate PLCy1-DAG-RasGRP1 pathway and analog ERK signals but without coupling SOS1 membrane recruitment and digital ERK signaling (Figure 6). Genetic support for this



FIGURE 6 | Differential activation of RasGEF determines the quantity and quality of Ras-ERK output. Left: full activation of the ERK response requires activation of both RasGRP and SOS and can lead to bimodal (digital) ERK activation patterns. In this mode of signaling, RasGRP activation temporally precedes activation of SOS and provides initial Ras-GTP that primes full activation of SOS. Middle: in the absence of SOS, there is substantial

Ras-ERK activation mediated by RasGRP alone, but the ERK activation patterns are analog and therefore differs both quantitatively and qualitatively from ERK signal generated by two RasGEFs in synergy. Right: in lymphocytes, RasGRP plays a dominant role in connecting TCR-Ras-ERK pathway. SOS alone has difficulty to prime its own allosteric activation, which results in a high threshold for Ras-ERK activation. model comes from the observation that RasGRP1 is essential for positive selection but is not required for negative selection (61,67). On the other hand, strong TCR stimulation during negative selection induces extensive LAT phosphorylation, enough to recruit and activate both RasGRP1 and SOS1, and enable allosteric activation of SOS, which generates strong ERK activation characteristic of negatively selected DP thymocytes (66, 147). Whereas this is a plausible model it does not address the question if digital SOS-ERK signals are negative selection cues for thymocytes. In fact, genetic deletion of ERK-1 and ERK-2 does not impair negative selection of DP thymocytes at all (148), perhaps arguing that the characteristic ERK activation profiles of thymocytes under negative selection conditions is only a byproduct of a different signal that causes the true negative selection (we will discuss this later). Furthermore, recent studies of a conditional SOS1 knockout mouse model from Samelson and colleagues provided yet another puzzling insight into the different roles of RasGEFs during T cell development (20, 67), which we will discuss next.

Conditional genetic deletion of SOS1 in thymocytes, $SOS1(T)^{-/-}$ revealed that SOS1 is dispensable for negative selection, disfavoring the previously mentioned differential-RasGEFusage model for thymocyte fate decision [reviewed in Ref. (149)]. Instead, SOS1 expression is required for DN stage thymocytes undergoing DN to DP transition. SOS2 deficiency alone does not significantly affect either positive or negative selection (67). The developmental block in $SOS1(T)^{-/-}$ thymocytes is accounted for by impaired proliferative expansion of DN to DP thymocytes (20). The early developmental defect in $SOS1(T)^{-/-}$ thymocytes can be explained by developmental stage-specific expression profile of different RasGEFs: protein level of SOS1 and RasGRP1 dynamically changes as thymocytes develop. SOS1 protein level is highest in DN thymocytes, while DP thymocytes only express 20% of the SOS1 levels seen in DN thymocytes. RasGRP1 protein level follows the opposite trend: little RasGRP1 is expressed in DN, RasGRP1 is most abundant in DP thymocytes (20, 61). Most puzzling is the finding that combined deletion of RasGRP1/SOS1 impairs negative selection (67). What would be the signaling components regulated by two RasGEFs for negative selection? It is unlikely to be Ras-ERK since negative selection is not affected in H-Ras^{S17N} transgenic nor in Erk1-Erk2- doubly deficient thymocytes, indicating that Ras-ERK activation is dispensable for negative selection (12, 148).

One explanation could be that rather than mediating TCRsparked responses, both GEFs provide a permissive type of input by sustaining steady-state, basal Ras and Ras-effector levels, as documented in other systems (150, 151). Another explanation may be provided by other functions of RasGEFs in addition to activation of the canonical Ras-ERK pathway. Pharmacological inhibition of the p38 MAPK impairs negative selection in fetal thymic organ culture system (152). Additionally, both Grb2 haploinsufficiency as well as complete Grb2 deletion is concomitant with reduced p38 activation and impaired negative selection (153, 154). We recently uncovered an unanticipated link between SOS and p38 (92). Significantly, SOS1 plays a critical role to connect TCR triggering to p38 activation. By contrast, RasGRP1 plays only a very minor regulatory role in TCR-induced p38 activation in human peripheral T cells and Jurkat cell line and p38 activation is unaffected in thymocytes deficient of RasGRP1 (92). Surprisingly, SOS1's role in p38 activation is independent of allosteric activation of SOS or even of any enzymatic activity in SOS1, arguing that this is indeed a non-canonical SOS pathway [discussed in more detail later; (92)].

SPATIAL CONTROL OF Ras ACTIVATION: A ROLE FOR LIPID MESSENGERS AND GEFS IN COMPARTMENTALIZED Ras SIGNALING?

Traditionally, Ras activation in leukocytes and other cell types has been intuitively assumed to proceed at the PM based on the notion that Ras activation is bound to happen in close proximity to growth factor or antigen receptor systems that do, in their majority, operate at the cell surface. Early immunocytochemical studies confirmed the predominant presence of Ras at the PM (155-162), lending support to the view that Ras activation proceeds at the PM. However, a diffuse staining of the cytoplasm was apparent in some reports (155, 161, 163), suggesting early on that meaningful amounts of Ras proteins might also be present and signal from internal membranes (endomembranes). The concept that Ras proteins do associate with subcellular membranes was cemented in a series of studies from the 1980s documenting that Ras proteins are subject to a complex series of post-translational modifications that gradually increase their hydrophobicity and effectively govern the association of Ras with cellular membranes [for a review, see (13, 164, 165)]. Recent imaging studies have added a spatial and temporal dimension to this view by showing, firstly, that the stepwise post-translational processing of nascent Ras proteins proceeds at endomembranes en route to the PM (163), and second, by disclosing dynamic cycling of the two palmitoylated Ras proteins H-Ras and N-Ras between PM and endomembranes in dependency of their palmitoylation status (166-169). According to this latter "acylation cycle" model, palmitoylation at the Golgi apparatus "traps" H-Ras and N-Ras proteins at endomembranes, tagging them for exocytotic transport and accumulation at the PM. Upon depalmitoylation by the recently characterized acyl protein thioesterase 1 (APT1) (167, 170) and possibly other as yet unidentified depalmitoylating activities, Ras proteins loose their tight and inert binding to the PM, leading to a fast inter-membrane exchange of depalmitoylated Ras and, in consequence, to the tendency to distribute equally to all cellular membrane compartments. One round of the cycle is completed by the renewed palmitoylation of Ras at the Golgi apparatus, a reaction that essentially provides a vectorial component ensuring the predominant localization of Ras at the PM. In contrast to the dynamic palmitoylation-dependent cycling of H-Ras and N-Ras, the non-palmitoylated K-Ras protein is assumed to reside and function largely at the PM, although alternative modes for K-Ras internalization have also been described (171, 172). Knowing this, the intriguing question is whether compartmentalization of Ras activity represents a means of signal diversification in antigen receptor signaling and whether or not second messenger lipids coordinate spatial aspects of Ras activation.

IMAGING ACTIVE Ras-GTP IN T-CELLS

In 2003, Mark Philips and coworkers presented the first of a series of studies that reported for the first time a view of Ras activation

in real-time in lymphocytes challenged via the T-cell receptor (133, 173, 174). Ras-GTP visualization was accomplished using a genetically encoded, fluorescent reporter probe composed of EGFP and the Ras-binding domain (RBD) of the Ras-effector c-Raf. EGFP-RBD features several orders of magnitude higher affinity for Ras-GTP versus Ras-GDP causing it to redistribute and illuminate subcellular sites of Ras-GTP accumulation (162, 175, 176). However, levels of endogenous Ras-GTP are too low to be visualized by EGFP-RBD and researchers have been forced to overexpress Ras. Use of EGFP-RBD to image activation of overexpressed Ras in Jurkat T-cells challenged by clustering the CD3E chain of the TCR alone or in combination with co-stimulatory triggers yielded an unexpected picture: a bimodal pattern of Ras activation consisting of K-Ras activation at the PM followed or paralleled by a more sustained accumulation of N-Ras-GTP at the Golgi apparatus (173). Strikingly, N-Ras became GTP-loaded only at the Golgi despite the fact that it was present in large amounts at the PM, where the same TCR stimulation induced robust GTP loading of K-Ras (174). While the precise mechanisms enabling the TCR to discriminate among Ras isoforms and subcellular platforms of activation are not fully clear, a number of factors involved in spatial control of Ras activation have been characterized. Pharmacological experiments and use of genetically engineered Jurkat lines provided evidence that the delayed Golgi activation of N-Ras occurred by means of a PLCy1/RasGRP1 pathway acting specifically on Golgi-resident N-Ras (133, 173), whereas SOS and RasGRP1 acted in concert to load K-Ras with GTP at the PM. Intriguingly, the segregation of the Ras-GTP reporter probe to PM versus endomembranes depended on a number of stimulation parameters: first, the strength of TCR stimulation, with low-grade stimulation (achieved by applying CD3 and CD28 cross-linking antibodies at a final concentration of 1 µg/ml) causing the accumulation of the Ras-GTP reporter only at the Golgi apparatus, whilst high-grade stimulation (5 µg/ml) lead to the described b dual activation pattern (133, 173). This distinct activation pattern was attributed to the ability of lowgrade TCR signals to engage the Golgi-specific PLCy1/RasGRP1 pathway but not other pathways targeting K-Ras at the PM (173). Arguing against this scenario, other investigators have reported K-Ras activation in response to anti CD3E Abs administered at concentrations as low as 0.15 µg/ml (19, 177), suggesting that low-grade TCR signals cannot discriminate between PM and endomembrane Ras-pools or between K-Ras and N-Ras isoforms. Interestingly, non-leukocyte cell lines like COS, MDCK, or HeLa, which do not express RasGRP1 (150, 168) (Roose, unpublished) exhibit the same segregation of EGFP-RBD to the PM and Golgi in response to growth factor stimulation (133, 169, 178, 179), evidencing that mechanisms of endomembrane Ras activation other than the RasGRP pathway do exist. Data from Bastiaens lab illustrate that (overexpressed) Ras·GTP generated at the PM of MDCK cells relocates to endomembranes following its depalmitoylation at the cell surface in the context of the acylation cycle (169, 179). This mode of endomembrane Ras activation may well operate also in T lymphocytes, but this would imply that endomembrane Ras activation should be preceded by a first "wave" of N-Ras activation at the PM, which was not reported in those studies (173, 174). In conclusion, the individual contribution

of the two known modes of endomembrane Ras activation in TCR signaling in T lymphocytes still needs to be evaluated in detail.

THE ROLE OF CO-STIMULATION

Another parameter that can affect the spatial segregation of Ras-GTP is the nature of the co-stimulus provided along with the CD3-cross-linking Ab. For example, CD28 co-stimulation enhances DAG production in T-cells (121, 180) and this in turn is expected to enhance Ras activation via RasGRP1. CD28 costimulation is thus intuitively expected to affect the magnitude and possibly also the location of Ras-GTP formation. Somewhat unexpectedly, therefore, this turned out not to be the case, since co-stimulation with soluble CD28 antibodies does not ostensiblv affect Ras.GTP levels and/or Ras.GTP localization (174, 177). Perhaps CD3/CD28 co-stimulation experiments need to be reevaluated using immobilized rather than soluble Abs for receptor crosslinking (181). Co-stimulation via the lymphocyte functionassociated antigen-1 (LFA-1), on the other hand, was reported to stimulate activation of Ras at the PM (174). Interestingly, LFA-1 facilitated Ras-GTP formation by stimulating the generation of DAG at the PM via the sequential action of PLD2 and Phosphatidic acid phosphate (PAP), a pathway that had before been linked to DAG/PA metabolism at the Golgi (182). In agreement with an important role of LFA-1 signals for Ras-GTP formation, co-stimulation via LFA-1 reportedly enhanced Ras.GTP accumulation in response to TCR-clustering (174). In opposition to that scenario, others have not observed an effect of LFA-1 on Ras·GTP levels in T-cells (177). Along the same vein, co-stimulating T-cells via SLAM, a measure that also leads to an enhanced production of DAG in T cells (180) did not further stimulate Ras-GTP production, further indicating that an elevation of DAG levels in response to particular TCR/co-receptor stimulations does not always automatically translate in elevated Ras-GTP levels.

ENDOGENOUS VERSUS OVEREXPRESSED Ras AND OTHER EXPERIMENTAL CONSIDERATIONS

The pioneering imaging studies described above have changed the way we think about Ras activation, away from the traditional, rather unilateral view of "static" Ras proteins acting at the PM to the more dynamic picture that has now emerged and has been delineated in the previous sections. It is, however, important to recall that the experimental approaches that have led to this new conception feature a number of caveats and limitations that should be borne in mind. One limitation is that stimulation with cross-linking antibodies toward the CD3 ϵ chain and various co-receptors, as used for reasons of simplicity in most studies, may not reliably reflect the physiological setting of a T-cell challenged by an antigen-loaded APC. Secondly, overexpression of Ras proteins, as applied in most imaging experiments, is an issue worth considering.

Since Ras activation and trafficking are finely regulated processes it is arduous to judge whether or not images obtained from cells overexpressing Ras proteins do always truly reflect the behavior of endogenous Ras. Evidence arguing that this may indeed be an important fact to bear in mind comes from studies reporting on the subcellular localization of endogenous Ras-GTP in live T cells (177, 183). Visualization of endogenous levels of Ras-GTP in T cells was achieved using refined fluorescent biosensors for Ras-GTP that consisted of three concatenated RBD modules, yielding increased avidity toward Ras GTP (183), and three EGFP proteins, that conferred threefold higher fluorescence intensity to the probes (177). These probes redistributed only to the PM of PMA or TCR-stimulated Jurkat cells and to the immunological synapse of primary T lymphocytes conjugated to APCs (177, 183), but the probes did not illuminate the Golgi or other endomembranes, in contrast to what was observed in T cells overexpressing H-Ras or N-Ras (133, 174). This remarkable variance in experimental outcome can be interpreted in two ways: first, the trivalent EGFP \times 3-RBD \times 3 reporter probes do illuminate endogenous Ras-GTP formed at the PM but they are not sensitive enough to visualize Ras GTP at the Golgi. Since the signals obtained for endogenous Ras. GTP at the PM using the EGFP × 3- $RBD \times 3$ biosensors are clear and well visible, this interpretation would imply that Ras-GTP levels at the Golgi are markedly lower than those at the PM. The alternative explanation is that accumulation of N-Ras-GTP at the Golgi results from perturbances in Ras trafficking, processing, or activation processes as a consequence of Ras overexpression. For example, the reported relocation of GAPs to the cell surface at later stages of TCR signaling for the shutdown of PM Ras signaling (133, 184) could cause a drop in GAP activity at endomembranes that could facilitate increased Ras.GTP loading at the Golgi in a background of Ras overexpression. Also, a sheer increase in the flux of N-Ras through the acylation cycle in Ras overexpressing T-cells is expected to lead to the redistribution of more N-Ras-GTP from the PM to endomembranes. In sum, it is currently difficult to judge whether the observed accumulation of overexpressed N-Ras. GTP at the Golgi is a physiological response of T-cells to antigen stimulation or rather reflects an effect that is only seen with anomalously high levels of Ras.

COMPARTMENTALIZATION OF DAG-RasGRP1 SIGNALS

Given that Ras activation downstream of the activated TCR is largely driven by the concerted action of SOS and RasGRP1 GEFs, can knowledge about the segregation of GEFs and the lipid second messengers that regulates GEF action help us understand the spatial control of Ras activation? The subcellular distribution and TCR-dependent, spatially localized formation of DAG, as the most prominent lipid second messenger involved in the regulation of Ras activity, have been investigated in quite some detail. In addition to its presence at the PM, DAG is present in meaningful amounts at various other subcellular sites including the Golgi apparatus and the nuclear membrane (185, 186). It appears that the sources for these distinct pools of DAG are different. For example, DAG at the Golgi arises largely from Sphingosine metabolism and to some extent also from the sequential action of PLD and PAP on phospholipids (182, 187). PM-located and nuclear DAG is mostly replenished by de novo synthesis but is also generated to a variable extent by the action of Phospholipases of various kinds on precursor phospholipids (for comprehensive reviews on DAG metabolism see (187, 188) and in this review issue). Although lymphocytes reportedly have a pool of nuclear DAG, too (186), most attention has been devoted to the PM and Golgi-populations of DAG, since these are, arguably, the two major platforms of TCR

signaling. While some subcellular sites, prominently the Golgi apparatus, are rich in steady-state levels of DAG (182), it is generally assumed that DAG-dependent signaling downstream of the TCR involves the *de novo* generation and spatially restricted accumulation of DAG in response to antigen stimulation. Since DAG can directly recruit the Ras activator RasGRP1 it appears reasonable to predict, that domains of DAG formation in response to TCR stimulation should coincide with sites of Ras-GTP accumulation.

Where does TCR-sparked DAG production occur and where within the antigen-stimulated T-cell does DAG accumulate? Several laboratories have imaged DAG in live T-cells using fluorescent reporter probes derived from DAG-binding domains including C1 domains from RasGRP1, PKC0, or PKD (189-192). Interestingly, C1 domains from RasGRP1 or PKC0 illuminated endomembranes in unstimulated T-cells, suggesting that resting levels of DAG in Tcells are primarily found in that compartment. Upon conjugation with APCs, the same reporter probes relocalized to the IS (190, 191), illustrating that DAG accumulates at the IS. The accumulation of active PLCy1 (assessed by phosphorylation on Y783) to PM and IS in response to TCR cross-linking or conjugation with APCs (193) is also in line with this view. Consistent with the notion that TCR-activation induces DAG formation/accumulation at the PM, the full-length versions of the DAG-effector proteins PKD and chimaerins accumulate at the PM or IS of TCR-challenged T-cells (194). DGK α and DGK ζ , two enzymes that metabolize DAG by converting it to PA, also accumulate at the PM of T-lymphocytes conjugated to antigen-loaded APCs (192, 195), a step proposed to be critical for the spatial confinement of DAG to the IS (196). In the case of RasGRP1, some studies reported exclusive redistribution of RasGRP1 to the PM or IS of T-cells challenged via the TCR (122, 177, 194, 197-200) while others documented TCRactivation dependent accumulation of RasGRP1 at PM and Golgi (133, 147, 174). Importantly, while these considerations may cause the impression that DAG alone determines the subcellular distribution of many of its effector proteins, DAG is likely to be only one of various factors that coincidentally determine the spatial distribution of RasGRP1 and other DAG-target proteins. For example, the DAG-effector PKD features a transient and short-lived recruitment to the IS despite the much more prolonged presence of DAG at the IS (191).

COMPARTMENTALIZATION OF LIPID-SOS SIGNALS?

Recently, the lipid product of PLD, PA, has been reported to recruit SOS via its PH domain, thus providing yet a new link for a lipid messenger and Ras activation. Since PA is found both at the PM and endomembranes (174, 182), mechanisms for the oriented and regulated recruitment of SOS to subcellular membranes must exist. This involves probably the concerted action of PA with other upstream inputs such as PIP₂, Ras-binding, and Grb2 binding, as described extensively above (see sections on SOS regulation).

Another important second messenger lipid with relevance to SOS-driven Ras activation is the PI3K reaction product phosphatidylinositol-3,4,5 trisphosphate (PIP₃) (201, 202). The subcellular distribution of PIP₃ in lymphocytes has been visualized using fluorescent reporter proteins based on the PH-domain of Akt (203–205). These studies reported that PIP₃ was produced and accumulated at the PM, but in contrast to DAG, PIP₃ was not restricted to the IS but expanded also to regions outside the IS (203). Indeed, a sustained accumulation of PIP₃ was even observed at the antisynapse or uropod of the T-cell (204). Remarkably, other upstream modulators or known activators of Ras like ZAP70 and ezrin, respectively, also accumulate at the antipodal pole of conjugated T-cells (206–208). Intriguingly, ezrin is an important co-factor in Sos activation in some systems (207), which raises the intriguing possibility that concerted Sos-dependent Ras activation by means of ezrin and PIP₃ and subsequent Ras-signaling (to PI3K?) may proceed at the T-cell uropod at later stages of T-cell-APC conjugation.

The subcellular distribution of PIP₃ in the course of T-cell stimulation is consistent and certainly suggestive of a role of PI3K in the control of Ras activation and/or signal propagation. However, the precise role played by PI3K and its lipid products in Ras activation is an intensively debated, and as yet not settled issue. PI3Ks [refers collectivelly to the four members of the class I family of PI3Ks (209)] were originally described and characterized as effector proteins of Ras, and a large body of experimental evidence [including the recent analysis of transgenic animals expressing PI3K variants that cannot be activated by Ras-GTP (210, 211)] has firmly established the notion that PI3Ks do function downstream of Ras [reviewed in Ref. (212)]. On the other hand, a number of studies has also documented a role for PI3K upstream of Ras (201, 202, 213), indicating that PI3K lipid products could fulfill dual roles as second messengers in the propagation of Ras-sparked signals and as modulators in the (feedback?) control of Ras activation.

How could PI3K lipid products regulate Ras activation in lymphocytes? PIP₃ interacts physically with the Ras-GAP species GAP1(m) (214) and biochemical evidence for a regulation of Ras-GAP activities by PIP₃ in leukocytes does exist (202). Beyond this largely unexplored connection with GAP proteins, PIP₃ interacts with and recruits members of the Tec family of protein kinases, prominently Bruton's tyrosine kinase, Btk, in B cells and Itk in T-cells (215), via an amino-terminal PH domain (216–218). Tec kinases, in turn, can affect Ras activation in two ways: first, Tec kinases are critically involved in antigen receptor-induced PLCy activation (219, 220), and defective Tec activation in response to antigen receptor stimulation leads to a number of defects in pathways dependent on DAG/IP3, including PKC and ERK activation (221, 222). The latter finding suggests that Ras activation should also be affected, although this has, to our knowledge, not been directly assessed. Secondly, defects in Tec kinase function cause a decrease in PA levels (223), which could in turn result in diminished Ras GTP loading via SOS (29). In this regard, it is probably important to consider PIP₃ in a broader context in conjunction with the fate of its precursor lipid PIP₂. Beyond serving as a substrate for PI3Ks, PIP2 plays a critical function as the substrate of PLCy enzymes and it is well established that the agonist-evoked activation of PI3K and PLCy signaling can lead to a marked, acute and probably spatially restricted drop of PIP₂ levels in leukocytes (224, 225). Since PIP₂ can modulate Ras activation via the direct, PH-domain dependent interaction with SOS, the concerted and locally confined regulation of the PIP₂/PIP₃ ratio is predicted to have a large impact on the activation status of Ras. From a technical point of view, one important challenge for the years to come will be to address this aspect of Ras activation by visualizing PIP₂ and

PIP₃ simultaneously with Ras·GTP in life cells, an approach that should ideally be expanded to other second messengers involved in the control of RasGEFs.

A PHYSIOLOGICAL ROLE FOR COMPARTMENTALIZED Ras SIGNALING?

Is the segregation of Ras signaling to endomembranes and possibly other subcellular sites an inherent and fundamental component of TCR signaling that provides an additional level of signal diversification? Evidence for a possible physiological role of compartmentalized Ras signaling in T-cell biology comes from provocative data reported by Ed Palmer's lab arguing that Ras localization and signaling from PM versus endomembranes could be a major fate determinant during thymic T-cell selection (147). Using a collection of agonist ovalbumin (OVA) peptide variants with graded affinities toward the TCR on transgenic OT-I T lymphocytes these investigators observed a distinct compartmentalization of Ras and its downstream effector protein c-Raf (also known as Raf-1) in dependency of agonist strength: in T-cells driven into negative selection by high-affinity antigen peptides Ras and c-Raf distributed largely to the PM whilst positive selecting, low affinity ligands induced a relocation of Ras and Raf to endomembranes. Intriguingly, localization of RasGRP1 followed a similar pattern. At first sight the relocation of Ras signaling to endomembranes by highaffinity ligands in the thymocyte selection model and by low-grade TCR stimulation of Jurkat cells in the study by Perez de Castro et al. (173) may appear hard to reconcile, although it is probably tedious to compare peptide/APC-stimulation of immature double-positive thymocytes with Jurkat cells or primary mature T cells challenged by means of cross-linking Abs. It is also important to note that Ras accumulation at endomembranes, as observed in positively selected thymocytes, must not necessarily reflect high Ras-GTP loading and Ras signaling at that organelle. In this regard, the coincident accumulation of Raf in the Golgi apparatus of positively selected thymocytes may not be a reliable marker for the presence of Ras-GTP as suggested (147). Since only about 3% of c-Raf interacts with Ras GTP in antigen challenged T-cells at the peak of Ras. GTP formation (226), the observed quantitative relocation of c-Raf to endomembranes is unlikely to result from recruitment by Ras GTP but could rather argue for the action of a small second messenger molecule in recruiting c-Raf. For example, c-Raf is recruited and activated by PA (227, 228), and thus PA generated by DGK-catalyzed phosphorylation of DAG or by PLD activation downstream of PKC (229, 230) is an attractive candidate in this respect. In sum, the documentation of spatial Ras segregation in the context of thymic selection provides important evidence for a role of compartmentalized Ras signaling in T-cell biology, but we need to understand more about the underlying mechanisms governing spatial control of Ras activity. Moreover, the fact that mice devoid of both palmitoylated Ras variants, H-Ras and N-Ras, live a mostly healthy life (231), have normal T-cell differentiation and feature only relatively minor defects in mature lymphocyte biology (232) evidences that the compartmentalization of Ras signaling to endomembranes is not essential or critically important for TCR-dependent signaling, at least in rodents. Perhaps the ability to compartmentalize Ras signals to endomembranes is part of a signaling repertoire for fine-tuning of TCR responses, the physiological relevance of which has so far escaped our attention.

SOS1 AS A LIPID REGULATED ADAPTER MOLECULE

Overshadowed by its primary role as a RasGEF in the canonical SOS-Ras pathways, it is relatively underappreciated that SOS1 may function as a scaffold molecule that can potentially sense membrane lipid- and protein-originated signals. Particularly interesting is SOS's PR C-terminal segment with multiple potential SH3 binding sites (PxxP motifs) and at least four sites that bind to Grb2's SH3 domain *in vitro* (32, 233). The multiplicity of the SH3 ligand sites in the C-terminus bestows the capacity to interact with more than one interacting partner at any one time. The availability for multiple PxxP motifs opens the possibility for interacting with more than one molecule of Grb2 or other related SOS-interacting SH3-SH2-SH3 adapters such as Grap or Gads. Thus, SOS may function as a scaffold to integrate upstream membrane signals and coordinate activation of multiple downstream pathways.

Houtman and colleagues actually observed complexes of SOS1 and Grb2 in a 1:2 stoichiometry, particularly when molar concentration of Grb2 is in excess (234). The multivalent interaction between Grb2 and SOS can lead to formation of oligomeric LAT clusters, in this case, SOS-Grb2 complex functions as a cytosolic adapter cross-linking multiple LAT molecules together (234-236) (Figure 7). Expression of PR C-terminal SOS1 fragment in Jurkat cells decreases the size of aggregated LAT clusters and also attenuates weak TCR stimuli-induced calcium flux (234). These observations support the functional existence of SOS-Grb2-LAT clusters, which can facilitate amplification of weak TCR stimulation. SOS can also synergize with LAT clusters by stabilizing LAT signalosome components such as PLCy1. Upon TCR stimulation, PLCy1-SH2 is recruited and bound to tyrosine-phosphorylated (Y132; human or Y136; mouse) LAT (237, 238). In addition, the SH3 domain of PLCy1 directly interacts with PR segments of SOS both in vitro and in vivo, including in T lymphocytes (35-38). Direct SOS-PLCy1 binding can promote stable association of PLCy1 within LAT signalosome by collaborating with SH2-PLCy1 binding with phospho-LAT. Additionally, direct SOS-PLCy1 interaction can recruit PLC γ 1 to the proximity of its substrate, PIP₂, which is also a ligand for the HF and PH domains of SOS as described earlier. Thus, it is plausible that LAT and SOS together nucleate a signaling hub in lymphocytes in which many molecules and therefore pathways come together.

Our recent study indicates that SOS1 plays an important adapter function regulating p38 pathway activation independently of SOS1' catalytic activity (92). In principle, SOS1's DH domain could act as nucleotide exchange domain in a SOS-Rac-P38 pathway since DH domains are commonly shared structural modules of GEFs regulating Rho family GTPases such as Rac (23, 239). Indeed, SOS has been suggested to operate as a GEF with dual specificity: REM-Cdc25 domains targeting for Ras and DH and PH domain for Rac (240). The latter activity occurs in epithelial cells when SOS1 is coupled to EPS8 and E3b1 co-factors (22, 23, 39). Rac-GTP accumulation is thought to be upstream of classical p38 activation pathway (241, 242). Interestingly, the absence of SOS-1 and -2 profoundly impairs BCR-stimulated Rac-GTP accumulation and p38 activation (92). Combined deficiency of



FIGURE 7 | An adapter function for SOS in oligomeric LAT clusters? Grb2-SOS complexes can serve as a cytosolic linkers and aggregate multiple LAT molecules and LAT signalosome-constituent proteins together. This SOS-containing complex may facilitate activation of other, non-canonical Ras-ERK signal transduction pathways such as activation of the MAPK p38, perhaps through a Vav-Rac-GTP connection. We found that regulation of p38 is independent of any enzymatic function of SOS, further strengthening the notion that SOS can signal as an adapter to non-canonical pathways in lymphocytes.

RasGRP-1 and -3 abolishes BCR-induced ERK activation, while its impact on p38 phosphorylation (pT180pY182) is only minimal (92). Unexpectedly, SOS1 versions with either a point mutation (F929A) within Cdc25 that cripples SOS1's RasGEF function, an allosteric pocket mutation W729E, or a mutation of seven amino acids in the DH domain (LHYFELL \rightarrow IIIRDII) that would disrupt SOS1's putative RacGEF activity, all rescue BCR-induced p38 phosphorylation in SOS-deficient DT40 B cells, indicating that enzymatic activity of SOS1 is not required for p38 regulation and SOS1 is functioning as an adapter for p38 activation pathway (92). Thus, whereas the exact nature of SOS1's adapter function and the potential role of phospholipids binding to SOS1 as an adapter (**Figure 7**) remain to be further studied, p38 appears to connect to a non-canonical SOS pathway in lymphocytes.

CONCLUDING REMARKS

The need for controlled Ras activation in not only lymphocytes but also in all other cell types is clearly provided by the devastating consequences of aberrant, oncogenic Ras signals in cancer. Not all cell types express both the SOS and RasGRP types of RasGEFs and lymphocytes are perhaps somewhat unique in that these cells have developed an intricate mechanism for sensitive and robust Ras signals via both types of RasGEFs that is still under tight control. We have discussed how membrane recruitment and biochemical activation of the RasGRP and SOS RasGEF is fine-tuned through the concerted input of various mechanisms that include lipid messengers. Future research will undoubtedly further refine the model of Ras activation we sketched here and may reveal how lipid messengers could integrate signals to RasGRP and SOS as adapters in non-canonical pathways that are distinct from Ras.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We thank Ion Cirstea for helpful suggestions and editing the review and Anna Hupalowska for generating the illustrations.

REFERENCES

- Chang L, Karin M. Mammalian MAP kinase signalling cascades. *Nature* (2001) **410**:37–40. doi:10. 1038/35068583
- Vetter IR, Wittinghofer A. The guanine nucleotide-binding switch in three dimensions. *Science* (2001) **294**:1299–304. doi:10.1126/science.1062023
- Rajalingam K, Schreck R, Rapp UR, Albert S. Ras oncogenes and their downstream targets. *Biochim Biophys Acta* (2007) 1773:1177–95. doi:10.1016/j.bbamcr.2007.01.012
- Ahearn IM, Haigis K, Bar-Sagi D, Philips MR. Regulating the regulator: post-translational modification of RAS. *Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol* (2012) 13:39–51. doi:10.1038/ nrm3255
- Bos JL, Rehmann H, Wittinghofer A. GEFs and GAPs: critical elements in the control of small G proteins. *Cell* (2007) 129:865–77. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2007.05.018
- Bos JL. Ras oncogenes in human cancer: a review. *Cancer Res* (1989) 49:4682–9.
- Karnoub AE, Weinberg RA. Ras oncogenes: split personalities. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol (2008) 9:517–31. doi:10.1038/nrm2438
- Vigil D, Cherfils J, Rossman KL, Der CJ. Ras superfamily GEFs and GAPs: validated and tractable targets for cancer therapy? *Nat Rev Cancer* (2010) 10:842–57. doi:10. 1038/nrc2960
- Downward J, Graves JD, Warne PH, Rayter S, Cantrell DA. Stimulation of p21ras upon T-cell activation. *Nature* (1990) 346:719–23. doi:10.1038/346719a0
- Graves JD, Downward J, Izquierdo-Pastor M, Rayter S, Warne PH, Cantrell DA. The growth factor IL-2 activates p21ras proteins in normal human T lymphocytes. J Immunol (1992) 148:2417–22.
- Alberola-Ila J, Forbush KA, Seger R, Krebs EG, Perlmutter RM. Selective requirement for MAP kinase activation in thymocyte differentiation. *Nature* (1995) **373**:620–3. doi:10.1038/373620a0
- Swan KA, Alberola-Ila J, Gross JA, Appleby MW, Forbush KA, Thomas JF, et al. Involvement of p21ras distinguishes positive and

negative selection in thymocytes. *EMBO J* (1995) **14**:276–85.

- Mor A, Philips MR. Compartmentalized Ras/MAPK signaling. Annu Rev Immunol (2006) 24:771–800. doi:10.1146/annurev.immunol.24. 021605.090723
- 14. Yasuda T, Kurosaki T. Regulation of lymphocyte fate by Ras/ERK signals. *Cell Cycle* (2008) **7**:3634–40 doi:10.4161/cc.7.23.7103
- Stone JC. Regulation and function of the RasGRP family of Ras activators in blood cells. *Genes Cancer* (2011) 2:320–34. doi:10.1177/ 1947601911408082
- John J, Rensland H, Schlichting I, Vetter I, Borasio GD, Goody RS, et al. Kinetic and structural analysis of the Mg(2+)-binding site of the guanine nucleotide-binding protein p21H-ras. *J Biol Chem* (1993) 268:923–9.
- Cool RH, Schmidt G, Lenzen CU, Prinz H, Vogt D, Wittinghofer A. The Ras mutant D119N is both dominant negative and activated. *Mol Cell Biol* (1999) 19:6297–305.
- Dower NA, Stang SL, Bottorff DA, Ebinu JO, Dickie P, Ostergaard HL, et al. RasGRP is essential for mouse thymocyte differentiation and TCR signaling. *Nat Immunol* (2000) 1:317–21. doi:10. 1038/80799
- Ebinu JO, Stang SL, Teixeira C, Bottorff DA, Hooton J, Blumberg PM, et al. RasGRP links T-cell receptor signaling to Ras. *Blood* (2000) 95:3199–203.
- Kortum RL, Sommers CL, Alexander CP, Pinski JM, Li W, Grinberg A, et al. Targeted Sos1 deletion reveals its critical role in early T-cell development. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2011) 108:12407–12. doi:10.1073/pnas.1104295108
- Sondermann H, Soisson SM, Bar-Sagi D, Kuriyan J. Tandem histone folds in the structure of the Nterminal segment of the ras activator Son of Sevenless. *Structure* (2003) 11:1583–93. doi:10.1016/j. str.2003.10.015
- 22. Nimnual AS, Yatsula BA, Bar-Sagi D. Coupling of Ras and Rac guanosine triphosphatases through the Ras exchanger Sos. *Science* (1998) **279**:560–3. doi:10. 1126/science.279.5350.560

Our research is supported by a Sandler Program in Basic Science (start-up Jeroen P. Roose), Physical Science Oncology Center grant U54CA143874 (Jeroen P. Roose), NIH grant 1P01AI091580-01 (Jesse E. Jun, Jeroen P. Roose), DFG grant RU 860/4-1 (Ignacio Rubio), and DFG GRK1715 (Ignacio Rubio).

- 23. Soisson SM, Nimnual AS, Uy M, Bar-Sagi D, Kuriyan J. Crystal structure of the Dbl and pleckstrin homology domains from the human Son of sevenless protein. *Cell* (1998) **95**:259–68. doi:10. 1016/S0092-8674(00)81756-0
- Lemmon MA. Membrane recognition by phospholipid-binding domains. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol (2008) 9:99–111. doi:10.1038/ nrm2328
- 25. Chen RH, Corbalan-Garcia S, Bar-Sagi D. The role of the PH domain in the signal-dependent membrane targeting of Sos. *EMBO* J (1997) 16:1351–9. doi:10.1093/ emboj/16.6.1351
- Koshiba S, Kigawa T, Kim JH, Shirouzu M, Bowtell D, Yokoyama S. The solution structure of the pleckstrin homology domain of mouse Son-of-sevenless 1 (mSos1). J Mol Biol (1997) 269:579–91. doi:10.1006/jmbi.1997.1041
- Kubiseski TJ, Chook YM, Parris WE, Rozakis-Adcock M, Pawson T. High affinity binding of the pleckstrin homology domain of mSos1 to phosphatidylinositol (4,5)-bisphosphate. J Biol Chem (1997) 272:1799–804. doi: 10.1074/jbc.272.3.1799
- 28. Zheng J, Chen RH, Corblan-Garcia S, Cahill SM, Bar-Sagi D, Cowburn D. The solution structure of the pleckstrin homology domain of human SOS1. A possible structural role for the sequential association of diffuse B cell lymphoma and pleckstrin homology domains. *J Biol Chem* (1997) **272**:30340–4. doi:10.1074/jbc.272.48.30340
- 29. Zhao C, Du G, Skowronek K, Frohman MA, Bar-Sagi D. Phospholipase D2-generated phosphatidic acid couples EGFR stimulation to Ras activation by Sos. *Nat Cell Biol* (2007) **9**:706–12. doi:10. 1038/ncb1594
- Boriack-Sjodin PA, Margarit SM, Bar-Sagi D, Kuriyan J. The structural basis of the activation of Ras by Sos. *Nature* (1998) **394**:337–43. doi:10.1038/28548
- Margarit SM, Sondermann H, Hall BE, Nagar B, Hoelz A, Pirruccello M, et al. Structural evidence for feedback activation

by Ras.GTP of the Ras-specific nucleotide exchange factor SOS. *Cell* (2003) **112**:685–95. doi:10. 1016/S0092-8674(03)00149-1

- 32. Egan SE, Giddings BW, Brooks MW, Buday L, Sizeland AM, Weinberg RA. Association of Sos Ras exchange protein with Grb2 is implicated in tyrosine kinase signal transduction and transformation. *Nature* (1993) **363**:45–51. doi:10. 1038/363045a0
- 33. Li N, Batzer A, Daly R, Yajnik V, Skolnik E, Chardin P, et al. Guanine-nucleotide-releasing factor hSos1 binds to Grb2 and links receptor tyrosine kinases to Ras signalling. *Nature* (1993) 363:85– 8. doi:10.1038/363085a0
- 34. Innocenti M, Frittoli E, Ponzanelli I, Falck JR, Brachmann SM, Di Fiore PP, et al. Phosphoinositide 3-kinase activates Rac by entering in a complex with Eps8, Abi1, and Sos-1. *J Cell Biol* (2003) 160:17–23. doi:10.1083/jcb. 200206079
- 35. Kim MJ, Chang JS, Park SK, Hwang JI, Ryu SH, Suh PG. Direct interaction of SOS1 Ras exchange protein with the SH3 domain of phospholipase C-gamma1. *Biochemistry* (2000) **39**:8674–82. doi:10. 1021/bi992558t
- Scholler JK, Perez-Villar JJ, O'Day K, Kanner SB. Engagement of the T lymphocyte antigen receptor regulates association of son-ofsevenless homologues with the SH3 domain of phospholipase Cgamma1. Eur J Immunol (2000) 30:2378–87. doi:10.1002/1521-4141(2000)30:8<2378::AID-IMMU2378>3.0.CO;2-E
- 37. Halupa A, Chohan M, Stickle NH, Beattie BK, Miller BA, Barber DL. Erythropoietin receptor Y479 couples to ERK1/2 activation via recruitment of phospholipase Cgamma. *Exp Cell Res* (2005) **309**:1–11. doi:10.1016/j. yexcr.2005.04.030
- Wu C, Ma MH, Brown KR, Geisler M, Li L, Tzeng E, et al. Systematic identification of SH3 domain-mediated human proteinprotein interactions by peptide array target screening. *Proteomics* (2007) 7:1775–85. doi:10.1002/ pmic.200601006

- 39. Innocenti M, Tenca P, Frittoli E, Faretta M, Tocchetti A, Di Fiore PP, et al. Mechanisms through which Sos-1 coordinates the activation of Ras and Rac. *J Cell Biol* (2002) **156**:125–36. doi:10.1083/ jcb.200108035
- Rozakis-Adcock M, Van Der Geer P, Mbamalu G, Pawson T. MAP kinase phosphorylation of mSos1 promotes dissociation of mSos1-Shc and mSos1-EGF receptor complexes. Oncogene (1995) 11:1417– 26.
- Waters SB, Holt KH, Ross SE, Syu LJ, Guan KL, Saltiel AR, et al. Desensitization of Ras activation by a feedback disassociation of the SOS-Grb2 complex. J Biol Chem (1995) 270:20883–6. doi:10.1074/ jbc.270.36.20883
- 42. Corbalan-Garcia S, Degenhardt KR, Bar-Sagi D. Insulin-induced dissociation of Sos from Grb2 does not contribute to the down regulation of Ras activation. *Oncogene* (1996) **12**:1063–8.
- 43. Corbalan-Garcia S, Yang SS, Degenhardt KR, Bar-Sagi D. Identification of the mitogen-activated protein kinase phosphorylation sites on human Sos1 that regulate interaction with Grb2. *Mol Cell Biol* (1996) **16**:5674–82.
- 44. Porfiri E, McCormick F. Regulation of epidermal growth factor receptor signaling by phosphorylation of the ras exchange factor hSOS1. *J Biol Chem* (1996) 271:5871–7. doi:10.1074/jbc.271. 10.5871
- 45. Clyde-Smith J, Silins G, Gartside M, Grimmond S, Etheridge M, Apolloni A, et al. Characterization of RasGRP2, a plasma membrane-targeted, dual specificity Ras/Rap exchange factor. J Biol Chem (2000) 275:32260–7. doi:10.1074/jbc.M006087200
- 46. Kawasaki H, Springett GM, Toki S, Canales JJ, Harlan P, Blumenstiel JP, et al. A Rap guanine nucleotide exchange factor enriched highly in the basal ganglia. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (1998) **95**:13278–83. doi:10.1073/pnas.95.22.13278
- 47. Irie K, Masuda A, Shindo M, Nakagawa Y, Ohigashi H. Tumor promoter binding of the protein kinase C C1 homology domain peptides of RasGRPs, chimaerins, and Unc13s. *Bioorg Med Chem* (2004) 12:4575–83. doi:10.1016/j. bmc.2004.07.008
- Johnson JE, Goulding RE, Ding Z, Partovi A, Anthony KV, Beaulieu N, et al. Differential membrane binding and diacylglycerol

recognition by C1 domains of Ras-GRPs. *Biochem J* (2007) **406**:223– 36. doi:10.1042/BJ20070294

- Grabarek Z. Structural basis for diversity of the EF-hand calciumbinding proteins. J Mol Biol (2006) 359:509–25. doi:10.1016/j. jmb.2006.03.066
- Gifford JL, Walsh MP, Vogel HJ. Structures and metal-ion-binding properties of the Ca2+-binding helix-loop-helix EF-hand motifs. *Biochem J* (2007) 405:199–221. doi:10.1042/BJ20070255
- Ebinu JO, Bottorff DA, Chan EY, Stang SL, Dunn RJ, Stone JC. RasGRP, a Ras guanyl nucleotide-releasing protein with calcium- and diacylglycerolbinding motifs. *Science* (1998) 280:1082–6. doi:10.1126/science. 280.5366.1082
- 52. Ksionda O, Limnander A, Roose JP. RasGRP proteins in cancer. *Front Biol* (2013) (in press).
- Fernandez-Medarde A, Santos E. The RasGrf family of mammalian guanine nucleotide exchange factors. *Biochim Biophys Acta* (2011) 1815:170–88. doi:10.1016/j.bbcan. 2010.11.001
- 54. Cen H, Papageorge AG, Vass WC, Zhang KE, Lowy DR. Regulated and constitutive activity by CDC25Mm (GRF), a Ras-specific exchange factor. *Mol Cell Biol* (1993) 13:7718–24.
- Lemmon MA, Ferguson KM. Signal-dependent membrane targeting by pleckstrin homology (PH) domains. *Biochem J* (2000) 350(Pt 1):1–18. doi:10.1042/0264-6021:3500001
- 56. Parry DA, Fraser RD, Squire JM. Fifty years of coiled-coils and alpha-helical bundles: a close relationship between sequence and structure. J Struct Biol (2008) 163:258–69. doi:10.1016/j.jsb.2008.01.016
- Bahler M, Rhoads A. Calmodulin signaling via the IQ motif. FEBS Lett (2002) 513:107–13. doi:10. 1016/S0014-5793(01)03239-2
- Buchsbaum RJ, Connolly BA, Feig LA. Interaction of Rac exchange factors Tiam1 and Ras-GRF1 with a scaffold for the p38 mitogenactivated protein kinase cascade. *Mol Cell Biol* (2002) 22:4073– 85. doi:10.1128/MCB.22.12.4073-4085.2002
- 59. Fan WT, Koch CA, De Hoog CL, Fam NP, Moran MF. The exchange factor Ras-GRF2 activates Rasdependent and Rac-dependent mitogen-activated protein kinase pathways. *Curr Biol* (1998)

8:935-8. doi:10.1016/S0960-9822(07)00376-4

- 60. Kiyono M, Satoh T, Kaziro Y. G protein beta gamma subunit-dependent Rac-guanine nucleotide exchange activity of Ras-GRF1/CDC25(Mm). Proc Natl Acad Sci U S Α (1999)96:4826-31. doi:10.1073/pnas.96.9.4826
- 61. Priatel JJ, Teh SJ, Dower NA, Stone JC, Teh HS. RasGRP1 transduces low-grade TCR signals which are critical for T cell development, homeostasis, and differentiation. *Immunity* (2002) 17:617–27. doi: 10.1016/S1074-7613(02)00451-X
- 62. Rambaratsingh RA, Stone JC, Blumberg PM, Lorenzo PS. Ras-GRP1 represents a novel nonprotein kinase C phorbol ester signaling pathway in mouse epidermal keratinocytes. J Biol Chem (2003) 278:52792–801. doi:10. 1074/jbc.M308240200
- Zippel R, Gnesutta N, Matus-Leibovitch N, Mancinelli E, Saya D, Vogel Z, et al. Ras-GRF, the activator of Ras, is expressed preferentially in mature neurons of the central nervous system. *Brain Res Mol Brain Res* (1997) 48:140–4. doi:10.1016/S0169-328X(97)00120-4
- 64. Ruiz S, Santos E, Bustelo XR. RasGRF2, a guanosine nucleotide exchange factor for Ras GTPases, participates in T-cell signaling responses. *Mol Cell Biol* (2007) **27**:8127–42. doi:10.1128/MCB.00912-07
- 65. Roose JP, Mollenauer M, Ho M, Kurosaki T, Weiss A. Unusual interplay of two types of Ras activators, RasGRP and SOS, establishes sensitive and robust Ras activation in lymphocytes. *Mol Cell Biol* (2007) 27:2732–45. doi:10.1128/ MCB.01882-06
- 66. Das J, Ho M, Zikherman J, Govern C, Yang M, Weiss A, et al. Digital signaling and hysteresis characterize ras activation in lymphoid cells. *Cell* (2009) **136**:337–51. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2008.11.051
- Kortum RL, Sommers CL, Pinski JM, Alexander CP, Merrill RK, Li W, et al. Deconstructing Ras signaling in the thymus. *Mol Cell Biol* (2012) **32**:2748–59. doi:10.1128/ MCB.00317-12
- Schubbert S, Shannon K, Bollag G. Hyperactive Ras in developmental disorders and cancer. *Nat Rev Cancer* (2007) 7:295–308. doi:10.1038/ nrc2175
- 69. Roberts AE, Allanson JE, Tartaglia M, Gelb BD. Noonan syndrome.

Lancet (2013) **381**:333–42. doi:10. 1016/S0140-6736(12)61023-X

- Roberts AE, Araki T, Swanson KD, Montgomery KT, Schiripo TA, Joshi VA, et al. Germline gainof-function mutations in SOS1 cause Noonan syndrome. *Nat Genet* (2007) **39**:70–4. doi:10. 1038/ng1926
- Tartaglia M, Pennacchio LA, Zhao C, Yadav KK, Fodale V, Sarkozy A, et al. Gain-of-function SOS1 mutations cause a distinctive form of Noonan syndrome. *Nat Genet* (2007) **39**:75–9. doi:10. 1038/ng0207-276a
- 72. Zenker M, Horn D, Wieczorek D, Allanson J, Pauli S, Van Der Burgt I, et al. SOS1 is the second most common Noonan gene but plays no major role in cardio-facio-cutaneous syndrome. J Med Genet (2007) 44:651–6. doi:10.1136/jmg. 2007.051276
- 73. Lepri F, De Luca A, Stella L, Rossi C, Baldassarre G, Pantaleoni F, et al. SOS1 mutations in Noonan syndrome: molecular spectrum, structural insights on pathogenic effects, and genotype-phenotype correlations. *Hum Mutat* (2011) **32**:760–72. doi:10.1002/humu.21492
- 74. Chen PC, Wakimoto H, Conner D, Araki T, Yuan T, Roberts A, et al. Activation of multiple signaling pathways causes developmental defects in mice with a Noonan syndrome-associated Sos1 mutation. J Clin Invest (2010) 120:4353–65. doi:10.1172/ JCI43910
- Yadav KK, Bar-Sagi D. Allosteric gating of Son of sevenless activity by the histone domain. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2010) 107:3436– 40. doi:10.1073/pnas.0914315107
- 76. Oliveira JB, Bidere N, Niemela JE, Zheng L, Sakai K, Nix CP, et al. NRAS mutation causes a human autoimmune lymphoproliferative syndrome. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S* A (2007) **104**:8953–8. doi:10.1073/ pnas.0702975104
- 77. Niemela JE, Lu L, Fleisher TA, Davis J, Caminha I, Natter M, et al. Somatic KRAS mutations associated with a human nonmalignant syndrome of autoimmunity and abnormal leukocyte homeostasis. *Blood* (2011) **117**:2883–6. doi:10. 1182/blood-2010-07-295501
- Shannon K, Li Q. Oncogenic Ras scales the ALPS. *Blood* (2011) 117:2747–8. doi:10.1182/blood-2010-12-320721
- 79. Takagi M, Shinoda K, Piao J, Mitsuiki N, Takagi M, Matsuda K, et

al. Autoimmune lymphoproliferative syndrome-like disease with somatic KRAS mutation. *Blood* (2011) **117**:2887–90. doi:10.1182/ blood-2010-08-301515

- Kane LP, Lin J, Weiss A. Signal transduction by the TCR for antigen. Curr Opin Immunol (2000) 12:242–9. doi:10.1016/ S0952-7915(00)00083-2
- Buday L, Downward J. Epidermal growth factor regulates p21ras through the formation of a complex of receptor, Grb2 adapter protein, and Sos nucleotide exchange factor. *Cell* (1993) **73**:611–20. doi:10.1016/0092-8674(93)90146-H
- 82. Buday L, Egan SE, Rodriguez Viciana P, Cantrell DA, Downward J. A complex of Grb2 adaptor protein, Sos exchange factor, and a 36-kDa membrane-bound tyrosine phosphoprotein is implicated in ras activation in T cells. J Biol Chem (1994) 269:9019–23.
- Aronheim A, Engelberg D, Li N, Al-Alawi N, Schlessinger J, Karin M. Membrane targeting of the nucleotide exchange factor Sos is sufficient for activating the Ras signaling pathway. *Cell* (1994) 78:949–61. doi:10. 1016/0092-8674(94)90271-2
- 84. McCollam L, Bonfini L, Karlovich CA, Conway BR, Kozma LM, Banerjee U, et al. Functional roles for the pleckstrin and Dbl homology regions in the Ras exchange factor Son-of-sevenless. *J Biol Chem* (1995) **270**:15954–7. doi:10. 1074/jbc.270.27.15954
- Wang W, Fisher EM, Jia Q, Dunn JM, Porfiri E, Downward J, et al. The Grb2 binding domain of mSos1 is not required for downstream signal transduction. *Nat Genet* (1995) 10:294–300. doi:10. 1038/ng0795-294
- Corbalan-Garcia S, Margarit SM, Galron D, Yang SS, Bar-Sagi D. Regulation of Sos activity by intramolecular interactions. *Mol Cell Biol* (1998) 18:880–6.
- 87. Findlay GM, Smith MJ, Lanner F, Hsiung MS, Gish GD, Petsalaki E, et al. Interaction domains of sos1/grb2 are finely tuned for cooperative control of embryonic stem cell fate. *Cell* (2013) **152**:1008–20. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2013.01.056
- 88. Gureasko J, Kuchment O, Makino DL, Sondermann H, Bar-Sagi D, Kuriyan J. Role of the histone domain in the autoinhibition and activation of the Ras activator Son of Sevenless. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S*

A (2010) **107**:3430–5. doi:10.1073/ pnas.0913915107

- 89. Sondermann H, Soisson SM, Boykevisch S, Yang SS, Bar-Sagi D, Kuriyan J. Structural analysis of autoinhibition in the Ras activator Son of sevenless. *Cell* (2004) **119**:393–405. doi:10.1016/ j.cell.2004.10.005
- 90. Freedman TS, Sondermann H, Friedland GD, Kortemme T, Bar-Sagi D, Marqusee S, et al. A Rasinduced conformational switch in the Ras activator Son of sevenless. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2006) **103**:16692–7. doi:10.1073/ pnas.0608127103
- 91. Boykevisch S, Zhao C, Sondermann H, Philippidou P, Halegoua S, Kuriyan J, et al. Regulation of ras signaling dynamics by Sos-mediated positive feedback. *Curr Biol* (2006) 16:2173–9. doi: 10.1016/j.cub.2006.09.033
- 92. Jun JE, Li M, Chen H, Chakraborty AK, Roose JP. Activation of ERK but not of p38 MAP kinase pathways in lymphocytes requires allosteric activation of SOS. *Mol Cell Biol* (2013) **33**:2470–84. doi: 10.1128/MCB.01593-12
- 93. Gureasko J, Galush WJ, Boykevisch S, Sondermann H, Bar-Sagi D, Groves JT, et al. Membrane-dependent signal integration by the Ras activator Son of sevenless. *Nat Struct Mol Biol* (2008) 15:452–61. doi:10.1038/nsmb.1418
- 94. Sondermann H, Nagar B, Bar-Sagi D, Kuriyan J. Computational docking and solution x-ray scattering predict a membrane-interacting role for the histone domain of the Ras activator son of sevenless. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2005) **102**:16632–7. doi:10.1073/ pnas.0508315102
- Krishna S, Zhong X-P. Regulation of lipid signaling by diacylglycerol kinases during T cell development and function. *Front Immunol* (2013) **4**:178. doi:10.3389/fimmu. 2013.00178
- 96. Sauer K, Cooke, MP. Regulation of immune cell development through soluble inositol-1,3,4,5-tetrakisphosphate. *Nat Rev Immunol* (2010) 10:257–71. doi: 10.1038/nri2745
- 97. Aiba Y, Oh-Hora M, Kiyonaka S, Kimura Y, Hijikata A, Mori Y, et al. Activation of RasGRP3 by phosphorylation of Thr-133 is required for B cell receptor-mediated Ras activation. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2004) **101**:16612–7. doi:10.1073/ pnas.0407468101

- 98. Brodie C, Steinhart R, Kazimirsky G, Rubinfeld H, Hyman T, Ayres JN, et al. PKCdelta associates with and is involved in the phosphorylation of RasGRP3 in response to phorbol esters. *Mol Pharmacol* (2004) 66:76–84. doi:10.1124/mol. 66.1.76
- Coughlin JJ, Stang SL, Dower NA, Stone JC. RasGRP1 and RasGRP3 regulate B cell proliferation by facilitating B cell receptor-Ras signaling. J Immunol (2005) 175:7179–84.
- 100. Roose JP, Mollenauer M, Gupta VA, Stone J, Weiss A. A diacylglycerolprotein kinase C-RasGRP1 pathway directs Ras activation upon antigen receptor stimulation of T cells. *Mol Cell Biol* (2005) **25**:4426– 41. doi:10.1128/MCB.25.11.4426-4441.2005
- 101. Limnander A, Depeille P, Freedman TS, Liou J, Leitges M, Kurosaki T, et al. STIM1, PKCdelta and RasGRP set a threshold for proapoptotic Erk signaling during B cell development. Nat Immunol (2011) 12:425–33. doi: 10.1038/ni.2016
- 102. Qu HQ, Grant SF, Bradfield JP, Kim C, Frackelton E, Hakonarson H, et al. Association of RASGRP1 with type 1 diabetes is revealed by combined follow-up of two genome-wide studies. J Med Genet (2009) 46:553–4. doi:10.1136/jmg. 2009.067140
- 103. Plagnol V, Howson JM, Smyth DJ, Walker N, Hafler JP, Wallace C, et al. Genome-wide association analysis of autoantibody positivity in type 1 diabetes cases. *PLoS Genet* (2011) 7:e1002216. doi:10. 1371/journal.pgen.1002216
- 104. Yasuda S, Stevens RL, Terada T, Takeda M, Hashimoto T, Fukae J, et al. Defective expression of Ras guanyl nucleotidereleasing protein 1 in a subset of patients with systemic lupus erythematosus. J Immunol (2007) 179:4890–900.
- 105. Reuther GW, Lambert QT, Rebhun JF, Caligiuri MA, Quilliam LA, Der CJ. RasGRP4 is a novel Ras activator isolated from acute myeloid leukemia. J Biol Chem (2002) 277:30508–14. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M111330200
- 106. Yang D, Tao J, Li L, Kedei N, Toth ZE, Czap A, et al. RasGRP3, a Ras activator, contributes to signaling and the tumorigenic phenotype in human melanoma. *Oncogene* (2011) **30**: 4590–600. doi:10.1038/onc.2011. 166

- 107. Yang D, Kedei N, Li L, Tao J, Velasquez JF, Michalowski AM, et al. RasGRP3 contributes to formation and maintenance of the prostate cancer phenotype. *Cancer Res* (2010) **70**:7905–17. doi:10. 1158/0008-5472.CAN-09-4729
- 108. Luke CT, Oki-Idouchi CE, Cline JM, Lorenzo PS. RasGRP1 overexpression in the epidermis of transgenic mice contributes to tumor progression during multistage skin carcinogenesis. *Cancer Res* (2007) 67:10190–7. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-07-2375
- 109. Oki-Idouchi CE, Lorenzo PS. Transgenic overexpression of Ras-GRP1 in mouse epidermis results in spontaneous tumors of the skin. *Cancer Res* (2007) 67:276– 80. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-06-3080
- 110. Diez FR, Garrido AA, Sharma A, Luke CT, Stone JC, Dower NA, et al. RasGRP1 transgenic mice develop cutaneous squamous cell carcinomas in response to skin wounding. Potential role of granulocyte colony-stimulating factor. *Am J Pathol* (2009) **175**:392–9. doi: 10.2353/ajpath.2009.090036
- 111. Klinger MB, Guilbault B, Goulding RE, Kay RJ. Deregulated expression of RasGRP1 initiates thymic lymphomagenesis independently of Tcell receptors. *Oncogene* (2005) 24:2695–704. doi:10.1038/sj.onc. 1208334
- 112. Mikkers H, Allen J, Knipscheer P, Romeijn L, Hart A, Vink E, et al. High-throughput retroviral tagging to identify components of specific signaling pathways in cancer. *Nat Genet* (2002) **32**:153–9. doi:10.1038/ng1002-331d
- 113. Suzuki T, Shen H, Akagi K, Morse HC, Malley JD, Naiman DQ, et al. New genes involved in cancer identified by retroviral tagging. *Nat Genet* (2002) **32**:166–74. doi: 10.1038/ng1002-331e
- 114. Akagi K, Suzuki T, Stephens RM, Jenkins NA, Copeland NG. RTCGD: retroviral tagged cancer gene database. *Nucleic Acids Res* (2004) **32**:D523–7. doi:10.1093/ nar/gkh013
- 115. Oki T, Kitaura J, Watanabe-Okochi N, Nishimura K, Maehara A, Uchida T, et al. Aberrant expression of RasGRP1 cooperates with gain-of-function NOTCH1 mutations in T-cell leukemogenesis. *Leukemia* (2012) 26:1038–45. doi: 10.1038/leu.2011.328
- 116. Hartzell C, Ksionda O, Lemmens E, Coakley K, Yang M, Dail M, et al.

Dysregulated RasGRP1 responds to cytokine receptor input in T cell leukemogenesis. *Sci Signal* (2013) **6**:ra21. doi:10.1126/ scisignal.2003848

- 117. Feske S. Calcium signalling in lymphocyte activation and disease. Nat Rev Immunol (2007) 7:690–702. doi:10.1038/nri2152
- 118. Zheng Y, Liu H, Coughlin J, Zheng J, Li L, Stone JC. Phosphorylation of RasGRP3 on threonine 133 provides a mechanistic link between PKC and RAS signaling systems in B cells. *Blood* (2005) **105**:3648–54. doi:10.1182/blood-2004-10-3916
- 119. Fu G, Chen Y, Yu M, Podd A, Schuman J, He Y, et al. Phospholipase C{gamma}1 is essential for T cell development, activation, and tolerance. J Exp Med (2010) 207:309–18. doi:10.1084/ jem.20090880
- 120. Guo R, Wan CK, Carpenter JH, Mousallem T, Boustany RM, Kuan CT, et al. Synergistic control of T cell development and tumor suppression by diacylglycerol kinase alpha and zeta. *Proc Natl Acad Sci* U S A (2008) **105**:11909–14. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0711856105
- 121. Olenchock BA, Guo R, Carpenter JH, Jordan M, Topham MK, Koretzky GA, et al. Disruption of diacylglycerol metabolism impairs the induction of T cell anergy. Nat Immunol (2006) 7:1174–81. doi: 10.1038/ni1400
- 122. Zha Y, Marks R, Ho AW, Peterson AC, Janardhan S, Brown I, et al. T cell anergy is reversed by active Ras and is regulated by diacylglycerol kinase-alpha. *Nat Immunol* (2006) 7:1166–73. doi: 10.1038/ni1206-1343a
- 123. Golec DP, Dower NA, Stone JC, Baldwin TA. RasGRP1, but not RasGRP3, is required for efficient thymic beta-selection and ERK activation downstream of CXCR4. *PLoS One* (2013) 8:e53300. doi:10. 1371/journal.pone.0053300
- 124. Kremer KN, Clift IC, Miamen AG, Bamidele AO, Qian NX, Humphreys TD, et al. Stromal cellderived factor-1 signaling via the CXCR4-TCR heterodimer requires phospholipase C-beta3 and phospholipase C-gamma1 for distinct cellular responses. *J Immunol* (2011) 187:1440–7. doi:10.4049/ jimmunol.1100820
- 125. Limnander A, Weiss A. Cadependent Ras/Erk signaling mediates negative selection of autoreactive B cells. *Small GTPases* (2011) 2:282–8. doi:10.4161/sgtp.2.5.17794

- 126. Fischer AM, Katayama CD, Pages G, Pouyssegur J, Hedrick SM. The role of erk1 and erk2 in multiple stages of T cell development. *Immunity* (2005) 23:431–43. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2005.08.013
- 127. Zhu M, Fuller DM, Zhang W. The role of Ras guanine nucleotide releasing protein 4 in Fc epsilonRImediated signaling, mast cell function, and T cell development. *J Biol Chem* (2012) **287**:8135–43. doi:10. 1074/jbc.M111.320580
- 128. Poon HY, Stone JC. Functional links between diacylglycerol and phosphatidylinositol signaling systems in human leukocyte-derived cell lines. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* (2009) **390**:1395–401. doi:10.1016/j.bbrc.2009.11.004
- 129. Beaulieu N, Zahedi B, Goulding RE, Tazmini G, Anthony KV, Omeis SL, et al. Regulation of RasGRP1 by B cell antigen receptor requires cooperativity between three domains controlling translocation to the plasma membrane. *Mol Biol Cell* (2007) 18:3156–68. doi:10.1091/mbc. E06-10-0932
- 130. Zahedi B, Goo HJ, Beaulieu N, Tazmini G, Kay RJ, Cornell RB. Phosphoinositide 3kinase regulates plasma membrane targeting of the Ras-specific exchange factor RasGRP1. J Biol Chem (2011) 286:12712–23. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M110.189605
- 131. Fuller DM, Zhu M, Song X, Ou-Yang CW, Sullivan SA, Stone JC, et al. Regulation of RasGRP1 function in T cell development and activation by its unique tail domain. *PLoS One* (2012) 7:e38796. doi:10.1371/journal. pone.0038796
- 132. Tazmini G, Beaulieu N, Woo A, Zahedi B, Goulding RE, Kay RJ. Membrane localization of RasGRP1 is controlled by an EF-hand, and by the GEF domain. *Biochim Biophys Acta* (2009) **1793**: 447–61. doi:10.1016/j.bbamcr. 2008.12.019
- 133. Bivona TG, Perez De Castro I, Ahearn IM, Grana TM, Chiu VK, Lockyer PJ, et al. Phospholipase Cgamma activates Ras on the Golgi apparatus by means of RasGRP1. *Nature* (2003) **424**:694–8. doi:10. 1038/nature01806
- 134. Izquierdo M, Downward J, Graves JD, Cantrell DA. Role of protein kinase C in T-cell antigen receptor regulation of p21ras: evidence that two p21ras regulatory pathways coexist in T cells. *Mol Cell Biol* (1992) 12:3305–12.

- 135. Hille B. Ion Channels of Excitable Membranes. 3rd ed. Sunderland: Sinauer Associates, Inc (2001).
- 136. Topham MK, Prescott SM. Diacylglycerol kinase zeta regulates Ras activation by a novel mechanism. *J Cell Biol* (2001) **152**:1135–43. doi:10.1083/jcb.152.6.1135
- 137. Schneider H, Wang H, Raab M, Valk E, Smith X, Lovatt M, et al. Adaptor SKAP-55 binds p21 activating exchange factor Ras-GRP1 and negatively regulates the p21-ERK pathway in T-cells. *PLoS One* (2008) **3**:e1718. doi:10.1371/ journal.pone.0001718
- 138. Kosco KA, Cerignoli F, Williams S, Abraham RT, Mustelin T. SKAP55 modulates T cell antigen receptor-induced activation of the Ras-Erk-AP1 pathway by binding RasGRP1. *Mol Immunol* (2008) 45:510–22. doi:10.1016/j. molimm.2007.05.024
- 139. Oh-Hora M, Johmura S, Hashimoto A, Hikida M, Kurosaki T. Requirement for Ras guanine nucleotide releasing protein 3 in coupling phospholipase C-gamma2 to Ras in B cell receptor signaling. J Exp Med (2003) 198:1841–51. doi:10.1084/jem.20031547
- 140. Warnecke N, Poltorak M, Kowtharapu BS, Arndt B, Stone JC, Schraven B, et al. TCR-mediated Erk activation does not depend on Sos and Grb2 in peripheral human T cells. *EMBO Rep* (2012) 13:386– 91. doi:10.1038/embor.2012.17
- 141. Tian T, Harding A, Inder K, Plowman S, Parton RG, Hancock JF. Plasma membrane nanoswitches generate high-fidelity Ras signal transduction. *Nat Cell Biol* (2007) 9:905–14. doi:10.1038/ncb1615
- 142. Stefanova I, Hemmer B, Vergelli M, Martin R, Biddison WE, Germain RN. TCR ligand discrimination is enforced by competing ERK positive and SHP-1 negative feedback pathways. *Nat Immunol* (2003) 4:248–54. doi:10.1038/ni895
- 143. Bashor CJ, Helman NC, Yan S, Lim WA. Using engineered scaffold interactions to reshape MAP kinase pathway signaling dynamics. *Science* (2008) **319**:1539–43. doi:10.1126/science.1151153
- 144. Harding A, Tian T, Westbury E, Frische E, Hancock JF. Subcellular localization determines MAP kinase signal output. *Curr Biol* (2005) **15**:869–73. doi:10.1016/j. cub.2005.04.020
- 145. Prasad A, Zikherman J, Das J, Roose JP, Weiss A, Chakraborty AK. Origin of the sharp boundary

that discriminates positive and negative selection of thymocytes. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2009) **106**:528–33. doi:10.1073/ pnas.0805981105

- 146. Werlen G, Hausmann B, Naeher D, Palmer E. Signaling life and death in the thymus: timing is everything. *Science* (2003) 299:1859–63. doi:10.1126/science. 1067833
- 147. Daniels MA, Teixeiro E, Gill J, Hausmann B, Roubaty D, Holmberg K, et al. Thymic selection threshold defined by compartmentalization of Ras/MAPK signalling. *Nature* (2006) **444**:724–9. doi:10. 1038/nature05269
- 148. McGargill MA, Chen IL, Katayama CD, Pages G, Pouyssegur J, Hedrick SM. Cutting edge: extracellular signal-related kinase is not required for negative selection of developing T cells. *J Immunol* (2009) **183**:4838–42. doi:10.4049/ jimmunol.0902208
- 149. Kortum RL, Rouquette-Jazdanian AK, Samelson LE. Ras and extracellular signal-regulated kinase signaling in thymocytes and T cells. *Trends Immunol* (2013) 34:259– 68. doi:10.1016/j.it.2013.02.004
- 150. Rubio I, Rennert K, Wittig U, Beer K, Durst M, Stang SL, et al. Ras activation in response to phorbol ester proceeds independently of the EGFR via an unconventional nucleotide-exchange factor system in COS-7 cells. *Biochem* J (2006) **398**:243–56. doi:10.1042/ BJ20060160
- 151. Markegard E, Trager E, Yang CW, Zhang W, Weiss A, Roose JP. Basal LAT-diacylglycerol-RasGRP1 signals in T cells maintain TCRalpha gene expression. *PLoS One* (2011) 6:e25540. doi:10.1371/journal. pone.0025540
- 152. Sugawara T, Moriguchi T, Nishida E, Takahama Y. Differential roles of ERK and p38 MAP kinase pathways in positive and negative selection of T lymphocytes. *Immunity* (1998) 9:565–74. doi:10.1016/ S1074-7613(00)80639-1
- 153. Gong Q, Cheng AM, Akk AM, Alberola-Ila J, Gong G, Pawson T, et al. Disruption of T cell signaling networks and development by Grb2 haploid insufficiency. *Nat Immunol* (2001) 2:29–36. doi:10. 1038/83134
- 154. Jang IK, Zhang J, Chiang YJ, Kole HK, Cronshaw DG, Zou Y, et al. Grb2 functions at the top of the Tcell antigen receptor-induced tyrosine kinase cascade to control thymic selection. *Proc Natl Acad*
Sci U S A (2010) **107**:10620–5. doi:10.1073/pnas.0905039107

- 155. Willingham MC, Pastan I, Shih TY, Scolnick EM. Localization of the src gene product of the Harvey strain of MSV to plasma membrane of transformed cells by electron microscopic immunocytochemistry. *Cell* (1980) **19**:1005– 14. doi:10.1016/0092-8674(80) 90091-4
- 156. Furth ME, Davis LJ, Fleurdelys B, Scolnick EM. Monoclonal antibodies to the p21 products of the transforming gene of Harvey murine sarcoma virus and of the cellular ras gene family. J Virol (1982) 43:294–304.
- 157. Myrdal SE, Auersperg N. p21ras. Heterogeneous localization in transformed cells. *Exp Cell Res* (1985) **159**:441–50. doi:10.1016/ S0014-4827(85)80017-3
- 158. Grand RJ, Smith KJ, Gallimore PH. Purification and characterisation of the protein encoded by the activated human N-ras gene and its membrane localisation. *Oncogene* (1987) 1:305–14.
- 159. Matarazzo M, Faraggiana T, Donato MF, Paronetto F. Immunocytochemical localization of p21 ras gene product in human hepatoma cell lines and corresponding tumors in athymic mice. *J Exp Pathol* (1987) **3**:305–15.
- 160. Cox AD, Solski PA, Jordan JD, Der CJ. Analysis of Ras protein expression in mammalian cells. *Methods Enzymol* (1995) 255:195–220. doi:10.1016/S0076-6879(95)55023-2
- 161. Kranenburg O, Verlaan I, Moolenaar WH. Regulating c-Ras function. cholesterol depletion affects caveolin association. *Curr Biol* (2001) **11**:1880–4. doi:10.1016/ S0960-9822(01)00582-6
- 162. Rubio I. Use of the Ras binding domain of c-Raf for biochemical and live-cell analysis of Ras activation. *Biochem Soc Trans* (2005) **33**:662–3. doi:10. 1042/BST0330662
- 163. Choy E, Chiu VK, Silletti J, Feoktistov M, Morimoto T, Michaelson D, et al. Endomembrane trafficking of ras: the CAAX motif targets proteins to the ER and Golgi. *Cell* (1999) **98:**69–80. doi:10.1016/S0092-8674(00)80607-8
- 164. Rocks O, Peyker A, Bastiaens PI. Spatio-temporal segregation of Ras signals: one ship, three anchors, many harbors. *Curr Opin Cell Biol* (2006) 18:351–7. doi:10. 1016/j.ceb.2006.06.007

- 165. Prior IA, Hancock JF. Ras trafficking, localization and compartmentalized signalling. *Semin Cell Dev Biol* (2012) 23:145–53. doi:10. 1016/j.semcdb.2011.09.002
- 166. Goodwin JS, Drake KR, Rogers C, Wright L, Lippincott-Schwartz J, Philips MR, et al. Depalmitoylated Ras traffics to and from the Golgi complex via a nonvesicular pathway. J Cell Biol (2005) 170:261–72. doi:10.1083/jcb.200502063
- 167. Dekker FJ, Rocks O, Vartak N, Menninger S, Hedberg C, Balamurugan R, et al. Small-molecule inhibition of APT1 affects Ras localization and signaling. *Nat Chem Biol* (2010) 6:449–56. doi: 10.1038/nchembio.362
- 168. Lorentzen A, Kinkhabwala A, Rocks O, Vartak N, Bastiaens PI. Regulation of Ras localization by acylation enables a mode of intracellular signal propagation. *Sci Signal* (2010) **3**:ra68. doi:10.1126/ scisignal.20001370
- 169. Rocks O, Gerauer M, Vartak N, Koch S, Huang ZP, Pechlivanis M, et al. The palmitoylation machinery is a spatially organizing system for peripheral membrane proteins. *Cell* (2010) **141**:458–71. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2010.04.007
- 170. Duncan JA, Gilman AG. A cytoplasmic acyl-protein thioesterase that removes palmitate from G protein alpha subunits and p21(RAS). J Biol Chem (1998) 273:15830–7. doi:10.1074/jbc.273.25.15830
- 171. Bivona TG, Quatela SE, Bodemann BO, Ahearn IM, Soskis MJ, Mor A, et al. PKC regulates a farnesylelectrostatic switch on K-Ras that promotes its association with Bcl-XL on mitochondria and induces apoptosis. *Mol Cell* (2006) 21:481– 93. doi:10.1016/j.molcel.2006.01. 012
- 172. Lu A, Tebar F, Alvarez-Moya B, Lopez-Alcala C, Calvo M, Enrich C, et al. A clathrindependent pathway leads to KRas signaling on late endosomes en route to lysosomes. *J Cell Biol* (2009) **184**:863–79. doi:10.1083/ jcb.200807186
- 173. Perez de Castro I, Bivona TG, Philips MR, Pellicer A. Ras activation in Jurkat T cells following low-grade stimulation of the T-cell receptor is specific to N-Ras and occurs only on the Golgi apparatus. *Mol Cell Biol* (2004) 24:3485–96. doi:10.1128/MCB.24. 8.3485-3496.2004
- 174. Mor A, Campi G, Du G, Zheng Y, Foster DA, Dustin ML, et

al. The lymphocyte functionassociated antigen-1 receptor costimulates plasma membrane Ras via phospholipase D2. *Nat Cell Biol* (2007) **9**:713–9. doi:10.1038/ ncb1592

- 175. Bivona TG, Quatela S, Philips MR. Analysis of Ras activation in living cells with GFP-RBD. *Methods Enzymol* (2006) **407**:128–43. doi: 10.1016/S0076-6879(05)07012-6
- 176. Quatela SE, Philips MR. Ras signaling on the Golgi. *Curr Opin Cell Biol* (2006) **18**:162–7. doi:10.1016/ j.ceb.2006.02.004
- 177. Rubio I, Grund S, Song SP, Biskup C, Bandemer S, Fricke M, et al. TCR-induced activation of Ras proceeds at the plasma membrane and requires palmitoylation of N-Ras. *J Immunol* (2010) **185**:3536–43. doi:10.4049/ jimmunol.1000334
- 178. Chiu VK, Bivona T, Hach A, Sajous JB, Silletti J, Wiener H, et al. Ras signalling on the endoplasmic reticulum and the Golgi. *Nat Cell Biol* (2002) **4**:343–50.
- 179. Rocks O, Peyker A, Kahms M, Verveer PJ, Koerner C, Lumbierres M, et al. An acylation cycle regulates localization and activity of palmitoylated Ras isoforms. *Science* (2005) **307**:1746–52. doi:10. 1126/science.1105654
- 180. Baldanzi G, Pighini A, Bettio V, Rainero E, Traini S, Chianale F, et al. SAP-mediated inhibition of diacylglycerol kinase alpha regulates TCR-induced diacylglycerol signaling. *J Immunol* (2011) 187:5941–51. doi:10.4049/ jimmunol.1002476
- 181. Arndt B, Poltorak M, Kowtharapu BS, Reichardt P, Philipsen L, Lindquist JA, et al. Analysis of TCR activation kinetics in primary human T cells upon focal or soluble stimulation. J Immunol Methods (2013) 387:276–83. doi: 10.1016/j.jim.2012.11.006
- 182. Bankaitis VA. Cell biology. Slick recruitment to the Golgi. Science (2002) 295:290–1. doi:10. 1126/science.1068446
- 183. Augsten M, Pusch R, Biskup C, Rennert K, Wittig U, Beyer K, et al. Live-cell imaging of endogenous Ras-GTP illustrates predominant Ras activation at the plasma membrane. *EMBO Rep* (2006) 7: 46–51. doi:10.1038/sj.embor. 7400560
- 184. Methi T, Ngai J, Vang T, Torgersen KM, Tasken K. Hypophosphorylated TCR/CD3zeta signals through a Grb2-SOS1-Ras pathway in Lck knockdown cells. Eur J

Immunol (2007) 37:2539-48. doi: 10.1002/eji.200636973

- 185. Baron CL, Malhotra V. Role of diacylglycerol in PKD recruitment to the TGN and protein transport to the plasma membrane. *Science* (2002) 295:325–8. doi:10. 1126/science.1066759
- 186. Jones DR, D'Santos CS, Merida I, Divecha N. T lymphocyte nuclear diacylglycerol is derived from both de novo synthesis and phosphoinositide hydrolysis. *Int J Biochem Cell Biol* (2002) 34:158–68. doi:10. 1016/S1357-2725(01)00108-X
- 187. Carrasco S, Merida I. Diacylglycerol, when simplicity becomes complex. *Trends Biochem Sci* (2007) **32**:27–36. doi:10.1016/j. tibs.2006.11.004
- 188. Almena M, Merida I. Shaping up the membrane: diacylglycerol coordinates spatial orientation of signaling. *Trends Biochem Sci* (2011) 36:593–603. doi:10.1016/j. tibs.2011.06.005
- 189. Oancea E, Teruel MN, Quest AF, Meyer T. Green fluorescent protein (GFP)-tagged cysteinerich domains from protein kinase C as fluorescent indicators for diacylglycerol signaling in living cells. J Cell Biol (1998) 140: 485–98. doi:10.1083/jcb.140.3.485
- 190. Carrasco S, Merida I. Diacylglycerol-dependent binding recruits PKCtheta and RasGRP1 C1 domains to specific subcellular localizations in living T lymphocytes. *Mol Biol Cell* (2004) 15:2932–42. doi:10.1091/mbc.E03-11-0844
- 191. Spitaler M, Emslie E, Wood CD, Cantrell D. Diacylglycerol and protein kinase D localization during T lymphocyte activation. *Immunity* (2006) 24:535–46. doi:10.1016/j. immuni.2006.02.013
- 192. Merino E, Sanjuan MA, Moraga I, Cipres A, Merida I. Role of the diacylglycerol kinase alphaconserved domains in membrane targeting in intact T cells. J Biol Chem (2007) 282:35396–404. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M702085200
- 193. Espagnolle N, Depoil D, Zaru R, Demeur C, Champagne E, Guiraud M, et al. CD2 and TCR synergize for the activation of phospholipase Cgamma1/calcium pathway at the immunological synapse. *Int Immunol* (2007) 19: 239–48. doi:10.1093/intimm/ dxl141
- 194. Caloca MJ, Delgado P, Alarcon B, Bustelo XR. Role of chimaerins, a group of Rac-specific GTPase activating proteins, in

T-cell receptor signaling. *Cell Signal* (2008) **20**:758–70. doi:10. 1016/j.cellsig.2007.12.015

- 195. Gharbi SI, Rincon E, Avila-Flores A, Torres-Ayuso P, Almena M, Cobos MA, et al. Diacylglycerol kinase zeta controls diacylglycerol metabolism at the immunological synapse. *Mol Biol Cell* (2011) 22:4406–14. doi:10.1091/ mbc.E11-03-0247
- 196. Quann EJ, Merino E, Furuta T, Huse M. Localized diacylglycerol drives the polarization of the microtubule-organizing center in T cells. *Nat Immunol* (2009) 10:627–35. doi:10.1038/ni.1734
- 197. Monks CR, Freiberg BA, Kupfer H, Sciaky N, Kupfer A. Threedimensional segregation of supramolecular activation clusters in T cells. *Nature* (1998) **395**:82–6. doi:10.1038/25764
- 198. Villalba M, Bi K, Hu J, Altman Y, Bushway P, Reits E, et al. Translocation of PKC[theta] in T cells is mediated by a nonconventional, PI3-K- and Vav-dependent pathway, but does not absolutely require phospholipase C. J Cell Biol (2002) 157:253-63. doi:10.1083/ jcb.200201097
- 199. Zugaza JL, Caloca MJ, Bustelo XR. Inverted signaling hierarchy between RAS and RAC in T-lymphocytes. Oncogene (2004) 23:5823–33. doi:10.1038/sj.onc.1207768
- 200. Phee H, Abraham RT, Weiss A. Dynamic recruitment of PAK1 to the immunological synapse is mediated by PIX independently of SLP-76 and Vav1. *Nat Immunol* (2005) **6**:608–17. doi:10. 1038/ni1199
- 201. Wennstrom S, Downward J. Role of phosphoinositide 3-kinase in activation of ras and mitogenactivated protein kinase by epidermal growth factor. *Mol Cell Biol* (1999) 19:4279–88.
- 202. Rubio I, Wetzker R. A permissive function of phosphoinositide 3-kinase in Ras activation mediated by inhibition of GTPase-activating proteins. *Curr Biol* (2000) 10:1225–8. doi:10. 1016/S0960-9822(00)00731-4
- 203. Costello PS, Gallagher M, Cantrell DA. Sustained and dynamic inositol lipid metabolism inside and outside the immunological synapse. Nat Immunol (2002) 3:1082–9. doi:10.1038/ni848
- 204. Harriague J, Bismuth G. Imaging antigen-induced PI3K activation in T cells. *Nat Immunol* (2002) 3:1090–6. doi:10.1038/ni847

- 205. Garcon L, Lacout C, Svinartchouk F, Le Couedic JP, Villeval JL, Vainchenker W, et al. Gfi-1B plays a critical role in terminal differentiation of normal and transformed erythroid progenitor cells. *Blood* (2005) **105**:1448–55. doi:10.1182/ blood-2003-11-4068
- 206. Randriamampita C, Mouchacca P, Malissen B, Marguet D, Trautmann A, Lellouch AC. A novel ZAP-70 dependent FRET based biosensor reveals kinase activity at both the immunological synapse and the antisynapse. *PLoS One* (2008) 3:e1521. doi:10.1371/ journal.pone.0001521
- 207. Sperka T, Geissler KJ, Merkel U, Scholl I, Rubio I, Herrlich P, et al. Activation of Ras requires the ERM-dependent link of actin to the plasma membrane. *PLoS One* (2011) **6**:e27511. doi:10.1371/ journal.pone.0027511
- 208. Martinelli S, Chen EJ, Clarke F, Lyck R, Affentranger S, Burkhardt JK, et al. Ezrin/Radixin/Moesin proteins and flotillins cooperate to promote uropod formation in T cells. *Front Immunol* (2013) **4**:84. doi:10.3389/fimmu.2013.00084
- 209. Vanhaesebroeck B, Stephens L, Hawkins P. PI3K signalling: the path to discovery and understanding. *Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol* (2012) 13:195–203. doi:10.1038/nrm3290
 210. Suire S, Condliffe AM, Fergu-
- son GJ, Ellson CD, Guillou H, Davidson K, et al. Gbetagammas and the Ras binding domain of p110gamma are both important regulators of PI(3)Kgamma signalling in neutrophils. *Nat Cell Biol* (2006) **8**:1303–9. doi:10.1038/ ncb1494
- 211. Gupta S, Ramjaun AR, Haiko P, Wang Y, Warne PH, Nicke B, et al. Binding of ras to phosphoinositide 3-kinase p110alpha is required for ras-driven tumorigenesis in mice. *Cell* (2007) **129**:957–68. doi:10. 1016/j.cell.2007.03.051
- 212. Castellano E, Downward J. RAS interaction with PI3K: more than just another effector pathway. *Genes Cancer* (2011) 2:261–74. doi:10.1177/1947601911408079
- 213. Hu Q, Klippel A, Muslin AJ, Fantl WJ, Williams LT. Rasdependent induction of cellular responses by constitutively active phosphatidylinositol-3 kinase. *Science* (1995) **268**:100–2. doi:10. 1126/science.7701328
- 214. Lockyer PJ, Wennstrom S, Kupzig S, Venkateswarlu K, Downward J, Cullen PJ. Identification of the ras GTPase-activating

protein GAP1(m) as a phosphatidylinositol-3,4,5trisphosphate-binding protein in vivo. *Curr Biol* (1999) **9**:265– 8. doi:10.1016/S0960-9822(99) 80116-X

- 215. Tomlinson MG, Kane LP, Su J, Kadlecek TA, Mollenauer MN, Weiss A. Expression and function of Tec, Itk, and Btk in lymphocytes: evidence for a unique role for Tec. *Mol Cell Biol* (2004) 24:2455–66. doi:10.1128/MCB.24. 6.2455-2466.2004
- 216. Qin S, Stadtman ER, Chock PB. Regulation of oxidative stressinduced calcium release by phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase and Bruton's tyrosine kinase in B cells. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2000) **97**:7118–23. doi:10.1073/ pnas.130198197
- 217. Varnai P, Bondeva T, Tamas P, Toth B, Buday L, Hunyady L, et al. Selective cellular effects of overexpressed pleckstrinhomology domains that recognize PtdIns(3,4,5)P3 suggest their interaction with protein binding partners. J Cell Sci (2005) 118:4879–88. doi:10.1242/jcs.02606
- 218. Mohamed AJ, Yu L, Backesjo CM, Vargas L, Faryal R, Aints A, et al. Bruton's tyrosine kinase (Btk): function, regulation, and transformation with special emphasis on the PH domain. *Immunol Rev* (2009) **228**:58–73. doi:10.1111/j. 1600-065X.2008.00741.x
- 219. Takata M, Kurosaki T. A role for Bruton's tyrosine kinase in B cell antigen receptor-mediated activation of phospholipase C-gamma 2. J Exp Med (1996) 184:31–40. doi:10.1084/jem.184.1.31
- 220. Saito K, Tolias KF, Saci A, Koon HB, Humphries LA, Scharenberg A, et al. BTK regulates PtdIns-4,5-P2 synthesis: importance for calcium signaling and PI3K activity. *Immunity* (2003) **19**:669–78. doi:10.1016/S1074-7613(03)00297-8
- 221. Schaeffer EM, Schwartzberg PL. Tec family kinases in lymphocyte signaling and function. *Curr Opin Immunol* (2000) 12:282–8. doi:10.1016/S0952-7915(00)00088-1
- 222. Gomez-Rodriguez J, Kraus ZJ, Schwartzberg PL. Tec family kinases Itk and Rlk/Txk in T lymphocytes: cross-regulation of cytokine production and T-cell fates. *FEBS J* (2011) **278**:1980–9. doi:10.1111/j.1742-4658.2011. 08072.x

- 223. Honda A, Nogami M, Yokozeki T, Yamazaki M, Nakamura H, Watanabe H, et al. Phosphatidylinositol 4-phosphate 5-kinase alpha is a downstream effector of the small G protein ARF6 in membrane ruffle formation. *Cell* (1999) **99**:521–32. doi:10.1016/ S0092-8674(00)81540-8
- 224. Stephens L, Eguinoa A, Corey S, Jackson T, Hawkins PT. Receptor stimulated accumulation of phosphatidylinositol (3,4,5)trisphosphate by G-protein mediated pathways in human myeloid derived cells. EMBO J (1993) 12:2265–73.
- 225. Stephens L, Jackson T, Hawkins PT. Synthesis of phosphatidylinositol 3,4,5-trisphosphate in permeabilized neutrophils regulated by receptors and G-proteins. J Biol Chem (1993) **268**:17162–72.
- 226. Hallberg B, Rayter SI, Downward J. Interaction of Ras and Raf in intact mammalian cells upon extracellular stimulation. *J Biol Chem* (1994) 269:3913–6.
- 227. Ghosh S, Bell RM. Regulation of Raf-1 kinase by interaction with the lipid second messenger, phosphatidic acid. *Biochem Soc Trans* (1997) **25**:561–5.
- 228. Rizzo MA, Shome K, Watkins SC, Romero G. The recruitment of Raf-1 to membranes is mediated by direct interaction with phosphatidic acid and is independent of association with Ras. J Biol Chem (2000) 275: 23911–8. doi:10.1074/jbc. M001553200
- 229. Mollinedo F, Gajate C, Flores I. Involvement of phospholipase D in the activation of transcription factor AP-1 in human T lymphoid Jurkat cells. J Immunol (1994) 153:2457–69.
- 230. Reid PA, Gardner SD, Williams DM, Harnett MM. The antigen receptors on mature and immature T lymphocytes are coupled to phosphatidylcholinespecific phospholipase D activation. *Immunology* (1997) **90**:250– 6. doi:10.1046/j.1365-2567.1997. 00150.x
- 231. Esteban LM, Vicario-Abejon C, Fernandez-Salguero P, Fernandez-Medarde A, Swaminathan N, Yienger K, et al. Targeted genomic disruption of H-ras and N-ras, individually or in combination, reveals the dispensability of both loci for mouse growth and development. *Mol Cell Biol* (2001) 21:1444–52. doi:10.1128/MCB.21. 5.1444-1452.2001

- 232. Iborra S, Soto M, Stark-Aroeira L, Castellano E, Alarcon B, Alonso C, et al. H-ras and N-ras are dispensable for T-cell development and activation but critical for protective Th1 immunity. *Blood* (2011) 117:5102–11. doi:10.1182/blood-2010-10-315770
- 233. Simon JA, Schreiber SL. Grb2 SH3 binding to peptides from Sos: evaluation of a general model for SH3-ligand interactions. *Chem Biol* (1995) 2:53–60. doi:10.1016/ 1074-5521(95)90080-2
- 234. Houtman JC, Yamaguchi H, Barda-Saad M, Braiman A, Bowden B, Appella E, et al. Oligomerization of signaling complexes by the multipoint binding of GRB2 to both LAT and SOS1. *Nat Struct Mol Biol* (2006) 13:798–805. doi:10.1038/ nsmb1133
- 235. Nag A, Monine MI, Faeder JR, Goldstein B. Aggregation of membrane proteins by cytosolic cross-linkers: theory and simulation of the LAT-Grb2-SOS1 system.

Biophys J (2009) **96**:2604–23. doi:10.1016/j.bpj.2009.01.019

- 236. Sherman E, Barr V, Manley S, Patterson G, Balagopalan L, Akpan I, et al. Functional nanoscale organization of signaling molecules downstream of the T cell antigen receptor. *Immunity* (2011) 35:705–20. doi:10.1016/j.immuni. 2011.10.004
- 237. Zhang W, Trible RP, Zhu M, Liu SK, McGlade CJ, Samelson LE. Association of Grb2, Gads, and phospholipase C-gamma 1 with phosphorylated LAT tyrosine residues. Effect of LAT tyrosine mutations on T cell angigen receptor-mediated signaling. J Biol Chem (2000) 275:23355–61. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M000404200
- 238. Lin J, Weiss A. Identification of the minimal tyrosine residues required for linker for activation of T cell function. J Biol Chem (2001) 276:29588–95. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M102221200
- 239. Braga VM. GEF without a Dbl domain? Nat Cell Biol (2002)

4:E188–90. doi:10.1038/ncb0802e188

- 240. Nimnual A, Bar-Sagi D. The two hats of SOS. *Sci STKE* (2002)
 2002:E36. doi:10.1126/stke.2002. 145.pe36
- 241. Hashimoto A, Okada H, Jiang A, Kurosaki M, Greenberg S, Clark EA, et al. Involvement of guanosine triphosphatases and phospholipase C-gamma2 in extracellular signal-regulated kinase, c-Jun NH2-terminal kinase, and p38 mitogen-activated protein kinase activation by the B cell antigen receptor. J Exp Med (1998) 188:1287–95. doi:10.1084/jem.188.7.1287
- 242. Ashwell JD. The many paths to p38 mitogen-activated protein kinase activation in the immune system. *Nat Rev Immunol* (2006) **6**:532–40. doi:10.1038/nri1865

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships

that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Received: 02 June 2013; paper pending published: 10 July 2013; accepted: 02 August 2013; published online: 04 September 2013.

Citation: Jun JE, Rubio I and Roose JP (2013) Regulation of Ras exchange factors and cellular localization of Ras activation by lipid messengers in T cells. Front. Immunol. **4**:239. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2013.00239

This article was submitted to T Cell Biology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology.

Copyright © 2013 Jun, Rubio and Roose. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Regulation of lipid signaling by diacylglycerol kinases during T cell development and function

Sruti Krishna^{1,2} and Xiao-Ping Zhong^{1,2}*

¹ Department of Pediatrics, Division of Allergy and Immunology, Duke University Medical Center, Durham, NC, USA

² Department of Immunology, Duke University Medical Center, Durham, NC, USA

Edited by:

Karsten Sauer, The Scripps Research Institute, USA

Reviewed by:

Salvatore Valitutti, INSERM, France Patrick Jerome Bertolino, Centenary Institute, Australia

*Correspondence:

Xiao-Ping Zhong, Department of Pediatrics, Division of Allergy and Immunology, Duke University Medical Center, Box 2644, Durham, NC 27710, USA e-mail: zhong001@mc.duke.edu

Diacylglycerol (DAG) and phosphatidic acid (PA) are bioactive lipids synthesized when the T cell receptor binds to a cognate peptide-MHC complex. DAG triggers signaling by recruiting Ras guanyl-releasing protein 1, PKC0, and other effectors, whereas PA binds to effector molecules that include mechanistic target of rapamycin, Src homology region 2 domaincontaining phosphatase 1, and Raf1. While DAG-mediated pathways have been shown to play vital roles in T cell development and function, the importance of PA-mediated signals remains less clear. The diacylglycerol kinase (DGK) family of enzymes phosphorylates DAG to produce PA, serving as a molecular switch that regulates the relative levels of these critical second messengers. Two DGK isoforms, α and ζ , are predominantly expressed in T lineage cells and play an important role in conventional $\alpha\beta$ T cell development. In mature T cells, the activity of these DGK isoforms aids in the maintenance of self-tolerance by preventing T cell hyper-activation and promoting T cell anergy. In this review, we discuss the roles of DAG-mediated pathways, PA-effectors, and DGKs in T cell development and function. We also highlight recent work that has uncovered previously unappreciated roles for DGK activity, for instance in invariant NKT cell development, anti-tumor and anti-viral CD8 responses, and the directional secretion of soluble effectors.

Keywords: diacylglycerol kinase, phosphatidic acid, T cell development, T cell activation, T cell tolerance, T cell receptor, mast cells, macrophages

INTRODUCTION

Lipids are small hydrophobic molecules that perform a variety of cellular functions. Though best known for their role in maintaining cell structure and storing energy, lipids have gained in importance over the past few decades as signaling mediators (1, 2). While lipids that participate in signaling are thought to be much less abundant in the cell as compared to structural lipids, their levels vary dynamically in response to external signals.

In this review, we discuss the signaling functions of two key lipid second messengers, diacylglycerol (DAG) and phosphatidic acid (PA), in the context of T cell development and function. DAGs are esters of glycerol in which two of its hydroxyl groups are esterified with long-chain fatty acids. One manner of PA generation in cells is via phosphorylation of the free hydroxyl group in DAG by a family of enzymes called diacylglycerol kinases (DGKs) (3, 4). DGKs therefore act as molecular switches that simultaneously turn off DAG-mediated signaling and turn on PA-mediated signals.

While all 10 mammalian DGK isoforms contain a kinase domain and at least two cysteine-rich C1 domains, they can be grouped into five types based on the homology of their other structural features. α and ζ are the major isoforms expressed in T cells (5). DGK α is a type I DGK and contains an N-terminal recoverin homology domain and two Ca2⁺-binding EF hands. DGK ζ is a type IV DGK and contains a myristoylated alanine rich C kinase substrate (MARCKS) motif, four ankyrin repeats and a C-terminal PDZ-binding domain. DGK ζ undergoes alternative splicing, producing a 130 kDa ζ 2 isoform that is highly expressed in immature thymocytes and a 115 kDa ζ 1 isoform that is predominant in mature thymocytes and peripheral T cells (6). Functional differences between the two splice variants remain unclear.

Here, we begin by discussing the various effector molecules that transduce DAG-mediated signals and PA-mediated signals. We then switch gears to review our current understanding of the role of DGKs in T cell development and function with an emphasis on recent advances that have revealed hitherto unknown functions for these enzymes. The roles of DGK activity in other immune cell lineages are also discussed briefly.

DAG-MEDIATED SIGNALING

Several enzymes contribute toward DAG production upon receptor stimulation in immune cells (7) (**Figure 1**). Phosphatidylinositol-dependent phospholipases hydrolyze membrane phosphatidylinositol bisphosphate (PIP_2) to DAG and inositol triphosphate, and phosphatidylcholine (PC)-dependent phospholipases hydrolyze PC to DAG and phosphoryl choline. In addition, sphingomyelin synthase generates DAG and sphingomyelin from PC and ceramide, while PA phosphatases such as lipins dephosphorylate PA to DAG. On the other hand, DAG is primarily removed by the activity of DGKs, which catalyze its phosphorylation to PA. DAG can recruit a variety of downstream effector molecules through their C1 domains, and thereby trigger multiple signaling pathways.

The protein kinase C (PKC) family of serine/threonine kinases consists of 10 isozymes that are activated by a number of distinct



mechanisms (8, 9). Upon engagement of the TCR, production of DAG by activated PLCγ1 recruits PKCθ to the plasma membrane in T cells. Co-stimulation via CD28 also plays an important role in the recruitment and spatial segregation of PKCθ at the immunological synapse (10, 11). Activation of PKCθ is indispensable for TCR-mediated NF- κ B activation in mature T cells (12, 13). A role for PKCθ has also been identified in an array of key processes (14) including invariant NKT (*i*NKT) cell development and activation (15, 16), T cell survival (17), IL-2 production (18), T_H2 responses (19, 20), and T_H17 responses (21). Thus, by recruiting PKCθ, DAG regulates multiple aspects of T cell function.

Another important protein that is brought to the plasma membrane by DAG upon TCR stimulation is Ras guanyl-releasing protein 1 (RasGRP1) (22). RasGRP1 is a member of the Ras-GRP family of factors that help activate Ras by exchanging bound GDP for GTP (23), and is selectively expressed in T cells and a few other cell types (24). RasGRP1 plays an essential role in thymocyte development (25), and is particularly required for the selection of thymocytes that express weakly selecting TCRs (26). RasGRP1 is not critical for the development of $\gamma\delta$ T cells, but is important for their proliferation and IL-17 production (27). Other studies have shown that RasGRP1 may play a role in promoting antigeninduced CD8 cell expansion by lowering the threshold of T cell activation (28). RasGRP1 is therefore a key effector downstream of DAG that plays a multitude of critical roles in T cell development and function.

Members of the protein kinase D (PKD) family have been identified more recently as DAG effectors (29). A unique characteristic of PKDs is that they are targets of both DAG and DAG-activated PKCs (30). PKDs are thought to be activated by a multi-step mechanism. Upon cell stimulation, inactive PKD translocates from the cytosol to the plasma membrane in response to membrane DAG production, where it is then activated by novel PKCs that are also recruited to the membrane by DAG. During T cell development, PKD has been shown to exert different effects on VDJ recombination at the TCR β locus and on CD4 and CD8 expression, based on its localization at the cytosol or plasma membrane (31). Subsequent work has revealed that regulation of thymocyte development by membrane-localized PKD, but not cytosol-localized PKD, is dependent on the GTPase RhoA (32). Bringing PKD to the plasma membrane therefore represents another important mechanism by which DAG regulates T cell development.

Munc13 proteins are mammalian homologs of the C. elegans Unc13 that is localized to pre-synaptic active zones of neurons and important for neurotransmitter secretion (33). Munc13-1, Munc13-2, and Munc13-3 isoforms bind to DAG with high affinity, and translocate to the plasma membrane in response to receptor stimulation. In the immune system, the Munc13-4 isoform which lacks a C1 domain (34, 35) has been shown to be important for granule maturation and exocytosis in NK cells and cytotoxic T lymphocytes (CTLs) (36, 37), and for phagosomal maturation and killing of intracellular bacteria in neutrophils (38, 39). Further studies are required to investigate parallel roles for DAG-binding Munc13 isoforms in NK cells, CTLs, neutrophils, and other types of immune cells. Over-expressing human Munc13 in opossum renal epithelial cell lines enhanced their susceptibility to apoptosis after DAG treatment, suggesting that Munc13 proteins may transduce apoptosis-inducing signals downstream of DAG in some cell types (40). The role of Munc13 proteins in T cell development and function remain poorly understood.

Chimaerins, a family of proteins that possess Rac-specific GTPase Activating Protein (GAP) activity, contain C1 domains that bear about 40 percent homology to those of PKCs (41, 42). Chimaerin isoforms $\alpha 2$ and $\beta 2$ are expressed at different levels in T cells and have been shown to participate in TCR signaling (43). Results from the study suggest that these chimaerin isoforms translocate to the immunological synapse upon T cell activation, but in a manner that is independent of canonical DAG-binding by the C1 domains. Catalytic activity of these chimaerins was found to play an important role in inhibiting TCR-mediated NFAT activation. Other studies have delineated a role for $\beta 2$ chimaerin in mediating DAG-dependent changes in T cell adhesion and chemotaxis (44). In this study, expression of GFP-tagged β 2 chimaerin revealed that active Rac and C1-dependent PMA binding could co-operate to induce sustained localization of $\beta 2$ chimaerin to the plasma membrane in Jurkat T cells. Overexpression of GFP-β2 chimaerin was associated with decreased CXCL12-induced static adhesion but enhanced CXCL12-induced migration. Chimaerin proteins therefore represent an important class of DAG effectors in T cells, but further work is required to dissect aspects of their function that are dependent on and independent of DAG-binding.

PA-MEDIATED SIGNALING

Diacylglycerol kinases and enzymes of the phospholipase D (PLDs) family act as key mediators of PA production in immune cells by phosphorylating DAG and hydrolyzing PC, respectively (7, 45) (**Figure 1**). On the other hand, enzymes such as lipins that possess PA phosphatase activity play a critical role in turning off

PA-mediated signaling by removing PA (46). Cellular levels of PA have been shown to change dynamically in response to environmental stimuli, and a wealth of data has revealed a diverse array of functions for this bioactive lipid (47).

Phosphatidic acid performs its signaling functions primarily by associating with a growing number of effector molecules that include kinases such as mammalian/mechanistic target of rapamycin (mTOR) and phosphatidylinositol-4-phosphate 5kinase (PIP5K), and phosphatases such as Src homology region 2 domain-containing phosphatase 1 (SHP1) (48). In mammalian HEK293 cells, treatment with exogenous PA was found to promote the phosphorylation of S6K1 and 4E-BP1, which are substrates of mTOR complex 1 (49). This phosphorylation was abolished by rapamycin, a bacterial macrolide that inhibits mTOR activity. Results from this study showed that mitogenic stimulation of HEK293 cells led to cellular PA accumulation within 5 min. Small unilamellar vesicles containing PA could also directly bind to the FKBP12-rapamycin binding (FRB) domain on mTOR in a manner that competed with FKBP12-rapamycin. Together, these results suggest a role for PA as a critical mediator that connects mitogenic stimuli to mTOR activation in mammalian cells (50). More recent work has revealed that PA may activate mTOR by a distinctive two-step mechanism that involves the displacement of the endogenous mTOR-inhibitor FKBP38 and allosteric activation of the kinase (51). On the other hand, studies with Rat2 fibroblasts suggest that PA may indirectly activate mTOR complex 1 via the MEK-ERK pathway (52). In this study, two structurally distinct MEK inhibitors were found to inhibit PA-mediated activation of mTOR complex 1. Other studies with human renal cell adenocarcinoma cell lines have shown that suppression of cellular PA production by treatment with a PLD inhibitor may inhibit the association of mTOR with both Raptor and Rictor, suggesting that PLD-derived PA may act as a key stabilizer of mTOR complexes 1 and 2 (53).

Diacylglycerol kinase-derived PA has also been shown to modulate mTOR complex 1 activity in HEK293 cell lines (54). Overexpression of DGK ζ , but not DGK α , led to increased mTOR complex 1-dependent phosphorylation of S6K1 both in the presence and absence of serum, suggesting that DGK ζ -derived PA may activate mTOR complex 1. DGK ζ -induced S6K1 phosphorylation was dose-dependent, as cells expressing higher levels of DGK ζ showed more intense S6K1 phosphorylation. DGK ζ -mediated increase in S6K1 phosphorylation was abolished when a mutant form of mTOR (that lacked the capacity to bind PA) was co-expressed, suggesting that DGK ζ -generated PA enhances S6K1 phosphorylation by directly binding to mTOR.

While it is tempting to extend these observations to suggest that PA may directly bind and activate mTOR in immune cells, only a few studies have rigorously examined the relationship between PA and mTOR in these cell types. RAW264.7 macrophage cell lines showed enhanced secretion of pro-inflammatory cytokines such as IL-6, TNF- α , and IL-1 β in response to PA stimulation (55). This was specifically abrogated by rapamycin, suggesting that PA-induced production of pro-inflammatory cytokines in macrophages may occur through the mTOR complex 1 pathway. Treatment of mice with PA also led to an increase in serum levels of these cytokines, suggesting that PA may promote systemic inflammatory responses in a manner that is dependent on mTOR complex 1 activation.

As we discuss later in this review, a bevy of studies provide clear genetic evidence of critical roles for DGK α and DGK ζ in multiple aspects of T cell maturation and function. However, much work remains to be done in understanding the role of DGK-derived and PLD-derived PA in activating mTOR complex 1 during T cell development and function.

Another key signaling pathway that is activated by PA is the Ras/MEK/ERK signaling cascade (56). The first line of evidence for PA-mediated modulation of MAP kinase signaling came from a study which showed that a C-terminal domain of Raf1 could bind to PA in a canine kidney cell line (57). Subsequent work showed that growth factor-mediated activation of PLD and the concomitant production of PA were directly linked to the activation of the Raf1-MAP kinase pathway (58). Based on findings that insulin-dependent PLD activation was critically dependent on ADP ribosylation factor (ARF) activation, the researchers used an ARF inhibitor (brefeldin A) to block PLD activation (59). Blocking PLD activity and PA production with brefeldin A blocked insulin-induced activation of the MAPK pathway in Rat-1 fibroblasts. Results from the study also showed that PA did not directly activate Raf1, but instead enhanced its recruitment to the plasma membrane to allow for its activation by Ras. Mutations in Raf1 that disrupted Raf1-PA interaction prevented plasma membrane recruitment of Raf1 in response to insulin stimulation (60).

Kinase suppressor of Ras 1 (KSR1) is a scaffolding protein that interacts with several components of the Raf-MEK-ERK cascade to co-ordinate the formation of localized multi-protein complexes that enable efficient signal transduction (61). More recent work has shown that KSR1 contains a sequence homologous to Raf1's PA-binding domain that allows it to directly bind PA and be recruited to the plasma membrane in response to insulin stimulation in fibroblasts (62). The recruitment of KSR1 by PA was also found to be essential for its scaffolding function, as mutations in its PA-binding motif impaired insulin-induced MEK and ERK phosphorylation. Studies have shown that PA also recruits Sos, an activator of Ras, to the plasma membrane through its plextrin homology domain (63). PLD2-derived PA was found to play essential role in EGF-induced Ras activation, as mutations of Sos that impaired PA-binding prevented its membrane recruitment and subsequent activation of Ras.

Studies with Jurkat T cells suggest that PLD2 may act upstream of RasGRP1 upon TCR crosslinking and co-stimulation via the integrin lymphocyte function-associated antigen 1 (LFA1) (64). In this case, production of PA by PLD2 and subsequent dephosphorylation of PA to DAG by PA phosphatase were shown to be critical for plasma membrane Ras activation. Others have demonstrated a role for PLD-derived PA in ERK1/2 activation downstream of Galectin-8 engagement in Jurkat T cells (65). Galectins are a family of widely expressed carbohydrate-recognizing proteins, and Gal-8 has previously been shown to bind certain integrins on the T cell surface to provide co-stimulatory and proliferative signals (66). In this study, Gal-8 induced PA accumulation in Jurkat T cells within 15 min in a manner that was inhibited by treatment with a PLD inhibitor (1-butanol). Such PLD-inhibition also abrogated ERK1/2 phosphorylation, suggesting that PLD-derived PA may play an essential role in ERK activation downstream of Gal-8 stimulation in Jurkat T cells. However, this result must be interpreted with caution, as PLD-derived PA may also activate ERK in an indirect manner involving the lipin-mediated conversion of PA to DAG.

Type I PIP5K enzymes catalyze the production of PIP₂ from phosphatidylinositol-4-phosphate (PIP). During T cell activation, PIP₂ is involved in modulating T cell rigidity but is primarily hydrolyzed to produce key second messengers DAG and inositol triphosphate (IP₃) (51). A number of studies have established that PA can bind to and activate PIP5K (67). Modulation of PIP5K activity by PA was originally shown using PIP5K purified from bovine brain membranes, where PA was shown to enhance enzymatic activity by up to 20-fold (68). Subsequent studies demonstrated that type I PIP5Ks (which phosphorylate PIP to PIP₂), but not type II PIP5Ks (which phosphorylate phosphatidylinositol 5 phosphate to PIP₂), are specifically regulated by PA (69). More recent work has suggested that PA may regulate the affinity of murine PIP5K-1 β for its substrate PIP (70). In this study, PA was shown to bind specifically to the C-terminal region of PIP5K-1ß and kinetic analysis revealed that the addition of PA increased the affinity of PIP-binding to the enzyme's active site by nearly 70-fold. Other studies have elegantly demonstrated a role for DGKζ-derived PA in stimulating PIP5K-1a activity to increase local PIP₂ levels and promote actin polymerization in cell lines (71). Expression of DGK cenhanced PIP5K-1a activity in thrombin-stimulated HEK293 cells, and DGKζ and PIP5K-1α were found to co-localize and co-immunoprecipitate with each other. DGKζ and PIP5K-1α were also found to co-localize with actin at lamellipodial protrusions in epithelial cells. While there is evidence to suggest that the activity of PIP5K-1 α and γ isoforms may be critical for normal human NK cell cytotoxicity (72, 73), the role of PLD-derived and DGK-derived PA in regulating PIP5K activity in immune cells remains quite poorly understood.

Protein phosphatase 1 (PP1) is a eukaryotic serine/threonine phosphatase that regulates the function of a variety of proteins in the cell. The PP1 catalytic subunit is able to interact with more than 50 different regulatory subunits in a mutually exclusive manner and this allows the enzyme to target different substrates in diverse subcellular locations depending on its binding partner (74). Initial studies identified that PA acted as a highly specific tight-binding inhibitor of the γ isoform of human PP1 in vitro (75). Further studies used a deletion mutagenesis approach to reveal that residues 286-296 of PP1y were necessary and sufficient for PA-binding (76). Results from one study suggest that PP1 activity may play a role in suppressing T cell function in a rat model of alcohol intoxication and burn injury (77). While this suggests that PA-mediated inhibition of PP1 function may facilitate T cell activation, further experiments are required to better understand the role of PLD-derived and DGK-derived PA in suppressing PP1 activity in T cells.

Src homology region 2 domain-containing phosphatase 1 is a tyrosine phosphatase that plays a critical role in T cell function (78). "Moth-eaten" mice carry a spontaneous frame-shift mutation in the SHP1 gene and lack detectable SHP1 protein (79). Studies with these mice revealed a role for SHP1 in negatively regulating positive and negative thymocyte selection (80), while the use of conditional SHP1 knockout mice showed that SHP1 limits the number of short-lived effector CD8 cells produced in response to viral infection (81). Early studies showed that PA could increase the phosphatase activity of SHP1 toward the EGF receptor when the two proteins were transiently co-expressed in 293 cells (82). Subsequently, PA was shown to directly bind to recombinant SHP1, and two distinct PA-binding sites (a high affinity site on the Cterminal end and a low affinity site on the N-terminal end) were identified on SHP1 (83). Future studies are required to determine if PA modulates SHP1 activity in immune cells and if PA may serve as an effective therapeutic agent to modulate immune responses.

ROLE OF DGK ACTIVITY IN THYMOCYTE DEVELOPMENT

Bone marrow-derived early progenitor cells must go through an elaborate process of development in the thymus to become mature T cells (84, 85). Thymocytes at different stages of maturation are readily distinguished by a combination of CD4 and CD8 coreceptors expressed on their cell surface, proceeding from the earliest stage with neither CD4 nor CD8 (double negative/DN) through an intermediate stage expressing both CD4 and CD8 (double positive/DP) to a mature stage marked by the expression of either CD4 or CD8 (CD4 single positive/CD4SP or CD8 single positive/CD8SP) (86, 87). While progenitor cells enter the thymus at the cortico-medullary junction, a number of sequential chemokine/chemokine-receptor interactions help guide a developing thymocyte through the thymic cortex and medulla, facilitating its progressive relocation to appropriate micro-environments within the thymus (88, 89).

With the expression of RAG proteins, DN cells undergo VDJ recombination at the TCR β locus, expressing a pre-TCR on the cell membrane. DN cells with a productive TCRB rearrangement pass through the β-selection developmental checkpoint, undergoing multiple rounds of proliferation and upregulating expression of CD4 and CD8 to become DP cells. DP cells subsequently rearrange V and J genes at the TCRa locus, expressing a unique TCR on the cell surface. Subsequently, cells bearing TCRs that recognize self-peptide-MHC complexes on thymic epithelial cells receive survival signals during the so-called positive selection process, while others that fail to recognize these complexes die of "neglect" (90, 91). On the other hand, DP cells with TCRs that recognize self-peptide-MHC complexes with high affinity are eliminated by apoptosis-inducing signals during negative selection (92, 93). Together, positive and negative selection processes ensure the generation of a T cell repertoire that is both functional and self-tolerant (94, 95). DP cells that survive these selection processes mature into CD4SP and CD8SP cells that eventually migrate to secondary lymphoid organs as naïve CD4 and CD8 T cells (96, 97).

A plethora of studies have implicated DAG-dependent signaling pathways in β , positive and negative selection. For instance, early studies showed that signaling via the pre-TCR activates ERK1/2 (98), while more recent ones have demonstrated an essential role for RasGRP1 and ERK activation in efficient β -selection (27, 99). Mice with a T cell-specific deficiency of PLC γ 1 show dramatically reduced numbers of mature CD4SP and CD8SP thymocytes, and defects in both positive and negative selection when crossed with HY TCR transgenic mice (100). Impairment of thymic selection in the absence of PLCy1 suggests that its product DAG may play an important role in the process. Lending further credence to this notion, RasGRP1-deficient mice show impaired Ras-ERK signaling in thymocytes and defective thymic selection with a 70-90% reduction of mature SP cells (25, 26). Transgenic mice expressing a dominant negative form of Ras present with defects in positive selection, but not negative selection, when crossed with HY TCR transgenic mice (101). Similar observations were made with transgenic mice that expressed a catalvtically inactive form of MEK1 (K97A) under the control of the thymocyte-specific Lck proximal promoter (102). ERK1 deficiency results in a severe developmental block at the DP stage (103). Conditional deletion of ERK2 using proximal Lck-Cre partially blocked DN3 to DN4 progression, while deletion with CD4-Cre led to defective positive selection. Mice with a combined deficiency of ERK1 and ERK2 showed that ERK activity is required for proliferation and differentiation associated with β -selection, and for positive selection (104). The MAP kinase-interacting serine/threonine kinases (Mnks) 1 and 2 lie downstream of ERK1/2 and p38 (105, 106). Recent studies have shown that TCR triggering can activate Mnk1/2 via the Ras-ERK pathway in a manner that is negatively regulated by DGK $\alpha\zeta$ activity (107). Although Mnk1/2 phosphorylate EIF4E, which is thought to promote translation initiation, combined deficiency of Mnk1/2 did not lead to obvious changes in thymocyte development. The mechanisms by which ERK1/2 regulate thymocyte selection remain to be clearly defined. Together, these studies suggest that the DAG-RasGRP1-Ras-ERK pathway plays a critical role in thymocyte development.

The role of the DAG-mediated PKC θ -IKK-NF- κ B pathway in T cell development has also been studied extensively. While initial studies found no obvious developmental defects in PKC θ deficient thymocytes, more recent ones have suggested that PKC θ may be required for efficient positive selection (108, 109). T cell-specific deletion of IKK γ or replacement of IKK β with a dominant kinase-dead form results in a reduction of mature CD8SP cells (110), while transgenic models that allow for activation or inhibition of NF- κ B have revealed its role in the establishment of signaling thresholds for positive and negative selection (111).

The importance of these DAG-mediated pathways suggests that their tight regulation by DGK may be critical for normal thymocyte development. Studies with mice that lack both DGKa and DGK ζ (DGK $\alpha\zeta$ DKO) have confirmed this hypothesis (112). DGKacDKO thymocytes experience excessive DAG accumulation and enhanced DAG-mediated signaling after TCR engagement. This is associated with a severe developmental block at the DP stage and a marked paucity of mature CD4SP and CD8SP cells. Defects in positive, but not negative, selection were revealed using a HY TCR transgenic system. Addition of exogenous PA to fetal thymic organ cultures increased the frequency of SP cells in DGKaçDKO thymi without obvious effects on control thymi, suggesting that DGKa and DGKz play a synergistic role in T cell development not just by dampening DAG-mediated signals but also by promoting PA-mediated signals. This DGK-induced switch from DAG-driven to PA-driven signals may also play a critical role in preventing prolonged activation of the highly oncogenic Ras-ERK and NF-KB pathways in developing thymocytes. Indeed, HY TCR transgenic mice with decreased DGK activity showed significantly enhanced thymic lymphomagenesis, suggesting an important role for DGK activity in tumor suppression (112).

More recent work from our group has uncovered a novel role for DGKs as negative regulators of mTOR activity in thymocytes (113). Results from the study showed that low concentrations of phorbol 12-myristate 13-acetate (PMA), a functional analog of DAG, were able to induce phosphorylation of mTOR complex 1 substrates S6K1 and 4E-BP1 and mTOR complex 2 substrate Akt (S473), suggesting that DAG-mediated signaling is sufficient to induce activation of both mTOR complexes in thymocytes. DGK α ζDKO thymocytes showed enhanced phosphorylation of S6K1,4E-BP1, and Akt (S473) upon TCR engagement as compared to WT counterparts, suggesting that DGK activity inhibits TCRinduced activation of mTORc1 and mTORc2. Further studies are required to determine if dysregulated mTOR signaling might contribute to the defects in T cell development and function observed in DGK α ζDKO mice.

Emerging evidence also suggests that tight regulation of DAGmediated signaling by DGK activity may be critical for the development of *i*NKT cells. *i*NKT cells are a rare but distinct lineage of $\alpha\beta$ T cells that express a highly restricted TCR repertoire and recognize glycolipids presented on CD1d. Sometimes called the "Swiss-Army knife" of the immune system, *i*NKT cells bridge innate and adaptive immunity by performing an array of functions that include killing of infected cells and secretion of cytokines and chemokines (114). Despite their relative rarity, an important role for *i*NKT cells has been demonstrated in immune responses to pathogens, allergens, self-antigens, and cancer.

Previous work has revealed a critical role for signaling via the PKC θ -IKK-NF- κ B pathway in the ontogeny of *i*NKT cells (15, 115–117). More recent studies have identified that RasGRP1-Ras-ERK signaling may also be indispensable for *i*NKT development. In one study, the absence of RasGRP1 was associated with a severe reduction of *i*NKT cell numbers in the thymus, spleen, and liver (118). The generation of bone marrow chimeras showed that the *i*NKT cell developmental defects were cell-intrinsic, and the remaining RasGRP1-deficient iNKT cell population displayed both a selective absence of CD4⁺ cells and defects in TCR-induced proliferation. In another study, the expression of a dominant negative form of Ras dramatically hindered *i*NKT development (118, 119).

While lack of IKK-NF- κ B and Ras-ERK signaling is detrimental to *i*NKT cell development, recent findings indicate that hyperactive signaling via these DAG-mediated pathways may also perturb *i*NKT development (120). In this study, T lineage specific expression of a constitutively active form of Ras resulted in a late stage block in *i*NKT cell maturation, and constitutively IKK β activity was associated with increased cell death at multiple developmental stages. Since the maintenance of optimal levels of DAG-mediated signaling appears to be essential for normal *i*NKT development, we hypothesized that tight regulation of DAG-mediated signals by DGK activity might be essential for this process. Results from our studies showed that while *i*NKT cell numbers were unaltered in mice lacking either DGK α or DGK ζ , they were dramatically diminished in DGK $\alpha\zeta$ DKO counterparts, suggesting that these DGK isoforms may play a redundant role in regulating *i*NKT cell development (120). Defective DGK α ζDKO *i*NKT development was associated with enhanced cell death and co-incident with enhanced activation of the Ras-ERK and NF- κ B pathways. Taken together, these results suggest that DGK α and DGK ζ work synergistically to maintain an optimal level of DAG-mediated signaling that is essential for normal *i*NKT development.

ROLE OF DGK ACTIVITY IN T CELL FUNCTION

$DGK\alpha$ AND $DGK\zeta$ IN T CELL ACTIVATION

T cell activation is a dynamic cellular process that involves the activation of multiple signaling cascades (Figure 2). The termination of such signaling, however, is important to prevent unrestrained immune responses and the development of autoimmunity. Research over the last decade has delineated a role for DGKa and DGK isoforms as molecular brakes that terminate DAGmediated signals after TCR engagement. Early studies demonstrated that DGK is expressed in multiple lymphoid organs, with high levels in the T cell compartment (6). Overexpression of DGKζ in Jurkat T cells indicated that it substantially hindered TCR-induced Ras-ERK activation and upregulation of the activation marker CD69. DAG-binding and kinase domains, but not the ankyrin repeats, of DGKζ were found to be required for these inhibitory effects. Analysis of germline DGK knockout mice revealed no dramatic differences in T cell development or homeostasis (121). However, DGKζ-deficient T cells showed enhanced Ras-ERK activation and diminished PA production upon TCR engagement. Complementing observations from the Jurkat system, DGK ζ -deficiency resulted in increased upregulation of CD69 and CD25 (markers of T cell activation) upon TCR engagement. Consistent with enhanced activation, DGK ζ KO T cells were hyper-proliferative in response to both antigenic stimulation and lymphopenia.

The role of DGK α in controlling T cell activation largely parallels that of its ζ counterpart. Overexpression of DGK α in Jurkat cells greatly impaired TCR-induced activation of a cotransfected AP1 driven luciferase reporter construct without obvious effects on calcium influx (122). While DGK α KO mice did not present with obvious changes in T cell development or homeostasis, enhanced Ras-ERK activation and hyper-proliferation were observed upon TCR engagement in DGK α KO T cells. Taken together, these results suggest that DGK α and DGK ζ act in a non-redundant manner to restrain DAG-mediated signaling and prevent T cell hyper-activation upon TCR engagement. Further studies are required to better understand the unique mechanisms by which these isoforms act.

$\text{DGK}\alpha$ and $\text{DGK}\zeta$ in t cell anergy

Mechanisms of central and peripheral tolerance play a critical role in preventing the development of autoimmunity (123, 124). T cell anergy is a form of peripheral tolerance whereby T cells that



FIGURE 2 | Signaling pathways triggered by TCR and CD28

engagement. When the TCR engages a cognate peptide-MHC complex in the presence of appropriate co-stimulatory signals, this activates TCR proximal tyrosine kinases (PTKs) and results in the recruitment of a number of adaptor molecules. Eventually, the activation of PLC_γ1 enables it to hydrolyze membrane PIP₂ to form second messengers IP₃ and DAG. IP₃ activates the calcineurin-NFAT pathway, while DAG activates the Ras-ERK-AP1 and NF-κB pathways. DGKs dampen DAG-mediated signals by converting DAG to PA. CD28 engagement plays an important role in the

activation of PKC0 and the PI3K-Akt-mTOR axis. Recent work (indicated by thick arrows) has shown that TCR signaling can also directly activate mTOR complexes via the Ras-ERK pathway, and that such activation is negatively regulated by DGK activity. ERK can also activate Mnk1/2 kinases that phosphorylate eIF4E to promote translation. PA is produced in T cells by the action of both DGKs and PLDs (not shown in this figure). In other cell types, PA has been shown to activate Raf1 and mTORc1. Please refer to the text for more details about TCR-triggered signaling pathways and effector molecules that bind to DAG or PA.

recognize self-antigen in the absence of co-stimulatory signals are rendered functionally inactive (125–128).

While anergic T cells express elevated levels of DGKa as compared to naïve counterparts, levels of DGK increase or remain unchanged depending upon the experimental system (122, 129, 130). Transduction of resting Coxsackievirus and adenovirus receptor (CAR) transgenic T_H1 cells with DGKa or DGKζcontaining adenoviral constructs revealed that overexpression of DGK α , but not DGK ζ , was sufficient to cause an anergy-like state (130). T_H1 cells transduced with the DGK α construct showed diminished ERK activation and IL-2 production in response to stimulation with anti-CD3 and anti-CD28. Experiments with RAG2-deficient 2C TCR transgenic cells also indicated that DGKa overexpression resulted in impaired recruitment of RasGRP1 to the plasma membrane. Brief treatment of anergic T_H1 cells with a pharmacological inhibitor of DGK activity before overnight restimulation with anti-CD3 and anti-CD28 led to a dose-dependent increase in IL-2 production, suggesting a causal function for high DGK activity in T cell anergy. Similar results were obtained with RAG2-deficient 2C TCR transgenic T cells that had been rendered anergic in vivo.

Genetic evidence for the role of DGK α activity in T cell anergy comes from an *in vivo* anergy induction model in which mice were injected with the super-antigen staphylococcal enterotoxin B (SEB) that renders V β 8⁺ T cells anergic (122). When re-stimulated with SEB *ex vivo*, in contrast to WT counterparts, V β 8⁺ T cells from DGK α KO mice retained the ability to produce IL-2 and proliferate. These findings complement the data from the adenoviral-based over-expression studies, and confirm that DGK α is essential for anergy induction *in vivo*.

Further studies also indicate that DGK α and DGK ζ may play synergistic roles in anergy induction (122). When splenocytes from WT, DGK α KO, and DGK ζ KO mice were depleted of CD8 cells and stimulated in the presence of anti-CD3 and CTLA4-Ig (to block co-stimulatory signals), DGK α KO, and DGK ζ KO T cells underwent 2–3 rounds of proliferation in contrast to WT counterparts that did not divide. Proliferation of DGK ζ KO T cells under similar culture conditions was highly enhanced by the addition of a DGK α inhibitor, and was comparable to that of WT cells stimulated with anti-CD3 and anti-CD28. These results support the notion that α and ζ DGK isoforms may act in a synergistic manner to induce T cell anergy.

ROLE AND REGULATION OF $\text{DGK}\alpha$ and $\text{DGK}\zeta$ at the plasma membrane

Early studies found that in T cell lines, DGK α translocated from the cytosol to the plasma membrane in response to stimulation via an ectopically expressed muscarinic type 1 receptor as well as via the TCR (131). Examination of the redistribution of GFP-tagged DGK α revealed rapid but transient translocation of cytosolic DGK α to the plasma membrane after anti-CD3 and anti-CD28 crosslinking. Tyrosine-kinase phosphorylation, along with increases in intracellular calcium levels, was found to be essential for receptor-induced membrane translocation of DGK α . Pre-treatment of cells with the type I DGK inhibitor R59949 enhanced DGK α translocation to the plasma membrane at 2 min but also prevented DGK α dissociation from the membrane even after 60 min, suggesting that removal of DAG to produce PA may play a critical role in enzyme release. Results from this study thus showed that plasma membrane localization of DGK α is controlled not just by receptor-derived signals, but also by its own enzymatic activity.

More recent work has suggested that direct tyrosine phosphorylation of DGKa by the Src family kinase Lck may promote its membrane association in T cells (132). Results from the study showed that Lck phosphorylates DGKa at the Y335 residue in the hinge region between its C1 domains and the kinase domain. TCR triggering was found to induce rapid and transient phosphorylation of DGKa at Y335 in both Jurkat cells and primary human T cells. Fractionation analysis of Jurkat cells revealed that Y335phosphorylation was detected only in the membrane-associated (but not cytosolic) fraction. In addition, a Y335F mutant form of DGKa failed to show plasma membrane localization in response to anti-CD3/anti-CD28 stimulation, in contrast to its WT counterpart. Immuno-precipitation experiments showed that Lck and DGKa interacted with each other, but that the pool of DGKa pulled down with Lck was not phosphorylated at Y335. The authors hypothesize that Lck-mediated phosphorylation of DGKa may induce the latter's dissociation from Lck but play a role in stabilizing DGKa at the membrane. Intriguingly, calcium flux induced by ionomycin was able to increase Y335-phosphorylation of DGK α , leading the authors to hypothesize that binding of Ca⁺⁺ to DGKa's EF hands might induce a conformation change that increases Lck-mediated phosphorylation in the basal state.

Another study has since shown that c-Abl, a tyrosine-kinase involved in regulating cell cycle and proliferation, directly phosphorylates DGK α at Y218 in NIH 3T3 cells (133). Phosphorylation of this residue is thought to play an important role in seruminduced export of DGK α from the nucleus to the cytosol, as a Y218F mutant form was not exported from the nucleus in response to serum addition.

A role for SAP (an adaptor molecule recruited by the SLAM family of co-receptors) in inhibiting DGKa activity following TCR/CD28 stimulation has also been identified recently (134). Results from the study showed that DGK α (but not DGK ζ) activity was reduced in response to TCR/CD28 or TCR/SLAM stimulation in Jurkat cells and human peripheral blood lymphocytes. However, such inhibition was not observed in Jurkat cells upon shRNAmediated knockdown of SAP. SAP knockdown was also found to impair the recruitment of DGKa to the plasma membrane selectively upon TCR/SLAM stimulation, but not TCR/CD28 stimulation, suggesting that the enzymatic activity and localization of DGKa may be regulated by distinct mechanisms. Overexpression of SAP was sufficient to reduce DGKα activity in Jurkat cells, providing further evidence of SAP's role as a negative regulator. Such a role for SAP is also corroborated by findings from previous studies that SAP-deficient T cells showed reduced recruitment of PKC θ to the plasma membrane and diminished ERK1/2 activation upon TCR stimulation, leading to abnormal T cell differentiation and function (19). Pharmacological inhibition of DGKa activity by R59949 partially restored PKC0 membrane recruitment, ERK1/2 activation, and IL-2 production by SAP-deficient cells, suggesting that unrestrained DGKa activity might contribute to these signaling defects in the absence of SAP.

Like its α counterpart, the ζ isoform of DGK also shows dynamic changes in its subcellular localization in response to signals via the TCR. Early studies showed that GFP-tagged DGK rapidly translocated from the cytosol to the plasma membrane upon stimulation of an ectopically expressed muscarinic type 1 receptor, but not the TCR, in Jurkat T cells (135). Deletion of the C-terminal domain (containing the PDZ-binding domain and the ankyrin repeats), however, enabled DGK to translocate to the plasma membrane following TCR stimulation, suggesting that these domains may negatively regulate membrane translocation. The results also revealed that intact cysteine-rich C1 domains and PKC0-mediated phosphorylation of the MARCKS domain are essential for DGK^c membrane translocation, while enzymatic activity is dispensable. Others have shown that DGK can translocate to the nucleus in COS-7 cells, and that this translocation is regulated by PKC-mediated phosphorylation of the MARCKS motif (136). Future studies should investigate a role for DGK ζ in regulating nuclear DAG levels in immune cells.

When a T cell recognizes cognate peptide-MHC complexes and co-stimulatory molecules on an antigen-presenting cell (APC), this leads to the formation of a specialized junction at the T cell-APC interface. This so-called "immunological synapse" typically consists of a central cluster of T cell receptors surrounded by a ring of adhesion molecules, and synapse formation is thought to sustain robust signaling by facilitating the co-localization of kinases and adaptor proteins while excluding phosphatases (137, 138).

Previous studies have shown that DGK can physically associate with RasGRP1 in co-transfection experiments, but a similar function for DGK α was not tested (139). A recent study directly analyzed the recruitment of DGKa and DGKz to the immunological synapse (140). Affinity purification of TCR complexes from Jurkat cells activated by anti-CD3 and anti-CD28 crosslinking suggested that both DGK isoforms were recruited rapidly to the TCR complex. However, video-microscopic experiments with GFP-tagged DGK proteins indicated that only DGK translocates rapidly to the plasma membrane at the early stages of synapse formation. These discrepant results need to be interpreted with caution, as fusion with GFP could potentially alter a protein's structure and disrupt its normal localization pattern. However, RNA interference experiments from this study showed that PA production at the TCR complex was substantially reduced by knock down of DGKζ but not DGKα, strengthening the notion of functional differences between the isoforms. The addition of PMA was found to enhance DGK activity upon TCR stimulation, indicating that DAG itself may regulate DGKζ activity. The use of a fluorescently tagged DAG-sensor domain showed that both plasma membrane localization and kinase activity of DGKζ were critical for DAG consumption at the immune synapse. Together, these results indicate a specific function for the DGK isoform in regulating DAG levels at the immunological synapse. Further studies are required to fully characterize the TCR-induced translocation of DGKa and DGKζ in primary T cells.

DAG AND T CELL SECRETION

The directed release of soluble factors is an important mechanism by which T cells kill target cells and communicate with other cell types. Early studies have shown that the microtubule-organizing center (MTOC) of a T cell reorients itself to a position just below the immunological synapse within minutes of TCR stimulation. Such polarization is though to aid in directional secretion by aligning the protein synthesis and secretion machinery of the T cell with the immune synapse (141, 142). Inhibiting MTOC translocation after TCR stimulation resulted in reduced phosphorylation of ZAP70 and LAT, disorganized immune synapse architecture and impaired IL-2 secretion, suggesting that MTOC translocation may also play a critical role in synapse formation and sustained TCR signaling (143).

More recent studies using a photoactivation system in which individual T helper cells can be activated by a pulse of ultraviolet light, have revealed a critical role for localized DAG production in MTOC polarization toward the synapse (144). MTOC polarization was abrogated in the presence of a PLCy1 inhibitor, but unaffected in the presence of a Ca²⁺ chelator, suggesting that DAG may play a critical role in the process. Treatment with PMA, but not ionomycin, disrupted MTOC polarization providing further evidence that DAG, not Ca^{2+} , links PLC γ 1 activity to MTOC polarization. Data from imaging experiments showed robust accumulation of DAG-sensor proteins at the region of photoactivation, followed by reorientation of MTOC to this region with an average delay of 13 s between the two events. Treatment with a DGK inhibitor prevented sustained C1-GFP accumulation at the irradiated region and thereby impaired MTOC polarization. Experiments with a version of DAG that could be activated by ultraviolet light showed that a localized increase in DAG concentration was sufficient to drive transient polarization of the MTOC. Taken together, these experiments indicate an important role for DAG and DGKs in directional secretion. Treatment with PMA or a type II DGK inhibitor impaired T cell-mediated killing of target cells, without affecting degranulation. This suggests that localized DAG signaling plays a critical role in CTL killing not by blocking granule release but by directing the granules toward their appropriate target. Further studies using the photoactivation system have shown that DAG recruits three distinct PKC isoforms, ε , η , and θ , to the immune synapse to promote cytoskeletal polarization following TCR stimulation (145).

A role for DGK α has also been established in the secretion of lethal FasL-bearing exosomes during activation induced cell death (AICD) (146). In this study, pre-treatment with a type I DGK α inhibitor increased the secretion of FasL-bearing exosomes upon TCR stimulation, and enhanced FasL-dependent AICD in J-HM1-2.2 cell line, suggesting that DGK may act as a negative regulator of exosome secretion. Based on the co-localization of DGK α with the trans-Golgi network and its presence in secreted exosomes, the authors proposed a model by which DAG may recruit PKD1 to the trans-Golgi network to promote vesicle budding.

Building on these results, a more recent study has identified a role for DGK α in the polarization of multi-vesicular bodies (MVBs) involved in the secretion of FasL-bearing exosomes (147). MVBs are late endosomes containing multiple exosomes/vesicles within their lumen that are formed by inward budding of the limiting membrane. In this study, inhibition of DGK α activity with a type I inhibitor was found to increase the number of mature MVBs, while overexpression of DGK α inhibited their formation, indicating that DGK α may negatively regulate the formation of MVBs. However, siRNA-mediated inhibition of DGK α impaired the polarization of MVBs and subsequent exosome release, suggesting a positive role for DGK α in this process. Thus, DGK α plays a complex role in the secretion of FasL-bearing exosomes, impairing their formation but aiding their polarization toward the immune synapse.

$DGK\alpha$ AND $DGK\zeta$ IN CTL RESPONSES

CD8 responses or CTL responses are critical for host defense against intracellular pathogens and tumors. CTL responses typically consist of three distinct phases - an expansion phase during which antigen-specific CD8 cells proliferate rapidly and differentiate into effector cells that kill infected target cells, a contraction phase during which 90-95 percent of these effector CD8 cells undergo apoptosis in response to diminishing antigen levels, and a memory maintenance phase in which the remaining 5-10 percent of cells are retained as a small but stable pool of fast-responding memory cells (148-150). Much effort over the recent years has focused on how signaling mechanisms in CD8 cells can be manipulated to alter the amplitude and kinetics of the CTL response. Preliminary experiments with lymphocytic choriomeningitis virus (LCMV) infection showed that mice deficient in DGKζ mounted a more robust response to the pathogen than WT counterparts (121). DGKζ-deficient mice showed a greater increase of splenic CD8 cell numbers than WT mice at day 7, with a bigger portion of CD62L^{lo} CD44^{hi} effector-memory (T_{EM}) cells and IFNy-producing cells within the CD8 population. Viral titers were 50–70 percent lower in DGKζ-deficient mice than WT mice, arguing that DGKζ activity may negatively regulate CTL responses.

These results were confirmed and extended by a subsequent study, which showed that DGK activity differentially regulates primary and memory responses to LCMV (151). In this study, both DGKaKO and DGKtKO mice showed enhanced expansion and increased cytokine production upon LCMV infection, but contained fewer memory cells than WT counterparts after a 4-month period. When equal numbers of memory cells from these mice were transferred to new recipients and re-challenged with LCMV, DGK-deficient memory cells expanded significantly less than WT memory cells, indicating that DGK activity may somehow promote the expansion of memory cells. Other studies have revealed that the temporal kinetics of mTORc1 activity may play a critical role in effector versus memory differentiation of CD8 cells (152, 153). Results from these studies suggest that sustained mTORc1 activity may induce the expression of the T-box transcription factor T-bet that promotes effector differentiation. The identification of DGKs as negative regulators of mTOR activity (113) suggests the possibility that sustained mTORc1 activity in DGK-deficient CD8 cells might favor effector differentiation and mitigate memory formation. While mTORc1 activity was indeed found to be elevated in DGK-deficient CD8 cells (as measured by phosphorylation of the ribosomal protein S6) (151), further studies are required to dissect the contribution of enhanced mTORc1 activity to the dysregulation of CD8 responses seen in DGKaKO and DGKKKO mice.

DGKζ also acts as a negative regulator of anti-tumor CTL responses in an EL4-Ova lymphoma model (154). In this model, significantly smaller tumors were recovered from DGKζ-deficient

mice as compared to WT mice, 3 weeks after implantation of tumor cells. Evaluation of CD8 splenocytes revealed a higher proportion of T_{FM} cells and a higher proportion of Ova-specific CD8 cells in DGKζ-deficient mice than in WT mice. An increased percentage of tumor-infiltrating CD8 cells was also found to be proliferating in DGKt-deficient mice as compared to WT counterparts. Taken together, these results suggest that DGK ζ activity may play a critical role in restraining anti-tumor responses, closely mirroring its functions during CTL responses to viral infection. When naïve WT-OT1 and DGK(KO-OT1 cells were adoptively transferred into congenically marked recipients that subsequently received EL4-Ova lymphoma cells, recipients with DGK{KO-OT1 cells developed smaller tumors. DGK KO-OT1 cells also contained a bigger pool of CD44^{hi} cells and IL-2 producing cells. Collectively, these results argue for a CD8 cell-intrinsic role for DGKζ in curtailing anti-tumor responses.

Investigation of tumor-infiltrating CD8 cells in human renal cell carcinoma patients showed increased DGK α activity and diminished signaling via MAPK pathways, as compared to CD8 cells that were present in non-tumor areas of the kidney (155). Increased DGK α activity was associated with defects in granule exocytosis and lytic function of these CD8 cells, and treatment with a DGK α inhibitor was able to increase ERK phosphorylation.

Table 1 | Biological functions of DGKs in T cells and other immune cells.

Functions regulated by DGK activity	Reference
DAG metabolism at the T cell-APC immunological synapse	Sanjuan et al. (131) Topham and Prescott (139) Santos et al. (135) Merino et al. (132) Baldanzi et al. (134) Gharbi et al. (140) Matsubara et al. (133)
Development of $\alpha\beta$ T cells	Guo et al. (112) Gorentla et al. (113)
Development of <i>i</i> NKT cells	Shen et al. (120)
T cell activation and anergy	Zhong et al. (6) Zhong et al. (121) Olenchock et al. (158) Zha et al. (130)
CD8 T cell responses to pathogens and tumors	Zhong et al. (121) Riese et al. (154) Prinz et al. (155) Shin et al. (151)
MTOC polarization and directional secretion	Alonso et al. (146) Quann et al. (144) Alonso et al. (147)
Mast cell degranulation and cytokine production	Olenchock et al. (158)
Macrophage and DC cytokine production	Liu et al. (159)

Culturing with low-dose IL-2 reduced DGK α expression and enhanced ERK activation and degranulation. IL-2 treatment also increased the frequency of tumor-infiltrating cells that produced perforin, granzyme B, or IFN γ . Taken together, these data indicate that increased DGK activity and DAG metabolism dampen the responsiveness of tumor-infiltrating CTLs in a reversible manner. What factors in the tumor microenvironment drive increased DGK activity in CD8 cells is an important question that remains to be addressed.

ROLE OF DGK ACTIVITY IN OTHER IMMUNE CELLS

Apart from T cells, DAG and PA are critical signaling intermediates in several cell types including mast cells, dendritic cells (DCs), and macrophages. It is therefore not surprising that tight regulation of DAG and PA levels by DGK activity is essential for normal functioning of these cell types. Mast cells are abundant at the host's interface with the environment, such as the skin and mucose (156). While best known for their role in the pathogenesis of asthma, allergy, and anaphylaxis, mast cells also play a critical role in pathogen surveillance and defense against parasites (157). In contrast to observations with T cells, mast cell function in vivo was diminished in the absence of the DGKζ, impairment of local anaphylactic responses (158). Bone marrow-derived mast cells that lacked DGK showed impaired degranulation but enhanced production of cytokines such as IL-6 when stimulated ex vivo. Other studies have shown that both the <1 and <2 isoforms of DGK expressed in bone marrow-derived macrophages and DCs, with 51 being predominant (159). Considered "professional phagocytes," macrophages, and DCs express a diverse array of pattern recognition receptors (including toll-like receptors or TLRs) that enable them to detect the presence of pathogens and cell debris. Upon stimulation with Toxoplasma gondii - stable tachyzoite antigen (STAg, which activates multiple TLRs), DGKζdeficient splenic DCs and bone marrow-derived macrophages (BMM) produced less TNFa and IL-12 p40 than WT counterparts. Consistent with this impairment in cytokine production, both resistance to endotoxin shock and susceptibility to T. gondii infection were increased in DGK KO mice. While these findings

REFERENCES

- Eyster KM. The membrane and lipids as integral participants in signal transduction: lipid signal transduction for the non-lipid biochemist. Adv Physiol Educ (2007) 31:5–16. doi:10.1152/advan.00088.2006
- Fernandis AZ, Wenk MR. Membrane lipids as signaling molecules. Curr Opin Lipidol (2007) 18:121–8. doi:10. 1097/MOL.0b013e328082e4d5
- Merida I, Avila-Flores A, Merino E. Diacylglycerol kinases: at the hub of cell signalling. *Biochem J* (2008) 409:1–18. doi:10.1042/BJ20071040
- 4. Cai J, Abramovici H, Gee SH, Topham MK. Diacylglycerol kinases as sources of

phosphatidic acid. Biochim Biophys Acta (2009) **1791**:942–8. doi:10.1016/j.bbalip.2009.02.010 Sakane F, Imai S, Kai M, Yasuda S, Kanoh H. Diacylglycerol kinases: why so many of them? Biochim Biophys Acta (2007) **1771**:793–806. doi:10.1016/j.bbalip.2007.04.006

- Zhong XP, Hainey EA, Olenchock BA, Zhao H, Topham MK, Koretzky GA. Regulation of T cell receptor-induced activation of the Ras-ERK pathway by diacylglycerol kinase zeta. J Biol Chem (2002) 277:31089–98. doi:10.1074/jbc.M203818200
- Zhong XP, Guo R, Zhou H, Liu C, Wan CK. Diacylglycerol kinases in immune cell function and selftolerance. *Immunol Rev* (2008)

provide tantalizing evidence of a role for DGK ζ in regulating innate immune responses, further studies are required to gain a better understanding of the underlying molecular mechanisms. In addition, the involvement of other DGK isoforms in the regulation of innate immune responses remains to be investigated. The varied biological functions of DGK activity in T cells and other immune cells are summarized in **Table 1**.

SUMMARY

Over the past few years, a remarkable number of elegant studies that have furthered our understanding of the roles of DAGmediated and PA-mediated signaling pathways, and their regulation by enzymes of the DGK family, in T cell development and function. A role for DGK activity has been identified in a variety of critical processes including conventional $\alpha\beta$ T cell and *i*NKT cell development, T cell activation and anergy, directional secretion, and suppression of CD8 responses against viruses and tumors. While a multitude of interesting and fundamental questions in the field have been addressed by these recent studies, it is important to note that perhaps just as many others await answers. The roles of DGK-derived PA and PLD-derived PA in T cell development and function have proved challenging to dissect, as have differences between DGK isoforms in terms of substrate specificity and subcellular localization. Key elements such as transcription factors, microRNAs, and post-translational modifications that control the dynamic expression and function of DGKs during a T cell's lifetime also remain relatively unexplored. Applying the scientific method to answer these intriguing questions is likely to yield a better understanding of how DAG and PA signals and DGK activity regulate immune responses, enhancing our ability to modulate such responses to quell self-reactivity or generate protective immunity.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

This work is supported by the National Institutes of Health (AI076357, AI079088, and AI101206) and the American Cancer Society (RSG-08-186-01-LIB). The authors declare no conflict of interest.

224:249–64. doi:10.1111/j.1600-065X.2008.00647.x

- Breitkreutz D, Braiman-Wiksman L, Daum N, Denning MF, Tennenbaum T. Protein kinase C family: on the crossroads of cell signaling in skin and tumor epithelium. *J Cancer Res Clin Oncol* (2007) 133:793– 808. doi:10.1007/s00432-007-0280-3
- Gould CM, Newton AC. The life and death of protein kinase C. *Curr Drug Targets* (2008) 9:614– 25. doi:10.2174/13894500878513 2411
- 10. Huang J, Lo PF, Zal T, Gascoigne NR, Smith BA, Levin SD, et al. CD28 plays a critical role in the segregation of PKC theta within the immunologic

synapse. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A (2002) **99**:9369–73. doi:10.1073/pnas.142298399

- Yokosuka T, Kobayashi W, Sakata-Sogawa K, Takamatsu M, Hashimoto-Tane A, Dustin ML, et al. Spatiotemporal regulation of T cell costimulation by TCR-CD28 microclusters and protein kinase C theta translocation. *Immunity* (2008) 29:589–601. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2008. 08.011
- Sun Z, Arendt CW, Ellmeier W, Schaeffer EM, Sunshine MJ, Gandhi L, et al. PKC-theta is required for TCR-induced NFkappaB activation in mature but not immature T lymphocytes. *Nature* (2000) **404**:402–7. doi:10.1038/35006090

- Isakov N, Altman A. Protein kinase C(theta) in T cell activation. Annu Rev Immunol (2002)
 20:761–94. doi:10.1146/annu rev.immunol.20.100301.064807
- Hayashi K, Altman A. Protein kinase C theta (PKCtheta): a key player in T cell life and death. *Pharmacol Res* (2007) 55:537–44. doi:10.1016/j.phrs.2007.04.009
- Schmidt-Supprian M, Tian J, Grant EP, Pasparakis M, Maehr R, Ovaa H, et al. Differential dependence of CD4+CD25+ regulatory and natural killer-like T cells on signals leading to NF-kappaB activation. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A (2004) 101:4566–71. doi:10.1073/pnas.0400885101
- Fang X, Wang R, Ma J, Ding Y, Shang W, Sun Z. Ameliorated ConA-induced hepatitis in the absence of PKC-theta. *PLoS ONE* (2012) 7:e31174. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0031174
- Manicassamy S, Gupta S, Huang Z, Sun Z. Protein kinase Ctheta-mediated signals enhance CD4+ T cell survival by upregulating Bcl-xL. J Immunol (2006) 176:6709–16.
- Werlen G, Jacinto E, Xia Y, Karin M. Calcineurin preferentially synergizes with PKCtheta to activate JNK and IL-2 promoter in T lymphocytes. *EMBO J* (1998) 17:3101–11. doi:10.1093/emboj/17.11.3101
- Cannons JL, Yu LJ, Hill B, Mijares LA, Dombroski D, Nichols KE, et al. SAP regulates T(H)2 differentiation and PKC-theta-mediated activation of NF-kappaB1. *Immunity* (2004) 21:693–706. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2004.09.012
- Marsland BJ, Soos TJ, Spath G, Littman DR, Kopf M. Protein kinase C theta is critical for the development of in vivo T helper (Th)2 cell but not Th1 cell responses. *J Exp Med* (2004) 200:181–9. doi:10.1084/jem.20032229
- Kwon MJ, Ma J, Ding Y, Wang R, Sun Z. Protein kinase Ctheta promotes Th17 differentiation via upregulation of Stat3. *J Immunol* (2012) 188:5887–97. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1102941
- Carrasco S, Merida I. Diacylglycerol-dependent binding recruits PKCtheta and RasGRP1 C1 domains to specific subcellular localizations in living T lymphocytes. *Mol Biol Cell* (2004) 15:2932–42. doi:10.1091/mbc.E03-11-0844

- Roose JP, Mollenauer M, Gupta VA, Stone J, Weiss A. A diacylglycerol-protein kinase C-RasGRP1 pathway directs Ras activation upon antigen receptor stimulation of T cells. *Mol Cell Biol* (2005) 25:4426–41. doi:10.1128/MCB.25.11.4426-4441.2005
- Ebinu JO, Stang SL, Teixeira C, Bottorff DA, Hooton J, Blumberg PM, et al. RasGRP links T-cell receptor signaling to Ras. *Blood* (2000) 95:3199–203.
- Dower NA, Stang SL, Bottorff DA, Ebinu JO, Dickie P, Ostergaard HL, et al. RasGRP is essential for mouse thymocyte differentiation and TCR signaling. *Nat Immunol* (2000) 1:317–21. doi:10.1038/80799
- Priatel JJ, Teh SJ, Dower NA, Stone JC, Teh HS. RasGRP1 transduces low-grade TCR signals which are critical for T cell development, homeostasis, and differentiation. *Immunity* (2002) 17:617–27. doi:10.1016/S1074-7613(02)00451-X
- Chen Y, Ci X, Gorentla B, Sullivan SA, Stone JC, Zhang W, et al. Differential requirement of RasGRP1 for gammadelta T cell development and activation. *J Immunol* (2012) 189:61–71. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1103272
- Priatel JJ, Chen X, Huang YH, Chow MT, Zenewicz LA, Coughlin JJ, et al. RasGRP1 regulates antigen-induced developmental programming by naive CD8 T cells. J Immunol (2010) 184:666–76. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.0803521
- 29. Wang QJ. PKD at the crossroads of DAG and PKC signaling. *Trends Pharmacol Sci* (2006) **27**:317–23. doi:10.1016/j.tips.2006.04.003
- Rozengurt E, Rey O, Waldron RT. Protein kinase D signaling. J Biol Chem (2005) 280:13205–8. doi:10.1074/jbc.R500002200
- Marklund U, Lightfoot K, Cantrell D. Intracellular location and cell contextdependent function of protein kinase D. *Immunity* (2003) 19:491–501. doi:10.1016/S1074-7613(03)00260-7
- Mullin MJ, Lightfoot K, Marklund U, Cantrell DA. Differential requirement for RhoA GTPase depending on the cellular localization of protein kinase D. J Biol Chem (2006) 281:25089– 96. doi:10.1074/jbc.M60359 1200

- Brose N, Rosenmund C. Move over protein kinase C, you've got company: alternative cellular effectors of diacylglycerol and phorbol esters. J Cell Sci (2002) 115:4399–411. doi:10.1242/jcs.00122
- 34. Koch H, Hofmann K, Brose N. Definition of Munc13homology-domains and characterization of a novel ubiquitously expressed Munc13 isoform. *Biochem J* (2000) 349:247–53. doi:10.1042/0264-6021:3490247
- 35. Shirakawa R, Higashi T, Tabuchi A, Yoshioka A, Nishioka H, Fukuda M, et al. Munc13-4 is a GTP-Rab27-binding protein regulating dense core granule secretion in platelets. J Biol Chem (2004) 279:10730–7. doi:10.1074/jbc.M309426200
- Feldmann J, Callebaut I, Raposo G, Certain S, Bacq D, Dumont C, et al. Munc13-4 is essential for cytolytic granules fusion and is mutated in a form of familial hemophagocytic lymphohistiocytosis (FHL3). *Cell* (2003) 115:461–73. doi:10.1016/S0092-8674(03)00855-9
- 37. Menager MM, Menasche G, Romao M, Knapnougel P, Ho CH, Garfa M, et al. Secretory cytotoxic granule maturation and exocytosis require the effector protein hMunc13-4. *Nat Immunol* (2007) 8:257–67. doi:10.1038/ni1431
- Johnson JL, Hong H, Monfregola J, Kiosses WB, Catz SD. Munc13-4 restricts motility of Rab27a-expressing vesicles to facilitate lipopolysaccharideinduced priming of exocytosis in neutrophils. J Biol Chem (2011) 286:5647–56. doi:10.1074/jbc.M110.184762
- 39. Monfregola J, Johnson JL, Meijler MM, Napolitano G, Catz SD. MUNC13-4 protein regulates the oxidative response and is essential for phagosomal maturation and bacterial killing in neutrophils. J Biol Chem (2012) 287:44603–18. doi:10.1074/jbc.M112.414029
- Song Y, Ailenberg M, Silverman M. Human munc13 is a diacylglycerol receptor that induces apoptosis and may contribute to renal cell injury in hyperglycemia. *Mol Biol Cell* (1999) 10:1609–19.
- Caloca MJ, Garcia-Bermejo ML, Blumberg PM, Lewin NE, Kremmer E, Mischak H, et al. Beta2chimaerin is a novel target

for diacylglycerol: binding properties and changes in subcellular localization mediated by ligand binding to its C1 domain. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (1999) **96**:11854–9. doi:10.1073/pnas.96.21.11854

- Yang C, Kazanietz MG. Chimaerins: GAPs that bridge diacylglycerol signalling and the small G-protein Rac. *Biochem J* (2007) 403:1–12. doi:10.1042/BJ20061750
- Caloca MJ, Delgado P, Alarcon B, Bustelo XR. Role of chimaerins, a group of Racspecific GTPase activating proteins, in T-cell receptor signaling. *Cell Signal* (2008) 20:758–70. doi:10.1016/j.cellsig.2007.12.015
- 44. Siliceo M, Garcia-Bernal D, Carrasco S, Diaz-Flores E, Coluccio Leskow F, Teixido J, et al. Beta2-chimaerin provides a diacylglycerol-dependent mechanism for regulation of adhesion and chemotaxis of T cells. *J Cell Sci* (2006) **119**:141–52. doi:10.1242/jcs.02722
- Jenkins GM, Frohman MA. Phospholipase D: a lipid centric review. Cell Mol Life Sci (2005) 62:2305–16. doi:10.1007/s00018-005-5195-z
- Csaki LS, Reue K. Lipins: multifunctional lipid metabolism proteins. Annu Rev Nutr (2010) 30:257–72. doi:10.1146/ annurev.nutr.012809.104729
- Wang X, Devaiah SP, Zhang W, Welti R. Signaling functions of phosphatidic acid. *Prog Lipid Res* (2006) 45:250–78. doi:10.1016/j.plipres.2006.01.005
- Foster DA. Regulation of mTOR by phosphatidic acid? *Cancer Res* (2007) 67:1–4. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-06-3016
- 49. Fang Y, Vilella-Bach M, Bachmann R, Flanigan A, Chen J. Phosphatidic acidmediated mitogenic activation of mTOR signaling. *Science* (2001) **294**:1942–5. doi:10.1126/science.1066015
- Chen J, Fang Y. A novel pathway regulating the mammalian target of rapamycin (mTOR) signaling. *Biochem Pharmacol* (2002) 64:1071–7. doi:10.1016/S0006-2952(02)01263-7
- Yoon MS, Sun Y, Arauz E, Jiang Y, Chen J. Phosphatidic acid activates mammalian target of rapamycin complex 1 (mTORC1) kinase by displacing FK506 binding

protein 38 (FKBP38) and exerting an allosteric effect. *J Biol Chem* (2011) **286**:29568–74. doi:10.1074/jbc.M111.262816

- Winter JN, Fox TE, Kester M, Jefferson LS, Kimball SR. Phosphatidic acid mediates activation of mTORC1 through the ERK signaling pathway. *Am J Physiol Cell Physiol* (2010) **299:**C335–44. doi:10.1152/ajpcell.00039.2010
- Toschi A, Lee E, Xu L, Garcia A, Gadir N, Foster DA. Regulation of mTORC1 and mTORC2 complex assembly by phosphatidic acid: competition with rapamycin. *Mol Cell Biol* (2009) 29:1411–20. doi:10.1128/MCB.00782-08
- Avila-Flores A, Santos T, Rincon E, Merida I. Modulation of the mammalian target of rapamycin pathway by diacylglycerol kinaseproduced phosphatidic acid. J Biol Chem (2005) 280:10091–9. doi:10.1074/jbc.M412296200
- 55. Lim HK, Choi YA, Park W, Lee T, Ryu SH, Kim SY, et al. Phosphatidic acid regulates systemic inflammatory responses by modulating the Akt-mammalian target of rapamycin-p70 S6 kinase 1 pathway. J Biol Chem (2003) 278:45117–27. doi:10.1074/jbc.M303789200
- Andresen BT, Rizzo MA, Shome K, Romero G. The role of phosphatidic acid in the regulation of the Ras/MEK/Erk signaling cascade. *FEBS Lett* (2002) 531:65–8. doi:10.1016/S0014-5793(02)03483-X
- 57. Ghosh S, Strum JC, Sciorra VA, Daniel L, Bell RM. Raf-1 kinase possesses distinct binding domains for phosphatidylserine and phosphatidic acid. Phosphatidic acid regulates the translocation of Raf-1 in 12-O-tetradecanoylphorbol-13-acetate-stimulated Madin-Darby canine kidney cells. J Biol Chem (1996) 271:8472–80. doi:10.1074/jbc.271.14.8472
- Rizzo MA, Shome K, Vasudevan C, Stolz DB, Sung TC, Frohman MA, et al. Phospholipase D and its product, phosphatidic acid, mediate agonistdependent raf-1 translocation to the plasma membrane and the activation of the mitogenactivated protein kinase pathway. *J Biol Chem* (1999) 274:1131–9. doi:10.1074/jbc.274.2.1131
- 59. Shome K, Vasudevan C, Romero G. ARF proteins mediate insulin-dependent

activation of phospholipase D. *Curr Biol* (1997) 7:387–96. doi:10.1016/S0960-9822(06)00186-2

- Rizzo MA, Shome K, Watkins SC, Romero G. The recruitment of Raf-1 to membranes is mediated by direct interaction with phosphatidic acid and is independent of association with Ras. *J Biol Chem* (2000) 275:23911–8. doi:10.1074/jbc.M001553200
- 61. Morrison DK. KSR: a MAPK scaffold of the Ras pathway? *J Cell Sci* (2001) **114**:1609–12.
- Kraft CA, Garrido JL, Fluharty E, Leiva-Vega L, Romero G. Role of phosphatidic acid in the coupling of the ERK cascade. J Biol Chem (2008) 283:36636–45. doi:10.1074/jbc.M804633200
- Zhao C, Du G, Skowronek K, Frohman MA, Bar-Sagi D. Phospholipase D2-generated phosphatidic acid couples EGFR stimulation to Ras activation by Sos. *Nat Cell Biol* (2007) **9**:706–12. doi:10.1038/ncb1594
- 64. Mor A, Campi G, Du G, Zheng Y, Foster DA, Dustin ML, et al. The lymphocyte functionassociated antigen-1 receptor costimulates plasma membrane Ras via phospholipase D2. *Nat Cell Biol* (2007) **9**:713–9. doi:10.1038/ncb1592
- 65. Norambuena A, Metz C, Vicuna L, Silva A, Pardo E, Oyanadel C, et al. Galectin-8 induces apoptosis in Jurkat T cells by phosphatidic acid-mediated ERK1/2 activation supported by protein kinase A down-regulation. J Biol Chem (2009) 284:12670–9. doi:10.1074/jbc.M808949200
- 66. Tribulatti MV, Cattaneo V, Hellman U, Mucci J, Campetella O. Galectin-8 provides costimulatory and proliferative signals to T lymphocytes. J Leukoc Biol (2009) 86:371–80. doi:10.1189/jlb.0908529
- Cockcroft S. Phosphatidic acid regulation of phosphatidylinositol 4-phosphate 5-kinases. *Biochim Biophys Acta* (2009) **1791**:905–12. doi:10.1016/j.bbalip.2009.03.007
 Moritz A, de Graan PN, Gis-
 - . Moritz A, de Graan PN, Gispen WH, Wirtz KW. Phosphatidic acid is a specific activator of phosphatidylinositol-4phosphate kinase. *J Biol Chem* (1992) **267**:7207–10.
- Jenkins GH, Fisette PL, Anderson RA. Type I phosphatidylinositol 4-phosphate 5-kinase isoforms are specifically stimulated

by phosphatidic acid. *J Biol Chem* (1994) **269**:11547–54.

- Jarquin-Pardo M, Fitzpatrick A, Galiano FJ, First EA, Davis JN. Phosphatidic acid regulates the affinity of the murine phosphatidylinositol 4-phosphate 5-kinase-Ibeta for phosphatidylinositol-4-phosphate. J Cell Biochem (2007) 100:112–28. doi:10.1002/jcb.21027
- Luo B, Prescott SM, Topham MK. Diacylglycerol kinase zeta regulates phosphatidylinositol 4-phosphate 5-kinase Ialpha by a novel mechanism. *Cell Signal* (2004) 16:891–7. doi:10.1016/j.cellsig.2004.01.010
- Galandrini R, Micucci F, Tassi I, Cifone MG, Cinque B, Piccoli M, et al. Arf6: a new player in FcgammaRIIIA lymphocyte-mediated cytotoxicity. *Blood* (2005) 106:577–83. doi:10.1182/blood-2004-10-4100
- Micucci F, Capuano C, Marchetti E, Piccoli M, Frati L, Santoni A, et al. PI5KI-dependent signals are critical regulators of the cytolytic secretory pathway. *Blood* (2008) 111:4165–72. doi:10.1182/blood-2007-08-108886
- Cohen PT. Protein phosphatase 1 – targeted in many directions. J Cell Sci (2002) 115:241–56.
- Jones JA, Hannun YA. Tight binding inhibition of protein phosphatase-1 by phosphatidic acid. Specificity of inhibition by the phospholipid. J Biol Chem (2002) 277:15530–8. doi:10.1074/jbc.M111555200
- Jones JA, Rawles R, Hannun YA. Identification of a novel phosphatidic acid binding domain in protein phosphatase-1. *Biochemistry* (2005) 44:13235–45. doi:10.1021/bi0505159
- Li X, Schwacha MG, Chaudry IH, Choudhry MA. A role of PP1/PP2A in mesenteric lymph node T cell suppression in a two-hit rodent model of alcohol intoxication and injury. J Leukoc Biol (2006) **79**:453–62. doi:10.1189/jlb.0705369
- Lorenz U. SHP-1 and SHP-2 in T cells: two phosphatases functioning at many levels. *Immunol Rev* (2009) 228:342–59. doi:10.1111/j.1600-065X.2008.00760.x
- Shultz LD, Schweitzer PA, Rajan TV, Yi T, Ihle JN, Matthews RJ, et al. Mutations at the murine motheaten locus are

within the hematopoietic cell protein-tyrosine phosphatase (Hcph) gene. *Cell* (1993) **73**:1445–54. doi:10.1016/0092-8674(93)90369-2

- Zhang J, Somani AK, Yuen D, Yang Y, Love PE, Siminovitch KA. Involvement of the SHP-1 tyrosine phosphatase in regulation of T cell selection. *J Immunol* (1999) 163:3012–21.
- Fowler CC, Pao LI, Blattman JN, Greenberg PD. SHP-1 in T cells limits the production of CD8 effector cells without impacting the formation of long-lived central memory cells. *J Immunol* (2010) 185:3256– 67. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.100 1362
- 82. Tomic S, Greiser U, Lammers R, Kharitonenkov A, Imyanitov E, Ullrich A, et al. Association of SH2 domain protein tyrosine phosphatases with the epidermal growth factor receptor in human tumor cells. Phosphatidic acid activates receptor dephosphorylation by PTP1C. J Biol Chem (1995) 270:21277–84. doi:10.1074/jbc.270.36.21277
- Frank C, Keilhack H, Opitz F, Zschornig O, Bohmer FD. Binding of phosphatidic acid to the protein-tyrosine phosphatase SHP-1 as a basis for activity modulation. *Biochemistry* (1999) **38**:11993–2002. doi:10.1021/bi982586w
- Takahama Y. Journey through the thymus: stromal guides for T-cell development and selection. *Nat Rev Immunol* (2006) 6:127–35. doi:10.1038/nri1781
- Weerkamp F, Pike-Overzet K, Staal FJ. T-sing progenitors to commit. *Trends Immunol* (2006) 27:125–31. doi:10.1016/j.it.2006.01.006
- Ellmeier W, Sawada S, Littman DR. The regulation of CD4 and CD8 coreceptor gene expression during T cell development. *Annu Rev Immunol* (1999) 17:523–54. doi:10.1146/annurev.immunol. 17.1.523
- Taniuchi I, Ellmeier W. Transcriptional and epigenetic regulation of CD4/CD8 lineage choice. Adv Immunol (2011) 110:71–110. doi:10.1016/B978-0-12-387663-8.00003-X
- Misslitz A, Bernhardt G, Forster R. Trafficking on serpentines: molecular insight on how maturating T cells find their winding paths in the thymus. *Immunol Rev* (2006)

209:115–28. doi:10.1111/j.0105-2896.2006.00351.x

- Bunting MD, Comerford I, McColl SR. Finding their niche: chemokines directing cell migration in the thymus. *Immunol Cell Biol* (2011) 89:185–96. doi:10.1038/icb.2010.142
- Jameson SC, Hogquist KA, Bevan MJ. Positive selection of thymocytes. Annu Rev Immunol (1995) 13:93–126. doi:10.1146/ annurev.iy.13.040195.000521
- Dervovic D, Zuniga-Pflucker JC. Positive selection of T cells, an in vitro view. Semin Immunol (2010) 22:276–86. doi:10.1016/j.smim.2010.04.014
- Sprent J, Kishimoto H. The thymus and negative selection. *Immunol Rev* (2002) 185:126–35. doi:10.1034/j.1600-065X.2002.18512.x
- Von Boehmer H, Melchers F. Checkpoints in lymphocyte development and autoimmune disease. Nat Immunol (2010) 11:14–20. doi:10.1038/ni.1794
- 94. Starr TK, Jameson SC, Hogquist KA. Positive and negative selection of T cells. Annu Rev Immunol (2003) 21:139–76. doi:10.1146/annurev.immunol. 21.120601.141107
- Wiegers GJ, Kaufmann M, Tischner D, Villunger A. Shaping the T-cell repertoire: a matter of life and death. *Immunol Cell Biol* (2011) 89:33–9. doi:10.1038/icb.2010.127
- Matloubian M, Lo CG, Cinamon G, Lesneski MJ, Xu Y, Brinkmann V, et al. Lymphocyte egress from thymus and peripheral lymphoid organs is dependent on S1P receptor 1. *Nature* (2004) 427:355–60. doi:10.1038/nature02284
- Cyster JG, Schwab SR. Sphingosine-1-phosphate and lymphocyte egress from lymphoid organs. *Annu Rev Immunol* (2012) **30:**69–94. doi:10.1146/annurev-immunol-020711-075011
- Michie AM, Trop S, Wiest DL, Zuniga-Pflucker JC. Extracellular signal-regulated kinase (ERK) activation by the pre-T cell receptor in developing thymocytes in vivo. J Exp Med (1999) 190:1647–56. doi:10.1084/jem.190.11.1647
- Golec DP, Dower NA, Stone JC, Baldwin TA. RasGRP1, but not RasGRP3, is required for efficient thymic betaselection and ERK activation

downstream of CXCR4. *PLoS ONE* (2013) **8**:e53300. doi:10. 1371/journal.pone.0053300

- 100. Fu G, Chen Y, Yu M, Podd A, Schuman J, He Y, et al. Phospholipase C{gamma}1 is essential for T cell development, activation, and tolerance. *J Exp Med* (2010) **207**:309–18. doi:10.1084/jem.20090880
- 101. Swan KA, Alberola-Ila J, Gross JA, Appleby MW, Forbush KA, Thomas JF, et al. Involvement of p21ras distinguishes positive and negative selection in thymocytes. *EMBO J* (1995) 14:276–85.
- 102. Alberola-Ila J, Forbush KA, Seger R, Krebs EG, Perlmutter RM. Selective requirement for MAP kinase activation in thymocyte differentiation. *Nature* (1995) **373**:620–3. doi:10.1038/373620a0
- Pages G, Guerin S, Grall D, Bonino F, Smith A, Anjuere F, et al. Defective thymocyte maturation in p44 MAP kinase (Erk 1) knockout mice. *Science* (1999) **286**:1374–7. doi: 10.1126/science.286.5443.1374
 Fischer AM, Katayama CD, Pages G, Pouyssegur J, Hedrick SM. The role of erk1 and erk2 in multi-
- ple stages of T cell development. *Immunity* (2005) 23:431–43. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2005.08.013
 Mahalingam M, Cooper JA. Phosphorylation of mammalian ultiff by Multi and Multiple to the communication.
- eIF4E by Mnk1 and Mnk2: tantalizing prospects for a role in translation. *Prog Mol Subcell Biol* (2001) **27**:132–42. doi:10. 1007/978-3-662-09889-9_5 106. Buxade M, Parra-Palau JL, Proud
- CG. The Mnks: MAP kinaseinteracting kinases (MAP kinase signal-integrating kinases). *Front Biosci* (2008) **13**:5359–73. doi:10.2741/3086
- 107. Gorentla BK, Krishna S, Shin J. Inoue M. Shinohara ML, Grayson JM, et al. Mnk1 and 2 are dispensable for T cell development and activation but important for the pathogenesis of experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. I Immunol (2013) 190:1026-37. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1200026 108. Morley SC, Weber KS, Kao H, Allen PM. Protein kinase C-theta is required for efficient positive selection. J Immunol (2008) 181:4696-708.
- Gruber T, Pfeifhofer-Obermair C, Baier G. PKCtheta is necessary for efficient activation of NFkappaB, NFAT, and AP-1 during

positive selection of thymocytes. *Immunol Lett* (2010) **132**:6–11. doi:10.1016/j.imlet.2010.04.008

- Schmidt-Supprian M, Courtois G, Tian J, Coyle AJ, Israel A, Rajewsky K, et al. Mature T cells depend on signaling through the IKK complex. *Immunity* (2003) 19:377–89. doi:10.1016/S1074-7613(03)00237-1
- 111. Jimi E, Strickland I, Voll RE, Long M, Ghosh S. Differential role of the transcription factor NFkappaB in selection and survival of CD4+ and CD8+ thymocytes. *Immunity* (2008) **29**:523– 37. doi:10.1016/j.immuni
- 112. Guo R, Wan CK, Carpenter JH, Mousallem T, Boustany RM, Kuan CT, et al. Synergistic control of T cell development and tumor suppression by diacylglycerol kinase alpha and zeta. *Proc Natl Acad Sci* U S A (2008) **105**:11909–14. doi:10.1073/pnas.0711856105
- 113. Gorentla BK, Wan CK, Zhong XP. Negative regulation of mTOR activation by diacylglycerol kinases. *Blood* (2011) **117**:4022–31. doi:10.1182/blood-2010-08-300731
- 114. Matsuda JL, Mallevaey T, Scott-Browne J, Gapin L. CD1d-restricted iNKT cells, the "Swiss-Army knife" of the immune system. Curr Opin Immunol (2008) 20:358–68. doi:10.1016/j.coi.2008.03.018
- 115. Elewaut D, Shaikh RB, Hammond KJ, De Winter H, Leishman AJ, Sidobre S, et al. NIK-dependent RelB activation defines a unique signaling pathway for the development of V alpha 14i NKT cells. J Exp Med (2003) 197:1623–33. doi:10.1084/jem.20030141
- 116. Sivakumar V, Hammond KJ, Howells N, Pfeffer K, Weih F. Differential requirement for Rel/nuclear factor kappa B family members in natural killer T cell development. J Exp Med (2003) 197:1613–21. doi:10.1084/jem.20022234
- 117. Stanic AK, Bezbradica JS, Park JJ, Van Kaer L, Boothby MR, Joyce S. Cutting edge: the ontogeny and function of Va14Ja18 natural Tlymphocytes require signal processing by protein kinase C theta and NF-kappa B. *J Immunol* (2004) **172**:4667–71.
- 118. Shen S, Chen Y, Gorentla BK, Lu J, Stone JC, Zhong XP. Critical roles of RasGRP1 for

invariant NKT cell development. J Immunol (2011) **187**:4467–73. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1003798

- 119. Hu T, Gimferrer I, Simmons A, Wiest D, Alberola-Ila J. The Ras/MAPK pathway is required for generation of iNKT cells. *PLoS ONE* (2011) 6:e19890. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.001 9890
- 120. Shen S, Wu J, Srivatsan S, Gorentla BK, Shin J, Xu L, et al. Tight regulation of diacylglycerol-mediated signaling is critical for proper invariant NKT cell development. J Immunol (2011) 187:2122–9. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1100495
- 121. Zhong XP, Hainey EA, Olenchock BA, Jordan MS, Maltzman JS, Nichols KE, et al. Enhanced T cell responses due to diacylglycerol kinase zeta deficiency. *Nat Immunol* (2003) 4:882–90. doi:10.1038/ni958
- 122. Olenchock BA, Guo R, Carpenter JH, Jordan M, Topham MK, Koretzky GA, et al. Disruption of diacylglycerol metabolism impairs the induction of T cell anergy. *Nat Immunol* (2006) 7:1174–81. doi:10.1038/ni1400
- Metzger TC, Anderson MS. Control of central and peripheral tolerance by Aire. *Immunol Rev* (2011)
 241:89–103. doi:10.1111/j.1600-065X.2011.01008.x
- 124. Xing Y, Hogquist KA. Tcell tolerance: central and peripheral. Cold Spring Harb Perspect Biol (2012) 4:4. doi:10.1101/cshperspect.a006957
- Schwartz RH. T cell anergy. Annu Rev Immunol (2003) 21:305–34. doi:10.1146/annurev.immunol. 21.120601.141110
- 126. Powell JD. The induction and maintenance of T cell anergy. *Clin Immunol* (2006) **120**:239–46. doi:10.1016/j.clim.2006.02.004
- 127. Fathman CG, Lineberry NB. Molecular mechanisms of CD4+ T-cell anergy. Nat Rev Immunol (2007) 7:599–609. doi:10.1038/nri2131
- Chappert P, Schwartz RH. Induction of T cell anergy: integration of environmental cues and infectious tolerance. *Curr Opin Immunol* (2010) 22:552–9. doi:10.1016/j.coi.2010.08.005
- 129. Macian F, Garcia-Cozar F, Im SH, Horton HF, Byrne MC, Rao A. Transcriptional mechanisms underlying lymphocyte tolerance. *Cell* (2002)

109:719–31. doi:10.1016/S0092-8674(02)00767-5

- 130. Zha Y, Marks R, Ho AW, Peterson AC, Janardhan S, Brown I, et al. T cell anergy is reversed by active Ras and is regulated by diacylglycerol kinase-alpha. *Nat Immunol* (2006) 7:1166–73. doi:10.1038/ni1206-1343a
- Sanjuan MA, Jones DR, Izquierdo M, Merida I. Role of diacylglycerol kinase alpha in the attenuation of receptor signaling. *J Cell Biol* (2001) 153:207–20. doi:10.1083/jcb.153.1.207
- 132. Merino E, Avila-Flores A, Shirai Y, Moraga I, Saito N, Merida I. Lck-dependent tyrosine phosphorylation of diacylglycerol kinase alpha regulates its membrane association in T cells. *I Immunol* (2008) 180:5805–15.
- 133. Matsubara T, Ikeda M, Kiso Y, Sakuma M, Yoshino K, Sakane F, et al. c-Abl tyrosine kinase regulates serum-induced nuclear export of diacylglycerol kinase alpha by phosphorylation at Tyr-218. J Biol Chem (2012) 287:5507–17. doi:10.1074/jbc.M111.296897
- 134. Baldanzi G, Pighini A, Bettio V, Rainero E, Traini S, Chianale F, et al. SAP-mediated inhibition of diacylglycerol kinase alpha regulates TCRinduced diacylglycerol signaling. *J Immunol* (2011) 187:5941–51. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1002476
- 135. Santos T, Carrasco S, Jones DR, Merida I, Eguinoa A. Dynamics of diacylglycerol kinase zeta translocation in living T-cells. Study of the structural domain requirements for translocation and activity. J Biol Chem (2002) 277:30300–9. doi:10.1074/jbc.M200999200
- 136. Topham MK, Bunting M, Zimmerman GA, McIntyre TM, Blackshear PJ, Prescott SM. Protein kinase C regulates the nuclear localization of diacylglycerol kinase-zeta. *Nature* (1998) **394**:697–700. doi:10.1038/29337
- 137. Grakoui A, Bromley SK, Sumen C, Davis MM, Shaw AS, Allen PM, et al. The immunological synapse: a molecular machine controlling T cell activation. *Science* (1999) **285**:221–7. doi:10. 1126/science.285.5425.221

- Dustin ML. T-cell activation through immunological synapses and kinapses. *Immunol Rev* (2008) 221:77–89. doi:10.1111/j.1600-065X.2008.00589.x
- Topham MK, Prescott SM. Diacylglycerol kinase zeta regulates Ras activation by a novel mechanism. J Cell Biol (2001) 152:1135–43. doi:10.1083/jcb.152.6.1135
- 140. Gharbi SI, Rincon E, Avila-Flores A, Torres-Ayuso P, Almena M, Cobos MA, et al. Diacylglycerol kinase zeta controls diacylglycerol metabolism at the immunological synapse. *Mol Biol Cell* (2011) 22:4406–14. doi:10.1091/mbc.E11-03-0247
- 141. Geiger B, Rosen D, Berke G. Spatial relationships of microtubuleorganizing centers and the contact area of cytotoxic T lymphocytes and target cells. J Cell Biol (1982) 95:137–43. doi:10.1083/jcb.95.1.137
- 142. Kupfer A, Dennert G, Singer SJ. Polarization of the Golgi apparatus and the microtubule-organizing center within cloned natural killer cells bound to their targets. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (1983) 80:7224–8. doi:10.1073/bnas.80.23.7224
- 143. Martin-Cofreces NB, Robles-Valero J, Cabrero JR, Mittelbrunn M, Gordon-Alonso M, Sung CH, et al. MTOC translocation modulates IS formation and controls sustained T cell signaling. *J Cell Biol* (2008) 182:951–62. doi:10.1083/jcb.200801014
- 144. Quann EJ, Merino E, Furuta T, Huse M. Localized diacylglycerol drives the polarization of the microtubuleorganizing center in T cells. *Nat Immunol* (2009) 10:627–35. doi:10.1038/ni.1734
- 145. Ouann EJ, Liu X, Altan-Bonnet G, Huse M. A cascade of protein kinase C isozymes promotes cytoskeletal polarization in T cells. Nat Immunol (2011) 12:647-54. doi:10.1038/ni.2033 Alonso R, Mazzeo C, Merida 146. I, Izquierdo M. A new role of diacylglycerol kinase alpha on the secretion of lethal exosomes bearing Fas ligand during activation-induced cell death of T lymphocytes.

Biochimie (2007) **89**:213–21. doi:10.1016/j.biochi.2006.07.018

- 147. Alonso R, Mazzeo C, Rodriguez MC, Marsh M, Fraile-Ramos A, Calvo V, et al. Diacyl-glycerol kinase alpha regulates the formation and polarisation of mature multivesicular bodies involved in the secretion of Fas ligand-containing exosomes in T lymphocytes. *Cell Death Differ* (2011) 18:1161–73. doi:10.1038/cdd.2010.184
- Williams MA, Holmes BJ, Sun JC, Bevan MJ. Developing and maintaining protective CD8+ memory T cells. *Immunol Rev* (2006) 211:146–53. doi:10.1111/j.0105-2896.2006.00389.x
- 149. Harty JT, Badovinac VP. Shaping and reshaping CD8+ T-cell memory. Nat Rev Immunol (2008) 8:107–19. doi:10.1038/nri2251
- Zhang N, Bevan MJ. CD8(+) T cells: foot soldiers of the immune system. *Immunity* (2011) 35:161–8. doi:10. 1016/j.immuni.2011.07.010
- 151. Shin J, O'Brien TF, Grayson JM, Zhong XP. Differential regulation of primary and memory CD8 T cell immune responses by diacylglycerol kinases. J Immunol (2012) 188:2111–7. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1102265
- 152. Araki K, Turner AP, Shaffer VO, Gangappa S, Keller SA, Bachmann MF, et al. mTOR regulates memory CD8 T-cell differentiation. *Nature* (2009) **460**:108–12. doi:10.1038/nature08155
- 153. Rao RR, Li Q, Odunsi K, Shrikant PA. The mTOR kinase determines effector versus memory CD8+ T cell fate by regulating the expression of transcription factors T-bet and Eomesodermin. *Immunity* (2010) **32**:67–78. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2009.10.010
- 154. Riese MJ, Grewal J, Das J, Zou T, Patil V, Chakraborty AK, et al. Decreased diacylglycerol metabolism enhances ERK activation and augments CD8+ T cell functional responses. J Biol Chem (2011) 286:5254–65. doi:10.1074/jbc.M110.171884
- 155. Prinz PU, Mendler AN, Masouris I, Durner L, Oberneder R, Noessner E. High DGK-alpha and disabled MAPK pathways

cause dysfunction of human tumor-infiltrating CD8+ T cells that is reversible by pharmacologic intervention. *J Immunol* (2012) **188**:5990–6000. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1103028

- Abraham SN, St John AL. Mast cell-orchestrated immunity to pathogens. Nat Rev Immunol (2010) 10:440–52. doi:10.1038/nri2782
- Rodewald HR, Feyerabend TB. Widespread immunological functions of mast cells: fact or fiction? *Immunity* (2012) 37:13–24. doi:10.1016/ j.immuni.2012.07.007
- Olenchock BA, Guo R, Silver-158 man MA, Wu JN, Carpenter JH, Koretzky GA, et al. Impaired degranulation but enhanced cvtokine production after Fc epsilonRI stimulation of diacylglycerol kinase zetadeficient mast cells. J Exp (2006) Med 203:1471-80. doi:10.1084/jem.20052424
- 159. Liu CH, Machado FS, Guo R, Nichols KE, Burks AW, Aliberti JC, et al. Diacylglycerol kinase zeta regulates microbial recognition and host resistance to *Toxoplasma gondii*. J *Exp Med* (2007) **204**:781–92. doi:10.1084/jem.20061856

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Received: 02 April 2013; paper pending published: 22 April 2013; accepted: 19 June 2013; published online: 04 July 2013. Citation: Krishna S and Zhong X-P (2013) Regulation of lipid signaling by diacylglycerol kinases during T cell development and function. Front. Immunol. 4:178. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2013.00178 This article was submitted to Frontiers in T Cell Biology, a specialty of Frontiers in Immunology.

Copyright © 2013 Krishna and Zhong. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License, which permits use, distribution and reproduction in other forums, provided the original authors and source are credited and subject to any copyright notices concerning any third-party graphics etc.



Polyunsaturated fatty acid-derived lipid mediators and T cell function

Anna Nicolaou¹*, Claudio Mauro², Paula Urquhart¹ and Federica Marelli-Berg²

¹ Manchester Pharmacy School, Faculty of Medical and Human Sciences, The University of Manchester, Manchester, UK
² Centre for Biochemical Pharmacology, William Harvey Research Institute, Queen Mary University of London, London, UK

Edited by:

Karsten Sauer, The Scripps Research Institute, USA

Reviewed by:

John J. Miles, Queensland Institute of Medical Research, Australia Sid P. Kerkar, National Cancer Institute, USA

*Correspondence:

Anna Nicolaou, Manchester Pharmacy School, Faculty of Medical and Human Sciences, The University of Manchester, Stopford Building, Oxford Road, Manchester M13 9PT, UK e-mail: anna.nicolaou@ manchester.ac.uk Fatty acids are involved in T cell biology both as nutrients important for energy production as well as signaling molecules. In particular, polyunsaturated fatty acids are known to exhibit a range of immunomodulatory properties that progress through T cell mediated events, although the molecular mechanisms of these actions have not yet been fully elucidated. Some of these immune activities are linked to polyunsaturated fatty acid-induced alteration of the composition of cellular membranes and the consequent changes in signaling pathways linked to membrane raft-associated proteins. However, significant aspects of the polyunsaturated fatty acid bioactivities are mediated through their transformation to specific lipid mediators, products of cyclooxygenase, lipoxygenase, or cytochrome P450 enzymatic reactions. Resulting bioactive metabolites including prostaglandins, leukotrienes, and endocannabinoids are produced by and/or act upon T leukocytes through cell surface receptors and have been shown to alter T cell activation and differentiation, proliferation, cytokine production, motility, and homing events. Detailed appreciation of the mode of action of these lipids presents opportunities for the design and development of therapeutic strategies aimed at regulating T cell function.

Keywords: T cells, polyunsaturated fatty acids, eicosanoids, prostaglandins, leukotrienes, cyclooxygenase, lipoxygenase, endocannabinoids

INTRODUCTION

The regulation of energy metabolism is crucial to T cell-mediated immunity including activation, proliferation, and differentiation (1). Following recognition of antigen in the lymph nodes, naïve T lymphocytes undergo massive clonal expansion and differentiation, followed by a contraction or death phase, and the establishment and maintenance of immunological memory (2, 3). Before undergoing division, T cells activate biosynthetic pathways for the production of proteins, nucleic acids, lipids, carbohydrates, and other "building blocks" necessary for the generation of new cells. Following this stage, the metabolic machinery of T cells is reprogramed, switching from the β -oxidation of fatty acids in naive T cells to the glycolytic pathways in activated T cells (4–6).

Downstream of T cell receptor (TCR) signaling, phosphatidylinositol 3'-kinase (PI3K) leads to the activation of the serine– threonine kinase AKT, which promotes glucose metabolism by stimulating the localization of the glucose transporter Glut1 to the plasma membrane, and the activity of hexokinase and phosphofructokinase, two rate-limiting enzymes of the glycolytic pathway. Increased glycolytic flux enables activated T cells to generate ATP and, at the same time, efficiently utilize carbon sources in the form of amino acids and lipids for the biosynthesis of proteins and membranes necessary for the expansion phase that characterizes the immune response (7–11). AKT also controls the activation state of mammalian target of rapamycin (mTOR), a sensor of nutritional and energetic status in cells that promotes protein synthesis.

T cell activation also initiates distinct transcriptional programs, which determine their differentiation into functional subsets depending on the context [cytokines, prostaglandins (PG), and other extracellular signals] in which they were activated (12–14). These subsets define the characteristics of the immune response. Whereas CD8+ T cells differentiate into cytotoxic T lymphocytes that kill infected host cells, CD4+ T lymphocytes differentiate into either the Th1, Th2, or Th17 subset of helper T cells (effector T cells) that mediate appropriate immune responses or into induced regulatory T cells (iTreg cells) that suppress uncontrolled immune responses (12). There is evidence that the cytokine milieu in which T cells differentiate can influence their metabolic programing. A comparison of activated T cells responding to related cytokines IL-2 and IL-15 illustrates the differential regulation of T lymphocyte metabolism by distinct cytokine environments: IL-2 promotes elevated glucose metabolism and glycolysis, while IL-15 does not maintain this metabolic state and T cells responding to IL-15 are smaller with reduced nutrient uptake and glycolysis (15, 16).

After clearance of the infection, most clonally expanded and differentiated T cells undergo apoptosis (contraction phase). The surviving antigen-specific T cells (memory T cells) are responsible for enhanced immunity after re-exposure to the same pathogen. Of these various T cell subsets, the iTreg cells and memory T cells rely on lipid oxidation as a major source of energy, whereas cytotoxic T lymphocytes and effector T cells are characterized by high glycolytic activity (17–19).

Further to oxidation for energy production, fatty acids are involved in many other aspects of T cell biology. In particular,

omega-3 polyunsaturated fatty acids (n-3 PUFA) are recognized as modulators of inflammation and immunity mediating their pleiotropic activity through regulation of gene expression, influencing signaling cascades, and altering the composition of the cellular membranes (20, 21). The latter has implications for the structure and function of the membrane, as well as a direct impact on the production of n-6 and n-3 PUFA-derived bioactive lipids including PG, leukotrienes (LT), resolvins (Rv), protectins (PD), endocannabinoids, and related congeners.

Although the immunomodulatory properties of PUFA have been known for many years, the molecular mechanisms underlying these properties are not fully understood. It has been shown that *n*-3 PUFA suppress antigen presentation, T cell activation and proliferation, and lower the expression of signature cytokines (21– 27). Disappointingly, early studies using daily supplementation with foods rich in *n*-3 PUFA failed to show significant improvement in organ transplantation rejection (28, 29). However, recent reports indicate that administration of purified eicosapentaenoic acid (EPA; 20:5*n*-3) induces the differentiation of regulatory T cells through upregulation of peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor γ (PPAR γ), a ligand-activated nuclear receptor that regulates lipid and glucose metabolism, leading to increased allograft survival (30, 31).

Following this direction, studies have explored the effect of cellular incorporation of the main n-3 PUFA, EPA, and docosahexaenoic acid (DHA; 22:6n-3). These fatty acids can alter the composition and molecular organization of membrane rafts with a consequent impact on the activity of raft-associated signaling proteins and related events. Examples include recruitment and activation of PLCy and F-actin, impairing mitochondrial translocation necessary to maintain Ca⁺ signaling for NFkB and AP-1 activation and IL-2 secretion, and suppression of phosphatidylinositoldependent actin remodeling, all linked to reduced CT4+ T cell activation [recently reviewed in Ref. (20)]. Importantly, many of the PUFA mediated activities are conveyed through their metabolites that tend to be produced and metabolized upon request, can act near the site of their synthesis or transported via circulation and in this way mediate systemic effects (autacoids). These families of potent mediators are intimately involved in inflammation and immunity, with pro- and/or anti-inflammatory, proliferative, and chemoattractive activities (21).

Overall, these new findings suggest that a better understanding of the molecular mechanism of action of PUFA may lead to the development of effective therapeutics. In this article, we will overview the current knowledge of the function and impact of eicosanoids and related metabolites, as well as that of endocannabinoids and their congeners on T cell function, and examine potential applications in biomedical research.

PUFA-DERIVED LIPID MEDIATORS: BIOSYNTHESIS AND METABOLISM

The cellular membrane serves as a pool of PUFA available for further metabolism to various bioactive lipids. These potent autacoids act as local hormones and are produced upon request following the activation of signaling pathways or effect of environmental and other stimuli. The arachidonic acid (AA; C20:4*n*-3)-derived eicosanoids are some of the best known and studied bioactive lipids. The term "eicosanoids" is used to describe the bioactive derivatives of three fatty acids with 20-carbon acyl chains, namely: AA, EPA, and dihomo-gamma linolenic (DGLA; 20:3*n*-6). These metabolites, although mostly linked to inflammation, are also involved in cell migration, proliferation, chemotaxis, and immune reactions (32–34). Eicosanoids and related mediators derive from the activities of cyclooxygenases (COX), lipoxygenases (LOX), and cytochrome P450 (CYP) epoxygenases and mono-oxygenases (**Figures 1** and **2**) [reviewed in Ref. (35)]. The term "endocannabinoids" refers to endogenous lipids ligands of the cannabinoid receptors CB1 and CB2. These are also derivatives of AA, while other PUFA ethanolamides are now recognized as members of this family (36). Although endocannabinoids can be metabolized by COX and LOX, their precursor phospholipids and metabolism are different to eicosanoids (**Figure 3**).

CYCLOOXYGENASE-MEDIATED FORMATION OF PROSTANOIDS

The eicosanoid cascade starts with the activation of phospholipases (PL), predominantly PLA₂ but also PLD and diacylglycerol (DAG) lipase that release AA and other PUFA from the cellular membrane (35). The family of PLA₂ comprises a large number of enzymes with distinct characteristics in terms of their activation, cellular localization, and substrate specificity (37). There is evidence for the presence of various PLA₂ isoforms in primary T cells and the Jurkat T cell line, including cPLA₂, sPLA₂, and iPLA₂ (38–42). Inducible isoforms of PLC and DAG lipase have also been identified in tumor and peripheral T lymphocytes (42, 43).

Free AA is then metabolized via the constitutive and inducible COX isoforms (COX-1 and -2, respectively) to the unstable endoperoxide PGH₂ that is then transformed to PG, thromboxanes (TX), and prostacyclin (PGI₂) via tissue specific terminal prostaglandin synthases (**Figure 1**); these COX-derived mediators belong to the family of eicosanoids and are collectively known as prostanoids. Apart from AA, prostanoids are formed from the other two 20-carbon containing PUFA, DGLA, and EPA, with the resulting metabolites having different activities and being considered less-inflammatory than the AA-derived ones (35, 44).

The exact profile of prostanoids is determined by the prevalence of specific synthases in the cell type or tissue of interest. PGE₂ is produced by prostaglandin E synthase (PGES) that is found as membrane bound (mPGES-1 and -2) or cytosolic (cPGES). mPGES-1 is an inducible isoform and is frequently found co-expressed with COX-2 (45, 46). PGD₂ is produced by the hematopoietic-type (H-PGDS) or the lipocalin-type (L-PGDS) synthases (47), while further non-enzymatic hydrolysis of PGD₂ gives rise to the anti-inflammatory cyclopentanone PGs PGJ₂ and 15d-PGJ₂ (48, 49). PGF_{2 α} is produced either directly from PGH₂ via the prostaglandin F synthase (PGFS) or through further metabolism of PGE₂ and PGD₂ by PGE 9-ketoreductase and PGD 11-ketoreductase, respectively (50). Prostacyclin (PGI₂) is produced via the prostacyclin synthase (PGIS) and is usually detected as its stable but inactive metabolite 6-keto-PGF_{1 α} (51). Finally, thromboxane synthase (TXS) converts PGH₂ to TXA₂, an unstable prostanoid that is quickly hydrolyzed to the stable but inert metabolite TXB₂ (51). The bioactivity of prostanoids is mediated through G protein-coupled receptors for PGE₂, PGD₂, PGF_{2a}, PGI₂, and TXA₂, designated EP, DP, FP, IP, and TP,





respectively. Pharmacological studies into their ligand-binding profiles and signal transduction pathways, and genetic analysis led to their classification into eight groups (EP1, EP2, EP3, EP4, DP1, FP, IP, and TP) although new developments have revealed the presence of a second PGD receptor, DP2, and the presence of heterodimers (52, 53). Overall, prostanoids are potent autacoids and their levels are controlled through enzymatic catabolism via dehydrogenations and reductions resulting in the formation of



anandamide (AEA) (A) and 2 arachidonoyl glycerol (2-AG) (B). DAG, diacylglycerol; DAGL, diacylglycerol lipase; FAAH, fatty acid amide hydrolase; 15OH 2AG, 15 hydroxy-2 arachidonoyl glycerol; MAGL, monoacylglycerol lipase; NAPE, *N*-acylated ethanolamine phospholipids; PGE₂, PGE₂ ethanolamide; PGE₂-GE, PGE₂-glyceryl ester.

metabolites with significantly reduced bioactivities (e.g., 15-ketoand 13,14-dihydro-15-keto PGs) (54).

LIPOXYGENASE-MEDIATED PRODUCTION OF LEUKOTRIENES AND OTHER HYDROXY FATTY ACIDS

Lipoxygenases mediate the oxygenation of free fatty acids including AA and other PUFA. Their activities are commonly defined by their positional selectivity when they oxygenate AA and, following this system, the main mammalian LOX enzymes are defined as 5-, 12-, and 15-LOX. They catalyze the stereoselective insertion of OH in the *S* configuration, with the exception of a mammalian skin-specific enzyme 12R-LOX. The products of LOX reactions are unstable hydroperoxides that are then reduced to hydroxy acids (55–57) (**Figure 2**). 5-LOX acts in concert with 5-lipoxygenase activating protein (FLAP) to metabolize AA to 5S-hydroperoxyeicosatetraenoic acid (HPETE) that is further reduced to 5S-HETE or dehydrated to LTA₄, an unstable epoxide containing a conjugated triene system characteristic of all LT. LTA₄ can be metabolized to LTB₄ or form the cysteinyl LT, LTC₄, LTD₄, LTE₄ following conjugation with reduced glutathione (58). 5S-HETE can be also enzymatically reduced to the 5-oxo-eicosatetraenoic acid (5-oxo-ETE), a chemoattractant mediator (59). Mammalian 12- and 15-LOX isozymes oxygenate a range of PUFA, both free and esterified in membrane phospholipids and lipoproteins (57), forming a multitude of monoand poly-hydroxy fatty acids: e.g., AA produces hydroxyeicosatetraenoic acids (HETE), EPA generates hydroxyeicosapentaenoic acids (HEPE), DHA produces docosanoids including hydroxydocosahexaenoic acids (HDHA), linoleic acid (LA; 18:2n-6) forms octadecanoids such as hydroxy octadecadienoic acids (HODE), DGLA forms hydroxyeicosatrienoic acids (HETrE), etc.

CYTOCHROME P450 MEDIATED FATTY ACID EPOXIDES AND THEIR DERIVATIVES

Cytochrome P450 mono-oxygenases relevant to PUFA metabolism catalyze epoxygenations and mid-chain and omegahydroxylations producing a range of LOX-like mono-hydroxy fatty acids (e.g., HETE, HEPE, HODE) although not necessarily of the S configuration [reviewed in Ref. (35)]. Interestingly, partially inhibited COX-2 (e.g., acetylated COX-2 following treatment with aspirin) can also generate LOX-like products with the OH group at R configuration, e.g., 15R-HETE from AA and 18R-HEPE from EPA (60). These metabolites are important in aspects of transcellular metabolism where sequential LOX/LOX or acetylated COX-2/LOX or CYP/LOX reactions involving more than one cell types are involved in the formation of multi-hydroxy fatty acid species. These include the lipoxins (LX) that are tri-hydroxytetraeneproducts of AA, and the di- and tri-hydroxy-PUFA termed Rv, PD, and maresins (MaR) that are derivatives of EPA and DHA. All these mediators are involved in inflammation and immunity exhibiting a range of protective roles (61-63).

THE ENDOCANNABINOIDS

The endocannabinoids anandamide (arachidonoyl ethanolamide, AEA) and 2-arachidonoyl glycerol (2AG) are derivatives of AA and act as endogenous ligands to the cannabinoid receptors CB1 and CB2 [reviewed in Ref. (36)]. This family of bioactive lipids has been extended to include other fatty acid ethanolamides and glycerols, while recent findings regarding their metabolism suggest a wider involvement in inflammation and immunity. The biochemical precursors of AEA and its congers are various N-acylated ethanolamine phospholipids (NAPE) that found in very low concentrations in the biological membranes and are hydrolyzed by NAPE-specific PLD or PLC-type lipases. 2AG production is mediated by PLC-diacylglycerol lipase. AEA and 2-AG can be deactivated via hydrolysis mediated by fatty acid amide hydrolases (FAAH) or can be metabolized by COX-2 to generated prostaglandin ethanolamides known as prostamides (e.g., PGE2-EA) and prostaglandin glyceryl esters (e.g. PGE₂-GE) (Figure 3) (52). LOX isozymes can also metabolize these lipids although the prevalence and bioactivities of the resulting mediators remain to be explored.

EICOSANOIDS AND RELATED MEDIATORS IN T CELL FUNCTION/BIOLOGY

PROSTANOIDS

It is now recognized that resting and activated T cells express the COX-1/-2 system (64-68). Although the constitutive COX-1 is not affected during T cell activation, the inducible COX-2 is upregulated as has been shown in studies with CD4+ cells, Jurkat T cells and adaptive Tregs (66-69). To date, very little is known about the exact profile of prostanoids produced by T cells with only a few studies reporting the production of PGE₂, PGD₂ and its dehydration product 15d-PGJ₂, as well as low levels of TXA₂ (67, 68, 70). There is also very little information on the type of prostanoid synthases expressed in T cells, including evidence for H-PGDS and PGES in Tregs (67, 68). However, a number of studies have explored the role of PGE2, PGD2, PGI2, PGF2a, and TXA2 on various aspects of T cell function, showing that prostanoidmediated effects process through receptors and related signaling pathways expressed in most T cell populations and subtypes. Interestingly, it has been shown that treatment with AA upregulates the CXCR3/1 inducible chemokine receptors expressed in CD4+ T cells and increases their chemotactic responses through a COXrelated pathway (71), suggesting a potential role for this pathway in the regulation of T cell migration.

PGE₂

Although considered to be a, primarily, pro-inflammatory eicosanoid, PGE2 can also mediate anti-inflammatory signals, and is a potent immunosuppressor (72). PGE₂ is one of the beststudied bioactive lipids in T cell biology, exhibiting a multitude of effects. It is involved in the early stages of T cell development in the thymus, where it stimulates the differentiation of CD4+CD8+ thymocytes (73), while in later stages it regulates the development and balance of Th1, Th2, and Th17 subsets (74-76) and, overall, influences proliferation, differentiation, cytokine production, and apoptosis of mature T cells (14, 77-80). Interestingly, the activity of PGE₂ on T cells appears to be concentrationdependent: while at low concentrations, it is involved in homeostatic events and inhibits the activation and differentiation of T lymphocytes, at high concentrations, PGE₂ has the opposite effect, increasing T cell proliferation, and suppressing immune functions [recently reviewed in Ref. (81)]. For example, in ultraviolet radiation (UVR)-induced immunosuppression, impaired development of peripheral memory T cells can be attributed to UVR-induced PGE_2 production (82).

Antigen presenting dendritic cells (DC) and macrophages secrete PGE₂ and in this way can influence proliferation and differentiation of CD4+ and CD8+ cells, and direct the balance of Th1, Th2, and Th17 cell subtypes (14). PGE₂ can also affect the maturation of DC and alter DC-produced cytokines, thus influencing the differentiation of T cell subtypes: for example, DC cells matured in the presence of PGE₂ *in vitro* promote Th17 and inhibit Th1/Th2 polarization (78). PGE₂ can also enhance the proliferation of T cells through the induction of costimulatory molecules OX40L, CD70, and 4-1BBL on DC (83), while other studies have reported that PGE₂ inhibits the ability of DC to produce CCL19 and attract naive T cells (84). Interestingly, the ratio DC:T cells appears to be crucial in determining the overall immunogenic effect of PGE₂: it has been reported that at high DC:T cell ratios, PGE2-maturated DC cells inhibit the proliferation of T cells, while, when this cell ratio is low, an enhanced T cell stimulation is observed (85). A dose-dependent effect has also been observed in the way PGE₂ mediates the balance Th1 to Th2 subtypes: high levels of PGE₂ suppress Th1 cell differentiation and polarization, shifting the immune response toward a Th2 phenotype (79). These observations have been confirmed in vivo using COX-2 inhibitors (e.g., celecoxib) and COX-2 knockout models demonstrating that when PGE₂ production is reduced, an increase in Th1 responses is observed [reviewed in Ref. (81)]. The regulation of Th2 cells by PGE₂ is likely to impact in Th2-mediated immune disorders such as atopic dermatitis and asthma (86, 87). Finally, when PGE₂ is produced by activated macrophages it reduces T cell activation and proliferation; this in turn leads to a reduction in cytokine production and consequent reduced stimulation of macrophages in a negative feed-back loop (72).

In vivo work has elucidated the role of EP receptors in mediating PGE₂ effects. PGE₂ produced by DC in the lymph node acts through the EP1 receptor to promote the differentiation of naive T cells to Th1 cells (88). Studies on the BALB/c mice, a strain showing propensity to generate Th2 responses, have shown that Th2 cells express high levels of EP2 and that PGE₂ signaling through this receptor protects Th2 cells against activation induced cell death (77). Furthermore, in a model of experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis (EAE), PGE₂ signaling through EP4 was shown to exert a dual role: promoting immune inflammation through Th1 cell differentiation and Th17 cell expansion during the induction phase. In contrast, during the effector phase of the disease, it attenuated the access of these pathogenic T cells to the brain by protecting the blood brain barrier (89, 90).

PGE₂-induced effects mediated via the EP2/EP4 receptors are linked to cAMP concentration and related signaling (53). In cytotoxic T cells, PGE₂ and other cAMP activators trigger increased concentration of cAMP and this interferes with the cytoskeleton function and terminates cytotoxic T cell secretion and adhesion (91). Dietary interventions with *n*-3 and *n*-6 PUFA can alter the cell membrane composition with consequent changes in the concentration of PGE₂ produced, as well as the prevalence of the less-inflammatory PGE species, PGE₁ and PGE₃ (44). Although frequently cited as anti-inflammatory, these species do not always appear to be different in their immunomodulatory properties: for example, studies have shown that both PGE₂ and PGE₁ suppress mitogen-induced blastogenesis in T cells, an effect confirmed with experiments using indomethacin, a non-specific COX inhibitor (92).

PGE₂ ethanolamide appears to be also involved in the motility of T cells (93, 94) and recent work using imaging has identified PGE₂ as an antagonist of the T cell migration stop signal (95). This activity was shown to be subset specific, with Th migration in response to IL-2 inhibited at 10–100 ng/ml PGE₂ *in vitro*, although, in the same experimental conditions, the migration of cytotoxic T cells was not affected (96, 97). PGE₂ has also been suggested to inhibit the transendothelial migration of T cells through increased calcium and cAMP concentrations (98, 99). In rats, PGE₂ was found to inhibit the migration of T cells across the microvascular retinal endothelial cells although it did not affect the expression of adhesion molecules on either endothelial or T cells (100). However, PGE₂ at nanomolar to micromolar concentrations elicited migration of T cells *in vitro* and increased secretion matrix metalloproteinases (MMP); although MMP inhibitors suppressed the transmigration, the inhibition did not affect the PGE₂-initiated T cell motility (101). Finally, overexpression of COX-2 in a mouse breast cancer model increased the recruitment of Tregs in the tumor, an effect mediated via EP2 and EP4 receptors (102).

PGD₂ and 15d-PGJ₂

PGD₂ is considered an immunomodulatory prostaglandin and some of its cyclopentanone PG metabolites, such as 15-deoxy- $\Delta^{12,14}$ -PGJ₂ (15d-PGJ₂), are endowed with anti-inflammatory activities (49, 103). Production of PGD₂ has been detected in Th2 cells and this was linked to expression of H-PGDS, while L-PGDS has not been identified in any T cell subtype (67, 104, 105). The downstream product of PGD₂ dehydration, 15d-PGJ₂, has also been detected in human T cell cultures (67).

PGD₂ mediates its effects through two receptors DP1 and DP2, the latter better known as chemoattractant receptor-homologous molecule expressed on Th2 cells (CRTH2). DP1 belongs to the prostanoid family of receptors, signals through cAMP and has been detected in Th1, Th2, and CD8+ cells (106). DP2/CRTH2 has little similarity to prostanoid receptors and belongs to the cytokine receptor family; it signals through increased calcium and inhibition of cAMP and has been found to be preferentially expressed by activated Th2 cells mediating their recruitment and motility (106, 107). While PGD_2 can signal through either receptor, findings to date indicate that 15d-PGJ₂ activates only DP2 (103). It has been suggested that PGH₂ may also be an agonist of DP2 (108). PGD₂ and 15d-PGJ₂ are also agonists of PPARy and can induce differentiation of fibroblasts to adipocytes; this has been shown in the case of Grave's disease where it was reported that activated T cells drive fibroblast differentiation in ocular tissue through production of PGD₂ and 15d-PGJ₂, implying that T cell infiltrates can influence fat deposition in other tissues (67).

PGD₂ can mediate different effects depending on the target receptor and related signaling events (109). DP1 can induce differentiation of Th2, whilst DP2/CRTH2 is mostly involved in their recruitment, although the two receptors may exert opposing effects, as examined in an animal model of contact hypersensitivity where DP2/CRTH2 appeared to mediate inflammatory events while DP1 was inhibitory (110). Furthermore, both receptors have been reported involved in T cell proliferation, and DP1 has been suggested to promote T cell apoptosis and downregulate immune responses, while DP2 has been reported to delay Th2 apoptosis (111). A potentially anti-inflammatory protective effect of 15-dPGJ₂ in pregnancy has been attributed to its suppression of Th1 response and promotion of Th2 immunity through DP2 (112).

Activation of Th2 cells by PGD₂ is thought to occur predominantly through DP2/CRTH2 with concomitant increase in the production of cytokines and pro-inflammatory proteins (106, 113–115). PGD₂ binding to this receptor is also very important for CD4+ T cell trafficking and motility (116, 117). When produced at high concentrations by mast cells, as seen in allergic inflammation, there is a consequent activation and recruitment of Th2 cells toward the PGD₂ producing sites (118, 119). Activated T cells can also produce PGD₂ and this may promote further accumulation of Th2 in the inflamed tissue (107, 116).

Finally, PGD_2 has been shown to affect the maturation of monocyte derived DC impacting on their ability to stimulate naive T cells and favoring their differentiation toward Th2 cells (120, 121). Interestingly, age related increase in PGD_2 levels have been associated with decreased DC migration and reduced T cell responses in a mouse model of respiratory infections, suggesting that inhibition of PGD_2 functions may be an effective therapeutic approach (122).

PGF_{2α}

To date, there is very limited information on the contribution of this vasoactive prostaglandin on T cell function. There are no reports on the production of $PGF_{2\alpha}$ or expression of the relevant synthases on T lymphocytes. Early work exploring the involvement on PG on T cell locomotion considered the involvement of $PGF_{2\alpha}$ but this was not supported by the resulting data (93). However, a recent report on allergic lung inflammation presents evidence for the contribution of $PGF_{2\alpha}$ in Th17 cell differentiation, an autocrine effect mediated through cell surface FP receptors (123).

PGI₂

PGI₂ is best known as an inhibitor of platelet aggregation and potent vasodilator, while recent finding has shown its involvement in immune regulation with particular importance in airway inflammation. The IP receptor is expressed in a number of immune cells in the lung, including T lymphocytes of the Th1 and Th2 lineage (124, 125). However, there is very little information on the actual production of PGI₂ by T cells with only some indirect evidence for possible transcellular biosynthesis operating between platelets and lymphocytes, and some recent work showing PGIS mRNA in an animal model of contact hypersensitivity (125, 126).

Studies in various models suggest that PGI_2 is involved in regulating the balance of Th1 and Th2 responses, as well as promoting Th17 cell differentiation (13, 127). Work in a mouse model of asthma has shown that PGI_2 produced by endothelial cells and signaling through the IP receptor prevents the recruitment of Th2 in the airways (128). However, a mouse model of contact hypersensitivity shows that in cutaneous disease PGI_2 -IP signaling raises intracellular cAMP concentration and promotes Th1 differentiation (125). Furthermore, PGI_2 increased the ratio of IL-23/IL-12 leading to differentiation of Th17 cells and exacerbation of EAE in mice (129). Finally, the anti-inflammatory effect of PGI_2 has been explored through analogs that reduced the production of pro-inflammatory cytokines and chemokines by DC, increased the production of anti-inflammatory IL-10, and inhibited their ability to stimulate CD4+ T cell proliferation (124).

TXA₂

Although production of TXA_2 by T cells has been reported, albeit at very low levels, the expression of the relevant synthase has not yet been shown (70, 130). However, the TP receptor has been found in a range of T cell populations and a polymorphism identified in Th2 cells has been linked to aspirin-exacerbated respiratory disease (130–133). Work with human lymphocytes suggested that TXA₂ is involved in the inhibition of T cell proliferation and related cytokine production (134). Following production of TXA₂ by DC, stimulation in TP expression was observed and this appeared to be involved in the random movement of naive but not memory T cells, suggesting that TXA₂ can mediate DC–T cell interactions (130).

LEUKOTRIENES, HYDROXY FATTY ACIDS, LIPOXINS, RESOLVINS, AND PROTECTINS

Lipoxygenase isoforms identified in various T cell populations include 5-, 12-, and 15-LOX (135–138). Although some early studies suggested that externally provided AA could inhibit 5-LOX, recent reports have indicated that provision of substrate may be necessary for the synthesis of LTs (135, 139). There is evidence that 5-HETE, LTA4 and LTB4, and the cysteinyl LT LTC4, LTD4, and LTE4, are produced by human and animal primary T cells and cell lines (43, 135, 138, 139). Furthermore, the presence of 5-LOX and 12/15-LOX would suggest the production of hydroperoxy- and hydroxy-PUFA by T cells. Nevertheless, there are not many studies examining the formation of such mediators and the majority of relevant reports focus on the effect of 12- and 15-HETE, LX, resolvins, and PD on T cell function.

LTB₄

The main activity attributed to LTB_4 is chemotaxis, a property mediated through the high affinity receptor BLT1 that is expressed in many CD4+ and CD8+ T cell subtypes (140–143). BLT1 is also important for homing events, as it enables the adhesion of T cells to epithelial cells, and appears of particular importance for the recruitment and direction of T cells to the airways in asthma (141, 144). Blockade of $LTB_4/BLT1$ pathway has also been shown to improve CD8+ T cell mediated colitis (145). Finally, LTB_4 appears involved in Th17 cell differentiation, Th1 and Th2 proliferation, and cytokine production (146–149).

LTC₄, LTD₄, LTE₄

The cysteinyl LT specific receptors CysLT1 and CysLT2 have been found to be expressed by peripheral blood T cells (150). Interestingly, it has been reported that resting Th2 cells display higher expression of the CysLT1 receptor compared to Th1 or activated Th2 cells, suggesting its involvement in Th2 cell differentiation (151, 152). Accordingly, in the presence of PGD₂, LTD₄ and LTE₄ have been shown to enhance Th2 cell activation and cytokine production, in a more than additive effect (153).

Furthermore, LTC₄ appears to induce T cell proliferation (154), while LTC₄-maturated DC appear to stimulate CD4+ responses and induce cytotoxic T cells *in vitro* without concomitant recruitment of Tregs (155).

5-HETE and 5-oxo-ETE

Oxidative stress appears to stimulate the metabolism of 5-HETE to 5-oxo-ETE in peripheral blood lymphocytes, although the role of this lipid mediator in T cell function is not clear (156, 157).

12-, 15-HETE

12-HETE has been involved in T cell function, with particular relevance to allergic disease. Although 12(S)-HETE is a neutrophil chemoattractant it does not appear to have a similar effect on T cells. Work on skin-derived lymphocytes involved in psoriasis has shown that 12(R)-HETE, a 12R-LOX product found in psoriatic skin, has modest chemotactic properties for T cells but is less potent than LTB₄ (158, 159). Furthermore, it has been shown that inhibition of 12/15-LOX enhanced the production of Th2 cytokines and attenuated the development of allergic inflammation in a mouse model of allergic lung disease, whilst delivery of 12(S)-HETE had the opposite effect (136). Increased levels of 12-HETE were also associated with metabolic changes in T cells leading to development of autoimmune disease (137).

It has been reported that 15-HETE regulates T cell division and displays anti-proliferative effects on a leukemia T cell line (160–162). Metabolism of 15-HETE through β -oxidation has been observed in blood T cells leading to the hypothesis that the resulting β -hydroxy acids and their oxidized and decarboxylated products may play a role in T cell biology (163). 15-LOX metabolites have also been involved in Th1 responses in a mouse model of Th1 allergic inflammation induced by double-stranded RNA (164).

Lipoxins

Although not directly produced by T cells, LXA4 has been shown to interact with the LTB₄ receptor expressed in T cells (165, 166). Aspirin-triggered LXA₄ and LXB₄, and stable analogs, inhibited TNF α production by human peripheral blood T cells suggesting the involvement of these metabolites in T cell mediated inflammation (167). Finally, LXA₄ appears to be involved in Treg-mediated tumor protection through the induction of myeloid suppressor cells, as shown in a murine liver cancer model (168).

Resolvins and protectins

These products of EPA and DHA are formed through transcellular metabolism and some of their anti-inflammatory and proresolution effects are mediated through their effects on T cells. It has been reported that PD1 is formed by Th2-skewed peripheral blood mononuclear cells and appeared to block T cell migration, inhibit TNFa and IFy secretion, and promote apoptosis in vivo (169). Reduction of CD4+ and CD8+ T cell infiltrates and CD4+ T cell-produced cytokines was also observed in a mouse model of DNFB-induced atopic dermatitis treated with RvE1 (170). Furthermore, RvE1-treated bone marrow-derived DC appear to induce apoptosis of T cells, and it has been suggested that instead of migrating to the lymph nodes they remain on the inflammatory sites targeting the infiltrating effector T cells (171). RvE1 has also been shown to reduce the influx of Th1 and Th17 cells in the cornea of a mouse model of stromal keratitis, a virally induced immunopathological disease; it has been suggested that this may have contributed to a significant reduction in lesions observed (172).

ENDOCANNABINOIDS AND CONGENERS

The endocannabinoid system is considered an important regulator of the immune response with AEA, 2AG, and related enzymes and receptors being involved in T cell function (173–176). Production of AEA and 2AG have been shown in human T lymphocytes (177, 178), while the receptors CB1 and CB2 have been identified in primary T cells and T cell lines where their expression is stimulated upon activation (179, 180). In particular, the CB2 receptor has been shown to mediate the inhibition of mixed lymphocyte reactions by cannabinoids and is of interest for the development of novel chemotherapeutic approaches to prolong graft survival (181). Furthermore, CB2 has been suggested as an important factor for the formation of T cell subsets including splenic memory CD4+ cells and natural killer T cells (182). Interestingly, a common CB2 gene polymorphism has been linked to reduced immune modulation by endocannabinoids and may be a risk factor for autoimmune disorders (183). Finally, FAAH and monoacylglycerol lipase (MAGL) are also present in human T lymphocytes (179). FAAH appears to play a protective role controlling the levels of AEA in pregnancy as well as immune-mediated liver inflammation (178, 184).

AEA and congeners

Work with activated primary human T lymphocytes has shown that AEA can suppress T cell proliferation and cytokine release in a CB2-dependent manner, without exerting cytotoxic effects (185, 186). However, other studies suggested that AEA inhibits T cell proliferation and induces apoptosis through a mechanism that may not be receptor mediated but most probably related to lipid rafts (187, 188).

The immunosuppressive effect of AEA extends to Th17 cell and this is of particular interest for the development of immunotherapeutic approaches (186). Endogenous AEA or inhibition of FAAH leading to increased AEA levels, were effective in reducing cytokine levels, decreased liver injury, and increased numbers of Treg cells in a murine model of immune-mediated liver inflammation (184). AEA inhibited the migration of CD8+ T cells in a collagen-based migration assay, again through the CB2 receptor (189). However, a study evaluating the direct anti-cancer potential of AEA, reported no effect on lymphocyte proliferation or Treg generation or cytokine production (190). In contrast, other studies have reported proinflammatory effects by AEA. In a mouse model of atherosclerosis, reduced levels of FAAH that resulted in increased AEA and its congeners, palmitoyl- and oleoyl-ethanolamide, were accompanied by reduced CD4+FoxP3+ regulatory T cells, suggesting a pro-inflammatory effect on the overall immune response (191). In addition, AEA appears to promote Th1 immunity as shown in a model of sensitization where it was reported to induce DC activation and IFNy production (192). Finally, a recent study with bimatoprost suggested that this prostamide can induce calcium signaling in human T cells (193).

2AG

The chemotactic properties of 2AG are also mediated through the CB2 receptor and this has been shown in various immune cells including migration of splenocytes (194), homing of B cells (195), and motility of human natural killer cells (196). When this potential was assessed in activated T lymphocytes, it was reported that although 2AG did not induce T cell migration, it inhibited migratory responses toward the chemokine CXCL12, suggesting a possible regulatory role in T cell migration (179). Furthermore, 2AG can act as DC chemoattractant and indirectly shift the memory response toward a Th1 phenotype in a CB2mediated fashion (197). 2AG can also suppress IL-2 production in Jurkat cells through PPAR- γ activation and independently of CB1 and CB2-mediated signaling (198). The contribution of a COX-2 metabolite of 2AG has also been considered by recent reports confirming that the 15-deoxy-delta (1)(2),(1)(4)-PGJ₂glycerol ester (15d-PGJ₂-GE) is a PPAR- γ ligand that suppresses IL-2 production in activated Jurkat cells (111, 199).

CONCLUDING REMARKS

While current evidence support a key role for PUFA-derived bioactive lipids in the regulation of T cell immunity (**Table 1**), the complexity of their biological properties and the lack of a comprehensive understanding of their exact contribution to different stages of the immune response hinders the identification of mediators of interest either as markers or as target compounds for drug development. In general, it appears that lipid mediators regulate T helper cell polarization into Th1/Th2 and Th17 cells, a key event in many immune-mediated diseases. Despite the molecular mechanisms for this effect and the regulatory role of these lipids on other T cell functions have yet to be explored, an extensive number of studies in mice and humans underscore their therapeutic potential.

This concept is supported by the large number of studies using their precursor fatty acids. Of particular importance is the focus on n-3 PUFA that have been explored as anti-inflammatory and immune-protective agents for a range of diseases and relevant experimental models including psoriasis, rheumatoid arthritis, and atherosclerosis (32, 33, 200). A recent study has shown that dietary n-3 PUFA favorably modulate intestinal inflammation in part by downregulating pathogenic T cell responses (201). The Fat-1 mouse, a genetic model that synthesizes long-chain n-3 PUFA de novo, was shown to be relatively resistant to colitis induction due to a reduced differentiation of Th17 cells and related cytokines (202). The immunoregulatory potential of a number of fatty acids has been reported over the years including that of DGLA and GLA (203), stearidonic acid (204) as well as various CLA mixtures used for inflammatory bowel syndrome and human Crohn's disease (205). Parenteral administration of fatty acids has been shown to ameliorate disease via immunomodulatory effect in a model of rat sepsis (206), A randomized study in patients awaiting carotid endarterectomy showed that n-3 PUFA ethyl esters are incorporated into advanced atherosclerotic plaques and higher plaque EPA is associated with decreased plaque inflammation and T cell infiltration, and increased stability following dietary supplementation with EPA (207).

Furthermore, altering the profile of lipid mediators to strengthen the responses of T cells may be of value to cancer immunotherapy and could result in the development of potent and/or less toxic therapeutics. For example, it is well-documented that most tumors express PGE₂ and this can contribute to immune suppression (103, 208). Pharmacological inhibition of PGE₂ via non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs or EP receptor agonists could be supported or even replaced by systemic administration of EPA, precursor of the less potent eicosanoid PGE₃ and the antiinflammatory resolving series E (RvE) that can tone down the

Lipid mediator	Receptor	Effect on T cells	Reference
PGE ₂	EP1, EP2/EP4 EP2/EP4 EP2/EP4	Differentiation Proliferation Cytokine production	(73, 78, 79, 81, 88) (72, 81, 83, 85) (72, 77–80)
	EP2/EP4 EP2/EP4 EP2/EP4	Apoptosis Motility of T cells Treg recruitment	(77, 91) (93–95) (102)
PGD ₂	EP2/EP4 DP1 DP1, DP2 DP2	Th1, Th2, Th17 balance Differentiation of Th2; T cell apoptosis Recruitment, proliferation of Th2 Activation, cytokine production, trafficking, and motility of Th2	(14, 74–76, 78, 79) (110, 120, 121) (111) (106, 107, 113–119)
15d-PGJ ₂	DP2	Suppression of Th1 and promotion of Th2 DC–T cell interaction	(103, 112) (120, 121)
$PGF_{2\alpha}$	FP	Th17 differentiation	(123)
PGI ₂	IP	Th1/Th2 balance	(13)
		Th1, Th17 differentiation	(125, 127, 129)
TXA ₂	TP	Inhibition of T cell proliferation Mediation of DC-T cell interactions	(134) (130)
LTB ₄	BLT1	Homing Differentiation, proliferation, and cytokine production	(141, 144) (146–149)
CysLTD ₄ CysLTE ₄	CysLT1	Th2 differentiation	(151–153)
12-HETE		Weak T cell chemotaxis Metabolic changes	(158, 159) (137)
15-HETE		Proliferation Th1 responses	(160–162) (164)
LXA4	BLT1	Cytokine production	(167)
AEA	CB2 -	Suppression of Th1 and Th17 proliferation and cytokine release Inhibition of proliferation; apoptosis via membrane rafts Increased Tregs	(185, 186) (187, 188) (184)
2AG	CB2	T cell migration Suppression of cytokine production via PPAR-γ	(179) (189)

Table 1 | Summary of the main immunoregulatory roles of bioactive lipid mediators related to T cell function and biology.

 PGE_2 -mediated effects. Finally, a large number of other investigations have reported that immunonutrition with fatty acids leads to amelioration of a variety of immune-mediated disease by targeting T cell function. Examples include studies showing that the use of *n*-3 PUFA can improve lung injury and sepsis in animal models, and reduce infectious complications in patients undergoing major surgery and following severe trauma (209–211), while other reports draw attention to the contribution of fatty acids and their mediators in vaccine-induced immunity in infants, the prevention of experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis through inhibition of Th1/Th17 differentiation by DHA, EPA-mediated protection of cardiac allografts, and amelioration of contact dermatitis following DHA and AA supplements (212–215). Overall, there is a strong case for further developing therapeutic approaches based on the use of bioactive lipids as immunomodulators. The unmet challenge to fully exploit their therapeutic potential will be to unravel the circuits and molecular mechanisms by which these powerful mediators impact on T cell-mediated immunity.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

Research support provided by the Wellcome Trust (Anna Nicolaou: WT094028) and British Heart Foundation (Claudio Mauro: FS/12/38/29640 and Federica Marelli-Berg: RG/09/002/2642) is gratefully acknowledged. We thank Dr. Sharon A. Murphy for her contribution to the figures shown in the manuscript.

REFERENCES

- Wang R, Green DR. Metabolic checkpoints in activated T cells. Nat Immunol (2012) 13(10):907–15. doi:10.1038/ni.2386
- Schumacher TN, Gerlach C, van Heijst JW. Mapping the life histories of T cells. Nat Rev Immunol (2010) 10(9):621–31. doi:10.1038/nri2822
- 3. Green DR. Overview: apoptotic signaling pathways in the immune system. *Immunol Rev* (2003) **193**:5–9. doi:10.1034/j.1600-065X.2003.00045.x
- Wang R, Green DR. The immune diet: meeting the metabolic demands of lymphocyte activation. F1000 Biol Rep (2013) 4:9. doi:10.3410/B4-9
- Wang R, Dillon CP, Shi LZ, Milasta S, Carter R, Finkelstein D, et al. The transcription factor Myc controls metabolic reprogramming upon T lymphocyte activation. *Immunity* (2012) 35(6):871–82. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2011.09.021
- Gerriets VA, Rathmell JC. Metabolic pathways in T cell fate and function. *Trends Immunol* (2012) 33(4):168–73. doi:10.1016/j.it.2012.01.010
- Marelli-Berg FM, Fu H, Mauro C. Molecular mechanisms of metabolic reprogramming in proliferating cells: implications for T-cell-mediated immunity. *Immunology* (2012) 136(4):363–9. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2567.2012.03583.x
- Mauro C, Fu H, Marelli-Berg FM. T cell trafficking and metabolism: novel mechanisms and targets for immunomodulation. *Curr Opin Pharmacol* (2012) 12(4):452–7. doi:10.1016/j.coph.2012.02.018
- Powell JD, Delgoffe GM. The mammalian target of rapamycin: linking T cell differentiation, function, and metabolism. *Immunity* (2011) 33(3):301–11. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2010.09.002
- Peter C, Waldmann H, Cobbold SP. mTOR signalling and metabolic regulation of T cell differentiation. *Curr Opin Immunol* (2010) 22(5):655–61. doi:10.1016/j.coi.2010.08.010
- Jones RG, Thompson CB. Revving the engine: signal transduction fuels T cell activation. *Immunity* (2007) 27(2):173–8. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2007.07.008
- Yamane H, Paul WE. Early signaling events that underlie fate decisions of naive CD4(+) T cells toward distinct T-helper cell subsets. *Immunol Rev* (2013) 252(1):12–23. doi:10.1111/imr.12032
- Boswell MG, Zhou W, Newcomb DC, Peebles RS Jr. PGI2 as a regulator of CD4+ subset differentiation and function. *Prostaglandins Other Lipid Mediat* (2011) 96(1–4):21–6. doi:10.1016/j.prostaglandins.2011.08.003
- Li H, Edin ML, Gruzdev A, Cheng J, Bradbury JA, Graves JP, et al. Regulation of T helper cell subsets by cyclooxygenases and their metabolites. *Prostaglandins Other Lipid Mediat* (2013) **104-105**:74–83. doi:10.1016/j.prostaglandins.2012. 11.002
- Macintyre AN, Finlay D, Preston G, Sinclair LV, Waugh CM, Tamas P, et al. Protein kinase B controls transcriptional programs that direct cytotoxic T cell fate but is dispensable for T cell metabolism. *Immunity* (2011) 34(2):224–36. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2011.01.012
- Cornish GH, Sinclair LV, Cantrell DA. Differential regulation of T-cell growth by IL-2 and IL-15. *Blood* (2006) 108(2):600–8. doi:10.1182/blood-2005-12-4827
- Shi LZ, Wang R, Huang G, Vogel P, Neale G, Green DR, et al. HIF1alphadependent glycolytic pathway orchestrates a metabolic checkpoint for the differentiation of TH17 and Treg cells. *J Exp Med* (2011) 208(7):1367–76. doi:10.1084/jem.20110278
- Michalek RD, Gerriets VA, Jacobs SR, Macintyre AN, MacIver NJ, Mason EF, et al. Cutting edge: distinct glycolytic and lipid oxidative metabolic programs are essential for effector and regulatory CD4+ T cell subsets. *J Immunol* (2011) 186(6):3299–303. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1003613
- van der Windt GJ, Everts B, Chang CH, Curtis JD, Freitas TC, Amiel E, et al. Mitochondrial respiratory capacity is a critical regulator of CD8+ T cell memory development. *Immunity* (2012) 36(1):68–78. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2011. 12.007
- Shaikh SR, Jolly CA, Chapkin RS. n-3 Polyunsaturated fatty acids exert immunomodulatory effects on lymphocytes by targeting plasma membrane molecular organization. *Mol Aspects Med* (2012) 33(1):46–54. doi:10.1016/j. mam.2011.10.002
- Calder PC. The relationship between the fatty acid composition of immune cells and their function. *Prostaglandins Leukot Essent Fatty Acids* (2008) 79(3–5):101–8. doi:10.1016/j.plefa.2008.09.016
- 22. Kew S, Mesa MD, Tricon S, Buckley R, Minihane AM, Yaqoob P. Effects of oils rich in eicosapentaenoic and docosahexaenoic acids on immune cell composition and function in healthy humans. *Am J Clin Nutr* (2004) **79**(4):674–81.

- Petursdottir DH, Hardardottir I. Dietary fish oil decreases secretion of T helper (Th) 1-type cytokines by a direct effect on murine splenic T cells but enhances secretion of a Th2-type cytokine by an effect on accessory cells. *Br J Nutr* (2009) 101(7):1040–6. doi:10.1017/S0007114508048290
- 24. Thies F, Nebe-von-Caron G, Powell JR, Yaqoob P, Newsholme EA, Calder PC. Dietary supplementation with gamma-linolenic acid or fish oil decreases T lymphocyte proliferation in healthy older humans. *J Nutr* (2001) 131(7):1918–27.
- 25. Verlengia R, Gorjao R, Kanunfre CC, Bordin S, Martins De Lima T, Martins EF, et al. Comparative effects of eicosapentaenoic acid and docosahexaenoic acid on proliferation, cytokine production, and pleiotropic gene expression in Jurkat cells. *J Nutr Biochem* (2004) **15**(11):657–65. doi:10.1016/j.jnutbio.2004. 04.008
- Shaikh SR, Edidin M. Immunosuppressive effects of polyunsaturated fatty acids on antigen presentation by human leukocyte antigen class I molecules. *J Lipid Res* (2007) 48(1):127–38. doi:10.1194/jlr.M600365-JLR200
- 27. Jaudszus A, Gruen M, Watzl B, Ness C, Roth A, Lochner A, et al. Evaluation of suppressive and pro-resolving effects of EPA and DHA in human primary monocytes and T-helper cells. *J Lipid Res* (2013) **54**(4):923–35. doi:10.1194/jlr.P031260
- Grimminger F, Grimm H, Fuhrer D, Papavassilis C, Lindemann G, Blecher C, et al. Omega-3 lipid infusion in a heart allotransplant model. Shift in fatty acid and lipid mediator profiles and prolongation of transplant survival. *Circulation* (1996) 93(2):365–71. doi:10.1161/01.CIR.93.2.365
- van der Heide JJ, Bilo HJ, Donker JM, Wilmink JM, Tegzess AM. Effect of dietary fish oil on renal function and rejection in cyclosporine-treated recipients of renal transplants. N Engl J Med (1993) 329(11):769–73. doi:10.1056/ NEJM199309093291105
- 30. Iwami D, Zhang Q, Aramaki O, Nonomura K, Shirasugi N, Niimi M. Purified eicosapentaenoic acid induces prolonged survival of cardiac allografts and generates regulatory T cells. *Am J Transplant* (2009) **9**(6):1294–307. doi:10.1111/j.1600-6143.2009.02641.x
- Iwami D, Nonomura K, Shirasugi N, Niimi M. Immunomodulatory effects of eicosapentaenoic acid through induction of regulatory T cells. Int Immunopharmacol (2011) 11(3):384–9. doi:10.1016/j.intimp.2010.11.035
- Kendall AC, Nicolaou A. Bioactive lipid mediators in skin inflammation and immunity. *Prog Lipid Res* (2013) 52(1):141–64. doi:10.1016/j.plipres.2012. 10.003
- Hirata T, Narumiya S. Prostanoids as regulators of innate and adaptive immunity. Adv Immunol (2013) 116:143–74. doi:10.1016/B978-0-12-394300-2.00005-3
- Harizi H, Corcuff JB, Gualde N. Arachidonic-acid-derived eicosanoids: roles in biology and immunopathology. *Trends Mol Med* (2008) 14(10):461–9. doi:10.1016/j.molmed.2008.08.005
- Massey KA, Nicolaou A. Lipidomics of polyunsaturated-fatty-acid-derived oxygenated metabolites. *Biochem Soc Trans* (2012) 39(5):1240–6. doi:10.1042/ BST0391240
- Ueda N, Tsuboi K, Uyama T. Metabolism of endocannabinoids and related N-acylethanolamines: canonical and alternative pathways. *FEBS J* (2013) 280(9):1874–94. doi:10.1111/febs.12152
- 37. Dennis EA, Cao J, Hsu YH, Magrioti V, Kokotos G. Phospholipase A2 enzymes: physical structure, biological function, disease implication, chemical inhibition, and therapeutic intervention. *Chem Rev* (2011) 111(10):6130–85. doi:10.1021/cr200085w
- Tessier C, Hichami A, Khan NA. Implication of three isoforms of PLA(2) in human T-cell proliferation. FEBS Lett (2002) 520(1–3):111–6. doi:10.1016/ S0014-5793(02)02779-5
- Hichami A, Joshi B, Simonin AM, Khan NA. Role of three isoforms of phospholipase A2 in capacitative calcium influx in human T-cells. *Eur J Biochem* (2002) 269(22):5557–63. doi:10.1046/j.1432-1033.2002.03261.x
- Burgermeister E, Endl J, Scheuer WV. Activation of cytosolic phospholipase A2 in human T-lymphocytes involves inhibitor-kappaB and mitogen-activated protein kinases. *Eur J Pharmacol* (2003) 466(1–2):169–80. doi:10.1016/S0014-2999(03)01492-4
- Roshak AK, Capper EA, Stevenson C, Eichman C, Marshall LA. Human calcium-independent phospholipase A2 mediates lymphocyte proliferation. *J Biol Chem* (2000) 275(46):35692–8. doi:10.1074/jbc.M002273200

- 42. Le Gouvello S, Colard O, Theodorou I, Bismuth G, Tarantino N, Debre P. CD2 triggering stimulates a phospholipase A2 activity beside the phospholipase C pathway in human T lymphocytes. *J Immunol* (1990) 144(6):2359–64.
- Cifone MG, Cironi L, Santoni A, Testi R. Diacylglycerol lipase activation and 5-lipoxygenase activation and translocation following TCR/CD3 triggering in T cells. *Eur J Immunol* (1995) 25(4):1080–6. doi:10.1002/eji.1830250433
- 44. Calder PC. Polyunsaturated fatty acids and inflammatory processes: new twists in an old tale. *Biochimie* (2009) **91**(6):791–5. doi:10.1016/j.biochi.2009.01.008
- Murakami M, Kudo I. Prostaglandin E synthase: a novel drug target for inflammation and cancer. *Curr Pharm Des* (2006) 12(8):943–54. doi:10.2174/ 138161206776055912
- 46. Hara S, Kamei D, Sasaki Y, Tanemoto A, Nakatani Y, Murakami M. Prostaglandin E synthases: understanding their pathophysiological roles through mouse genetic models. *Biochimie* (2010) 92(6):651–9. doi:10.1016/ j.biochi.2010.02.007
- Urade Y, Eguchi N. Lipocalin-type and hematopoietic prostaglandin D synthases as a novel example of functional convergence. *Prostaglandins Other Lipid Mediat* (2002) 6(8–69):375–82. doi:10.1016/S0090-6980(02) 00042-4
- Surh YJ, Na HK, Park JM, Lee HN, Kim W, Yoon IS, et al. 15-Deoxydelta(1)(2),(1)(4)-prostaglandin J(2), an electrophilic lipid mediator of anti-inflammatory and pro-resolving signaling. *Biochem Pharmacol* (2011) 82(10):1335–51. doi:10.1016/j.bcp.2011.07.100
- Scher JU, Pillinger MH. 15d-PGJ2: the anti-inflammatory prostaglandin? *Clin Immunol* (2005) 114(2):100–9. doi:10.1016/j.clim.2004.09.008
- 50. Watanabe K. Prostaglandin F synthase. *Prostaglandins Other Lipid Mediat* (2002) **6**(8–69):401–7. doi:10.1016/S0090-6980(02)00044-8
- Cathcart MC, Reynolds JV, O'Byrne KJ, Pidgeon GP. The role of prostacyclin synthase and thromboxane synthase signaling in the development and progression of cancer. *Biochim Biophys Acta* (2010) 1805(2):153–66. doi:10.1016/j.bbcan.2010.01.006
- Woodward DF, Jones RL, Narumiya S. International union of basic and clinical pharmacology. LXXXIII: classification of prostanoid receptors, updating 15 years of progress. *Pharmacol Rev* (2012) 63(3):471–538. doi:10.1124/pr.110. 003517
- Breyer RM, Bagdassarian CK, Myers SA, Breyer MD. Prostanoid receptors: subtypes and signaling. *Annu Rev Pharmacol Toxicol* (2001) 41:661–90. doi:10.1146/annurev.pharmtox.41.1.661
- Tai HH, Ensor CM, Tong M, Zhou H, Yan F. Prostaglandin catabolizing enzymes. *Prostaglandins Other Lipid Mediat* (2002) 6(8–69):483–93. doi:10. 1016/S0090-6980(02)00050-3
- Brash AR. Lipoxygenases: occurrence, functions, catalysis, and acquisition of substrate. J Biol Chem (1999) 274(34):23679–82. doi:10.1074/jbc.274.34. 23679
- Dobrian AD, Lieb DC, Cole BK, Taylor-Fishwick DA, Chakrabarti SK, Nadler JL. Functional and pathological roles of the 12- and 15-lipoxygenases. *Prog Lipid Res* (2011) 50(1):115–31. doi:10.1016/j.plipres.2010.10.005
- Kuhn H, O'Donnell VB. Inflammation and immune regulation by 12/15lipoxygenases. Prog Lipid Res (2006) 45(4):334–56. doi:10.1016/j.plipres.2006. 02.003
- 58. Murphy RC, Gijon MA. Biosynthesis and metabolism of leukotrienes. *Biochem J* (2007) **405**(3):379–95. doi:10.1042/BJ20070289
- Powell WS, Rokach J. Biochemistry, biology and chemistry of the 5lipoxygenase product 5-oxo-ETE. Prog Lipid Res (2005) 44(2-3):154–83. doi:10.1016/j.plipres.2005.04.002
- Lecomte M, Laneuville O, Ji C, DeWitt DL, Smith WL. Acetylation of human prostaglandin endoperoxide synthase-2 (cyclooxygenase-2) by aspirin. J Biol Chem (1994) 269(18):13207–15.
- Claria J, Lee MH, Serhan CN. Aspirin-triggered lipoxins (15-epi-LX) are generated by the human lung adenocarcinoma cell line (A549)-neutrophil interactions and are potent inhibitors of cell proliferation. *Mol Med* (1996) 2(5):583–96.
- 62. Serhan CN, Hong S, Gronert K, Colgan SP, Devchand PR, Mirick G, et al. Resolvins: a family of bioactive products of omega-3 fatty acid transformation circuits initiated by aspirin treatment that counter proinflammation signals. *J Exp Med* (2002) **196**(8):1025–37. doi:10.1084/jem.20020760
- 63. Serhan CN, Yang R, Martinod K, Kasuga K, Pillai PS, Porter TF, et al. Maresins: novel macrophage mediators with potent antiinflammatory and proresolving actions. *J Exp Med* (2009) **206**(1):15–23. doi:10.1084/jem.20081880

- 64. Chacon P, Vega A, Monteseirin J, El Bekay R, Alba G, Perez-Formoso JL, et al. Induction of cyclooxygenase-2 expression by allergens in lymphocytes from allergic patients. *Eur J Immunol* (2005) **35**(8):2313–24. doi:10.1002/eji. 255590583
- Xu L, Zhang L, Yi Y, Kang HK, Datta SK. Human lupus T cells resist inactivation and escape death by upregulating COX-2. *Nat Med* (2004) 10(4):411–5. doi:10.1038/nm1005
- 66. Iniguez MA, Martinez-Martinez S, Punzon C, Redondo JM, Fresno M. An essential role of the nuclear factor of activated T cells in the regulation of the expression of the cyclooxygenase-2 gene in human T lymphocytes. *J Biol Chem* (2000) 275(31):23627–35. doi:10.1074/jbc.M001381200
- 67. Feldon SE, O'Loughlin CW, Ray DM, Landskroner-Eiger S, Seweryniak KE, Phipps RP. Activated human T lymphocytes express cyclooxygenase-2 and produce proadipogenic prostaglandins that drive human orbital fibroblast differentiation to adipocytes. *Am J Pathol* (2006) **169**(4):1183–93. doi:10.2353/ ajpath.2006.060434
- Mahic M, Yaqub S, Johansson CC, Tasken K, Aandahl EM. FOXP3+CD4+CD25+ adaptive regulatory T cells express cyclooxygenase-2 and suppress effector T cells by a prostaglandin E2-dependent mechanism. *J Immunol* (2006) 177(1):246–54.
- 69. Pablos JL, Santiago B, Carreira PE, Galindo M, Gomez-Reino JJ. Cyclooxygenase-1 and -2 are expressed by human T cells. *Clin Exp Immunol* (1999) 115(1):86–90. doi:10.1046/j.1365-2249.1999.00780.x
- Genaro AM, Sterin-Borda L, Gorelik G, Borda E. Prostanoids synthesis in lymphocyte subpopulations by adrenergic and cholinergic receptor stimulation. *Int J Immunopharmacol* (1992) 14(7):1145–51. doi:10.1016/0192-0561(92) 90049-Q
- Gasser O, Schmid TA, Zenhaeusern G, Hess C. Cyclooxygenase regulates cell surface expression of CXCR3/1-storing granules in human CD4+ T cells. *J Immunol* (2006) 177(12):8806–12.
- 72. Kalinski P. Regulation of immune responses by prostaglandin E2. J Immunol (2011) **188**(1):21–8. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1101029
- Rocca B, Spain LM, Pure E, Langenbach R, Patrono C, FitzGerald GA. Distinct roles of prostaglandin H synthases 1 and 2 in T-cell development. *J Clin Invest* (1999) 103(10):1469–77. doi:10.1172/JCI6400
- 74. Barrie A, Khare A, Henkel M, Zhang Y, Barmada MM, Duerr R, et al. Prostaglandin E2 and IL-23 plus IL-1beta differentially regulate the Th1/Th17 immune response of human CD161(+) CD4(+) memory T cells. *Clin Transl Sci* (2011) 4(4):268–73. doi:10.1111/j.1752-8062.2011.00300.x
- 75. Li H, Edin ML, Bradbury JA, Graves JP, DeGraff LM, Gruzdev A, et al. Cyclooxygenase-2 inhibits T helper cell type 9 differentiation during allergic lung inflammation via down-regulation of IL-17RB. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med* (2013) 187(8):812–22. doi:10.1164/rccm.201211-2073OC
- 76. Li B, Reynolds JM, Stout RD, Bernlohr DA, Suttles J. Regulation of Th17 differentiation by epidermal fatty acid-binding protein. J Immunol (2009) 182(12):7625–33. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.0804192
- 77. Kaul V, Van Kaer L, Das G, Das J. Prostanoid receptor 2 signaling protects T helper 2 cells from BALB/c mice against activation-induced cell death. J Biol Chem (2012) 287(30):25434–9. doi:10.1074/jbc.C111.324707
- Khayrullina T, Yen JH, Jing H, Ganea D. In vitro differentiation of dendritic cells in the presence of prostaglandin E2 alters the IL-12/IL-23 balance and promotes differentiation of Th17 cells. *J Immunol* (2008) 181(1):721–35.
- 79. Miles EA, Aston L, Calder PC. In vitro effects of eicosanoids derived from different 20-carbon fatty acids on T helper type 1 and T helper type 2 cytokine production in human whole-blood cultures. *Clin Exp Allergy* (2003) 33(5):624–32. doi:10.1046/j.1365-2222.2003.01637.x
- Napolitani G, Acosta-Rodriguez EV, Lanzavecchia A, Sallusto F. Prostaglandin E2 enhances Th17 responses via modulation of IL-17 and IFN-gamma production by memory CD4+ T cells. *Eur J Immunol* (2009) **39**(5):1301–12. doi:10.1002/eji.200838969
- Sreeramkumar V, Fresno M, Cuesta N. Prostaglandin E2 and T cells: friends or foes? *Immunol Cell Biol* (2012) 90(6):579–86. doi:10.1038/icb.2011.75
- Rana S, Byrne SN, MacDonald LJ, Chan CY, Halliday GM. Ultraviolet B suppresses immunity by inhibiting effector and memory T cells. *Am J Pathol* (2008) 172(4):993–1004. doi:10.2353/ajpath.2008.070517
- Krause P, Bruckner M, Uermosi C, Singer E, Groettrup M, Legler DF. Prostaglandin E(2) enhances T-cell proliferation by inducing the costimulatory molecules OX40L, CD70, and 4-1BBL on dendritic cells. *Blood* (2009) 113(11):2451–60. doi:10.1182/blood-2008-05-157123

- 84. Muthuswamy R, Mueller-Berghaus J, Haberkorn U, Reinhart TA, Schadendorf D, Kalinski P. PPGE(2) transiently enhances DC expression of CCR7 but inhibits the ability of DCs to produce CCL19 and attract naive T cells. *Blood* (2010) 116(9):1454–9. doi:10.1182/blood-2009-12-258038
- 85. Shimabukuro-Vornhagen A, Liebig TM, Koslowsky T, Theurich S, von Bergwelt-Baildon MS. The ratio between dendritic cells and T cells determines whether prostaglandin E2 has a stimulatory or inhibitory effect. *Cell Immunol* (2013) 281(1):62–7. doi:10.1016/j.cellimm.2013.01.001
- Mrabet-Dahbi S, Maurer M. Does allergy impair innate immunity? Leads and lessons from atopic dermatitis. *Allergy* (2011) 65(11):1351–6. doi:10.1111/j. 1398-9995.2010.02452.x
- Deckers J, Branco Madeira F, Hammad H. Innate immune cells in asthma. Trends Immunol (2013) 34(11):540–7. doi:10.1016/j.it.2013.08.004
- Nagamachi M, Sakata D, Kabashima K, Furuyashiki T, Murata T, Segi-Nishida E, et al. Facilitation of Th1-mediated immune response by prostaglandin E receptor EP1. J Exp Med (2007) 204(12):2865–74. doi:10.1084/jem.20070773
- Esaki Y, Li Y, Sakata D, Yao C, Segi-Nishida E, Matsuoka T, et al. Dual roles of PGE2-EP4 signaling in mouse experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2010) **107**(27):12233–8. doi:10.1073/pnas. 0915112107
- Yao C, Sakata D, Esaki Y, Li Y, Matsuoka T, Kuroiwa K, et al. Prostaglandin E2-EP4 signaling promotes immune inflammation through Th1 cell differentiation and Th17 cell expansion. *Nat Med* (2009) 15(6):633–40. doi:10.1038/ nm.1968
- Valitutti S, Dessing M, Lanzavecchia A. Role of cAMP in regulating cytotoxic T lymphocyte adhesion and motility. *Eur J Immunol* (1993) 23(4):790–5. doi:10.1002/eji.1830230403
- Santoli D, Zurier RB. Prostaglandin E precursor fatty acids inhibit human IL-2 production by a prostaglandin E-independent mechanism. *J Immunol* (1989) 143(4):1303–9.
- Van Epps DE. Suppression of human lymphocyte migration by PGE2. Inflammation (1981) 5(1):81–7. doi:10.1007/BF00910782
- 94. Koga Y, Tanaka K, Yokoyama M, Taniguchi K, Nomoto K. Thymus cell migration in a prostaglandin-mediated system. *Immunobiology* (1985) 169(5):486–502. doi:10.1016/S0171-2985(85)80004-8
- Wiemer AJ, Hegde S, Gumperz JE, Huttenlocher A. A live imaging cell motility screen identifies prostaglandin E2 as a T cell stop signal antagonist. *J Immunol* (2011) 187(7):3663–70. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1100103
- Jordan ML, Hoffman RA, Debe EF, Simmons RL. In vitro locomotion of allosensitized T lymphocyte clones in response to metabolites of arachidonic acid is subset specific. *J Immunol* (1986) 137(2):661–8.
- Jordan ML, Hoffman RA, Debe EF, West MA, Simmons RL. Prostaglandin E2 mediates subset-specific effects on the functional responses of allosensitized T lymphocyte clones. *Transplantation* (1987) 43(1):117–23. doi:10.1097/ 00007890-198701000-00026
- 98. Jordan ML, Vidgen DF, Wright J, Odell M, Mills GB. Sustained increases in cytosolic calcium during T lymphocyte allosensitization, proliferation, and acquisition of locomotor function. *Transplantation* (1991) **51**(2):464–8.
- Oppenheimer-Marks N, Kavanaugh AF, Lipsky PE. Inhibition of the transendothelial migration of human T lymphocytes by prostaglandin E2. *J Immunol* (1994) 152(12):5703–13.
- 100. Mesri M, Liversidge J, Forrester JV. Prostaglandin E2 and monoclonal antibody to lymphocyte function-associated antigen-1 differentially inhibit migration of T lymphocytes across microvascular retinal endothelial cells in rat. *Immunology* (1996) 88(3):471–7. doi:10.1046/j.1365-2567.1996.d01-671.x
- 101. Leppert D, Hauser SL, Kishiyama JL, An S, Zeng L, Goetzl EJ. Stimulation of matrix metalloproteinase-dependent migration of T cells by eicosanoids. *FASEB J* (1995) 9(14):1473–81.
- 102. Karavitis J, Hix LM, Shi YH, Schultz RF, Khazaie K, Zhang M. Regulation of COX2 expression in mouse mammary tumor cells controls bone metastasis and PGE2-induction of regulatory T cell migration. *PLoS One* (2012) 7(9):e46342. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0046342
- 103. Harris SG, Padilla J, Koumas L, Ray D, Phipps RP. Prostaglandins as modulators of immunity. *Trends Immunol* (2002) 23(3):144–50. doi:10.1016/S1471-4906(01)02154-8
- 104. Tanaka K, Ogawa K, Sugamura K, Nakamura M, Takano S, Nagata K. Cutting edge: differential production of prostaglandin D2 by human helper T cell subsets. *J Immunol* (2000) **164**(5):2277–80.

- 105. Mutalithas K, Guillen C, Day C, Brightling CE, Pavord ID, Wardlaw AJ. CRTH2 expression on T cells in asthma. *Clin Exp Immunol* (2010) 161(1):34–40. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2249.2010.04161.x
- 106. Tanaka K, Hirai H, Takano S, Nakamura M, Nagata K. Effects of prostaglandin D2 on helper T cell functions. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* (2004) 316(4):1009–14. doi:10.1016/j.bbrc.2004.02.151
- 107. Hirai H, Tanaka K, Yoshie O, Ogawa K, Kenmotsu K, Takamori Y, et al. Prostaglandin D2 selectively induces chemotaxis in T helper type 2 cells, eosinophils, and basophils via seven-transmembrane receptor CRTH2. J Exp Med (2001) 193(2):255–61. doi:10.1084/jem.193.2.255
- 108. Schuligoi R, Sedej M, Waldhoer M, Vukoja A, Sturm EM, Lippe IT, et al. Prostaglandin H2 induces the migration of human eosinophils through the chemoattractant receptor homologous molecule of Th2 cells, CRTH2. *J Leukoc Biol* (2009) 85(1):136–45. doi:10.1189/jlb.0608387
- 109. Pettipher R. The roles of the prostaglandin D(2) receptors DP(1) and CRTH2 in promoting allergic responses. *Br J Pharmacol* (2008) **153**(Suppl 1):S191–9. doi:10.1038/sj.bjp.0707488
- 110. Yamamoto Y, Otani S, Hirai H, Nagata K, Aritake K, Urade Y, et al. Dual functions of prostaglandin D2 in murine contact hypersensitivity via DP and CRTH2. Am J Pathol (2011) 179(1):302–14. doi:10.1016/j.ajpath.2011. 03.047
- 111. Raman P, Kaplan BL, Kaminski NE. 15-Deoxy-Delta(1)(2),(1)(4)prostaglandin J(2)-glycerol, a putative metabolite of 2-arachidonoyl glycerol and a peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor gamma ligand, modulates nuclear factor of activated T cells. *J Pharmacol Exp Ther* (2013) **342**(3):816–26. doi:10.1124/jpet.112.193003
- 112. Sykes L, MacIntyre DA, Yap XJ, Ponnampalam S, Teoh TG, Bennett PR. Changes in the Th1:Th2 cytokine bias in pregnancy and the effects of the anti-inflammatory cyclopentenone prostaglandin 15-deoxy-Delta(12,14)prostaglandin J2. *Mediators Inflamm* (2012) **2012**:416739. doi:10.1155/2012/ 416739
- 113. Perez-Novo CA, Holtappels G, Vinall SL, Xue L, Zhang N, Bachert C, et al. CRTH2 mediates the activation of human Th2 cells in response to PGD(2) released from IgE/anti-IgE treated nasal polyp tissue. *Allergy* (2009) 65(3):304–10. doi:10.1111/j.1398-9995.2009.02204.x
- 114. Xue L, Gyles SL, Barrow A, Pettipher R. Inhibition of PI3K and calcineurin suppresses chemoattractant receptor-homologous molecule expressed on Th2 cells (CRTH2)-dependent responses of Th2 lymphocytes to prostaglandin D(2). *Biochem Pharmacol* (2007) **73**(6):843–53. doi:10.1016/j.bcp.2006.11.021
- 115. Xue L, Barrow A, Pettipher R. Interaction between prostaglandin D and chemoattractant receptor-homologous molecule expressed on Th2 cells mediates cytokine production by Th2 lymphocytes in response to activated mast cells. *Clin Exp Immunol* (2009) **156**(1):126–33. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2249.2008. 03871.x
- 116. Vinall SL, Townsend ER, Pettipher R. A paracrine role for chemoattractant receptor-homologous molecule expressed on T helper type 2 cells (CRTH2) in mediating chemotactic activation of CRTH2+ CD4+ T helper type 2 lymphocytes. *Immunology* (2007) **121**(4):577–84. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2567.2007. 02606.x
- 117. Ahmed SR, McGettrick HM, Yates CM, Buckley CD, Ratcliffe MJ, Nash GB, et al. Prostaglandin D2 regulates CD4+ memory T cell trafficking across blood vascular endothelium and primes these cells for clearance across lymphatic endothelium. *J Immunol* (2011) 187(3):1432–9. doi:10.4049/jimmunol. 1100299
- 118. Shirasaki H, Kikuchi M, Kanaizumi E, Himi T. Accumulation of CRTH2positive leukocytes in human allergic nasal mucosa. Ann Allergy Asthma Immunol (2009) 102(2):110–5. doi:10.1016/S1081-1206(10)60239-6
- 119. Gyles SL, Xue L, Townsend ER, Wettey F, Pettipher R. A dominant role for chemoattractant receptor-homologous molecule expressed on T helper type 2 (Th2) cells (CRTH2) in mediating chemotaxis of CRTH2+ CD4+ Th2 lymphocytes in response to mast cell supernatants. *Immunology* (2006) 119(3):362–8. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2567.2006.02440.x
- 120. Gosset P, Bureau F, Angeli V, Pichavant M, Faveeuw C, Tonnel AB, et al. Prostaglandin D2 affects the maturation of human monocyte-derived dendritic cells: consequence on the polarization of naive Th cells. *J Immunol* (2003) 170(10):4943–52.
- 121. Gosset P, Pichavant M, Faveeuw C, Bureau F, Tonnel AB, Trottein F. Prostaglandin D2 affects the differentiation and functions of human dendritic

cells: impact on the T cell response. *Eur J Immunol* (2005) **35**(5):1491–500. doi:10.1002/eji.200425319

- 122. Zhao J, Legge K, Perlman S. Age-related increases in PGD(2) expression impair respiratory DC migration, resulting in diminished T cell responses upon respiratory virus infection in mice. J Clin Invest (2011) 121(12):4921–30. doi:10.1172/JCI59777
- 123. Li H, Bradbury JA, Dackor RT, Edin ML, Graves JP, DeGraff LM, et al. Cyclooxygenase-2 regulates Th17 cell differentiation during allergic lung inflammation. Am J Respir Crit Care Med (2011) 184(1):37–49. doi:10.1164/ rccm.201010-1637OC
- 124. Zhou W, Hashimoto K, Goleniewska K, O'Neal JF, Ji S, Blackwell TS, et al. Prostaglandin I2 analogs inhibit proinflammatory cytokine production and T cell stimulatory function of dendritic cells. *J Immunol* (2007) **178**(2):702–10.
- 125. Nakajima S, Honda T, Sakata D, Egawa G, Tanizaki H, Otsuka A, et al. Prostaglandin I2-IP signaling promotes Th1 differentiation in a mouse model of contact hypersensitivity. *J Immunol* (2010) **184**(10):5595–603. doi:10.4049/ jimmunol.0903260
- 126. Wu KK, Papp AC, Manner CE, Hall ER. Interaction between lymphocytes and platelets in the synthesis of prostacyclin. J Clin Invest (1987) 79(6):1601–6. doi:10.1172/JCI112995
- 127. Liu W, Li H, Zhang X, Wen D, Yu F, Yang S, et al. Prostaglandin I2-IP signalling regulates human Th17 and Treg cell differentiation. *Prostaglandins Leukot Essent Fatty Acids* (2013) 89(5):335–44. doi:10.1016/j.plefa.2013.08.006
- 128. Jaffar Z, Ferrini ME, Buford MC, Fitzgerald GA, Roberts K. Prostaglandin I2-IP signaling blocks allergic pulmonary inflammation by preventing recruitment of CD4+ Th2 cells into the airways in a mouse model of asthma. *J Immunol* (2007) **179**(9):6193–203.
- 129. Zhou W, Dowell DR, Huckabee MM, Newcomb DC, Boswell MG, Goleniewska K, et al. Prostaglandin I2 signaling drives Th17 differentiation and exacerbates experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. *PLoS One* (2012) 7(5):e33518. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0033518
- 130. Kabashima K, Murata T, Tanaka H, Matsuoka T, Sakata D, Yoshida N, et al. Thromboxane A2 modulates interaction of dendritic cells and T cells and regulates acquired immunity. *Nat Immunol* (2003) 4(7):694–701. doi:10.1038/ ni943
- 131. Thomas DW, Rocha PN, Nataraj C, Robinson LA, Spurney RF, Koller BH, et al. Proinflammatory actions of thromboxane receptors to enhance cellular immune responses. *J Immunol* (2003) 171(12):6389–95.
- 132. Ushikubi F, Aiba Y, Nakamura K, Namba T, Hirata M, Mazda O, et al. Thromboxane A2 receptor is highly expressed in mouse immature thymocytes and mediates DNA fragmentation and apoptosis. *J Exp Med* (1993) 178(5):1825–30. doi:10.1084/jem.178.5.1825
- 133. Kohyama K, Hashimoto M, Abe S, Kodaira K, Yukawa T, Hozawa S, et al. Thromboxane A2 receptor +795T>C and chemoattractant receptor-homologous molecule expressed on Th2 cells -466T>C gene polymorphisms in patients with aspirin-exacerbated respiratory disease. *Mol Med Rep* (2012) 5(2):477–82. doi:10.3892/mmr.2011.680
- 134. Kumar GS, Das UN. Effect of prostaglandins and their precursors on the proliferation of human lymphocytes and their secretion of tumor necrosis factor and various interleukins. *Prostaglandins Leukot Essent Fatty Acids* (1994) 50(6):331–4. doi:10.1016/0952-3278(94)90242-9
- 135. Cook-Moreau JM, El-Makhour Hojeij Y, Barriere G, Rabinovitch-Chable HC, Faucher KS, Sturtz FG, et al. Expression of 5-lipoxygenase (5-LOX) in T lymphocytes. *Immunology* (2007) **122**(2):157–66. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2567.2007. 02621.x
- 136. Cai Y, Kumar RK, Zhou J, Foster PS, Webb DC. Ym1/2 promotes Th2 cytokine expression by inhibiting 12/15(S)-lipoxygenase: identification of a novel pathway for regulating allergic inflammation. *J Immunol* (2009) 182(9):5393–9. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.0803874
- 137. Kato K, Koshihara Y, Fujiwara M, Murota S. Augmentation of 12-lipoxygenase activity of lymph node and spleen T cells in autoimmune mice MRL/1. *Prostaglandins Leukot Med* (1983) **12**(3):273–80. doi:10.1016/0262-1746(83) 90005-7
- 138. el Makhour-Hojeij Y, Baclet MC, Chable-Rabinovitch H, Beneytout JL, Cook J. Expression of 5-lipoxygenase in lymphoblastoid B and T cells. *Prostaglandins* (1994) 48(1):21–9. doi:10.1016/0090-6980(94)90093-0
- 139. Atluru D, Lianos EA, Goodwin JS. Arachidonic acid inhibits 5-lipoxygenase in human T cells. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* (1986) 135(2):670–6. doi:10.1016/0006-291X(86)90045-8

- 140. Goodarzi K, Goodarzi M, Tager AM, Luster AD, von Andrian UH. Leukotriene B4 and BLT1 control cytotoxic effector T cell recruitment to inflamed tissues. *Nat Immunol* (2003) 4(10):965–73. doi:10.1038/ni972
- 141. Tager AM, Bromley SK, Medoff BD, Islam SA, Bercury SD, Friedrich EB, et al. Leukotriene B4 receptor BLT1 mediates early effector T cell recruitment. *Nat Immunol* (2003) 4(10):982–90. doi:10.1038/ni970
- 142. Costa MF, de Souza-Martins R, de Souza MC, Benjamim CF, Piva B, Diaz BL, et al. Leukotriene B4 mediates gammadelta T lymphocyte migration in response to diverse stimuli. *J Leukoc Biol* (2010) 87(2):323–32. doi:10.1189/jlb. 0809563
- 143. Medeiros AI, Sa-Nunes A, Turato WM, Secatto A, Frantz FG, Sorgi CA, et al. Leukotrienes are potent adjuvant during fungal infection: effects on memory T cells. *J Immunol* (2008) 181(12):8544–51.
- 144. Luster AD, Tager AM. T-cell trafficking in asthma: lipid mediators grease the way. *Nat Rev Immunol* (2004) 4(9):711–24. doi:10.1038/nri1438
- 145. Nancey S, Boschetti G, Hacini F, Sardi F, Durand PY, Le Borgne M, et al. Blockade of LTB(4)/BLT(1) pathway improves CD8(+) T-cell-mediated colitis. *Inflamm Bowel Dis* (2011) **17**(1):279–88. doi:10.1002/ibd.21404
- 146. Chen H, Qin J, Wei P, Zhang J, Li Q, Fu L, et al. Effects of leukotriene B4 and prostaglandin E2 on the differentiation of murine Foxp3+ T regulatory cells and Th17 cells. *Prostaglandins Leukot Essent Fatty Acids* (2009) 80(4):195–200. doi:10.1016/j.plefa.2009.01.006
- 147. DiMeo D, Tian J, Zhang J, Narushima S, Berg DJ. Increased interleukin-10 production and Th2 skewing in the absence of 5-lipoxygenase. *Immunology* (2007) 123(2):250–62. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2567.2007.02694.x
- 148. Arcoleo F, Milano S, D'Agostino P, Cillari E. Effect of exogenous leukotriene B4 (LTB4) on BALB/c mice splenocyte production of Th1 and Th2 lymphokines. Int J Immunopharmacol (1995) 17(6):457–63. doi:10.1016/0192-0561(95)00038-4
- Dornand J, Gerber M. Mechanisms of IL2 production impairment by lipoxygenase inhibitors in activated Jurkat cells. J Lipid Mediat (1991) 4(1):23–38.
- Laidlaw TM, Boyce JA. Cysteinyl leukotriene receptors, old and new; implications for asthma. *Clin Exp Allergy* (2013) 42(9):1313–20. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2222.2012.03982.x
- 151. Parmentier CN, Fuerst E, McDonald J, Bowen H, Lee TH, Pease JE, et al. Human T(H)2 cells respond to cysteinyl leukotrienes through selective expression of cysteinyl leukotriene receptor 1. *JAllergy Clin Immunol* (2012) **129**(4):1136–42. doi:10.1016/j.jaci.2012.01.057
- 152. Prinz I, Gregoire C, Mollenkopf H, Aguado E, Wang Y, Malissen M, et al. The type 1 cysteinyl leukotriene receptor triggers calcium influx and chemotaxis in mouse alpha beta- and gamma delta effector T cells. *J Immunol* (2005) 175(2):713–9.
- 153. Xue L, Barrow A, Fleming VM, Hunter MG, Ogg G, Klenerman P, et al. Leukotriene E4 activates human Th2 cells for exaggerated proinflammatory cytokine production in response to prostaglandin D2. *J Immunol* (2011) 188(2):694–702. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1102474
- Bailey JM, Vanderhoek JY, Makheja AN, Pupillo M. Activation of mitogeninduced T-lymphocyte proliferation by leukotriene C-4. *Biochem Soc Trans* (1997) 25(3):503S.
- 155. Dannull J, Schneider T, Lee WT, de Rosa N, Tyler DS, Pruitt SK. Leukotriene C4 induces migration of human monocyte-derived dendritic cells without loss of immunostimulatory function. *Blood* (2012) **119**(13):3113–22. doi:10.1182/blood-2011-10-385930
- 156. Zhang Y, Styhler A, Powell WS. Synthesis of 5-oxo-6,8,11,14-eicosatetraenoic acid by human monocytes and lymphocytes. J Leukoc Biol (1996) 59(6): 847–54.
- 157. Erlemann KR, Rokach J, Powell WS. Oxidative stress stimulates the synthesis of the eosinophil chemoattractant 5-oxo-6,8,11,14-eicosatetraenoic acid by inflammatory cells. J Biol Chem (2004) 279(39):40376–84. doi:10.1074/jbc. M401294200
- 158. Bacon KB, Camp RD. Lipid lymphocyte chemoattractants in psoriasis. Prostaglandins (1990) 40(6):603–14. doi:10.1016/0090-6980(90)90005-G
- 159. Bacon KB, Camp RD, Cunningham FM, Woollard PM. Contrasting in vitro lymphocyte chemotactic activity of the hydroxyl enantiomers of 12-hydroxy-5,8,10,14-eicosatetraenoic acid. Br J Pharmacol (1988) 95(3):966–74. doi:10. 1111/j.1476-5381.1988.tb11727.x
- 160. Kumar KA, Arunasree KM, Roy KR, Reddy NP, Aparna A, Reddy GV, et al. Effects of (15S)-hydroperoxyeicosatetraenoic acid and (15S)hydroxyeicosatetraenoic acid on the acute- lymphoblastic-leukaemia cell line

Jurkat: activation of the Fas-mediated death pathway. *Biotechnol Appl Biochem* (2009) **52**(Pt 2):121–33. doi:10.1042/BA20070264

- 161. Bailey JM, Bryant RW, Low CE, Pupillo MB, Vanderhoek JY. Regulation of T-lymphocyte mitogenesis by the leukocyte product 15-hydroxyeicosatetraenoic acid (15-HETE). *Cell Immunol* (1982) 67(1):112–20. doi:10. 1016/0008-8749(82)90203-9
- 162. Bailey JM, Fletcher M, Vanderhoek JY, Makheja AN. Regulation of human T-lymphocyte proliferative responses by the lipoxygenase product 15-HETE. *Biochem Soc Trans* (1997) 25(2):247S.
- 163. Hadjiagapiou C, Travers JB, Fertel RH, Sprecher H. Metabolism of 15-hydroxy-5,8,11,13-eicosatetraenoic acid by MOLT-4 cells and blood T-lymphocytes. *J Biol Chem* (1990) 265(8):4369–73.
- 164. Jeon SG, Moon HG, Kim YS, Choi JP, Shin TS, Hong SW, et al. 15-Lipoxygenase metabolites play an important role in the development of a T-helper type 1 allergic inflammation induced by double-stranded RNA. *Clin Exp Allergy* (2009) **39**(6):908–17. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2222.2009.03211.x
- 165. Lin KT, Godfrey HP, Spokas EG, Sun FF, Wong PY. Modulation of LTB4 receptor in T-lymphocytes by lipoxin A4 (LXA4) and its role in delayed-type hypersensitivity. Adv Exp Med Biol (1999) 447:151–63. doi:10.1007/978-1-4615-4861-4_14
- 166. Lin KT, Dudhane A, Godfrey HP, Wong PY. Identification and characterization of a high-affinity leukotriene B4 receptor on guinea pig T lymphocytes and its regulation by lipoxin A4. J Pharmacol Exp Ther (1996) 277(2):679–84.
- 167. Ariel A, Chiang N, Arita M, Petasis NA, Serhan CN. Aspirin-triggered lipoxin A4 and B4 analogs block extracellular signal-regulated kinase-dependent TNFalpha secretion from human T cells. J Immunol (2003) 170(12):6266–72.
- 168. Zhang B, Jia H, Liu J, Yang Z, Jiang T, Tang K, et al. Depletion of regulatory T cells facilitates growth of established tumors: a mechanism involving the regulation of myeloid-derived suppressor cells by lipoxin A4. *J Immunol* (2010) 185(12):7199–206. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1001876
- 169. Ariel A, Li PL, Wang W, Tang WX, Fredman G, Hong S, et al. The docosatriene protectin D1 is produced by TH2 skewing and promotes human T cell apoptosis via lipid raft clustering. J Biol Chem (2005) 280(52):43079–86. doi:10.1074/jbc.M509796200
- 170. Kim TH, Kim GD, Jin YH, Park YS, Park CS. Omega-3 fatty acid-derived mediator, resolvin E1, ameliorates 2,4-dinitrofluorobenzene-induced atopic dermatitis in NC/Nga mice. *Int Immunopharmacol* (2012) 14(4):384–91. doi:10.1016/j.intimp.2012.08.005
- 171. Vassiliou EK, Kesler OM, Tadros JH, Ganea D. Bone marrow-derived dendritic cells generated in the presence of resolvin E1 induce apoptosis of activated CD4+ T cells. *J Immunol* (2008) 181(7):4534–44.
- 172. Rajasagi NK, Reddy PB, Suryawanshi A, Mulik S, Gjorstrup P, Rouse BT. Controlling herpes simplex virus-induced ocular inflammatory lesions with the lipid-derived mediator resolvin E1. J Immunol (2011) 186(3):1735–46. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1003456
- 173. Bambang KN, Lambert DG, Lam PM, Quenby S, Maccarrone M, Konje JC. Immunity and early pregnancy events: are endocannabinoids the missing link? *J Reprod Immunol* (2012) 96(1–2):8–18. doi:10.1016/j.jri.2012.10.003
- 174. Maccarrone M, Bari M, Battista N, Finazzi-Agro A. Endocannabinoid degradation, endotoxic shock and inflammation. *Curr Drug Targets Inflamm Allergy* (2002) 1(1):53–63. doi:10.2174/1568010023344878
- 175. Nagarkatti P, Pandey R, Rieder SA, Hegde VL, Nagarkatti M. Cannabinoids as novel anti-inflammatory drugs. *Future Med Chem* (2009) 1(7):1333–49. doi:10.4155/fmc.09.93
- 176. Rieder SA, Chauhan A, Singh U, Nagarkatti M, Nagarkatti P. Cannabinoidinduced apoptosis in immune cells as a pathway to immunosuppression. *Immunobiology* (2009) 215(8):598–605. doi:10.1016/j.imbio.2009.04.001
- 177. Maccarrone M, De Petrocellis L, Bari M, Fezza F, Salvati S, Di Marzo V, et al. Lipopolysaccharide downregulates fatty acid amide hydrolase expression and increases anandamide levels in human peripheral lymphocytes. Arch Biochem Biophys (2001) 393(2):321–8. doi:10.1006/abbi.2001.2500
- 178. Maccarrone M, Bari M, Di Rienzo M, Finazzi-Agro A, Rossi A. Progesterone activates fatty acid amide hydrolase (FAAH) promoter in human T lymphocytes through the transcription factor Ikaros. Evidence for a synergistic effect of leptin. J Biol Chem (2003) 278(35):32726–32. doi:10.1074/jbc.M302123200
- 179. Coopman K, Smith LD, Wright KL, Ward SG. Temporal variation in CB2R levels following T lymphocyte activation: evidence that cannabinoids modulate CXCL12-induced chemotaxis. *Int Immunopharmacol* (2007) 7(3):360–71. doi:10.1016/j.intimp.2006.11.008

- 180. Daaka Y, Friedman H, Klein TW. Cannabinoid receptor proteins are increased in Jurkat, human T-cell line after mitogen activation. *J Pharmacol Exp Ther* (1996) 276(2):776–83.
- 181. Robinson RH, Meissler JJ, Breslow-Deckman JM, Gaughan J, Adler MW, Eisenstein TK. Cannabinoids inhibit T-cells via cannabinoid receptor 2 in an in vitro assay for graft rejection, the mixed lymphocyte reaction. *J Neuroimmune Pharmacol* (2013) 8(5):1239–50. doi:10.1007/s11481-013-9485-1
- 182. Ziring D, Wei B, Velazquez P, Schrage M, Buckley NE, Braun J. Formation of B and T cell subsets require the cannabinoid receptor CB2. *Immunogenetics* (2006) 58(9):714–25. doi:10.1007/s00251-006-0138-x
- 183. Sipe JC, Arbour N, Gerber A, Beutler E. Reduced endocannabinoid immune modulation by a common cannabinoid 2 (CB2) receptor gene polymorphism: possible risk for autoimmune disorders. J Leukoc Biol (2005) 78(1):231–8. doi:10.1189/jlb.0205111
- 184. Hegde VL, Hegde S, Cravatt BF, Hofseth LJ, Nagarkatti M, Nagarkatti PS. Attenuation of experimental autoimmune hepatitis by exogenous and endogenous cannabinoids: involvement of regulatory T cells. *Mol Pharmacol* (2008) 74(1):20–33. doi:10.1124/mol.108.047035
- 185. Eisenstein TK, Meissler JJ, Wilson Q, Gaughan JP, Adler MW. Anandamide and Delta9-tetrahydrocannabinol directly inhibit cells of the immune system via CB2 receptors. J Neuroimmunol (2007) 189(1–2):17–22. doi:10.1016/ j.jneuroim.2007.06.001
- 186. Cencioni MT, Chiurchiu V, Catanzaro G, Borsellino G, Bernardi G, Battistini L, et al. Anandamide suppresses proliferation and cytokine release from primary human T-lymphocytes mainly via CB2 receptors. *PLoS One* (2010) 5(1):e8688. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0008688
- 187. Schwarz H, Blanco FJ, Lotz M. Anadamide, an endogenous cannabinoid receptor agonist inhibits lymphocyte proliferation and induces apoptosis. J Neuroimmunol (1994) 55(1):107–15. doi:10.1016/0165-5728(94)90152-X
- 188. Sarker KP, Maruyama I. Anandamide induces cell death independently of cannabinoid receptors or vanilloid receptor 1: possible involvement of lipid rafts. *Cell Mol Life Sci* (2003) 60(6):1200–8.
- 189. Joseph J, Niggemann B, Zaenker KS, Entschladen F. Anandamide is an endogenous inhibitor for the migration of tumor cells and T lymphocytes. *Cancer Immunol Immunother* (2004) 53(8):723–8. doi:10.1007/s00262-004-0509-9
- 190. Lissoni P, Tintori A, Fumagalli L, Brivio F, Messina G, Parolini D, et al. The endocannabinoid anandamide neither impairs in vitro T-cell function nor induces regulatory T-cell generation. *Anticancer Res* (2008) 28(6A): 3743–8.
- 191. Lenglet S, Thomas A, Soehnlein O, Montecucco F, Burger F, Pelli G, et al. Fatty acid amide hydrolase deficiency enhances intraplaque neutrophil recruitment in atherosclerotic mice. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol* (2013) 33(2):215–23. doi:10.1161/ATVBAHA.112.300275
- 192. Ribeiro A, Ferraz-de-Paula V, Pinheiro ML, Sakai M, Costa-Pinto FA, Palermo-Neto J. Anandamide prior to sensitization increases cell-mediated immunity in mice. *Int Immunopharmacol* (2010) **10**(4):431–9. doi:10.1016/j.intimp.2009. 12.017
- 193. Chen J, Lu RT, Lai R, Dinh T, Paul D, Venadas S, et al. Bimatoprost-induced calcium signaling in human T-cells does not involve prostanoid FP or TP receptors. *Curr Eye Res* (2009) 34(3):184–95. doi:10.1080/02713680802669781
- 194. Jorda MA, Verbakel SE, Valk PJ, Vankan-Berkhoudt YV, Maccarrone M, Finazzi-Agro A, et al. Hematopoietic cells expressing the peripheral cannabinoid receptor migrate in response to the endocannabinoid 2-arachidonoylglycerol. *Blood* (2002) **99**(8):2786–93. doi:10.1182/blood.V99.8.2786
- 195. Basu S, Ray A, Dittel BN. Cannabinoid receptor 2 is critical for the homing and retention of marginal zone B lineage cells and for efficient T-independent immune responses. J Immunol (2011) 187(11):5720–32. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1102195
- 196. Kishimoto S, Muramatsu M, Gokoh M, Oka S, Waku K, Sugiura T. Endogenous cannabinoid receptor ligand induces the migration of human natural killer cells. J Biochem (2005) 137(2):217–23. doi:10.1093/jb/mvi021
- 197. Maestroni GJ. The endogenous cannabinoid 2-arachidonoyl glycerol as in vivo chemoattractant for dendritic cells and adjuvant for Th1 response to a soluble protein. FASEB J (2004) 18(15):1914–6. doi:10.1096/fj.04-2190fje
- 198. Rockwell CE, Snider NT, Thompson JT, Vanden Heuvel JP, Kaminski NE. Interleukin-2 suppression by 2-arachidonoyl glycerol is mediated through peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor gamma independently of cannabinoid receptors 1 and 2. *Mol Pharmacol* (2006) **70**(1):101–11. doi:10.1124/mol.105. 019117

- 199. Rockwell CE, Raman P, Kaplan BL, Kaminski NE. A COX-2 metabolite of the endogenous cannabinoid, 2-arachidonoyl glycerol, mediates suppression of IL-2 secretion in activated Jurkat T cells. *Biochem Pharmacol* (2008) **76**(3):353–61. doi:10.1016/j.bcp.2008.05.005
- 200. McCusker MM, Grant-Kels JM. Healing fats of the skin: the structural and immunologic roles of the omega-6 and omega-3 fatty acids. *Clin Dermatol* (2010) 28(4):440–51. doi:10.1016/j.clindermatol.2010.03.020
- 201. Woodworth HL, McCaskey SJ, Duriancik DM, Clinthorne JF, Langohr IM, Gardner EM, et al. Dietary fish oil alters T lymphocyte cell populations and exacerbates disease in a mouse model of inflammatory colitis. *Cancer Res* (2011) **70**(20):7960–9. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-10-1396
- 202. Monk JM, Jia Q, Callaway E, Weeks B, Alaniz RC, McMurray DN, et al. Th17 cell accumulation is decreased during chronic experimental colitis by (n-3) PUFA in Fat-1 mice. J Nutr (2011) 142(1):117–24. doi:10.3945/jn.111. 147058
- 203. Vassilopoulos D, Zurier RB, Rossetti RG, Tsokos GC. Gammalinolenic acid and dihomogammalinolenic acid suppress the CD3-mediated signal transduction pathway in human T cells. *Clin Immunol Immunopathol* (1997) 83(3):237–44. doi:10.1006/clin.1997.4343
- 204. Kim W, Khan NA, McMurray DN, Prior IA, Wang N, Chapkin RS. Regulatory activity of polyunsaturated fatty acids in T-cell signaling. *Prog Lipid Res* (2010) 49(3):250–61. doi:10.1016/j.plipres.2010.01.002
- 205. Bassaganya-Riera J, Hontecillas R. Dietary conjugated linoleic acid and n-3 polyunsaturated fatty acids in inflammatory bowel disease. *Curr Opin Clin Nutr Metab Care* (2010) 13(5):569–73. doi:10.1097/MCO.0b013e32833b648e
- 206. Cao S, Ren J, Sun L, Gu G, Yuan Y, Li J. Fish oil-supplemented parenteral nutrition prolongs survival while beneficially altering phospholipids' fatty acid composition and modulating immune function in rat sepsis. *Shock* (2011) 36(2):184–90. doi:10.1097/SHK.0b013e31821e4f8b
- 207. Cawood AL, Ding R, Napper FL, Young RH, Williams JA, Ward MJ, et al. Eicosapentaenoic acid (EPA) from highly concentrated n-3 fatty acid ethyl esters is incorporated into advanced atherosclerotic plaques and higher plaque EPA is associated with decreased plaque inflammation and increased stability. *Atherosclerosis* (2010) **212**(1):252–9. doi:10.1016/j.atherosclerosis. 2010.05.022
- Chen EP, Smyth EM. COX-2 and PGE2-dependent immunomodulation in breast cancer. *Prostaglandins Other Lipid Mediat* (2011) 96(1–4):14–20. doi:10.1016/j.prostaglandins.2011.08.005
- Ott J, Hiesgen C, Mayer K. Lipids in critical care medicine. Prostaglandins Leukot Essent Fatty Acids (2011) 85(5):267–73. doi:10.1016/j.plefa.2011.04.011

- 210. Suzuki D, Furukawa K, Kimura F, Shimizu H, Yoshidome H, Ohtsuka M, et al. Effects of perioperative immunonutrition on cell-mediated immunity, T helper type 1 (Th1)/Th2 differentiation, and Th17 response after pancreaticoduodenectomy. Surgery (2010) 148(3):573–81. doi:10.1016/j.surg.2010.01.017
- 211. Marik PE, Flemmer M. Immunonutrition in the surgical patient. *Minerva* Anestesiol (2012) **78**(3):336–42.
- 212. Furuhjelm C, Jenmalm MC, Falth-Magnusson K, Duchen K. Th1 and Th2 chemokines, vaccine-induced immunity, and allergic disease in infants after maternal omega-3 fatty acid supplementation during pregnancy and lactation. *Pediatr Res* (2011) 69(3):259–64. doi:10.1203/PDR.0b013e3182072229
- 213. Kong W, Yen JH, Ganea D. Docosahexaenoic acid prevents dendritic cell maturation, inhibits antigen-specific Th1/Th17 differentiation and suppresses experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. *Brain Behav Immun* (2011) 25(5):872–82. doi:10.1016/j.bbi.2010.09.012
- 214. Ye P, Li J, Wang S, Xie A, Sun W, Xia J. Eicosapentaenoic acid disrupts the balance between Tregs and IL-17+ T cells through PPARgamma nuclear receptor activation and protects cardiac allografts. *J Surg Res* (2011) **173**(1):161–70. doi:10.1016/j.jss.2010.08.052
- 215. Weise C, Heunemann C, Loddenkemper C, Herz U, van Tol EA, Worm M. Dietary docosahexaenoic acid in combination with arachidonic acid ameliorates allergen-induced dermatitis in mice. *Pediatr Allergy Immunol* (2011) 22(5):497–504. doi:10.1111/j.1399-3038.2010.01133.x

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Received: 19 December 2013; paper pending published: 08 January 2014; accepted: 11 February 2014; published online: 25 February 2014.

Citation: Nicolaou A, Mauro C, Urquhart P and Marelli-Berg F (2014) Polyunsaturated fatty acid-derived lipid mediators and T cell function. Front. Immunol. 5:75. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2014.00075

This article was submitted to T Cell Biology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology.

Copyright © 2014 Nicolaou, Mauro, Urquhart and Marelli-Berg. This is an openaccess article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Proinflammatory and immunoregulatory roles of eicosanoids in T cells

Anna Mari Lone^{1,2,3} and Kjetil Taskén^{1,2,3,4}*

¹ Centre for Molecular Medicine Norway, Nordic EMBL Partnership, University of Oslo and Oslo University Hospital, Oslo, Norway

² Biotechnology Centre, University of Oslo, Oslo, Norway

³ K.G. Jebsen Inflammation Research Centre, University of Oslo, Oslo, Norway

⁴ Department of Infectious Diseases, Oslo University Hospital, Oslo, Norway

Edited by:

Karsten Sauer, The Scripps Research Institute, USA

Reviewed by:

António Gil Castro, University of Minho, Portugal Amnon Altman, La Jolla Institute for Allergy and Immunology, USA

*Correspondence:

Kjetil Taskén, Centre for Molecular Medicine Norway, Nordic EMBL Partnership, Oslo University Hospital, University of Oslo, POB 1137, Blindern, N-0318 Oslo, Norway e-mail: kjetil.tasken@ncmm.uio.no Eicosanoids are inflammatory mediators primarily generated by hydrolysis of membrane phospholipids by phospholipase A2 to ω -3 and ω -6 C₂₀ fatty acids that next are converted to leukotrienes (LTs), prostaglandins (PGs), prostacyclins (PCs), and thromboxanes (TXAs). The rate-limiting and tightly regulated lipoxygenases control synthesis of LTs while the equally well-controlled cyclooxygenases 1 and 2 generate prostanoids, including PGs, PCs, and TXAs. While many of the classical signs of inflammation such as redness, swelling, pain, and heat are caused by eicosanoid species with vasoactive, pyretic, and pain-inducing effects locally, some eicosanoids also regulate T cell functions. Here, we will review eicosanoid production in T cell subsets and the inflammatory and immunoregulatory functions of LTs, PGs, PCs, and TXAs in T cells.

Keywords: prostaglandins, leukotrienes, cyclooxygenase 2, regulatory T cells, cAMP, immunoregulation effect, inflammation mediators, inflammation

INTRODUCTION

The eicosanoids constitute a large and expanding family of lipid signaling molecules derived from ω -3 and ω -6 C₂₀ fatty acids (Smith, 1989; Funk, 2001). This conversion of membrane phospholipids into potent signaling mediators provides an efficient way for cells to respond to various stimuli that require a cellular response. As part of a complex network of regulators controlling a number of important physiological properties including smooth muscle tone, vascular permeability, and platelet aggregation, eicosanoids have also been implicated in a wide array of pathophysiological processes and diseases, including inflammation, autoimmunity, allergy, HIV, and cancer (Harizi et al., 2008; Greene et al., 2011; Bertin et al., 2012). While eicosanoids, in particular prostaglandins, were originally thought of primarily as proinflammatory mediators given their high expression in inflamed tissues and ability to induce inflammatory symptoms, this picture has over time become more nuanced. It is now recognized that these lipids can have both pro- and anti-inflammatory roles by regulating the immune response (Tilley et al., 2001).

While some eicosanoids are produced from eicosapentaenoic acid (EPA, 20:5 ω -3) (Wada et al., 2007) or dihomo- γ -linolenic acid (DGLA, 20:3 ω -6), the majority arise from processing of arachidonic acid (AA, 20:4 ω -6) (Harizi et al., 2008). AA-derived eicosanoids comprise the P-450 epoxygenase-generated hydroxyeicosatetraenoic acids (HETEs) and epoxides, the lipoxy-genase (LOX) – generated hydroperoxyeicosatetraenoic acids (HPETEs), lipoxins (LXs), and leukotrienes (LTs), and the cyclooxygenase (COX)-produced prostanoids (see Figure 1 for overview of biosynthetic pathways). The prostanoids are perhaps the most well-known class of eicosanoids and include the

prostaglandins (PGs) PGD₂, PGE₂, and PGF_{2 α} as well as prostacyclin (PC/PGI₂) and thromboxane (TXA₂). Together with the leukotrienes, the AA-derived prostanoids will be the major focus of this article.

Constitutive eicosanoid production is normally low, with the rate-limiting factor being the availability of free fatty acids, in particular AA. Free fatty acids are generated from membrane glycerophospholipids by phospholipase A2s (PLA2s) (Kudo and Murakami, 2002; Leslie, 2004; Burke and Dennis, 2009) in response to stimuli such as increased Ca²⁺ levels or phosphorylation (Kudo and Murakami, 2002). This elevation in intracellular free fatty acid levels, in particular that of arachidonic acid, then allows eicosanoid biosynthesis to proceed. In the case of prostanoid biosynthesis, AA is converted into PGG₂ and then PGH₂ through the actions of COX-1 and COX-2 (also known as PGH synthases 1 and 2). These enzymes act first as cyclooxygenases to create PGG₂ and then as peroxidases to reduce the peroxide in PGG₂ to an alcohol in PGH₂ (Smith et al., 2000, 2011). Both PGG₂ and PGH₂ are thought to be transient intermediates and their production constitutes the committed step in prostanoid biosynthesis. PGH₂ is then converted into one of four possible downstream signaling molecules (Figure 1). Prostacyclin synthase (PGIS) converts PGH₂ to PGI₂, hematopoietic (H-PGDS) or lipocalin-type (L-PGDS) PGD₂ synthase convert PGH₂ into PGD₂, TXA₂ synthase (TXAS) converts PGH₂ into TXA₂, and membrane-bound (mPGES-1 or -2) or cytosolic (cPGES) PGE₂ synthases convert PGH₂ into PGE₂. $PGF_{2\alpha}$ can be synthesized through a number of different pathways (Basu, 2010; Smith et al., 2011).

On the other hand, in leukotriene biosynthesis, AA is not processed by COX enzymes, but instead by 5-LOX, which with the



help of 5-LOX -activating protein (FLAP) converts AA first into 5-HPETE and then into LTA₄, an inactive intermediate and precursor for other leukotrienes. LTA₄ can either be converted into LTB₄ by LTA₄ hydrolase or into LTC₄ by LTC₄ synthase, which conjugates a glutathione to LTA₄ (Yokomizo, 2011). LTC₄ can then be converted sequentially to LTD₄ by gamma-glutamyl transpeptidase and LTE₄ by dipeptidases (Brink et al., 2003).

By signaling through their receptors on the surface of T cells, eicosanoids have an important role in regulating many aspects of T lymphocyte function, usually through autocrine or paracrine signaling (Tilley et al., 2001; Sakata et al., 2010a). It has also recently become evident that T cells provide a source of these short-lived signaling mediators in compartments such as lymph nodes and spleen and in lymphoid infiltrates. In the present review, we will summarize the evidence for the production of

and signaling by these molecules in T cells, especially in the context of the regulation of immunomodulatory or inflammatory functions.

BIOSYNTHESIS OF AND SIGNALING BY EICOSANOIDS IN T LYMPHOCYTES

PGG₂ AND PGH₂

Production of PGG₂ and PGH₂ proceeds through the actions of PLA₂ and COX-1 or COX-2. While there has been some discussion about which PLA₂ variant(s) are most relevant for eicosanoid biosynthesis, it is generally agreed that cytosolic PLA₂ α (cPLA₂ α) plays a major role in this process, with the Ca²⁺-independent PLA₂ (iPLA₂) more involved in membrane homeostasis and secreted PLA₂ (sPLA₂) regulating extracellular phospholipids (Murakami et al., 2011). Expression of cPLA₂ α in T cells has been controversial,

with some groups finding no evidence for it in peripheral blood monocytes (Roshak et al., 2000) while others have observed mRNA but no effect of inhibiting this enzyme on AA production in Jurkat T cells (Tessier et al., 2002) and yet others observe this protein both in Jurkat T cells and peripheral blood lymphocytes (Burgermeister et al., 2003) (see **Figure 1** for overview of biosynthetic enzymes and **Table 1** for their expression in T cells).

Some groups have concluded that other PLA₂ variants may also be active in T cells, with evidence for both iPLA₂ (Roshak et al., 2000; Tessier et al., 2002) and sPLA₂ (Tessier et al., 2002) being present and active in T lymphocytes. Interestingly, an sPLA₂ isoform has also been shown to be expressed in and enhance the function of regulatory T cells (Treg), but this effect was found to be independent of the enzyme's catalytic activity (von Allmen et al., 2009).

Table 1 | Eicosanoid synthesis in T cells.

Synthase	Presence in T cells
PLA ₂	$cPLA_{2\alpha}$: Jurkat (Tessier et al., 2002; Burgermeister et al., 2003) iPLA ₂ : Jurkat, primary T cells (Roshak et al., 2000; Tessier et al., 2002) sPLA ₂ : Jurkat (Tessier et al., 2002)
COX-1	CD3+CD4+ primaryT cells, Jurkat (Iniguez et al., 1999; Pablos et al., 1999)
COX-2	CD3+CD4+ primaryT cells, Jurkat (Iniguez et al., 1999; Pablos et al., 1999). Upregulated uponT cell activation (Feldon et al., 2006). Expressed also in adaptive Tregs (Mahic et al., 2006)
PGIS	Lymphocytes (Merhi-Soussi et al., 2000). No specific evidence for expression in T cells
PGDS	L-PGDS: not present in T cells H-PGDS: present in primary T cells (Feldon et al., 2006), in particular activated Th2 and Tc2 cells (Tanaka et al., 2000)
TXAS	No direct evidence for expression in T cells. However, the presence of TXAS products in some T cells indicates that it may be expressed at low levels (Genaro et al., 1992; Kabashima et al., 2003)
PGES	No direct evidence, but product is present in Tregs, implying expression (Mahic et al., 2006)
PGFS	No evidence for expression in T cells
5-LOX	Present in peripheral blood T cells, including naive and memory CD4+ and CD8+ as well as TCR-y $_{\delta}$ cells (Cook-Moreau et al., 2007). Also T cell lines (Cook-Moreau et al., 2007)
LTC4S	Jurkat (Cook-Moreau et al., 2007), peripheral bloodT cells (Cifone et al., 1995)
LTA4H	Jurkat (Cook-Moreau et al., 2007), peripheral bloodT cells (Los et al., 1995)

Alternatively, arachidonic acid can be released from membrane phospholipids by phospholipase D (PLD) (Liscovitch et al., 2000; Melendez and Allen, 2002), which has been shown to be inducible in human T cells (Bacon et al., 1995, 1998; Exton, 1999). Diacyl-glycerol (DAG) lipase has also been shown to play a role in the release of AA in lymphocytes (Cifone et al., 1995).

COX-1 and COX-2, which are capable of converting AA into PGH₂, are both expressed in CD3+CD4+ cells and in Jurkat T cells. COX-1 is expressed constitutively in T cells and does not change in response to T cell activation (Pablos et al., 1999). In contrast, COX-2 is normally expressed at low levels but significantly upregulated in response to T cell activation (Iniguez et al., 1999; Pablos et al., 1999; Feldon et al., 2006). A study from this lab further demonstrated that during differentiation of adaptive Tregs, these cells also begin expressing COX-2 and producing PGE₂ (Mahic et al., 2006).

In the context of a discussion of the cellular localizations of PLA₂ and COX enzymes, it is worth noting that transcellular eicosanoid biosynthesis has recently been proposed as a mechanism whereby the entire biosynthetic pathway for a given eicosanoid need not be present in one particular cell. Instead, the synthesis may begin in one cell, followed by the transfer of a synthetic intermediate to a different cell where the final product is synthesized. PGH₂, LTA₄, and arachidonic acid have all been proposed as possible intermediates transported between cells, suggesting that in some cases, PLA₂ (and COX enzymes) could be present in one cell and the remaining synthases required for prostanoid or leukotriene synthesis in another (Folco and Murphy, 2006; Sala et al., 2010). For PGH₂, it has also been proposed that two distinct pathways for PGH₂ synthesis exist: one for production of PGH₂ to be converted into downstream prostanoids in the usual manner and one for production of untransformed PGH₂ to be released for signaling functions.

 PGG_2 is a transient intermediate in prostanoid biosynthesis, with a half-life of about 5 min in aqueous solution at 37 °C, pH 7.4 and significantly shorter – on the order of seconds – in plasma (Corey et al., 1975). Although there have been some suggestions that PGG₂ may have a biological function (Kuehl et al., 1977; Seidel et al., 2001) it is primarily considered an ephemeral intermediate without independent signaling functions. There is no evidence for a signaling role of this species in T cells.

In the case of PGH₂, this is also an unstable endoperoxide species with comparable half-life to that of PGG₂ (Corey et al., 1975). Although no specific receptor has been identified for this species either, there is some evidence that it can interact with other prostanoid receptors, including the DP and CRTH2 receptors (Schuligoi et al., 2009) as well as the TP receptor (Saito et al., 2003). Because of the rapid conversion of both PGG₂ and PGH₂ to other prostanoid species, however, it has been challenging to unequivocally prove that there is a direct action of these intermediate species on any of the prostanoid receptors. Several of the receptors thought to be activated by PGH₂, in particular CRTH2, are known to be expressed on T cells, but so far it has not been demonstrated that PGH2 has a biologically relevant role in activating these receptors when expressed on T cells in vivo (See Figure 1 for overview of receptors and Table 2 for overview of expression of eicosanoid receptors in T cells).

Table 2 | Eicosanoid receptors in T cells.

Receptor	Present in which T cells
IP	T lymphocytes (Tilley et al., 2001), in particular Th1 and Th2 (Zhou et al., 2007)
TP	T lymphocytes (Tilley et al., 2001). Highly expressed in immature thymocytes (CD4+CD8+ and CD4–CD8–) and present in mature CD4+ and CD8+ cells (Ushikubi et al., 1993; Kabashima et al., 2003) and in splenic T cells (Ushikubi et al., 1993)
DP1	Th1, Th2, and CD8+ (Tanaka et al., 2004), CD3+ cells in thymus and lymph nodes (Nantel et al., 2004)
DP2/CRTH2	T lymphocytes (Tilley et al., 2001), activated Th2 and Tc2 cells (Hirai et al., 2001; Tsuda et al., 2001; Tanaka et al., 2004)
EP1	T lymphocytes (Tilley et al., 2001), splenic T cells (Nataraj et al., 2001), low expression in peripheral blood naive T cells (Boniface et al., 2009)
EP2	T lymphocytes (Tilley et al., 2001), splenic T cells (Nataraj et al., 2001), peripheral blood naive T cells, upregulated upon T cell activation (Boniface et al., 2009)
EP3	T lymphocytes (Tilley et al., 2001), splenic T cells (not α, β isoforms) (Nataraj et al., 2001), low expression in peripheral blood naive T cells (Boniface et al., 2009)
EP4	T lymphocytes (Tilley et al., 2001), splenic T cells (Nataraj et al., 2001), peripheral blood naive T cells, upregulated upon T cell activation (Boniface et al., 2009)
FP	No evidence for expression in T cells
BLT ₁	CD4+ and CD8+ effector T cells, particularly after activation (Tager et al., 2003; Islam et al., 2006), small fraction of peripheral blood T cells, including helper and cytotoxic T cells as well as NKT and γδ T cells (Yokomizo et al., 2001; Pettersson et al., 2003; Islam et al., 2006)
BLT ₂	CD4+ and CD8+ peripheral blood T cells, downregulated upon T cell activation (Yokomizo et al., 2001)
CysLTR ₁	Small fraction of peripheral blood T cells (Figueroa et al., 2001; Mita et al., 2001), activation induces higher expression (Prinz et al., 2005) as does IL4 (Early et al., 2007). Significant amount in resting Th2 cells (Parmentier et al., 2012)
CysLTR ₂	Small fraction of peripheral blood T cells (Mita et al., 2001). IL-4 and IFN-γ induce expression (Early et al., 2007)

PGI₂/PC

Prostaglandin I₂ was originally characterized as an inhibitor of platelet aggregation and a potent vasodilator (Boswell et al., 2011) and its analogs are used as treatments for pulmonary hypertension (Olschewski et al., 2004). Recently it has also been shown that this molecule has important roles in immune regulation (Boswell et al., 2011) and some studies suggest that treatment with PGI₂ analogs may improve early graft viability in liver transplant patients, partly by reducing levels of inflammatory cytokines (Barthel et al., 2012).

While PGIS is expressed in some immune cells, in particular follicular dendritic cells (FDCs) (Lee et al., 2005; Boswell et al., 2011), there is no direct evidence for expression of this synthase in T cells. It has, however, been shown that lymphocytes are able to produce PGI₂ through a transcellular mechanism when co-cultured with human vascular endothelial cells (HUVECs) (Merhi-Soussi et al., 2000) and that a similar mechanism appears to be operating between platelets and lymphocytes (Wu et al., 1987), although in neither of these cases were T cells specifically implicated.

The PGI₂ receptor, IP, can be either G_s or G_q -coupled, leading to either increases in intracellular cyclic AMP (cAMP) levels through G_s -coupling, which can trigger cAMP-PKA signaling pathways or, through G_q -coupling, to the initiation of other signaling cascades (Woodward et al., 2011). IP is expressed on T cells, in particular cells of the Th1 and Th2 lineages (Zhou et al., 2007). Signaling through the IP receptor on these cells leads to inhibited cytokine secretion – in particular, IFN γ production in Th1 cells is abrogated and Th2 cells express less IL-4, IL-10, and IL-13 after IP stimulation. These results are mirrored by studies in IP knockout mice, where IL-4 and IFN γ production by splenocytes, which includes some T cells, was significantly higher in sensitized IP KO mice than in WT mice (Takahashi et al., 2002). With the exception of IL-10, where other studies have also shown upregulation in response to IP signaling (Jaffar et al., 2002), these downregulated cytokines are proinflammatory, and PGI₂ is generally considered to be an anti-inflammatory and immune suppressive prostaglandin.

This inhibitory effect of IP signaling on cytokine production from Th1 and Th2 cells appears to be mediated by a cAMP-PKA pathway, since the PKA inhibitor Rp-8-Br-cAMPS significantly reduces the IP-stimulation induced effects on cytokine production. Further, it is accompanied by a reduction in nuclear-factor kappa-light-chain-enhancer of activated B cells (NF-κB), a transcription factor known to enhance expression of IFNy and IL-4 (Zhou et al., 2007). While signaling through the IP receptor has a direct negative regulatory effect on Th1 and Th2 function, it appears to promote differentiation into the Th17 lineage (Boswell et al., 2011; Truchetet et al., 2012). This effect is partially due to a reduction in IL-12 expression and/or an increase in IL-23 from dendritic cells (DCs) or monocytes, thus perturbing the IL-23 to IL-12 ratio and favoring Th17 cell differentiation (Boswell et al., 2011; Truchetet et al., 2012; Zhou et al., 2012). It appears that this pathway is IP-specific and proceeds through a PKA pathway (Truchetet et al., 2012). In addition, the favoring of the
Th17 lineage during T cell differentiation upon IP-stimulation appears also to be due to inhibited secretion of IL-4 (Zhou et al., 2012), a cytokine known to promote Th2 and antagonize Th17 development (Boswell et al., 2011).

In addition to its role in regulating T cell differentiation, PGI₂ also has an important role in mediating FDC-T cell interactions in the germinal centers. FDC-produced PGI₂ has been shown both to inhibit T cell proliferation and to protect T cells from TCR-mediated activation-induced death (AICD) (Lee et al., 2005, 2008), thus improving the current understanding of why T cells don't proliferate or undergo AICD in germinal centers.

TXA₂ AND TXB₂

Thromboxane A₂ is a proinflammatory, short-lived (half-life \sim 30 s (Remuzzi et al., 1994)) prostanoid primarily produced in platelets, but also in activated monocytes, macrophages, and DCs (Narumiya, 2003) through the actions of thromboxane A₂ synthase. There is limited evidence for TXAS expression in T cells and this synthase was found to be absent in thymic lymphocytes (Ushikubi et al., 1993). However, TXA₂'s stable and inactive downstream metabolite, TXB₂, is produced by helper T cells in response to isoproterenol stimulation (Genaro et al., 1992) and another study found very low levels of TXB₂ produced from CD4+ cells (Kabashima et al., 2002), suggesting that TXAS could be present at low levels in certain T cells.

By signaling through the TP receptor, which is coupled to Gq, TXA2 activates protein kinase C (PKC) and raises intracellular calcium levels (Narumiya, 2003; Woodward et al., 2011). TXA₂ is best known for causing vasoconstriction and platelet aggregation and promotes fibrosis and scarring by regulating extracellular matrix protein levels (Thomas et al., 2003). The TP receptor is known to be highly expressed in immature thymocytes (CD4+CD8+ and CD4-CD8-) and to a lesser extent in CD4+CD8- and CD4-CD8+ thymocytes (Ushikubi et al., 1993; Kabashima et al., 2003). Splenic T cells also express lower amounts of the TP receptor. In line with this, immune regulatory functions for TXA₂ have been proposed. Signaling through the TP receptor has been shown to cause apoptosis in immature thymocytes, in particular in CD4+CD8+ cells (Ushikubi et al., 1993), suggesting a potential role in T cell maturation. In other T cell populations, it has been suggested that signaling through the TP receptor could affect T cell proliferation (Kelly et al., 1979; Ceuppens et al., 1985), with a recent study showing that TXA₂ signaling through the TP receptor inhibits anti-CD3 stimulated T cell proliferation (Thomas et al., 2003). Interestingly, proliferation in response to PMA and ionomycin, which produces a robust intracellular calcium response and bypasses the normal T cell activation mechanism, is not affected in TP-deficient cells (Thomas et al., 2003) or in cells treated with a TP agonist (Kabashima et al., 2003). These results indicate that TXA₂ signaling through the TP receptor may play an important role in the initial activation of T cells by antigen-presenting cells (APCs), in particular DCs, but not in the later downstream intracellular signaling. TP signaling further attenuates DC-T cell interactions by promoting chemokinesis of naïve T cells and inhibiting DC-T cell adhesion, thus playing an important role in adaptive immunity (Kabashima et al., 2003).

Thromboxane A₂ signaling has been implicated in anti-graft immune responses, with allografts eliciting higher levels of TXA2 than isografts (Gibbons et al., 1987). Mice deficient in the TP receptor have been shown to display weaker anti-allograft immune responses (Thomas et al., 2003) and blocking TXA₂ synthesis pharmacologically has been shown to reduce alloreactive immune responses in vitro (Ruiz et al., 1992) and at least temporarily improve allograft survival and function in vivo by limiting cytotoxic T cell activity (Ruiz et al., 1989). On the other hand, in models of induced unresponsiveness to allografts by thymic injection of MHC allopeptides, TXA₂ signaling abrogation through synthesis inhibition or receptor antagonists blocked the unresponsive state, suggesting that TXA2 signaling in the thymus is involved in mediating immune tolerance in this situation, possibly by leading to apoptosis of alloactivated T cells circulating through the thymus (Remuzzi et al., 1994). Together, these data suggests an important role for TXA₂-TP signaling in T cells in the thymus, in particular in T cell maturation, activation by DCs and in anti-allograft immune responses.

PGD₂ AND 15-DEOXY- $\Delta^{12,14}$ -PGJ₂

PGD₂ is produced by activated mast cells in response to allergen exposure and is thought to play an important role in mediating allergic inflammation by acting as a vasodilator, recruiter of eosinophils, basophils, and Th2 cells, modulator of Th2 production, and bronchoconstrictor (Pettipher et al., 2007). It also has important roles in regulating sleep, platelet aggregation, smooth muscle contraction, and reproduction (Saito et al., 2002; Woodward et al., 2011). Beyond mast cells, a few other cell types also produce PGD₂ from PGH₂ through one of the two types of PGD synthase, L-PGDS and H-PGDS (Joo and Sadikot, 2012). The former is not known to be expressed in T cells, while the latter is expressed in certain T cells under specific conditions. In particular, activated COX-2-expressing T cells have been shown to express H-PGDS and thereby produce PGD₂ and likely the downstream PGD₂ processing product 15-deoxy- $\Delta^{12,14}$ -PGJ₂ (15d-PGJ₂) (Feldon et al., 2006). It appears that H-PGDS is particularly prevalent in activated Th2 and Tc2 cells but not Th1 cells (Tanaka et al., 2000; Herlong and Scott, 2006). As for the synthesis of 15d-PGJ₂, no specific synthase has been described and few details are known about the dehydration steps leading to its formation from PGD₂ (Scher and Pillinger, 2005).

PGD₂ can signal through either the DP1 or DP2/CRTH2 receptor, while 15d-PGJ₂ signals through the DP2 receptor (Harris et al., 2002a; Schuligoi et al., 2010). The DP1 receptor is G_s-coupled and its activation leads to increases in intracellular cAMP and PKA activation and can also lead to increased intracellular calcium levels (Woodward et al., 2011). This receptor was shown to be expressed in certain malignant T cell lines (Harris and Phipps, 2002), but was not detected in normal peripheral blood T cells in this study (Harris and Phipps, 2002). However, other groups have found DP1 to be constitutively expressed in both Th1, Th2 and CD8+ cells (Tanaka et al., 2004) and to be present in CD3+ cells in the thymus and lymph nodes (Nantel et al., 2004). CRTH2 has little sequence homology with other prostanoid receptors, being more closely related to the *N*-formyl peptide receptor subfamily

of receptors (Hirai et al., 2001). This receptor is Gi-coupled, leading to increases in intracellular calcium and inhibition of cAMP formation in response to signaling (Hirai et al., 2001). It is thought to be mainly expressed in activated Th2 and Tc2 cells (Tsuda et al., 2001; Tanaka et al., 2004) and has also been detected in a subset of infiltrating T cells in patients suffering from polyposis, a severe form of rhinosinusitis (Nantel et al., 2004). Interestingly, when heterologously expressed, DP and CRTH2 can form heterodimers, where DP enhances the signaling by the CRTH2 receptor. In these heterodimers, when DP signaling is pharmacologically blocked, CRTH2 function is also inhibited, but not vice versa (Sedej et al., 2012). In addition to signaling through the cell surface receptors DP1 and CRTH2, 15d-PGJ₂ and PGD₂ can also bind the nuclear hormone receptor transcription factor peroxisome proliferatoractivated receptor gamma (PPAR-y) (Forman et al., 1995; Kliewer et al., 1995; Harris et al., 2002a; Feldon et al., 2006). By activating PPAR-y, these prostanoids induce differentiation of fibroblasts into fat cells, and it has been shown that this can be pathophysiologically relevant. For instance, in the case of Graves' disease, activated T cells infiltrate the eye orbit and by producing PGD₂ and 15d-PGJ₂, cause the differentiation of fibroblasts in the eye orbit to adipocytes, leading to disfiguration and sometimes blindness (Feldon et al., 2006).

Both PGD₂ and 15d-PGJ₂ affect cytokine production from T cells. In particular, 15-dPGJ₂ is often thought of as an antiinflammatory prostaglandin, in part due to its enhancement of PPAR γ 's anti-inflammatory effects (Harris et al., 2002a; Scher and Pillinger, 2005). However, 15-dPGJ₂ can also induce secretion of IL-8, a cytokine with chemotactic and angiogenic effects, from activated T cells, suggesting a proinflammatory role of this prostaglandin as well (Harris et al., 2002b). This effect is not PPAR- γ -dependent, but instead proceeds through a mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK) and NF- κ B pathway, possibly by first binding an extracellular receptor such as CRTH₂.

PGD₂ has a well-established role in regulating cytokine secretion from Th2 cells. In particular, PGD₂ produced in mast cells stimulates IL-4, IL-5, and IL-13 secretion from Th2 cells and this process is believed to be important in the pathophysiology of allergic inflammations (Xue et al., 2009a). It has been demonstrated that phosphoinositide 3-kinase (PI3K) and Ca²⁺/calcineurin/nuclear factor of activated T cells (NFAT) signaling pathways downstream of CRTH2 are both important in regulating PGD₂-induced cytokine production (Xue et al., 2007) and that LTE4 enhances the PGD2-CRTH2-mediated secretion of cytokines from Th2 cells (Xue et al., 2012). Another study confirmed the effect of PGD₂ receptor signaling on cytokine secretion and further noted that while signaling through CRTH2 increases secretion of IL-2, IL-4, IL-5, and IL-13 as well as the proinflammatory proteins CD11b and CD40L in Th2 cells, signaling through DP1 reduces the number of CD4+ and CD8+ cells expressing IFNy and IL-2 (Tanaka et al., 2004). By thus promoting Th2 function and suppressing Th1 functions, PGD₂ signaling may have an overall effect of promoting Th2 function, which could be relevant in allergic responses, where Th2 activity is elevated. PGD₂ can have further inhibitory effects on cytokine secretion, for instance in invariant natural killer T (iNKT) cells, where PGD₂ signals through DP1 and PKA to

inhibit the production of IFN γ , but not IL-4, the other major cytokine produced in this cell type (Torres et al., 2008). Thus, PGD₂ signaling also contributes to regulating the innate immune system.

While signaling through PGD₂ receptors apparently has a role in driving Th2-type processes as described above, 15-dPGJ₂ may have a role in resolving certain Th1-driven responses by inhibiting the proinflammatory NF- κ B pathway (Trivedi et al., 2006). Also, 15-dPGJ₂ is able to inhibit IL-2 production in T cells by promoting an interaction between PPAR γ and NFAT, a crucial transcription factor for IL-2 production, which prevents NFAT from binding to the IL-2 promoter (Yang et al., 2000).

Aside from pro- and anti-inflammatory effects of PGD₂ and 15-dPGJ₂ mediated by cytokine secretion, these prostaglandins also affect T cell function by regulating proliferation and apoptosis. Both PGD₂ and 15-dPGJ₂ are capable of inducing apoptosis in T cells through a PPARy-dependent mechanism (Harris and Phipps, 2001, 2002; Harris et al., 2002b). It has also been reported that 15-dPGJ₂ and to a lesser extent PGD₂ can induce apoptosis in Jurkat T cells through a non-PPARy dependent mechanism involving activation of the mitochondrial apoptosis pathway (Nencioni et al., 2003). In other situations, PGD₂ can also have anti-apoptotic effects. For instance, in the case of apoptosis induced by cytokine deprivation, PGD₂ signaling through the CRTH2 receptor inhibits apoptosis in Th2 cells, suggesting that this pathway may hinder resolution of allergic inflammation (Xue et al., 2009b). In T lymphocytes, 15-dPGJ₂ can also inhibit proliferation by acting as a PPARy ligand (Clark et al., 2000; Yang et al., 2000; Harris and Phipps, 2001; Nencioni et al., 2003). However, only TCR-mediated and not IL-2 induced proliferation is affected by 15-dPGJ₂ treatment (Clark et al., 2000).

Signaling through the PGD₂ receptors also plays an important role in the chemotaxis of T cells. When PGD₂ acts on the CRTH2 receptor on Th2 cells, this induces chemotactic migration of the Th2 cells (Hirai et al., 2001), probably through a PI3K pathway (Xue et al., 2007), providing a possible mechanism for recruitment of Th2 cells to sites of allergic inflammation, for instance in asthma (Luster and Tager, 2004). It has been demonstrated that blocking the CRTH2 receptor pharmacologically inhibits the trafficking of lymphocytes, including T cells, to the inflamed airways in a model of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD), presenting a possible new strategy for treating this disease (Stebbins et al., 2010). Further chemoattractive effects of PGD_2 on T cells is the CRTH2-mediated recruitment of Th2 and Tc2 cells to the materno-fetal interface, where they are thought to increase in early pregnancy (Saito et al., 2002) and PGD₂'s ability to promote transendothelial migration of memory T cells across blood vascular endothelial cells and lymphatic vascular endothelial cells (Ahmed et al., 2011).

PGE₂

PGE₂ is the most abundant prostanoid found in the body and has important roles in reproduction, gastro-intestinal function, the immune system, cardiovascular function, and the central nervous system (Sreeramkumar et al., 2012). It is present in large amounts in many cancers, in particular colorectal and lung cancers, where it stimulates tumor growth by inhibiting apoptosis, inducing Tregs and promoting metastasis, cell invasion, and angiogenesis (Bergmann et al., 2007; Wang et al., 2007; Greenhough et al., 2009; Mandapathil et al., 2010; Brudvik et al., 2011; Nakanishi et al., 2011). PGE₂ is produced from PGH₂ through one of three different PGE₂ synthases – cytosolic (cPGES) or microsomal (mPGES-1 and mPGES-2). While cPGES and mPGES-2 are constitutively expressed, mPGES-1 is inducible in response to mitogenic or proinflammatory stimuli and is often upregulated in concert with COX-2 (Scher and Pillinger, 2005). In terms of expression in T cells, little is known except that it has been demonstrated that adaptive Tregs express COX-2 and produce PGE₂ upon differentiation (Mahic et al., 2006), implying that they must also express a PGES. This production of PGE₂ from adaptive Tregs has implications both in cancer and chronic infectious diseases.

PGE₂ can signal through any of its four receptors – EP1, EP2, EP3, EP4 – often with opposing effects (Breyer et al., 2001; Harris et al., 2002a; Woodward et al., 2011; Sreeramkumar et al., 2012). EP2 and EP4 receptors are G_s-coupled and lead to increased intracellular cAMP levels and PKA signaling. The EP1 receptor is G_q-coupled and results in increased intracellular calcium levels. In the case of the EP3 receptor, three main isoforms of this receptor exist – EP3 α , β , and γ – and they can signal through different G proteins, but it appears that the major pathway is through G_i, which leads to decreased intracellular cAMP levels. Messenger RNA for all the different PGE₂ receptors, with the exception of the EP3 α and β isoforms, is present in murine splenic T cells (Nataraj et al., 2001). In naive T cells isolated from peripheral blood, EP2 and EP4 receptors appear to be the most abundant and are upregulated in response to activation (Boniface et al., 2009).

Through its receptors, PGE2 controls T cell function in a variety of ways and a number of recent reviews have addressed this topic (Harris et al., 2002a; Brudvik and Tasken, 2012; Sreeramkumar et al., 2012). First, it appears to differentially regulate apoptosis in T cells depending on the subpopulation and condition of the cells. In particular, CD4+CD8+ thymocytes undergo apoptosis when stimulated by PGE2 in vivo (Mastino et al., 1992), but may also be protected against activation-induced cell death by this prostanoid (Goetzl et al., 1995). Similarly, while apoptosis is stimulated in resting mature T cells (Pica et al., 1996), activationinduced cell death is inhibited (Porter and Malek, 1999; Pace et al., 2007). PGE₂ also has other known negative regulatory functions in T cells. It is known to influence the function of CD8+ cells through the inhibitory complex CD94/NKG2A (Zeddou et al., 2005) and the cytotoxicity of gamma delta T cells through a cAMP-PKA pathway (Martinet et al., 2010). An anti-proliferative effect is also well documented. Through the EP2 (Nataraj et al., 2001) and possibly the EP4 (Kabashima et al., 2002) receptor, PGE₂ can inhibit T cell proliferation in CD4+ and CD8+ cells (Goodwin et al., 1977; Hendricks et al., 2000). It has also been shown that PGE₂ inhibits the proliferation of double-negative Tregs (Lee et al., 2009). It appears that proliferation is inhibited in these cells by a negative regulatory effect of increased intracellular cAMP levels resulting from EP2 or EP4 stimulation on IL-2 synthesis and IL-2 receptor expression, resulting in diminished IL-2-stimulated proliferation responses (Farrar et al., 1987; Mary et al., 1987; Rincon et al., 1988; Anastassiou et al., 1992).

Other possible mechanisms of inhibition of proliferation include downregulation of the transferrin receptor (Chouaib et al., 1985), inhibiting intracellular Ca^{2+} increase and inositol phosphate production in response to T cell activation (Chouaib et al., 1987; Lerner et al., 1988; Choudhry et al., 1999) and preventing K⁺ movements which would dampen signaling via G proteins (Bastin et al., 1990).

Recent studies have provided additional information about the intracellular signaling pathways initiated by PGE2 through which T cell function and proliferation is affected. In particular, a combined phosphoflow/phosphoproteomics approach allowed for the collection of detailed information about phosphorylation cascades initiated in response to different amounts of PGE2 stimulation in different T cell populations (Oberprieler et al., 2010). Furthermore, a pathway was described in effector T cells where signaling through EP2 or EP4, with its concomitant increase in cAMP levels, leads to PKA activation and, through an EBP50-Ezrin-PAG scaffolded process, phosphorylation of the C-terminal Src kinase (Csk). Phosphorylated Csk in turn inhibits Lck-mediated phosphorylation of the TCR complex, thus inhibiting TCR signaling and T cell proliferation and function (Vang et al., 2001; Ruppelt et al., 2007; Mosenden and Tasken, 2011) (see Figure 2 for schematic depiction of the PGE2-cAMP-PKA-Csk inhibitory pathway in T cells). This pathway is of particular relevance during inflammatory responses or cancer, where production of PGE2 is increased. It has been shown that disrupting this pathway in cells by molecular or genetic means prevents PGE₂ - mediated inhibition of effector T cell function (Carlson et al., 2006; Ruppelt et al., 2007; Stokka et al., 2010). In mice, disrupting this pathway by overexpressing a PKA anchoring disruptor also leads to an increase in effector T cell function, as evidenced by increased signaling, enhanced IL-2 secretion, and reduced sensitivity to PGE₂-mediated inhibition of T cell function. These mice also have improved resistance to murine AIDS, an immunodeficiency disease induced by the murine leukemia virus where the PKA-Csk pathway is hyperactivated (Mosenden et al., 2011). In mice with murine AIDS, this pathway can also be targeted with COX-2 inhibitors (Rahmouni et al., 2004). Interestingly, the PKA-Csk pathway is upregulated in several immunodeficiency diseases, as well as cancer, suggesting that targeting this pathway may be of therapeutic interest (Rahmouni et al., 2004; Brudvik and Tasken, 2012; Brudvik et al., 2012). In particular, targeting this pathway with COX-2 inhibitors in patients with HIV infection appears to give significant patient benefit in clinical intervention trials as evident from regulation of surrogate parameters such as CD38 and immune function parameters such as lymphoproliferation and T cell-dependent vaccine responses (Johansson et al., 2004; Kvale et al., 2006; Pettersen et al., 2011).

As described above, PGE_2 can influence the production and secretion of IL-2 from T cells, but it also influences the production of many other cytokines and contributes to T cell differentiation. In particular, it has been proposed that PGE_2 signaling promotes a Th2 cell fate (Betz and Fox, 1991). In line with this, PGE_2 has been shown to downregulate expression of IFN γ in T cells (Aandahl et al., 2002), indicating less differentiation to a Th1 cell type, with the caveat that recent studies have shown that in



the presence of strengthened TCR stimulation, the Th1 cell fate can actually be promoted by PGE₂ (Yao et al., 2009). In contrast, Th2-derived cytokines including IL-4, IL-5, IL-10, and IL-13 are unaffected or upregulated in response to PGE₂ signaling (Betz and Fox, 1991; Snijdewint et al., 1993; Demeure et al., 1997). Furthermore, the IL-12 receptor is downregulated on T cells in response to PGE₂, further promoting a Th2 cell fate (Wu et al., 1998). PGE₂ has also been proposed to play a role in the differentiation of Th17 and Tregs. There is some debate about the role of PGE₂ in the differentiation and expansion of Th17 cells (Sakata et al., 2010b), with some studies finding an inhibitory role in mouse Th17 differentiation (Chen et al., 2009) and others finding a promoting role in human Th17 differentiation (Boniface et al., 2009). There seems to be general agreement that Th17 IL-23-mediated expansion is enhanced by PGE₂, however (Chizzolini et al., 2008; Boniface et al., 2009; Napolitani et al., 2009). In Treg differentiation the majority of reports seem to suggest an enhancing effect (Baratelli et al., 2005; Sharma et al., 2005; Mahic et al., 2006; Bryn et al., 2008), although some have found PGE2 to have an inhibitory effect on this process (Chen et al., 2009). Due to its role in promoting Treg differentiation and inhibiting effector T cell function and proliferation, PGE₂ has traditionally been considered an immunosuppressant, but with recent studies showing a possible enhancing effect of this eicosanoid on Th17 and Th1 differentiation, some have argued that the picture is more nuanced (Sakata et al., 2010b; Sreeramkumar et al., 2012).

$\textbf{PGF}_{2\alpha}$

 $PGF_{2\alpha}$ has important functions in reproduction, inflammation, cardiovascular function, and other (patho)physiological processes (Simmons et al., 2004; Basu, 2007, 2010; Woodward et al., 2011). This prostaglandin can be synthesized through a number of different pathways (Basu, 2010), but there appears to be no evidence for any $PGF_{2\alpha}$ synthesis in T cells. Evidence for a role of $PGF_{2\alpha}$ signaling in T cells is also very limited, although a recent study demonstrated a role for this prostaglandin in promoting Th17 differentiation during allergic lung inflammation (Li et al., 2011). In this study, the authors propose that $PGF_{2\alpha}$ together with PGI_2 promotes differentiation of Th17 cells – proinflammatory cells and major contributors in allergic responses – from naïve CD4+ cells by signaling through their respective receptors in an autocrine fashion.

LEUKOTRIENES LTA₄, LTB₄, LTC₄, LTD₄, LTE₄

The first step in leukotriene biosynthesis, conversion of arachidonic acid to the unstable epoxide intermediate LTA₄, is catalyzed by 5-LOX, an enzyme shown to occur in human T cell lines as well as in purified peripheral blood T cells (Cook-Moreau et al., 2007). 5-LOX expression is found across a wide range of T cells, including naive and memory helper and cytotoxic T cells as well as TCR– $\gamma\delta$ cells (Cook-Moreau et al., 2007). However, some have noted that T lymphocytes require exogenous arachidonic acid in order to synthesize leukotrienes (Cook-Moreau et al., 2007). This is interesting in light of the proposed transcellular eicosanoid biosynthesis mechanism, and it has also been shown that LTA₄ can act as the transferred intermediate metabolite in some systems (Folco and Murphy, 2006; Sala et al., 2010). LTB₄ synthesis, which proceeds through LTA₄ hydrolase, and LTC₄ synthesis, which proceeds through LTC₄ synthase, both occur in Jurkat T cells upon CD2, CD3, and CD28 crosslinking (Cook-Moreau et al., 2007). In primary T cells, synthesis of LTB₄ and LTC₄ was only found to occur if cells were stimulated by CD3 crosslinking and supplied with exogenous arachidonic acid (Cook-Moreau et al., 2007). Depending on the stimulation protocol, others have also detected the production of LTB₄ or the cysteinyl leukotrienes (LTC₄, LTD₄, LTE₄) in various T cell lines and primary cells (Cifone et al., 1995; Los et al., 1995). It should be noted that LTD₄ and LTE₄ are typically generated extracellularly after export of LTC₄ from the producing cell.

LTB₄ can signal through either of its two receptors, the high affinity BLT₁ receptor and the low affinity BLT₂ receptor (Yokomizo et al., 1997, 2000), which couple to G_i or G_q to exert their function (Back et al., 2011). BLT₁ is expressed on CD4+ and CD8+ effector T cells, particularly shortly after activation (Tager et al., 2003; Islam et al., 2006). In peripheral blood T cells in healthy humans, BLT₁ is found on a small fraction of the population, including both helper and cytotoxic T cells as well as NKT and yo T cells (Yokomizo et al., 2001; Pettersson et al., 2003; Islam et al., 2006), and can expand in response to acute inflammation. The BLT₂ receptor is more ubiquitously expressed across tissues, with very high expression levels in the spleen (Yokomizo et al., 2000). One study found no evidence for BLT₂ expression in naive CD4+ cells or Th0, Th1, or Th2 cells 7 days after activation (Tager et al., 2003), while others have shown it to be present on both CD4+ and CD8+ peripheral blood T cells, but downregulated in response to T cell activation (Yokomizo et al., 2001).

In T cells, LTB₄ is primarily known for its role in chemotaxis, but it has also been shown to have other functions, for instance in differentiation and proliferation. In chemotaxis, LTB4 signals through the BLT₁ receptor on CD4+ or CD8+ cells to mediate cell movement, which is of particular relevance during T cell recruitment to airways and lungs in asthma (Tager et al., 2003; Luster and Tager, 2004; Gelfand and Dakhanna, 2006), after lung transplants (Medoff et al., 2005) and in various inflammatory settings (Goodarzi et al., 2003; Ott et al., 2003). In addition, signaling through BLT₁ appears to enable adhesion of T cells to epithelial cells (Tager et al., 2003), which is important for migration into tissues. In T cell differentiation, LTB4 has been shown to promote Th17 and inhibit Treg generation, which may be of relevance in autoimmune diseases such as rheumatoid arthritis (Chen et al., 2009). However, it should be noted that early reports from 1985 had suggested that LTB₄ may have an immunoregulatory role by inducing so-called suppressor T cells (Yamaoka and Kolb, 1993; Morita et al., 1999) but this has not been revisited since the definition of Treg. Proliferation and cytokine production in T cells can also be affected by LTB₄. In particular, treatment with a BLT₁ antagonist was shown to inhibit cytokine (IL-2, IFN- γ , IL-4) secretion and proliferation of T cells in response to activation (Rolapleszczynski, 1985), while LTB₄ stimulation enhanced IL-5 production (Gualde et al., 1985), suggesting that LTB₄ promotes T cell activation.

For the cysteinyl leukotrienes LTC₄, LTD₄, and LTE₄, two receptors have been discovered, CysLT₁ and CysLT₂ (Brink et al., 2003; Kanaoka and Boyce, 2004; Singh et al., 2010; Back et al., 2011; Laidlaw and Boyce, 2012). These receptors can bind all the cysteinyl leukotrienes, albeit with significantly higher affinity for LTC4 and LTD₄ than LTE₄ (Laidlaw and Boyce, 2012). Recently, further receptors involved in cysteinyl leukotriene signaling have been identified, in particular GPR17, which is a ligand-independent negative regulator of CysLT₁, as well as the LTE₄-specific P2Y₁₂ (Austen et al., 2009; Maekawa et al., 2009; Paruchuri et al., 2009; Laidlaw and Boyce, 2012). While it is unclear whether these latter two receptors are expressed in T cells, the CysLT₁ and CysLT₂ receptors have been shown to be expressed in a small fraction of peripheral blood T cells (Figueroa et al., 2001; Mita et al., 2001). Activation of the T cells induces higher expression of the CysLT₁ receptor (Prinz et al., 2005), as does certain mutations in the linker for activation of T cells (LAT) (Prinz et al., 2005). It also appears that expression of this receptor is significantly higher in resting Th2 cells than in Th1 cells or activated Th2 cells (Parmentier et al., 2012). Interestingly, both receptors can also be upregulated in response to inflammatory stimuli. In particular, IL-4 induces expression of both receptors on T cells, while IFN-y specifically upregulates expression of the CysLT₂ receptor (Early et al., 2007). Presumably, this upregulation has the effect of making T cells more responsive to cysteinyl leukotriene signaling in inflammatory environments.

There is some functional evidence for a role of cysteinyl leukotriene signaling in T cells. For one, these molecules appear to be important in Th2 cells where, as mentioned above, the CysLT₁ receptor is present in significant amounts. It has been demonstrated that LTE₄, through a montelukast-sensitive pathway, indicating CysLT₁ involvement, enhances PGD₂-mediated cytokine secretion in isolated Th2 cells (Xue et al., 2012). In line with this, another CysLT₁ antagonist, pranlukast, inhibits production of Th2 cytokines, in particular IL-3, IL-4, GM-CSF and possibly IL-5, from peripheral blood mononuclear cells of patients with bronchial asthma (Tohda et al., 1999). Further roles in Th2 cells include a demonstrated effect of LTD4 on the induction of calcium signaling as well as chemotaxis in these cells, both processes being CysLT₁-specific (Parmentier et al., 2012). Cysteinyl leukotriene signaling in Th2 cells may also be involved in disease. For instance, it has been suggested that cysteinyl leukotrienes may enhance GM-CSF stimulated Th2 functions in atopic asthmatic patients in vivo (Faith et al., 2008). There has also been a suggested role for the cysteinyl leukotrienes in T cell-mediated late airway responses to allergen challenge, since treatment with the CysLT₁ antagonist pranlukast inhibits these responses (Hojo et al., 2000).

CONCLUSION

Eicosanoids are an important class of lipid signaling mediators and have long been studied for their proinflammatory functions. In recent years, however, it has become evident that these molecules not only promote inflammation, but can occasionally also act as anti-inflammatory agents and have more complex and nuanced roles in the regulation of immune and inflammatory responses. Here, we have summarized the evidence for the expression of

processes such as asthma and allergies, to immune regulation and

involvement in graft rejection, as well as diseases such as can-

cer and AIDS. There is significant interest in targeting some of

these pathways for therapeutic gain and it is therefore crucial to

develop a complete understanding of all the different physiological

and signaling by some important eicosanoids, the AA-derived prostanoids and the leukotrienes, in T lymphocytes. These lipid mediators regulate a number of functions in T cells, including proliferation, apoptosis, cytokine secretion, differentiation, chemotaxis, and more. Through these processes, eicosanoids regulate a wide array of physiological processes, ranging from inflammatory

REFERENCES

- Aandahl, E. M., Moretto, W. J., Haslett, P. A., Vang, T., Bryn, T., Tasken, K., et al. (2002). Inhibition of antigen-specific T cell proliferation and cytokine production by protein kinase a type I. J. Immunol. 169, 802–808.
- Ahmed, S. R., McGettrick, H. M., Yates, C. M., Buckley, C. D., Ratcliffe, M. J., Nash, G. B., et al. (2011). Prostaglandin D-2 regulates CD4(+) memory T cell trafficking across blood vascular endothelium and primes these cells for clearance across lymphatic endothelium. *J. Immunol.* 187, 1432–1439. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.11 00299
- Anastassiou, E. D., Paliogianni, F., Balow, J. P., Yamada, H., and Boumpas, D. T. (1992). Prostaglandin-E2 and other cyclic AMP-elevating agents modulate IL-2 and IL-2R-alpha gene-expression at multiple levels. J. Immunol. 148, 2845–2852.
- Austen, K. F., Maekawa, A., Kanaoka, Y., and Boyce, J. A. (2009). The leukotriene E-4 puzzle: finding the missing pieces and revealing the pathobiologic implications. J. Allergy Clin. Immunol. 124, 406–416. doi:10.1016/j.jaci.2009.05.046
- Back, M., Dahlen, S. E., Drazen, J. M., Evans, J. F., Serhan, C. N., Shimizu, T., et al. (2011). International Union of Basic and Clinical Pharmacology. LXXXIV: leukotriene receptor nomenclature, distribution, and pathophysiological functions. *Pharmacol. Rev.* 63, 539–584. doi:10.1124/pr.110.00 4184
- Bacon, K. B., Floresromo, L., Life, P. F., Taub, D. D., Premack, B. A., Arkinstall, S. J., et al. (1995). IL-8-induced signal transduction in T-lymphocytes involves receptor-mediated activation of phospholipase-C and phospholipase-D. J. Immunol. 154, 3654–3666.
- Bacon, K. B., Schall, T. J., and Dairaghi, D. J. (1998). RANTES activation of phospholipase D in Jurkat T cells: requirement of GTP-binding proteins ARF and RhoA. J. Immunol. 160, 1894–1900.

- Baratelli, F., Lin, Y., Zhu, L., Yang, S. C., Heuze-Vourch, N., Zeng, G., et al. (2005). Prostaglandin E-2 induces FOXP3 gene expression and T regulatory cell function in human CD4(+) T cells. *J. Immunol.* 175, 1483–1490.
- Barthel, E., Rauchfuss, F., Hoyer, H., Habrecht, O., Jandt, K., Gotz, M., et al. (2012). Impact of stable PGI(2) analog iloprost on early graft viability after liver transplantation: a pilot study. *Clin. Transplant.* 26, E38–E47. doi:10.1111/j.1399-0012.2011.01516.x
- Bastin, B., Payet, M. D., and Dupuis, G. (1990). Effects of modulators of adenylyl cyclase on interleukin-2 production, cytosolic Ca-2+ elevation, and K+ channel activity in Jurkat T-cells. *Cell. Immunol.* 128, 385–399. doi:10.1016/0008-8749(90)90035-P
- Basu, S. (2007). Novel cyclooxygenasecatalyzed bioactive prostaglandin F-2 alpha from physiology to new principles in inflammation. *Med. Res. Rev.* 27, 435–468. doi:10.1002/med.20098
- Basu, S. (2010). Bioactive eicosanoids: role of prostaglandin F-2 alpha and F-2-isoprostanes in inflammation and oxidative stress related pathology. *Mol. Cells* 30, 383–391. doi:10.1007/s10059-010-0157-1
- Bergmann, C., Strauss, L., Zeidler, R., Lang, S., and Whiteside, T. L. (2007). Expansion of human T regulatory type 1 cells in the microenvironment of cyclooxygenase 2 overexpressing head and neck squamous cell carcinoma. *Cancer Res.* 67, 8865–8873. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-07-0767
- Bertin, J., Barat, C., Methot, S., and Tremblay, M. J. (2012). Interactions between prostaglandins, leukotrienes and HIV-1: possible implications for the central nervous system. *Retrovirology* 9, doi:10.1186/1742-4690-9-4
- Betz, M., and Fox, B. S. (1991). Prostaglandin-E2 inhibits production of Th1 lymphokines but not of Th2 lymphokines. J. Immunol. 146, 108–113.
- Boniface, K., Bak-Jensen, K. S., Li, Y., Blumenschein, W. M., McGeachy, M. J., McClanahan, T. K., et al. (2009).

functions of these important signaling mediators. Prostaglandin E2 regulates Th17 cell differentiation and function through cyclic AMP and EP2/EP4 receptor signaling. *J. Exp. Med.* 206, 535–548. Burgermeister, E., E W. V. (2003). Ac lic phospholipas T-lymphocytes

- doi:10.1084/jem.20082293 Boswell, M. G., Zhou, W. S., Newcomb, D. C., and Peebles, R. S. (2011). PGI(2) as a regulator of CD4+subset differentiation and function. *Prostaglandins Other Lipid Mediat.* 96, 21–26. doi:10. 1016/j.prostaglandins.2011.08.003
- Breyer, R. M., Bagdassarian, C. K., Myers, S. A., and Breyer, M. D. (2001). Prostanoid receptors: subtypes and signaling. *Annu. Rev. Pharmacol. Toxicol.* 41, 661–690. doi:10. 1146/annurev.pharmtox.41.1.661
- Brink, C., Dahlen, S. E., Drazen, J., Evans, J. F., Hay, D. W. P., Nicosia, S., et al. (2003). International Union of Pharmacology – XXXVII. Nomenclature for leukotriene and lipoxin receptors. *Pharmacol. Rev.* 55, 195–227. doi:10.1124/pr. 55.1.8
- Brudvik, K. W., Henjum, K., Aandahl, E. M., Bjornbeth, B. A., and Tasken, K. (2012). Regulatory T-cellmediated inhibition of antitumor immune responses is associated with clinical outcome in patients with liver metastasis from colorectal cancer. *Cancer Immunol. Immunother.* 61, 1045–1053. doi:10.1007/s00262-011-1174-4
- Brudvik, K. W., Paulsen, J. E., Aandahl, E. M., Roald, B., and Tasken, K. (2011). Protein kinase A antagonist inhibits beta-catenin nuclear translocation, c-Myc and COX-2 expression and tumor promotion in Apc(Min/+) mice. *Mol. Cancer* 10, doi:10.1186/1476-4598-10-149
- Brudvik, K. W., and Tasken, K. (2012). Modulation of T cell immune functions by the prostaglandin E2cAMP pathway in chronic inflammatory states. *Br. J. Pharmacol.* 166, 411–419. doi:10.1111/j.1476-5381.2011.01800.x
- Bryn, T., Yaqub, S., Mahic, M., Henjum, K., Aandahl, E. M., and Tasken, K. (2008). LPS-activated monocytes suppress T-cell immune responses and induce FOXP3+T cells through a COX-2-PGE(2)-dependent mechanism. *Int. Immunol.* 20, 235–245. doi:10.1093/intimm/dxm134

- Burgermeister, E., Endl, J., and Scheuer, W. V. (2003). Activation of cytosolic phospholipase A(2) in human T-lymphocytes involves inhibitorkappa B and mitogen-activated protein kinases. *Eur. J. Pharmacol.* 466, 169–180. doi:10.1016/S0014-2999(03)01492-4
- Burke, J. E., and Dennis, E. A. (2009). Phospholipase A(2) biochemistry. *Cardiovasc. Drugs Ther.* 23, 49–59. doi:10.1007/s10557-008-6132-9
- Carlson, C. R., Lygren, B., Berge, T., Hoshi, N., Wong, W., Tasken, K., et al. (2006). Delineation of type I protein kinase A-selective signaling events using an RI anchoring disruptor. J. Biol. Chem. 281, 21535–21545.
- Ceuppens, J. L., Vertessen, S., Deckmyn, H., and Vermylen, J. (1985). Effects of thromboxane-A2 on lymphocyte proliferation. *Cell. Immunol.* 90, 458–463. doi:10.1016/0008-8749(85)90210-2
- Chen, H. Y., Qin, J., Wei, P., Zhang, J. G., Li, Q. X., Fu, L. H., et al. (2009). Effects of leukotriene B4 and prostaglandin E2 on the differentiation of murine Foxp3+T regulatory cells and Th17 cells. *Prostaglandins Leukot. Essent. Fatty Acids* 80, 195–200. doi:10.1016/j.plefa.2009.01.006
- Chizzolini, C., Chicheportiche, R., Alvarez, M., de Rham, C., Roux-Lombard, P., Ferrari-Lacraz, S., et al. (2008). Prostaglandin E(2) synergistically with interleukin-23 favors human Th17 expansion. *Blood* 112, 3696–3703. doi:10.1182/blood-2008-05-155408
- Chouaib, S., Robb, R. J., Welte, K., and Dupont, B. (1987). Analysis of prostaglandin-E2 effect on lymphocyte-T activation – abrogation of prostaglandin-E2 inhibitory effect by the tumor promotor 12.0 tetradecanoyl phorbol-13 acetate. J. Clin. Invest. 80, 333–340. doi:10.1172/JCI113077
- Chouaib, S., Welte, K., Mertelsmann, R., and Dupont, B. (1985). Prostaglandin-E2 acts at 2 distinct pathways of lymphocyte-T activation – inhibition of interleukin-2 production and downregulation of transferrin receptor expression. J. Immunol. 135, 1172–1179.

- Choudhry, M. A., Hockberger, P. E., and Sayeed, M. M. (1999). PGE(2) suppresses mitogen-induced Ca2+ mobilization in T cells. Am. J. Physiol. Regul. Integr. Comp. Physiol. 277, R1741–R1748.
- Cifone, M. G., Cironi, L., Santoni, A., and Testi, R. (1995). Diacylglycerol lipase activation and 5-lipoxygenase activation and translocation following TCR/CD3 triggering in T-cells. *Eur. J. Immunol.* 25, 1080–1086. doi:10.1002/eji.1830250433
- Clark, R. B., Bishop-Bailey, D., Estrada-Hernandez, T., Hla, T., Puddington, L., and Padula, S. J. (2000). The nuclear receptor PPAR gamma and immunoregulation: PPAR gamma mediates inhibition of helper T cell responses. *J. Immunol.* 164, 1364–1371.
- Cook-Moreau, J. M., Hojeij, Y. E. M., Barriere, G., Rabinovitch-Chable, H. C., Faucher, K. S., Sturtz, F. G., et al. (2007). Expression of 5-lipoxygenase (5-LOX) in T lymphocytes. *Immunology* 122, 157–166. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2567.2007.02621.x
- Corey, E. J., Nicolaou, K. C., Machida, Y., Malmsten, C. L., and Samuelsson, B. (1975). Synthesis and biological properties of a 9,11azo-prostanoid - highly active biochemical mimic of prostaglandin endoperoxides. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 72, 3355–3358. doi:10.1073/pnas.72.9.3355
- Demeure, C. E., Yang, L. P., Desjardins, C., Raynauld, P., and Delespesse, G. (1997). Prostaglandin E-2 primes naive T cells for the production of anti-inflammatory cytokines. *Eur. J. Immunol.* 27, 3526–3531. doi:10.1002/eji.1830271254
- Early, S. B., Barekzi, E., Negri, J., Hise, K., Borish, L., and Steinke, J. W. (2007). Concordant modulation of cysteinyl leukotriene receptor expression by IL-4 and IFN-gamma on peripheral immune cells. *Am. J. Respir. Cell Mol. Biol.* 36, 715–720. doi:10.1165/rcmb.2006-0252OC
- Exton, J. H. (1999). Regulation of phospholipase D. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta* 1439, 121–133. doi:10.1016/S1388-1981(99)00089-X
- Faith, A., Fernandez, M. H., Caulfield, J., Loke, T. K., Corrigan, C., O'Connor, B., et al. (2008). Role of cysteinyl leukotrienes in human allergenspecific Th2 responses induced by granulocyte macrophage-colony stimulating factor. *Allergy* 63, 168–175. doi:10.1111/j.1398-9995.2007.01531.x
- Farrar, W. L., Evans, S. W., Rapp, U. R., and Cleveland, J. L. (1987).

Effects of antiproliferative cyclic-AMP on interleukin-2-stimulated gene-expression. *J. Immunol.* 139, 2075–2080.

- Feldon, S. E., O'Loughlin, C. W., Ray, D. M., Landskroner-Eiger, S., Seweryniak, K. E., and Phipps, R. P. (2006). Activated human T lymphocytes express cyclooxygenase-2 and produce proadipogenic prostaglandins that drive human orbital fibroblast differentiation to adipocytes. *Am. J. Pathol.* 169, 1183–1193. doi:10.2353/ajpath.2006.060434
- Figueroa, D. J., Breyer, R. M., Defoe, S. K., Kargman, S., Daugherty, B. L., Waldburger, K., et al. (2001). Expression of the cysteinyl leukotriene 1 receptor in normal human lung and peripheral blood leukocytes. *Am. J. Respir. Crit. Care Med.* 163, 226–233. doi:10.1164/airccm.163.1.2003101
- Folco, G., and Murphy, R. C. (2006). Eicosanoid transcellular biosynthesis: from cell-cell interactions to in vivo tissue responses. *Pharmacol. Rev.* 58, 375–388. doi:10.1124/pr.58.3.8
- Forman, B. M., Tontonoz, P., Chen, J., Brun, R. P., Spiegelman, B. M., and Evans, R. M. (1995). 15-deoxydelta(12,14)-prostaglandin J(2) is a ligand for the adipocyte determination factor PPAR-gamma. *Cell* 83, 803–812.
- Funk, C. D. (2001). Prostaglandins and leukotrienes: advances in eicosanoid biology. Science 294, 1871–1875. doi:10.1126/science.294.5548.1871
- Gelfand, E. W., and Dakhanna, A. (2006). CD8(+) T lymphocytes and leukotriene B-4: novel interactions in the persistence and progression of asthma. J. Allergy Clin. Immunol. 117, 577–582. doi:10.1016/j.jaci.2005.12.1340
- Genaro, A. M., Sterinborda, L., Gorelik, G., and Borda, E. (1992). Prostanoid synthesis in lymphocyte subpopulations by adrenergic and cholinergic receptor stimulation. *Int. J. Immunopharmacol.* 14, 1145–1151. doi:10.1016/0192-0561(92)
- 90049-Q Gibbons, C. P., Wiley, K. N., Lindsey, N. J., Fox, M., Beck, S., Slater, D. N., et al. (1987). Cortical and vascular prostaglandin synthesis during renal-allograft rejection in the rat. *Transplantation* 43, 472–478. doi:10.1097/00007890-198704000-00003
- Goetzl, E. J., An, S. Z., and Zeng, L. (1995). Specific suppression by prostaglandin-E(2) of activationinduced apoptosis of human CD4(+)CD8(+) T-lymphoblasts. J. Immunol. 154, 1041–1047.

- Goodarzi, K., Goodarzi, M., Tager, A. M., Luster, A. D., and von Andrian, U. H. (2003). Leukotriene B-4 and BLT1 control cytotoxic effector T cell recruitment to inflamed tissues. *Nat. Immunol.* 4, 965–973. doi:10.1038/ni972
- Goodwin, J. S., Bankhurst, A. D., and Messner, R. P. (1977). Suppression of human T-cell mitogenesis by prostaglandin – existence of a prostaglandin-producing suppressor cell. *J. Exp. Med.* 146, 1719–1734. doi:10.1084/jem.146.6.1719
- Greene, E. R., Huang, S., Serhan, C. N., and Panigrahy, D. (2011). Regulation of inflammation in cancer by eicosanoids. *Prostaglandins Other Lipid Mediat.* 96, 27–36. doi:10. 1016/j.prostaglandins.2011.08.004
- Greenhough, A., Smartt, H. J. M., Moore, A. E., Roberts, H. R., Williams, A. C., Paraskeva, C., et al. (2009). The COX-2/PGE(2) pathway: key roles in the hallmarks of cancer and adaptation to the tumour microenvironment. *Carcinogenesis* 30, 377–386. doi:10.1093/carcin/bgp014
- Gualde, N., Atluru, D., and Goodwin, J. S. (1985). Effects of lipoxygenase metabolites of arachidonic-acid on proliferation of human T-cells and T-cell subsets. *J. Immunol.* 134, 1125–1129.
- Harizi, H., Corcuff, J. B., and Gualde, N. (2008). Arachidonic-acidderived eicosanoids: roles in biology and immunopathology. *Trends Mol. Med.* 14, 461–469. doi:10.1016/j.molmed.2008.08.005
- Harris, S. G., Padilla, J., Koumas, L., Ray, D., and Phipps, R. P. (2002a). Prostaglandins as modulators of immunity. *Trends Immunol.* 23, 144–150. doi:10.1016/S1471-4906(01)02154-8
- Harris, S. G., Smith, R. S., and Phipps, R.
 P. (2002b). 15-deoxy-Delta(12,14)PGJ(2) induces IL-8 production in human T cells by a mitogenactivated protein kinase pathway. *J. Immunol.* 168, 1372–1379.
- Harris, S. G., and Phipps, R. P. (2001). The nuclear receptor PPAR gamma is expressed by mouse T lymphocytes and PPAR gamma agonists induce apoptosis. *Eur. J. Immunol.* 31, 1098–1105. doi:10.1002/1521-4141(200104)31:4<1098::AID-IMMU1098>3.0.CO;2-I
- Harris, S. G., and Phipps, R. P. (2002). Prostaglandin D-2, its metabolite 15-d-PGJ(2), and peroxisome proliferator activated receptorgamma agonists induce apoptosis in transformed, but not normal, human T lineage cells. *Immunology*

105, 23–34. doi:10.1046/j.0019-2805.2001.01340.x

- Hendricks, A., Leibold, W., Kaever, V., and Schuberth, H. J. (2000). Prostaglandin E-2 is variably induced by bacterial super-antigens in bovine mononuclear cells and has a regulatory role for the T cell proliferative response. *Immunobiology* 201, 493–505. doi:10.1016/S0171-2985(00)80069-8
- Herlong, J. L., and Scott, T. R. (2006). Positioning prostanoids of the D and J series in the immunopathogenic scheme. *Immunol. Lett.* 102, 121–131. doi:10.1016/j.imlet.2005.10.004
- Hirai, H., Tanaka, K., Yoshie, O., Ogawa, K., Kenmotsu, K., Takamori, Y., et al. (2001). Prostaglandin D2 selectively induces chemotaxis in T helper type 2 cells, eosinophils, and basophils via seven-transmembrane receptor CRTH2. J. Exp. Med. 193, 255–261. doi:10.1084/jem.193.2.255
- Hojo, M., Suzuki, M., Maghni, K., Hamid, Q., Powell, W. S., and Martin, J. G. (2000). Role of cysteinyl leukotrienes in CD4+ T celldriven late allergic airway responses. *J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther.* 293, 410–416.
- Iniguez, M. A., Punzon, C., and Fresno, M. (1999). Induction of cyclooxygenase-2 on activated T lymphocytes: regulation of T cell activation by cyclooxygenase-2 inhibitors. *J. Immunol.* 163, 111–119.
- Islam, S. A., Thomas, S. Y., Hess, C., Medoff, B. D., Means, T. K., Brander, C., et al. (2006). The leukotriene B-4 lipid chemoattractant receptor BLT1 defines antigen-primed T cells in humans. *Blood* 107, 444–453. doi:10.1182/blood-2005-06-2362
- Jaffar, Z., Wan, K. S., and Roberts, K. (2002). A key role for prostaglandin I-2 in limiting lung mucosal Th2, but not Th1, responses to inhaled allergen. *J. Immunol.* 169, 5997–6004.
- Johansson, C. C., Bryn, T., Aandahl, E. M., Areklett, M. A., Aukrust, P., Tasken, K., et al. (2004). Treatment with type-2 selective and nonselective cyclooxygenase inhibitors improves T-cell proliferation in HIV-infected patients on highly active antiretroviral therapy. *AIDS* 18, 951–952. doi:10.1097/00002030-200404090-00015
- Joo, M., and Sadikot, R. T. (2012). PGD synthase and PGD(2) in immune response. Mediators Inflamm. 2012:503128 doi:10.1155/2012/503128
- Kabashima, K., Murata, T., Tanaka, H., Matsuoka, T., Sakata, D., Yoshida,

N., et al. (2003). Thromboxane A(2) modulates interaction of dendritic cells and T cells and regulates acquired immunity. *Nat. Immunol.* 4, 694–701. doi:10.1038/ni943

- Kabashima, K., Saji, T., Murata, T., Nagamachi, M., Matsuoka, T., Segi, E., et al. (2002). The prostaglandin receptor EP4 suppresses colitis, mucosal damage and CD4 cell activation in the gut. J. Clin. Invest. 109, 883–893. doi:10.1172/JCI14459
- Kanaoka, Y., and Boyce, A. A. (2004). Cysteinyl leukotrienes and their receptors: cellular distribution and function in immune and inflammatory responses. *J. Immunol.* 173, 1503–1510.
- Kelly, J. P., Johnson, M. C., and Parker, C. W. (1979). Effect of inhibitors of arachidonic-acid metabolism on mitogenesis in human lymphocytes – possible role of thromboxanes and products of the lipoxygenase pathway. J. Immunol. 122, 1563–1571.
- Kliewer, S. A., Lenhard, J. M., Willson, T. M., Patel, I., Morris, D. C., and Lehmann, J. M. (1995). A prostaglandin J(2) metabolite binds peroxisome proliferator-activated receptorgamma and promotes adipocyte differentiation. *Cell* 83, 813–819. doi:10.1016/0092-8674(95)90194-9
- Kudo, I., and Murakami, M. (2002). Phospholipase A(2) enzymes. Prostaglandins Other Lipid Mediat. 68–69, 3–58. doi:10.1016/S0090-6980(02)00020-5
- Kuehl, F. A., Humes, J. L., Egan, R. W., Ham, E. A., Beveridge, G. C., and Vanarman, C. G. (1977). Role of prostaglandin endoperoxide PGG2 in inflammatory processes. *Nature* 265, 170–173. doi:10.1038/265170a0
- Kvale, D., Ormaasen, V., Kran, A. M. B., Johansson, C. C., Aukrust, P., Aandahl, E. M., et al. (2006). Immune modulatory effects of cyclooxygenase type 2 inhibitors in HIV patients on combination antiretroviral treatment. *AIDS* 20, 813–820. doi:10.1097/01.aids.0000218544.54 586.f1
- Laidlaw, T. M., and Boyce, J. A. (2012). Cysteinyl leukotriene receptors, old and new; implications for asthma. *Clin. Exp. Allergy* 42, 1313–1320. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2222.2012.03982.x
- Lee, B. P. L., Juvet, S. C., and Zhang, L. (2009). Prostaglandin E2 signaling through E prostanoid receptor 2 impairs proliferative response of double negative regulatory T cells. *Int. Immunopharmacol.* 9, 534–539. doi:10.1016/j.intimp.2009.01.023

- Lee, I. Y., Cho, W., Kim, J., Park, C. S., and Choe, J. (2008). Human follicular dendritic cells interact with T cells via expression and regulation of cyclooxygenases and prostaglandin E and I Synthases. J. Immunol. 180, 1390–1397
- Lee, I. Y., Ko, E. M., Kim, S. H., Jeoung, D. I., and Choe, J. (2005). Human follicular dendritic cells express prostacyclin synthase: a novel mechanism to control T cell numbers in the germinal center. J. Immunol. 175, 1658–1664.
- Lerner, A., Jacobson, B., and Miller, R. A. (1988). Cyclic-AMP concentrations modulate both calcium flux and hydrolysis of phosphatidylinositol phosphates in mouse lymphocytes-T. J. Immunol. 140, 936–940.
- Leslie, C. C. (2004). Regulation of arachidonic acid availability for eicosanoid production. *Biochem. Cell Biol.* 82, 1–17. doi:10.1139/o03-080
- Li, H., Bradbury, J. A., Dackor, R. T., Edin, M. L., Graves, J. P., DeGraff, L. M., et al. (2011). Cyclooxygenase-2 regulates Th17 cell differentiation during allergic lung inflammation. *Am. J. Respir. Crit. Care Med.* 184, 37–49. doi:10.1164/rccm.201010-1637OC
- Liscovitch, M., Czarny, M., Fiucci, G., and Tang, X. Q. (2000). Phospholipase D: molecular and cell biology of a novel gene family. *Biochem.* J. 345, 401–415. doi:10.1042/0264-6021:3450401
- Los, M., Schenk, H., Hexel, K., Baeuerle, P. A., Droge, W., and Schulzeosthoff, K. (1995). IL-2 gene-expression and NF-kappa-B activation through CD28 requires reactive oxygen production by 5-lipoxygenase. *EMBO J.* 14, 3731–3740.
- Luster, A. D., and Tager, A. M. (2004). T-cell trafficking in asthma: lipid mediators grease the way. *Nat. Rev. Immunol.* 4, 711–724. doi:10.1038/nri1438
- Maekawa, A., Balestrieri, B., Austen, K. F., and Kanaoka, Y. (2009). GPR17 is a negative regulator of the cysteinyl leukotriene 1 receptor response to leukotriene D-4. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 106, 11685–11690. doi:10.1073/pnas.0905364106
- Mahic, M., Yaqub, S., Johansson, C. C., Tasken, K., and Aandahl, М. (2006). E. FOXP3(+)CD4(+)CD25(+) adaptive regulatory Т cells express cyclooxygenase-2 and suppress effector T cells by a E-2-dependent prostaglandin mechanism. J. Immunol. 177, 246-254.

- Mandapathil, M., Szczepanski, M. J., Szajnik, M., Ren, J., Jackson, E. K., Johnson, J. T., et al. (2010). Adenosine and prostaglandin E-2 cooperate in the suppression of immune responses mediated by adaptive regulatory T cells. J. Biol. Chem. 285, 27571–27580. doi:10.1074/jbc.M110.127100
- Martinet, L., Jean, C., Dietrich, G., Fournie, J. J., and Poupot, R. (2010). PGE(2) inhibits natural killer and gamma delta T cell cytotoxicity triggered by NKR and TCR through a cAMP-mediated PKA type I-dependent signaling. *Biochem. Pharmacol.* 80, 838–845. doi:10.1016/j.bcp.2010.05.002
- Mary, D., Aussel, C., Ferrua, B., and Fehlmann, M. (1987). Regulation of interleukin-2 synthesis by cAMP in human T-cells. *J. Immunol.* 139, 1179–1184.
- Mastino, A., Piacentini, M., Grelli, S., Favalli, C., Autuori, F., Tentori, L., et al. (1992). Induction of apoptosis in thymocytes by prostaglandin E2 in vivo. *Dev. Immunol.* 2, 263–271. doi:10.1155/1992/80863
- Medoff, B. D., Seung, E., Wain, J. C., Means, T. K., Campanella, G. S. V., Islam, S. A., et al. (2005). BLT1mediated T cell trafficking is critical for rejection and obliterative bronchiolitis after lung transplantation. J. Exp. Med. 202, 97–110. doi:10.1084/jem.20042481
- Melendez, A. J., and Allen, J. M. (2002). Phospholipase D and immune receptor signalling. *Semin. Immunol.* 14, 49–55. doi:10.1006/smim.2001.0341
- Merhi-Soussi, F., Dominguez, Z., Macovschi, O., Dubois, M., Savany, A., Lagarde, M., et al. (2000). Human lymphocytes stimulate prostacyclin synthesis in human umbilical vein endothelial cells. Involvement of endothelial cPLA(2). J. Leukoc. Biol. 68, 881–889.
- Mita, H., Hasegawa, M., Saito, H., and Akiyama, K. (2001). Levels of cysteinyl leukotriene receptor mRNA in human peripheral leucocytes: significantly higher expression of cysteinyl leukotriene receptor 2 mRNA in eosinophils. *Clin. Exp. Allergy* 31, 1714–1723. doi:10.1046/j.1365-2222.2001.01184.x
- Morita, H., Takeda, K., Yagita, H., and Okumura, K. (1999).
 Immunosuppressive effect of leukotriene B-4 receptor antagonist in vitro. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* 264, 321–326. doi:10.1006/bbrc.1999.1523
- Mosenden, R., Singh, P., Cornez, I., Heglind, M., Ruppelt, A.,

Moutschen, M., et al. (2011). Mice with disrupted type I protein kinase A anchoring in T cells resist retrovirus-induced immunodeficiency. J. Immunol. 186, 5119–5130. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1100003

- Mosenden, R., and Tasken, K. (2011). Cyclic AMP-mediated immune regulation – overview of mechanisms of action in T cells. *Cell. Signal.* 23, 1009–1016. doi:10.1016/j.cellsig.2010.11.018
- Murakami, M., Taketomi, Y., Miki, Y., Sato, H., Hirabayashi, T., and Yamamoto, K. (2011). Recent progress in phospholipase A(2) research: from cells to animals to humans. *Prog. Lipid Res.* 50, 152–192. doi:10.1016/j.plipres.2010.12.001
- Nakanishi, M., Menoret, A., Tanaka, T., Miyamoto, S., Montrose, D. C., Vella, A. T., et al. (2011). Selective PGE(2) suppression inhibits colon carcinogenesis and modifies local mucosal immunity. *Cancer Prev. Res. (Phila.)* 4, 1198–1208. doi:10.1158/1940-6207.CAPR-11-0188
- Nantel, F., Fong, C., Lamontagne, S., Wright, D. H., Giaid, A., Desrosiers, M., et al. (2004). Expression of prostaglandin D synthase and the prostaglandin D-2 receptors DP and CRTH2 in human nasal mucosa. *Prostaglandins Other Lipid Mediat.* 73, 87–101. doi:10.1016/j.prostaglandins.2003. 12.002
- Napolitani, G., Acosta-Rodriguez, E. V., Lanzavecchia, A., and Sallusto, F. (2009). Prostaglandin E2 enhances Th17 responses via modulation of IL-17 and IFN-gamma production by memory CD4(+) T cells. *Eur. J. Immunol.* 39, 1301–1312. doi:10.1002/eji.200838969
- Narumiya, S. (2003). Prostanoids in immunity: roles revealed by mice deficient in their receptors. *Life Sci.* 74, 391–395. doi:10.1016/j.lfs.2003.09.025
- Nataraj, C., Thomas, D. W., Tilley, S. L., Nguyen, M., Mannon, R., Koller, B. H., et al. (2001). Receptors for prostaglandin E-2 that regulate cellular immune responses in the mouse. *J. Clin. Invest.* 108, 1229–1235. doi:10.1172/JCI200113640
- Nencioni, A., Lauber, K., Grunebach, F., Van Parijs, L., Denzlinger, C., Wesselborg, S., et al. (2003). Cyclopentenone prostaglandins induce lymphocyte apoptosis by activating the mitochondrial apoptosis pathway independent of external death receptor signaling. *J. Immunol.* 171, 5148–5156.

- Oberprieler, N. G., Lemeer, S., Kalland, M. E., Torgersen, K. M., Heck, A. J. R., and Tasken, (2010).Κ. High-resolution of mapping prostaglandin E-2-dependent signaling networks identifies a constitutively active PKA signaling node in CD8(+)CD45RO(+) T cells. Blood 116, 2253-2265, doi:10.1182/blood-2010-01-266650
- Olschewski, H., Rose, F., Schermuly, R., Ghofrani, H. A., Enke, B., Olschewski, A., et al. (2004). Prostacyclin and its analogues in the treatment of pulmonary hypertension. *Pharmacol. Ther.* 102, 139–153. doi:10.1016/j.pharmthera.2004. 01.003
- Ott, V. L., Cambier, J. C., Kappler, J., Marrack, P., and Swanson, B. J. (2003). Mast cell-dependent migration of effector CD8(+) T cells through production of leukotriene B-4. Nat. Immunol. 4, 974–981. doi:10.1038/ni971
- Pablos, J. L., Santiago, B., Carreira, P. E., Galindo, M., and Gomez-Reino, J. J. (1999). Cyclooxygenase-1 and -2 are expressed by human T cells. *Clin. Exp. Immunol.* 115, 86–90. doi:10.1046/j.1365-2249.1999.00780.x
- Pace, E., Bruno, T. F., Berenger, B., Mody, C. H., Melis, M., Ferraro, M., et al. (2007). Elevated expression of prostaglandin receptor and increased release of prostaglandin E-2 maintain the survival of CD45RO(+) T cells in the inflamed human pleural space. *Immunology* 121, 427–436. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2567.2007.02593.x
- Parmentier, C. N., Fuerst, E., McDonald, J., Bowen, H., Lee, T. H., Pease, J. E., et al. (2012). Human T(H)2 cells respond to cysteinyl leukotrienes through selective expression of cysteinyl leukotriene receptor 1. J. Allergy Clin. Immunol. 129, 1136–1142. doi:10.1016/j.jaci. 2012.01.057
- Paruchuri, S., Tashimo, H., Feng, C. L., Maekawa, A., Xing, W., Jiang, Y. F., et al. (2009). Leukotriene E-4-induced pulmonary inflammation is mediated by the P2Y(12) receptor. J. Exp. Med. 206, 2543–2555. doi:10.1084/jem. 20091240
- Pettersen, F. O., Torheim, E. A., Dahm, A. E. A., Aaberge, I. S., Lind, A., Holm, M., et al. (2011). An exploratory trial of cyclooxygenase type 2 inhibitor in HIV-1 infection: downregulated immune activation and improved t cell-dependent vaccine responses.

J. Virol. 85, 6557–6566. doi:10. 1128/JVI.00073-11

- Pettersson, A., Richter, J., and Owman, C. (2003). Flow cytometric mapping of the leukotriene B-4 receptor, BLT1, in human bone marrow and peripheral blood using specific monoclonal antibodies. *Int. Immunopharmacol.* 3, 1467–1475. doi:10.1016/ S1567-5769(03)00145-0
- Pettipher, R., Hansel, T. T., and Armer, R. (2007). Antagonism of the prostaglandin D-2 receptors DP1 and CRTH2 as an approach to treat allergic diseases. *Nat. Rev. Drug Discov.* 6, 313–325. doi:10.1038/nrd2266
- Pica, F., Franzese, O., Donofrio, C., Bonmassar, E., Favalli, C., and Garaci, E. (1996). Prostaglandin E(2) induces apoptosis in resting immature and mature human lymphocytes: a c-Myc-dependent and Bcl-2-independent associated pathway. J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther. 277, 1793–1800.
- Porter, B. O., and Malek, T. R. (1999). Prostaglandin E-2 inhibits T cell activation-induced apoptosis and Fas-mediated cellular cytotoxicity by blockade of Fas-ligand induction. *Eur. J. Immunol.* 29, 2360–2365. doi:10.1002/(SICI) 1521-4141(199907)29:07<2360:: AID-IMMU2360>3.0.CO;2-A
- Prinz, I., Gregoire, C., Mollenkopft, H., Aguado, E., Wang, Y., Malissen, M., et al. (2005). The type 1 cysteinyl leukotriene receptor triggers calcium influx and chemotaxis in mouse alpha beta and gamma delta effector T cells. *J. Immunol.* 175, 713–719.
- Rahmouni, S., Aandahl, E. M., Nayjib, B., Zeddou, M., Giannini, S., Verlaet, M., et al. (2004). Cyclo-oxygenase type 2-dependent prostaglandin E-2 secretion is involved in retrovirusinduced T-cell dysfunction in mice. *Biochem. J.* 384, 469–476. doi:10.1042/BJ20031859
- Remuzzi, G., Noris, M., Benigni, A., Imberti, O., Sayegh, M. H., and Perico, N. (1994). Thromboxane A(2) receptor blocking abrogates donor-specific unresponsiveness to renal-allografts induced by thymic recognition of major histocompatibility allopeptides. J. Exp. Med. 180, 1967–1972. doi:10.1084/jem.180.5.1967
- Rincon, M., Tugores, A., Lopezrivas, A., Silva, A., Alonso, M., Delandazuri, M. O., et al. (1988). Prostaglandin-E2 and the increase of intracellular cAMP inhibit the expression of interleukin-2

receptors in human T-cells. *Eur. J. Immunol.* 18, 1791–1796. doi:10. 1002/eji.1830181121

- Rolapleszczynski, M. (1985). Differential-effects of leukotriene-B-4 on T4+ and T8+ lymphocyte phenotype and immunoregulatory functions. *J. Immunol.* 135, 1357–1360.
- Roshak, A. K., Capper, E. A., Stevenson, C., Eichman, C., and Marshall, L. A. (2000). Human calciumindependent phospholipase A(2) mediates lymphocyte proliferation. *J. Biol. Chem.* 275, 35692–35698. doi:10.1074/jbc.M002273200
- Ruiz, P., Coffman, T. M., Klotman, P. E., and Sanfilippo, F. (1989). Association of chromic thromboxane inhibition with reduced insitu cytotoxic T-cell activity in rejecting rat renal-allografts. *Transplantation* 48, 660–666.
- Ruiz, P., Rey, L., Spurney, R., Coffman, T., and Viciana, A. (1992). Thromboxane augmentation of alloreactive T cell function. *Transplantation* 54, 498–505. doi:10.1097/00007890-199209000-00021
- Ruppelt, A., Mosenden, R., Groenholm, M., Aandahl, E. M., Tobin, D., Carlson, C. R., et al. (2007). Inhibition of T cell activation by cyclic adenosine 5'-monophosphate requires lipid raft targeting of protein kinase a type I by the A-kinase anchoring protein Ezrin. *J. Immunol.* 179, 5159–5168.
- Saito, M., Tanabe, Y., Kudo, I., and Nakayama, K. (2003). Endotheliumderived prostaglandin H-2 evokes the stretch-induced contraction of rabbit pulmonary artery. *Eur. J. Pharmacol.* 467, 151–161. doi:10.1016/S0014-2999(03)0 1569-3
- Saito, S., Tsuda, H., and Michimata, T. (2002). Prostaglandin D-2 and reproduction. Am. J. Reprod. Immunol. 47, 295–302. doi:10.1034/j.1600-0897.2002.01113.x
- Sakata, D., Yao, C. C., and Narumiya, S. (2010a). Emerging roles of prostanoids in T cell-mediated immunity. *IUBMB Life* 62, 591–596. doi:10.1002/iub.356
- Sakata, D., Yao, C. C., and Narumiya, S. (2010b). Prostaglandin E-2, an immunoactivator. J. Pharmacol. Sci. 112, 1–5. doi:10.1254/jphs.09R03CP
- Sala, A., Folco, G., and Murphy, R. C. (2010). Transcellular biosynthesis of eicosanoids. *Pharmacol. Rep.* 62, 503–510.
- Scher, J. U., and Pillinger, M. H. (2005). 15d-PGJ(2): the anti-inflammatory prostaglandin?

Clin. Immunol. 114, 100–109. doi:10.1016/j.clim.2004.09.008

- Schuligoi, R., Sedej, M., Waldhoer, M., Vukoja, A., Sturm, E. M., Lippe, I. T., et al. (2009). Prostaglandin H-2 induces the migration of human eosinophils through the chemoattractant receptor homologous molecule of Th2 cells, CRTH2. J. Leukoc. Biol. 85, 136–145. doi:10.1189/jlb.0608387
- Schuligoi, R., Sturm, E., Luschnig, P., Konya, V., Philipose, S., Sedej, M., et al. (2010). CRTH2 and D-type prostanoid receptor antagonists as novel therapeutic agents for inflammatory diseases. *Pharmacology* 85, 372–382. doi:10.1159/000313836
- Sedej, M., Schroder, R., Bell, K., Platzer, W., Vukoja, A., Kostenis, E., et al. (2012). D-type prostanoid receptor enhances the signaling of chemoattractant receptor-homologous molecule expressed on T(H)2 cells. J. Allergy Clin. Immunol. 129, 492–500. doi:10.1016/j.jaci.2011.08.015
- Seidel, S. D., Winters, G. M., Rogers, W. J., Ziccardi, M. H., Li, V., Keser, B., et al. (2001). Activation of the Ah receptor signaling pathway by prostaglandins. *J. Biochem. Mol. Toxicol.* 15, 187–196. doi:10.1002/ jbt.16
- Sharma, S., Yang, S. C., Zhu, L., Reckamp, K., Gardner, B., Baratelli, F., et al. (2005). Tumor cyclooxygenase-2/prostaglandin E-2-dependent promotion of FOXP3 expression and CD4(+)CD25(+) T regulatory cell activities in lung cancer. *Cancer Res.* 65, 5211–5220. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-05-0141
- Simmons, D. L., Botting, R. M., and Hla, T. (2004). Cyclooxygenase isozymes: the biology of prostaglandin synthesis and inhibition. *Pharmacol. Rev.* 56, 387–437. doi:10.1124/pr.56.3.3
- Singh, R. K., Gupta, S., Dastidar, S., and Ray, A. (2010). Cysteinyl leukotrienes and their receptors: molecular and functional characteristics. *Pharmacology* 85, 336–349. doi:10.1159/000312669
- Smith, W. L. (1989). The eicosanoids and their biochemical mechanisms of action. *Biochem. J.* 259, 315–324.
- Smith, W. L., DeWitt, D. L., and Garavito, R. M. (2000). Cyclooxygenases: structural, cellular, and molecular biology. Annu. Rev. Biochem. 69, 145–182. doi:10.1146/ annurev.biochem.69.1.145
- Smith, W. L., Urade, Y., and Jakobsson, P. J. (2011). Enzymes of the cyclooxygenase pathways of prostanoid biosynthesis. *Chem. Rev.* 111, 5821–5865. doi:10.1021/cr2002992

- Snijdewint, F. G. M., Kalinski, P., Wierenga, E. A., Bos, J. D., and Kapsenberg, M. L. (1993). Prostaglandin-E(2) differentially modulates cytokine secretion profiles of human T-helper lymphocytes. J. Immunol. 150, 5321–5329.
- Sreeramkumar, V., Fresno, M., and Cuesta, N. (2012). Prostaglandin E-2 and T cells: friends or foes? *Immunol. Cell Biol.* 90, 579–586. doi:10.1038/icb.2011.75
- Stebbins, K. J., Broadhead, A. R., Baccei, C. S., Scott, J. M., Truong, Y. P., Coate, H., et al. (2010). Pharmacological blockade of the DP2 receptor inhibits cigarette smoke-induced inflammation, mucus cell metaplasia, and epithelial hyperplasia in the mouse lung. J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther. 332, 764–775. doi:10.1124/jpet.109. 161919
- Stokka, A. J., Mosenden, R., Ruppelt, A., Lygren, B., and Tasken, K. (2010). The adaptor protein EBP50 is important for localization of the protein kinase A-Ezrin complex in T-cells and the immunomodulating effect of cAMP. *Biochem. J.* 425, 381–388. doi:10.1042/BJ2009 1136
- Tager, A. M., Bromley, S. K., Medoff, B. D., Islam, S. A., Bercury, S. D., Friedrich, E. B., et al. (2003). Leukotriene B-4 receptor BLT1 mediates early effector T cell recruitment. *Nat. Immunol.* 4, 982–990. doi:10.1038/ni970
- Takahashi, Y., Tokuoka, S., Masuda, T., Hirano, Y., Nagao, M., Tanaka, H., et al. (2002). Augmentation of allergic inflammation in prostanoid IP receptor deficient mice. Br. J. Pharmacol. 137, 315–322. doi:10.1038/sj.bjp.0704872
- Tanaka, K., Hirai, H., Takano, S., Nakamura, M., and Nagata, K. (2004). Effects of prostaglandin D-2 on helper T cell functions. Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 316, 1009–1014. doi:10.1016/j.bbrc.2004.02.151
- Tanaka, K., Ogawa, K., Sugamura, K., Nakamura, M., Takano, S., and Nagata, K. (2000). Cutting edge: differential production of prostaglandin D-2 by human helper T cell subsets. *J. Immunol.* 164, 2277–2280.
- Tessier, C., Hichami, A., and Khan, N. A. (2002). Implication of three isoforms of PLA(2) in human T-cell proliferation. *FEBS Lett.* 520, 111–116. doi:10.1016/S0014-5793(02)02779-5
- Thomas, D. W., Rocha, P. N., Nataraj, C., Robinson, L. A., Spurney, R. F.,

Koller, B. H., et al. (2003). Proinflammatory actions of thromboxane receptors to enhance cellular immune responses. *J. Immunol.* 171, 6389–6395.

- Tilley, S. L., Coffman, T. M., and Koller, B. H. (2001). Mixed messages: modulation of inflammation and immune responses by prostaglandins and thromboxanes. J. Clin. Invest. 108, 15–23. doi:10.1172/JCI13416
- Tohda, Y., Nakahara, H., Kubo, H., Haraguchi, R., Fukuoka, M., and Nakajima, S. (1999).
 Effects of ONO-1078 (pranlukast) on cytokine production in peripheral blood mononuclear cells of patients with bronchial asthma. *Clin. Exp. Allergy* 29, 1532–1536. doi:10.1046/j.1365-2222.1999.00710.x
- Torres, D., Paget, C., Fontaine, J., Mallevaey, T., Matsuoka, T., Maruyama, T., et al. (2008). Prostaglandin D(2) inhibits the production of IFNgamma by invariant NK T cells: consequences in the control of b16 melanoma. *J. Immunol.* 180, 783–792.
- Trivedi, S. G., Newson, J., Rajakariar, R., Jacques, T. S., Hannon, R., Kanaoka, Y., et al. (2006). Essential role for hematopoietic prostaglandin D2 synthase in the control of delayed type hypersensitivity. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 103, 5179–5184. doi:10.1073/pnas.0507175103
- Truchetet, M. E., Allanore, Y., Montanari, E., Chizzolini, C., and Brembilla, N. C. (2012). Prostaglandin I-2 analogues enhance already exuberant Th17 cell responses in systemic sclerosis. *Ann. Rheum. Dis.* 71, 2044–2050. doi:10.1136/annrheumdis-2012-201400
- Tsuda, H., Michimata, T., Sakai, M., Nagata, K., Nakamura, M., and Saito, S. (2001). A novel surface molecule of Th2- and Tc2-type cells, CRTH2 expression on human peripheral and decidual CD4(+) and CD8(+) T cells during the early stage of pregnancy. *Clin. Exp. Immunol.* 123, 105–111. doi:10.1046/j.1365-2249.2001.01422.x
- Ushikubi, F., Aiba, Y. I., Nakamura, K. I., Namba, T., Hirata, M., Mazda, O., et al. (1993). Thromboxane-A2 receptor is highly expressed in mouse immature thymocytes and mediates DNA fragmentation and apoptosis. *J. Exp. Med.* 178, 1825–1830. doi:10.1084/jem.178. 5.1825
- Vang, T., Torgersen, K. M., Sundvold, V., Saxena, M., Levy, F. O., Skalhegg,

B. S., et al. (2001). Activation of the COOH-terminal Src kinase (Csk) by cAMP-dependent protein kinase inhibits signaling through the T cell receptor. *J. Exp. Med.* 193, 497–507. doi:10.1084/jem.193. 4.497

- von Allmen, C. E., Schmitz, N., Bauer, M., Hinton, H. J., Kurrer, M. O., Buser, R. B., et al. (2009). Secretory phospholipase A2-IID is an effector molecule of CD4(+)CD25(+) regulatory T cells. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 106, 11673–11678. doi:10.1073/pnas.08 12569106
- Wada, M., DeLong, C. J., Hong, Y. H., Rieke, C. J., Song, I., Sidhu, R. S., et al. (2007). Enzymes and receptors of prostaglandin pathways with arachidonic acid-derived versus eicosapentaenoic acidderived substrates and products. *J. Biol. Chem.* 282, 22254–22266. doi:10.1074/jbc.M703169200
- Wang, M. T., Honn, K. V., and Nie, D. (2007). Cyclooxygenases, prostanoids, and tumor progression. *Cancer Metastasis Rev.* 26, 525–534. doi:10.1007/s10555-007-9096-5
- Woodward, D. F., Jones, R. L., and Narumiya, S. (2011). International Union of Basic and Clinical Pharmacology. LXXXIII: classification of prostanoid receptors, updating 15 years of progress. *Pharmacol. Rev.* 63, 471–538. doi:10.1124/pr.110. 003517
- Wu, C. Y., Wang, K. N., McDyer, J. F., and Seder, R. A. (1998). Prostaglandin E-2 and dexamethasone inhibit IL-12 receptor expression and IL-12 responsiveness. *J. Immunol.* 161, 2723–2730.
- Wu, K. K., Papp, A. C., Manner, C. E., and Hall, E. R. (1987). Interaction between lymphocytes and platelets in the synthesis of prostacyclin. J. Clin. Invest. 79, 1601–1606. doi:10.1172/JCI112995
- Xue, L., Barrow, A., and Pettipher, R. (2009a). Interaction between prostaglandin D-2 and chemoattractant receptor-homologous molecule expressed on Th2 cells mediates cytokine production by Th2 lymphocytes in response to activated mast cells. *Clin. Exp. Immunol.* 156, 126–133. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2249.2008.03871.x
- Xue, L. Z., Barrow, A., and Pettipher, R. (2009b). Novel function of CRTH2 in preventing apoptosis of human Th2 cells through activation of the phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase pathway. J. Immunol. 182, 7580–7586. doi:10.4049/jimmunol. 0804090

- Xue, L. Z., Barrow, A., Fleming, V. M., Hunter, M. G., Ogg, G., Klenerman, P., et al. (2012). Leukotriene E-4 activates human Th2 cells for exaggerated proinflammatory cytokine production in response to prostaglandin D-2. J. Immunol. 188, 694–702. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1102474
- Xue, L. Z., Gyles, S. L., Barrow, A., and Pettipher, R. (2007). Inhibition of PI3K and calcineurin suppresses chemoattractant receptor-homologous molecule expressed on Th2 cells (CRTH2)dependent responses of Th2 lymphocytes to prostaglandin D-2. *Biochem. Pharmacol.* 73, 843–853. doi:10.1016/j.bcp.2006.11.021
- Yamaoka, K. A., and Kolb, J. P. (1993). Leukotriene-B(4) induces interleukin-5 generation from human T-lymphocytes. *Eur.* J. Immunol. 23, 2392–2398. doi:10.1002/eji.1830231003
- Yang, X. Y., Wang, L. H., Chen, T. S., Hodge, D. R., Resau, J. H., DaSilva, L., et al. (2000). Activation of human T lymphocytes is inhibited by peroxisome proliferatoractivated receptor gamma (PPAR gamma) agonists – PPAR gamma coassociation with transcription factor NFAT. J. Biol. Chem. 275, 4541–4544. doi:10.1074/jbc.275.7.4541
- Yao, C. C., Sakata, D., Esaki, Y., Li, Y. X., Matsuoka, T., Kuroiwa, K., et al. (2009). Prostaglandin E-2-EP4 signaling promotes immune inflammation through T(H)1 cell differentiation and T(H)17 cell expansion. *Nat. Med.* 15, 633–640. doi:10.1038/nm.1968
- Yokomizo, T. (2011). "Leukotriene B-4 receptors: novel roles in immunological regulations," in Advances in Enzyme Regulation, Vol. 51, eds L. Cocco, G. Weber, and C. E. F. Weber (Amsterdam: Elsevier Science), 59–64.
- Yokomizo, T., Izumi, T., Chang, K., Takuwa, Y., and Shimizu, T. (1997). A G-protein-coupled receptor for leukotriene B-4 that mediates chemotaxis. *Nature* 387, 620–624. doi:10.1038/42506
- Yokomizo, T., Izumi, T., and Shimizu, T. (2001). Co-expression of two LTB4 receptors in human mononuclear cells. *Life Sci.* 68, 2207–2212. doi:10. 1016/S0024-3205(01)01007-4
- Yokomizo, T., Kato, K., Terawaki, K., Izumi, T., and Shimizu, T. (2000). A second leukotriene B-4 receptor, BLT2: a new therapeutic target in inflammation and immunological disorders. J. Exp. Med. 192, 421–431. doi:10.1084/jem.192.3.421

- Zeddou, M., Greimers, R., de Valensart, N., Nayjib, B., Tasken, K., Boniver, J., et al. (2005). Prostaglandin E-2 induces the expression of functional inhibitory CD94/NKG2A receptors in human CD8(+) T lymphocytes by a cAMP-dependent protein kinase A type I pathway. *Biochem. Pharmacol.* 70, 714–724. doi:10.1016/j.bcp.2005. 05.015
- Zhou, W. S., Blackwell, T. S., Goleniewska, K., O'Neal, J. F., FitzGerald, G. A., Lucitt, M., et al.

(2007). Prostaglandin I-2 analogs inhibit Th1 and Th2 effector cytokine production by CD4 T cells. *J. Leukoc. Biol.* 81, 809–817. doi:10.1189/jlb.0606375

Zhou, W. S., Dowell, D. R., Huckabee, M. M., Newcomb, D. C., Boswell, M. G., Goleniewska, K., et al. (2012). Prostaglandin I-2 signaling drives Th17 differentiation and exacerbates experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. *PLoS ONE* 7:e33518. doi:10. 1371/journal.pone.0033518 **Conflict of Interest Statement:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Received: 15 April 2013; paper pending published: 09 May 2013; accepted: 17 May 2013; published online: 04 June 2013.

Citation: Lone AM and Taskén K (2013) Proinflammatory and immunoregulatory roles of eicosanoids in T cells. Front. Immunol. **4**:130. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2013.00130

This article was submitted to Frontiers in T Cell Biology, a specialty of Frontiers in Immunology.

Copyright © 2013 Lone and Taskén. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License, which permits use, distribution and reproduction in other forums, provided the original authors and source are credited and subject to any copyright notices concerning any third-party graphics etc.



The vitamin D receptor and T cell function

Martin Kongsbak, Trine B. Levring, Carsten Geisler and Marina Rode von Essen*

Department of International Health, Immunology and Microbiology, Faculty of Health and Medical Sciences, University of Copenhagen, Copenhagen, Denmark

Edited by:

Karsten Sauer, The Scripps Research Institute, USA

Reviewed by:

Christopher E. Rudd, University of Cambridge, UK Gottfried Baier, Medical University of Innsbruck, Austria Amnon Altman, La Jolla Institute for Allergy and Immunology, USA

*Correspondence:

Marina Rode von Essen, Department of International Health, Immunology and Microbiology, Faculty of Health and Medical Sciences, University of Copenhagen, Blegdamsvej 3C, DK-2200 Copenhagen, Denmark e-mail: messen@sund.ku.dk The vitamin D receptor (VDR) is a nuclear, ligand-dependent transcription factor that in complex with hormonally active vitamin D, $1,25(OH)_2D_3$, regulates the expression of more than 900 genes involved in a wide array of physiological functions. The impact of $1,25(OH)_2D_3$ -VDR signaling on immune function has been the focus of many recent studies as a link between $1,25(OH)_2D_3$ and susceptibility to various infections and to development of a variety of inflammatory diseases has been suggested. It is also becoming increasingly clear that microbes slow down immune reactivity by dysregulating the VDR ultimately to increase their chance of survival. Immune modulatory therapies that enhance VDR expression and activity are therefore considered in the clinic today to a greater extent. As T cells are of great importance for both protective immunity and development of inflammatory diseases a variety of studies have been engaged investigating the impact of VDR expression in T cells and found that VDR expression and activity plays an important role in both T cell development, differentiation and effector function. In this review we will analyze current knowledge of VDR regulation and function in T cells and discuss its importance for immune activity.

Keywords: vitamin D receptor, T cell function, vitamin D, signaling, expression, activity

INTRODUCTION

The purpose of the immune system is to recognize and clear pathogens from the body. However, occasionally unwanted immune reactions against self-tissue that lead to autoimmune diseases occur. The frequency of autoimmune diseases such as type 1 diabetes mellitus (Staples et al., 2003; Sloka et al., 2010), rheumatoid arthritis (Vieira et al., 2010), multiple sclerosis (MS) (Hogancamp et al., 1997), and inflammatory bowel disease (Khalili et al., 2012) has been linked to geographic location with a higher incidence of these diseases at higher degrees of latitude. One explanation of this geographical distribution is low exposure to sunlight and hence lower levels of vitamin D (25(OH)D₃) at higher degrees of latitude, as confirmed by studies showing an association between low serum levels of 25(OH)D₃ and development of autoimmune diseases (Pierrot-Deseilligny and Souberbielle, 2010; Rossini et al., 2010; Greer et al., 2012). Low serum levels of 25(OH)D₃ have also been linked to higher susceptibility to infections such as tuberculosis (Nnoaham and Clarke, 2008), influenza (Cannell et al., 2006; Grant, 2008), HIV (Rodriguez et al., 2009), respiratory syncytial virus (Grant, 2008), and viral infections of the upper respiratory tract (Ginde et al., 2009). It is therefore apparent that vitamin D plays a role in immune modulation. A recent acknowledgment that the majority of immune cells expresses the vitamin D receptor (VDR) (Kreutz et al., 1993; Hewison et al., 2003; Baeke et al., 2010; von Essen et al., 2010; Geldmeyer-Hilt et al., 2011; Joseph et al., 2012) and also the enzyme CYP27B1 used for internal conversion of circulating 25(OH)D₃ to the VDR-ligand 1,25(OH)₂D₃ (Hewison et al., 2003; Baeke et al., 2010) has further strengthen this perception.

VITAMIN D, VDR, AND T CELL FUNCTION

MECHANISM OF 1,25(OH)2D3 ACTION

The cellular actions of 1,25(OH)₂D₃ are mediated by the VDR, a ligand-dependent transcription regulator molecule belonging to the superfamily of nuclear receptors. In the absence of 1,25(OH)₂D₃-VDR is mainly distributed to the cytoplasm (Nagpal et al., 2005). Interaction of VDR with its ligand $1,25(OH)_2D_3$ induces formation of two independent protein interaction surfaces on the VDR, one that facilitates association with the retinoid X receptor (RXR) necessary for DNA binding, and one that is required for recruitment of co-regulators necessary for gene modulation (Pike et al., 2012). Following interaction with 1,25(OH)2D3-VDR dimerizes with RXR and translocates to the nucleus where it binds to vitamin D response elements (VDRE) in vitamin D responsive genes. Depending on the target gene either co-activators or co-repressors are attracted to the VDR/RXR complexes to induce or repress gene transcription (Nagpal et al., 2005; Pike et al., 2012; Haussler et al., 2013). Even though details of how these co-regulatory complexes work are only slowly beginning to emerge, it is now evident that they include ATPase-containing nucleosomal remodeling capabilities, enzymes with chromatin histone modifying abilities (e.g., acetyl- or methyl-transferases) and proteins involved in recruitment of RNA polymerase II (Pike et al., 2012; Haussler et al., 2013). Besides regulation through VDRE, VDR can inhibit genes by antagonizing certain transcription factors (Alroy et al., 1995; Takeuchi et al., 1998; Towers and Freedman, 1998). One such example is VDR-dependent inhibition of the T cell cytokine IL-2. Here, VDR first competes with the transcription factor NFAT1 for binding to the enhancer motif of AP1 and subsequently VDR binds to c-Jun. This co-occupancy of VDR-c-Jun to AP1 leads to inhibition of IL-2 expression. The VDR inhibition of the IL-2 gene requires that VDR dimerizes with RXR, illustrating a need for $1,25(OH)_2D_3$ (Alroy et al., 1995; Takeuchi et al., 1998; Towers and Freedman, 1998). Overall, the cellular action of vitamin D therefore depends on sufficient production and delivery of $1,25(OH)_2D_3$ and adequate expression of VDR and its associated proteins. Since the VDR in 1983 was reported to be expressed in immune cells (Bhalla et al., 1983; Provvedini et al., 1983) an increasing effort to elucidate the importance of vitamin D on immune function has been undertaken. It has become increasingly clear that a major mechanism to control the immune regulatory effect of vitamin D is adjustment of the expression level and activity of the VDR.

VDR EXPRESSION AND DEVELOPMENT OF T CELLS

Due to the importance of T cells in protective immunity and in development of inflammatory and autoimmune disorders, several studies have examined the impact of VDR expression on T cell development, differentiation, and function. One approach to determine the role of VDR expression in development of T cells has been to study mice lacking the VDR (VDR-KO). These mice show normal numbers of CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T cells including naturally occurring CD4⁺ FoxP3⁺ regulatory T cells (nTreg) (Yu et al., 2008), suggesting that VDR is not required for development of either of these cell types. A study performed by Hayes and coworkers using a mouse model with defective VDR in only the T cells confirmed that VDR is not essential for development of either conventional CD4⁺ T cells, CD8⁺ T cells, or CD4⁺ FoxP3⁺ nTreg cells (Mayne et al., 2011). Even so, VDR-KO mice appear to have a more vigorous immune response as seen by their increased risk of development of autoimmune diseases (Froicu et al., 2003; Froicu and Cantorna, 2007), and the enhanced response of VDR-KO T cells in mixed lymphocyte reactions (Froicu et al., 2003). In a series of studies Cantorna and coworkers have establish that the increased immune reactivity observed in VDR-KO mice in part is caused by a failure to develop the two regulatory T cell subsets, invariant NKT (iNKT) cells and CD8αα/TCRαβ T cells (Yu and Cantorna, 2008; Yu et al., 2008; Bruce and Cantorna, 2011). iNKT cells are a subset of T cells with a regulatory role in autoimmunity and infection (Godfrey et al., 2000; Bendelac et al., 2001; Singh et al., 2001). CD8αα T cells are mainly present in the gut, where they help maintain tolerance and suppress inflammation by dampening the response to a large number of gut antigens (Poussier et al., 2002; Cheroutre, 2004). The VDR-KO mice have significant fewer iNKT cells, due to a block in development as VDR is implicated in Tbet expression and conversion to the mature NK1.1 expressing mature iNKT cell. The few iNKT cells present in the periphery are furthermore functionally defective (Yu and Cantorna, 2008; Ooi et al., 2012). Like the iNKT cells, there are also fewer CD8αα/TCRαβ precursors in the thymus of VDR-KO animals. Moreover, to complete development CD8aa/TCRaß cells must travel from the thymus to the gastrointestinal tract where IL-15 induces proliferation and upregulation of CD8αα. Due to decreased levels of IL-15 receptor expression VDR-KO CD8αα/TCRαβ cells proliferate poorly, resulting in a diminished mature CD8aa/TCRaß population in the VDR-KO gut (Yu et al., 2008; Bruce and Cantorna, 2011; Ooi et al., 2012). These data illustrate that in contrast to conventional

VDR EXPRESSION AND DIFFERENTIATION OF T CELLS

Adaptive immune responses require priming and proliferation of naïve T cells followed by migration of the resulting effector T cells to the site of infection. Antigen-specific triggering of TCRs expressed on the surface of antigen-naïve T cells together with co-stimulation induces intracellular signaling events that promote upregulation of the VDR (Provvedini et al., 1983; von Essen et al., 2010; Joseph et al., 2012). This activation-induced upregulation of VDR in naïve human T cells encourages 1,25(OH)₂D₃-VDR signaling. 1,25(OH)₂D₃-VDR signaling induces upregulation of the VDRE containing enzyme PLC- γ 1, which is a central molecule in the classical TCR signaling pathway. Following VDR-induced PLC-y1 upregulation classical TCR signaling is established and full T cell activation accomplished (von Essen et al., 2010). VDR expression therefore contributes to priming of naïve human T cells. Interestingly, this VDR-induced PLC- γ 1 upregulation is not a mechanism involved in T cell priming of mouse T cells, as naïve mouse T cells already expresses substantial amounts of PLC-y1 (Ericsson et al., 1996). In order for T cells to proliferate they need the cytokine IL-2. IL-2 is produced and secreted by T cells in response to antigen-induced T cell stimulation. In an autocrine and paracrine fashion IL-2 binds to high affinity IL-2 receptors on the same or adjacent T cells, inducing cell proliferation and hence a clonally expanded population of antigen-specific effector T cells (Cantrell and Smith, 1984; Smith, 1988). As VDR expression has been shown to inhibit transcription of the IL-2 gene (Alroy et al., 1995; Takeuchi et al., 1998), it is likely that upregulation of VDR serves as a negative feedback mechanism to control potential overreactions of the immune system. Besides inducing the early priming phase of naïve human T cells and possibly ensuring immune integrity, Mathieu and coworkers showed that a 1,25(OH)₂D₃ agonist drastically changed the surface expression of homing receptors on both CD4 and CD8 T cells, resulting in a profile corresponding to an increased migration ability to sites of infection (Baeke et al., 2011); and hence implying a role for VDR in all phases of T cell differentiation.

In agreement with a suggested role of VDR in preventing immune overreaction, a changed distribution of naïve and antigen-experienced T cells was observed in a VDR-KO study performed by Bruce et al. (2011). The CD4⁺ T cells had a more activated phenotype and readily developed into the proinflammatory Th17 effector cells that produced twice as much IL-17 as their WT counterparts in vitro (Bruce et al., 2011). Furthermore, vitamin D has been shown to modify the phenotype of antigen presenting dendritic cells (DC) to a more tolerogenic phenotype that favors differentiation of inducible Treg (iTreg) cells instead of the inflammatory Th1 and Th17 cells (Griffin et al., 2001; Adorini et al., 2003; Adorini and Penna, 2009). In VDR-KO mice, the frequency of total DC populations were not affected, but a significant reduction in tolerogenic DCs was observed (Bruce et al., 2011). In accordance with the reduced population of tolerogenic DCs and increased population of activated inflammatory T cells, a decrease in the population of iTregs that differentiated from naïve T cells was observed (Bruce et al., 2011). This lead to an increased pathogenic potential of the T cell population, which manifested in development of more severe experimental inflammatory bowel disease (Bruce et al., 2011). These observations emphasize the importance of VDR expression in controlling the balance between effector and tolerogenic cells.

VDR EXPRESSION AND FUNCTION OF T CELLS

Only few studies have investigated whether there is coherence between VDR expression and T cell effector function. In the iNKT cell study performed by Cantorna and coworkers, a reduction of at least fifty percent in iNKT cells that produced the effector cytokine IL-4 and IFN-y was observed in multiple organs (Yu and Cantorna, 2008). However, as iNKT cells most likely acquire the ability to transcribe IL-4 and IFN- γ during thymic development at the stage where they diverge from conventional T cells (Bezbradica et al., 2006), it is possible that the reduced cytokine production observed is due to defects in iNKT cell development. In a study of conventional T cells from VDR-KO mice, Bruce et al. (2011) showed that VDR-KO Th17 cells induced in in vitro cultures overproduced IL-17 as compared to WT cells. In contrast to the study performed by Cantorna using iNKT cells from VDR-KO mice, Bruce et al. found no change in IFN-y production in the cultured conventional VDR-KO T cells. Taking this into consideration and the fact that Th17 cells are more readily induced in the VDR-KO mice, it is likely that the increased IL-17 production observed by Bruce et al. (2011) is also a developmental defect. Conversely, an in vitro study in human T cells performed by Youssef and coworkers favors a direct effect of VDR on IL-17 production. Here they showed that VDR blocks binding of the transcription factor NFAT1 to the promoter of the human IL-17 gene leading to a decrease in IL-17 production (Joshi et al., 2011). This inhibitory mechanism somehow resembles VDR's control of both IL-2 and GM-CSF transcription in which VDR also inhibits NFAT1 binding to the DNA of the respective cytokine genes (Figure 1) (Alroy et al., 1995; Takeuchi et al., 1998; Towers and Freedman, 1998). As NFAT1 is a transcription factor involved in regulation of a wide range of genes and as VDR's inhibition of NFAT1 appears not to include a canonical VDRE sequence in the promoter regions (Towers and Freedman, 1998), the transcriptional control of VDR's target genes is likely far more widespread than first anticipated. Today, a direct effect of 1,25(OH)₂D₃-VDR signaling on the expression of effector T cell molecules includes not only cytokines but also chemokines and chemokine homing receptors as reviewed by Peelen et al. (2011).

Studies in which either T cell conditional VDR knock-out animals or animal models of adoptive transferred T cells from a VDR knock-out animal would substantially increase our understanding of VDR's direct influence on T cell effector function. Along this line Hayes and coworkers developed a mouse model in which only the T cells included an inactive VDR gene in order to investigate the implication of T cells in development of autoimmunity. In this model T cells developed normally in thymus but peripheral T cells expressing an inactive VDR were resistant to the inhibitory effect of vitamin D on autoimmune disease development (Mayne et al., 2011). Future studies will likely elaborate on specific T cell effector functions in similar animal models.

ALLELIC VARIATIONS AND NON-FUNCTIONAL VDR IN THE HUMAN POPULATION

Allelic variants of the VDR gene occur naturally in the human population. Even though interpretation of these polymorphic variants in relation to different diseases is difficult due to the small numbers of subjects included in the performed studies, an association with disease risk has been suggested. This includes a greater susceptibility to infections and a higher incidence of autoimmune diseases and cancer. The impact of VDR polymorphism on VDR function may in part be due to reduced VDR-mRNA stability and hence of reduced VDR expression (Feldman et al., 2005). In addition to allelic variations of the VDR gene, a rare genetic disorder has been described in which the VDR gene contain mutations that renders the gene product non-functional. This includes mutations in the DNA-binding domain and in the ligand binding domain, rendering binding of VDR to DNA, RXR, or co-regulators impossible (Malloy and Feldman, 2010). Individuals with a non-functional VDR suffer from the absence of VDR signaling giving rise to the disease hereditary vitamin D resistant rickets (HVDRR). In HVDRR patients the serum level of 1,25(OH)₂D₃ is exceedingly high and most patients are completely resistant to vitamin D therapy. As there are only very few cases of HVDRR, long-term effects of defective VDR signaling on immune function such as development of autoimmune diseases and control of cancer have not yet been documented (Malloy and Feldman, 2010). A promising model system regarding this issue is the VDR-KO mouse in which the VDR gene has been deleted. These mice show increased sensitivity to autoimmune diseases, and are more prone to oncogeneand chemocarcinogen-induced tumors (Bouillon et al., 2008) illustrating a possible in vivo relation between VDR expression and immune function.

REGULATION OF VDR EXPRESSION AND ACTIVITY

The studies described above have led to an understanding of the importance of VDR expression in T cell development, differentiation, and function. Even though the abundance of VDR in T cells reflects the cells responsiveness to $1,25(OH)_2D_3$, this concept likely is far more complex. Besides transcriptional regulation of the VDR, additional factors with an impact on VDR activity should be considered. This includes ligand availability, induction of intracellular signaling pathways, posttranslational modifications of VDR, nuclear translocation, and DNA binding as well as recruitment of activated co-regulators.

LIGAND AVAILABILITY

The role of the VDR-ligand 1,25(OH)₂D₃ is to convert VDR into a functionally active protein that can bind to RXR and to specific gene sequences and co-regulators necessary for modulation of gene expression (Pike, 2011; Pike et al., 2012; Haussler et al., 2013). Availability of 1,25(OH)₂D₃ is therefore a prerequisite for VDR activity. The circulating concentration of 1,25(OH)₂D₃ is very low (\leq 100 pM) compared to its metabolic inactive precursor 25(OH)D₃ (\leq 100 nM) (Feldman et al., 2005). During an immune reaction it is therefore most likely that the source of 1,25(OH)₂D₃ predominantly is endogenous production from the precursor molecule 25(OH)D₃. In support of this, several studies of immune cells have revealed that 25(OH)D₃ can be taken up and



FIGURE 1 | Proposed model for VDR signaling in T cells. Various extracellular signals including infection, inflammation, steroid and peptide hormones, and diet are involved in regulation of the intracellular VDR level. During an immune response the TCR is triggered by specific antigens, inducing a cascade of intracellular signaling events. Among these, lck and ZAP-70 are activated leading to activation of the p38 kinase which in naïve human T cells induce expression of VDR. TCR triggering also promotes expression of the 1,25(OH)₂D₃ synthesis enzyme CYP27B1. Through intrinsic synthesis of 1,25(OH)₂D₃ and uptake of 1,25(OH)₂D₃ from the extracellular environment, VDR is activated and translocated into the nucleus where it either induce or suppress transcription of a variety of genes. As an example, VDR induce upregulation of PLC- γ 1 in naïve human T cells. Once PLC- γ 1 is expressed, TCR induced activation of PLC- γ 1 leads to activation of PKA and PKC and an increase in the intracellular calcium level. In other cell types PKA and PKC has been shown to modulate expression of VDR, depending on the particular cell type and cellular differentiation state investigated. An increase in intracellular calcium concentration activates NFAT1 a necessary transcription factor for expression of IL2 and other cytokines. IL2 is a cytokine required for proliferation of T cells and one mechanism by which VDR adjust T cell activity is to outcompete NFAT1's binding to the IL2 promoter and furthermore to down-regulate the actual expression of NFAT1. To control VDR activity a series of negative feedback loops exists; activated VDR both induce expression of the 1,25(OH)₂D₃ degrading enzyme CYP27B1.

subsequently converted into $1,25(OH)_2D_3$ through the action of the enzyme CYP27B1 (Figure 1) (Jeffery et al., 2012). CYP27B1 has been identified in most cells of the immune system (Fritsche et al., 2003; Liu et al., 2006; Sigmundsdottir et al., 2007; Krutzik

et al., 2008; Correale et al., 2009; Baeke et al., 2010), however, it is not clear whether all cells can take up the precursor $25(OH)D_3$ and convert it. When $1,25(OH)_2D_3$ is synthesized a great part is secreted to adjacent cells, minimizing the need for endogenous production in all immune cells (Jeffery et al., 2012). In addition, 1,25(OH)₂D₃ holds the capacity to restrict its own synthesis by exerting a negative feedback on the vitamin D signaling system. 1,25(OH)₂D₃ induces displacement of a key transcriptional factor responsible for CYP27B1 expression leading to a decrease in CYP27B1 (Murayama et al., 1999) and also induces a rapid binding of VDR-RXR to the promoter sequence of the 1,25(OH)₂D₃ degrading enzyme CYP24A1 leading to an increase in CYP24A1 (**Figure 1**) (Ohyama et al., 1996; Kim et al., 2005). The net result is a reduction in endogenous 1,25(OH)₂D₃. As illustrated by Vidal et al. this negative feedback mechanism can be partly prevented by inflammatory-induced proteins. In this study, they showed that IFN- γ induced activation of STAT1 promoted binding of STAT1 to the DNA-binding domain of VDR, preventing VDR from inducing expression of CYP24A1 (Vidal et al., 2002).

A major determinant of 25(OH)D₃ availability is the carrier protein DBP that binds most circulating vitamin D in the serum. In immune reactions DBP restricts the availability of 25(OH)D₃ to the immune cells (Chun et al., 2010; Jeffery et al., 2012). More than 100 genotypes of DBP have been documented but most people express the three most common variants GC1S, GC1F, and GC2 (Arnaud and Constans, 1993). These DBP variants have different properties including a difference in their affinity for 25(OH)D₃ (Arnaud and Constans, 1993; Wood et al., 2011). In vitro studies performed with immune cells using different DBP genotypes in addition to 25(OH)D₃ have shown that the particular genotype used influences the magnitude of the immune response (Chun et al., 2010; Jeffery et al., 2012). Along this line, an association between DBP genotype and development of inflammatory diseases has been described (Papiha and Pal, 1985; Speeckaert et al., 2006; Martineau et al., 2010). 1,25(OH)2D3 availability therefore is the sum of the circulating 25(OH)D₃ level, DBP genotype, CYP27B1 function, near proximity to other cells that produces and secretes 1,25(OH)₂D₃ and 1,25(OH)₂D₃ self-restriction.

EXTRACELLULAR SIGNALS THAT MODULATE VDR EXPRESSION

Vitamin D receptor expression can be modulated by numerous physical stimuli such as dietary composition (e.g., calcium and phosphorus), steroid hormones, growth factors, peptide hormones (Feldman et al., 2011), and inflammatory agents (Provvedini et al., 1983; Liu et al., 2006, 2009; von Essen et al., 2010; Joseph et al., 2012). For example, VDR expression is significantly regulated by the steroid hormones estrogen, glucocorticoid, and retinoids which appears to be rather cell specific (Feldman et al., 2011). The effect of glucocorticoid on VDR expression in the immune system has not been evaluated, but glucocorticoids are known to have a profound anti-inflammatory and immune suppressive effect (Miller and Ranatunga, 2012). Glucocorticoid therapy is used to suppress inflammation implicated in the pathogenesis of various inflammatory diseases (Hanaoka et al., 2012; Miller and Ranatunga, 2012), and it could be speculated that one mechanism used by glucocorticoids to suppress immune responses is by increasing the expression levels of VDR. Estrogen (Chighizola and Meroni, 2012) and retinoids (Cassani et al., 2012) also appear to have strong immunomodulatory effects, but like glucocorticoid the implication of VDR regulation as a possible mechanism to

modulate immune function has not been investigated. Receptors for the peptide hormone parathyroid hormone (PTH) was recently identified on T cells (Geara et al., 2010). This renders PTH-induced modulation of VDR expression in T cells a possibility as observed for other cell types (Feldman et al., 2011). Again, this is unexplored territory even though PTH possesses an immune regulatory ability (Geara et al., 2010). The most well described hormonal effect on VDR activity and expression is that of $1,25(OH)_2D_3$ itself, as $1,25(OH)_2D_3$ directly influences the expression levels of VDR by homologous regulation. Although varying between different cell types, $1,25(OH)_2D_3$ in general increases VDR-mRNA production (McDonnell et al., 1987), stabilizes VDR-mRNA, and protects the VDR against degradation (Feldman et al., 2005), altogether increasing the total amount of the VDR.

Various inflammatory signals have also been shown to induce upregulation of VDR in immune cells. During an innate immune response, pathogen-induce activation of toll-like-receptors on human monocytes and macrophages results in upregulation of the VDR (Liu et al., 2006). Likewise, antigen-induced activation of TCR on human naïve T cells induce upregulation of the VDR (Provvedini et al., 1983; von Essen et al., 2010; Joseph et al., 2012). Furthermore, T cell cytokines induced during inflammation can modulate VDR expression (Edfeldt et al., 2010; Spanier et al., 2012), illustrating that regulation of the VDR level is a common mechanism used in the defense against pathogens.

INTRACELLULAR SIGNALING PATHWAYS THAT MODULATE VDR EXPRESSION

Modulation of VDR expression as a result of physical stimuli is mediated by various intracellular signaling pathways. Although only a sparse numbers of publications concern this issue, a few studies agree that activation of the cAMP-dependent protein kinase A (PKA) pathway leads to an increase in VDR abundance (Pols et al., 1988; Krishnan and Feldman, 1992; Song, 1996). Both cellular responses to PTH (Pols et al., 1988) and to prostaglandin (Smith et al., 1999) activate PKA causing an increase in the VDR level. In contrast, Feldman and coworkers showed that stimuli that induce protein kinase C (PKC) activity down-regulate both VDRmRNA and VDR protein levels in fibroblastic cells (Krishnan and Feldman, 1991). Moreover, Reinhardt and Horst (1994) has shown that the impact of PKC activation on the VDR-mRNA level highly depends on the particular cellular differentiation state investigated. This suggests that other signaling pathways may cooperate to determine the final effect on VDR expression. In support of this idea, a study by Krishnan and Feldman (1992) indicated a mutual antagonism between the PKA and PKC pathways in regulation of the VDR level, an observation confirmed by others (van Leeuwen et al., 1992). Furthermore, it has been suggested that the intracellular calcium level that is known to influence and be influenced by PKC activity is implicated in PKA induced VDR upregulation (Figure 1) (van Leeuwen et al., 1990). A new signaling pathway which leads to VDR expression has recently been described in human naïve T cells. Here, TCR stimulation induces VDR expression through activation of the p38 mitogen activated protein kinase by ZAP-70 (Figure 1) (von Essen et al., 2010). In contrast, Gocek et al. (2007) showed that VDR expression was controlled by Erk and PI3K signaling in a myeloid leukemia cell line where p38 activity appeared irrelevant. This implies that not only might different intracellular signaling pathways cooperate to regulate the expression of VDR, but also that the implicated signaling events differs between different cell types and different differentiation states of the cells.

TRANSCRIPTIONAL REGULATION OF VDR

Until recently the regulatory responses to hormones at the VDRgene promoter were unknown. To clarify this, Zella et al. (2010) used ChIP-chip analysis to investigate the VDR gene transcription. These investigations revealed the presence of several enhancers, including the transcription factor C/EBPB involved in basal expression of VDR as well as the transcription factor glucocorticoid receptor (GR) which mediates the action of glucocorticoids, the transcription factor retinoid acid receptor (RAR) mediating the action of retinoic acid, and the transcription factor CREB mediating the action of PTH (Zella et al., 2010). In case of VDR enhancement by 1,25(OH)2D3, Zella et al. (2006, 2010) found accumulation of VDR-RXR and RNA pol II at the VDR gene together with an increase in C/EBPß binding. They also detected a substantial increase in histon H4 acetylation associated with enhancer regions across the VDR locus (Zella et al., 2010). An induction of transcription from promoters is often associated with an increase in H4 acetylation, and the observations therefore indicated the existence of multiple enhancers in the VDR-gene locus that may contribute to 1,25(OH)₂D₃-induced VDR expression. Transcriptional regulation of the VDR gene therefore includes the presence and activity of a wide range of enhancers induced by extracellular signals as well as induction of various epigenetic changes. In case of inflammatory-induced VDR upregulation, the regulatory responses at transcriptional level have not been investigated. As new techniques such as ChIP-chip and ChIPseq have emerged, this topic will likely be explored in nearby future.

POSTTRANSLATIONAL MODIFICATIONS OF VDR

In addition to transcriptional regulation of VDR, several in vitro studies have suggested that VDR can be post-translationally modified. Studies by Haussler and coworkers revealed that 1,25(OH)₂D₃ binding to VDR led to serine phosphorylation at multiple sites of the receptor. PKC was implicated in phosphorylation at serine 51, an event that partly inhibited VDR transcriptional activity (Hsieh et al., 1991). Although not required for VDR transcriptional activity, casein kinase II (CK II)-induced phosphorylation at serine 208 led to an enhancement of VDR transcriptional activity (Jurutka et al., 1996). As both PKC and CKII activity is induced in cells in response to various stimuli, it can be proposed that these posttranslational modifications although probably not obligatory for VDR function represents a mode to adjust the activity of VDR according to the specific signals received by the cell. Disease-induced posttranslational modifications leading to a dysfunctional VDR has also been documented. In a study by Patel et al. (1995) plasma toxins from uremic patients was shown to bind to the patients VDR, thereby disrupting binding of VDR-RXR to DNA resulting in a diminished VDR response. It so appears that posttranslational modifications of VDR adjust VDR activity in both health and disease.

RXR AND OTHER CO-REGULATORS OF VDR

The genomic actions of 1,25(OH)₂D₃ also highly depends on the abundance and activity of proteins that interact with VDR. Binding of VDR to its ligand 1,25(OH)₂D₃ facilitates association with RXR and in the absence of RXR, VDR is unable to bind to most VDRE in vitamin D target genes (Kliewer et al., 1992; Forman et al., 1995; Chambon, 1996). In addition to RXR binding, VDR interacts with various co-activators or co-repressors once bound to the DNA (Nagpal et al., 2005; Pike et al., 2012; Haussler et al., 2013). These co-regulatory complexes are necessary for the VDR-RXR heterodimer to either induce or suppress gene transcription and include ATPase-containing nucleosomal remodeling capabilities, enzymes with chromatin histone modifying abilities (e.g., acetyl- or methyl-transferases), and proteins involved in recruitment of RNA polymerase II (Pike et al., 2012). GRIP1 (Issa et al., 2001), RAC3 (Issa et al., 2001), SRC-1 (Masuyama et al., 1997a), TIF-1 (vom et al., 1996), ACTR (Chen et al., 1997), pCIP (Torchia et al., 1997), and Mediator (Oda et al., 2010) are some of the described co-activator proteins and co-activator complexes to date. These co-activators all regulate VDR function through coassembling with VDR but they modulate VDR activity via distinct mechanisms. GRIP1 and RAC3 for example regulate VDR activity by modulating crosstalk between VDR and RXR (Issa et al., 2001), ACTR encompass histone acetyltransferase capacity and can recruit other nuclear factors (Chen et al., 1997), and Mediator which is a large complex composed of several MED-proteins activates transcription by direct recruitment of the RNA polymerase II transcriptional machinery (Oda et al., 2010). Although most co-activators facilitate VDR-induced transcriptional activation by binding to VDR, others are shown to be released from VDR to enable transcription, e.g., TFIIB (Masuyama et al., 1997b); illustrating the functional complexity of these co-activator complexes. Only a few co-repressor proteins involved in VDR silencing of genes have been described. As an example NcoR-1, NcoR-2, and Hairless can recruit histone deacetylase activity to VDR-target genes, leading to chromatin compaction and hence gene silencing (Nagpal et al., 2005). A recent study by Singh et al. (2012) furthermore showed that recruitment of co-repressors inappropriately can change during disease, causing a deregulation of VDR-target genes. In addition to transcriptional control of VDR, co-regulator proteins can modulate VDR abundance by enhancing degradation of VDR. Certain cellular signaling events have been shown to motivate the physical interaction of VDR-1,25(OH)₂D₃ with SUG1 of the proteasome complex, targeting VDR for ubiquitination and subsequent proteolysis (Masuyama and MacDonald, 1998). Therefore, it is evident that regulation of the expression level of RXR and other co-regulators are important to modulate the activity of VDR, and it could be speculated that expression of particular co-regulators are dictated by the inflammatory environment.

T CELLS MODULATE VDR EXPRESSION IN OTHER IMMUNE CELLS

A recent study by Edfeldt et al. revealed that VDR expression is not only modulated on a single cell level. Their study showed that VDR expression of innate immune cells could be regulated by nearby T cells (Edfeldt et al., 2010). In innate immunity, pathogen-induced signaling through Toll-like-receptors on human monocytes and macrophages up-regulate the expression of VDR. This in turn, leads to VDR-induced expression of the antimicrobial peptide cathelicidin resulting in killing of microbes (Liu et al., 2006). VDR-induced cathelicidin expression by human monocytes was shown to be adjusted by cytokines produced by T cells. By modulating the level of VDR and the amount of VDR-ligand available by adjusting the CYP27B1 level, the T cell cytokine IFN- γ increases cathelicidin expression and IL-4 attenuates cathelicidin expression (Edfeldt et al., 2010). This example illustrates how interplay between innate and adaptive immunity cooperates to mount an appropriate response to infection through regulation of the VDR-system.

CONCLUDING REMARKS

This review indicates that VDR expression and activity are important for all stages of a T cells life, ranging from development to differentiation and elicitation of effector functions. In concordance, VDR expression and activity are associated with immunity against certain infections and with the prevalence of some autoimmune diseases. In animal models 1,25(OH)₂D₃ has been shown to prevent development of autoimmune diseases. This includes experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis (EAE), the animal model for MS (Mayne et al., 2011). EAE studies performed in VDR-KO animals (Bouillon et al., 2008) or in animals with a dysfunctional VDR (Mayne et al., 2011) illustrates the requirement of a functional VDR in 1,25(OH)2D3 mediated EAE-inhibition. Furthermore, a study by Hayes and coworkers showed that VDR-gene inactivation selectively in the T cells completely eradicated the ability of 1,25(OH)₂D₃ to inhibit EAE (Mayne et al., 2011). The biological relevance of low levels of VDR in development of MS was confirmed in a microarray analysis performed by Achiron et al. Here they compared blood mononuclear cells from healthy subjects that later developed MS with healthy subjects that remained MS-free. One of the early disease markers identified turned out to be suppressed VDR expression (Achiron et al., 2010). These observations may not only reflect a change in conventional T cells (e.g., development of more memory T cells that are predisposed to develop into Th1 and Th17 cells as observed in VDR-KO mice (Bruce et al., 2011) but also a reduced development of iNKT cells (as observed in VDR-KO mice, Yu and Cantorna, 2008; Ooi et al., 2012). iNKT cells are negative regulators of EAE (Matsuda et al., 2008) and furthermore, fewer iNKT cells can be found in the blood of MS patients (Araki et al., 2003). Along this line Araki et al. (2003) showed that an increase in iNKT cell number is associated with

REFERENCES

- Achiron, A., Grotto, I., Balicer, R., Magalashvili, D., Feldman, A., and Gurevich, M. (2010). Microarray analysis identifies altered regulation of nuclear receptor family members in the pre-disease state of multiple sclerosis. *Neurobiol. Dis.* 38, 201–209. doi:10.1016/j.nbd. 2009.12.029
- Adorini, L., and Penna, G. (2009). Dendritic cell tolerogenicity: a key mechanism in immunomodulation by vitamin D receptor agonists. *Hum. Immunol.* 70, 345–352. doi:10.1016/j.humimm.2009.01.016

Adorini, L., Penna, G., Giarratana, N., and Uskokovic, M. (2003). Tolerogenic dendritic cells induced by vitamin D receptor ligands enhance regulatory T cells inhibiting allograft rejection and autoimmune diseases. J. Cell. Biochem. 88, 227–233. doi:10.1002/ jcb.10340

Alroy, I., Towers, T. L., and Freedman, L. P. (1995). Transcriptional repression of the interleukin-2 gene by vitamin D3: direct inhibition of NFATp/AP-1 complex formation by a nuclear hormone receptor. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 15, 5789–5799. remission from symptoms in MS patients. Altogether, these observations emphasize a role for VDR expression in development and progression of autoimmunity.

Most experiments investigating susceptibility to a given autoimmune disease is, however, based on animal models. The question therefore remains whether these animal models which are executed in a pathogen free environment reflect the real life situation where humans continuously are bombarded with a variety of pathogens. It is slowly becoming apparent that the microbial environment has a greater influence on development of autoimmune diseases than previously anticipated. For example, certain microbes have been shown to slow innate immune defenses by dysregulating the VDR. One mechanism used by the innate immune system to clear a pathogen is VDR-induced production of the antimicrobial peptide cathelicidin which possesses antiviral, antibacterial, and antifungal activity. Therefore, any microbe capable of dysregulating expression of the VDR would enhance its chance for survival (Waterhouse et al., 2009; Proal et al., 2013). Klein and coworkers illustrated in vitro that Epstein-Barr virus (EBV) were able to effectively down-regulate expression of VDR in B cells (Yenamandra et al., 2009), Modlin and coworkers that Mycobacterium leprae inhibits VDR activity through down-regulation of CYP27B1 in monocytes (Liu et al., 2012), Wang and coworkers that Mycobacterium tuberculosis down-regulate expression of VDR in macrophages (Xu et al., 2003), and McElvaney and coworkers that the fungus Aspergillus fumigates secretes a toxin capable of down-regulating VDR in macrophages (Coughlan et al., 2012). This allows pathogens to accumulate in tissue and blood and the weakened innate defense further causes susceptibility to additional infections. As more pathogens are incorporated into this microbiome, people start to show symptoms characteristic of inflammatory and autoimmune diseases. Accumulating evidence now supports the observation that a number of autoimmune diseases can be reversed by restoring VDR function (using the VDR agonist olmesartan) along with antibiotics. This includes rheumatoid arthritis, systemic lupus erythematosis, sarcoidosis, scleroderma, psoriasis, Sjogren's syndrome, autoimmune thyroid disease, and type I and II diabetes mellitus (Waterhouse et al., 2009; Proal et al., 2013). Knowledge of the regulation of VDR abundance and activity in immune cells potentially is of great therapeutic importance, and therapeutic enhancement of VDR should therefore be considered in the clinic todav.

- Araki, M., Kondo, T., Gumperz, J. E., Brenner, M. B., Miyake, S., and Yamamura, T. (2003). Th2 bias of CD4+ NKT cells derived from multiple sclerosis in remission. *Int. Immunol.* 15, 279–288. doi:10.1093/intimm/dxg029
- Arnaud, J., and Constans, J. (1993). Affinity differences for vitamin D metabolites associated with the genetic isoforms of the human serum carrier protein (DBP). *Hum. Genet.* 92, 183–188. doi:10.1007/BF00219689
- Baeke, F., Korf, H., Overbergh, L., van, E. E., Verstuyf, A., Gysemans,

C., et al. (2010). Human T lymphocytes are direct targets of 1,25-dihydroxyvitamin D3 in the immune system. J. Steroid Biochem. Mol. Biol. 121, 221–227. doi:10.1016/j.jsbmb.2010.03.037

Baeke, F., Korf, H., Overbergh, L., Verstuyf, A., Thorrez, L., Van, L. L., et al. (2011). The vitamin D analog, TX527, promotes a human CD4+CD25highCD127low regulatory T cell profile and induces a migratory signature specific for homing to sites of inflammation. J. Immunol. 186, 132–142. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1000695

- Bendelac, A., Bonneville, M., and Kearney, J. F. (2001). Autoreactivity by design: innate B and T lymphocytes. *Nat. Rev. Immunol.* 1, 177–186. doi:10.1038/35105052
- Bezbradica, J. S., Gordy, L. E., Stanic, A. K., Dragovic, S., Hill, T., Hawiger, J., et al. (2006). Granulocytemacrophage colony-stimulating factor regulates effector differentiation of invariant natural killer T cells during thymic ontogeny. *Immunity* 25, 487–497. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2006.06.017
- Bhalla, A. K., Amento, E. P., Clemens, T. L., Holick, M. F., and Krane, S. M. (1983). Specific high-affinity receptors for 1,25-dihydroxyvitamin D3 in human peripheral blood mononuclear cells: presence in monocytes and induction in T lymphocytes following activation. J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab. 57, 1308–1310. doi:10.1210/jcem-57-6-1308
- Bouillon, R., Carmeliet, G., Verlinden, L., van, E. E., Verstuyf, A., Luderer, H. F., et al. (2008). Vitamin D and human health: lessons from vitamin D receptor null mice. *Endocr. Rev.* 29, 726–776. doi:10.1210/er.2008-0004
- Bruce, D., and Cantorna, M. T. (2011). Intrinsic requirement for the vitamin D receptor in the development of CD8alphaalpha-expressing T cells. J. Immunol. 186, 2819–2825. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1003444
- Bruce, D., Yu, S., Ooi, J. H., and Cantorna, M. T. (2011). Converging pathways lead to overproduction of IL-17 in the absence of vitamin D signaling. *Int. Immunol.* 23, 519–528. doi:10.1093/intimm/dxr045
- Cannell, J. J., Vieth, R., Umhau, J. C., Holick, M. F., Grant, W. B., Madronich, S., et al. (2006). Epidemic influenza and vitamin D. *Epidemiol. Infect.* 134, 1129–1140. doi:10.1017/S0950268806007175
- Cantrell, D. A., and Smith, K. A. (1984). The interleukin-2 Tcell system: a new cell growth model. *Science* 224, 1312–1316. doi:10.1126/science.6427923
- Cassani, B., Villablanca, E. J., De, C. J., Wang, S., and Mora, J. R. (2012). Vitamin A and immune regulation: role of retinoic acid in gut-associated dendritic cell education, immune protection and tolerance. *Mol. Aspects Med.* 33, 63–76. doi:10.1016/j.mam.2011.11.001
- Chambon, P. (1996). A decade of molecular biology of retinoic acid receptors. *FASEB J.* 10, 940–954.
- Chen, H., Lin, R. J., Schiltz, R. L., Chakravarti, D., Nash, A., Nagy,

L., et al. (1997). Nuclear receptor coactivator ACTR is a novel histone acetyltransferase and forms a multimeric activation complex with P/CAF and CBP/p300. *Cell* 90, 569–580. doi:10.1016/S0092-8674(00)80516-4

- Cheroutre, H. (2004). Starting at the beginning: new perspectives on the biology of mucosal T cells. *Annu. Rev. Immunol.* 22, 217–246. doi:10.1146/annurev.immunol.22. 012703.104522
- Chighizola, C., and Meroni, P. L. (2012). The role of environmental estrogens and autoimmunity. *Autoimmun. Rev.* 11, A493–A501. doi:10.1016/j.autrev.2011.11.027
- Chun, R. F., Lauridsen, A. L., Suon, L., Zella, L. A., Pike, J. W., Modlin, R. L., et al. (2010). Vitamin D-binding protein directs monocyte responses to 25-hydroxy- and 1,25-dihydroxyvitamin D. J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab. 95, 3368–3376. doi:10.1210/jc.2010-0195
- Correale, J., Ysrraelit, M. C., and Gaitan, M. I. (2009). Immunomodulatory effects of vitamin D in multiple sclerosis. *Brain* 132, 1146–1160. doi:10.1093/brain/awp033
- Coughlan, C. A., Chotirmall, S. H., Renwick, J., Hassan, T., Low, T. B., Bergsson, G., et al. (2012). The effect of Aspergillus fumigatus infection on vitamin D receptor expression in cystic fibrosis. Am. J. Respir. Crit. Care Med. 186, 999–1007. doi:10.1164/rccm.201203-0478OC
- Edfeldt, K., Liu, P. T., Chun, R., Fabri, M., Schenk, M., Wheelwright, M., et al. (2010). Tcell cytokines differentially control human monocyte antimicrobial responses by regulating vitamin D metabolism. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 107, 22593–22598. doi:10.1073/pnas.1011624108
- Ericsson, P. O., Orchansky, P. L., Carlow, D. A., and Teh, H. S. (1996). Differential activation of phospholipase C-gamma 1 and mitogen-activated protein kinase in naive and antigenprimed CD4 T cells by the peptide/MHC ligand. J. Immunol. 156, 2045–2053.
- Feldman, D., Pike, J. W., and Adams, J. S. (2011). Vitamin D, 3rd Edn. Philadelphia: Elsevier.
- Feldman, D., Pike, J. W., and Gloreieux, F. (2005). *Vitamin D*, 2nd Edn. Philadelphia: Elsevier.
- Forman, B. M., Umesono, K., Chen, J., and Evans, R. M. (1995). Unique response pathways are established by allosteric interactions among nuclear hormone receptors.

Cell 19, 541–550. doi:10.1016/0092-8674(95)90075-6

- Fritsche, J., Mondal, K., Ehrnsperger, A., Andreesen, R., and Kreutz, (2003). Regulation М. of 25-hydroxyvitamin D3-1 alphahydroxylase and production of alpha,25-dihydroxyvitamin 1 D3 by human dendritic cells Blood 102. 3314-3316 doi:10.1182/blood-2002-11-3521
- Froicu, M., and Cantorna, M. T. (2007). Vitamin D and the vitamin D receptor are critical for control of the innate immune response to colonic injury. *BMC Immunol.* 8:5. doi:10.1186/1471-2172-8-5
- Froicu, M., Weaver, V., Wynn, T. A., McDowell, M. A., Welsh, J. E., and Cantorna, M. T. (2003). A crucial role for the vitamin D receptor in experimental inflammatory bowel diseases. *Mol. Endocrinol.* 17, 2386–2392. doi:10.1210/me.2003-0281
- Geara, A. S., Castellanos, M. R., Bassil, C., Schuller-Levis, G., Park, E., Smith, M., et al. (2010). Effects of parathyroid hormone on immune function. *Clin. Dev. Immunol.* 2010:418695. doi:10.1155/2010/418695
- Geldmeyer-Hilt, K., Heine, G., Hartmann, B., Baumgrass, R., Radbruch, A., and Worm, M. (2011). 1,25-Dihydroxyvitamin D3 impairs NF-kappaB activation in human naive B cells. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* 407, 699–702. doi:10.1016/j.bbrc.2011.03.078
- Ginde, A. A., Mansbach, J. M., and Camargo, C. A. Jr. (2009). Association between serum 25hydroxyvitamin D level and upper respiratory tract infection in the Third National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey. *Arch. Intern. Med.* 169, 384–390. doi:10.1001/archinternmed.2008.560
- Gocek, E., Kielbinski, M., and Marcinkowska, E. (2007). Activation of intracellular signaling pathways is necessary for an increase in VDR expression and its nuclear translocation. *FEBS Lett.* 581, 1751–1757. doi:10.1016/j.febslet.2007.03.055
- Godfrey, D. I., Hammond, K. J., Poulton, L. D., Smyth, M. J., and Baxter, A. G. (2000). NKT cells: facts, functions and fallacies. *Immunol. Today* 21, 573–583. doi:10.1016/S0167-5699(00)01735-7
- Grant, W. B. (2008). Variations in vitamin D production could possibly explain the seasonality of childhood respiratory infections in Hawaii. *Pediatr. Infect. Dis. J.* 27, 853. doi:10.1097/INF.0b013e3181817bc1

- Greer, R. M., Portelli, S. L., Hung, B. S., Cleghorn, G. J., McMahon, S. K., Batch, J. A., et al. (2012). Serum vitamin D levels are lower in Australian children and adolescents with type 1 diabetes than in children without diabetes. *Pediatr. Diabetes* 14, 31–41. doi:10.1111/j.1399-5448.2012.00890.x
- Griffin, M. D., Lutz, W., Phan, V. A., Bachman, L. A., McKean, D. J., and Kumar, R. (2001). Dendritic cell modulation by Ialpha,25 dihydroxyvitamin D3 and its analogs: a vitamin D receptordependent pathway that promotes a persistent state of immaturity in vitro and in vivo. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 98, 6800–6805. doi:10.1073/pnas.121172198
- Hanaoka, B. Y., Peterson, C. A., Horbinski, C., and Crofford, L. J. (2012). Implications of glucocorticoid therapy in idiopathic inflammatory myopathies. *Nat. Rev. Rheumatol.* 8, 448–457. doi:10.1038/nrrheum.2012.85
- Haussler, M. R., Whitfield, G. K., Kaneko, I., Haussler, C. A., Hsieh, D., Hsieh, J. C., et al. (2013). Molecular mechanisms of vitamin D action. *Calcif. Tissue Int.* 92, 77–98. doi:10.1007/s00223-012-9619-0
- Hewison, M., Freeman, L., Hughes, S. V., Evans, K. N., Bland, R., Eliopoulos, A. G., et al. (2003). Differential regulation of vitamin D receptor and its ligand in human monocytederived dendritic cells. *J. Immunol.* 170, 5382–5390.
- Hogancamp, W. E., Rodriguez, M., and Weinshenker, B. G. (1997). The epidemiology of multiple sclerosis. *Mayo Clin. Proc.* 72, 871–878. doi:10.4065/72.9.871
- Hsieh, J. C., Jurutka, P. W., Galligan, M. A., Terpening, C. M., Haussler, C. A., Samuels, D. S., et al. (1991). Human vitamin D receptor is selectively phosphorylated by protein kinase C on serine 51, a residue crucial to its trans-activation function. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 88, 9315–9319. doi:10.1073/pnas.88.20.9315
- Issa, L. L., Leong, G. M., Barry, J. B., Sutherland, R. L., and Eisman, J. A. (2001). Glucocorticoid receptor-interacting protein-1 and receptor-associated coactivator-3 differentially interact with the vitamin D receptor (VDR) and regulate VDR-retinoid X receptor transcriptional cross-talk. *Endocrinology* 142, 1606–1615. doi:10.1210/en.142.4.1606
- Jeffery, L. E., Wood, A. M., Qureshi, O. S., Hou, T. Z., Gardner, D., Briggs, Z., et al. (2012). Availability of

25-hydroxyvitamin D3 to APCs controls the balance between regulatory and inflammatory T cell responses. *J. Immunol.* 189, 5155–5164. doi:10.4049/iimmunol.1200786

- Joseph, R. W., Bayraktar, U. D., Kim, T. K., St John, L. S., Popat, U., Khalili, J., et al. (2012). Vitamin D receptor upregulation in alloreactive human T cells. *Hum. Immunol.* 73, 693–698. doi:10.1016/j.humimm.2012.04.019
- Joshi, S., Pantalena, L. C., Liu, X. K., Gaffen, S. L., Liu, H., Rohowsky-Kochan, C., et al. (2011). 1,25-Dihydroxyvitamin D(3) ameliorates Th17 autoimmunity via transcriptional modulation of interleukin-17A. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 31, 3653–3669. doi:10.1128/MCB.05020-11
- Jurutka, P. W., Hsieh, J. C., Nakajima, S., Haussler, C. A., Whitfield, G. K., and Haussler, M. R. (1996). Human vitamin D receptor phosphorylation by casein kinase II at Ser-208 potentiates transcriptional activation. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 93, 3519–3524. doi:10.1073/pnas.93.8.3519
- Khalili, H., Huang, E. S., Ananthakrishnan, A. N., Higuchi, L., Richter, J. M., Fuchs, C. S., et al. (2012). Geographical variation and incidence of inflammatory bowel disease among US women. *Gut* 61, 1686–1692. doi:10.1136/gutjnl-2011-301574
- Kim, S., Shevde, N. K., and Pike, J. W. (2005). 1,25-Dihydroxyvitamin D3 stimulates cyclic vitamin D receptor/retinoid X receptor DNAbinding, co-activator recruitment, and histone acetylation in intact osteoblasts. J. Bone Miner. Res. 20, 305–317. doi:10.1359/JBMR.041112
- Kliewer, S. A., Umesono, K., Mangelsdorf, D. J., and Evans, R. M. (1992). Retinoid X receptor interacts with nuclear receptors in retinoic acid, thyroid hormone and vitamin D3 signalling. *Nature* 355, 446–449. doi:10.1038/355446a0
- Kreutz, M., Andreesen, R., Krause, S. W., Szabo, A., Ritz, E., and Reichel, H. (1993). 1,25-Dihydroxyvitamin D3 production and vitamin D3 receptor expression are developmentally regulated during differentiation of human monocytes into macrophages. *Blood* 82, 1300–1307.
- Krishnan, A. V., and Feldman, D. (1991). Activation of protein kinase-C inhibits vitamin D receptor gene expression. *Mol. Endocrinol.* 5, 605–612. doi:10.1210/mend-5-4-605
- Krishnan, A. V., and Feldman, D. (1992). Cyclic adenosine 3',5'monophosphate up-regulates 1,25-dihydroxyvitamin D3 receptor

gene expression and enhances hormone action. *Mol. Endocrinol.* 6, 198–206. doi:10.1210/me.6.2.198

- Krutzik, S. R., Hewison, M., Liu, P. T., Robles, J. A., Stenger, S., Adams, J. S., et al. (2008). IL-15 links TLR2/1induced macrophage differentiation to the vitamin D-dependent antimicrobial pathway. *J. Immunol.* 181, 7115–7120.
- Liu, P. T., Schenk, M., Walker, V. P., Dempsey, P. W., Kanchanapoomi, M., Wheelwright, M., et al. (2009). Convergence of IL-1beta and VDR activation pathways in human TLR2/1-induced antimicrobial responses. *PLoS ONE* 4:e5810. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0005810
- Liu, P. T., Stenger, S., Li, H., Wenzel, L., Tan, B. H., Krutzik, S. R., et al. (2006). Toll-like receptor triggering of a vitamin D-mediated human antimicrobial response. *Science* 311, 1770–1773. doi:10.1126/science.1123933
- Liu, P. T., Wheelwright, M., Teles, R., Komisopoulou, E., Edfeldt, K., Ferguson, B., et al. (2012). MicroRNA-21 targets the vitamin D-dependent antimicrobial pathway in leprosy. *Nat. Med.* 18, 267–273. doi:10.1038/nm.2584
- Malloy, P. J., and Feldman, D. (2010). Genetic disorders and defects in vitamin D action. *Endocrinol. Metab. Clin. North Am.* 39, 333–346. doi:10.1016/j.ecl.2010.02.004
- Martineau, A. R., Leandro, A. C., Anderson, S. T., Newton, S. M., Wilkinson, K. A., Nicol, M. P., et al. (2010). Association between Gc genotype and susceptibility to TB is dependent on vitamin D status. *Eur. Respir. J.* 35, 1106–1112. doi:10.1183/09031936. 00087009
- Masuyama, H., Brownfield, C. M., St-Arnaud, R., and MacDonald, P. N. (1997a). Evidence for liganddependent intramolecular folding of the AF-2 domain in vitamin D receptor-activated transcription and coactivator interaction. *Mol. Endocrinol.* 11, 1507–1517. doi:10.1210/me.11.10.1507
- Masuyama, H., Jefcoat, S. C. Jr., and MacDonald, P. N. (1997b). The N-terminal domain of transcription factor IIB is required for direct interaction with the vitamin D receptor and participates in vitamin D-mediated transcription. *Mol. Endocrinol.* 11, 218–228. doi:10.1210/me.11.2.218
- Masuyama, H., and MacDonald, P. N. (1998). Proteasome-mediated degradation of the vitamin D receptor (VDR) and a putative role for SUG1 interaction with the AF-2

domain of VDR. *J. Cell. Biochem.* 71, 429–440. doi:10.1002/(SICI)1097-4644(19981201)71:3<429::AID-ICB11>3.3.CO:2-G

- Matsuda, J. L., Mallevaey, T., Scott-Browne, J., and Gapin, L. (2008). CD1d-restricted iNKT cells, the 'Swiss-Army knife' of the immune system. *Curr. Opin. Immunol.* 20, 358–368. doi:10.1016/j.coi.2008.03.018
- Mayne, C. G., Spanier, J. A., Relland, L. M., Williams, C. B., and Hayes, C. E. (2011). 1,25-Dihydroxyvitamin D3 acts directly on the T lymphocyte vitamin D receptor to inhibit experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. *Eur. J. Immunol.* 41, 822–832. doi:10.1002/eji.201040632
- McDonnell, D. P., Mangelsdorf, D. J., Pike, J. W., Haussler, M. R., and O'Malley, B. W. (1987). Molecular cloning of complementary DNA encoding the avian receptor for vitamin D. *Science* 235, 1214–1217. doi:10.1126/science.3029866
- Miller, A. V., and Ranatunga, S. K. (2012). Immunotherapies in rheumatologic disorders. *Med. Clin. North Am.* 96, 475–496. doi:10.1016/j.mcna.2012.04.003
- Murayama, A., Takeyama, K., Kitanaka, S., Kodera, Y., Kawaguchi, Y., Hosoya, T., et al. (1999). Positive and negative regulations of the renal 25-hydroxyvitamin D3 1alpha-hydroxylase gene by parathyroid hormone, calcitonin, and 1alpha,25(OH)2D3 in intact animals. *Endocrinology* 140, 2224–2231. doi:10.1210/en.140.5. 2224
- Nagpal, S., Na, S., and Rathnachalam, R. (2005). Noncalcemic actions of vitamin D receptor ligands. *Endocr. Rev.* 26, 662–687. doi:10.1210/er.2004-0002
- Nnoaham, K. E., and Clarke, A. (2008). Low serum vitamin D levels and tuberculosis: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Int. J. Epidemiol.* 37, 113–119. doi:10.1093/ije/dym247
- Oda, Y., Chalkley, R. J., Burlingame, A. L., and Bikle, D. D. (2010). The transcriptional coactivator DRIP/mediator complex is involved in vitamin D receptor function and regulates keratinocyte proliferation and differentiation. J. Invest. Dermatol. 130, 2377–2388. doi:10.1038/jid.2010.148
- Ohyama, Y., Ozono, K., Uchida, M., Yoshimura, M., Shinki, T., Suda, T., et al. (1996). Functional assessment of two vitamin D-responsive elements in the rat 25-hydroxyvitamin D3 24-hydroxylase gene. J.

Biol. Chem. 271, 30381–30385. doi:10.1074/jbc.271.48.30381

- Ooi, J. H., Chen, J., and Cantorna, M. T. (2012). Vitamin D regulation of immune function in the gut: why do T cells have vitamin D receptors? *Mol. Aspects Med.* 33, 77–82. doi:10.1016/j.mam.2011.10.014
- Papiha, S. S., and Pal, B. (1985). Gc (vitamin D binding protein) subtypes in rheumatoid arthritis. *Hum. Genet.* 70, 278–280. doi:10.1007/BF00273457
- Patel, S. R., Ke, H. Q., Vanholder, R., Koenig, R. J., and Hsu, C. H. (1995). Inhibition of calcitriol receptor binding to vitamin D response elements by uremic toxins. J. Clin. Invest. 96, 50–59. doi:10.1172/JCI118061
- Peelen, E., Knippenberg, S., Muris, A. H., Thewissen, M., Smolders, J., Tervaert, J. W., et al. (2011). Effects of vitamin D on the peripheral adaptive immune system: a review. *Autoimmun. Rev.* 10, 733–743. doi:10.1016/j.autrev.2011.05.002
- Pierrot-Deseilligny, C., and Souberbielle, J. C. (2010). Is hypovitaminosis D one of the environmental risk factors for multiple sclerosis? *Brain* 133, 1869–1888. doi:10.1093/brain/awq147
- Pike, J. W. (2011). Genome-wide principles of gene regulation by the vitamin D receptor and its activating ligand. *Mol. Cell. Endocrinol.* 347, 3–10. doi:10.1016/j.mce.2011.05.012
- Pike, J. W., Meyer, M. B., and Bishop, K. A. (2012). Regulation of target gene expression by the vitamin D receptor – an update on mechanisms. *Rev. Endocr. Metab. Disord.* 13, 45–55. doi:10.1007/s11154-011-9198-9
- Pols, H. A., van Leeuwen, J. P., Schilte, J. P., Visser, T. J., and Birkenhager, J. C. (1988). Heterologous up-regulation of the 1,25dihydroxyvitamin D3 receptor by parathyroid hormone (PTH) and PTH-like peptide in osteoblastlike cells. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* 156, 588–594. doi:10. 1016/S0006-291X(88)80883-0
- Poussier, P., Ning, T., Banerjee, D., and Julius, M. (2002). A unique subset of self-specific intraintestinal T cells maintains gut integrity. J. Exp. Med. 195, 1491–1497. doi:10.1084/jem.20011793
- Proal, A. D., Albert, P. J., and Marshall, T. G. (2013). The human microbiome and autoimmunity. *Curr. Opin. Rheumatol.* 25, 234–240. doi:10.1097/BOR.0b013e 32835cedbf
- Provvedini, D. M., Tsoukas, C. D., Deftos, L. J., and Manolagas, S.

C. (1983). 1,25-Dihydroxyvitamin D3 receptors in human leukocytes. *Science* 221, 1181–1183. doi:10. 1126/science.6310748

- Reinhardt, T. A., and Horst, R. L. (1994). Phorbol 12-myristate 13acetate and 1,25-dihydroxyvitamin D3 regulate 1,25-dihydroxyvitamin D3 receptors synergistically in rat osteosarcoma cells. *Mol. Cell. Endocrinol.* 101, 159–165. doi:10.1016/0303-7207(94)90230-5
- Rodriguez, M., Daniels, B., Gunawardene, S., and Robbins, G. K. (2009). High frequency of vitamin D deficiency in ambulatory HIV-positive patients. *AIDS Res. Hum. Retroviruses* 25, 9–14. doi:10.1089/aid.2008.0183
- Rossini, M., Maddali, B. S., La, M. G., Minisola, G., Malavolta, N., Bernini, L., et al. (2010). Vitamin D deficiency in rheumatoid arthritis: prevalence, determinants and associations with disease activity and disability. *Arthritis Res. Ther.* 12, R216. doi:10.1186/ar3195
- Sigmundsdottir, H., Pan, J., Debes, G. F., Alt, C., Habtezion, A., Soler, D., et al. (2007). DCs metabolize sunlight-induced vitamin D3 to 'program' T cell attraction to the epidermal chemokine CCL27. Nat. Immunol. 8, 285–293. doi:10.1038/ ni1433
- Singh, A. K., Wilson, M. T., Hong, S., Olivares-Villagomez, D., Du, C., Stanic, A. K., et al. (2001). Natural killer T cell activation protects mice against experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. *J. Exp. Med.* 194, 1801–1811. doi:10.1084/jem.194.12.1801
- Singh, P. K., Doig, C. L., Dhiman, V. K., Turner, B. M., Smiraglia, D. J., and Campbell, M. J. (2012). Epigenetic distortion to VDR transcriptional regulation in prostate cancer cells. J. Steroid Biochem. Mol. Biol. doi:10.1016/j.jsbmb.2012.10.002
- Sloka, S., Grant, M., and Newhook, L. A. (2010). The geospatial relation between UV solar radiation and type 1 diabetes in Newfoundland. Acta Diabetol. 47, 73–78. doi:10.1007/ s00592-009-0100-0
- Smith, K. A. (1988). Interleukin-2: inception, impact, and implications. *Science* 240, 1169–1176. doi:10.1126/science.3131876
- Smith, S. J., Green, L. M., Hayes, M. E., and Mawer, E. B. (1999). Prostaglandin E2 regulates vitamin D receptor expression, vitamin D-24-hydroxylase activity and cell proliferation in an adherent human myeloid leukemia cell line (Ad-HL60). Prostaglandins Other Lipid

Mediat. 57, 73-85. doi:10.1016/ S0090-6980(98)00073-2

- Song, L. N. (1996). Demonstration of vitamin D receptor expression in a human megakaryoblastic leukemia cell line: regulation of vitamin D receptor mRNA expression and responsiveness by forskolin. J. Steroid Biochem. Mol. Biol. 57, 265–274. doi:10.1016/0960-0760(95)00266-9
- Spanier, J. A., Nashold, F. E., Olson, J. K., and Hayes, C. E. (2012). The Ifng gene is essential for Vdr gene expression and vitamin D(3)-mediated reduction of the pathogenic T cell burden in the central nervous system in experimental encephalomyelitis, autoimmune multiple sclerosis model. 189, 3188-3197. Immunol. I. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1102925
- Speeckaert, M., Huang, G., Delanghe, J. R., and Taes, Y. E. (2006). Biological and clinical aspects of the vitamin D binding protein (Gc-globulin) and its polymorphism. *Clin. Chim. Acta* 372, 33–42. doi:10.1016/j.cca.2006.03.011
- Staples, J. A., Ponsonby, A. L., Lim, L. L., and McMichael, A. J. (2003). Ecologic analysis of some immune-related disorders, including type 1 diabetes, in Australia: latitude, regional ultraviolet radiation, and disease prevalence. *Environ. Health Perspect.* 111, 518–523. doi:10.1289/ehp.5941
- Takeuchi, A., Reddy, G. S., Kobayashi, T., Okano, T., Park, J., and Sharma, S. (1998). Nuclear factor of activated T cells (NFAT) as a molecular target for 1alpha,25-dihydroxyvitamin D3-mediated effects. *J. Immunol.* 160, 209–218.
- Torchia, J., Rose, D. W., Inostroza, J., Kamei, Y., Westin, S., Glass, C. K., et al. (1997). The transcriptional co-activator p/CIP binds CBP and mediates nuclear-receptor function. *Nature* 387, 677–684. doi:10.1038/42652
- Towers, T. L., and Freedman, L. P. (1998). Granulocyte-macrophage colony-stimulating factor gene transcription is directly repressed by the vitamin D3 receptor. Implications for allosteric influences on nuclear receptor structure and function by a DNA element. J. Biol. Chem. 273, 10338–10348. doi:10.1074/jbc.273. 17.10338
- van Leeuwen, J. P., Birkenhager, J. C., Buurman, C. J., van den Bemd, G. J., Bos, M. P., and Pols, H. A. (1992). Bidirectional regulation of the 1,25-dihydroxyvitamin D3 receptor by phorbol ester-activated protein

kinase-C in osteoblast-like cells: interaction with adenosine 3',5'monophosphate-induced upregulation of the 1,25dihydroxyvitamin D3 receptor. *Endocrinology* 130, 2259–2266. doi:10.1210/en.130.4.2259

- van Leeuwen, J. P., Birkenhager, J. C., Schilte, J. P., Buurman, C. J., and Pols, H. A. (1990). Role of calcium and cAMP in heterologous up-regulation of the 1,25-dihydroxyvitamin D3 receptor in an osteoblast cell line. *Cell Calcium* 11, 281–289. doi:10.1016/0143-4160(90)90005-F
- Vidal, M., Ramana, C. V., and Dusso, A. S. (2002). Stat1-vitamin D receptor interactions antagonize 1,25-dihydroxyvitamin D transcriptional activity and enhance stat1-mediated transcription. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 22, 2777–2787. doi:10.1128/MCB.22.8.2777-2787.2002
- Vieira, V. M., Hart, J. E., Webster, T. F., Weinberg, J., Puett, R., Laden, F., et al. (2010). Association between residences in U.S. northern latitudes and rheumatoid arthritis: a spatial analysis of the Nurses' Health Study. *Environ. Health Perspect.* 118, 957–961. doi:10.1289/ehp.0901861
- vom, B. E., Zechel, C., Heery, D., Heine, M. J., Garnier, J. M., Vivat, V., et al. (1996). Differential liganddependent interactions between the AF-2 activating domain of nuclear receptors and the putative transcriptional intermediary factors mSUG1 and TIF1. *EMBO J.* 15, 110–124.
- von Essen, M. R., Kongsbak, M., Schjerling, P., Olgaard, K., Odum, N., and Geisler, C. (2010). Vitamin D controls T cell antigen receptor signaling and activation of human T cells. *Nat. Immunol.* 11, 344–349. doi:10.1038/ni.1851
- Waterhouse, J. C., Perez, T. H., and Albert, P. J. (2009). Reversing bacteria-induced vitamin D receptor dysfunction is key to autoimmune disease. Ann. N. Y. Acad. Sci. 1173, 757–765. doi:10.1111/j.1749-6632.2009.04637.x
- Wood, A. M., Bassford, C., Webster, D., Newby, P., Rajesh, P., Stockley, R. A., et al. (2011). Vitamin D-binding protein contributes to COPD by activation of alveolar macrophages. *Thorax* 66, 205–210. doi:10.1136/thx.2010.140921
- Xu, Y., Xie, J., Li, Y., Yue, J., Chen, J., Chunyu, L., et al. (2003). Using a cDNA microarray to study cellular gene expression altered by *Mycobacterium tuberculosis. Chin. Med. J.* 116, 1070–1073.

- Yenamandra, S. P., Lundin, A., Arulampalam, V., Yurchenko, M., Pettersson, S., Klein, G., et al. (2009). Expression profile of nuclear receptors upon Epstein-Barr virus induced B cell transformation. *Exp. Oncol.* 31, 92–96.
- Yu, S., Bruce, D., Froicu, M., Weaver, V., and Cantorna, M. T. (2008). Failure of T cell homing, reduced CD4/CD8alphaalpha intraepithelial lymphocytes, and inflammation in the gut of vitamin D receptor KO mice. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 105, 20834–20839. doi:10.1073/pnas.0808700106
- Yu, S., and Cantorna, M. T. (2008). The vitamin D receptor is required for iNKT cell development. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 105, 5207–5212. doi:10.1073/ pnas.0711558105
- Zella, L. A., Kim, S., Shevde, N. K., and Pike, J. W. (2006). Enhancers located within two introns of the vitamin D receptor gene mediate transcriptional autoregulation by 1,25-dihydroxyvitamin D3. *Mol. Endocrinol.* 20, 1231–1247. doi:10.1210/me.2006-0015
- Zella, L. A., Meyer, M. B., Nerenz, R. D., Lee, S. M., Martowicz, M. L., and Pike, J. W. (2010). Multifunctional enhancers regulate mouse and human vitamin D receptor gene transcription. *Mol. Endocrinol.* 24, 128–147. doi:10.1210/me.2009-0140

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Received: 25 March 2013; accepted: 29 May 2013; published online: 18 June 2013.

Citation: Kongsbak M, Levring TB, Geisler C and von Essen MR (2013) The vitamin D receptor and T cell function. Front. Immunol. **4**:148. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2013.00148

This article was submitted to Frontiers in T Cell Biology, a specialty of Frontiers in Immunology.

Copyright © 2013 Kongsbak, Levring, Geisler and von Essen. This is an openaccess article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License, which permits use, distribution and reproduction in other forums, provided the original authors and source are credited and subject to any copyright notices concerning any third-party graphics etc.

Role of adipokines signaling in the modulation of T cells function

Claudio Procaccini^{1,2}, Veronica De Rosa^{2,3}, Mario Galgani², Fortunata Carbone^{1,2}, Claudia La Rocca^{1,2}, Luigi Formisano⁴ and Giuseppe Matarese^{1,5}*

¹ Dipartimento di Medicina e Chirurgia, Università degli Studi di Salerno, Salerno, Italy

² Laboratorio di Immunologia, Istituto di Endocrinologia e Oncologia Sperimentale, Consiglio Nazionale delle Ricerche (IEOS-CNR), Napoli, Italy

³ Unità di Neuroimmunologia, IRCCS Fondazione Santa Lucia, Roma, Italy

⁴ Department of Biological, Geological and Environmental Sciences, Division of Pharmacology, University of Sannio, Benevento, Italy

⁵ IRCCS MultiMedica, Milano, Italy

Edited by:

Karsten Sauer, The Scripps Research Institute, USA

Reviewed by:

Antonio La Cava, University of California Los Angeles, USA Remy Bosselut, National Cancer Institute, USA

*Correspondence:

Giuseppe Matarese, Dipartimento di Medicina e Chirurgia, Facoltà di Medicina, Università degli Studi di Salerno, Baronissi Campus, 84081 Salerno, Italy e-mail: gmatarese@unisa.it The field that links immunity and metabolism is rapidly expanding. Apparently nonimmunological disorders such as obesity and type 2 diabetes have been linked to immune dysregulation, suggesting that metabolic alterations can be induced by or be consequence of an altered self-immune tolerance. In this context, adipose tissue produces and releases a variety of pro-inflammatory and anti-inflammatory factors, termed "adipokines," which can be considered as the bridge between obesity-related exogenous factors, such as nutrition and lifestyle, and the molecular events leading to metabolic syndrome, inflammatory, and/or autoimmune conditions. In obesity, increased production of most adipokines impacts on multiple functions such as appetite and energy balance, modulation of immune responses, insulin sensitivity, angiogenesis, blood pressure, lipid metabolism, and so on. This report aims to discuss some of the recent topics of adipocytokine research and their related signaling pathways, that may be of particular importance as could lead to effective therapeutic strategies for obesity-associated diseases.

Keywords: leptin, adiponectin, adipocytokines, T cells, obesity

THE LINK BETWEEN ADIPOSE TISSUE AND CHRONIC INFLAMMATION

It is well established from literature that in more affluent countries, where increased metabolic overload is more frequent, incidence of obesity is higher and it has been associated with a series of consequences, such as increased risk of cardiovascular disorders including atherosclerosis, diabetes, fatty liver disease, inflammation, and cancer (1–5). All these pathological conditions are closely associated with chronic inflammation, as they are characterized by abnormal cytokine production, increased acute-phase reactants such as C-reactive protein (CRP) and interleukin-6 (IL-6) and activation of a network of inflammatory signaling pathways. They seem to be consequent to the long-term "low-degree" chronic inflammation typical of obesity (6, 7).

A new field of study that investigates the interface and the link among immune response, nutrition, and metabolism has recently developed and many of the interactions between the metabolic and immune systems seem to be orchestrated by a complex network of soluble mediators derived from immune cells and adipocytes (fat cells) (8). It has been found that certain genetic alterations (i.e., mutation, loss of function, among others) of leptin (Lep), leptin receptor (LepR), pro-opiomelanocortin (POMC), pro-protein convertase 1 (PCSK1), and melanocortin-4 receptor (MC4-R), can cause obesity and can also significantly affect immune responses (9–16). Therefore, the immune function in obesity has become a factor of particular interest and relevance to better understand and possibly modulate the inflammatory condition associated with this disorder.

The current view of adipose tissue is that of an active secretory organ and not merely an inert tissue devoted to energy storage. Indeed it is able to send out and respond to signals that modulate appetite, energy expenditure, insulin sensitivity, endocrine and reproductive systems, bone metabolism, and inflammation and immunity (5). Recent studies have centrally placed adipose tissue as a crucial site in the generation of inflammatory responses. In this context, the finding that tumor necrosis factor- α (TNF- α) and IL-6 are overexpressed in the adipose tissue of obese mice and humans and when administered exogenously leads to insulin resistance, provided the first clear link between obesity, diabetes, and chronic inflammation (17-19). Moreover adipocytes share with a diverse set of immune cells (including T cells, macrophages, and dendritic cells) several features, such as complement activation, production of inflammatory mediators to pathogen sensing and phagocytic properties (20-22). In addition to adipocytes, adipose tissue also contains pre-adipocytes (which are adipocytes that have not yet been loaded with lipids), endothelial cells, fibroblasts, leukocytes, and most importantly, macrophages. Macrophage infiltration of adipose tissue has recently been associated with obese conditions and it has been suggested that expanding adipocytes or neighboring pre-adipocytes might be responsible for the production of chemotactic signals, leading to macrophage recruitment in the adipose tissue (23, 24). Once macrophages are present and active in the adipose tissue, they, together with adipocytes and other cell types present in the adipose tissue, might perpetuate a vicious cycle of macrophage recruitment and production of pro-inflammatory cytokines (25, 26).

Adipose tissue is a mix of adipocytes, stromal pre-adipocytes, immune cells, and endothelium, and it can respond rapidly and dynamically to alterations in nutrient excess through adipocyte hypertrophy and hyperplasia (27). With obesity and progressive adipocyte enlargement, the blood supply to adipocytes may be reduced with consequent hypoxia (28). Hypoxia has been proposed to be an inciting etiology of necrosis and macrophage infiltration into adipose tissue, leading to an overproduction of proinflammatory factors like inflammatory chemokines. This results in a localized inflammation in adipose tissue which propagates an overall systemic inflammation associated with the development of obesity-related co-morbidities (28).

There is increasing evidence that besides macrophages other immune cells, such as T cells, might infiltrate adipose tissue (29). Wu and co-workers recently presented evidence that, at least in mice, adipose tissue from diet-induced obese insulin-resistant mice is infiltrated by T cells and that this infiltration was accompanied by an increased expression of the T-cell chemoattractant RANTES (29).

The presence of an abundant immune cell infiltrate in adipose tissue of obese subjects is considered one of the classical pathologic lesions present in obesity. The real significance of these infiltrates is still unknown and has been until now, considered directly or indirectly the result of a massive attraction exerted by adipocytes toward immune cells, particularly of the natural immunity compartment (i.e., macrophages, neutrophils, natural killer cells, dendritic cells) through the secretion of adipocytokines and chemokines (30-32). Strikingly, a series of recent studies have shown in mice that T cells in the adipose tissue show specific T cell receptor (TCR) rearrangements suggesting that there are clonal T cell populations infiltrating adipose tissue. These data along with extensive macrophage infiltration and Th1 cytokine secretion account for the consequent insulin resistance in adipocytes and chronic inflammation typical of obesity (33). Taken together these data can lead to the hypothesis to consider obesity as an autoimmune disorder. Typically, criteria to consider a pathological condition as "autoimmune" include: (1) infiltration by immune cells of self-target organ and its consequent tissue damage; (2) the presence of circulating autoantibodies that react against self-antigens and subsequent complement system activation; (3) the clonality of TCRs from infiltrating T cells; (4) secretion of pro-inflammatory Th1 cytokines; (5) quantitative or qualitative alterations of regulatory T (Treg) cells; (6) association with other autoimmune disease. In the case of obesity, most of the above-mentioned points have been detected (34, 35). However the self-antigen present in the adipose tissue is still unknown. Identifying these antigens and the corresponding antigen-presenting cells in fat is clearly the next challenge for the field.

The discovery of leptin and other adipocytokines has provided a further link among adipose tissue and immune cells. These molecules, indeed, function as hormones to influence energy homeostasis and to regulate neuroendocrine function, but acting as cytokines, adipocytokines are able to module immune functions and inflammatory processes throughout the body. In this review, we provide an overview of recent advances on the role of adipocytokines and their signaling pathways in the modulation of immune cells function, with particular emphasis on T cells subsets.

LEPTIN

Leptin, a cytokine-like hormone product of the obesity (*ob*) gene, belongs to the family of long-chain helical cytokines (characterized by a four a-helix bundle) and is mainly produced by adipose tissue, indeed its levels directly correlate with body fat mass and adipocyte size. However, it is produced, at lower levels, also by other tissues such as the stomach, skeletal muscle, placenta, and bone marrow (36-39). In the hypothalamus, leptin regulates appetite, autonomic nervous system outflow, bone mass, and the secretion of HPA hormones (36). Although an important role of leptin is to regulate body weight through the inhibition of food intake and stimulation of energy expenditure by increased thermogenesis, recent evidence has indicated that leptin is much more than a "fat sensor" (40). Indeed, leptin-deficient (ob/ob) mice and leptinreceptor-deficient (db/db) mice are not only severely obese, but also have a series of marked abnormalities that are secondary to the effects of leptin on reproduction (41), hematopoiesis (42), angiogenesis (43, 44), metabolism of bone (45), lipids and glucose (36), and last but not least, innate and adaptive immunity (46-48).

Leptin signaling

Leptin mediates its effects by the binding with the its specific LepR, a member of the class I cytokine receptor family (which includes receptors for IL-6, IL-12, OSM, and prolactin) and the pleiotropic biological effects of leptin can be partly explained by the wide distribution of LepRs on different types of cells, including those in extraneural tissues. Alternative splicing of LepR results in six receptor isoforms with different length of cytoplasmic domains, known as LepRa, LepRb, LepRc, LepRd, LepRe, and LepRf (49). Among all the LepR isoforms, only full-length isoform (LepRb) is able to fully transduce activation signals into the cell, as its cytoplasmic region contains several motifs required for signal transduction. The other LepR isoforms lack some or all of these motifs and their function is still unclear, even though several data suggest that they could be involved in the transport of leptin across the blood-brain barrier or in its degradation. Intracellularly, the LepR does not have an intrinsic tyrosine kinase domain, therefore it binds cytoplasmic kinases - mainly Janus tyrosine kinase 2 (Jak2) (50). LepR contains a highly conserved, proline-rich box 1 (51) and two putative, less conserved, box2 motifs (52, 53). Box 1 and box 2 motifs are considered important in recruiting and binding Jaks (54, 55) for full Jak activation (56). Recent studies indicate that, under physiological conditions, only Jak2 is activated during LepR signaling (53). Once activated, Jaks proteins trans-phosphorylate each other, as well as other tyrosine residues (Tyr985, Tyr1138, and Tyr 1077) of the LepR (57, 58), providing docking sites for downstream molecules such as signal transducer and activation of transcriptions (STATs). These proteins dissociate from the receptor and form homo- or hetero-dimers, which translocate into the nucleus and act as transcription factors by binding specific response elements in the promoter region of their target genes, such as sis-inducible-element (SIE), acutephase-response-element (APRE), and GAS-like elements (59, 60) (Figure 1).

In response to leptin, STAT3 binds to phospho-Tyr1138, allowing Jak2 to phosphorylate and activate STAT3. Confirming the importance of this site of phosphorylation, mutation of Tyr1138



FIGURE 1 | Schematic representation of the leptin-induced pathways After leptin binds to the long isoform of the leptin receptor (LepRb), Jak2 is activated at the box 1 motif, resulting in the autophosphorylation of tyrosine residues and phosphorylation of tyrosines that provide docking sites for signaling proteins containing src homology 2 (SH-2) domains. The autophosphorylated Jak2 at the box 1 motif can lead to activation of phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase (PI3K)/Akt pathway. Akt can regulate a wide range of targets including FOXO1 and NF-kB. Both Tyr1077 and Tyr1138 bind to STAT5, whereas only Tyr1138 recruits STAT1 and STAT3. STAT3 proteins form dimers and translocate to the nucleus to induce expression of genes such as c-fos, c-jun, egr-1, activator protein-1 (AP-1), and suppressors of cytokine signaling 3 (SOCS3). SOCS3 negatively regulates signal transduction by leptin by binding to phosphorylated tyrosines on the receptor, to inhibit the binding of STAT proteins and the SH-2 domain-containing phosphatase-2 (SHP-2). SHP-2 activates the mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK) pathways including extracellular signal-regulated kinase (ERK1/2), p38 MAPK, and p42/44 MAPK through an interaction with the adaptor protein growth factor receptor-bound protein 2 (GRB2), to induce cytokine and chemokine expression in immune cells.

abolishes the ability of leptin to activate STAT3, resulting in severe hyperphagia and morbid obesity (61–63). Leptin stimulates also phosphorylation of LepRb on Tyr1077, which binds to STAT5 and subsequently mediates STAT5 phosphorylation (64, 65).

The Jak/STAT pathway is under the negative-feedback control of suppressors of cytokine signaling (SOCS) proteins, which are induced upon cytokine stimulation and act as negative regulators of signaling by binding to phosphorylated Jak proteins or by direct interaction with tyrosine-phosphorylated receptors (66, 67). Structurally, SOCS proteins are characterized by a central SH-2 domain, an N-terminal preSH-2 domain, in some cases a kinase inhibitory region (KIR) domain, which abolishes the kinase activity of the Jaks, and a more conserved C-terminal SOCS-box – which represents a key mediator of proteasomal degradation (by linking ubiquitin to the substrate) (66). Only SOCS1 and 3 carry a KIR domain in their N-terminal region and it is involved in the inhibition of the Jak activity and thus leptin signaling. Recent data showed that SOCS3 inhibits kinase activity through its KIR domain after the binding through its SH-2 domain with phosphotyrosine motifs in the receptor in the proximity of the Jaks. Interestingly, leptin can induce SOCS3 expression (68–71) and the Tyr985 of LepRb is a high-affinity binding site for SOCS3 (57, 70). In this context, the participation of SOCS3 in the negative-feedback mechanism of leptin resistance in relation to the hyperleptinemia observed during obesity (69).

Another negative regulator of leptin signaling is represented by the SH-2 domain-containing phosphatase-2 (SHP-2), which is a constitutively expressed tyrosine phosphatase involved in the dephosphorylation of Jak2 (72). SHP-2 carries two tandem SH-2 domains followed by a tyrosine phosphatase catalytic domain. When one SH-2 domain interacts with a tyrosine-phosphorylated ligand, a conformational change occurs and brings this phosphatase to activation of LepR at position Y985 (73). This specific site has an important role in leptin-induced extracellular signalregulated kinases (ERK) activation (57). More specifically, as a result of leptin administration, Tyr985 becomes phosphorylated by recruited Jaks (mainly Jak2 and Jak1), and provides a docking site for SHP-2. After binding to that specific tyrosine residue, SHP-2 is phosphorylated at the C-terminus and together with its adapter molecule Grb2, it activates downstream signaling, leading to the activation of the p21Ras/ERK signaling cascade (57), with the final induction of specific target genes expression, such as cfos or egr-1, a zinc-finger transcription factor that influences the initiation of growth and differentiation (74) (Figure 1).

Leptin can activate also another member of the MAP kinase family, p38 MAPK (75) and stress-activated protein kinase c-Jun N-terminal kinase (JNK). Among the possible downstream targets of leptin-induced activation of p38 and JNK MAPK pathways, the regulation of the transcription factor nuclear factor- κ B (NF- κ B) appears to be crucial for the transcriptional regulation of pro-inflammatory cytokines such as TNF α and IL-1 β .

In addition, leptin is able to regulate phosphoinositide 3-kinase (PI3K) activity, indeed the binding of PI3K regulatory subunit to tyrosine-phosphorylated proteins induces a conformational change allowing the activation of its catalytic subunit and consequent full activation of PI3K, whose products typically stimulate protein kinases such as Akt, also called protein kinase B (PKB), protein kinase C (PKC) (76), and Forkhead box O1 (FOXO1), a transcriptional factor that is phosphorylated and inactivated by Akt (77–80). Leptin inhibits both the activity and expression of hypothalamic FOXO1 through the PI 3-kinase pathway (77). Indeed, overexpression of a constitutively active FOXO1 mutant decreases leptin sensitivity in mice with consequent increase in food intake and body weight, whereas small interfering RNA-mediated knockdown of FOXO1 increases leptin sensitivity and decreases food intake and body weight (77, 78).

Finally, leptin stimulates phosphorylation of ribosomal S6 kinase (S6K), a major physiological substrate of the mammalian target of rapamycin (mTOR) kinase in the hypothalamus. Indeed,

rapamycin, a specific inhibitor of mTOR attenuates leptin's anorexigenic effects (81), conversely, activation of S6K enhances leptin sensitivity (82) (**Figure 1**). mTOR binds to raptor and G β L to form the mTOR complex 1 (mTORC1), which directly phosphorylates and activates S6K (83). mTORC1 is inhibited by the TSC1/TSC2 complex (84–86). Akt phosphorylates TSC2 and inactivates the TSC1/TSC2 complex (85). Therefore, the mTOR/S6K pathway is likely to be a downstream target of the PI 3-kinase/Akt pathway in leptin-stimulated neurons.

Leptin and T cells

Leptin stimulates and promotes the proliferation of human peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMC) (40, 48), as the presence of LepR on monocytes and lymphocytes has been shown in mice (46, 87) and confirmed in human peripheral blood T-lymphocytes (both CD4 and CD8) (88).

In PBMCs, leptin stimulation induces tyrosine phosphorylation and translocation of STAT3 molecules to the nucleus (89–91) and the phosphorylation of the STAT3-associated RNA binding protein Sam68 (a tyrosine-phosphorylated adaptor protein in TCR activation, which is associated with the SH2 and SH3 domains of Src and other signaling molecules, such as Grb2, PLC- γ -1, and PI3K) (92–95).

Recent evidence has shown that leptin induces tyrosine phosphorylation of Sam68 and Insulin receptor substrate 1 (IRS-1), which associate with p85 (96, 97), the regulatory subunit of PI3K via the SH-2 domain, recruiting and leading to stimulation of PI3K activity (98). In this context, leptin has been shown to inhibit apoptosis of thymocytes through an IRS-1/PI3K-dependent pathway since this effect was inhibited by the PI3K inhibitor LY294002 (99). Moreover, Martín-Romero et al. have shown that both ERK-1 and ERK-2 were found phosphorylated in a dose-dependent fashion in PBMC after incubation with human leptin (98).

It was also found that leptin could induce sustained phosphorylation of p38 MAPK in human PBMCs and the phosphorylation of the ribosomal protein S6 - the only protein in the large 40S subunit that has been shown to be phosphorylated in response to growth factors and mitogens (100). One route of leptin-induced S6 phosphorylation in human PBMCs is via MEK and p42/p44 MAPK (101-103), which activate MAPK-dependent S6 Kinase p90 RSK and S6. The other way seems to be mediated via activation of p70 S6 kinase, since it has been shown that leptin phosphorylates p70 S6 kinase at Thr389 (104). Accordingly, pre-treatment of cells with rapamycin abolished this phosphorylation (104). Strikingly, the MEK inhibitor PD98059 has been shown to inhibit not only p90 RSK phosphorylation, as expected, but also p70 S6 Kinase and S6 phosphorylation, thus suggesting an essential role of MEK activation in a full induction of p70 S6 kinase activity in human PBMC (105, 106).

In $CD4^+CD25^-$ effector T cells (Teff), De Rosa et al. have shown that leptin-induced strong STAT3 phosphorylation, while stimulation of $CD4^+CD25^+$ Treg cells was not associated with a marked increase of phosphorylated STAT3 (107). SOCS3, a negative regulator of cytokine signaling, was activated by leptin blockade in Treg cells, in which the stimulation with anti-CD3/28 induced phosphorylation of ERK1/2 and subsequent cell proliferation (107). In the same subset of cells, the cyclin-dependent kinase inhibitor p27 (p27kip1, a molecule involved in the control of cell cycle and T cell anergy) was elevated before and after anti-CD3/28 stimulation, and leptin neutralization induced degradation of this molecule, partly explaining the reversal of the anergic state and proliferation of these cells.

Recently, the contribution of leptin to mTOR activation in human Teffs has been well defined. Indeed, it has been shown that leptin treatment had little effect on mTOR phosphorylation, but it induced a significant increase in p70S6K and S6 phosphorylation, concomitant with a consistent increase in AKT phosphorylation. The induction of mTOR, as well as AKT phosphorylation induced by TCR engagement, was significantly reduced by leptin blockade and this inhibition was partially reversed by the addition of recombinant leptin to cultures, thus suggesting suggest a link between autocrine secretion of leptin and mTOR activation in Teffs through an AKT-dependent mechanism (108). A recent study by Galgani et al. shows that nutritional status, through leptin, directly affects survival and proliferation of autoreactive T cells, modulating the activity of the survival protein Bcl-2, the Th1/Th17 cytokines, and the nutrient/energy-sensing AKT-mTOR pathway (109). Moreover, a paper by the same group has shown that leptin activates the mTOR pathway to control also Treg cells responsiveness (110, 111). More specifically leptin inhibited rapamycin-induced proliferation of Tregs, by increasing activation of the mTOR pathway. In addition, under normal conditions, Tregs secreted leptin, which activated mTOR in an autocrine manner to maintain their state of hyporesponsiveness. Finally, Tregs from db/db mice exhibited a decreased mTOR activity and increased proliferation compared with that of wild-type cells (110, 111). Together, these data suggest that the leptin-mTOR axis sets the threshold for the responsiveness of Tregs and that this pathway might integrate cellular energy status with metabolic-related signaling in Treg cells that use this information to control immune tolerance.

ADIPONECTIN

Human adiponectin is encoded by ADIPOQ gene localized on the chromosome locus 3q27. It has a sequence homology with a family of proteins characterized by an amino-terminal collagen-like sequence and a carboxy-terminal complement 1q-like globular region and shares homologies with collagens, complement factors, TNF- α , and brain specific factor cerebellin (112, 113). Two different forms of this molecule exist: a full-length protein, which is present in the plasma, and a globular adiponectin which consists of the globular C-terminal domain resulting from a photolytic cleavage mediated by a leukocyte elastase secreted by monocytes and/or neutrophils. After cleavage the globular form can trimerize, while the full length can exist as a trimer low molecular weight (LMW) adiponectin, as an hexamer, that consists of two trimers bound through a disulfide bond middle molecular weight (MMW) adiponectin and as a 12- to 18-mer high molecular weight (HMW) adiponectin. Adiponectin is mainly produced in white adipose tissue (WAT) by mature adipocytes, with increasing expression and secretion during adipocyte differentiation, but it can be also found in skeletal muscle cells, cardiac myocytes, and endothelial cells. Its levels inversely correlate with visceral obesity and insulin resistance and in this context weight loss is considered a potent inducer of adiponectin synthesis, thus suggesting a key role exerted by adiponectin in protection against obesity and obesity-related disorders. Indeed TNF as well as other pro-inflammatory cytokines such as IL-6 suppress adiponectin secretion in adipocyte (114, 115). Adiponectin acts thought the interaction with two different receptors: ADIPOR1 and ADIPOR2, which differ both in localization and binding affinity since ADIPOR1 is expressed mainly in skeletal muscle and binds globular adiponectin while ADI-POR2 is expressed mainly in the liver and engages the full-length adiponectin (116). Expression of ADIPORs has been reported on human monocytes, B-cells, and NK cells, but only a small percentage of T cells express these molecules (117). The binding of adiponectin to ADIPOR1 and/or ADIPOR2 results in the activation of peroxisome-proliferator-activated receptor-a (PPARa), AMP-activated protein kinase (AMPK), and p38 mitogenactivated protein kinase (MAPK). More specifically, AMPK acts as a major downstream component of adiponectin signaling, since it represents the cellular energy sensor in the body and it is normally activated when there is an increase in the intracellular AMP/ATP ratio (118, 119).

Over the past 5 years, several interacting and adapter proteins for ADIPORs have been discovered. The adaptor protein containing a pleckstrin homology domain, a phosphotyrosine domain and a leucine zipper motif (APPL1) has been shown to bind to ADIPORs (120, 121) and is required for adiponectin-induced activation of AMPK, p38 MAPK, and ERK1/2–MAPK pathways. In addition, the regulatory subunit of the protein kinase casein kinase (CK) 2 or the receptors for activated C-kinase-I (RACK-I) and the endoplasmic reticulum protein 46 (ERp46) have been reported as other potential binding partners for ADIPOR1.

Initial studies suggested that adiponectin could act as an antiinflammatory adipocytokine, as it exerted its anti-inflammatory effects on endothelial cells through the inhibition of TNFα-induced adhesion molecule expression (122). Adiponectindeficient mice had higher levels of TNF-α expression in adipose tissue and higher plasma levels compared with wild-type mice (114). Adiponectin inhibited NF-KB activation in endothelial cells and interfered with the function of macrophages (122, 123), as testified by the finding showing that treatment of cultured macrophages with adiponectin markedly inhibited their phagocytic activity and their production of TNF-a in response to lipopolysaccharide (LPS) stimulation (123). Adiponectin increases the secretion of anti-inflammatory cytokines such as IL-10 and IL-1 receptor antagonist (IL-1Ra) by human monocytes, macrophages, and DCs and suppresses the production of IFN-y by LPS-stimulated human macrophages (124) and Toll-like receptor (TLR)-induced NF-KB activation (125).

In addition adiponectin has been shown to be a negative regulator of NK cell function (77), since it suppressed IL-2-enhanced cytotoxic activity of NK cells through the AMPK-mediated inhibition of NF- κ B activation and down-regulated IFN- γ -inducible TNF-related apoptosis-inducing ligand (TRAIL) and Fas ligand expression on these cells. Contrasting results have recently shown that adiponectin can also act as a pro-inflammatory cytokine. Indeed it has been shown that its levels are high in arthritis, preeclampsia, and end-stage renal diseases (126–130). Also, adiponectin was shown to induce production of the proinflammatory mediator IL-6 and activation of NF- κ B in human synovial fibroblasts and adhesion molecule expression in endothelial cells (131–133). One possible explanation for the pleiotropic effects exerted by adiponectin could be the presence of various circulating oligomers of adiponectin. Although HMW multimers appear to be the most bioactive form of adiponectin in the circulation, other isomeric forms of adiponectin like hexamers could differently modulate intracellular signaling pathways in several anatomical districts, thus exerting quite different effects (134, 135). Thus, the question of whether adiponectin might be considered an anti- or pro-inflammatory adipocytokine still needs to be clarified.

Adiponectin and T cells

Little is know about the effect of adiponectin on T cell function. Several data suggest that adiponectin is a negative regulator of T cell activity. In particular, although a small percentage of T cells express ADIPOR on their surface, a great amount of T cells store ADIPORs within clathrin-coated vesicles and these receptors colocalized with Cytotoxic T-Lymphocyte Antigen 4 (CTLA-4) molecules. After stimulation of T cells, the expression of both ADIPORs and CTLA-4 has been shown to be upregulated. Interestingly, it has observed that the addition of adiponectin results in a significant decrease of antigen-specific T cell proliferation and cytokines production, through the enhancement of T cells apoptosis. Confirming these findings *in vivo*, adiponectin-deficient mice had higher frequencies of CD137⁺ T cells upon Coxsackie B virus infection, thus suggesting that adiponectin is a novel negative T-cell regulator (136).

Adiponectin has been shown to inhibit allograft rejection in murine cardiac transplantation, indeed Okamoto et al. have shown that allografts transplanted to $APN^{-/-}$ mice showed severe acute rejection to transplants in APN+/+ hosts accompanied by increased accumulation of CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T cells and macrophages (137). A recent paper by Tsang et al. suggests that the immunomodulatory effect of adiponectin on immune response could be at least in part mediated by its ability to alter dendritic cell functions (138). Indeed, adiponectin-treated dendritic cells show a lower production of IL-12p40 and a lower expression of CD80, CD86, and histocompatibility complex class II (MHCII). Moreover, in co-culture experiments of T cells and adiponectin-treated dendritic cells, a reduction in T cells proliferation and IL-2 production and an higher percentage of CD4⁺CD25⁺Foxp3⁺ Treg cells was observed (138) suggesting that adiponectin could also control regulatory T cell homeostasis. Moreover adiponectin inhibits the production of CXC receptor 3 chemokine ligands in macrophages and consequently reduces T-lymphocyte recruitment and accumulation during atherogenesis (139).

On the contrary, Cheng et al. have recently shown that addition of adiponectin to polyclonally activated CD4⁺ T cells induced secretion of IFN- γ and IL-6, increased phosphorylation of p38 MAPK and STAT4 and augmented T-bet expression, indicating that adiponectin enhances Th1 differentiation (140). In the same direction, the paper by Jung et al. has shown that adiponectininduced maturation and activation of DCs, as demonstrated by the increased expression of MHC class II, co-stimulatory molecules in both mouse and human DCs, and it significantly enhanced production of pro-inflammatory cytokines. moreover, adiponectintreated DCs significantly induced both Th1 and Th17 responses in allogeneic T cells, leading to enhanced pro-inflammatory responses (141).

RESISTIN

Resistin is a 114-amino-acid polypeptide, originally shown to induce insulin resistance in mice (142). It belongs to the family of resistin-like molecules (RELMs), also known as "found in inflammatory zone (FIZZ)," a family of molecules that has been implicated in the regulation of inflammatory process (143). Resistin was shown to circulate in two distinct forms: a more prevalent HMW hexamer and a substantially more bioactive, but less prevalent, LMW complex (144). Initially, resistin has been shown to be predominantly expressed by adipocytes but recent evidence has suggested that macrophages, rather than adipocytes, appear to be the most important source of resistin in human subjects (145) and mRNA encoding resistin can be found in mice and humans in various tissues, including the hypothalamus, adrenal gland, spleen, skeletal muscle, pancreas, and gastrointestinal tract (146).

Contradictory findings have shown that resistin levels can be either increased, unchanged, or decreased in murine and human obesity and type II diabetes, however, recent data indicate that in human PBMCs, expression of resistin mRNA is markedly increased by the pro-inflammatory cytokines IL-1, IL-6, and TNF, and by LPS (147). Also, resistin levels are mutually correlated with those of cell-adhesion molecules such as intercellular adhesion molecule 1 (ICAM-1) in patients with obstructive sleep apnea, and in atherosclerotic patients are positively associated with other markers of inflammation, such as soluble TNF-R type II and lipoprotein-associated phospholipase A2 (148, 149). Similarly, stimulation of human macrophages with LPS led to increased resistin mRNA expression, via a cascade involving the secretion of pro-inflammatory cytokines and administration of LPS to human volunteers is associated with dramatically increased circulating resistin levels (150), thus suggesting that this molecule can act as a critical mediator of the insulin resistance associated with sepsis and possibly other inflammatory conditions. In further support of its pro-inflammatory profile, resistin also up-regulates the expression of vascular cell-adhesion molecule 1 (VCAM1), ICAM-1, and CCL2 by human endothelial cells and induces these cells to release endothelin-1 (151).

Resistin and T cells

A small number of studies have been performed to address the role of resistin in T cell functions, but recent evidence has showed that resistin strongly up-regulates the expression of TNF and IL-6 by human PBMCs and induces arthritis after injection into the joints of healthy mice (152). These pro-inflammatory properties of resistin were abrogated by an NF- κ B inhibitor, thus showing the key role of NF- κ B in resistin-induced modulation of inflammatory reactions. Moreover Son et al. have recently shown that resistin induces expansion of functional Tregs, as testified by increased protein and mRNA expression of FoxP3, only when CD4⁺ T cells are co-cultured with DCs (153).

VISFATIN

Another protein clearly representing an additional link between adipose tissue and inflammation is Visfatin [also known as pre-B-cell colony-enhancing factor (PBEF)] which has recently been identified as an adipocytokine secreted primarily by adipocytes in visceral fat and able to decrease insulin resistance (154). This molecule is an insulin-mimetic adipokine, being able to bind and activate the insulin receptor without competing with insulin. Visfatin mRNA levels increase in the course of adipocyte differentiation, and visfatin synthesis is regulated by several factors, including glucocorticoids, TNF, IL-6, and growth hormone. Originally it has been identified as a growth factor for B lymphocyte precursors PBEF (155) and since its discovery it has been associated with several inflammatory disease states such as acute lung injury (156, 157). Indeed the presence of specific single nucleotide polymorphisms in the visfatin/PBEF gene, which decrease gene transcription rate, highly increases the risk of development of acute lung injury in septic patients (157).

Furthermore, expression of visfatin has been shown to be upregulated in activated neutrophils from septic patients (155, 157) and to inhibit the apoptosis of neutrophils, through a caspase 3- and caspase 8-mediated mechanism (155). On monocytes, visfatin is able to induce their chemotaxis and their ability to induce allo-proliferative responses in lymphocytes, through a p38 and MEK-dependent mechanism. More specifically, it ha been shown that visfatin up-regulates the production of the pro-inflammatory cytokines IL-1b, IL-6, and TNF- α (158), the expression of the costimulatory molecules CD80 (B7-1), CD40, and also of ICAM-1 and other co-stimulatory ligand that binds to LFA-1 (lymphocyte function-associated antigen-1), thereby promoting the activation of T cells (159). In this context, Moschen et al. have also shown that PBEF/visfatin is a potent chemotactic factor particularly for CD14⁺ monocytes and CD19⁺ B-cells (158).

ADIPSIN

Adipsin (which in human subjects corresponds to complement factor D46) is the rate-limiting enzyme in the alternative pathway of complement activation (160). Adipsin, together with several other components of both the classical and alternative complement cascade, is primarily expressed by adipocytes in mice and by both adipocytes and monocytes-macrophages in human subjects (161). Adipsin levels are reduced in murine models of obesity but either increased or unchanged in obese human subjects (162).

INTRACELLULAR METABOLIC PATHWAYS IN THE CONTROL OF IMMUNE FUNCTIONS

Recent evidence shows that the intracellular metabolic pathways, that sense environmental signals, such as nutrient availability, are able to control T cell function and differentiation, including Treg cell activity and immune tolerance pathways. This might represent a mechanism that allows immune cells to finely tune their response according to their metabolic competence.

In particular, mTOR, a serine-threonine kinase that can integrate signals from environmental nutrients and growth factors to control T cell proliferation and differentiation (163, 164), together with AMPK, its activator LKB1, the NAD⁺-dependent deacetylase Sirtuin 1 (SIRT1), and the Forkhead-box-o-family (Foxo) proteins, have been described as the dominant intracellular elements linking metabolism and self-tolerance. mTOR kinase, which can operate in two distinct signaling complexes (mTORC1 and 2) (165, 166), regulates different aspects of helper T (Th) cell differentiation and fate. Differentiation of naive CD4 T cells into Th1 and Th17 subsets is controlled in part by mTORC1 signaling an event dependent on the small GTPase Ras homolog enriched-in-brain (Rheb) (167). In contrast, conditional deletion of mTORC2 adaptor rictor protein impairs Th1 and Th2 cell differentiation, without altering Th17 differentiation or frequency of Treg cells, by promoting phosphorylation of PKB or Akt, PKC, and NF- κ B (168). In Treg cells, mTOR is a negative regulator of TCR-dependent FoxP3 expression (169), of *de novo* Treg cell differentiation (170), and of Treg cell lineage commitment (171).

In this context, several biological molecules have been associated to the control of intracellular metabolic pathways; among these the adipocyte-derived hormone leptin has been shown to bring the gap between metabolism and immune cell tolerance. We have previously demonstrated that leptin can be produced by. and inhibits, the proliferation of Treg cells (107). Indeed, genetic deficiency of leptin (ob/ob mice) is associated with an increased percentage of peripheral Treg cells as compared to WT mice. These data are in agreement with recent reports showing that adipose tissue in normal individuals is a preferential site of accumulation of Treg (34). Their precise role in this tissue is still object of extensive investigation but what is clear is that in mice, diet-induced obesity (DIO) is associated with a body mass-dependent, progressive decline in the proportions of Treg cells in the visceral adipose tissue (VAT). In contrast, therapy with CD3-specific antibody (which promotes T cell self-tolerance through global, transient T cell depletion) normalized insulin resistance and glucose homeostasis, and selectively restored CD4⁺Foxp3⁺ T cell pools in VAT (74), by increasing IL-10 and Th2/regulatory-type cytokines (34, 35). Moreover Cipolletta et al. identified peroxisome proliferatoractivated receptor (PPAR)-y, the "master regulator" of adipocyte differentiation, as a crucial molecular orchestrator of VAT Treg cell accumulation, phenotype, and function (172). All these data indicate that leptin could represent the molecular link between obesity and reduced number/function of Treg observed in this condition and on the basis of these data, one could predict that leptin might

REFERENCES

- 1. Bastard JP, Maachi M, Lagathu C, Kim MJ, Caron M, Vidal H, et al. Recent advances in the relationship between obesity, inflammation, and insulin resistance. *Eur Cytokine Netw* (2006) **17**:4–12.
- Hotamisligil GS. Inflammation and metabolic disorders. *Nature* (2006) 14:860–7. doi:10.1038/nature05485
- Calle EE, Kaaks R. Overweight, obesity and cancer: epidemiological evidence and proposed mechanisms. *Nat Rev Cancer* (2004) 4:579–91. doi:10.1038/ nrc1408
- Xu H, Barnes GT, Yang Q, Tan G, Yang D, Chou CJ, et al. Chronic inflammation in fat plays a crucial role in the development of

obesity-related insulin resistance. *J Clin Invest* (2003) **112**:1821–30. doi:10.1172/ICI19451

- Fantuzzi G. Adipose tissue, adipokines, and inflammation. J Allergy Clin Immunol (2005) 115:911–9. doi:10.1016/j.jaci.2005.02.023
- Symonds ME, Sebert SP, Hyatt MA, Budge H. Nutritional programming of the metabolic syndrome. Nat Rev Endocrinol (2009) 5:604–10. doi:10.1038/nrendo.2009.195
- Maury E, Brichard SM. Adipokine dysregulation, adipose tissue inflammation and metabolic syndrome. *Mol Cell Endocrinol* (2010) **314**:1–16. doi:10.1016/j.mce.2009.07.031
- 8. Wellen KE, Hotamisligil GS. Inflammation, stress, and diabetes.

interact with the mTOR pathway. Supporting this hypothesis, leptin increases mTOR activation and blocks proliferation of cultured TCR-activated rapamycin-treated Treg cells and Teffs (108, 110), thus modulating immune tolerance.

CONCLUDING REMARKS

During the last decade, there has been a growing understanding of how host nutritional status and metabolism can affect the immune response. In this context, several adipocytokines, are able to participate in a wide range of biological functions that include glucose metabolism and $CD4^+$ T-lymphocyte proliferation, cytokine secretion, and apoptosis, underlining the link among immune function/homeostasis, metabolism, and nutritional state.

The notion that adipose tissue was considered as "passive" source of energy in time of famine and starvation has been completely revisited and its major role in the control of "dominant" functions, such as immunity and metabolism, is providing novel insights into the pathogenesis of metabolic and autoimmune disorders.

Although many effects of these adipocytokines have been elucidated in recent times, the details of their signaling pathways need further investigation to understand how they are ultimately integrated. It will be also worthwhile to focus, in the future, on how adipocytokines signaling integrates with the intracellular cascades activated by other factors in the immune cells, since understanding the mechanism of action of these adipocytokines will soon be pivotal to the development of novel therapeutic approaches to obesity-induced inflammatory diseases.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

Giuseppe Matarese is supported by grants from the EU Ideas Program, ERC-Starting Independent Grant "menTORingTregs" no. 310496, Telethon-JDRF Grant no. GJT08004, FIRB MERIT Grant no. RBNE08HWLZ and Ministero della Salute GR-2010-2315414. This work is dedicated to the memory of Eugenia Papa and Serafino Zappacosta.

J Clin Invest (2005) 115:1111–9. doi:10.1172/JCI25102

- Zhang Y, Proenca R, Maffei M, Barone M, Leopold L, Friedman JM. Positional cloning of the mouse obese gene and its human homologue. *Nature* (1994) **372**:425–32. doi:10.1038/372425a0
- Tartaglia LA, Dembski M, Weng X, Deng N, Culpepper J, Devos R, et al. Identification and expression cloning of a leptin receptor, Ob-R. *Cell* (1995) 83:1263–70. doi:10. 1016/0092-8674(95)90151-5
- Montague CT, Farooqi IS, Whitehead JP, Soos MA, Rau H, Wareham NJ, et al. Congenital leptin deficiency is associated with severe early-onset obesity in humans. *Nature* (1997) 387:903–8. doi:10. 1038/43185
- Krude H, Biebermann H, Luck W, Horn R, Brabant G, Grüters A. Severe early-onset obesity, adrenal insufficiency and red hair pigmentation caused by POMC mutations in humans. *Nat Genet* (1998) 19:155–7. doi:10.1038/509
- Jackson RS, Creemers JW, Ohagi S, Raffin-Sanson ML, Sanders L, Montague CT, et al. Obesity and impaired prohormone processing associated with mutations in the human prohormone convertase 1 gene. *Nat Genet* (1997) 16:303–6. doi:10.1038/ng0797-303
- Vaisse C, Clement K, Guy-Grand B, Froguel P. A frameshift mutation in human MC4R is associated with a dominant form of obesity. *Nat Genet* (1998) 20:113–4. doi:10.1038/2407

- Yeo GS, Farooqi IS, Aminian S, Halsall DJ, Stanhope RG, O'Rahilly S. A frameshift mutation in MC4R associated with dominantly inherited human obesity. *Nat Genet* (1998) 20:111–2. doi:10.1038/2404
- Bochukova EG, Huang N, Keogh J, Henning E, Purmann C, Blaszczyk K, et al. Large, rare chromosomal deletions associated with severe early-onset obesity. *Nature* (2010) 463:666–70. doi:10.1038/ nature08689
- Hotamisligil GS, Spiegelman BM. Tumor necrosis factor alpha: a key component of the obesity-diabetes link. *Diabetes* (1994) 43:1271–8. doi:10.2337/diabetes.43.11.1271
- Kern PA, Saghizadeh M, Ong JM, Bosch RJ, Deem R, Simsolo RB. The expression of tumor necrosis factor in human adipose tissue. Regulation by obesity, weight loss, and relationship to lipoprotein lipase. J Clin Invest (1995) 95:2111–9. doi:10.1172/JCI117899
- Bullo M, García-Lorda P, Megias I, Salas-Salvadó J. Systemic inflammation, adipose tissue tumor necrosis factor, and leptin expression. *Obes Res* (2003) 11:525–31. doi:10.1038/oby.2003.74
- Rasouli N, Kern PA. Adipocytokines and the metabolic complications of obesity. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* (2008) **93**:64–73. doi:10. 1210/jc.2008-1613
- MacLaren R, Cui W, Cianflone K. Adipokines and the immune system: an adipocentric view. *Adv Exp Med Biol* (2008) 632:1–21. doi:10. 1007/978-0-387-78952-1_1
- 22. Dixit VD. Adipose-immune interactions during obesity and caloric restriction: reciprocal mechanisms regulating immunity and health span. J Leukoc Biol (2008) 84:882–92. doi:10.1189/jlb.0108028
- Bilan PJ, Samokhvalov V, Koshkina A, Schertzer JD, Samaan MC, Klip A. Direct and macrophagemediated actions of fatty acids causing insulin resistance in muscle cells. *Arch Physiol Biochem* (2009) 115:176–90. doi:10.1080/ 13813450903079314
- Bourlier V, Bouloumie A. Role of macrophage tissue infiltration in obesity and insulin resistance. *Diabetes Metab* (2009) 35:251–60. doi: 10.1016/j.diabet.2009.05.001
- 25. Curat CA, Miranville A, Sengenes C, Diehl M, Tonus C, Busse R, et al. From blood monocytes to adipose tissue-resident macrophages: induction of diapedesis by human mature adipocytes.

Diabetes (2004) **53**:1285–92. doi:10.2337/diabetes.53.5.1285

- 26. Weisberg SP, McCann D, Desai M, Rosenbaum M, Leibel RL, Ferrante AW Jr. Obesity is associated with macrophage accumulation in adipose tissue. J Clin Invest (2003) 112:1796–808. doi: 10.1172/JCI19246
- Halberg N, Wernstedt-Asterholm I, Scherer PE. The adipocyte as an endocrine cell. *Endocrinol Metab Clin North Am* (2008) **37**:753–68. doi:10.1016/j.ecl.2008.07.002
- Cinti S, Mitchell G, Barbatelli G, Murano I, Ceresi E, Faloia E, et al. Adipocyte death defines macrophage localization and function in adipose tissue of obese mice and humans. J Lipid Res (2005) 46:2347–55. doi:10.1194/ jlr.M500294-JLR200
- 29. Wu H, Ghosh S, Perrard XD, Feng L, Garcia GE, Perrard JL, et al. T-cell accumulation and regulated on activation, normal T cell expressed and secreted upregulation in adipose tissue in obesity. *Circulation* (2007) **115**:1029–38. doi:10.1161/ CIRCULATIONAHA.106.638379
- Nishimura S, Manabe I, Nagasaki M, Eto K, Yamashita H, Ohsugi M, et al. CD8+ effector T cells contribute to macrophage recruitment and adipose tissue inflammation in obesity. *Nat Med* (2009) 15:914–20. doi:10.1038/nm.1964
- 31. Liu J, Divoux A, Sun J, Zhang J, Clément K, Glickman JN, et al. Genetic deficiency and pharmacological stabilization of mast cells reduce diet-induced obesity and diabetes in mice. *Nat Med* (2009) 15:940–5. doi:10.1038/nm.1994
- 32. Moro K, Yamada T, Tanabe M, Takeuchi T, Ikawa T, Kawamoto H, et al. Innate production of T(H)2 cytokines by adipose tissue-associated c-Kit(+)Sca-1(+) lymphoid cells. *Nature* (2009) **463**:540–4. doi:10.1038/nature08636
- Lumeng CN, Maillard I, Saltiel AR. T-ing up inflammation in fat. *Nat Med* (2009) 15:846–7. doi:10. 1038/nm0809-846
- 34. Feuerer M, Herrero L, Cipolletta D, Naaz A, Wong J, Nayer A, et al. Lean, but not obese, fat is enriched for a unique population of regulatory T cells that affect metabolic parameters. *Nat Med* (2009) 15:930–9. doi:10.1038/nm.2002
- 35. Winer S, Chan Y, Paltser G, Truong D, Tsui H, Bahrami J, et al. Normalization of obesity-associated insulin resistance through

immunotherapy. *Nat Med* (2009) **15**:921–9. doi:10.1038/nm.2001

- Friedman JM, Halaas JL. Leptin and the regulation of body weight in mammals. *Nature* (1998) 395:763–70. doi:10.1038/27376
- 37. Zhang F, Basinski MB, Beals JM, Briggs SL, Churgay LM, Clawson DK, et al. Crystal structure of the obese protein leptin-E100. *Nature* (1997) 387:206–9. doi:10. 1038/387206a0
- Houseknecht KL, Baile CA, Matteri RL, Spurlock ME. The biology of leptin: a review. *J Anim Sci* (1998) 76:1405–20.
- 39. La Cava A, Matarese G. The weight of leptin in immunity. Nat Rev Immunol (2004) 4:371–9. doi:10. 1038/nri1350
- 40. Matarese G, La Cava A, Sanna V, Lord GM, Lechler RI, Fontana S, et al. Balancing susceptibility to infection and autoimmunity: a role for leptin? *Trends Immunol* (2002) **23**:182–7. doi:10. 1016/S1471-4906(02)02188-9
- Chehab F, Lim M, Lu R. Correction of the sterility defect in homozygous obese female mice by treatment with the human recombinant leptin. *Nat Genet* (1996) 12:318–20. doi:10.1038/ ng0396-318
- Bennett BD, Solar GP, Yuan JQ, Mathias J, Thomas GR, Matthews W. A role for leptin and its cognate receptor in hematopoiesis. *Curr Biol* (1996) 6: 1170–80. doi:10.1016/S0960-9822(02)70684-2
- 43. Sierra-Honigmann MR, Nath AK, Murakami C, García-Cardeña G, Papapetropoulos A, Sessa WC, et al. Biological action of leptin as an angiogenic factor. *Science* (1998) 281:1683–6. doi:10.1126/ science.281.5383.1683
- 44. Park HY, Kwon HM, Lim HJ, Hong BK, Lee JY, Park BE, et al. Potential role of leptin in angiogenesis: leptin induces endothelial cell proliferation and expression of matrix metalloproteinases in vivo and in vitro. *Exp Mol Med* (2001) 33:95–102. doi:10. 1038/emm.2001.17
- 45. Ducy P, Amling M, Takeda S, Priemel M, Schilling AF, Beil FT, et al. Leptin inhibits bone formation through a hypothalamic relay: a central control of bone mass. *Cell* (2000) **100**: 197–207. doi:10.1016/S0092-8674(00)81558-5
- 46. Lord GM, Matarese G, Howard JK, Baker RJ, Bloom SR, Lechler RI. Leptin modulates the T-cell

immune response and reverses starvation-induced immunosuppression. *Nature* (1998) **394**:897–901. doi:10.1038/29795

- Sanchez-Margalet V, Martín-Romero C, Santos-Alvarez J, Goberna R, Najib S, Gonzalez-Yanes C. Role of leptin as an immunomodulator of blood mononuclear cells: mechanisms of action. *Clin Exp Immunol* (2003) 133:11–9. doi:10.1046/j.1365-2249.2003.02190.x
- Procaccini C, Jirillo E, Matarese G. Leptin as an immunomodulator. *Mol Aspects Med* (2012) 33:35–45. doi:10.1016/j.mam.2011.10.012
- Gorska E, Popko K, Stelmaszczyk-Emmel A, Ciepiela O, Kucharska A, Wasik M. Leptin receptors. *Eur J Med Res* (2010) 15:50–4.
- Ghilardi N, Skoda RC. The leptin receptor activates Janus kinase
 and signals for proliferation in a factor-dependent cell line. *Mol Endocrinol* (1997) 11:393–9. doi: 10.1210/me.11.4.393
- 51. White DW, Wang DW, Chua SC Jr, Morgenstern JP, Leibel RL, Baumann H, et al. Constitutive and impaired signaling of leptin receptors containing the Gln -> Pro extracellular domain fatty mutation. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (1997) **94**:10657–62. doi:10.1073/ pnas.94.20.10657
- 52. Chua SC, Koutras IK, Han L, Liu SM, Kay J, Young SJ, et al. Fine structure of the murine leptin receptor gene: splice site suppression is required to form two alternatively spliced transcripts. *Genomics* (1997) **45**:264–70. doi: 10.1006/geno.1997.4962
- Kloek C, Haq AK, Dunn SL, Lavery HJ, Banks AS, Myers MG. Regulation of Jak kinases by intracellular leptin receptor sequences. J Biol Chem (2002) 277:41547–55. doi:10.1074/jbc.M205148200
- 54. Jiang N, He TC, Miyajima A, Wojchowski DM. The box1 domain of the erythropoietin receptor specifies Janus kinase 2 activation and functions mitogenically within an interleukin 2 betareceptor chimera. J Biol Chem (1996) 271:16472–6. doi:10.1074/ jbc.271.28.16472
- 55. Murakami M, Narazaki M, Hibi M, Yawata H, Yasukawa K, Hamaguchi M, et al. Critical cytoplasmic region of the interleukin 6 signal transducer gp130 is conserved in the cytokine receptor family. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (1991) 88:11349–53. doi:10.1073/ pnas.88.24.11349

- 56. Bahrenberg G, Behrmann I, Barthel A, Hekerman P, Heinrich PC, Joost HG, et al. Identification of the critical sequence elements in the cytoplasmic domain of leptin receptor isoforms required for Janus kinase/signal transducer and activator of transcription activation by receptor heterodimers. *Mol Endocrinol* (2002) 16:859–72. doi:10.1210/me.16.4. 859
- Banks AS, Davis SM, Bates SH, Myers MG. Activation of downstream signals by the long form of the leptin receptor. J Biol Chem (2000) 275:14563–72. doi: 10.1074/ibc.275.19.14563
- Eyckerman S, Waelput W, Verhee A, Broekaert D, Vandekerckhove J, Tavernier J, et al. Analysis of Tyr to Phe and fa/fa leptin receptor mutations in the PC12 cell line. *Eur Cytokine Netw* (1999) 10:549–56.
- 59. Baumann H, Morella KK, White DW, Dembski M, Bailon PS, Kim H, et al. The full-length leptin receptor has signaling capabilities of interleukin 6-type cytokine receptors. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S* A (1996) **93**:8374–8. doi:10.1073/ pnas.93.16.8374
- 60. Bendinelli P, Maroni P, Pecori Giraldi F, Piccoletti R. Leptin activates Stat3, Stat1 and AP-1 in mouse adipose tissue. *Mol Cell Endocrinol* (2000) **168**:11–20. doi:10.1016/S0303-7207(00) 00313-0
- 61. Bates SH, Stearns WH, Dundon TA, Schubert M, Tso AW, Wang Y, et al. STAT3 signalling is required for leptin regulation of energy balance but not reproduction. *Nature* (2003) **421**:856–9. doi:10.1038/nature01388
- 62. Cui Y, Huang L, Elefteriou F, Yang G, Shelton JM, Giles JE, et al. Essential role of STAT3 in body weight and glucose homeostasis. *Mol Cell Biol* (2004) 24:258–69. doi:10.1128/MCB.24.1.258-269. 2004
- 63. Gao Q, Wolfgang MJ, Neschen S, Morino K, Horvath TL, Shulman GI, et al. Disruption of neural signal transducer and activator of transcription 3 causes obesity, diabetes, infertility, and thermal dysregulation. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S* A (2004) **101**:4661–6. doi:10.1073/ pnas.0303992101
- 64. Gong Y, Ishida-Takahashi R, Villanueva EC, Fingar DC, Munzberg H, Myers MG Jr. The long form of the leptin receptor regulates STAT5 and ribosomal protein S6

via alternate mechanisms. J Biol Chem (2007) **282**:31019–27. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M702838200

- 65. Mutze J, Roth J, Gerstberger R, Hubschle T. Nuclear translocation of the transcription factor STAT5 in the rat brain after systemic leptin administration. *Neurosci Lett* (2007) **417**:286–91. doi:10.1016/j. neulet.2007.02.074
- 66. Starr R, Willson TA, Viney EM, Murray LJ, Rayner JR, Jenkins BJ, et al. A family of cytokineinducible inhibitors of signalling. *Nature* (1997) 387:917–21. doi:10. 1038/43206
- Sahu A. Leptin signaling in the hypothalamus: emphasis on energy homeostasis and leptin resistance. *Front Neuroendocrinol* (2004) 24:225–53. doi:10.1016/j. yfrne.2003.10.001
- Bjørbæck C, Elmquist JK, Frantz JD, Shoelson SE, Flier JS. Identification of SOCS-3 as a potential mediator of central leptin resistance. *Mol Cell* (1998) 1:619–25. doi:10.1016/S1097-2765(00) 80062-3
- 69. Bjørbæck C, El Haschimi K, Frantz JD, Flier JS. The role of SOCS-3 in leptin signaling and leptin resistance. J Biol Chem (1999) 274:30059–65. doi: 10.1074/ibc.274.42.30059
- Bjørbæck C, Lavery HJ, Bates SH, Olson RK, Davis SM, Flier JS, et al. SOCS3 mediates feedback inhibition of the leptin receptor via Tyr985. J Biol Chem (2000) 275:40649–57. doi:10.1074/jbc.M007577200
- Münzberg H, Myers MG. Molecular and anatomical determinants of central leptin resistance. *Nat Neurosci* (2005) 5:566–70. doi:10. 1038/nn1454
- 72. Zhang EE, Chapeau E, Hagihara K, Feng GS. Neuronal Shp2 tyrosine phosphatase controls energy balance and metabolism. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2004) 101:16064–8. doi:10.1073/ pnas.0405041101
- Li C, Friedman JM. Leptin receptor activation of SH2 domain containing protein tyrosine phosphatase 2 modulates Ob receptor signal transduction. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (1999) 96: 9677–81. doi:10.1073/pnas.96.17. 9677
- 74. Bjorbaek C, Buchholz RM, Davis SM, Bates SH, Pierroz DD, Gu H, et al. Divergent roles of SHP-2 in ERK activation by leptin receptors. *J Biol Chem* (2001) **276**:4747–55. doi:10.1074/jbc.M007439200

- 75. Sweeney G. Leptin signalling. Cell Signal (2002) 14:655–63. doi:10. 1016/S0898-6568(02)00006-2
- Vanhaesebroeck B, Waterfield MD. Signaling by distinct classes of phosphoinositide 3-kinases. *Exp Cell Res* (1999) 253:239–54. doi:10. 1006/excr.1999.4701
- 77. Kim MS, Pak YK, Jang PG, Namkoong C, Choi YS, Won JC, et al. Role of hypothalamic Foxo1 in the regulation of food intake and energy homeostasis. *Nat Neurosci* (2006) **9**:901–6. doi:10.1038/ nn1731
- 78. Kitamura T, Feng Y, Kitamura YI, Chua SC Jr, Xu AW, Barsh GS, et al. Forkhead protein FoxO1 mediates Agrp-dependent effects of leptin on food intake. *Nat Med* (2006) 12:534–40. doi:10.1038/nm1392
- 79. Matsuzaki H, Daitoku H, Hatta M, Tanaka K, Fukamizu A. Insulin-induced phosphorylation of FKHR (Foxo1) targets to proteasomal degradation. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2003) **100**:11285–90. doi:10.1073/pnas.1934283100
- Tang ED, Nunez G, Barr FG, Guan KL. Negative regulation of the forkhead transcription factor FKHR by Akt. J Biol Chem (1999) 274:16741–6. doi:10.1074/jbc.274. 24.16741
- Cota D, Proulx K, Smith KA, Kozma SC, Thomas G, Woods SC, et al. Hypothalamic mTOR signaling regulates food intake. *Science* (2006) **312**:927–30. doi:10. 1126/science.1124147
- Blouet C, Ono H, Schwartz GJ. Mediobasal hypothalamic p70 S6 kinase 1 modulates the control of energy homeostasis. *Cell Metab* (2008) 8:459–67. doi:10.1016/j. cmet.2008.10.004
- Rui L. A link between protein translation and body weight. J Clin Invest (2007) 117:310–3. doi:10. 1172/JCI31289
- 84. Gao X, Zhang Y, Arrazola P, Hino O, Kobayashi T, Yeung RS, et al. Tsc tumour suppressor proteins antagonize amino-acid-TOR signalling. *Nat Cell Biol* (2002) 4:699–704. doi:10.1038/ncb847
- Inoki K, Li Y, Zhu T, Wu J, Guan KL. TSC2 is phosphorylated and inhibited by Akt and suppresses mTOR signalling. *Nat Cell Biol* (2002) 4:648–57. doi:10.1038/ncb839
- 86. Tee AR, Fingar DC, Manning BD, Kwiatkowski DJ, Cantley LC, Blenis J. Tuberous sclerosis complex-1 and -2 gene products function together to inhibit mammalian target of rapamycin (mTOR)mediated downstream signaling.

Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A (2002) **99**:13571–6. doi:10.1073/ pnas.202476899

- Loffreda S, Yang SQ, Lin HZ, Karp CL, Brengman ML, Wang DJ, et al. Leptin regulates proinflammatory immune responses. *FASEB J* (1998) 12:57–65.
- Martín-Romero C, Santos-Alvarez J, Goberna R, Sánchez-Margalet V. Human leptin enhances activation and proliferation of human circulating T lymphocytes. *Cell Immunol* (2000) **199**:15–24. doi: 10.1006/cimm.1999.1594
- 89. Sanchez-Margalet V, Martin-Romero C. Human leptin signaling in human peripheral blood mononuclear cells: activation of the JAK-STAT pathway. *Cell Immunol* (2001) **211**:30–6. doi:10.1006/cimm.2001.1815
- 90. Vaisse C, Halaas JL, Horvath CM, Darnell JE, Stoffel M, Friedman JM. Leptin activation of STAT3 in the hypothalamus of wild-type and ob/ob mice but not db/db mice. *Nat Genet* (1996) **14**:95–7. doi:10.1038/ng0996-95
- Schwartz MW, Seeley RJ, Campfield LA, Burn P, Baskin DG. Identification of targets of leptin action in rat hypothalamus. J Clin Invest (1996) 98:1101–6. doi:10. 1172/JCI118891
- 92. Fumagalli S, Totti N, Hsuan JJ, Coutneidge SA. A target of Src in mitosis. *Nature* (1994) **368**:871–4. doi:10.1038/368871a0
- 93. Fusaki N, Iwamatsu A, Iwashima M, Fujisawa JI. Interaction between Sam68 and src family tyrosine kinases Fyn and Lck, in T cell receptor signalling. J Biol Chem (1995) 272:6214–9.
- 94. Jabado N, Pallier A, LeDeist F, Bernard F, Fischer A, Hivroz C. CD4 ligands inhibit the formation of multifunctional transduction complexes involved in T cell activation. J Immunol (1997) 158:94–103.
- 95. Jabado N, Jauliac S, Pallier A, Bernard F, Fischer A, Hivroz C. Sam68 association with p120GAP in CD4+ T cells is dependent on CD4 molecule expression. J Immunol (1998) 161:2798–803.
- 96. Sánchez-Margalet V, Najib S. Sam68 is a substrate of the insulin receptor and associates with the SH2 domains of p85 PI3K. FEBS Lett (1999) 455:307–10. doi:10. 1016/S0014-5793(99)00887-X
- Sung CK, Sanchez-Margalet V, Goldfine ID. Role of p85 subunits of phosphatidylinositol-3-kinase as an adaptor molecule linking the

insulin receptor, p62 and GTPaseactivating protein. *J Biol Chem* (1994) **269**:12503–7.

- Martín-Romero C, Sanchez-Margalet V. Human leptin activates PI3K and MAPK pathways in human peripheral blood mononuclear cells. Possible role of Sam68. Cell Immunol (2001) 212: 83–91. doi:10.1006/cimm.2001. 1851
- 99. Mansour E, Pereira FG, Araújo EP, Amaral ME, Morari J, Ferraroni NR, et al. Leptin inhibits apoptosis in thymus through a Janus kinase-2-independent, insulin receptor substrate-1/phosphatidylinositol-3 kinase-dependent pathway. *Endocrinology* (2006) 147:5470–9. doi:10.1210/en.2006-0223
- 100. Gressner AM, Wool IG. The phosphorylation of liver ribosomal proteins in vivo. Evidence that only a single small subunit is phosphorylated. J Biol Chem (1974) 249:6917–25.
- 101. Takahashi Y, Okimura Y, Mizuno I, Iida K, Takahashi T, Kaji H, et al. Leptin induces mitogen-activated protein kinase-dependent proliferation of C3H10T1/2 cells. J Biol Chem (1997) 272:12897–900. doi: 10.1074/jbc.272.20.12897
- 102. Tanabe K, Okuya S, Tanizawa Y, Matsutani A, Oka Y. Leptin induces proliferation of pancreatic β cell line MIN6 through activation of mitogen-activated protein kinase. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* (1997) **241**:765–8. doi: 10.1006/bbrc.1997.7894
- 103. Bouloumié A, Marumo T, Lafontan M, Busse R. Leptin induces oxidative stress in human endothelial cells. *FASEB J* (1999) 13:1231–8.
- 104. Burnett PE, Barrow RK, Cohen NA, Snyder SH, Sabatini DM. RAFT1 phosphorylation of the translational regulators p70 S6 kinase and 4E-BP1. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (1998) **95**:1432–6. doi:10. 1073/pnas.95.4.1432
- 105. Lenormand P, Brondello JM, Brunet A, Pouyssegur J. Growth factor-induced p42/p44 MAPK nuclear translocation and retention requires both MAPK activation and neosynthesis of nuclear anchoring proteins. J Cell Biol (1998) 142:625–33. doi:10.1083/ jcb.142.3.625
- 106. Eguchi S, Iwasaki H, Ueno H, Frank GD, Motley ED, Eguchi K, et al. Intracellular signaling of angiotensin II-induced p70 S6 kinase phosphorylation at Ser(411) in vascular smooth

muscle cells. Possible requirement of epidermal growth factor receptor, Ras, extracellular signalregulated kinase, and Akt. *J Biol Chem* (1999) **274**:36843–51. doi: 10.1074/jbc.274.52.36843

- 107. De Rosa V, Procaccini C, Calí G, Pirozzi G, Fontana S, Zappacosta S, et al. A key role of leptin in the control of regulatory T cell proliferation. *Immunity* (2007) 26:241–55. doi:10.1016/j. immuni.2007.01.011
- 108. Procaccini C, De Rosa V, Galgani M, Carbone F, Cassano S, Greco D, et al. Leptin-induced mTOR activation defines a specific molecular and transcriptional signature controlling CD4+ effector T cell responses. *J Immunol* (2012) **189**:2941–53. doi:10.4049/ jimmunol.1200935
- 109. Galgani M, Procaccini C, De Rosa V, Carbone F, Chieffi P, La Cava A, et al. Leptin modulates the survival of autoreactive CD4+ T cells through the nutrient/energysensing mammalian target of rapamycin signaling pathway. J Immunol (2010) 185:7474–9. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1001674
- 110. Procaccini C, De Rosa V, Galgani M, Abanni L, Calí G, Porcellini A, et al. An oscillatory switch in mTOR kinase activity sets regulatory T cell responsiveness. *Immunity* (2010) 33:929–41. doi:10.1016/j.immuni. 2010.11.024
- 111. Procaccini C, Galgani M, De Rosa V, Matarese G. Intracellular metabolic pathways control immune tolerance. *Trends Immunol* (2012) **33**:1–7. doi:10. 1016/j.it.2011.09.002
- 112. Wong GW, Wang J, Hug C, Tsao TS, Lodish HF. A family of Acrp30/adiponectin structural and functional paralogs. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2004) **101**:10302–7. doi:10.1073/pnas.0403760101
- 113. Stofkova A. Leptin and adiponectin: from energy and metabolic dysbalance to inflammation and autoimmunity. *Endocr Regul* (2009) 43:157–68.
- 114. Maeda N, Shimomura I, Kishida K, Nishizawa H, Matsuda M, Nagaretani H, et al. Diet-induced insulin resistance in mice lacking adiponectin/ACRP30. Nat Med (2002) 8:731–7. doi:10.1038/nm724
- 115. Fasshauer M, Kralisch S, Klier M, Lossner U, Bluher M, Klein J, et al. Adiponectin gene expression and secretion is inhibited by interleukin-6 in 3T3-L1 adipocytes. *Biochem Biophys Res*

Commun (2003) **301**:1045–50. doi: 10.1016/S0006-291X(03)00090-1

- 116. Kadowaki T, Yamauchi T. Adiponectin and adiponectin receptors. *Endocr Rev* (2005) 26:439–51. doi:10.1210/er.2005-0005
- 117. Pang TT, Narendran P. The distribution of adiponectin receptors on human peripheral blood mononuclear cells. *Ann N Y Acad Sci* (2008) **1150**:143–5. doi:10.1196/ annals.1447.021
- 118. Snehalatha C, Mukesh B, Simon M, Viswanathan V, Haffner SM, Ramachandran A. Plasma adiponectin is an independent predictor of type 2 diabetes in Asian Indians. *Diabetes Care* (2003) **26**:3226–9. doi:10.2337/diacare.26.12.3226
- 119. Wang AYH, Hickman IJ, Richards AA, Whitehead JP, Prins JB, MacDonald GA. High molecular weight adiponectin correlates with insulin sensitivity in patients with hepatitis C genotype 3, but not genotype 1 infection. Am J Gastroenterol (2005) 100:2717–23. doi:10.1111/j.1572-0241.2005.00311.x
- 120. Mao X, Kikani CK, Riojas RA, Langlais P, Wang L, Ramos FJ, et al. APPL1 binds to adiponectin receptors and mediates adiponectin signalling and function. *Nat Cell Biol* (2006) 8:516–23. doi:10.1038/ ncb1404
- 121. Cheng KK, Lam KS, Wang Y, Huang Y, Carling D, Wu D, et al. Adiponectin-induced endothelial nitric oxide synthase activation and nitric oxide production are mediated by APPL1 in endothelial cells. *Diabetes* (2007) **56**:1387–94. doi:10.2337/db06-1580
- 122. Ouchi N, Kihara S, Arita Y, Maeda K, Kuriyama H, Okamoto Y, et al. Novel modulator for endothelial adhesion molecules: adipocyte-derived plasma protein adiponectin. *Circulation* (1999) 100:2473–6. doi:10.1161/01.CIR. 100.25.2473
- 123. Yokota T, Oritani K, Takahashi I, Ishikawa J, Matsuyama A, Ouchi N, et al. Adiponectin, a new member of the family of soluble defense collagens, negatively regulates the growth of myelomonocytic progenitors and the functions of macrophages. *Blood* (2000) **96**:1723–32.
- 124. Wolf AM, Wolf D, Rumpold H, Enrich B, Tilg H. Adiponectin induces the anti-inflammatory cytokines IL-10 and IL-1RA in human leukocytes.

 Biochem
 Biophys
 Res
 Commun

 (2004)
 323:630–5.

 doi:10.1016/j.bbrc.2004.08.145

- 125. Yamaguchi N, Argueta JG, Masuhiro Y, Kagishita M, Nonaka K, Saito T, et al. Adiponectin inhibits toll-like receptor family-induced signaling. *FEBS Lett* (2005) **579**:6821–6. doi:10.1016/j.febslet.2005.11.019
- 126. Kim KY, Kim JK, Han SH, Lim JS, Kim KI, Cho DH, et al. Adiponectin is a negative regulator of NK cell cytotoxicity. *J Immunol* (2006) **176**:5958–64.
- 127. Shoji T, Shinohara K, Hatsuda S, Kimoto E, Fukumoto S, Emoto M, et al. Altered relationship between body fat and plasma adiponectin in end-stage renal disease. *Metabolism* (2005) **54**:330–4. doi:10.1016/ j.metabol.2004.09.012
- 128. D'Anna R, Baviera G, Corrado F, Giordano D, De Vivo A, Nicocia G, et al. Adiponectin and insulin resistance in early- and late-onset pre-eclampsia. *BJOG* (2006) **113**:1264–9. doi:10.1111/j. 1471-0528.2006.01078.x
- 129. Otero M, Lago R, Gomez R, Lago F, Dieguez C, Gomez-Reino JJ, et al. Changes in plasma levels of fat-derived hormones adiponectin, leptin, resistin and visfatin in patients with rheumatoid arthritis. *Ann Rheum Dis* (2006) **65**:1198–201. doi:10.1136/ ard.2005.046540
- Haugen F, Drevon CA. Activation of nuclear factor-kappaB by high molecular weight and globular adiponectin. *Endocrinology* (2007) 148:5478–86. doi:10.1210/ en.2007-0370
- 131. Hattori Y, Hattori S, Kasai K. Globular adiponectin activates nuclear factor-kappa B in vascular endothelial cells, which in turn induces expression of proinflammatory and adhesion molecule genes. *Diabetes Care* (2006) **29**:139–41. doi:10.2337/ diacare.29.01.06.dc05-1364
- 132. Hattori Y, Nakano Y, Hattori S, Tomizawa A, Inukai K, Kasai K. High molecular weight adiponectin activates AMPK and suppresses cytokineinduced NF-kappa B activation in vascular endothelial cells. FEBS Lett (2008) 582: 1719–24. doi:10.1016/j.febslet. 2008.04.037
- 133. Liao WQ, Yu CA, Wen JY, Jia W, Li G, Ke YA, et al. Adiponectin induces interleukin-6 production and activates STAT3 in adult mouse cardiac fibroblasts.

Circulation (2010) **122**:E193–193. doi:10.1042/BC20080117

- 134. Wang Y, Lam KSL, Xu JY, Lu G, Xu LY, Cooper GJS, et al. Adiponectin inhibits cell proliferation by interacting with several growth factors in an oligomerizationdependent manner. J Biol Chem (2005) 280:18341–7. doi:10.1074/jbc.M501149200
- 135. Palanivel R, Fang XP, Park M, Eguchi M, Pallan S, De Girolamo S, et al. Globular and fulllength forms of adiponectin mediate specific changes in glucose and fatty acid uptake and metabolism in cardiomyocytes. *Cardiovasc Res* (2007) **75**:148–57. doi:10.1016/j. cardiores.2007.04.011
- 136. Wilk S, Scheibenbogen C, Bauer S, Jenke A, Rother M, Guerreiro M, et al. Adiponectin is a negative regulator of antigen-activated T cells. *Eur J Immunol* (2011) **41**:2323–32. doi:10.1002/eji.201041349
- 137. Okamoto Y, Christen T, Shimizu K, Asano K, Kihara S, Mitchell RN, et al. Adiponectin inhibits allograft rejection in murine cardiac transplantation. *Transplantation* (2009) 88:879–83. doi:10. 1097/TP.0b013e3181b6efbf
- 138. Tsang JY, Li D, Ho D, Peng J, Xu A, Lamb J, et al. Novel immunomodulatory effects of adiponectin on dendritic cell functions. *Int Immunopharmacol* (2011) **11**:604–9. doi:10.1016/j.intimp.2010.11.009
- 139. Okamoto Y, Folco EJ, Minami M, Wara AK, Feinberg MW, Sukhova GK, et al. Adiponectin inhibits the production of CXC receptor 3 chemokine ligands in macrophages and reduces T-lymphocyte recruitment in atherogenesis. *Circ Res* (2008) **102**:218–25. doi:10.1161/ CIRCRESAHA.107.164988
- 140. Cheng X, Folco EJ, Shimizu K, Libby P. Adiponectin induces proinflammatory programs in human macrophages and CD4+ T cells. J Biol Chem (2012) 287:36896–904. doi:10.1074/jbc.M112.409516
- 141. Jung MY, Kim HS, Hong HJ, Youn BS, Kim TS. Adiponectin induces dendritic cell activation via PLCγ/JNK/NF-κB pathways, leading to Th1 and Th17 polarization. *J Immunol* (2012) **188**:2592–601. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1102588
- 142. Steppan CM, Bailey ST, Bhat S, Brown EJ, Banerjee RR, Wright CM, et al. The hormone resistin links obesity to diabetes. *Nature* (2001) 409:307–12. doi:10.1038/ 35053000

- 143. Holcomb IN, Kabakoff RC, Chan B, Baker TW, Gurney A, Henzel W, et al. FIZZ1, a novel cysteine-rich secreted protein associated with pulmonary inflammation, defines a new gene family. *EMBO J* (2000) **19**:4046–55. doi: 10.1093/emboj/19.15.4046
- 144. Patel SD, Rajala MW, Rossetti L, Scherer PE, Shapiro L. Disulfidedependent multimeric assembly of resistin family hormones. *Science* (2004) **304**:1154–8. doi:10.1126/ science.1093466
- 145. Rea R, Donnelly R. Resistin: an adipocyte-derived hormone. Has it a role in diabetes and obesity? *Diabetes Obes Metab* (2004) 6:163–70. doi:10.1111/j. 1462-8902.2004.00334.x
- 146. Kusminski CM, McTernan PG, Kumar S. Role of resistin in obesity, insulin resistance and Type II diabetes. *Clin Sci (Lond)* (2005) **109**:243–56. doi:10.1042/ CS20050078
- 147. Kaser S, Kaser A, Sandhofer A, Ebenbichler CF, Tilg H, Patsch JR. Resistin messenger-RNA expression is increased by proinflammatory cytokines in vitro. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* (2003) **309**:286–90. doi:10.1016/j.bbrc.2003.07.003
- 148. Harsch IA, Koebnick C, Wallaschofski H, Schahin SP, Hahn EG, Ficker JH, et al. Resistin levels in patients with obstructive sleep apnoea syndrome – the link to subclinical inflammation? *Med Sci Monit* (2004) 10:CR510–5.
- 149. Reilly MP, Lehrke M, Wolfe ML, Rohatgi A, Lazar MA, Rader DJ. Resistin is an inflammatory marker of atherosclerosis in humans. *Circulation* (2005) 111:932–9. doi:10.1161/01.CIR. 0000155620.10387.43
- 150. Lehrke M, Reilly MP, Millington SC, Iqbal N, Rader DJ, Lazar MA. An inflammatory cascade leading to hyperresistinemia in humans. *PLoS Med* (2004) 1:45. doi:10. 1371/journal.pmed.0010045
- 151. Verma S, Li SH, Wang CH, Fedak PW, Li RK, Weisel RD, et al. Resistin promotes endothelial cell activation: further evidence of adipokine-endothelial interaction. *Circulation* (2003) 108:736–40. doi:10.1161/01.CIR. 0000084503.91330.49
- 152. Bokarewa M, Nagaev I, Dahlberg L, Smith U, Tarkowski A. Resistin, an adipokine with potent proinflammatory properties. J Immunol (2005) 174: 5789–95.

- 153. Son YM, Ahn SM, Kim GR, Moon YS, Kim SH, Park YM, et al. Resistin enhances the expansion of regulatory T cells through modulation of dendritic cells. *BMC Immunol* (2010) 11:33. doi:10.1186/1471-2172-11-33
- 154. Fukuhara A, Matsuda M, Nishizawa M, Segawa K, Tanaka M, Kishimoto K, et al. Visfatin: a protein secreted by visceral fat that mimics the effects of insulin. *Science* (2005) **307**:426–30. doi:10.1126/science.1097243
- 155. Jia SH, Li Y, Parodo J, Kapus A, Fan L, Rotstein OD, et al. Pre-B cell colony-enhancing factor inhibits neutrophil apoptosis in experimental inflammation and clinical sepsis. J Clin Invest (2004) 113:1318–27. doi:10.1172/ JCI200419930
- 156. Samal B, Sun Y, Stearns G, Xie C, Suggs S, McNiece I. Cloning and characterization of the cDNA encoding a novel human pre-B-cell colony-enhancing factor. *Mol Cell Biol* (1994) **14**:1431–7.
- 157. Ye SQ, Simon BA, Maloney JP, Zambelli-Weiner A, Gao L, Grant A, et al. Pre-B-cell colonyenhancing factor as a potential novel biomarker in acute lung injury. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med* (2005) **171**:361–70. doi:10.1164/ rccm.200404-563OC
- 158. Moschen AR, Kaser A, Enrich B, Mosheimer B, Theurl M, Niederegger H, et al. Visfatin, an adipocytokine with proinflammatory and immunomodulating properties. J Immunol (2007) 178: 1748–58.
- Lebedeva T, Dustin ML, Sykulev Y. ICAM-1 co-stimulates target cells to facilitate antigen presentation. *Curr Opin Immunol* (2005) 17:251–8. doi:10.1016/j.coi.2005. 04.008
- 160. White RT, Damm D, Hancock N, Rosen BS, Lowell BB, Usher P, et al. Human adipsin is identical to complement factor D and is expressed at high levels in adipose tissue. J Biol Chem (1992) 267:9210–3.
- 161. Gabrielsson BG, Johansson JM, Lonn M, Jernas M, Olbers T, Peltonen M, et al. High expression of complement components in omental adipose tissue in obese men. Obes Res (2003) 11:699–708. doi:10.1038/oby.2003.100
- 162. Cianflone K, Xia Z, Chen LY. Critical review of acylation-stimulating protein physiology in humans and rodents. *Biochim Biophys Acta* (2003) 1609:127–43. doi:10.1016/ S0005-2736(02)00686-7

- 163. Powell JD, Delgoffe GM. The mammalian target of rapamycin: linking T cell differentiation, function, and metabolism. *Immunity* (2010) **33**:301–11. doi:10.1016/j. immuni.2010.09.002
- 164. Peter C, Waldmann H, Cobbold SP. mTOR signalling and metabolic regulation of T cell differentiation. *Curr Opin Immunol* (2010) 5:655–61. doi:10.1016/j.coi. 2010.08.010
- 165. Kim DH, Sarbassov DD, Ali SM, King JE, Latek RR, Erdjument-Bromage H, et al. mTOR interacts with raptor to form a nutrientsensitive complex that signals to the cell growth machinery. *Cell* (2002) **110**:163–75. doi:10.1016/ S0092-8674(02)00808-5
- 166. Sarbassov DD, Ali SM, Kim DH, Guertin DA, Latek RR, Erdjument-Bromage H, et al. Rictor, a novel binding partner of mTOR, defines a rapamycin-insensitive and raptor-independent pathway that regulates the cytoskeleton. *Curr Biol* (2004) 14:1296–302. doi: 10.1016/j.cub.2004.06.054
- 167. Delgoffe GM, Pollizzi KN, Waickman AT, Heikamp E, Meyers DJ, Horton MR, et al. The kinase mTOR regulates the differentiation of helper T cells through the selective activation of signaling by mTORC1 and mTORC2. *Nat Immunol* (2011) **12**:295–303. doi:10.1038/ni.2005
- 168. Lee K, Gudapati P, Dragovic S, Spencer C, Joyce S, Killeen N, et al. Mammalian target of rapamycin protein complex 2 regulates differentiation of Th1 and Th2 cell subsets via distinct signaling pathways. *Immunity* (2010) **32**: 743–53. doi:10.1016/j.immuni. 2010.06.002
- 169. Sauer S, Bruno L, Hertweck A, Finlay D, Leleu M, Spivakov M, et al. T cell receptor signaling controls Foxp3 expression via PI3K, Akt, and mTOR. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2008) **105**:7797–802. doi:10.1073/pnas.0800928105
- 170. Haxhinasto S, Mathis D, Benoist C. The AKT-mTOR axis regulates de novo differentiation of CD4+Foxp3+ cells. J Exp Med (2008) 205:565–74. doi:10.1084/ jem.20071477
- 171. Delgoffe GM, Kole TP, Zheng Y, Zarek PE, Matthews KL, Xiao B, et al. The mTOR kinase differentially regulates effector and regulatory T cell lineage commitment. *Immunity* (2009) **30**: 832–44. doi:10.1016/j.immuni. 2009.04.014

172. Cipolletta D, Feuerer M, Li A, Kamei N, Lee J, Shoelson SE, et al. PPAR-γ is a major driver of the accumulation and phenotype of adipose tissue Treg cells. *Nature* (2012) **486**:549–53. doi:10.1038/ nature11132

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was

conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Received: 26 July 2013; accepted: 01 October 2013; published online: 18 October 2013.

Citation: Procaccini C, De Rosa V, Galgani M, Carbone F, La Rocca C, Formisano L and Matarese G (2013) Role of adipokines signaling in the modulation of T cells function. Front. Immunol. 4:332. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2013.00332 This article was submitted to T Cell Biology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology.

Copyright © 2013 Procaccini, De Rosa, Galgani, Carbone, La Rocca, Formisano and Matarese. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

ADVANTAGES OF PUBLISHING IN FRONTIERS



FAST PUBLICATION Average 90 days from submission to publication



COLLABORATIVE PEER-REVIEW

Designed to be rigorous – yet also collaborative, fair and constructive



RESEARCH NETWORK Our network increases readership for your article



OPEN ACCESS

Articles are free to read, for greatest visibility



TRANSPARENT

Editors and reviewers acknowledged by name on published articles



GLOBAL SPREAD Six million monthly page views worldwide



COPYRIGHT TO AUTHORS

No limit to article distribution and re-use



IMPACT METRICS Advanced metrics track your article's impact



SUPPORT By our Swiss-based editorial team



EPFL Innovation Park · Building I · 1015 Lausanne · Switzerland T +41 21 510 17 00 · info@frontiersin.org · frontiersin.org